Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology 166 Series Editor: T. Scheper

# Kurt Wagemann · Nils Tippkötter Editors

# Biorefineries



# 166 Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology

# Series editor

T. Scheper, Hannover, Germany

# **Editorial Board**

S. Belkin, Jerusalem, Israel
T. Bley, Dresden, Germany
J. Bohlmann, Vancouver, Canada
M.B. Gu, Seoul, Korea (Republic of)
W.-S. Hu, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA
B. Mattiasson, Lund, Sweden
J. Nielsen, Gothenburg, Sweden
H. Seitz, Potsdam, Germany
R. Ulber, Kaiserslautern, Germany
A.-P. Zeng, Hamburg, Germany
J.-J. Zhong, Shanghai, Minhang, China
W. Zhou, Shanghai, China

# **Aims and Scope**

This book series reviews current trends in modern biotechnology and biochemical engineering. Its aim is to cover all aspects of these interdisciplinary disciplines, where knowledge, methods and expertise are required from chemistry, biochemistry, microbiology, molecular biology, chemical engineering and computer science.

Volumes are organized topically and provide a comprehensive discussion of developments in the field over the past 3–5 years. The series also discusses new discoveries and applications. Special volumes are dedicated to selected topics which focus on new biotechnological products and new processes for their synthesis and purification.

In general, volumes are edited by well-known guest editors. The series editor and publisher will, however, always be pleased to receive suggestions and supplementary information. Manuscripts are accepted in English.

In references, Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology is abbreviated as *Adv. Biochem. Engin./Biotechnol.* and cited as a journal.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/10

Kurt Wagemann • Nils Tippkötter Editors

# Biorefineries

With contributions by

M. J. Barbosa  $\cdot$  M. L. J. Brinkman  $\cdot$  N. Brosse  $\cdot$ M. C. Cuellar  $\cdot$  N. Dahmen  $\cdot$  S. A. de Jong  $\cdot$  S. De Tissera  $\cdot$ V. Denysenko  $\cdot$  D. Dietz  $\cdot$  P. Dürre  $\cdot$  A. Duwe  $\cdot$  H.-J. Endres  $\cdot$ M. H. M. Eppink  $\cdot$  E. Henrich  $\cdot$  T. Henrich  $\cdot$  C. Humphreys  $\cdot$ M. H. Hussin  $\cdot$  H. M. Junginger  $\cdot$  I. N. Kluts  $\cdot$  M. Köpke  $\cdot$ J. Kretzschmar  $\cdot$  A. Kuenz  $\cdot$  H. Kuhz  $\cdot$  A. Läufer  $\cdot$ J. Liebetrau  $\cdot$  C. S. K. Lin  $\cdot$  U. Mantau  $\cdot$  D. Meier  $\cdot$ N. P. Minton  $\cdot$  S. Möhring  $\cdot$  M. Nelles  $\cdot$  G. Olivieri  $\cdot$ D. Pleissner  $\cdot$  U. Prüße  $\cdot$  F. Pudel  $\cdot$  A. A. Rahim  $\cdot$  D. Rais  $\cdot$ H. Reith  $\cdot$  J. Roth  $\cdot$  U. Saal  $\cdot$  S. D. Simpson  $\cdot$  H. Stichnothe  $\cdot$ A. J. J. Straathof  $\cdot$  H. Sträuber  $\cdot$  N. Tippkötter  $\cdot$  R. Ulber  $\cdot$ C. van den Berg  $\cdot$  J. B. J. H. van Duuren  $\cdot$  S. Vaz  $\cdot$  J. Venus  $\cdot$ K.-D. Vorlop  $\cdot$  K. Wagemann  $\cdot$  H. Weimar  $\cdot$  S. Wiesen  $\cdot$ R. H. Wijffels  $\cdot$  T. Willke  $\cdot$  C. Wittmann  $\cdot$  H. Wulfhorst  $\cdot$ X. Yang  $\cdot$  S. Zibek



*Editors* Kurt Wagemann DECHEMA e.V. Frankfurt/Main, Germany

Nils Tippkötter University of Applied Sciences Aachen Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology Jülich, Germany

 ISSN 0724-6145
 ISSN 1616-8542
 (electronic)

 Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology
 ISBN 978-3-319-97117-9
 ISBN 978-3-319-97119-3
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-97119-3

 19-97119-3
 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018958916

### © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

# Contents

Biorefineries: A Short Introduction	1
Biomass Resources: Agriculture	13
Wood Processing Residues	27
Logistics of Lignocellulosic Feedstocks: Preprocessing as a Preferable	
<b>Option</b>	43
Vegetable Oil-BiorefineryFrank Pudel and Sebastian Wiesen	69
From Current Algae Products to Future Biorefinery Practices: A Review	99
Michel H.M. Eppink, Giuseppe Olivieri, Hans Reith, Corjan van den Berg, Maria J. Barbosa, and Rene H. Wijffels	
Sugarcane-Biorefinery	125
Starch Biorefinery Enzymes	137
Organosolv Processes	153
Lignocellulose-Biorefinery: Ethanol-Focused	177
Synthesis Gas Biorefinery N. Dahmen, E. Henrich, and T. Henrich	217

v

Syngas Biorefinery and Syngas Utilization Sashini De Tissera, Michael Köpke, Sean D. Simpson, Christopher Humphrey Nigel P. Minton, and Peter Dürre	247 s,
Anaerobic Digestion	281
Pyrolysis Oil Biorefinery	301
Products Components: Alcohols	339
<b>Biotechnological Production of Organic Acids from Renewable</b> <b>Resources</b> Daniel Pleissner, Donna Dietz, Jozef Bernhard Johann Henri van Duuren, Christoph Wittmann, Xiaofeng Yang, Carol Sze Ki Lin, and Joachim Venus	373
Microbial Hydrocarbon Formation from Biomass	411
Bioplastics	427
Biotechnological and Biochemical Utilization of Lignin Dominik Rais and Susanne Zibek	469
Sustainability Evaluation	519
Index	541

# **Biorefineries: A Short Introduction**



Kurt Wagemann and Nils Tippkötter

**Abstract** The terms bioeconomy and biorefineries are used for a variety of processes and developments. This short introduction is intended to provide a delimitation and clarification of the terminology as well as a classification of current biorefinery concepts. The basic process diagrams of the most important biorefinery types are shown.

**Keywords** Bioeconomy, Biorefinery definitions, Introduction, Process schemes, Renewable resources

# Contents

1	Biorefineries: Definition	2
2	Biorefineries: Definitions and Classifications	3
3	Biorefineries: Different Types	4
	3.1 Sugar Biorefinery	5
	3.2 Starch Biorefinery	6
	3.3 Vegetable Oil Biorefinery	6
	3.4 Algal Lipid Biorefinery	7
	3.5 Lignocellulosic Biorefineries	8
	3.6 Synthesis Gas Biorefinery	10
	3.7 Others	11
4	Concluding Remarks	11

K. Wagemann (🖂) and N. Tippkötter (🖂)

DECHEMA, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Bioprocess Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Aachen, Jülich, Germany e-mail: wagemann@dechema.de; tippkoetter@fh-aachen.de

# **1** Biorefineries: Definition

The basic concept of biorefinery is rather simple: a biorefinery plant uses some kind of biomass as feedstock which is converted – preferably completely – into a range of commercial products.

This concept is an analogy of petroleum-based refineries. Their dominance over the supply of today's fuels and chemicals relies on several factors: excellent availability of petroleum, its relatively low selling price, and the use of efficient process schemes developed over the decades following World War II. Despite the fact that petroleum from different regions differs in character and composition of the hundreds of its constituent components, more or less all petrorefineries can be described by one general scheme. In this scheme, a rectification column acts as the central processing unit, splitting the petroleum inlet into different intermediate streams. Other chemical conversion units, such as fluid catalytic crackers or catalytic reformers, modify the molecular components of some of these streams. Their aim is the greatest possible conversion of the petroleum feed into fuels such as gasoline, diesel, and jet fuel. Only about 10% of the output of these refineries is related to the production of chemicals, lubricants, or other products such as asphalt. Chemicals production depends to a very large extent on the steam cracking of naphtha, one of the above-mentioned intermediate streams, for which the conversion to fuels would require an uneconomic conversion effort. The majority of petrorefineries do not have a steamcracker available so instead they commercialize the naphtha to the petrochemicals sector. The annual output of modern refineries can exceed 10 million tons. This is only possible because of the simple and cheap design of petroleum transport from the drilling hole to the refineries, most often accomplished via pipelines or very large ocean vessels when necessary (Figs. 1 and 2).



Fig. 1 General biorefinery scheme



The framework for biorefineries is very different to those of traditional refineries (see the chapter "Logistics of Lignocellulosic Feedstocks: Preprocessing as a Preferable Option"). It is not a set of highly productive point sources such as the drilling holes but large areas where the feedstock is produced and must be collected. This makes logistics much more challenging.

Further challenges are related to seasonal availability (and in some cases, the quality) of the feedstock. Economically viable biorefinery concepts must be able to overcome these obstacles.

This book aims to provide insight into the different biorefinery schemes, their statuses of realization, proposed strategies of implementation, and recent R&D advancements therein. Being part of the "Trends in Biotechnology" series, the rationale for this publication is obvious. Whereas in the case of petroleum refineries, all processes are of pure chemical origin, in the case of biorefineries, biotechnological processes are dominant.

# 2 Biorefineries: Definitions and Classifications

The first precise definition of a biorefinery was provided in 2004 by the US Department of Energy (DOE):

A biorefinery is an overall concept of a processing plant where biomass feedstocks are converted and extracted into a spectrum of valuable products.

The German Biorefineries Roadmap published in 2012 developed a much more comprehensive description:

A biorefinery is characterized by an explicitly integrative, multifunctional overall concept that uses biomass as a diverse source of raw materials for the sustainable generation of a spectrum of different intermediates and products (chemicals, materials, bioenergy/biofuels) allowing the fullest possible use of all raw material components. The co-products can also be food and/or feed. These objectives necessitate the integration of a range of different methods and technologies.

For the classification of the biorefineries one has to be aware that different approaches exist.

The classification can rely on

- The *raw material* (e.g., cereal crops biorefinery, oil biorefinery, grass biorefinery, straw biorefinery, wood biorefinery, algae biorefinery)
- The *process* (e.g., thermochemical biorefinery, biotechnology biorefinery)
- The *product(s)* (e.g., bio-ethanol biorefinery, fuel biorefinery)
- The *intermediate* (e.g., synthesis gas biorefinery, lignocellulosic biorefinery, vegetable oil biorefinery)

In the processing schemes one can distinguish two sections: primary and secondary refining. *Primary refining* involves the pretreatment of biomass and separation into useful intermediates. In *secondary refining*, those intermediates created from the primary refinement process – in the further description defined as platforms – are chemically or biotechnologically converted to either semi-finished or finished products (chemicals, polymers and fuels).

Sometimes an additional distinction is made between bottom up and top down biorefineries; this refers to the practical realization of a biorefinery. In the case of a *bottom up* approach, established biomass conversion facilities increase their traditional production portfolio. This can be realized either by extracting further substances from the feedstock, by utilizing or extracting waste streams, or by forward integration, when traditional products are further processed creating new products. In the case of a *top down* approach, a new, independent, highly integrated scheme with its own logistics and proprietary conversion processes is established.

# **3** Biorefineries: Different Types

According to the classification scheme based on intermediates, so-called "platforms", the following major types of biorefineries can be distinguished:

- Sugar biorefinery
- · Starch biorefinery
- Vegetable oil biorefinery
- Algal lipid biorefinery
- Lignocellulosic biorefinery
- Synthesis gas biorefinery

In the following, each is briefly described – details can be found in the respective chapters of this volume.

# 3.1 Sugar Biorefinery

Sucrose, colloquially known as sugar, is the mainstay of a sugar biorefinery. There are two major sugar-producing plants providing the feedstock: sugar cane and sugar beet. The processes applied in the primary refining stage are juice production by pressing, juice purification, juice thickening, and crystallization (Fig. 3). In the case of sugar beet, the press cake is used as animal feed. In the case of sugar cane, the residues, called bagasse, are usually burned to produce process steam and electrical power.

For the secondary refining there are two options:

- Sucrose can be inverted and the resulting fructose and glucose separated and commercialized directly or further converted
- The juice itself, or molasses, the by-product of the crystallization, can be used as feedstock for fermentation; in most cases the product is bioethanol

The by-products are carbon dioxide from the fermentation and stillage from the distillation. The first can be captured and sold, for example, to the beverage industry; the second further can be processed and commercialized as animal feed. There are many plants in existence worldwide, as this is the traditional business concept of the sugar and bioethanol industry. However, there are very few examples of the generation of other products. There is one exception – the conversion of ethanol to ethylene for the synthesis of polyethylene.



Fig. 3 Sugar biorefinery



Fig. 4 Starch biorefinery

# 3.2 Starch Biorefinery

Major feedstocks for starch biorefineries include cereal crops such as corn, wheat, and rice, as well as potatoes and cassava. In primary refining, and after mechanical treatment, the starch is suspended in water and fibers and proteins separated; the latter by-products are usually used for feed production (Fig. 4).

The resulting starch slurry is cleaned. After drying, the pure native starch can be commercialized either directly or after chemical or physical modification for the food industry as well as other sectors such as paper or cosmetics producers.

Other options arise from the hydrolysis of the starch, resulting in dextrose or glucose solutions. They can be input either for bioethanol production or for other fermentation products such as lactic or succinic acid.

Starch production is a well-established industrial sector. There are several examples where starch producers extend their value chain downstream.

# 3.3 Vegetable Oil Biorefinery

The secondary refining scheme of a vegetable oil biorefinery is more or less identical to the production scheme of classical large-scale oleo-chemical plants (Fig. 5). The most important processes are the hydrolysis and the transesterification of the triglycerides and further processing of the resulting intermediates, fatty acids,



Fig. 5 Vegetable oil biorefinery

esters, and glycerol. In addition, chemical or biotechnological processes for the conversion of glycerol might be added.

The primary refining consists of the treatment of oil seeds and oil fruits by shredding, pressing, and extracting, followed by purification of the crude oil. The press cake is usually used for feed production.

# 3.4 Algal Lipid Biorefinery

From a general point of view, the algal oil biorefinery scheme is very similar to the scheme of a vegetable oil biorefinery as the secondary refining can be identical; additionally, valuables such as carotenoids can be extracted.

The primary refining to triglycerides, however, is completely different. The production organisms are microalgae or cyanobacteria which are cultivated either in open ponds or in closed photo-bioreactors. The downstream processing differs from that of oil plants because materials with high water content have to be handled. Centrifugation, filtration, or flocculation for the separation of water, disruption of the cells, and extraction are major steps (Fig. 6).

Large scale (open pond) cultivation plants of microalgae have existed for decades. They have usually been devoted to a single product such as beta-carotene, but no integrated biorefinery approach had been implemented. A huge number of projects and start-up companies have been established in recent years in the context of biofuels production. Large-scale breakthroughs are not in sight at present, primarily for reasons of economy and energy balance.



Fig. 6 Algal lipid biorefinery

# 3.5 Lignocellulosic Biorefineries

The high priority given to lignocellulosic biorefineries in research and development, as well as in political discussion, is related to the discussion of "fuels vs food and feed". Although other biorefinery schemes (with the exception of algal biorefineries) rely on feedstocks provided by agriculture, such biorefineries make use of lignocellulosic materials such as wood and wood residues from forestry, and straw as residues from agricultural processes. In some cases, other residues from food production or landscaping may be used as well. Two different schemes must be distinguished. There are those processes that primarily or exclusively generate bioethanol and those which try to valorize the three constituents of lignocelluloses, lignin, cellulose, and hemicelluloses, individually.

The first scheme is equivalent to the scheme of a second-generation bioethanol plant: straw or wood is pretreated before hydrolyzing cellulose and hemicelluloses either by the application of mineral acids or enzymes. The monomeric sugar solutions are fermented to produce bioethanol, which is separated and purified by thermal processing. The remaining lignin is burned for steam and electric power generation (Fig. 7).

The second scheme uses the solvation power of liquids, that is, ethanol or acetic acid. As in the classical pulping processes, cellulose remains undissolved, as in the first fraction of the separation scheme; different methods are used to separate consecutively lignin and hemicelluloses, the monomeric sugars generated in the process. Usually these sugars, as well as glucose from the hydrolysis of the cellulose, are used for fermentation (Fig. 8).

There is a subtopic: the attempts to use green – not yet completely lignified – biomass such as grass. The scientific idea behind such concepts is related to the composition of green grass and other plants. In contrast to lignified biomass such as straw, green plants contain rather high amounts of proteins. Most schemes try to extract these proteins for use as food additive or in cosmetics. Another concept



Fig. 7 Lignocellulosic biorefinery - 2G bioethanol plant



Fig. 8 Lignocellulosic biorefinery - chemicals focused

starts with the isolation of the fiber fraction. Both concepts are connected through their use of all residues in a biogas plant. The third scheme is closely related to the classical production of silage as animal feed: Pressing silage from green plants delivers a juice wherefrom lactic acid and amino acids can be isolated.

# 3.6 Synthesis Gas Biorefinery

The route to the platform syngas – a mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen – relies exclusively on classical high temperature chemical engineering. At high temperatures the equilibrium between carbon- and hydrogen-containing materials (the feedstock) together with oxygen (the gasification agent) on one hand, and syngas on the other, lies on the platform's side. Processes originally developed for coal gasification can be applied using dry or torrefied biomass. Others are very specific to biomass: the gasification of black liquor from the production of pulp, the two-step route via pyrolysis of biomass, and the subsequent gasification of pyrolysis oil and coke.

For the generation of products, there is a multitude of processes based on syngas, applied in the context of coal or natural gas conversion. The two major routes are the Fischer–Tropsch process for the production of hydrocarbons and the methanol production. Methanol itself is the starting point of a whole product tree: hydrocarbons, ethylene, propylene, aromatics, and others. A biotechnological route recently received attention as it offers a great variety of functionalized products: the fermentation of syngas (Fig. 9).

The strength of this concept is the fact that different lignocellulosic materials can be used as feedstock and all components are utilized. On the other hand, for reasons of economy, large-scale plants are necessary.





# 3.7 Others

In principle, one could define further biorefinery types as follows:

- Pyrolysis oil biorefinery extracting (aromatic) compounds
- Biogas biorefinery converting methane (produced by the traditional biomass digestion)
- Biochar biorefinery making use of the products coming out of the hydrothermal carbonization of biomass

For the first two examples, the relevant chemical and biotechnological process options are described in this volume. De facto, the old Degussa process for the preparation of charcoal with methanol and acetic acid as additional products could be taken as a kind of relative of the third example.

# 4 Concluding Remarks

Biorefineries promise the efficient and complete use of biomass for the generation of chemicals, polymers, and fuels. However, at the end of the day a detailed analysis of each scheme must prove whether this promise of a high degree of sustainability is valid. That being said, the sustainability analysis of biorefineries is an important subject.

This book takes a detailed look at the key elements of the resources available for biotechnological processing (chapters "Agriculture", "Wood Processing Residues" and "Logistics of Lignocellulosic Feedstocks") and the biorefinery classes currently available (chapters "Vegetable Oil-Biorefinery", "From Current Algae Products to Future", "Sugarcane-Biorefinery", "Starch Biorefinery Enzymes", "Organosolv Processes", "Lignocellulose-Biorefineries", "Synthesis Gas Biorefinery", "Syngas-Utilization", "Anaerobic Digestion" and "Pyrolysis Oil Biorefinery"). Special attention has been paid to represent chemical and biotechnological processing routes adequately. The third section of the book gives an overview of the most significant product groups that can be produced with biorefineries (chapters "Products Components: Alcohols", "Biotechnological Production of Organic Acids from Renewable Resources", "Hydrocarbons: Microbial hydrocarbon formation from biomass", "Bioplastics" and "Biotechnological and Biochemical Utilization of Lignin"). In conclusion, a detailed insight into the critical aspect of sustainability is given. As known from the Advances in Biochem*ical Engineering/Biotechnology* series, current aspects and future developments are in focus. Even traditional biorefinery concepts, such as the starch and oil processing, are ongoing subjects of research. New biocatalysts and biotechnological value-added processing routes are under development.

# **Biomass Resources: Agriculture**



Ingeborg N. Kluts, Marnix L. J. Brinkman, Sierk A. de Jong, and H. Martin Junginger

Abstract Bioenergy is the single largest source of renewable energy in the European Union (EU-28); of this, 14% was produced from agricultural feedstocks in 2012. This chapter provides an overview of the current use (for bioenergy) and future potential of agricultural feedstocks for (amongst others) biorefinery purposes in the European Union. The main application of these feedstocks is currently the production of biofuels for road transport. Biodiesel makes up 80% of the European biofuel production, mainly from rapeseed oil, and the remaining part is bioethanol from wheat and sugar beet. Dedicated woody and grassy crops (mainly miscanthus and switchgrass) are currently only used in very small quantities for heat and electricity generation. There is great potential for primary agricultural residues (mainly straw) but currently only part of this is for heat and electricity generation. Agricultural land currently in use for energy crop cultivation in the EU-28 is 4.4 Mio ha, although the land area technically available in 2030 is estimated to be 16–43 Mio ha, or 15–40% of the current arable land in the EU-28. There is, however, great uncertainty on the location and quality of that land. It is expected that woody and grassy crops together with primary agricultural residues should become more important as agricultural feedstocks.

I.N. Kluts, M.L.J. Brinkman (🖂), S.A. de Jong, and H.M. Junginger

Copernicus Institute of Sustainable Development, P.O. Box 80115, 3508 TC Utrecht, The Netherlands

e-mail: I.N.Kluts@uu.nl; M.L.J.Brinkman@uu.nl; S.A.deJong@uu.nl; H.M.Junginger@uu.nl

Keywords Agricultural feedstock, Energy crops, Energy potential, Primary agricultural residues, Straw

### Contents

1	Introduction	. 14
2	Current Bioenergy Production from Agricultural Feedstocks	15
	2.1 Energy Crops	15
	2.2 Primary Agricultural Residues	15
3	Future Potential of Agricultural Feedstocks	. 17
	3.1 Land Potential for Biomass Feedstock Production	. 17
	3.2 Future Feedstock Potential	. 20
4	Synthesis	. 23
Re	erences	. 24

# 1 Introduction

Two-thirds of renewable primary energy production in the European Union (EU-28) in 2012 was derived from biomass and renewable wastes [1]. In 2012, bioenergy accounted for 12.4, 4.1, and 5.3% of the renewable energy share in heat and cooling, electricity, and transport sectors, respectively [2]. The share of bioenergy produced from agricultural feedstocks is small compared to bioenergy produced from forestry feedstocks, but increased from approximately 7% in 2007 to 14% or 720 petajoule(PJ) in 2012 [3]. Agricultural feedstocks include conventional food crops such as rapeseed, wheat, and maize (i.e., first-generation feedstock), and crops specially cultivated for energy purposes, such as miscanthus, switchgrass, willow, and poplar (i.e., second-generation feedstock). In addition, agricultural residues in the form of straw, cuttings, and prunings are used for bioenergy production. Agricultural feedstocks are mostly used for the production of biofuels and biogas, whereas heat and electricity are mostly produced from forestry feedstocks, although straw and other crop residues are increasingly used as well [4, 5].

This chapter discusses the current use of agricultural feedstocks for bioenergy production and future agricultural potentials as feedstock for (amongst others) biorefineries. The chapter also considers constraints and focuses on the European Union.

This chapter is structured as follows. Section 2 covers the current use of agricultural feedstock in the EU, including energy crops (Sect. 2.1) and agricultural residues (Sect. 2.2). Section 3 focuses on the future potential in Europe. This section first gives an estimation of the land potentially available for energy crop cultivation (Sect. 3.1), and continues with the energy potential from this land and from agricultural residues (Sect. 3.2). A synthesis is provided in Sect. 4.

# 2 Current Bioenergy Production from Agricultural Feedstocks

# 2.1 Energy Crops

Currently, sugarcane, maize, oil palm, rapeseed, and soybean are globally the major crops for biofuel production [4]. Although, globally, bioethanol represents the largest share of biofuel production, biodiesel represents more than 80% of total biofuel production in Europe, mainly from rapeseed oil [6, 7]. Sugarcane and maize are the predominant crops for bioethanol production in Brazil and the USA, respectively, although wheat and sugar beet are mainly used in Europe for bioethanol production [4, 6].

European liquid biofuel production increased from 50 PJ in 2002 to 485 PJ in 2012, whereas biofuel gross consumption increased from 47 PJ in 2002 to 658 PJ in 2012 [1]. Hamelinck et al. [8] estimated the agricultural land within Europe required to meet the biofuel consumption in 2012 as approximately 4.4 Mio ha; this is 3.9% of the total arable land. An additional 3.5 Mio ha of agricultural land was required outside Europe to produce the biofuels consumed in the EU-28 in 2012. The authors consider the actual acreage required for biofuel production to be lower because conservative data were used for conversion efficiencies and yields [8].

Besides conventional crops, grassy and woody crops are used for bioenergy production. Currently, this only concerns small quantities, mainly for heat and electricity generation. A synthesis of different data sources by AEBIOM [6] shows approximately 0.16 Mio ha grassy energy crop cultivation in the EU-28 in 2014, of which 32% is switchgrass and 25% is miscanthus. Switchgrass is solely produced in Romania, whereas miscanthus is produced in various countries, including the United Kingdom (17,000 ha), Germany (15,000 ha), France (3,500 ha), and Ireland (2,200 ha). Countries with the highest cultivation of lignocellulosic energy crop cultivation are Romania, Germany, the United Kingdom, and Finland [6].

# 2.2 Primary Agricultural Residues

Primary agricultural residues include crop residues remaining in the field after harvest, whereas secondary agricultural residues are generated from processing the primary crops. The most important primary agricultural residue in Europe is wheat straw followed by barley straw and maize stover [9]. Conventional uses for straw include animal feed and bedding, mushroom cultivation, surface mulching in horticulture, and industrial uses, such as in the pulp and paper industry [10]. Straw can also be used to produce bioenergy, including fuels, electricity and heat, and biochemicals.

Only part of primary crop residues is potentially available for energy or biorefineries. A certain proportion of the crop residues needs to be left on the field to maintain soil quality, prevent soil erosion, and improve water retention [11]. A sustainable removal rate should therefore be considered when removing crop residues from the field. This removal rate is site-specific and is affected by crop type, farming practices, harvesting equipment, and local soil and climate conditions [9], and is estimated to be in the range of 30–70% [9, 11–16]. The yearly use of crop residues for non-energypurposes, expressed in dry matter (dm), isestimated to be around 28 Mt<sub>dm</sub> in Europe (also excluding use for soil quality maintenance) [9].

Excluding the crop residues used for soil incorporation and other competitive uses, currently approximately 53–204  $Mt_{dm}$ /year crop residues are available in Europe for energy or biorefinery purposes, equalling 960–3,700 PJ/year [5, 9, 14, 15, 17]. However, crop residue availability varies greatly from year to year [9]. Countries with high crop residue availability are France, Germany, Romania, Spain, Italy, Hungary, and Poland. The agricultural sector is large in these countries and the existing demand for crop residues is relatively low [9, 15].

Across Europe, straw is used to produce heat, power, and, more recently, biofuels. Denmark, the frontrunner in Europe, uses approximately 1.8 million tons of straw each year for energy purposes [18]. In recent years, multiple biofuel plants converting straw to ethanol have come online. European plants include the Abengoa plant in Salamanca, Spain (35,000 tonnes/year input), the Inbicon plant in Kalundborg, Denmark (30,000 tonnes/year input), Beta Renewables/Chemtex in Crescentino (180,000 tonnes/year input), and Chempolis, Oulu, Finland (25,000 tonnes/year input) [10, 19], but not all of these plants are yet operating at full capacity.

Several barriers still exist to extensive mobilization of straw for bioenergy purposes. Barriers include immature markets and lack of market information, competition with traditional uses of straw, lack of infrastructure, lack of experience with straw extraction and mobilization, and varying straw quality and availability over time because of changing weather conditions [10]. Moreover, average straw prices tend to be higher than forestry residue prices (on a mass and energy basis) [20]. Large geographical differences between straw prices also exist as prices are mainly determined by local scarcity [5]. In 2014, straw prices ranged from 14  $\epsilon$ /tonne in Lithuania to 169  $\epsilon$ /tonne in Greece [21]. Transport costs of straw tend to be high because of the low energy density of the feedstock.



Fig. 1 Overlap between different potential types [23]

# **3** Future Potential of Agricultural Feedstocks

The sustainable potential from agriculture that could be utilized by, amongst others, biorefineries is constrained by the amount and suitability of the land available for energy<sup>1</sup> crop cultivation and various constraints related to, among others, available technologies, sustainability (e.g., greenhouse gas (GHG) emission mitigation targets, prevention of biodiversity loss), and market conditions defining economic profitability. A distinction between different types of biomass potentials is often made according to the type of constraints as shown in Fig. 1; see [22, 23]. The theoretical potential is defined as the maximum biomass supply constrained only by biophysical limits. The technical potential is the fraction of the theoretical potential available under current available technologies, and limited by other land uses including food, feed and fiber production, and urban areas. The ecologically sustainable potential is the technical potential further constrained by environmental criteria such as biodiversity conservation and soil and water preservation The share of the technical potential meeting certain economic criteria within given conditions is referred to as the market or economic potential. Some studies also estimate the implementation potential, the economic potential that can be implemented within a certain timeframe and socio-political framework.

# 3.1 Land Potential for Biomass Feedstock Production

Future land potentially available for energy crop cultivation is constrained by the land required for food, feed and fiber production, forests, biodiversity protection,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As scientific literature mainly focuses specifically on the potential for *energy* crops, we also use this terminology throughout this chapter, although energy crops can also be used as feedstock for material/biorefinery purposes.



Fig. 2 Estimated land potentially available for energy cropping in the EU-27 in 2020 and 2030 based on [5, 14, 24, 25]

and urban and recreational areas. Projections on European cropland technically available for energy crop production are 6–22 Mio ha currently, 18–34 Mio ha in 2020, and 16–43 Mio ha in 2030 (Fig. 2) [5, 14, 24, 25]. Total arable land in the EU-27 was 66 Mio ha in 2012, so the above numbers correspond with 5–20%, 17–31%, and 15–40% of current arable land, respectively [5, 14, 24, 25]. In addition, pasture land technically available for lignocellulosic energy crop production in Europe is projected to be 0–4 Mio ha currently, 0–10 Mio ha in 2020, and 0–19 Mio ha in 2030 (Fig. 2), corresponding with around 0–6%, 0–16%, and 0–28% of current pasture land [14, 24].

The studies estimating the land availability for energy cropping apply a "food first" paradigm, that is, agricultural land required for food and feed production is never included in the land availability estimates for energy crops. Two key factors in determining the amount of land required for food and feed production are the projected food demand and production intensity. Production intensity is, in turn, related to the level of agricultural intensification and rationalization. Although the demand for agricultural land for food production is projected to increase globally, large differences exist between developing countries (further expansion of agricultural land) [26]. Although an increase in European agricultural output is projected, the utilized agricultural land area is projected to continue to decline; from 180 Mio ha in 2009 to 173 Mio ha in 2024 [27].

Differences in the projections of future land potential between studies are caused by different methods, approaches, and assumptions being applied. Assumptions on the interaction between land use for food and biomass feedstock production are central in different ways. First, biomass feedstock production may act as an additional driver for intensification of food and feed production as competition for land increases [28, 29]. Assumptions on intensification rates of food and feed crops are critical in the estimation of land availability. In addition, many studies neglect the role of pastureland in biomass feedstock provision. Woods et al. [29] emphasize the role of pastureland in biomass feedstock provision. Pastureland occupies a large area of global agricultural land (i.e., twice the area of cropland) although only providing a small share of the food supply (i.e., about 3% of human dietary protein consumption) [29]. Woods et al. [29] argue that pasture intensification is likely to be larger in the presence of a robust bioenergy industry than without. Second, competition for resources may alter prices of land and therefore the competitive position of food and feed commodities [14]. Third, by-products produced during bioenergy production may substitute animal feed sources and are therefore interacting with the animal feed sector [30].

Differences in future land potentials between studies are also caused by the application of different sustainability criteria. Stricter criteria on sustainability, related to nature and biodiversity conservation and GHG emissions, lead to less land being available for biomass feedstock production as a higher share of agricultural land is reserved for nature conservation and there are less regions where the GHG mitigation requirements are reached [14, 31, 32].

### 3.1.1 Land Categories

In addition to land that can be made available for bioenergy production by intensification of current agricultural systems, there is also land available that is currently not used to its full potential. This under-utilized land can be divided into two types: low productive land that is not suitable for conventional crop production and unused agricultural land [22].

Low productive lands are known under various names: marginal, degraded, or contaminated lands. The amount and suitability of these lands are difficult to assess as many reasons for the low productivity exist, including economic, environmental, and agronomic limitations or a combination of these [33]. Agricultural production might no longer be economic with current agricultural practices, salinized lands might arise where the salt content has risen to a level where food production is no longer possible, and manufacturing or mining can also have detrimental effects on the quality of the soil [33, 34]. Improved management and technological development can make these lands productive again [34], although productivity could be lower than average.

Despite the resemblance in the unused lands category between fallow land and abandoned land, the reasons for the land to be out of use are very different; fallow land is set aside in the crop rotation, whereas abandoned land is land that has been used for agriculture but has fallen out of use in recent years. The amount of fallow land in Europe has for many years been connected to the requirements of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP), in which a certain amount of fallow land was mandated. This requirement has been abolished in the CAP 2014–2020 reform, which means that fallow land has been included for agricultural production again

and the available fallow land is now diminishing rapidly [33]. In addition, fallowing of land is important in maintaining soil fertility and energy crop cultivation on fallow land should therefore be considered carefully. Abandoned crop or pasture-land, on the other hand, can be used for energy crop production, as it is not in use for food, feed, or fiber production and under the condition that this land is not constrained by the sustainability criteria of the Renewable Energy Directive (RED) of the European Union [35]. See [36] on sustainability evaluation for more details on sustainability criteria in the RED. The use of pastureland for energy crop cultivation should also be carefully considered and limited to perennial crops only to minimize tillage practices and related environmental impacts.

As Allen et al. [33] note, there are no official statistics on the different land categories, which makes it difficult to estimate directly the amount of land that can be used for energy crops. A first estimate shows there can be great potential as the agricultural area in Eastern Europe (Belarus, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Moldova, Romania, Russia, Slovakia, and Ukraine) has declined by over 16 Mio ha in the period 1992–2012 [37]. This decline can be attributed to the decrease in demand for agricultural products from the former Soviet Union after the collapse and economic decline in the beginning of the 1990s.

However, not the whole area is available for energy crop production, as not all land complies with the current sustainability criteria for liquid biofuels. If we assume that these criteria are to apply for all future uses in a biobased economy, existing carbon stocks in particular may be a critical factor limiting land conversion to energy crops. Carbon stocks slowly increase after abandonment [38] and are released when taking the land into production for agricultural energy cropping, thereby possibly negatively affecting the carbon balance of biofuels. The effect on the biofuel's carbon balance depends on the type of crop used with lignocellulosic (perennial) crops in general performing better. Perennial crops sequester more carbon because of the deeper rooting systems and have lower tillage and fertilizer requirements compared to annual crops [39]. The FAO statistics show an increase of 3.2 Mio ha in forest areas in Eastern Europe in the period 1992–2012, the same period in which the agricultural area declined significantly. This trend was also recently confirmed by data from satellite images by Potapov et al. [40]. Schierhorn et al. [41] identified that, in the 20 years after the large-scale abandonment in European parts of the former Soviet Union, carbon stocks have increased on average by 15 tonnes/ha. These ongoing increases make abandoned agricultural land for energy crops increasingly unavailable.

# 3.2 Future Feedstock Potential

### 3.2.1 Energy Crops

Many studies projected the future bioenergy potential from energy crops and agricultural residues; an overview is shown in Fig. 3 for the years 2020 and 2030.



Fig. 3 Estimated bioenergy potentials from energy crops and agricultural residues in 2020 and 2030 in the EU-27 based on [5, 14, 24, 25]

The technical potential is estimated to be in the range of 1,530–2,860 PJ in 2020 and 2,000–3,860 PJ in 2030 for first-generation crops, and 6,470–7,180 PJ in 2020 and 8,720–9,630 PJ in 2030 for second-generation crops [24]. These potentials are calculated based on cropping the total available land with crops from one specific crop group (i.e., oil, sugar, starch, woody, or grassy crops). Considering sustainability criteria, other than food security, but considering both annual and perennial crops, gives a potential of 2,160–3,160 PJ/year in 2020 and 1,540–2,500 PJ/year in 2030 [5]. The economic potential of energy crops is projected to be 600–1,100 PJ in 2020 and around 1,400 PJ in 2030 [12, 31].

Sustainability constraints are considered to a varying extent in the ecologically sustainable and economic potentials. Stricter sustainability constraints lead to a lower potential from energy crops for two main reasons. First, less land is available as more land is reserved for nature protection. Second, the GHG emission mitigation requirements as set in the EU's RED [35] for the production of liquid transport fuels are not met by all energy crops for different production pathways. Considering the GHG emissions from indirect land use change (ILUC) in the GHG emission mitigation requirement lowers the energy potential from energy crops further, as is shown by, for example, Elbersen et al. [32]. However, large variations are found in land use change-related GHG emissions for the different energy crops [34] and the use of default ILUC factors is debatable. Generally, the calculated ILUC-induced GHG emissions are lowest for woody and grassy crops, followed by sugar and

starch crops, and highest for oil crops [42]. More on land use change induced by energy crops can be found in [36]. It remains to be seen whether similar sustainability criteria are also applicable for the use of biomass feedstocks in biorefineries for the production of, for example, biochemicals and plastics, but this could ultimately become a limiting factor for these applications as well.

The type of energy crops cultivated on the available land determines to a large extent the final potential (in terms of energy content/dry matter). Woody and grassy crops are expected to play a key role in the future sustainable bioenergy potential. The results of De Wit and Faaij [24] show the importance of crop selection on the total potential as they estimate the potentials by dedicating the whole land area available to one specific crop group. The highest potential is from grassy crops, followed by woody crops, because these crops reach high yields with relatively extensive agriculture management practices, leading to lower costs [24].

A shift from oil, sugar, and starch crops to woody and grassy crops is also foreseen by the European Environment Agency (EEA). The EEA [31] used a demand-driven approach to estimate the amount of land needed to reach the targets on bioenergy set in the National Renewable Energy Action Plans in 2020. They projected land demand for energy crops to be between 7 and 17 Mio ha, depending on the assumptions regarding the bioenergy mix, the use of different bioenergy feedstocks, and conversion pathways. Less land is required in the scenarios that emphasize sustainable biomass feedstock production, the avoidance of ILUC impacts, and with a higher price support. These assumptions lead to a higher availability of woody and grassy crops with higher yields and thus a more efficient use of the land. If these feedstocks are also to be used for biorefineries, the specific type and feedstock requirements of the biorefinery plays a crucial role with regard to the land availability.

### 3.2.2 Agricultural Residues

Agricultural residues are also expected to play a role in supplying bioenergy potential as well as woody and grassy energy crops. The sustainable potential of primary agricultural residues remains fairly constant over time and is estimated at 115–150 Mt<sub>dm</sub>/year (2,000–2,500 PJ/year) and 110–135 Mt<sub>dm</sub>/year (2.000–2,300 PJ/year) for the EU in 2020 and 2030, respectively [5, 14, 24]. Including non-EU Member States in the supply potential for Europe raises the sustainable potential to 4,000 PJ/year in 2020 and 4,100 PJ/year in 2030 [13]. Overall, wheat straw contributes most to the total share of primary agricultural residues, followed by barley and maize.

The amount of crop residues is affected by crop yield. Crop breeding aims at improving yields by increasing the share of the harvestable component of the crop, thereby reducing the residues to product ratio (RPR). However, as the use of straw for soil protection is proportional to land use, intensification of crop production leads to a higher sustainable supply potential as less land is required to produce the same amount of crops in intensive production systems than extensive production systems [13]. However, when taking a global (rather than European) perspective, Daioglou et al. [13] found the residue supply to be more sensitive to developments in competitive uses, including livestock feed and fuel use for poor households, than to the rate of intensification. Bentsen et al. [17] also estimate an increase in the theoretical potential of crop residues through agricultural intensification. This increase is estimated to be high for Africa (93% of current theoretical residue availability), Oceania (155%), and Eastern Europe (61%), whereas the increase in agricultural residue supply through agricultural intensification is low (12%) for Northern, Western, and Southern Europe, because high input agriculture is already applied [17].

# 4 Synthesis

This chapter provided an overview of the current use and future potentials of agricultural feedstocks for energy and biomaterial purposes in the European Union. Agricultural land currently in use to produce energy crops in the European Union is 4.4 Mio ha, and land technically available in 2030 is estimated to be in the range of 16–43 Mio ha, which is 15–40% of the current arable land in the EU-28. Abandoned lands offer a good opportunity for energy crop production without competing with other uses such as food and feed production and nature protection. The availability of abandoned lands is, however, uncertain as statistics do not separately report this land type. Furthermore, it can be expected that productivity on these lands is lower than average. To add these lands to the land potential estimates, better maps are required to expand the knowledge on the location of these lands.

Agricultural feedstocks are used to produce approximately 14% of the bioenergy in the EU-28 in 2012. Oil seed biodiesel forms the majority of biofuel production in Europe, whereas wheat and sugar beet for bioethanol are used in smaller amounts. The future energy potential from crops is estimated to vary between 1,530 and 7,180 PJ in 2020 to 2,000 and 9,630 PJ in 2030, depending on crop type and sustainability constraints considered. Stricter sustainability constraints on nature protection and GHG emissions lead to an overall lower potential from crops and causes a shift from annual to perennial crops.

Primary agricultural residues are a large resource for bioenergy and biomaterial production that is not used to its fullest extent, mainly for cost and logistic reasons. The low energy density of straw makes transport costly. Besides, average straw prices are higher than forestry residues and a high variation in straw prices is observed from region to region, as prices are mainly determined by local scarcity. The availability of crop residues is estimated to stay rather stable (i.e., 115–150  $Mt_{dm}$ /year (2,000–2,500 PJ/year) and 110–135  $Mt_{dm}$ /year (2.000–2,300 PJ/year) in 2020 and 2030, respectively). Crop management practices, influencing crop yields and the amount of crop residues that need to be left on the land, influence the amount of crop residues bioenergy and biomaterial production available. It can be concluded

that primary agricultural residues, together with woody and grassy energy crops, should become more important as agricultural feedstocks, although the share of oil, starch, and sugar crops should decrease. This effect is reinforced if sustainability criteria become more stringent and/or if they are applied for all energy uses and material application.

# References

- 1. EUROSTAT (2015) Supply, transformation and consumption of renewable energies annual data [nrg\_107a]. http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=nrg\_107a&lang=en. Accessed 22 Sep 2015
- Scarlat N, Dallemand J-F, Monforti-Ferrario F, et al. (2015) Renewable energy policy framework and bioenergy contribution in the European Union – an overview from National Renewable Energy Action Plans and Progress Reports. Renew Sust Energ Rev 51:969–985. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2015.06.062
- European Commission (2015) Agriculture and bioenergy. http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/ bioenergy/index\_en.htm. Accessed 24 Sep 2015
- Long SP, Karp A, Buckeridge MS, et al. (2015) Chapter 10: feedstocks for biofuels and bioenergy. In: Souza GM, Victoria R, Joly C, Verdade L (eds) Bioenergy & sustainability: bridging the gaps, vol 72. SCOPE, Paris, pp. 302–346
- 5. Elbersen B, Startisky I, Hengeveld G et al (2012) Atlas of EU biomass potentials. Deliverable 3.3 of Biomass Futures project. Wageningen, The Netherlands
- 6. European Biomass Association (AEBIOM) (2014) European Bioenergy Outlook 2014. Brussels, Belgium
- 7. EUROSTAT (2015) Primary production all products annual data [nrg\_109a]. http://appsso. eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=nrg\_109a&lang=en. Accessed 25 Sep 2015
- 8. Hamelinck C, Koper M, Janeiro L et al (2014) Renewable energy progress and biofuels sustainability. Ecofys, Utrecht
- Scarlat N, Martinov M, Dallemand J-F (2010) Assessment of the availability of agricultural crop residues in the European Union: potential and limitations for bioenergy use. Waste Manag 30:1889–1897. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2010.04.016
- 10. Kretschmer B, Allen B, Hart K (2012) Mobilising cereal straw in the EU to feed advanced biofuel production. IEEP, London
- 11. Spöttle M, Alberici S, Toop G et al (2013) Low ILUC potential of wastes and residues for biofuels: straw, forestry residues, UCO, corn cobs. Ecofys, Utrecht
- 12. Böttcher H, Dees M, Fritz SM et al (2010) Biomass Energy Europe Illustration Case for Europe. Deliverable 6.1- Annex 1 of Biomass Energy Europe. IIASA, Laxenburg
- Daioglou V, Stehfest E, Wicke B et al (2015) Projections of the availability and cost of residues from agriculture and forestry. GCB Bioenergy. doi: 10.1111/gcbb.12285
- Fischer G, Prieler S, van Velthuizen H, et al. (2010) Biofuel production potentials in Europe: sustainable use of cultivated land and pastures, Part II: land use scenarios. Biomass Bioenergy 34:173–187. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.07.009
- Monforti F, Bódis K, Scarlat N, Dallemand J-F (2013) The possible contribution of agricultural crop residues to renewable energy targets in Europe: a spatially explicit study. Renew Sust Energ Rev 19:666–677. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2012.11.060
- Pudelko R, Borzecka-Walker M, Faber A (2013) The feedstock potential assessment for EU-27 + Switzerland in NUTS-3. Pulawy, Poland
- Bentsen NS, Felby C, Thorsen BJ (2014) Agricultural residue production and potentials for energy and materials services. Prog Energy Combust Sci 40:59–73. doi:10.1016/j.pecs.2013. 09.003

- Giuntoli J, Boulamanti AK, Corrado S, et al. (2013) Environmental impacts of future bioenergy pathways: the case of electricity from wheat straw bales and pellets. GCB Bioenergy 5:497–512. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12012
- 19. Bacovsky D, Ludwiczek N, Ognissanto M, Manfred W (2013) Status of advanced biofuels demonstration facilities in 2012. A report to IEA bioenergy task 39, Paris, France
- 20. Kühner S (2013) Feedstock costs. Deliverable D1.1 of biomass based energy intermediates boosting biofuel production (BioBoost). Ganderkesee, Germany
- 21. EUROSTAT (2015) Purchase prices of the means of agricultural production (absolute prices) annual price (from 2000 onwards) [apri\_ap\_ina]. http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show. do?dataset=apri\_ap\_ina&lang=en(2012). Accessed 2 Nov 2015
- 22. Chum H, Faaij A, Moreira J, et al. (2011) Chapter 2: bioenergy. In: Edenhofer O, Pichs-Madruga R, Sokona Y, et al. (eds) IPCC special report on renewable energy sources and climate change mitigation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 203–332
- Batidzirai B, Smeets EMW, Faaij APC (2012) Harmonising bioenergy resource potentials methodological lessons from review of state of the art bioenergy potential assessments. Renew Sust Energ Rev 16:6598–6630. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2012.09.002
- De Wit M, Faaij A (2010) European biomass resource potential and costs. Biomass Bioenergy 34:188–202. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.07.011
- Krasuska E, Cadórniga C, Tenorio JL, et al. (2010) Potential land availability for energy crops production in Europe. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4:658–673. doi:10.1002/bbb.259
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J (2012) World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision. FAO Agricultural Development Economics Division, Rome
- 27. European Commission (2014) Prospects for EU agriculture markets and income 2014–2024. European Commission, DG Agriculture and Rural Development
- Overmars K, Stehfest E, Ros J, Prins A (2011) Indirect land use change emissions related to EU biofuel consumption: an analysis based on historical data. Environ Sci Pol 14:248–257. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2010.12.012
- Woods J, Lynd LR, Laser M, et al. (2015) Chapter 9: land and bioenergy. In: Souza GM, Victoria R, Joly C, Verdade L (eds) Bioenergy & sustainability: bridging the gaps, vol 72. SCOPE, Paris, pp. 258–300
- 30. FAO (2012) Biofuel co-products as livestock feed opportunities and challenges. Rome, Italy
- 31. EEA (2013) EU bioenergy potential from a resource-efficiency perspective. Copenhagen, Denmark
- Elbersen B, Fritsche U, Petersen J-E, et al. (2013) Assessing the effect of stricter sustainability criteria on EU biomass crop potential. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 7:173–192. doi:10.1002/bbb. 1396
- Allen B, Kretschmer B, Baldock D et al (2014) Space for energy crops assessing the potential contribution to Europe's energy future. IEEP, London
- Wicke B, Verweij P, van Meijl H, et al. (2012) Indirect land use change: review of existing models and strategies for mitigation. Biofuels 3:87–100. doi:10.4155/bfs.11.154
- 35. European Commission (2009) Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources and amending and subsequently repealing repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC. Off J Eur Union 160:16–62
- 36. Stichnothe H (2017) Sustainability evaluation. In: Wagemann K, Tippkötter N (eds) Advances in biochemical engineering/biotechnology. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp. 1–21
- 37. FAO (2015) FAOSTAT. http://faostat3.fao.org/home/E. Accessed 23 Sep 2015
- 38. Post WM, Kwon KC (2000) Soil carbon sequestration and land-use change: processes and potential. Glob Chang Biol 6:317–327. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.00308.x
- de Wit M, Lesschen JP, Londo M, Faaij APC (2014) Greenhouse gas mitigation effects of integrating biomass production into European agriculture. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 8:374–390. doi:10.1002/bbb.1470

- 40. Potapov PV, Turubanova SA, Tyukavina A, et al. (2014) Eastern Europe's forest cover dynamics from 1985 to 2012 quantified from the full Landsat archive. Remote Sens Environ 159:28–43. doi:10.1016/j.rse. 2014.11.027
- 41. Schierhorn F, Müller D, Beringer T, et al. (2013) Post-Soviet cropland abandonment and carbon sequestration in European Russia, Ukraine, and Belarus. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 27:1175–1185. doi:10.1002/2013GB004654
- 42. Pelkmans L, Elbersen B, Fritsche U et al (2014) Guidelines and indicators for the evaluation of sustainable resource efficient biomass value chains. Deliverable 2.6 of the Biomass Policies project

# **Wood Processing Residues**



Ulrike Saal, Holger Weimar, and Udo Mantau

**Abstract** Rising demand for and scarcity of wood – together with cost savings and resource efficiency requirements – have led to a constant increase in the use of wood processing residues, where appropriate, in the production of wood-based products. This chapter presents/reviews the available information and existing knowledge of residues at various regional levels. It describes the segment of wood processing residues as an important wood resource and the availability of data on a national and on a global level for the quantification and the projection of the resource. The chapter points out the importance of empirical data (collection). Furthermore, it provides a terminology concept for a harmonised use of the diverse assortments and production stages of wood processing residues.

**Keywords** Assortments of wood-based residues, Data availability, Forest industry branches, Terminology of wood-based residues, Wood resource assessment

# Contents

1	Introduction	28
2	Literature Review, Terminology and Definitions	29
	2.1 Literature Review	29
	2.2 Terminology and Definition	31
3	Supply of Wood-Based Residues: On Three Regional Levels	34
	3.1 Germany	34
	3.2 Europe	35
	3.3 Global Data	37

U. Saal (⊠) and U. Mantau

H. Weimar

Thünen Institute of International Forestry and Forest Economics, Leuschnerstrasse 91, 21031 Hamburg, Germany

Centre of Wood Science, University of Hamburg, Leuschnerstrasse 91, 21031 Hamburg, Germany e-mail: ulrike.saal@uni-hamburg.de

4	Discussion	39
Re	ferences	40

# 1 Introduction

Looking at the long-term trend, the demand for wood has constantly increased over the last few decades. On the one hand this is driven by a constantly increasing demand for wood-based products and, on the other, by increased demand for wood for energy purposes. Besides traditional users of wood resources, new competitors also influence the demand for wood. The chemical industry is likely to increase the use of woody biomass for biotechnological purposes and biorefinery of wood. Consequently, the demand for wood as a raw material is also rising in parallel with the demand for (its) related products.

Basically, the demand was largely fulfilled by a rising supply of roundwood, driven by increased fellings in forests. However, given the material structure of wood as a raw material, wood-based residues which accrue during the different steps of wood processing are also suitable for further material and energetic uses.

Rising demand and scarcity of wood – and also cost savings and resource efficiency – have led to a constant increase in the use of wood processing residues, where appropriate, in the production of wood-based products. For example, the development of particle board has its origin in technological investments for a more efficient use of the available quantities of wood processing residues. This resource originates from, for example, sawmills, planing mills or the furniture industry, and would otherwise have been disposed of as waste.

It should be noted that the increase of the material use of wood processing residues moved forwards in parallel with technological developments in the panel board industry and, to a certain extent, in the pulp industry. The material use of waste wood for particle board production is also strongly related to the scarcity of available fresh wood fibres and further possibilities to reduce costs of raw material.

In fact, in many countries the use of wood processing residues for different purposes is a necessity, given the limited availability of the raw material and the cost of fresh fibres/roundwood. In this regard, recent developments should also be noticed in the chemical industry which uses wood for biotechnological and biorefinery purposes.

However, knowledge of the market structure, concerning supply and demand of wood processing residues, is surprisingly low. It seems as if the official national statistical systems of data gathering throughout the world are only focusing on the main resource flow, as long as it can be called a product. However, if there is a supply of (wood) raw material that originally is a residue from the production of a specific (wood-based) product, there is nearly no statistical interest in the recording and surveying of these quantities. Anyhow, in any case, wood processing residues are valuable raw materials which achieve revenue if sold on the market.

So far, knowledge and information concerning available quantities of wood processing residues (i.e. available on the market) and the different kinds of assortments of wood processing residues (available) in use are not easily at hand. It is therefore the objective of this analysis to unveil these questions: what are wood processing residues, what are the different assortments and sources and which quantities are supplied? It shows the importance of empirical research and field data to answer (the question and) the demand for detailed wood resource information.

Hence, the objective of this chapter is to review available information and existing knowledge regarding the resource of wood processing residues, its origins and available supply within the structure of forest industry. Existing research results and previous literature on biomass potentials on a European and on a global scale are compared. The chapter is intended to differentiate from common biomass potential studies. It is not our objective to show potentials of the resource but to give an overview of existing data and quantities based on modelling. Because modelling is used, based on empirical research results, the German wood resource monitoring project is presented as (so far unique) periodic empirical research on supply and use of wood resources, including wood processing residues.

The chapter is structured as follows. In Sect. 2 we present results of our review of the existing literature in this regard and provide an introduction to the terminology and a definition of wood processing residues. Section 3 focuses on the analysis of existing information and data on the supply of wood processing residues. This is done on three different regional levels: we first give insight to the research which has been conducted in this regard in Germany, we then present the available knowledge gathered on a European level and finally present our results on a global level. Section 4 concludes the chapter with a discussion.

# 2 Literature Review, Terminology and Definitions

## 2.1 Literature Review

Current research on biomass resources cannot be imagined without the assessment of wood processing residues. Various studies were published in the last few years, presenting global, European or regional biomass and bio-energy potentials, either for the current situation or for future scenarios. Agricultural and forest biomass are the specific focussed resources. Resource assessment of forest biomass often includes residues from the wood industry. However, this particular segment is not well-differentiated in the literature and overall energy potentials do not give respective resource information. Moreover, because of missing harmonised terminology and units, data are not comparable between regions and countries.

Volumes of wood processing residues represent a significant share of woody biomass. However, existing literature rather focuses on theoretical forest biomass quantities. Most of the studies on potential biomass supply present scenario-based results, such as, for example, [1, 2]. Available studies on wood biomass potential mostly summarise available volumes of wood biomass other than forest biomass without introducing further assessment approaches. In addition, information and

data on wood processing residue volumes are still rare. The segment of wood processing residues is not covered as comprehensively as required by official statistics and the empirical research is exceptional. So far, the available results from some countries are only based on modelling. A first approach to assessing and modelling volumes of wood processing on a broader level (e.g. EU27) was adopted by applying the wood resource balance for European countries [3–5].

The literature on wood biomass potentials differs considerably on methodological approaches, applied scenarios, references and data units. Particular results on volumes of wood processing residues are either subordinate or mixed with volumes of forest residues. Global estimates of global fuel resources, mainly related to forest resources, are available, for example, from Parikka [6]. Smeets and Faaij [2] provide results based on a literature review and general estimation of wood processing residues by using a share of 50% of the total forest industry production. Another study on a global level is presented by Thrän et al. [7] on spatial distribution of biomass potentials based on FAO data from 64 countries. Estimates of woody biomass potential, in particular shares of wood processing residue (with a 25% share of felled wood) potentials on European level are given by Ericsson and Nilsson [1] based on rough approximation.

A study by Alderman et al. [8] investigated the available volume of wood processing residues in Virginia (USA) on the basis of company surveys and product statistics nomenclature. A study by Szostak et al. [9] on the industrial wood residue market in Poland, based on a survey in the Polish forest industry, provides differentiated results on wood processing residues in combination with country statistics. In Germany, various studies based on mail surveys have been conducted within the wood resource monitoring. Results of the EUwood study [3] on the segment of wood processing residues are based on modelling and data of the above-mentioned empirical studies in the context of the German resource monitoring project (for detailed information see Sect. 3.1). Modelling volumes of wood processing residues (on a resource-based level) is based on data of material balance and specific conversion factors. The material balance of a wood product is described by the input of the initial raw material (roundwood, sawnwood, wood-based panels) and the output of the final product (compare [10]). However, reliable data on material balance and conversion factors can only be provided based on empirical research.

In contrast to this, the segment of sawmill residues is analysed in more detail [11–14]. Studies on material recovery within the sawmill industry were conducted mainly for North America. They provide information on sawmill residues as side information. The focus of most of these studies, however, lies on the increased lumber/sawnwood output and production efficiency.

The low number of available assessment studies compared to studies mainly focusing on biomass potential, which do not further differentiate into possible assortments, shows the importance of empirical research for comprehensive results given by primary data collection. National and international statistical databases are already quite well-set with data: Eurostat and FAO provide international statistics on the main sectors of the forest industry. However, encompassing wood resources supply and demand at a sufficient level of detail is not possible for reasons of imprecise terminology and, hence, definition of the resource.
# 2.2 Terminology and Definition

So far, terminology and definition for wood processing residues is neither definite nor well-harmonised. As results of volumes on wood processing residues differ in the literature [15], so do terms on residual woody biomass [16]. A broad variety of terms is used in the literature as regards the segment of residual woody biomass from industrial processes. Terminology describing the assortment of residues from roundwood production and further processing of wood products is inconsistent. For the most part, the resource of wood processing residues appears in the literature with similar features but it can also be confused with forest residues or waste wood. On the other hand, existing terminology summarises the whole resource of wood processing residues and does not clearly differentiate between its particular assortments such as sawmill residues and other wood processing residues or pulp production residues, which should be done because of the large differences in shares and the quantification of the different volumes.

The estimation of volumes of wood processing residues in particular needs prior common definition of the following relevant terms:

*Residue*: an inevitable remainder of any production process. The term does not imply any valuation or category of desired or undesired. It has to be differentiated from waste.

*Waste*: an unserviceable remainder of any production process. It is considered as useless and unsalable [17].

Moreover, the terminology and definition of wood processing residues should be differentiated according to their derivation. Residues are derived from production processes. In comparison to that, by-products receive a market value and product features from the markets' resource demands.

Wood processing residues accumulate during all mechanical and chemical production processes in the forest industry. The resource has to be differentiated from forest residues and waste wood. For a long time, wood processing residues were considered to be waste or remnant biomass without further use. After the demand for woody biomass for energy use started growing as well, wood processing residues, especially sawmill residues, became a by-product with competitive product features [18]. The resource comprises residues from sawmilling, residues from other wood processing activities and black liquor as the residue from the pulping process. In this context, bark is not considered as an assortment wood processing residue. Bark accumulates before the actual wood processing (debarking prior to, e.g. sawing or pulping process). As regards its characteristics, bark is not comparable to wood fibre and the use of residual woody biomass. However, in terms of wood resource supply, bark volume is considered as a forest resource [19] of, for example, 50.9 million m<sup>3</sup> in the EU27 [20].

Forest products definitions of the FAO cover data on the resource of wood processing residues by differentiating in two assortments: (1) wood chips and particles and (2) wood residues [21]. The application of the terms is difficult because of ambiguous meanings and application by third parties. The segments of

wood processing residues consist of different assortments (chips, slabs, dust, edgings, trims, cores). The two terms cannot be easily allocated to a corresponding segment with more than two different assortments. Forest industry production is very highly differentiated, and so are the assortments of residues (see Fig. 1). The volume of wood processing residues in this chapter is provided in cubic metre solid wood equivalent (m<sup>3</sup> swe). In general, assortments of wood and wood processing residues are dealt with and measured in different units (e.g. bulk volume, solid volume, tonnes). To assess total supply of, for example, wood processing residues and to comprise assortments of different units in the wood resource balance (see, e.g. [3]), all units are converted into cubic meter solid wood equivalents (m<sup>3</sup> swe) so that data can be compared with, for example, statistics on removals. Conversion factors depend on the wood specific gravity. Thus, the conversion factor for 1  $m^3$ solid wood into tonnes dry matter can vary between 0.48 tonnes/m<sup>3</sup> for and 0.55 tonnes/m<sup>3</sup> for the different assortments [19]. According to Mantau [19] the average of 0.5 tonnes/m<sup>3</sup> is a good approximation. The results of our analysis in Sect. 3 are provided in both units, cubic meter solid wood equivalent and in tonnes dry matter.

Figure 1 gives an overview of forest industry branches, forest product segments, the three considered segments of wood processing residues, the end-use sectors and



Fig. 1 Scheme of the forest industry sector and wood processing residues. Source: based on Saal [5]

the disposal industry as the sector which recovers wood from waste streams. It displays the context of the common forest industry production processes and production output (e.g. sawmill industry producer of semi-finished wood products and sawmill residues).

In the following, the particular segments of wood processing residues and their assortments are explained based on the origin of the resource.

Semi-finished wood products are produced within the sawmill industry and wood-based panel industry. They cover all sawnwood products and wood-based panels.

Sawmill residues inevitably accumulate as a side yield during production of sawnwood within the sawmill industry. The main assortments of sawmill residues are chips, sawdust and slabs. Cross-cut ends, edgings and trimmings are additional residues of sawnwood production. Sawmill residues consist of primary wood fibre. The assortments are a homogenous wood resource of constant dimensions and quality [22]. They are desirable for the production of pulp and wood-based panels and energy products, such as pellets.

Other wood processing residues (other than sawmill residues) accumulate during the production of wood-based panels, such as particle board, different fibreboard products, plywood and veneer. Residue assortments are shavings, veneer rejects and peeler cores, trimmings and edgings, wood dust and chips. Most of the residues are of fresh fibre, although wood processing residues of some fibre board products are an exception. Because of fillers and additives, these other wood processing residues do not consist exclusively of primary wood fibre.

Further amounts of other wood processing residues result from the manufacture of finished products. They cover all wooden products made of semi-finished wood products, such as furniture, packaging and applications in construction (e.g. engineered wood products). Wood processing residues which accumulate during the further processing of semi-finished wood products have to be clearly separated from sawmill residues and wood processing residues of primary fibre. Wood residues from further processing to finished products are residues such as dust and shavings from planning, milling and drilling as well as trims and clippings.

There is a huge variety of output shares of wood processing residues as it largely depends on the type of manufacturing process and the kind of wood product used as input to the respective production process. For example, sawmill residue shares range from 35% to 45% depending on wood species, log dimensions and technical processing parameters [10, 23–25]. Shares of wood processing residues from wood-based panel production also differ. Production of, for example, fibre boards or oriented strand board yields shares of 4-12% of wood processing residues. Production of, for example, plywood and veneer results in higher shares (45%) of wood processing residues because of lower material efficiency [26].

Black liquor is the residue of the pulping process within the pulp and paper industry. The residual mass mainly consists of lignin and hemicelluloses, cooking chemicals and water which are used to extract wood fibre. Approximately 40–50% of the input wood raw material is recovered as further usable fibre in the chemical pulping processes ([27], p. 38). So far, black liquor does not appear on resource

markets but is almost entirely used for industries' internal energy generation [28]. However, because of increasing demand for lignocellulosic resources, black liquor volumes are considered to be possible future chemical resources [19].

Recovered wood, also referred to as waste wood or post-consumer wood, is wood or wood products that have been disposed after a first use or after end use. It consists of wood from packaging materials, wood from construction or demolitions sites or wood which can be recovered from municipal waste (e.g. used furniture). Parts of recovered wood also originate from manufacturers of wood-based products which dispose of wood processing residues at waste management companies (e.g. [29–32]).

# 3 Supply of Wood-Based Residues: On Three Regional Levels

This section focuses on the analysis of existing information and data on the supply of wood processing residues. This is done on three different regional levels: first, results of wood resource monitoring research conducted in Germany is presented and compared with results of (modelling data EUwood) and available statistical data from FAO. Subsequently analysis of available data on a European and on a global level are undertaken.

#### 3.1 Germany

The wood resource monitoring project in Germany has been continuously assessing the supply and demand of wood raw materials in the forest industry since 1999. This periodic research based on empirical surveys allows one to display the development of wood resource availability and wood flows within the forest industry. Additional information is achieved for balancing wood resources and information on conversion factors. This assessment requires comprehensive data sets. Some data are provided from national statistics. However, many parts are recorded insufficiently. Detailed information on particular wood consumers is not covered by official statistics or is only underestimated because of statistical cut off thresholds (e.g. [20, 33]). Volumes of wood processing residues are also not covered by official statistics. Based on detailed surveys on the wood resource input of the respective industry branches, the segments of sawmill residues and other wood processing residues from wood-based panel production and further processing are analysed. Thus, surveys are designed to gather information on internal and external distribution of wood processing residues. This allows one to describe the resource mix of wood biomass consumers and thus material flows. Figure 2 shows the



Fig. 2 Development of particular assortments of wood processing residues. Source: [19, 21]

development of the different assortments of wood processing residues in Germany. For comparison, data from FAO are also shown.

It can be seen from the graphs that, by volume, wood processing residues are an important source of wood supply in Germany. Data given by FAO differ considerably. On the other hand, because of different compositions of the assortments (1) chips and particles and (2) wood residues, the development of residue volumes can only be compared based on total volumes.

Table 1 presents current data on wood resources and wood use in Germany. Results of the latest resource monitoring of the German forest industry (2010) are shown in comparison to the resource potential calculated within the EUwood study [3] and available data by FAO for 2010.

As can be seen in Fig. 2 as well as in Table 1, data gathered by wood resource monitoring, based on empirical research, are significantly higher than data provided in international databases. A systematic underestimation of available volumes in FAO can be stated.

#### 3.2 Europe

As described in Sect. 2.1, comparable assessment studies of wood processing residue volumes on national and European scale studies are rare. Thus, quantification of (potential) supply of wood processing residue volumes is based on modelling. Wood resource modelling depends on comprehensive datasets and feasible default values, such as material balance, industry consumption and size classes and

Assortments	Resource monitoring 2010 Mantau [19] (million m <sup>3</sup> )	EUwood, potential for 2010 Mantau et al. [3] (million m <sup>3</sup> )	FAO, (FAO (milli	2010 2015) on m <sup>3</sup> )
Sawmill residues	14.4	13.8		
of which chips	9.1 <sup>a</sup>	8.9 <sup>b</sup>	8.8	Wood chips and particles
Other wood processing residues	5.8	6.9	2.8	Wood residues
Black liquor	3.6	3.6		
Post-consumer wood	14.0	8.7		
Total (assessed)	23.8	24.3	11.6	Total
Total (incl. post- consumer wood)	37.8	33.0		
Total in tonnes dry matter [t <sub>dm</sub> ]	11.4	11.2	5.5	
Total (incl. post- consumer wood) [t <sub>dm</sub> ]	17.8	15.5		

 Table 1 Comparison of data on wood processing residues and post-consumer wood in Germany, 2010

Volumes in million m<sup>3</sup> solid wood equivalent

Total volume given in tonnes dry matter  $[t_{dm}]$  are based on the conversion factor of 0.47  $t_{dm}/m^3$  solid wood equivalent

Source: [3, 5, 19, 21, 23]

<sup>a</sup>Döring and Mantau [23]

<sup>b</sup>Calculations based on Saal [5]

particular coefficients. This information is not covered by official statistics and only partly available for some countries. As shown in Sect. 2.2, data by FAO on wood chips and particles and wood residues are not fully applicable. However, data that can be generally applied to the production of forest products, consumption and trade data for Europe (EU28/EFTA), are available from FAO.

Within the EUwood study, the modelling of wood processing residue volumes on a European scale was carried out [5] for the purpose of a European Wood Resource Balance. This included detailed quantification of the segment wood processing residues. Similar modelling based on EUwood results was used for the European Forest Sector Outlook Study 2012 [34]. The modelling approach followed the general forest industry structure (see Fig. 1) which follows a resource-based assessment structure. German data served as default data for modelling wood processing residue volumes in Europe [3, 34]. Datasets of comparable extent for other European countries are not known so far. Results of the periodic resource monitoring of the German forest industry sectors were applied as default values on FAO production and wood products consumption data (see [5]). The comprehensive size class structure and further parameters of the German sawmill industry were applied to sawnwood production data (by FAO) to model volumes of *sawmill residue assortments* of the EU27 countries and to consider national differences in industry size and material conversion efficiency.

Volumes of *other wood processing residues* from the production of wood-based panels were estimated based on generalised parameters and material conversion factors. It is generally assumed that production processes throughout the producing countries are of similar quality and technological development. Thus, conversion factors are applied for all countries. Data on wood-based panel production volumes are given by FAO.

Residue volumes of *other wood processing residues* from production processes of finished products are estimated based on the wood consumption within the particular end-use processing sectors: construction, furniture and packaging industry and others. Country specific coefficients were applied to sawnwood and woodbased panel consumption (including import and export volumes) (FAO) to model particular wood consumption of the sectors. Again, German default values were applied to estimate respective shares of wood processing residues within the different end-use sectors.

Shares of black liquor as a residual product of the pulp industry were calculated based on pulp production data by FAO and available country specific conversion factors [10]. Further influencing parameters such as the share of coniferous round-wood input were modelled.

Table 2 shows the results of the EUwood study on the different segments of wood processing residues in comparison to available data by FAO.

As already seen in Table 1, data on wood processing residues based on the differentiated assessment [3] mainly based on German default values are significantly higher compared to statistical data provided by FAO.

## 3.3 Global Data

As presented in Sect. 2.1, studies on the supply of wood processing residues on a global scale are rare. Moreover, results of considered global estimates (compare Sect. 2.1) are not comparable because of different methodological approaches.

To provide the possible range of global volumes of wood processing residues, we applied the presented methodologies and compared the results with data from FAO. The following Table 3 shows the available data by FAO in comparison to calculated wood processing residue volumes based on Parikka [6]; FAOSTAT [21] and Saal [5].

FAO provides data on wood chips and particles and wood residues for 80 producing countries. The other countries do not report the respective volumes. For this study the global supply of sawmill residues and wood chips in particular, other wood processing residues from wood-based panel production and black liquor were roughly estimated based on FAO/UNECE [10]. Other wood processing residues

Assortments	EUwood, potential for 2010 Mantau et al. [3] (million m <sup>3</sup> )	FAO, 2010 (FAO 2015) (million m <sup>3</sup> )		
Sawmill residues	86.6			
of which chips	46.7 <sup>a</sup>	61.2	Wood chips and particles	
Other wood processing residues	29.7	47.0	Wood residues	
Black liquor	60.4			
Post-consumer wood	52.0			
Total (assessed)	176.7	108.2	Total	
<i>Total (incl. post-consumer wood)</i>	228.7			
Total in tonnes dry matter	83.1	50.8		
Total (incl. post-consumer wood) [tdm]	107.5			

Table 2 Comparison of data on wood processing residues and post-consumer wood in the EU27, 2010

Volumes in million m<sup>3</sup> solid wood equivalent

Total volume given in tonnes dry matter  $[t_{dm}]$  are based on the conversion factor of 0.47  $t_{dm}/m^3$  solid wood equivalent

Source: [3, 21]

<sup>a</sup>Calculations based on Saal [5]

Table 3	Comparison	of	different	calculations	on	global	data	on	wood	processing	residues,
worldwid	e 2010										

Basis	Parikka [6] (million m <sup>3</sup> )		FAO/ UNECE [10] (million m <sup>3</sup> )		Saal [5] (million m <sup>3</sup> )		FAO, 2010 <sup>a</sup> (million m <sup>3</sup> )	
Range	From	То	From	То	From	То		
Assortments								
Sawmill residues	339.4	414.8	223.7	394.8	229.5	404.9		
of which chips	83.1	101.6	118.4	243.5	108.2	190.8	260.4	Wood chips and particles
Other wood processing residues					104.7 <sup>b</sup>		46.7	Wood residues
Black liquor			277.8	333.3	278.5	296.2		
Total (assessed)	422.5	516.4	619.9	971.5	720.7	996.6	307.1	Total
Total (t <sub>dm</sub> )	198.6	242.7	291.4	456.6	338.7	468.4	144.3	

Volumes in million m<sup>3</sup> solid wood equivalent

Total volume given in tonnes dry matter  $[t_{dm}]$  are based on the conversion factor of 0.47  $t_{dm}/m^3$  solid wood equivalent

Source: [5, 6, 10, 21]

<sup>a</sup>Data are based on FAO country data, available/provided for 80 countries

<sup>b</sup>Data based on coefficients of wood processing residue shares of wood-based panel production – only one value calculated

from further processing, such as from the furniture industry, were not estimated as the modelling approach developed for the EUwood study [5] was/is not applicable on a global scale. The estimation of sawmill residues and chips is based on general assumptions on material recovery [6] and country data [10]. The estimations of black liquor volumes are rough shares based on conversion factors [10] and more specific estimations which consider shares of wood species input in global pulp production given by, for example, Goetzl [35]. Minimum and maximum ranges are presented.

As Tables 1–3 show, the statistical data provided by FAO also underestimates the volume of wood processing residues in total on the global level. This is partly because of the low coverage of only 80 reporting countries. Moreover, the given values for wood chips and particles are not clearly defined. They may also include reported residue assortments of different origin. However, underestimation is also through lack of statistical coverage of the volumes of wood processing residues, even if the quantities imply significant global volumes of wood assortments.

## 4 Discussion

Wood processing residues contribute to wood supply by around one-fifth of the total wood biomass. In general, supply and available volumes of wood processing residues are dependent on the processing of roundwood. The efficiency of roundwood utilisation influences the supply of wood processing residues. It is assumed that the production of semi-finished and finished wood products increases [3, 34, 36]. Thus, an increasing supply of residues is expected in connection with increased roundwood processing and the increasing demand for wood and wood products. Further, an increase in demand and scarcity of wood resources probably leads to a more efficient use of wood processing residues.

However, as the results show, there is a huge discrepancy between officially reported data on wood processing residues and empirical (or modelled) data. Discrepancy may be because of terminology deficits and little reported data. Wood processing residues have a significant impact on sustainable wood supply. Their occurrence depends completely on the wood processing industry. The variety of assortments and sources is as poorly addressed in the literature as is the calculation of the quantity. In some cases the quantities may be calculated fairly well because of the unique technical relationship. Residues are an inevitable remainder of any production process. If conversion factors are well-known, the quantities can be calculated based on the underlying production statistics. This applies mainly to the semi-finished sector (e.g. sawmill and pulp industry). However, the further processing of wood (e.g. construction, furniture) is very diverse and research has not paid much attention to this issue so far. Aside from unknown available quantities, the question of utilisation should be analysed because it is not known to what extent residues are consumed internally or are available on the market. Most likely, most of the material is used for power and heat but only a few empirical studies on residue utilisation are available. This chapter clarifies the terminology of wood residues and summarises existing data on quantities. However, as official statistics focus on products, analyses in this area probably always rely on empirical studies. It is strongly recommended to intensify such studies and possibly apply the results on international statistics in order to provide more realistic data. These data are needed for a better estimation of sustainable use of wood as well as, for example, for the quantification of cascades in circular economy because residues are the main source of cascading use of wood.

## References

- 1. Ericsson K, Nilsson LJ (2006) Assessment of the potential biomass supply in Europe using a resource-focused approach. Biomass Bioenergy 30(1):1–15
- Smeets EMW, Faaij APC (2007) Bioenergy potentials from forestry in 2050. Clim Chang 81 (3–4):353–390
- Mantau U, Saal U, Prins C, Steierer F, Lindner M, Verkerk PJ, Eggers J, Leek N, Oldenburger J, Asikainen A, Anttila P (2010) EUwood-real potential for changes in growth and use of EU forests. Methodology report, Hamburg
- 4. Mantau U, Steierer F, Hetsch S, Prins C (2008) Wood resources availability and demands part I: national and regional wood resource balances 2005 EU/EFTA countries. Background Paper to the UNECE/FAO Workshop on Wood balances, Hamburg
- 5. Saal U (2010) Industrial wood residues: in: EUwood-Real potential for changes in growth and use of EU forests. Methodology report, Hamburg/Germany
- 6. Parikka M (2004) Global biomass fuel resources. Biomass Bioenergy 27(6):613-620
- 7. Thrän D, Bunzel K, Seyfert U, Zeller V, Buchhorn M, Müller K, Matzdorf B, Gaasch N, Klöckner K, Möller I, Starick A, Brandes J, Günther K, Thum M, Zeddies J, Schönleber N, Gamer W, Schweinle J, Weimar H (2011) Global and regional spatial distribution of biomass potentials: status quo and options for specification. DBFZ Report Nr 7
- Alderman DR, Smith RL, Reddy VS (1999) Assessing the availability of wood residues and wood residue markets in Virginia. For Prod J 49(4)
- Szostak A, Ratajczak E, Bidzińska G, Gałecka A (2004) Rynek przemysłowych odpadów drzewnych w Polsce: (The industrial wood residues market in Poland). Drewno–Wood 47 (Nr.172):69–89
- 10. FAO/UNECE (2010) Forest Products Conversion Factors for the UNECE Region: Geneva Timber and Forest Discussion Paper 49
- Krigstin S, Hayashi K, Tchórzewski J, Wetzel S (2012) Current inventory and modelling of sawmill residues in Eastern Canada. For Chron 88(05):626–635
- 12. Steele PH (1984) Factors determining lumber recovery in sawmilling. General Technical Report 39
- 13. Steele PH, Wagner FG, Lin YN, Skog KE (1991) Influence of softwood sawmill size on lumber recovery. For Prod J 41(4)
- Yang P, Jenkins BM (2008) Wood residues from sawmills in California. Biomass Bioenergy 32(2):101–108
- Batidzirai B, Smeets E, Faaij A (2012) Harmonising bioenergy resource potentials—methodological lessons from review of state of the art bioenergy potential assessments. Renew Sust Energ Rev 16(9):6598–6630
- 16. Wartluft JL (1976) A suggested glossary of terms and standards for measuring wood and bark mill residues. USDA Forest Service Research Note NE, Upper Darby
- 17. Oxford English Dictionary (2015). http://www.oed.com/. Accessed 13 October 2015

- 18. Lohmann U, Blosen M (2003) Holz-Lexikon, 4th edn. DRW-Verl, Leinfelden-Echterdingen
- Mantau U (2012) Holzrohstoffbilanz Deutschland: Entwicklungen und Szenarien des Holzaufkommens und der Holzverwendung von 1987 bis 2015, Hamburg
- 20. Mantau U (2014) Wood flow analysis: quantification of resource potentials, cascades and carbon effects. Biomass Bioenergy
- 21. FAOSTAT (2015) ForesSTAT [online]. http://faostat3.fao.org/browse/F/\*/E
- 22. Perlack RD, Wright LL, Turhollow AF, Graham RL, Stokes BJ, Erbach DC (2005) Biomass as feedstock for a bioenergy and bioproducts industry: the technical feasibility of a billion-ton annual supply
- Döring P, Mantau U (2012) Sägeindustrie: Einschnitt und Sägenebenprodukte 2010. Standorte der Holzwirtschaft-Holzrohstoffmonitoring, Hamburg
- 24. Mantau U, Hick A (2008) Standorte der Holzwirtschaft: Sägeindustrie Einschnitt und Sägenebenprodukte, Hamburg
- 25. Sörgel C, Mantau U, Weimar H (2006) Standorte der Holzwirtschaft: Aufkommen von Sägenebenprodukten und Hobelspänen, Hamburg
- 26. Mantau U, Bilitewski B (2010) Stoffstrom-Modell-Holz 2007: Rohstoffströme und CO2-Speicherung in der Holzverwendung. Forschungsbericht für das Kuratorium für Forschung und Technik des Verbandes der Deutschen Papierfabriken e.V. (VDP), Celle
- 27. Smook GA (1992) Handbook for pulp & paper technologists, 2nd edn. Angus Wilde Publications, Vancouver, Canada
- 28. CEPI (2014) Pulp and paper industry, definitions and concepts. http://www.cepi.org/system/ files/public/documents/publications/statistics/2014/FINAL%20CEPI%20Definitions%20and% 20Concepts\_0.pdf
- 29. Lang A (2004) Charakterisierung des Altholzaufkommens in Deutschland: Rechtliche Rahmenbedingungen-Mengenpotenzial-Materialkennwerte. Mitteilungen der Bundesforschungsanstalt für Forst- und Holzwirtschaft Hamburg, Nr. 215. Wiedebusch, Hamburg
- 30. Leek N (2010) Post-consumer wood: in: real potential for changes in growth and use of EU forests. Methodology Report, Hamburg/Germany
- 31. Merl A, Humar M, Okstad T, Picardo V, Ribeiro A, Steierer F (2007) Amounts of recovered wood in COST E31 countries and Europe. In: Gallis C (ed) 3rd European COST E 31 Conference. Management of recovered wood-reaching a higher technical, economic and environmental standard in Europe. Thessaloniki, University Studio Press, Klagenfurt, Austria
- 32. Weimar H (2009) Empirische Erhebungen im Holzrohstoffmarkt am Beispiel der neuen Sektoren Altholz und Großfeuerungsanlagen. Sozialwissenschaftliche Schriften zur Forstund Holzwirtschaft, vol 9. Lang, Frankfurt am Main
- 33. Jochem D, Weimar H, Bösch M, Mantau U, Dieter M (2015) Estimation of wood removals and fellings in Germany: a calculation approach based on the amount of used roundwood. Eur J Forest Res 134(5):869–888
- 34. UN (2012) The European forest sector outlook study II, 2010–2030, Geneva
- 35. Goetzl A (2008) Wood for paper: fiber sourcing in the global pulp and paper industry. Forest Trends Potomac Forum
- 36. Buongiorno J (2012) Outlook to 2060 for world forests and forest industries: a technical document supporting Forest Service 2010 RPA assessment. General technical report SRS, vol 151. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Asheville

# Logistics of Lignocellulosic Feedstocks: Preprocessing as a Preferable Option



# Nils Tippkötter, Sophie Möhring, Jasmine Roth, and Helene Wulfhorst

**Abstract** In comparison to crude oil, biorefinery raw materials are challenging in concerns of transport and storage. The plant raw materials are more voluminous, so that shredding and compacting usually are necessary before transport. These mechanical processes can have a negative influence on the subsequent biotechnological processing and shelf life of the raw materials. Various approaches and their effects on renewable raw materials are shown. In addition, aspects of decentralized pretreatment steps are discussed. Another important aspect of pretreatment is the varying composition of the raw materials depending on the growth conditions. This problem can be solved with advanced on-site spectrometric analysis of the material.

#### **Graphical Abstract**



N. Tippkötter (🖂), S. Möhring, J. Roth, and H. Wulfhorst

Bioprocess Engineering, University of Applied Sciences Aachen, Aachen, Germany e-mail: tippkoetter@fh-aachen.de

**Keywords** Analytics, Decentral, Mechanical, On-site, Pre-treatment, Renewable raw materials, Storage

#### Contents

1	Introduction	44
2	Feedstock Allocation	45
3	Regional and Seasonal Feedstock Diversity	49
	3.1 Component Variations	49
	3.2 On-Site Measurements of Biomass	50
4	Harvest and Pre-Transport Treatments	51
5	Influence of Transportation Cost of Biotechnological Processed Feedstocks	55
6	Decentralized Value-Adding Options	57
7	Conclusion	60
Re	ferences	61

# 1 Introduction

The availability of lignocellulosic biomass is a current challenge for biorefineries. Seasonal growth and harvesting, as well as the deterioration of biomass during storage, affect potential biorefineries. Furthermore, transportation and storage costs are crucial factors for a plant's economy. Therefore, a prerequisite for all biorefinery processing stages is mechanical pretreatment of the raw material, which reduces transport and storage volume. Ideally, conditioning the feedstock after harvest can also enhance the stability of the biomass during storage.

In lignocellulose-based biorefineries, fermentable structure carbohydrates amount to 10–55% cellulose and 5–65% hemicellulose, depending on the feedstock (numbers refer to dry weight) [1]. The water content of fresh biomass also varies greatly. Herbaceous and annual plants seem to have great advantages for use in a biorefinery because they are fast-growing and tend to accumulate little lignin, facilitating enzymatic hydrolysis. However, their water content reaches approximately 70% of fresh weight. This leads to a relatively high demand for fresh biomass for the efficient operation of a biorefinery based on such feedstock. As an example, in an Austrian pilot-scale grass-based biorefinery (now out of service) that produced mainly lactic acid, amino acids, and proteins; 3.3 tons of ensiled biomass were required per ton of product, with reported processing of up to 500 kg of biomass per hour [2, 3]. Thus, biorefineries, based on feedstock, such as fresh or ensiled grass or similar biomass, require special efforts to solve transport and storage logistics.

Transportation costs amount to approximately 13–28% of the total costs, thus representing one of the most important factors in the overall costs in a biorefinery [4]. Usually, harvested feedstock is transported to a centralized biorefinery treatment within a 100-km distance, as been reported by previous studies [4, 5]. Another study proposed decentralized pretreatment of the biomass. Following that approach, the harvested biomass can be being prepared for storage and further conversion to value-added products near its harvesting location using satellite storage facilities. Thus, the

biomass volume for transportation to a central biorefinery could be reduced in comparison to the feedstock after harvest [6].

# 2 Feedstock Allocation

Deciding where to locate a new biorefinery plant or storage and distribution facilities is one of the core aspects of biorefinery establishment. This chapter provides an overview of different approaches and their results in the use of assessment of feedstock availability. Decision making depends on feedstock allocation and customer demands. In addition, it should take into account uncertainties with regard to transportation costs from the feedstock location to the storage facilities or centralized plant. Depending on the site selected for the biorefinery, the costs of transportation and operations vary and influence the capital investment.

First, potentially interesting construction sites and the required capacity should be identified taking into account the feedstock (and the products). Basic knowledge about the geospatial distribution of feedstock and the demand on target products in the selected area is essential [7]. Moreover, it will be necessary to make initial assumptions concerning the envisaged process and to establish important variables, such as target prices, operation time, and process capacity. To this end, Geographical Information Systems (GIS) can be introduced into the modeling and design of the supply chain [8]. Once the potential region is selected, the locations that will receive deliveries from the selected site should be established. Consequently, in order to compare the suitability of various allocation sites, different location scenarios should be developed that can be described by a facility-dependent model [9, 10]. The functionality of these models is determined by their incorporation within the supply chain management (SCM) [11].

The SCM comprises all the significant supply chain aspects, such as procurement, transferment and storage of raw materials, maintaining a process inventory, production, distribution, and routing, and should be applicable throughout the considerable operating life of the biorefinery during which the parameters can change. In particular, the analysis should include the calculation of transportation costs for various distances in the selected area, taking into account detours, deleterious road conditions, and indirect routes from the biomass production field to the satellite storage facility or the centralized plant. The combination of facility-dependent models and the SCM allows a comprehensive problem analysis in finding the best allocation site with an optimal supply chain configuration. Within this approach, the uncertainty surrounding specific input variables can be modelled using multiple probability distributions or discrete scenarios with a stochastic model. The predictable timedependent unknown parameters such as demand levels or costs can be implemented using specific forecast functions and combined with the stochasticity model if the probabilistic behavior changes over time. Finally, environmental performance should be managed as profit maximization is not always accompanied by a good environmental performance, as is shown in the approach to mathematical modelling by Grossmann and Guillén-Gosálbez [12].

Several authors have described the supply chain design and the procurement of biomass sources [13–15]. Large amounts of biomass are located in forests. Nevertheless, the future demand for wood for, for example, heating will continue to increase [16]. Currently, the merchantable tree components are predominantly used in established conventional processes and are not available for biorefineries. Consequently, the focus today is on the forest biomass that traditionally remains in the forest, such as logging residues, stumps, and trees with small diameters. Up to 47 million dry tons of currently unused lignocellulosic biomass are potentially available in Germany [17]. In Europe, Sweden is the leading wood producer, where 24.0–53.2 TWh of non-harvested forest residues are available for biofuel production [18]. However, the sustainability of additional extraction of forest residues should be critically investigated, because the woody residues that are usually left on-site play an important role in the forest ecosystems and their removal could negatively affect these systems.

The location of biofuel production processes and the corresponding supply chain network of the forestry resources in the Southeastern region of the USA were investigated by Kim et al. [19]. Their study covered candidate sites and capacities for two conversion processes: fast pyrolysis and a Fischer Tropsch bio-diesel process. The most profit-relevant parameters were identified and combined into scenarios in which to analyze them using a stochastic two-stage model, where the first model stage manages the capital investment, including the size and location of the processing plants, and the second model manages the biomass and product flows of each scenario [20]. Here the biomass availability, maximum demands, sale price of product, yield of intermediate product, and yield of final product were identified as the most dominant parameters, and the optimization of 33 scenarios was carried out to maximize profitability of the process. This model example demonstrates how combination of the facility location model and SCM can support the decision of where to locate new forest biomass processing plants on a national or regional level.

Alternatively, to supply greater amounts of woody biomass for bio-based products, the acreage of fast-growing, intensively managed trees can be increased. Shortrotation woody crops or short-rotation coppice are promising alternatives to conventional forest biomass due to their fast-growing high biomass yields. Here, a variety of species can be used (willow, poplar, mallees [20], etc.). The harvest times vary from tree species to tree species and can be as short as 3 years. However, physical properties such as the density, composition, form, and geographic distribution of various species influence the supply chain design and the required harvesting costs. Often specific machinery and tailor-made pre-transport and storage strategies are needed due to the different densities and configurations of crops of wood compared to conventional biomass [20]. Moreover, the quality and the quantity of yield as well as the tolerance to environmental stresses vary between individual plants and influence the suitability of plant material as a potential feedstock.

Further promising biomass sources are the energy crops. In addition to woody crops, energy crops include perennial grasses such as Switchgrass [21–25] or

Miscanthus [26–28] and annual energy crops, such as high-yield sorghum [29]. Growing these energy crops can provide a high biomass yield per hectare of land with low energy inputs. These plant species are usually grown specifically for use as a fuel supplement. Their cultivation is attractive for farmers and landowners because of the prospect of additional profit. However, it must be borne in mind that the energy crops in general compete with food crops for agricultural land. In the USA, Switchgrass (and to a lesser extent Miscanthus) is a promising cellulosic energy crop, while in the EU and Japan Miscanthus is the plant of choice. Miscanthus can be cultivated in cold temperate climates and on various land areas. This is extremely advantageous because it can also be grown in areas that cannot be used for cultivation of food plants. Moreover, unlike other short-rotation crops Miscanthus is harvested annually with conventional harvesting equipment. It grows very rapidly and delivers a high biomass yield. Moreover, Miscanthus species are viewed as relatively environmentally friendly crops due to the low amount of fertilizer and pesticide needed during their cultivation.

Bomberg et al. [30] analyzed the Miscanthus supply for an ethanol fermentation process using an optimization framework to minimize production costs. The developed integrated optimization model consists of a stochastic sub-model for land conversion and combines it with a base fermentation scenario in considering several relevant parameters such as market prices, farm-specific inputs (price, production costs, and crop yields), transport costs, and capital inputs. This study included an area of 777 counties that included Iowa, Illinois, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio, South Dakota, and Wisconsin with an average Miscanthus yield of 19 dry ton/ha. The authors analyzed various refinery scales using Monte Carlo simulations in order to identify optimal plant capacity, and suggested a risk of oversizing cellulosic plants in this area by forcing their increase.

Conventional agricultural crops have additional potential for use as energy crops. For instance, sugarcane is one of the most promising energy crops in tropical and subtropical regions. In Brazil, 9 million hectares of land are used to produce 31% of global sugar cane. Large amounts (82.4 tons/ha) are used to provide sugar for bioethanol. Corn is a popular starch source with large amounts of corn produced worldwide. In 2015, about 24% of pasturelands in the USA are used for corn cultivation. Wheat cultivation claimed a further 15% of the available pastureland. including idle land and pasture areas [31, 32]. In accordance with the 2007 Renewable Fuels Standard (RFS), by 2022 36 billion gallons of biofuels should be produced in the USA. These comprise 15 billion gallons of corn-based ethanol and 16 billion gallons of cellulose-based fuels. The former goal has already been reached and an increase in the production of cellulose-based ethanol is to be expected [33]. Sugar and starch crops are extensively grown in Europe as energy crops for biofuel production [34]. In Germany, mainly starch from potatoes is exported to other countries; in contrast, starch from corn and wheat is imported. In most of the European countries sugar-beet crops are grown to produce sugar for food, which can also potentially be used as a feedstock for a variety of chemical and biochemical processes.

However, the use of conventional crops for biofuel as well as the cultivation of the cellulosic energy crops is increasingly critically viewed due to competition with the food chain. Naturally, the highest biomass yields can be achieved on high-grade lands that are co-located to food plants [35], but the use of low-grade land can provide considerable biomass yields from energy plants. For instance, widely unused land areas in Ireland have been successfully planted with Miscanthus for biofuel [36]. Consequently, the conflict between food and energy plants could be solved by careful selection of energy crop species and innovative agricultural approaches or technologies that might enable the cultivation of crops in currently undeveloped areas [37, 38]. It should be kept in mind that the additional extraction of agricultural residues should be done without significantly affecting the soil fertility. Usually residues are left on the field or are given back to the field to be incorporated into the soil for improved soil quality. Therefore, alternative methods should be developed to guarantee sufficient soil fertility before the residues can be extensively removed from the field.

To achieve considerable biomass amounts and to allow optimal land and nutrient use, double- or even multiple-cropping systems are becoming increasingly important. Here, the growing season is extended by the cultivation of two complementary plants on the same land. High biomass yields have been achieved in the past using this agricultural approach [38]. Basically, all winter cereals such as winter barley, winter rye, triticale, and winter wheat can be used as first crops due to their early harvesting in May–June. Sorghum or sorghum × sudangrass, as well as a variety of other summer grains, can be cultivated as a second grain in double-crop systems.

Lignocellulosic agricultural residues and waste materials provide a suitable alternative raw material source for biorefineries [39]. Rice and corn stover (stalks and leaves from corn) are among the most plentiful agricultural residues, followed by straw and stubble from other small grains such as wheat, barley, oats, and sorghum. The amount of residues depends on the crop yield itself. For instance, high amounts of sugarcane bagasse are produced in Brazil due to the predominant cultivation of sugarcane in this region for the production of sugar and ethanol [40]. In areas where rice production is dominant, rice straw is the most plentifully available waste source. 731 million tons per year of rice straw are accrued worldwide, with 667.6 million tons in Asia alone, where rice straw, wheat straw, and corn stover may be the most promising future bioethanol feedstocks. In Europe most ethanol from residues comes from wheat straw and in the USA from corn stover [41].

In the USA, corn is the most accessible feedstock due to the historic development of the US agricultural industry. Hence, corn-based bioethanol production in the USA and its feedstock supplies are predominantly located in the Midwestern states. In the future, higher expected corn yields for expanding biofuel production will result in higher amounts of agriculture residues. More than 300 million tons of combined forestry, agricultural residues, and waste are currently available annually in the USA for fuel production. By 2040, an increase to more than a billion tons of these residues is expected [32]. The lignocellulosic residue and waste materials provide an alternative raw material source for a relatively inexpensive fuel production without competing with food production [42–44]. Examples of lignocellulosic residues and waste materials include agriculture residues and non-harvested forest residues (tops and branches, not including stumps). In the future they can potentially play a significant role in the production of second-generation biofuels and platform chemicals, but economical processes require suitable supply chain solutions.

Marvin et al. [45] presented a net present value optimization approach to calculating the supply chain of biomass-to-ethanol production from lignocellulosic residues in a nine-state region in the Midwestern USA. Mixed integer linear programming (MILP) was used to determine optimal locations and capacities of biomass-to-bioethanol plants simultaneously with biomass harvest and distribution. The study includes biomass sources from an area of 100 miles for 69 candidate biorefinery locations. Favorable biorefinery locations were identified using Monte Carlo-based random sampling of the parameter space and recalculation of the economics. The model was optimized for 200 independently drawn parameters taking into consideration feedstock and product costs, transportation cost investment, and lifetime operation cost of various sizes, amount of biomass harvestable at various production locations, and biorefinery conversion of biomass to product. Additionally, a sensitivity analysis was performed to describe how possible price changes and their effect on the robustness of the supply chain may influence the profitability of proposed biorefineries during their lifetime. The results show that the locations chosen least frequently by the analyst in the studies are not surrounded by biomass-producing counties. Moreover, in 21.5% of the trials it was shown that it is not economical at all to construct any biorefineries, even though large amounts of biomass are available in the region. The authors state that an ethanol sale price stabilization at higher levels and lower capital investment costs could increase the attractiveness of the process for investors.

In summary, due to the increase in biomass demand and the competition with current food production processes [44], lignocellulose is seen to be the next major raw material for the production of bioethanol and other biorefinery products. However, additional extensive research is necessary to guarantee the compatibility of the sustainable feedstock with biorefineries and profitability of the process.

# **3** Regional and Seasonal Feedstock Diversity

# 3.1 Component Variations

With biorefineries based on renewable plant resources, the biomass composition, fiber structure, and molecular weight of the components differ from species to species [46]. For instance, the lignin content decreases in the order of softwoods, hardwoods, and grasses [47]. Furthermore, variations can also be found within the same biomass category depending on the species and genotype, the plant part, the physiology of the plant, its location, cultivation conditions such as different fertilizer treatments, and the harvesting time [29, 48-51]. This diversity influences both the suitability of plants as a feedstock for bioenergy conversion, as well as the process

and supply chain design [49, 51, 52]. For instance, the structural analysis of nine crops (*Miscanthus*, switchgrass, fiber sorghum, fiber corn, spelt, tall fescue, cocks-foot, hemp, and Jerusalem artichoke) showed that *Miscanthus* has the highest content of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, while the fiber corn shows the highest starch content. Moreover, the later the harvesting date, the lower the content of proteins and mineral compounds in the crops. This effect is caused by a decrease of the non-carbohydrate-rich part of the plant leaf with age, while the related amount of the carbohydrate-rich stem increases. Consequently, late winter harvesting provides a biomass that has a higher content of structural components (cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin) compared to an early harvested crop. In fact, the higher total carbohydrate content makes this feedstock more suitable for biorefineries. Nevertheless, harvesting in autumn is recommended more strongly due to the higher total dry matter yield, which outweighs the effect of the carbohydrate content [48].

# 3.2 On-Site Measurements of Biomass

To implement optimal pretreatment and value-adding processes, easy and rapid analytical methods are needed to characterize the physical and chemical composition of diverse feedstock – preferably on-site. The chemical composition of the native and pretreated biomass is nowadays usually analyzed according to established laboratory analytical procedures, so-called National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) Analytical Procedures (LAP), and American Society for Testing and Material (ASTM) procedures. Many pretreated feedstocks have already been characterized using these procedures and are available on the Biomass Feedstock Composition and Property Database [53]. The most frequently used method was developed by Sluiter and Sluiter [54]. It is based on the total acid hydrolysis of the biomass sample and allows the quantification of the hemicellulose, cellulose, and lignin amount. However, these reactions typically require harsh conditions and analysis takes place only on a laboratory-based scale. To supply biorefineries with suitable feedstock, easier analytical methods need to be established for feedstock characterization.

Infrared spectrometry is widely used to characterize agricultural products. Unlike conventional techniques, near- and mid-infrared spectrometry allows the fast analysis of biomass composition and provides quantitative information within a short time period without any previous sample preparation or degradation. These techniques can be used in off-line and on-line modes and are suitable tools for feedstock characterization. In general, spectrometry has often been applied to characterize the morphological and chemical composition of biomass [55–66].

However, most spectrometric devices are only designed for laboratory use since they are sensitive to vibrations. For on-site measurements, the spectrometric instruments should be integrated, for example in a harvester. This enables the evaluation of transportation aspects and possible performance degradations of the raw materials at an early processing state. Various technical solutions already exist on the market, where only the measuring head containing the light source and the receiver are in close contact to the measured feedstock, while the evaluation unit and the wavelength separator are placed in the driver's cab of the harvester [67, 68]. The measuring head is most commonly connected to the control and evaluation unit by electric or fiberoptic cables. It can also be integrated in a bus system of the harvester [69]. During the on-site measurements, the either crop moves along the sensor or a sensor is moved along the crop. The collected measuring results and the internal calibration allow the calculation of various biomass components such as proteins, starch, oil content, moisture, or feedstock properties such as cutting length, fiber state, and temperature of the measured materials without the need for sample pretreatment. Additional sensors allow simultaneous detection of the crop throughput and the current position (using GPS) so that all collected values can be stored as a georeferenced data set [70]. The measured values are processed by a computer and can be analyzed.

If near-infrared spectrometry is applied to analyze a biomass composition, the calibration should be qualitatively or quantitatively modelled by multivariate data analysis. The chemometric analysis can be done based on principal component analysis (PCA) and various regression algorithms using specific software. The PCA is usually applied to preliminarily decrease the high data density. Through its application, orthogonal directions of maximal variance and the relationship between variables and objects can be identified [71]. The focus of the PCA is on the determination of qualitative information and identification of the relationship between the absorption and concentration of components in multicomponent samples. To correlate the concentration of individual components with the measured absorption and to quantify the single components, multiple linear regression (MLR) and multiple regression (MR) or a partial least squares regression (PLS2) algorithm can be used afterwards. The advantage of the PLS2 algorithm compared to the other regression methods is that it can utilize all of the information of the whole spectral data set. It accounts for all correlations and can describe them using only a few components [72]. Using this method, multiple variables can be calculated simultaneously. Additionally, the wavelength regions where analytes of interest absorb can be identified by the use of specific algorithms [73]. This method simplifies the analysis and improves the calibration quality [74].

## 4 Harvest and Pre-Transport Treatments

Despite their abundant supply, readily available biomass streams are rarely allocated homogenously and uniformly. A lignocellulosic biomass from different feedstock origins, such as agricultural and forest residues and dedicated energy crops, often cannot be transported and further processed in an efficient and cost-effective way due to the physical characteristics and complexity of cellulosic biomass [75]. Thus, the supply chain for raw biomass distribution requires several preliminary steps in order to maintain low overall costs. In Fig. 1 the delivery system of feedstock to





biorefineries as the intended end-users is depicted. These include the collection and harvest of biomass and the subsequent storage or pre-processing of the raw material. Treating the biomass for transport is necessary in order to improve the flowability and stability of the raw material.

Depending on the infrastructural conditions and the distribution policy, different strategies for the handling and transportation of biomass can be applied. General pre-processing methods are readily carried out on-field or after transportation into storage facilities, conversion plants, or in small satellite processing facilities. The main approach for the transportation of the provided feedstock takes place by using existing distribution channels, such as highways or railroads. Depending on the local conditions and the type of transported material, waterways or multi-link transport chains are also used as routes for transportation [76]. Spatial proximity of the location of harvest to the processing facility is preferable since it reduces both the cost of handling (e.g., loading and unloading) and transportation. As the transportation costs of biomass contribute the major costs in logistics, a reasonable strategy for the supply must be worked out [6, 77]. In novel approaches, two logistic scenarios have been distinguished: the conventional bale system (CBS) and the advanced uniform supply system (AUS) [78-80]. The CBS can be designated as a local depot of field-dried and baled biomass, which supplies biorefineries, without changing the properties or stability of the biomass. In contrast, AUS pre-processing depots lead to a final uniform material that can be easily stored and transported into biorefineries. Although the latter involves pre-processing, it still remains more cost-effective for larger biorefineries (up to 10,000 dry metric tons per day) in comparison with the conventional system, and higher biomass volumes can be employed. In CBS, the capacity per hour of loading and unloading of biomass from vehicles into depots is limited [81].

Regardless of the selected facilities and transportation modes for the supply and delivery of feedstock, a pre-transport treatment remains essential for most lignocellulosic biomass, with the possible exception of grass and herbaceous plants that have a very low lignin content. Residual lignocellulosic materials are usually found

Raw material	Bulk density (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	Reference
Grass and crop residues (loose)	70	[84]
Hardwood chips	230, 402.5	[87, 88]
Miscanthus	350	[87]
Softwood chips	180–190	[85]
Straw (loose)	20, 36.1, 24–111 <sup>a</sup>	[90–92]
Switchgrass (loose)	49–3,231	[ <mark>90</mark> ]

Table 1 Raw materials with corresponding bulk densities

<sup>a</sup>Depending on the water content [95]

to have low bulk and energy densities and high moisture content [77, 82, 83]. The limiting factor of transportation and shipping is therefore often restricted by the large volume of a given biomass as opposed to weight alone. Depending on the type of feedstock used, the volume may alter. Accordingly, an excerpt of reported bulk densities found in the literature is given in Table 1.

Using pre-processing steps, the inhomogeneous structure and size of available biomass can be normalized, which increases the bulk density and simplifies handling and transportation. These steps include cutting and drying of plant material, collection, and mechanical compactation [4, 86, 91].

#### **Mechanical Compactation**

In order to make raw biomass transportable and reduce the overall costs, feedstock should be densified before loading [92]. Mechanical compactation of bulky, uneven, or fluffy biomass especially simplifies handling, increases bulk density, and leads to a product with uniform properties. Biomass packing can be distinguished by applied forces by means of briquetting, extrusion, palletization, or tabletizing, resulting in increased bulk densities and characteristic shapes of the densified biomass (e.g., cylindrical, cuboid, pillow-shaped, round). Biomass is mechanically compressed between a roller press, by a screw/piston, or with the aid of a perforated and rotating hard steel die [93–95]. These methods are usually additionally combined with techniques for size reduction such as cutting, grinding, or milling [96]. Common on-field processing includes balling of grasses and crop residues by balers, or using mulchers for woody biomass [87, 97]. In Table 2 bulk densities of raw biomass after compression are given.

Nevertheless, depending on the actual biomass properties (bulk density, size, weight) and external circumstances (harvest season, location, moisture), the achievable densification levels vary [100]. For instance, Chevanan tested the compactation of switchgrass, wheat straw, and corn stover, and determined changes in compressibility from 64–174%, 22–51%, and 42–118%, due to variations in size and pressure levels (5–120 kPa) of chopped biomass [89].

In contrast, woody biomass is often directly treated in sawmills, and is thus available as chips or saw dust. When compacted, pellet density changes adversely with particle size, owing to the larger surface area of smaller particles [101]. However, compactation facilitates the ensuing steps within the transportation chain and

Treatment	Straw	Switchgrass
	Bulk density (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	
Baled	110-200 [85], 81-158 [91]	149 [86], 142–186 [98]
Briquettes	-	480–530 [99]
Chopped	20-80 [85]	-
Cubed	320–670 [85]	-
Hammer milled	20–110 [85]	115–182 [91]
Pelleted	560-710 [85]	
Tapped	68–323 [90]	34–130 [90]

Table 2 Bulk densities of selected raw biomass after densification

might be additionally combined with further preconditioning of biomass located in the vicinity (e.g., by ammonia fiber expansion) (AFEX) [102].

#### Drying

The drying of biomass is a common practice in on-field handling and harvest of biomass, and makes storage and transportation more convenient. In agriculture, this procedure has been successfully approved in order to prevent degeneration and microbial attacks of biomass [103]. The operation involves different procedural steps, which include mowing of biomass, windrowing, balling, collection, staging, and finally storage of biomass [104]. Typically, stored dry bales must have a moisture content of less than 20% in order to prevent biological degeneration [105]. Depending on the chosen bale shapes (rectangular or round) and the duration of storage, different amounts of dry matter losses might occur, which will have a significant influence on feedstock quantity and quality [106, 107]. Moreover, fielddrying is associated with some problems, including harvest timeline, seasonal changes, and risk of rehydration, which influence the overall costs and the degree of dryness [108]. Over-intensive drying might result in irreversible shrinkage of pores and reduction of accessible surface area for enzymatic degradation [109]. Mild drying at room temperature only leads to a decline of small pores, which are already inaccessible for enzyme deconstruction and do not hamper sugar conversion [110]. The concept of drying is often directly combined with mechanical compactation of biomass in the form of pelleting or briquetting. Thus, there are different recommendations for optimal moisture content for the densification procedure: for wood residues an optimal moisture content of 8% was determined, where high-density and long-term performance was seen during compactation [93]. In the case of straw, usually a dry moisture content of 15% or less is used [97], while recently Tumuluru determined that briquettes produced at a low moisture content of 9% yielded the maximum densities of 700 kg/m<sup>3</sup> for wheat, oat, canola, and barley straw [111]. In a parametric study, Rudolfsson found that the pelletizing temperature  $(125-180^{\circ}C)$  and size, as well as the moisture content (0-10%) had an influence on the pellet strength and dimensions of compacted spruce. Using a pressure of 300 MPa for 5 s, the biomass density could be increased to 1,000–1,260 kg/m<sup>3</sup> [112]. Additionally, dry biomass is also appropriate for the production of pellets in combination with thermal pretreatment such as torrefaction [113]. It has been shown that dry torrefaction of woody biomass leads to a more thorough removal of hemicellulose and to more char combustion reactivity than wet torrefaction [114].

# 5 Influence of Transportation Cost of Biotechnological Processed Feedstocks

In general, the feedstock transportation costs decrease with increasing feedstock density [115]. Therefore, pre-transport treatment is usually applied to allow for preparation of biomass for optimal transportation. Recent research demonstrates that decentralized biomass processing has a positive effect on transportation costs. The target points of the decentralization process are the transportation of the feedstock from the production place to the central facility, the transportation of the accumulated side products back to the farm, and the capital costs [116].

Decentralization of the storage facilities can have a positive effect on the transportation costs. The transport of biomass from farm sites to the storage facility is usually carried out with the farmer's equipment, which is less efficient compared to a conventional tractor trailer truck. Hence, the introduction of mobile storage facilities into the production process can minimize this distance and improve transport. As a result, savings of 14.8% can be achieved compared to permanently placed storage facilities [117].

Furthermore, the reduction of side and waste product movements due to decentralized processing reduces the transportation costs. Bruins and Sanders [116] suggested a hypothetical decentralized process to produce ethanol from sugar beet, where sugar beet is converted into the crystalline sugar directly at the farm. Based on this proposed process, Kolfschoten et al. [118] developed a three-step small-scale biorefining process for the treatment of sugar beet, also hypothetical. This approach includes firstly the decentralized synthesis of crystallized sugar, secondly sucrose fermentation to ethanol using pulp from extraction and bleed stream from the sugar production, and thirdly the final anaerobic fermentation of all accumulated residues to biogas. The back-transport costs of the side and waste products are lower compared to the traditional centralized facilities, as the residues can simply be left on field. Moreover, the authors reported improvements in economy, energy utilization, and environmental effects by using decentralized preprocessing, and predicted an increase of farmer profits due to the implementation of new agriculture operation areas.

On the other hand, however, decentralized processing can result in additional energy and capital cost, which negatively affects the economy of the process. Therefore, to develop an optimal production process, explicit techno-economic calculations are necessary to define the allocation of required pretreatment steps and to calculate the effect of their decentralization on total costs. For instance, analysis of the decentralization of the currently operating biogas plants and the biomass logistic (wooden biomass and straw) in the Netherlands showed that decentralization increases the total production costs because the increase in conversion costs was higher than the decrease in transport costs [119].

The decentralization of sweet sorghum conversion to ethanol was investigated by Caffrey et al. [120]. In contrast to the previous examples, in this study the complete techno-economic and LCA analysis of five different scenarios was conducted. The scenarios differ from each other in the number of centralized and local operations. The authors assume the process capacity of 1,683 MT/day. The distance between the farm and the centralized production plant was realistically set to 80.5 km, corresponding to a 100 m<sup>2</sup> collection area. The entire process was divided into four sections: farm, transportation, biorefinery, and by-product utilization. Each of these processes involves significant operations. However, several important technical barriers were not considered. Nevertheless, the primary energy and environmental factors were taken into account and a sensitivity analysis has been done. The results showed that the process decentralization results in a moderate increase of the breakeven sales price of ethanol (0.08 \$/L). As a positive effect, an increase in the farmer's profit due to the implementation of the alternative agriculture practices and lower environmental impact was predicted.

In the process that is currently in development at our group, several types of biomass and various possible process options to pretreat biomass for biofuel production are being compared. This study covers only freely available residual lignocellulosic feedstocks not used for further value addition in an area around the city of Kaiserslautern (Germany). Feedstocks in a catchment radius of around 50 km include 30,000 kg of wood, 15,800 kg of straw, and 18,900 kg of garden waste per year. The lignocellulose waste is first pretreated locally and then centrally by Organosolv or hot-water methods, depending on the raw material composition. As a value-adding step, subsequent enzymatic and microbial conversion of the material into biobutanol is performed. The side and waste products are fermented to biogas and fertilizer. Local pre-treatment is required to standardize the heterogeneous feedstock with respect to the moisture content, density, and particle size for optimal transport, storage, and further processing. Decentralized pretreatment using pressing, pre-drying, and shredding results in an increase in feedstock density. To analyze the effect of the local pre-transport treatment and to identify the optimal number of local operations and the plant capacity, different scenarios have been developed in silico. Here, the energy demand, investment, and transportation costs are considered. As expected, an increase in the processing capacity improves the profitability due to the economy of scale. It was shown that a significant reduction of transportation costs (by a factor of 10) and an improved process economy can be achieved if all three pre-treatment steps are carried out locally.

# 6 Decentralized Value-Adding Options

The efficiency of lignocellulosic conversion plants is highly dependent on the logistics of the biomass distribution. Lignocellulosic biomass, including agricultural residues (wheat straw, corn stover) and forestry residues, often appears locally in limited quantities and with low bulk densities, which adversely affects the cost effectiveness of the process [102]. Furthermore, merging and processing of different feedstocks requires several preliminary stages, which include harvest, transportation, preprocessing, and the creation of value-added products out of biomass. Additionally, it has to be considered that the delivery of biomass in sufficient quantities at modest costs into a conversion plant is one of the major challenges [14]. In order to overcome this problem, economical handling of the biomass is necessary, which includes the reduction of dry matter losses during storage, utilization of available pipelines or distribution paths for the supply of feedstock, as well as novel approaches for pretreatment of biomass. A sustainable option is provided by the implementation of several decentralized process-units in existing biomassprocessing facilities (farms, co-operatives, forestry industry), which increases the efficiency of biomass usage [121]. Processing of biomass on a regional level might also allow local economic opportunities by providing a uniform and consistent feedstock supply at a modest investment cost [120]. Transformation of harvested biomass into valuable products consists of four major steps: pretreatment, hydrolysis, fermentation, and product recovery. Consequently, advanced conversion technologies must be developed that allow efficient biomass transformation at a regional level.

#### **Bag-Hydrolysis**

One of the major obstacles in using lignocellulosic biomass as a source for product generation is the recalcitrance of biomass followed by the necessity of a pretreatment step. Currently, most lignocellulosic raw materials are therefore mechanically or thermochemically pretreated, followed by enzymatic hydrolysis [122, 123]. The available carbohydrate content of raw materials is between 56% and 74% and can be converted into mono- and disaccharides by enzymatic hydrolysis [124]. Typically, enzymatic hydrolysis is conducted in stirred tank reactors, which might not be feasible for use in decentral processing units, since higher investments costs are necessarily paired with high operating costs due to stirrer power consumption. Enzymatic hydrolysis at high solid loadings (>15%) increases the process economics, but leads to higher viscosities and yield stress coupled with poor rheology [125]. The prerequisite for a cost-effective biomass conversion is a reactor design that allows a maximal conversion of cellulose with a minimal amount of enzymes at high solid loadings [126]. On a laboratory scale, different modes of saccharification such as shaking, gravitational tumbling, and hand stirring have been investigated and have shown that effective initial mixing facilitates high conversion rates, due to sufficient enzyme distribution [127]. As part of this, new reactor concepts are currently developed that focus mainly on the employment of new or combined stirrer models [128–130] or the use of existing solid-state bioreactors for high solid loadings with maximal working volumes of 3–4 kg [131].

For an on-site hydrolysis biomass operation, single-use bag reaction systems have been considered. These are relatively simple reaction vessels made of polyethylene (0.2 mm thick) that can be mixed by simple rocking movements. As a substrate, beech wood or crude beech wood cellulose fractions are used up to solid concentrations of 10% (w/w) with low enzyme dosages. In Fig. 2, the temporal change of liquefication of pretreated biomass during enzymatic hydrolysis in a single-use bag system is depicted.

After only 8 h of hydrolysis, degradation of previous fiber structures is already apparent. With increasing hydrolysis time, full liquefication and visible loss of solid matter is reached. The rocking motion of the bags in combination with enzymatic conversion leads to homogenization of the slurry. Figure 3 shows the course of hydrolysis during enzymatic conversion of the pretreated biomass.

The utilization of a single-use bag system allows the enzymatic conversion of pretreated beech wood into glucose and xylose, reaching maximum concentrations of 48 g/L glucose from cellulose and 13 g/L xylose from the remaining hemicellulose, respectively. Direct application on-farm seems to be possible, since a low-cost polyethylene foil can be easily prepared and welded for use with simple and minor equipment costs. Moreover, further truck transportation while enzymatic conversion takes place is conceivable if the trucks are equipped with systems comparable to



Fig. 2 Enzymatic hydrolysis in single-use bag systems, with a crude cellulose solid loading of 100 g/L. Duration of hydrolysis: (a) 3 h, (b) 8 h, (c) 20 h, (d) 30 h. Temperature:  $50^{\circ}$ C



**Fig. 3** Glucose and xylose concentrations during enzymatic hydrolysis at a crude cellulose (with Hemicellulose Impurities) solid loading of 100 g/L using single-use bags. Enzymes: 6% cellulase, 6% xylanase. Rocking-motion: 30 rpm. Temperature: 50°C

concrete mixers. Mixing by stirring has been shown to be an adequate way of mixing in enzymatic hydrolyses. Hence, it needs to be further examined whether this approach is economically competitive. This concept leads to further conversion potentials such as simultaneous transportation and saccharification, which has already been discussed for direct pipeline application [132]. First findings indicated that transport of biomass slurries from wood residues and wheat straw in pipelines is possible at approximately 30% biomass loadings with regard to rheology [133–135].

#### **Ensiling of Biomass and Product Generation**

A common method for long-term preservation of medium moisture content lignocellulosic plant material, such as from grassland, can be provided by ensiling the biomass. The resulting silage is the product of solid-state lactic acid fermentation, which can be used as a high-quality animal feed the entire year [136]. During storage of fresh plant material under anaerobic conditions, the production of organic acids, as well as a pH shift, takes place. This prevents the growth of other microorganisms and the decomposition of the plant biomass [137]. Other additional benefits compared to dry storage are that biomass loss during handling is reduced and there is no need for costly pre-drying of the biomass. Additionally, ensiling can be considered as a combination of storage and pretreatment of biomass [138]. Direct on-farm realization of both storage and pretreatment makes handling considerably easier, since pretreatment is conducted at ambient temperature and pressure without the need for chemical or thermal pretreatment, leading to cost and energy savings. Nowadays, ensiling is also suggested as a biological pretreatment for lignocellulosic biomass and has been reported to improve the enzymatic saccharification of biomass [139]. In several studies using pretreated silage biomass, anaerobic fermentation using the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae or Kluyveromyces marxianus was conducted separately from the ensiling process allowing for conversion of available sugars into ethanol [140-143]. On a laboratory scale, a combined approach of ensiling and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation with the addition of cellulase and glucoamylase for 20 days resulted in 6.5 wt % ethanol (a yield of 169 g/ kg dry mass) using 250 g non-sterile forage paddy rice plants [144]. This indicates that a reaction of lactic acid fermentation and subsequent ethanol fermentation coupled with the enzymatic deconstruction of plant material is possible. Thus, a decentralized ethanol production system that can be directly applied in the on-farm level was proven on a laboratory scale. In a further study of Horatio et al., this system was extended and directly applied on-farm [145]. For this purpose, rice plants were chopped, harvested, and baled, resulting in 0.8 m tall round bales of 1-m diameter with a weight of 273-283 kg (48-50% dry weight). Before baling, a mixture of commercially available enzymes and microorganisms for lactic acid fermentation and ethanol production was dissolved in 40 kg of distilled water and added to the feedstock. In detail, cellulase (0.74-0.77 FPU/g DM) of A. celluloslyticus and a glucoamylase from Aspergillus niger (0.29 g/g DM) was employed as well as freezedried lactic acid bacteria (2  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> cfu/g DM) and freeze-dried S. cerevisiae (3  $\times$  10<sup>6</sup> cfu/g DM). The bales were then wrapped with a plastic film for ensiling. The resulting effluent was collected by further entrapment of the bale system with a water-impermeable polyethylene plastic foil. The entire solid-state fermentation was monitored directly on-field without temperature control by sample collection from different locations of the bales. The effluent collected at the bottom of the bales was recovered monthly and ethanol was recovered with a vacuum distiller. During the operating period of 1-6 months, 90.9-139.6 g/kg DM of ethanol was produced during Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SSF) in whole round bales, which corresponds to a maximum yield of 14 wt % ethanol.

# 7 Conclusion

In recent decades, various studies have been conducted worldwide focusing on developing strategies for feedstock supply for lignocellulose-based biorefineries. Numerous plant residues have been evaluated by researchers, including abundant residues from forestry and agriculture, but also certain residues available in smaller quantities regionally. To date, the decentral approach is a promising model, since transportation costs of biorefinery feedstock contribute vastly to the overall costs of the process. Further, excessive biomass conveyance is extremely likely to lead to high climate-damaging gas output and therefore to contravene the goal regarding eco-friendly biorefineries. Transferring intermediate products instead will lead to a

reduced transport volume and is therefore preferable to long-distance transportation of raw plant residues.

The degree of on-site pretreatment should be determined with consideration of local and regional feedstock types, their availability, and the applicability of pretreatment methods. The benefits of a reduction of transport volume by mechanical methods has been studied intensively by various researchers in recent years. Even though the positive effects of a reduction of transportation are evident, the exclusive use of mechanical methods is rarely adequate to achieve low transportation costs. The introduction of rot fungi during a storage period has been shown to improve the feedstock convertibility while requiring neither extensive equipment nor training. The improvement of transportation efficiency needs to remain a central aspect of research concerning the implementation of lignocellulose-based biorefinery plants.

## References

- Menon V, Rao M (2012) Trends in bioconversion of lignocellulose: biofuels, platform chemicals & biorefinery concept. Prog Energy Combust Sci 38(4):522–550
- Kromus S, Wachter B, Koschuh W, Mandl M, Krotscheck C, Narodoslwsky M (2004) The green biorefinery Austria – development of an integrated system fop green biomass utilization. Chem Biochem Eng Q 18(1):7–12
- Schaffenberger M, Ecker J, Koschuh W, Essl R, Mandl MG, Boechzelt HG et al (2012) Green biorefinery – production of amino acids from grass silage juice using an ion exchanger device at pilot scale. Chem Eng Trans 29:505–510
- Miao Z, Shastri Y, Grift TE, Hansen AC, Ting KC (2012) Lignocellulosic biomass feedstock transportation alternatives, logistics, equipment configurations, and modeling. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 6(3):351–362
- Smeets EMW, Lewandowski IM, Faaij APC (2009) The economical and environmental performance of miscanthus and switchgrass production and supply chains in a European setting. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 13(6–7):1230–1245
- Kurian JK, Nair GR, Hussain A, Raghavan GSV (2013) Feedstocks, logistics and pre-treatment processes for sustainable lignocellulosic biorefineries: a comprehensive review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 25:205–219
- 7. Petrolia DR (2008) The economics of harvesting and transporting corn stover for conversion to fuel ethanol: a case study for Minnesota. Biomass Bioenergy 32:603–612
- Panichelli L, Edgard G (2008) GIS-based approach for defining bioenergy facilities location: a case study in Northern Spain based on marginal delivery costs and resources competition between facilities. Biomass Bioenergy 32:289–300
- 9. Klose A, Drexl A (2005) Facility location models for distribution system design. Eur J Oper Res 162:4–29
- ReVelle CS, Eiselt HA, Daskin MS (2008) A bibliography for some fundamental problem categories in discrete location science. Eur J Oper Res 184:817–848
- Meloa MT, Nickel S, Saldanha-da-Gama F (2009) Invited review facility location and supply chain management – a review. Eur J Oper Res 196:401–412
- Grossmann IE, Guillen-Gosalbez G (2010) Scope for the application of mathematical programming techniques in the synthesis and planning of sustainable processes. Comput Chem Eng 34(9):1365–1376

- 13. Heungjo A, Wilhelm EW, Searcy SW (2011) Biofuel and petroleum-based supply chain research: a literature review. Biomass Bioenergy 35:3763–3774
- 14. Lua X, Withers MR, Seifkar N et al (2015) Biomass logistics analysis for large scale biofuel production: case study of loblolly pine and switchgrass. Bioresour Technol 183:1–9
- Searcy EM, Hess JR (2010) Uniform-format feedstock supply system: a commodity-scale design to produce an infrastructure-compatible biocrude from Lignocellulosic biomass. Idaho National Laboratory, Idaho Falls. https://inlportal.inl.gov/portal/server.pt?open=512& objID=421&PageID=5806&cached=true&mode=2&userID=1829
- 16. Verkerk PJ, Anttila P, Eggers J, Lindner M, Asikainen A (2011) The realisable potential supply of woody biomass from forests in the European Union. For Ecol Manag 261: 2007–2015
- 17. Brosowski A, Thrän D, Mantau U, Mahro B, Erdmann G, Adler P, Stinner W, Reinhold G, Hering T, Blanke C (2016) A review of biomass potential and current utilisation – status quo for 93 biogenic wastes and residues in Germany. Biomass Bioenergy 95:257–272
- Karlsson H, Borjesson P, Hansson PA, Ahlgren S (2014) Ethanol production in biorefineries using lignocellulosic feedstocke GHG performance, energy balance and implications of life cycle calculation methodology. J Clean Prod 83:420–427
- 19. Kim J, Realff MJ, Lee JH (2011) Optimal design and global sensitivity analysis of biomass supply chain networks for biofuels under uncertainty. Comput Chem Eng 35:1738–1751
- 20. Yu Y, Bartle J, Li CZ, Wu H (2009) Mallee biomass as a key bioenergy source in western Australia: importance of biomass supply chain. Energy Fuel 23:2009
- Christian DG, Riche AB, Yates NE (2002) The yield and composition of switchgrass and coastal panic grass grown as a biofuel in Southern England. Bioresour Technol 83:115–124
- 22. Sanderson MA, Reed RL, McLaughlin SB, Wullschleger SD, Conger BV, Parrish DJ, Wolfe DD, Taliaferrof C, Hopkins AA, Ocumpaugh WR, Hussey MA, Read JC, Tischler CR (1996) Switchgrass as a sustainable bioenergy crop. Bioresour Technol 56(1):83–93
- 23. Sanderson MA, Reed RL, Ocumpaugh WR, Hussey MA, Van Esbroeck G, Read JC et al (1999) Switchgrass cultivars and germplasm for biomass feedstock production in Texas. Bioresour Technol 67:209–219
- Madakadze IC, Stewart KA, Peterson PR, Coulman BE, Smith DL (1999) Cutting frequency and nitrogen fertilization effects on yield and nitrogen concentration of switchgrass in a short season area. Crop Sci 39:552–557
- Lemus R, Brummer EC, Moore KJ, Molstad NE, Burras CL, Barker MF (2002) Biomass yield and quality of 20 switchgrass populations in southern Iowa, USA. Biomass Bioenergy 23:433–442
- 26. Clifton-Brown JC, Lewandowski I, Andersson B, Basch G, Christian DG, Kjeldsen JB, Jorgensen U, Mortensen JV, Riche AB, Schwarz KU, Tayebi K, Teixeira F (2001) Performance of 15 Miscanthus genotypes at five sites in Europe. Agronomy 93:1013–1019
- 27. Lewandowski I, Clifton-Brown JC, Andersson B, Basch G, Christian DG, Jorgensen U, Jones MB, Riche AB, Schwarz KU, Tayebi K, Teixeira F (2003) Environment and harvest time affects the combustion qualities of Miscanthus genotypes. Agron J 95:1274–1280
- Lewandowski I, Kicherer A (1997) Combustion quality of biomass: practical relevance and experiments to modify the biomass quality of Miscanthus x giganteus. Eur J Agron 6:163–177
- 29. Regassa TH, Wortmann CS (2014) Sweet sorghum as a bioenergy crop: literature review. Biomass Bioenergy 64:348–355
- Bomberg M, Sanchez DL, Lipman TE (2014) Optimizing fermentation process miscanthus-toethanol biorefinery scale under uncertain conditions. Environ Res Lett 9(6). https://doi.org/10. 1088/1748-9326/9/6/064018
- 31. Perlack RD, Stokes BJ (2011) U.S. Billion-ton update: biomass supply for a bioenergy and bioproducts industry. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge
- 32. Langholtz MH, Stokes BJ, Eaton LM (2016) 2016 Billion-ton report: advancing domestic resources for a thriving bioeconomy, volume 1: economic availability of feedstocks. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, 448p. https://doi.org/10.2172/1271651

- Sharma B, Birrel S, Miguez FE (2017) Spatial modeling framework for bioethanol plant siting and biofuel production potential in the U.S. Appl Energy 91:75–86
- 34. Krasuska E, Cadórniga C, Tenorio JL, Testa G, Scordia D (2010) Potential land availability for energy crops production in Europe. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4:658–673
- 35. Lovett AA, Sünnenberg GM, Richter GM, Dailey AG, Riche AB, Karp A (2009) Land use implications of increased biomass production identified by GIS-based suitability and yield mapping for Miscanthus in England. Bioenergy Res 2(1–2):17–28
- 36. Caslin B (2010) Energy crops agronomy—lessons to date. In Energy Crops Manual 2010. Teagasc—The Irish Agric. Food Devel. Author (http://www.teagasc.ie/publications/2010/ 20100223/Manual\_Final\_10feb10.pdf). Accessed 9 May 2015
- 37. Lewandowski I, Clifton-Brown JC, Scurlock JMO, Huisman W (2000) Miscanthus: European experience with a novel energy crop. Biomass Bioenergy 19(4):209–227
- Heggenstaller AH, Annex RP, Liebman M, Sundberg DN, Gibson LR (2008) Productivity and nutrient dynamics in bioenergy double-cropping systems. Agron J 100:1740–1748
- Limayem A, Ricke SC (2012) Lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production: current perspectives, potential issues and future prospects. Prog Energy Combust Sci 38:449–467
- 40. Bussamra BC, Freitasa S, Carvalho da Costa A (2015) Improvement on sugar cane bagasse hydrolysis using enzymatic mixture designed cocktail. Bioresour Technol 187:173–181
- Kim S, Dale BE (2004) Global potential bioethanol production from wasted crops and crop residues. Biomass Bioenergy 26(4):361–375
- Yang B, Wyman CE (2008) Pretreatment: the key to unlocking low-cost cellulosic ethanol. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 2:26–40
- 43. Caroll A, Somerville C (2009) Cellulosic biofuels. Annu Rev Plant Biol 60:165-182
- 44. Sivakumar G, Vail DR, Xu J, Burner DM, Lay JJO, Ge X, Weathers PJ (2010) Bioethanol und biodiesel: alternative liquid fuels for future generations. Eng Life Sci 10(1):8–18
- Marvin WA, Schmidt LD, Benjaafar S, Tiffany DG, Daoutidis P (2012) Economic optimization of a lignocellulosic biomass-to-ethanol supply chain. Chem Eng Sci 67:68–79
- Pauly M, Keegstra K (2008) Cell-wall carbohydrates and their modification as a resource for biofuels. Plant J 54:559–568
- Zakzeski J, Bruijnincx PCA, Jongerius AL, Weckhuysen BM (2010) The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. Chem Rev 110(6):3552–3599
- 48. Godin B, Lamaudiere S, Agneessens R et al (2013) Chemical characteristics and biofuel potential of several vegetal biomasses grown under a wide range of environmental conditions. Ind Crop Prod 48:1–12
- 49. Godin B, Lamaudiere S, Agneessens R et al (2013) Chemical characteristics and biofuels potentials of various plant biomasses: influence of the harvesting date. J Sci Food Agric 93: 3216–3224
- Hodgson EM, Nowakowski DJ, Shield I, Riche A, Bridgwater AV, Clifton-Brown JC, Donnison IS (2011) Variation in Miscanthus chemical composition and implications for conversion by pyrolysis and thermo-chemical bio-refining for fuels and chemicals. Bioresour Technol 102:3411–3418
- 51. Hodgson EM, Fahmi R, Yates N, Barraclough T, Shield I, Allison G, Bridgwater AV, Donnison IS (2010) Miscanthus as a feedstock for fast pyrolysis: does agronomic treatment affect quality? Bioresour Technol 101:6185–6191
- 52. Godin B, Lamaudière S, Agneessens R et al (2013) Chemical composition and biofuel potentials of a wide diversity of plant biomasses. Energy Fuel 27:2588–2598
- Biomass Feedstock Composition and Property Database. http://www.afdc.energy.gov/bio mass/progs/search1.cgi
- 54. Sluiter JB, Ruiz RO, Scarlata CJ, Sluiter AD, Templeton DW (2010) Compositional analysis of lignocellulosic feedstocks. 1. Review and description of methods. J Agric Food Chem 58(16):9043–9053
- 55. Jin SY, Chen HZ (2007) Near-infrared analysis of the chemical composition of rice straw. Ind Crop Prod 26:207–211

- 56. Smith-Moritz AM, Chern M, Lao J, Sze-To WH, Heazlewood JL, Ronald PC, Vega-Sánchez ME (2011) Combining multivariate analysis and monosaccharide composition modeling to identify plant cell wall variations by Fourier transform near infrared spectroscopy. Plant Methods 7:26
- 57. Lupoi JS, Singh S, Simmons BA, Henry RJ (2014) Assessment of lignocellulosic biomass using analytical spectroscopy: an evolution to high-throughput techniques. Bioenergy Res 7: 1–23
- Xu F, Yu J, Tesso T, Dowell F, Wang D (2013) Qualitative and quantitative analysis of lignocellulosic biomass using infrared techniques: a mini-review. Appl Energy 104:801–809
- 59. González-Peña M, Hale M (2011) Rapid assessment of physical properties and chemical composition of thermally modified wood by mid-infrared spectroscopy. Wood Sci Technol 45(1):83–102
- 60. Hobro AJ, Kuligowski J, Döll M, Lendl B (2010) Differentiation of walnut wood species and steam treatment using ATR-FTIR and partial least squares discriminant analysis. Anal Bioanal Chem 398:2713–2722
- Chen H, Ferrari C, Angiuli M, Yao J, Raspi C, Bramanti E (2010) Qualitative and quantitative analysis of wood samples by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy and multivariate analysis. Carbohydr Polym 82:772–778
- 62. Popescu MC, Popescu CM, Lisa G, Sakata Y (2011) Evaluation of morphological and chemical aspects of different wood species by spectroscopy and thermal methods. J Mol Struct 988(1–3):65–72
- 63. Tsuchikawa S (2007) A review of recent near infrared research for wood and paper. Appl Spectrosc Rev 42:43–71
- 64. Ye XP, Liu L, Hayes D, Womac A, Hong KL, Sokhansanj S (2008) Fast classification and compositional analysis of cornstover fractions using Fourier transform near-infrared techniques. Bioresour Technol 99:7323–7332
- Sanderson MA, Agblevor F, Collins M, Johnson DK (1996) Compositional analysis of biomass feedstocks by near infrared reflectance spectroscopy. Biomass Bioenergy 11:365–370
- 66. Gierlinger N, Schwanninger M, Hinterstoisser B, Wimmer R (2002) Rapid determination of heartwood extractives in Larix sp by means of Fourier transform near infrared spectroscopy. J Near Infrared Spectrosc 10:203–214
- Mayes DM (1999) Grain quality monitor. WO Patent Application WO1999040419A1, 6 Feb 1998
- 68. Wright SL, Brumback TB, Niebur WS, Welle R (1999) Near infrared spectrometry for real time analysis of substances. WO Patent Application WO1999058959A1, 11 May 1998
- 69. Kormann G, Flohr W, Hoyme W, Correns N, Götz M, Rode M (2014) Spectrometric measuring head for harvesting machines and other agricultural machines. EP Patent EP1797414B1, 30 Sept 2004
- Kormann G, Ohlemeyer H (2008) Measuring device of components in and/or properties of the crop. EP Patent EP1053671B1, 19 May 1999
- 71. Kessler W (2007) Multivariate Datenanalyse für die Pharma- Bio- und Prozessanalytik. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- 72. Esbensen KH (2004) Multivariate data analysis in practice, 5th edn. CAMO Process AS, Esbjerg
- Shamsipur M, Zare-Shahabadi V, Hemmateenejad B, Akhond M (2006) Ant colony optimisation: a powerful tool for wavelength selection. J Chemometrics 20:146–157
- 74. Wulfhorst H, Duwe A, Tippkötter N (2016) Compositional analysis of pretreated (beech) wood using differential scanning calorimetry and multivariate data analysis. Tetrahedron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2016.04.029
- Kim S, Dale BE (2015) Comparing alternative cellulosic biomass biorefining systems: centralized versus distributed processing systems. Biomass Bioenergy 74:135–147. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.01.018

- Hamelinck CN, Suurs RAA, Faaij APC (2005) International bioenergy transport costs and energy balance. Biomass Bioenergy 29(2):114–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2005. 04.002
- 77. Leboreiro J, Hilaly AK (2011) Biomass transportation model and optimum plant size for the production of ethanol. Bioresour Technol 102(3):2712–2723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2010.10.144
- Argo AM, Tan ECD, Inman D, Langholtz MH, Eaton LM, Jacobson JJ, Wright CT, Muth DJ, Wu MM, Chiu YW, Graham RL (2013) Investigation of biochemical biorefinery sizing and environmental sustainability impacts for conventional bale system and advanced uniform biomass logistics designs. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 7(3):282–302. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bbb.1391
- 79. Hess JR, Wright CT, Kenney KL, Searcy EM (2009) Uniform-format solid feedstock supply system: a commodity-scale design to produce an infrastructure-compatible bulk solid from lignocellulosic biomass. Idaho National Laboratory (INL)
- Perlack RD, Turhollow AF (2003) Feedstock cost analysis of corn stover residues for further processing. Energy 28(14):1395–1403. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-5442(03)00123-3
- Muth DJ, Langholtz MH, Tan ECD, Jacobson JJ, Schwab A, Wu MM, Argo A, Brandt CC, Cafferty KG, Chiu YW, Dutta A, Eaton LM, Searcy EM (2014) Investigation of thermochemical biorefinery sizing and environmental sustainability impacts for conventional supply system and distributed pre-processing supply system designs. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 8(4):545–567. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1483
- Chiueh PT, Lee KC, Syu FS, Lo SL (2012) Implications of biomass pretreatment to cost and carbon emissions: case study of rice straw and Pennisetum in Taiwan. Bioresour Technol 108:285–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.01.006
- Zhu XY, Yao QZ (2011) Logistics system design for biomass-to-bioenergy industry with multiple types of feedstocks. Bioresour Technol 102(23):10936–10945. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2011.08.121
- Richard TL (2010) Challenges in scaling up biofuels infrastructure. Science 329(5993): 793–796. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1189139
- McKendry P (2002) Energy production from biomass (part 1): overview of biomass. Bioresour Technol 83(1):37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-8524(01)00118-3
- Miao Z, Grift TE, Hansen AC, Ting KC (2011) Energy requirement for comminution of biomass in relation to particle physical properties. Ind Crop Prod 33(2):504–513. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2010.12.016
- Miao ZW, Phillips JW, Grift TE, Mathanker SK (2013) Energy and pressure requirement for compression of Miscanthus giganteus to an extreme density. Biosyst Eng 114(1):21–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2012.10.002
- Ebeling JM, Jenkins BM (1985) Physical and chemical properties of biomass fuels. Trans ASAE 28(3):898–902
- Chevanan N, Womac AR, Bitra VS, Igathinathane C, Yang YT, Miu PI, Sokhansanj S (2010) Bulk density and compaction behavior of knife mill chopped switchgrass, wheat straw, and corn stover. Bioresour Technol 101(1):207–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.07. 083
- 90. Lam PS, Sokhansanj S, Bi X, Lim CJ, Naimi LJ, Hoque M, Mani S, Womac AR, Ye XP, Narayan S (2008) Bulk density of wet and dry wheat straw and switchgrass particles. Appl Eng Agric 24(3):351–358
- Mani S, Tabil LG, Sokhansanj S (2004) Grinding performance and physical properties of wheat and barley straws, corn stover and switchgrass. Biomass Bioenergy 27(4):339–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2004.03.007
- 92. Daystar J, Gonzalez R, Reeb C, Venditti R, Treasure T, Abt R, Kelley S (2014) Economics, environmental impacts, and supply chain analysis of cellulosic biomass for biofuels in the Southern US: pine, eucalyptus, unmanaged hardwoods, forest residues, Switchgrass, and sweet sorghum. Bioresources 9(1):393–444

- 93. Li YD, Liu H (2000) High-pressure densification of wood residues to form an upgraded fuel. Biomass Bioenergy 19(3):177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(00)00026-X
- 94. Kaliyan N, Morey RV (2010) Natural binders and solid bridge type binding mechanisms in briquettes and pellets made from corn stover and switchgrass. Bioresour Technol 101(3): 1082–1090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.08.064
- Tumuluru JS, Wright CT, Hess JR, Kenney KL (2011) A review of biomass densification systems to develop uniform feedstock commodities for bioenergy application. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 5(6):683–707. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.324
- 96. Mani S, Tabil LG, Sokhansanj S (2006) Effects of compressive force, particle size and moisture content on mechanical properties of biomass pellets from grasses. Biomass Bioenergy 30(7):648–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2005.01.004
- Hess JR, Wright CT, Kenney KL (2007) Cellulosic biomass feedstocks and logistics for ethanol production. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 1(3):181–190. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.26
- Shinners KJ, Boettcher GC, Muck RE, Weimer PJ, Casler MD (2010) Harvest and storage of two perennial grasses as biomass feedstocks. Trans ASABE 53(2):359–370
- Kaliyan N, Morey RV, White MD, Doering A (2009) Roll press briquetting and pelleting of corn stover and switchgrass. Trans ASABE 52(2):543–555
- 100. Zhu XY, Li XP, Yao QZ, Chen YR (2011) Challenges and models in supporting logistics system design for dedicated-biomass-based bioenergy industry. Bioresour Technol 102(2): 1344–1351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.08.122
- 101. Poddar S, Kamruzzaman M, Sujan SMA, Hossain M, Jamal MS, Gafur MA, Khanam M (2014) Effect of compression pressure on lignocellulosic biomass pellet to improve fuel properties: higher heating value. Fuel 131:43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2014.04.061
- 102. Hoover AN, Tumuluru JS, Teymouri F, Moore J, Gresham G (2014) Effect of pelleting process variables on physical properties and sugar yields of ammonia fiber expansion pretreated corn stover. Bioresour Technol 164:128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2014.02.005
- 103. Wendt LM, Bonner IJ, Hoover AN, Emerson RM, Smith WA (2014) Influence of airflow on laboratory storage of high moisture corn Stover. Bioenergy Res 7(4):1212–1222. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12155-014-9455-3
- 104. Martelli R, Bentini M (2015) Harvest storage and handling of round and square bales of giant reed and switchgrass, an economic and technical evaluation. Biomass Bioenergy 73:67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.12.008
- 105. Shinners KJ, Wepner AD, Muck RE, Weimer PJ (2011) Aerobic and anaerobic storage of single-pass, chopped corn Stover. Bioenergy Res 4(1):61–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-010-9101-7
- 106. Mooney DF, Larson JA, English BC, Tyler DD (2012) Effect of dry matter loss on profitability of outdoor storage of switchgrass. Biomass Bioenergy 44:33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biombioe.2012.04.008
- 107. Yu TE, Larson JA, English BC, Boyer CN, Tyler DD, Castillo-Villar KK (2015) Influence of particle size and packaging on storage dry matter losses for switchgrass. Biomass Bioenergy 73:135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.12.009
- Williams SD, Shinners KJ (2012) Farm-scale anaerobic storage and aerobic stability of high dry matter sorghum as a biomass feedstock. Biomass Bioenergy 46:309–316. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.08.010
- 109. Peciulyte A, Karlstom K, Larsson PT, Olsson L (2015) Impact of the supramolecular structure of cellulose on the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis. Biotechnol Biofuels 8, Art 56. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13068-015-0236-9
- 110. Santi C, Milagres AMF, Ferraz A, Carvalho W (2013) The effects of lignin removal and drying on the porosity and enzymatic hydrolysis of sugarcane bagasse. Cellulose 20(6):3165–3177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-013-0032-2

- 111. Tumuluru JS, Tabil LG, Song Y, Iroba KL, Meda V (2015) Impact of process conditions on the density and durability of wheat, oat, canola, and barley straw briquettes. Bioenergy Res 8(1):388–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-014-9527-4
- 112. Rudolfsson M, Stelte W, Lestander TA (2015) Process optimization of combined biomass torrefaction and pelletization for fuel pellet production – a parametric study. Appl Energy 140:378–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.11.041
- 113. Zheng AQ, Zhao ZL, Chang S, Huang Z, Zhao K, Wei GQ, He F, Li HB (2015) Comparison of the effect of wet and dry torrefaction on chemical structure and pyrolysis behavior of corncobs. Bioresour Technol 176:15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.157
- 114. Bach QV, Tran KQ (2015) Dry and wet torrefaction of woody biomass a comparative Studyon combustion kinetics. Energy Procedia 75:150–155
- 115. Kumar A, Sokhansanj S (2007) Switchgrass (Panicum vigratum, L.) delivery to a biorefnery using integrated biomass supply analysis and logistics (IBSAL) model. Bioresour Technol 98: 1033–1044
- 116. Bruins ME, Sanders JPM (2012) Small-scale processing of biomass for biorefinery. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 6:135–145
- 117. Judd JD, Sarin SC, Cundiff JS (2012) Design, modeling, and analysis of a feedstock logistics system. Bioresour Technol 103(1):209–218
- 118. Kolfschoten RC, Bruins ME, Sanders JPM (2014) Opportunities for small-scale biorefinery for production of sugar and ethanol in the Netherlands. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 8:475–486
- 119. Annevelink E, de Mol RM (2014) The logistics of new biomass chains on a regional scale in the Netherlands. In: Hoffman C, Baxter D, Maniatis K et al (eds) PAPERS OF THE 22nd European international biomass conference – setting the course for a biobased economy, Hamburg, 23–26 June 2014, pp 59–63
- 120. Caffrey KR, Veal MW, Chinn MS (2014) The farm to biorefinery continuum: a technoeconomic and LCA analysis of ethanol production from sweet sorghum juice. Agric Syst 130:55–66
- 121. Eranki PL, Bals BD, Dale BE (2011) Advanced regional biomass processing depots: a key to the logistical challenges of the cellulosic biofuel industry. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 5(6): 621–630. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.318
- 122. Sun Y, Cheng JY (2002) Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: a review. Bioresour Technol 83(1):1–11. Pii: S0960-8524(01)00212-7
- 123. Hu F, Ragauskas A (2012) Pretreatment and lignocellulosic chemistry. Bioenergy Res 5(4): 1043–1066. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-012-9208-0
- 124. Li HQ, Xu J (2013) A new correction method for determination on carbohydrates in lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 138:373–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013. 03.148
- 125. Knutsen JS, Liberatore MW (2010) Rheology modification and enzyme kinetics of high-solids cellulosic slurries: an economic analysis. Energy Fuel 24:6506–6512. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ef100746q
- 126. Modenbach AA, Nokes SE (2013) Enzymatic hydrolysis of biomass at high-solids loadings a review. Biomass Bioenergy 56:526–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.05.031
- 127. Roche CM, Dibble CJ, Stickel JJ (2009) Laboratory-scale method for enzymatic saccharification of lignocellulosic biomass at high-solids loadings. Biotechnol Biofuels 2. https://doi. org/10.1186/1754-6834-2-28
- 128. Huang J, Zhang J, He YQ, Bao J, Dai GC (2013) Dynamic characteristics and speed control strategy of cellulose hydrolysis reactor at high solids loading. Int J Chem React Eng 11. https:// doi.org/10.1515/ijcre-2013-0034
- 129. Ludwig D, Michael B, Hirth T, Rupp S, Zibek S (2014) High solids enzymatic hydrolysis of pretreated lignocellulosic materials with a powerful stirrer concept. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 172(3):1699–1713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-013-0607-2
- 130. He YQ, Zhang LP, Zhang J, Bao J (2014) Helically agitated mixing in dry dilute acid pretreatment enhances the bioconversion of corn stover into ethanol. Biotechnol Biofuels 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1754-6834-7-1
- 131. Tippkoetter N, Duwe AM, Wiesen S, Sieker T, Ulber R (2014) Enzymatic hydrolysis of beech wood lignocellulose at high solid contents and its utilization as substrate for the production of biobutanol and dicarboxylic acids. Bioresour Technol 167:447–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2014.06.052
- Kumar A, Cameron JB, Flynn PC (2005) Pipeline transport and simultaneous saccharification of corn stover. Bioresour Technol 96(7):819–829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2004.07. 007
- 133. Luk J, Mohamadabadi HS, Kumar A (2014) Pipeline transport of biomass: experimental development of wheat straw slurry pressure loss gradients. Biomass Bioenergy 64:329–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.03.046
- 134. Gubba SR, Ingham DB, Larsen KJ, Ma L, Pourkashanian M, Qian X, Williams A, Yan Y (2012) Investigations of the transportation characteristics of biomass fuel particles in a horizontal pipeline through CFD modelling and experimental measurement. Biomass Bioenergy 46:492–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.07.010
- 135. Kumar A, Cameron JB, Flynn PC (2004) Pipeline transport of biomass. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 113:27–39. https://doi.org/10.1385/Abab:113:1-3:027
- 136. Weinberg ZG, Ashbell G (2003) Engineering aspects of ensiling. Biochem Eng J 13(2–3): 181–188. Pii: S1369-703x(02)00130-4
- 137. McEniry J, King C, O'Kiely P (2014) Silage fermentation characteristics of three common grassland species in response to advancing stage of maturity and additive application. Grass Forage Sci 69(3):393–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/gfs.12038
- 138. Thompson DN, Barnes JA, Houghton TP (2005) Effect of additions on ensiling and microbial community of senesced wheat straw. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 121:21–46. https://doi.org/10. 1385/Abab:121:1-3:0021
- 139. Ambye-Jensen M, Johansen KS, Didion T, Kadar Z, Schmidt JE, Meyer AS (2013) Ensiling as biological pretreatment of grass (Festulolium Hykor): the effect of composition, dry matter, and inocula on cellulose convertibility. Biomass Bioenergy 58:303–312. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biombioe.2013.08.015
- 140. Oleskowicz-Popiel P, Thomsen AB, Schmidt JE (2011) Ensiling wet-storage method for lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production. Biomass Bioenergy 35(5):2087–2092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.02.003
- 141. Digman MF, Shinners KJ, Casler MD, Dien BS, Hatfield RD, Jung HJG, Muck RE, Weimer PJ (2010) Optimizing on-farm pretreatment of perennial grasses for fuel ethanol production. Bioresour Technol 101(14):5305–5314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.02.014
- 142. Sieker T, Neuner A, Dimitrova D, Tippkötter N, Muffler K, Bart HJ, Heinzle E, Ulber R (2011) Ethanol production from grass silage by simultaneous pretreatment, saccharification and fermentation: first steps in the process development. Eng Life Sci 11(4):436–442
- 143. Digman MF, Shinners KJ, Muck RE, Dien BS (2010) Full-scale on-farm pretreatment of perennial grasses with dilute acid for fuel ethanol production. Bioenergy Res 3(4):335–341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-010-9092-4
- 144. Kitamoto HK, Horita M, Cai YM, Shinozaki Y, Sakaki K (2011) Silage produces biofuel for local consumption. Biotechnol Biofuels 4, Art 46. https://doi.org/10.1186/1754-6834-4-46
- 145. Horita M, Kitamoto H, Kawaide T, Tachibana Y, Shinozaki Y (2015) On-farm solid state simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of whole crop forage rice in wrapped round bale for ethanol production. Biotechnol Biofuels 8:10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-014-0192-9

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2019) 166: 69–98 DOI: 10.1007/10\_2016\_65 © Springer International Publishing AG 2017 Published online: 7 March 2017

# **Vegetable Oil-Biorefinery**



Frank Pudel and Sebastian Wiesen

Abstract Conventional vegetable oil mills are complex plants, processing oil, fruits, or seeds to vegetable fats and oils of high quality and predefined properties. Nearly all by-products are used. However, most of the high valuable plant substances occurring in oil fruits or seeds besides the oil are used only in low price applications (proteins as animal feeding material) or not at all (e.g., phenolics). This chapter describes the state-of-the-art of extraction and use of oilseed/oil fruit proteins and phyto-nutrients in order to move from a conventional vegetable oil processing plant to a proper vegetable oil-biorefinery producing a wide range of different high value bio-based products.

**Keywords** Glycerol, Phyto-nutrients, Plant protein, Processing, Refining, Vegetable oil

#### Contents

1	Intro	oduction	70
2	Bion	nass Usable	70
3	Schematic and Principals of the Biorefinery		71
	3.1	Biodiesel Process	71
	3.2	Enzymatic (Rapeseed) Biorefinery Concept	71
	3.3	Subsequent Extraction of Oil, Proteins, and	
		Phyto-Nutrients	73
	3.4	Biotechnological Utilization of Crude Glycerol	74
4	Current Process Technologies		79
	4.1	Palm Oil Processing	79

F. Pudel (🖂)

S. Wiesen

DIREVO Industrial Biotechnology, Köln, Germany e-mail: Sebastian.Wiesen@direvo.com

Pilot Pflanzenöltechnologie Magdeburg e.V, Magdeburg, Germany e-mail: pudel@ppm-magdeburg.de

	4.2	Oilseed Processing	80
	4.3	Refining	81
	4.4	Alternative Technologies	82
	4.5	Fat Modification	82
5	Extraction and Use of Oilseed Proteins		
	5.1	Soy Protein	83
	5.2	Hemp Protein	83
	5.3	Sunflower Protein	84
	5.4	Flax Protein	84
	5.5	Jatropha curcas Protein	85
	5.6	Rapeseed Protein	86
6	Extra	action and Use of Oilseed/Oil Fruits Phyto-Nutrients	87
	6.1	Rice Phyto-Nutrients	87
	6.2	Sunflower Phyto-Nutrients	88
	6.3	Jatropha curcas Phyto-Nutrients	89
	6.4	Rapeseed Phyto-Nutrients	90
	6.5	Palm Phyto-Nutrients	91
	6.6	Flax Phyto-Nutrients	91
7	Resi	dues Processing: Use of Fibrous By-Products	91
Re	ferend	ces	92

# 1 Introduction

Conventional vegetable oil processing plants, consisting of oil mill, refinery, and modification unit, process oil fruits or seeds to vegetable fats and oils of high quality and predefined properties. Nearly all by-products are used: meal as proteinrich animal feeding material, lecithin as a food additive, free fatty acids in chemistry and deodorizer distillates as sources for the recovery of valuable phytonutrients such as phytosterols or as feed for biodiesel plants.

The extension of such plants by a biodiesel plant is often already called a vegetable oil-biorefinery. However, most of the high value plant substances occurring in oil fruits or seeds, besides the oil, are used only in low-price applications (proteins in meal) or not at all (e.g., phenolics). This chapter shows the potential to move from a conventional vegetable oil processing plant to a proper vegetable oil-biorefinery producing a wide range of different high value bio-based products.

# 2 Biomass Usable

Vegetable fats and oils can be divided into fruit and seed (kernel) oils. Typical fruit oils are palm oil, olive oil, and avocado oil. They are obtained from the pulp of these fruits. Because of the rapid enzymatic hydrolysis of ripe fruits, which can be accelerated by mechanical damage, they have to be harvested and processed as quickly as possible after reaching ripeness. In contrast to that, oilseeds are more resistant and can be stored after drying over a long period. The globally most

Table 1         Global production	Vegetable oil	Global production (million tons per year)
of fruit and seed oils [1]	Palm oil	56
	Soybean oil	43
	Rapeseed oil	25
	Sunflower oil	14
	Palm kernel oil	6
	Cotton seed oil	5
	Peanut oil	4
	Coconut oil	3
	Maize oil	2.93
	Olive oil	2.85
	Sesame oil	0.87
	Castor oil	0.68
	Flaxseed oil	0.6

important seed oils are soybean oil, rapeseed oil, sunflower oil, peanut oil, cottonseed oil, and palm kernel oil. In addition, flax oil, hemp oil, safflower oil, grape seed oil, and others are produced in smaller amounts. Castor oil, tung oil, and jojoba oil are inedible and used only for chemical purposes. Particularly as bio-energy source, jatropha and camelina are upcoming new oil crops (Table 1).

# **3** Schematic and Principals of the Biorefinery

## 3.1 Biodiesel Process

The extension of an existing oil mill by a biodiesel plant is often called a (simplest kind of) biorefinery.

Transesterification of triglycerides using methanol, or sometimes ethanol, leads to fatty acid methyl/ethyl esters, known as biodiesel. Transesterification is a catalytic reaction and base catalysts, acids or, enzymes (lipases) are used.

The main by-product of biodiesel production is glycerol. There are many technologies for purification and transformation into valuable chemicals available or under development, biotechnological ones particularly [2].

# 3.2 Enzymatic (Rapeseed) Biorefinery Concept

The aim of the enzymatic biorefinery concept is an environmental friendly processing of oilseeds with the comprehensive fractionation of the pre-treated crop into oil, protein, and valuable bio-active compounds at the end of the process, usable in the food, non-food, and feed industries. Another characteristic feature of

the enzymatic biorefinery concept is economic activities in closed circles, for example, short routes of transport. The key step is enzymatic treatment of the raw material, which allows a gentle extraction and fractionation of the different components without the use of organic solvents and without changing the functional properties of the resulting products.

The enzymatic biorefinery process for rapeseed which was initially developed by Novo Nordisk and the Chemistry Department of the Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, Copenhagen, Denmark in the late 1980s is well investigated. The concept involves (1) the inactivation of enzymes such as lipoxygenase, myrosinase, and lipases which would adversely affect the final products, (2) degradation of cell wall constituents by enzymes in milled seed material suspended in water, and (3) separation of the different fractions, oil, protein-rich meal, syrup, and hulls by centrifugation. The physicochemical properties of this extraction system and the good water solubility of many high value compounds, such as glucosinolates, usable as natural pesticides and some proteins, permit the simultaneous extraction of oil and these products from cruciferous oilseed meals [3].

After cleaning the seeds and milling in a hammer mill, inactivation of enzymes takes place by heating at 85-90 °C for 20 min with water [4]. Then cold water has to be added before the treatment with cell wall-degrading enzymes based on *Aspergillus niger* is performed for about 4 h at 50 °C. In the following, the hulls are separated by decantation, oil, protein and other valuable compounds are obtained by three washing and centrifugation steps, and finally the fractions with protein-rich meal and syrup are spray-dried.

The oil yield from an enzymatic biorefinery is about 35% based on the seed dry matter, which is distinctively lower than for conventional solvent extraction [5]. Because of the higher content of antioxidants, the oil shows a better oxidative stability, and during biorefinery processing less phospholipids go into the oil, resulting in amounts of 0.03% compared to 1.8% for conventional processing [6]. The content of other unwanted substances is also very low, and thus further oil purification by refining is not necessary [7].

Another advantage of the enzymatic biorefining concept is the mild treatment of the raw material which allows the isolation of valuable bio-active compounds from the meal. This may improve the quality of the meal with regard to suitability as animal feedstuff. An example is the isolation of pure glucosinolates which adversely affect the usability of the meal and limit the use of rapeseed meal as feedstuff. The isolated glucosinolates can be used as natural pesticides in crop management [8]. In the same way, pure myrosinases can be isolated directly from the crop [5].



Fig. 1 Rapeseed biorefinery concept

**Table 2**Protein content ofdifferent oilseed products [9]

Source	Crude protein (% of fresh weight)	
Soybean meal	44.88	
Rapeseed meal	35.51	
Sunflower meal	28.51	
Flaxseed meal	34.27	
Peanut meal	33.67	
Cotton seed	32.22	
Sesame meal	43.32	

# 3.3 Subsequent Extraction of Oil, Proteins, and Phyto-Nutrients

Figure 1 shows exemplarily a rapeseed biorefinery concept based on the subsequent extraction of oil, protein, and phyto-nutrients.

Besides the oil, most of the oilseeds also contain considerable amounts of proteins, particularly storage proteins; see Table 2. In the form of protein-rich meal, the by-product of oil extraction, these are commonly used as animal feeding material. Because of both their high nutritional potential and their manifold functional properties, a wide range of new applications in human nutrition as well as in non-food use could be developed. To meet the specific requested quality, a concentration to 50–60% protein in the matter (flours), 65–80% (concentrates), or >85% (isolates) is required. This is often connected with a decrease of undesired secondary plant substances.



Fig. 2 Scenario for the worldwide potential of crude glycerol according to [11]

Additionally, most oil fruits and seeds contain several phyto-nutrients, which can be used in the pharmacy, food, feed, and cosmetics industries. Typically, they remain in the oil or meal fraction after oil mill processing.

# 3.4 Biotechnological Utilization of Crude Glycerol

#### 3.4.1 Potential of Crude Glycerol

The production of biodiesel by transesterification of plant oil, animal fat, and oil-containing microorganisms is a continuously growing industrial application. During the biodiesel process, for 1 mol of fatty acid methyl ester, 1 mol of glycerol is generated as a side product. This accounts for almost 10 wt% of the product stream [10]. Additionally, crude glycerol is generated as a side product during the production of fatty acids and soap. Recent numbers for the forecasted development of the annual glycerol production have been publicized by Nanda et al. and can be found in Fig. 2.

After the transesterification process, the glycerol phase is separated from the fatty acid methyl ester phase, when the crude glycerol can be purified by removing water and methanol. Depending on feedstock and transesterification process, the crude glycerol has a purity of 75–90% and contains different impurities such as water (5-14.2%), methanol (up to 1.7%), remaining fatty acids, esters, and partial



Fig. 3 Biochemical pathways for the generation of value-added chemicals based on glycerol by prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Adapted from [40]

glycerides, and, depending on which catalyst has been used, 4.2-5.5% NaCl or 0.8-6.6% K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> [12, 13].

The growing supply of glycerol has led to a drastic reduction of its market price. In 2007 the price was in the range of 0.50 €/kg in comparison to 1.15 €/kg before the expansion of biodiesel production. At the same time, the crude glycerol price has fallen from 0.41 € to 0.082 €/kg [14].

The upgradation of biofuel side products falls under the fourth generation biofuel strategy of minimum waste production. By using this cheap and abundant feedstock, biodiesel plants could develop to versatile biorefineries by adding chemicals, materials, and energy to their portfolio. This could be an important step in improving the economic feasibility of the plants [15].

#### 3.4.2 Utilization of Crude Glycerol

Even though there are more than 1,500 known applications for glycerol [16], the classical glycerol market is unable to utilize the huge amounts generated nowadays. This surplus of raw material leads to an increased interest in processes which can raise the value of glycerol. Its value can be increased by chemical or biological processing. Most chemical conversions are based on oxidation or reduction of the

		Product/yield (mol/mol	
Species	Strain	glycerol)	Reference
Clostridium	C. pasteurianum	<i>n</i> -Butanol/0.43	Jensen et al. [24]
	C. butyricum AKR102a	1,3-PD/0.63	Wilkens et al. [25]
	C. diolis DSM15410	1,3-PD/0.67	Wiesen et al. [26]
Escherichia	Engineered E. coli SY03	Ethanol/0.95	Yazdani et al. [27]
	E. coli AC521	Lactic acid/0.9	Hong et al. [28]
	Engineered E. coli	Succinic acid/0.8	Zhang et al. [29]
Citrobacter	C. freundii FMCC-B294	1,3-PD/0.48	Matsoviti et al. [30]
	C. freundii H3	H <sub>2</sub> /0.94	Maru et al. [31]
Gluconobacter	G. frateurii CGMCC 5397	DHA/0.89	Zheng et al. [32]
Klebsiella	K. pneumoniae	Ethanol/0.89	Oh et al. [33]
	K. pneumonia (encapsulated)	1,3-PD/0.65	Zhao et al. [34]
Propionibacterium	P. freudenreichii	Propionic acid/0.68	Kośmider et al. [35]
Fungus	A. niger strains	SCO/0.41 g/g BM	André et al. [36]
Yeast	<i>Y. lipolytica</i> Wratislavia AWG7	Citric acid/0.67	Rywińska et al. [37]
	P. tannophilus CBS4044	Ethanol/0.56	Liu et al. [38]
Microalgae	A. limacinum	Docosahexaenoic acid	Abad et al. [39]

Table 3 Selected bioconversions of crude glycerol to different products

Adapted from [15]

glycerol or a connection with another molecule. The most important reduced products of glycerol are acrolein and propanediol. By oxidation of glycerol, glyceric acid (chelating agent) and tartronic acid (food additive) can be produced. Glycerol carbonate is an example of an important product from a reaction with another molecule [17].

In comparison to chemical reactions, bioconversions show an increased reaction specificity, lower requirements for temperature and pressure, and a lower demand for toxic chemicals. Therefore, value adding with enzymes or microorganisms is usually preferred [8]. In comparison to sugars, glycerol has a higher degree of chemical reduction. The transformation of glycerol to intermediates of the glycolysis generates double the amount of reduction equivalents compared to glucose and xylose [18], which leads to higher yields in the production of fuels and reduced

chemicals compared to monosaccharides [19]. The availability and the additional benefits of the substrate have led to an increased interest in processes for the production of chemicals, biopolymers, and fuels based on glycerol. Such processes have been investigated recently with wild type as well as with genetic modified organisms. Potential products are, for example, polytrimethylene terephthalate, made from 1,3-propanediol, succinic acid, 2,3-butanediol, polyhydroxyalkanoates, single cell oil, ethanol, butanol, citric acid, polyols, itaconic acid, and dihydroxy-acetone [13, 20–22], whereas the production of 1,3-propanediol tends to be the most promising application for glycerol [23]. Figure 3 gives an overview of the products which can be produced in biotechnological processes utilizing glycerol as substrate.

The diversity of products, which can be produced from glycerol via bioconversion technologies, has been recently summarized by Garlapati et al. [6]. In this chapter the focus is given to 1,3-propanediol, which is seen as the most promising secondary product of glycerol [23]. Table 3 gives some examples of bioconversions of crude glycerol by different microorganisms.

When utilizing cheap crude glycerol as substrate for fermentations, the quality of the glycerol and the tolerance of the production organism against impurities play a crucial role. Some studies have shown that crude glycerol exhibits a growth inhibition effect on some microorganism. This effect can even vary a lot within the same species [41]. The type of impurities present in the crude glycerol strongly depends on the production process, for example, the type of catalyst, whereas the purity of the crude glycerol varies between 75 wt% and 90 wt%. Further components of crude glycerol are mainly water, but also methanol, free fatty acids, and salts (catalysts or buffering salts). These impurities can often be found in concentrations at which they also have an inhibitory influence to the growth of microorganisms [42]. For this reason, it might be necessary to pretreat the glycerol before it can be efficiently used as a substrate in a fermentation process. The effects of different impurities are described in the literature [13, 43]. Methanol and NaCl both show no inhibitory influence in well-mixed systems at concentrations up to 2 g/L and 6 g/L, respectively. However, free fatty acids such as oleic acid lead to considerable inhibition of the growth of *Clostridium butyricum*, beginning at a concentration of 0.25 g/L.

#### 3.4.3 Production of 1,3-Propanediol

1,3-Propanediol (1,3-PD) is a molecule with two endstanding hydroxyl groups, and thus offers a great potential for applications in synthetic chemistry, for example, as a monomer for polycondensation. Products of this syntheses can be polyesters, polyethers, and polyurethanes, but a multiplicity of other applications are possible with 1,3-PD [44]. The 1,3-PD-based polymer polytrimethylene terephthalate (PTT) is even more durable and colorfast than its ethylene glycol-based counterpart polyethylene terephthalate (PET). It also shows superior stretching and stretch recovery characteristics [45]. Because of the superior characteristics of PTT, its production has led to an increased demand for 1,3-PD [46]. PTT is especially useful



**Fig. 4** Glycerol metabolism of 1,3-PD-producing organisms. *Rectangle*: key genes of the *dha* regulons. *GDHt* glyceroldehydratase, *1,3-PD DH* 1,3-propanedioldehydrogenase, *PEP* phosphoenolpyruvic acid, *2,3-BD* 2,3-butandiol, *DHA* dihydroxyacetone, *DHAP* dihydroxyacetone phosphate, *3-HPA* 3-hydroxypropanaldehyde, *1,3-PD* 1,3-propanediol. Adjusted according to [52]

for the production of carpets and textiles, and PTT is also biodegradable. Because of the high production costs, the utilization of 1,3-PD has been restricted in the past. However, in the mid-1990s this situation changed. The companies Shell and DuPont announced the commercialization of the 1,3-PD-based polyester PTT. According to Shell, the price of PTT is competitive with PET (about 0.75  $\notin$ /kg). This development has led to a massive boost in the production of 1,3-PD [47]. In 2012 the market demand for 1,3-PD was over 60,000 tons. By 2019 it is expected that the demand should increase to approximately 150,000 tons [48].

Traditionally, 1,3-PD is produced chemically and there are two main processes. The first is based on acrolein, followed by two hydrogenation steps. The second involves hydroformylation of ethylene oxide followed by hydrogenation. The yield of both processes is 40–80%, and high pressures and temperatures are involved. Additionally, toxic side products accumulate in both cases [49].

#### Fermentative Production of 1,3-Propanediol

By biological means it is possible to produce 1,3-PD via fermentation. 1,3-PD is one of the oldest known fermentation products, discovered in 1881 by August Freund in a fermentation utilizing *Clostridium pasteurianum* amongst others [50]. Other microorganisms capable of producing 1,3-PD come from the genera of Citrobacter, Clostridium, Enterobacter, Ilyobacter, Klebsiella, Lactbacillus, and *Pelobacter*. All these organisms have in common that they produce 1,3-PD by a two-step enzyme-catalyzed reaction sequence. In the first step, glycerol is converted to 3-hydroxypropionaldehyde (3-HP) and water by a dehydratase. In the second step, 3-HP is reduced to 1,3PD by the action of an NAD<sup>+</sup>-dependent oxidoreductase. 1.3-PD is not further metabolized and accumulates in the medium. The whole reaction uses a reduction equivalent in the form of the cofactor nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH+ $H^+$ ), which is oxidized to NAD<sup>+</sup> [51]. In the case of Clostridium pasteurianum, butanol is generated as a side product, which is converted from butyryl-CoA via butyraldehyde. Side products such as ethanol, lactic acid, succinic acid, and 2,3-butanediol appear in the metabolism of Enterobacteria [52]. Figure 4 gives an overview of the metabolism of 1,3-PDproducing organisms.

### 4 Current Process Technologies

# 4.1 Palm Oil Processing

As an example for the processing of fruit oils, palm oil processing is briefly described. Ripe fruit bunches are harvested and transported as quickly as possible to the oil mill, which is mostly situated in the heart of the oil palm plantation. The first processing step is sterilization of the fresh fruit bunches (FFB) to inactivate the enzymes and to decompose the material. Sterilization is carried out with direct steam (3 bar, 130 °C, 2 h). After that, the single fruits are stripped from the bunch stalks. The fruits are digested and pressed to separate the kernels. The crude palm oil (CPO) is separated and purified from the residual pulp by different steps of sieving and separation. Finally it is vacuum dried. The palm kernel oil (PKO) is obtained from the kernels by mechanical pressing. From 100 tons of FFB about 20 tons of CPO and 6 tons of PKO can be produced. The empty bunches, kernel fibers, and the sludge are used as compost, as burning material, or for irrigation purposes.



Fig. 5 Conventional seed oil production



Fig. 6 Conventional refining process

# 4.2 Oilseed Processing

Oilseeds are processed completely differently from oil fruits. Figure 5 shows the typical process scheme of a seed oil mill. At first the seeds (or kernels) have to be cleaned. Impurities, sand, stones, and pieces of metal have to be removed. Some kinds of oilseeds are dehulled, such as peanuts, cotton seeds, soybeans, and sunflower kernels. Dehulling of rapeseed is only done at Teutoburger oil mill

(Germany). To improve oil extractability, the seeds are milled, flaked, and sometimes structured (e.g., by expanders). Subsequently, a hydrothermal treatment is necessary to adjust optimal temperature and moisture for de-oiling, to inactivate enzymes, and to degrade undesired minor components influencing the feeding quality of the meal negatively. Sometimes the seeds are roasted to influence the sensory properties of the oil. De-oiling itself is done by mechanical and/or solvent extraction. It can be distinguished as one- or two-step mechanical extraction with screw presses, which is done by small- or medium-sized oil mills and combined mechanical and solvent extraction, using oil mills of large capacity (>500,000 tons/ year). Because of their low oil content, soybeans are only solvent extracted. Pre-treatment and the kind of extraction technology determine the oil yield. After mechanical pressing, the residual oil content in the meal is usually not lower than about 7%, whereas it can be reduced to about 1-2% by solvent extraction. Industrial solvent extraction plants use *n*-hexane as solvent.

# 4.3 Refining

More than 90% of all produced crude oil is refined to ensure the highest quality over a long period. Refining removes oil soluble secondary plant substances and both environmental and processing contaminants. Because not only undesired but also valuable components are removed, the refining technology is optimized for each kind of oil. Figure 6 shows the typical refining process which consists of degumming, neutralization, bleaching, and deodorization. Modern refining plants have a capacity of 200–2,000 tons/day and work continuously.

In the degumming step, phospholipids are removed by water, citric or phosphoric acid, or enzymatically, and can be used as lecithin in several food and other applications. Neutralization removes the free fatty acids (ffa) by saponification (chemical refining). The soaps are washed out. By soapstock splitting, ffa can be produced for chemical applications. Because of its environmental advantages, more and more oils are neutralized by physical refining. In this case, ffa are removed by distillation within the deodorization step. Bleaching removes not only colors but also different pro-oxidative substances, non-volatile polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), phosphorus- and nitrogen-containing pesticides, and mycotoxins. Bleaching is an adsorption process using natural or acid activated bleaching clays, silica materials, or activated carbon. The spent adsorbent has to be removed from the oil and is commonly disposed of. Deodorization removes undesired odors and flavors, but also ffa, hydrocarbons, volatile PAH, and chloride-containing pesticides. In the deodorizer the oil is heated to 240 °C (palm oil up to 270 °C) under a vacuum in the pressure range of 1-5 mbar. A certain amount of direct steam is led through the oil, stripping the volatile substances out. These are collected after condensing and sold as deodorizer distillate.

# 4.4 Alternative Technologies

In the literature, a lot of alternatives to the commercial technologies, especially for cell disruption and de-oiling, are described. Enzymatic pre-treatment prior to oil extraction can enhance the oil yield of mechanical pressing, but it is cost intensive, particularly because of the additional drying which is needed because the available enzymes need a certain amount of water to act.

Enzyme-assisted aqueous extraction (EAAE) is an emerging technology for simultaneous oil and protein extraction from oilseeds, and it may offer many advantages compared to conventional extraction [53]. Degumming and refining processing steps can be eliminated and it may allow the removal of some toxins or antinutritional compounds from oilseeds. Enzymatic processes have been tried on various oilseeds to facilitate oil and protein extraction [54–63]. Investigations on enzyme-assisted aqueous extraction of rapeseed has been described in more detail; see Sect. 3.2.

Other means for better cell disruption are the use of microwaves, radio frequencies, or pulsed electric fields. In contrast to some published data, it could not be confirmed that the use of pulsed electric fields has a positive influence on oil (or protein) extraction rate [64].

Supercritical fluids are used as solvent for high value natural products such as high quality vegetable oils. Supercritical fluids, similar to  $CO_2$ , are non-toxic, non-flammable, have good solvent power under mild conditions, and are easy to remove from the product. The biggest disadvantage lies in the high investment costs to install such a plant.

A new crushing alternative is gas-assisted pressing, proposed as HIPLEX<sup>®</sup> by companies such as Crown Iron Works or Harburg-Freudenberger, where  $CO_2$  is led into a conventional screw press. This leads to higher oil yield and better oil and protein quality because of the lower temperature stress in the press [65, 66].

## 4.5 Fat Modification

In their native form, most edible oils have only limited application, particularly in food products. They are therefore often modified, chemically and/or physically to alter their textural properties.

Oil modification is part of the activities of modern oil processing plants. In the industry, three principal modification processes are used. Fractionation separates the fat into a more solid and a more liquid fraction, for example, to produce palm stearate and palm palmitate. Mostly crystallization is used to separate a fat into two fractions. Interesterification imposes a redistribution of the fatty acids of one or more oils and fats. Both chemical and enzymatic interesterification are used industrially. Hydrogenation saturates the double bonds in the fat, leading to a much harder fat. Because partial hydrogenation causes the formation of *trans* fatty acids, which are undesirable for food applications, mostly total hydrogenation and subsequent interesterification with oils is used.

## 5 Extraction and Use of Oilseed Proteins

#### 5.1 Soy Protein

Soybeans contain mainly the globulin-type proteins glycinin and beta-conglycinin, and small amount of albumins. Because of the high amounts of proteins in soybeans and the simple technology, soy protein concentrates and isolates have been produced industrially for a long time.

Soy protein concentrates are processed by removing soluble sugars from soy flakes or flours. There are three common processes. Washing with aqueous alcohol (50–70% alcohol) removes soluble sugars with a small amount of soluble proteins. Most of the proteins are denaturated by aqueous alcohol and remain with the insoluble polysaccharides. The soy globulins are insoluble in water near the isoelectric point of pH 4–5. Therefore, washing with acid can also be used to remove soluble sugars. After that, the remaining material is adjusted to neutrality and spraydried. The last alternative is thermal denaturation of the proteins by hot water leaching. The proteins become insoluble in water and remain within the extracted material.

To manufacture soy protein isolate, soybean flour is added to ionized water. The temperature of the mixture is kept at 55 °C and pH at 8.5–9.5 using NaOH. After 1 h extraction time, the mixture is separated into the solids and the liquids using a centrifuge. The solid residue is re-extracted under the same conditions. The proteins are precipitated by shifting the pH to 4.55 using HCl. The separated solids are neutralized, pasteurized, and spray-dried to produce protein isolate [67].

#### 5.2 Hemp Protein

Hemp seeds consist of about 20–25% proteins. They contain all essential amino acids which are necessary for humans and is moreover rich in branched chained amino acids, for example, particularly L-arginin [68]. Hemp proteins consist mainly of the globulin edestin (about 65%) and a smaller portion of albumins (about 35%). Edestin can be obtained efficiently from defatted hemp meal by alkaline solubilization or acid precipitation. Within hemp protein isolate, edestin usually forms 70–75% of the total protein [69]. The hemp albumin is a high value protein, similar to egg white but of vegetarian origin. It is extremely easy to digest and an important source of antioxidants. Hemp is free of trypsin inhibitors.

Hemp protein is obtained by pounding or milling the hemp fruits or milling the de-oiled meal. By removal of the remaining fruit shell chunks by sieving, gray greenish protein-rich flour can be obtained, which contains about 50% protein. Additionally, Manitoba Harvest Corp. (Canada) offers a hemp protein isolate with 70% protein. These hemp protein products are used as drink additives and for sports nutrition.

# 5.3 Sunflower Protein

Sunflower meal contains about 40% protein, which consists of two major fractions. The globulins (11 S) and the albumins (2 S) represent more than 80% of the storage proteins. The globulin fraction, called helianthinin, has a molecular weight of 300-350 kDa, whereas the albumin is a dimer with a molecular weight of 10-18 kDa [70].

Investigations on the production of protein-rich material from sunflower meal indicate a strong influence of salt concentration on extractability. Additionally, phenolic compounds (e.g., chlorogenic acid) which react with the proteins cause a decrease of extractability and alter the functionality and the optical properties (undesired color change) of the proteins [71–73].

Isolated sunflower protein has great potential regarding its emulsifying capacity. Despite its limited solubility, it shows good foaming, film-forming, and gel-forming properties, depending on the respective application [70, 74]. De-hulled sunflower kernels contain about 50% protein after de-oiling. Sunflower protein products with higher protein content are currently unavailable on the market.

# 5.4 Flax Protein

The protein content of flaxseed varies from 20% to 30%, constituting approximately 80% 11-12 S, defined on the basis of their sedimentation coefficient and globulins (linin and conlinin) and 20% 1,6–2 S albumins (glutelin) [75, 76]. Flaxseed globulin has an overall molecular mass of ~320 kDa, an isoelectric point of ~4.75 [77], and is comprised of at least five subunits having molecular masses of 11-61 kDa, held together by disulfide linkages [78]. In contrast, flaxseed albumin is a basic protein containing a single polypeptide chain with a molecular mass of 16–18 kDa [76, 79]. Flaxseed has an amino acid profile comparable to that of soybean and contains no gluten. Flax protein is not considered to be a complete protein because of the presence of limiting amino acid lysine [79]. However, it also contains peptides with bioactivities related to the decrease in risk factors of cardiovascular disease [80]. Whole flaxseed, flaxseed meals, and isolated proteins are rich sources of glutamic acid/glutamine, arginine [78], branched-chain amino acids (valine and leucine), and aromatic amino acids (tyrosine and phenylalanine). The total nitrogen content in flaxseed is 3.25 g/100 g of seed [81]. The results of studies showed that flaxseed proteins have an inhibitory activity on bacteria, especially against Entrococcus foecalis, Salmonella typhimurium, and Escherichia coli [82]. Flaxseed contains a considerable amount of mucilage in its seed coat which interferes with the process of protein extraction from flaxseed.

After de-mucilaging and de-oiling, flaxseed powder can be extracted in water when stirring, with the pH value adjusted to 8.5 with 0.1 M sodium hydroxide [83]. Press cake of flaxseed with a protein content up to 50% is used as an additive

for baked goods and cakes in the eastern parts of Europe. Protein products with higher protein contents are not actually being manufactured industrially.

# 5.5 Jatropha curcas Protein

The proteins in the Jatropha seed are concentrated in the kernels (22–28% crude protein). The shell contains 4–6% crude protein [84]. The main storage proteins founded in Jatropha are glutelins, globulins, and albumins, accounting for 56.9%, 27.4%, and 10.8%, respectively, of the total recovered protein from defatted kernel meals of three genotypes of *J. curcas*. Slightly lower (39.8%) glutelin and higher (44.4%) globulin contents in *J. curcas* meal are also reported. Glutelins constituted two gel electrophoresis bands of 33 kDa and 27 kDa. The globulins had six major bands: four between 30 kDa and 70 kDa and two <20 kDa. The albumin fraction consisted of four main components with molecular masses <30 kDa [85].

Jatropha seed proteins have the highest solubility under alkaline conditions (above pH 9) [86]. At acidic pH (2.0–6.0), the protein solubility is low. The minimum solubility was observed at pH 4.0, which is the isoelectric point [87]. Therefore, most extraction procedures described in the literature are based on protein extraction in an alkaline medium (at pH 11 or 12) followed by isoelectric precipitation at pH 4 or 5. The resulting protein extracts have a purity of 70–90% or more [87–89]. The yield of the extracted proteins was around 40% [45]. The protein recovery obtained by [89] was 53%. Saetae et al. [87] reported an extraction yield and isolated protein of 84.6% and 19.9%, respectively. To improve the protein out that the highest protein recovery of 82% was achieved by using 0.055 M NaOH after four-stage countercurrent extraction [86]. Devappa and Swamylingappa [90] reported a protein recovery of about 70–77% with a purity of 95–97% by alkaline extraction (pH 10.5) using steam injection and following precipitation at pH 5.5.

The isolated Jatropha protein fractions have unique functional properties in water-binding capacity, emulsion activity, and emulsion stability [87]. Emulsifying properties of Jatropha protein extracts are comparable to sodium caseinates. Jatropha protein films have a low tensile strength in comparison to soy protein or wheat-gluten but a rather high elongation. The proteins of Jatropha showed higher foam expansion and foam volume stability than sodium caseinate at basic pH. Furthermore, they have better adhesive properties than casein adhesives. The high functional properties of Jatropha proteins signify an enormous potential for various technical or non-food applications. For example, their excellent adhesive and emulsifying properties indicate the potential of Jatropha proteins as emulsifier or paper adhesive [91]. Hamarneh et al. [88] investigated their application in polyketone-based wood adhesives. Jatropha proteins have a better performance as wood adhesive in comparison with soy.

From the nutritional point of view, Jatropha proteins demonstrate high quality. They have a good amino acid composition and a high digestibility (90%). The

levels of essential amino acids, except lysine, are higher than or similar to those of the FAO reference protein or soybean protein. However, the Jatropha meal or protein isolate should be detoxified before they are incorporated into animal diets as Jatropha is non-edible because of the toxic compound phorbol ester. Detoxified Jatropha kernel meal and detoxified protein isolate show a high potential for use in livestock and aquaculture feeds, and in diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhinchus mykiss*), common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) or turkeys, pigs, and broilers [85].

## 5.6 Rapeseed Protein

The protein content in rapeseed varies depending on the variety and conditions of cultivation and climate. Raw protein contents of 19–22% in rapeseeds and 31–36% in rapeseed meals can be obtained. Compared with other protein sources and with the FAO/WHO/UNO-suggested pattern of amino acid requirements for adults, schoolchildren, and pre-school children, rapeseed protein isolates exhibit favorable amino acid composition [92].

Rapeseed contains two major storage proteins: the 2 S albumin napin with a molar weight of 12–17 kDa and the 12 S globulin cruciferin with a molar weight of about 300 kDa. The napin cruciferin ratio depends on the rapeseed variety and is for 00 quality (low in erucic acid, low in glucosinolates) about 1.1–1.3. This is significantly different to soybean, which contains about 90% globulin [92, 93].

Additionally, rapeseed contains different specific secondary plant substances. The best known are the glucosinolates. If a rapeseed cell is damaged, the enzyme system myrosinase immediately begins to decompose the glucosinolates to more or less volatile degradation products. These breakdown products have mostly negative nutritional effects. Mainly isothiocyanates are formed, being very reactive substances which react under mild conditions with some functional groups of the proteins changing their solubility, isoelectric point, and ratio of hydrophilic/hydrophobic properties as well as their molar weight. Polyphenols, particularly *trans* sinapic acid, create a dark color and bitter taste and also react with proteins, in a similar way to glucosinolate breakdown products. Finally, phytic acid forms complexes both with trace metals, which lowers their bioavailability, and with globulins, which change their isoelectric point to low pH values [94]. Therefore these secondary plant substances should be removed or reduced before or during protein extraction to secure high yield and quality of rapeseed proteins.

For a longer period, a lot of work has been done to develop simultaneously aqueous (or aqueous alcoholic or enzymatic-assisted) extraction of oil and protein from specific pre-treated seeds. An overview is given by Natsch [93]. What we know now is that both oil and protein yield are at a maximum of about 80% because of insufficient cell disruption, emulsification, and interaction between the second-ary plant substances and proteins, which is too low to be economic.

In the case of protein extraction, after de-oiling two problems appear. If press cake is used as raw material, the residual oil in it (7% or more) causes emulsion

forming during the following aqueous protein extraction. If hexane-extracted meal is used as raw material its protein dispersibility index (PDI) is very low because of the required desolventizing which is done in conventional DTDC (desolventizer toaster dryer cooler) systems. During this process step, the proteins within the meal are partially damaged, leading to losses of functionality [93, 95, 96]. However, a basic requirement for the material from which the proteins are to be extracted is a high PDI. Commercial rapeseed meal often has PDIs lower than 30%. Such meal is unsuitable for subsequent protein extraction because only low yields can be achieved. Therefore, a new gentle meal desolventizing process based on fluidized bed technology was developed [97]. The use of that process leads to meals which possess PDIs of 70% and higher.

Since the 1970s, a lot of different technologies to recover rapeseed protein concentrates and isolates have been described and several processes have been patented. A good overview is given by Wanasundara [98]. In 2013 the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) confirmed the safety of the rapeseed protein isolate Isolexx<sup>TM</sup> (Co. BioExx) for food purposes [99] and since July 2014 it is authorized as a novel food ingredient by the EU.

Based on their manifold functionalities, rapeseed proteins can be used in both nutritional and technical applications, for example, Schweizer et al. [100] describe the use of rapeseed protein isolates for human nutrition, Slawski [101] and Adem et al. [102] the use of rapeseed protein concentrates in fish feeding, and Palomino et al. [103] their use in paperboard coating.

Pure napin with a purity of >98% and pure cruciferin with a purity of >95% can be produced with a new process consisting of gentle oilseed processing, aqueous protein extraction, precipitation of cruciferin, and EBA (expanded bed adsorption) IEX (ion exchange) chromatography for isolation of pure napin. Protein separation is reproducible and can be scaled up [104]. The resulting protein products possess interesting functional properties, enabling a wide range of possible uses in both food and non-food applications (cosmetics, biochemistry, pharmaceutical). In particular, napin is comparable or even better than egg albumin and could therefore replace animal albumins, for example, in vegan foods.

## 6 Extraction and Use of Oilseed/Oil Fruits Phyto-Nutrients

### 6.1 Rice Phyto-Nutrients

Unpolished rice is rich in phytic acid,  $8.9 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g [105]. Additionally, rice contains phenolic acids and flavonoids, occurring especially within the outer aleuron layers. Of the phenolic acids, 62% exist in bounded form as ferulic acid. Specific for rice is  $\gamma$ -oryzanol, a mixture of phytosterols esterified with ferulic acids [106]. The main components of  $\gamma$ -oryzanol are cycloartenylferulate, 24-methylencycloartanylferulate, and campesterylferulate. Crude rice oil contains

 $1-2\% \gamma$ -oryzanol [107]. It is described as constitutional, it has antioxidative properties, and has positive impact on cholesterol levels and cardiovascular systems.

Oryzanol extracts are sold as capsules [106]. It is isolated from the physical refined oil or from the soapstock of chemical refining. It can also be extracted by organic solvents or supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> directly from rice meal [108], but that technology is very expensive [107, 109]. To recover it from rice oil,  $\gamma$ -oryzanol is hydrolyzed by hydrochloric acid or precipitated using methanol, acetone, or isopropanol. Purification is carried out by treatment with ketones and/or alcohols followed by crystallizing the pure oryzanol [107].

# 6.2 Sunflower Phyto-Nutrients

Next to the presence of healthy unsaturated fats, proteins, and fiber, sunflower seeds contain about 3.3% minerals and about 1% secondary plant ingredients. Vitamin E (e.g., tocopherols) content is interesting, even if it is not high. Although  $\gamma$ -tocopherol is the actually plant-protecting tocopherol, sunflower tocopherols contain more than 90% of the  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, which shows a high potential for use in cosmetics because of its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effect. It is situated in the oil and could be obtained during the refining of the oil. Sunflower oil also contains a small amount of lecithin, carotenoids (mainly all-E-lutein), and phytosterols. The lecithin can be separated during degumming and is an interesting GMO-free alternative to soybean lecithin. In sunflower,  $6 \times 10^{-4}$  g/g  $\beta$ -sitosterol,  $8 \times 10^{-5}$  g/g stigmasterol, and  $9 \times 10^{-5}$  g/g campesterol are contained, but the concentration and sterol composition is strictly dependent on the genotype and environmental conditions. A higher temperature during seed formation induces a general increase in total sterol concentration by up to 35%. However, sunflower can contain up to 0.15% cholesterol, which is different to other plants [107]. Sunflower also contains small amounts of pectin (low-methoxyl sunflower head pectin), for example, for edible coatings [108], lignin (73  $\times$  10<sup>-3</sup> g/g press cake) and monoterpene glycosides. Some of these monoterpene glycosides show cell-protective effects and could be used in medicine [109]. In the hulls of the kernels, up to 80% of the sunflower wax is concentrated. It consists of fatty esters, free fatty alcohols, and free fatty acids, and has been recognized as an excellent organogelator for edible oil [110, 111].

Several phenolic compounds, especially caffeic, chlorogenic, and ferulic acids, can be found in sunflower. Dry matter of sunflower meal show a total phenolic content of  $42 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g. Phenolic compounds, such as caffeic acid derivatives, show a high antioxidant potential, which could be used in food, pharma, and cosmetics [112].

Dicaffeoylquinic acids (DCQAs) are one of the few known substances, barring a specific enzyme (viral integrase), which is needed for the reproduction of, for example, the human immuno-deficiency virus. In contrast to other integrase blockers, DCQAs show very few side effects. Sunflower seed contains DCQAs in

higher amounts than other plants and it can be extracted from the press cake or the meal. The extraction is strongly influenced by the choice of solvent and temperature [113].

# 6.3 Jatropha curcas Phyto-Nutrients

Many secondary metabolites identified and/or isolated from various parts of the plant body of Jatropha species have so far been reported, including terpenes, phytosterols, enzymes, alkaloids, and flavonoids. The latex of Jatrophacontains alkaloids including jatrophine and jatropham with anti-cancerous properties. Curcain (a proteolytic enzyme), isolated from latex, has wound healing properties. The leaves contain flavonoids such as apigenin, vitexin, and isovitexin, which contribute to the use of leaves against malaria and rheumatic and muscular pains [114]. Sterols and triterpenes are also found in the leaves of *Jatropha curcas*. In the stem bark extract of *Jatropha curcas*, many phytochemicals have been detected such as saponins, tannins, steroids, glycosides, alkaloids, and flavonoids of a phenolic nature [115].

The seeds contain many phytochemicals with different biological activities. Saponins (triterpene plant glycosides) in the seed of Jatropha possess physiological activities. Polyphenolic substances reported in *Jatropha curcas*, such as flavanols, cinnamic acid, coumarins, and caffeic acid, can scavenge free radicals and inhibit peroxidation. The use of phenolic compounds of *Jatropha curcas* as natural anti-oxidants for the protection of oils and corresponding biodiesel in order to prevent their oxidative deterioration is discussed in the literature [115].

The tetracyclic diterpenes, phorbol esters (PEs), found in Jatropha seeds, are the most toxic secondary plant constituents in Jatropha. The PEs are located mainly in the kernel portion of the seed and their concentration in J. curcas varies with different genotypes, ranging from 0.8 to  $3.3 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g kernel. As phorbol esters are lipophilic, during oil extraction the majority of PEs (~70%) present in the seed is extracted with the oil fraction, having a concentration in the oil of  $2-8 \times 10^{-3}$  g/ g. Therefore, most phorbol ester extraction procedures described in the literature are based on solvent extraction with methanol, ethyl acetate, etc., from the oil [115, 116]. Idakiev et al. [117] reported an extraction process including a step in which Jatropha crude oil is mixed with methanol to extract the phorbol esters, and a purification step in which the obtained fraction is subjected to a methanol extraction. Using this method, a very high concentration of phorbol esters in the produced extract can be achieved (up to  $270 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g) which is 38 times higher than that of crude oil used in this study. Moreover, it must be pointed out that these results are based on pilot-scale trials. The PE-rich extracts exhibited high biological activity – fungicidal, molluscicidal, insecticidal, etc. – suggesting the potential for use as biopesticides [118].

Most secondary compounds reported here are related to the therapeutic and medicinal or insecticidal properties of *Jatropha curcas*. However, to use them in

therapeutic or agricultural applications as well as to bring them to a marketable stage, further research effort is needed.

# 6.4 Rapeseed Phyto-Nutrients

Rapeseed contains comparable high amounts of phenolic compounds in free, esterified, or insoluble bound form, mainly derivatives of sinapic acid. During oil extraction most of the phenolic compounds remain in the press cake or meal, but Koski et al. [119] and Wakamatsu et al. [120] showed that in crude rapeseed oil the decarboxylation product of sinapic acid, 2,6-dimethoxy-4-vinylphenol (4-vinylsyringol or canolol) can be found when initiated by heat treatment. In contrast to the hardly oil-soluble sinapic acid, canolol is soluble in oil. For canolol a high antioxidant activity is described in the literature [121, 122], making it promising to isolate this compounds for use in pharmaceuticals or food.

Pudel et al. [123] developed a two-step method to isolate canolol-enriched extract from rapeseed meal or cake, involving heat treatment of the material at 165 °C in a fluidized bed followed by extraction with supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>. The advantage of this approach is that the conventional oil mill process keeps the material untouched for the isolation of the canolol-enriched extract. The fluidized bed treatment allows a very high and consistent heat and mass transfer to the meal or cake, which results in a temperature load for the material as low as possible. The optimal temperature for the treatment was found to be 165 °C and, after reaching this temperature, the fluidized bed treatment has to be interrupted immediately by cooling down the roasted material. Longer heating reduced the canolol content of the extract. The fluidized bed treatment achieves about  $500 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g canolol in rapeseed meal, whereas in cake more than  $700 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g were reached. On the other hand, the use of meal for the fluidized bed treatment has the advantage of less oil finally extracted by supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>, leading to higher canolol contents in the oily extract. The canolol concentration in the canolol-enriched extract was about 3%, and the extract additionally contained 68% triacylglycerols, 11% diacylglycerols, 10% free fatty acids, 2.5% phytosterols, and about 5% other components. It was found that canolol-enriched extracts obtained from smaller heat treated particles (<0.8 mm) showed a higher content of canolol because of an averaged shorter residence time within the fluidized bed reactor and the improved heat and mass transfer because of faster drying [123]. It was not possible to increase the canolol formation and yield of the extract by use of additional heat exchangers immersed in the fluidized bed or by using superheated steam as the fluidization medium, although these treatments improved the effectiveness of the process.

In a frying experiment over a period of 30 h, oil fortified with canolol-enriched extract (200, 500, or  $750 \times 10^{-6}$  g/g) showed a two- to threefold better frying stability in comparison to oils fortified with commonly used antioxidants such as TBHQ ( $200 \times 10^{-6}$  g/g) or rosemary extract (40 or  $200 \times 10^{-6}$  g/g) [124].

Thiel et al. [125] developed a technology for the separation of rapeseed protein, phytic acid, and sinapic acid from rapeseed meal in one process, involving the aqueous extraction of the proteins combined with enzymatic or chemical hydrolysis of sinapine and subsequent adsorption of the formed sinapic acid at zeolites as well as binding of phytic acid at an ion exchanger.

### 6.5 Palm Phyto-Nutrients

Crude palm oil contains 1% minor components. Although small in amount compared to the major lipid components, these minor components impart major health benefits to the oil. These phytonutrients include carotenes  $(500-700 \times 10^{-6} \text{ g/g})$ , tocopherols and tocotrienols  $(600-1,000 \times 10^{-6} \text{ g/g})$ , squalene  $(200-500 \times 10^{-6} \text{ g/g})$ , sterols  $(326-527 \times 10^{-6} \text{ g/g})$ , phospholipids  $(5-130 \times 10^{-6} \text{ g/g})$ , coenzyme Q10  $(10-80 \times 10^{-6} \text{ g/g})$ , and more [126].

### 6.6 Flax Phyto-Nutrients

In flaxseed the following phyto-nutrients can be found: polyphenols, phytosterols, phytic acid, resveratrol, and lignans. The high concentration of lignans is one of the most important characteristics of flaxseed;  $3.5-6 \times 10^{-3}$  g/g can be found [127]. The most remarkable one is secoisolariciresinol (SDG), although isolariciresinol, pinoresinol, matairesinol, and other derivatives of ferulic acid are also present. Lignan consumption reduces cardiovascular risk and inhibits the development of some types of diabetes. Health benefits of flax lignans reside in their antioxidant capacity and as an estrogenic compound because of their structural similarity to 17- $\beta$ -estradiol [83]. The lignans are located in the hulls from which they can be extracted by polar solvents, requiring a previous separation of the hulls [128–130, 132–134]. There are lignan extracts of different companies as dietary supplements on the market.

#### 7 Residues Processing: Use of Fibrous By-Products

Essential to make a vegetable oil-biorefinery economic is how the residual fiberrich material after extraction of oils, proteins, and secondary plant substances is used. In most cases it is not suitable as an animal feeding material. Besides its use as an energy source, there are different possibilities described in the literature, such as various biotechnology applications [131, 135], the production of lactic acid by fermentation of rapeseed residues [136], and the production of levulinic acid and its use in thermosetting plastics [137]. Additionally, the extraction of high molecular lignin is discussed.

# References

- 1. OVID (2015) http://www.ovid-verband.de/unsere-branche/daten-und-grafiken/pflanzenoel/
- Herseczki J, Kazmi A, Luque R, Luna D (2012) Secondary processing of plant oils. In: Kazmi A (ed) Advanced oil crop biorefineries, RSC Green Chemistry No. 14, Cambridge, pp 166–202
- 3. Ugolini L, De Nicola G, Palmieri S (2008) Use of reverse micelles for the simultaneous extraction of oil, proteins, and glucosinolates from cruciferous oilseeds. J Agric Food Chem 56:1595–1601
- Jensen SK, Olsen HS, Sørensen H (1990) Aqueous enzymatic processing of rapeseed for production of high quality products. In: Shahidi F (ed) Canola and rapeseed-production, chemistry, nutrition and processing technology. Van Nostran Reinhold, New York, pp. 331–343
- 5. Bagger C, Bellostas N, Jensen SK, Sørensen H, Sørensen JC, Sørensen S (2007) Processing bioprocessing of oilseed rape in bioenergy production and value-added utilization of remaining seed components. In: Tingdon FU, Chunyun G (eds) Proceedings of the 12th International Rapeseed Congress, vol. 5. Science Press USA Inc., Wuhan, China
- Anon. (1998) Aqueous enzymatic extraction of oil from rapeseeds. Manufacture of food products and beverages. Environmental Management Centre, International Cleaner Production Information Clearinghouse, Denmark, 1991–1994
- Bagger CL, Sørensen H, Sørensen JC, Sørensen S (2003) Biorefining, the soft processing alternative. In: Proceedings of the 11th GCIRC International Rapeseed Congress, Copenhagen, Denmark, p 650
- Bellostas N, Sørensen JC, Sørensen H (2007) Biofumigation: from the "classical" approach to the use of biorefined glucosinolates as natural plant protection agents. GCIRC Bulletin n°2
- 9. OVID (2012) http://www.ovid-verband.de/fileadmin/downloads/OVID\_Positionspapier\_ Proteinstrategie\_120514.pdf
- Da Silva GP, Mack M, Contiero J (2009) Glycerol: a promising and abundant carbon source for industrial microbiology. Biotechnol Adv 27(1):30–39
- 11. Nanda M, Yuan Z, Qin W, Poirier M, Chunbao X (2014) Purification of crude glycerol using acidification: effects of acid types and product characterization. Austin J Chem Eng 1:1–7
- Mothes G, Schnorpfeil C, Ackermann J-U (2007) Production of PHB from crude glycerol. Eng Life Sci 7:475–479
- 13. Chatzifragkou A, Papanikolaou S (2012) Effect of impurities in biodiesel-derived waste glycerol on the performance and feasibility of biotechnological processes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 95(1):13–27
- 14. Kerr B, Shurson G (2011) Biodiesel- quality, emissions and by-products. InTech
- Garlapati VK, Shankar U, Budhiraja A (2016) Bioconversion technologies of crude glycerol to value added industrial products. Biotechnol Rep 9:9–14
- Ayoub M, Abdullah AZ (2012) Critical review on the current scenario and significance of crude glycerol resulting from biodiesel industry towards more sustainable renewable energy industry. Renew Sust Energ Rev 16(5):2671–2686
- Johnson DT, Taconi KA (2007) The glycerin glut: options for the value-added conversion of crude glycerol resulting from biodiesel production. Environ Prog 26(4):338–348
- Yazdani SS, Gonzalez R (2007) Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol: a path to economic viability for the biofuels industry. Curr Opin Biotechnol 18(3):213–219

- 19. Clomburg JM, Gonzalez R (2013) Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol: a platform for renewable fuels and chemicals. Trends Biotechnol 31(1):20–28
- 20. Koutinas AA, Wang R-H, Webb C (2007) The biochemurgist –bioconversion of agricultural raw materials for chemical production. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 1(1):24–38
- 21. Kachrimanidou V, Kopsahelis N, Chatzifragkou A, Papanikolaou S, Yanniotis S, Kookos I, Koutinas AA (2013) Utilisation of by-products from sunflower-based biodiesel production processes for the production of fermentation feedstock. Waste Biomass Valorization 4 (3):529–537
- 22. Mattam AJ, Clomburg JM, Gonzalez R, Yazdani SS (2013) Fermentation of glycerol and production of valuable chemical and biofuel molecules. Biotechnol Lett 35(6):831–842
- Yang F, Hanna MA, Sun R (2012) Value-added uses for crude glycerol--a byproduct of biodiesel production. Biotechnol Biofuels 5:13
- 24. Jensen TØ, Kvist T, Mikkelsen MJ, Christensen PV, Westermann P (2012) Fermentation of crude glycerol from biodiesel production by Clostridium pasteurianum. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 39(5):709–717
- Wilkens E, Ringel AK, Hortig D, Wilke T, Vorlop K-D (2012) High-level production of 1,3-propanediol from crude glycerol by Clostridium butyricum AKR102a. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93(3):1057–1063
- 26. Wiesen S, Tippkötter N, Muffler K, Suck K, Sohling U, Ruf N, Ulber R (2014) Adsorptive Vorbehandlung von Rohglycerin für die 1,3-Propandiol Fermentation mit Clostridium diolis. Chemie Ing Tech 86(1–2):129–135
- Yazdani SS, Gonzalez R (2008) Engineering *Escherichia coli* for the efficient conversion of glycerol to ethanol and co-products. Metab Eng 10(6):340–351
- Hong A-A, Cheng K-K, Peng F, Zhou S, Sun Y, Liu C-M, Liu D-H (2009) Strain isolation and optimization of process parameters for bioconversion of glycerol to lactic acid. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 84(10):1576–1581
- Zhang X, Shanmugam KT, Ingram LO (2010) Fermentation of glycerol to succinate by metabolically engineered strains of *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 76 (8):2397–2401
- 30. Metsoviti M, Zeng A-P, Koutinas AA, Papanikolaou S (2013) Enhanced 1,3-propanediol production by a newly isolated Citrobacter freundii strain cultivated on biodiesel-derived waste glycerol through sterile and non-sterile bioprocesses. J Biotechnol 163(4):408–418
- Maru BT, Constanti M, Stchigel AM, Medina F, Sueiras JE (2013) Biohydrogen production by dark fermentation of glycerol using Enterobacter and Citrobacter Sp. Biotechnol Prog 29 (1):31–38
- Zheng X, Jin K, Zhang L, Wang G, Liu Y (2015) Effects of oxygen transfer coefficient on dihydroxyacetone production from crude glycerol. Braz J Microbiol 7:129–135
- 33. Oh B-R, Seo J-W, Heo S-Y, Hong W-K, Luo LH, Kim S, Kwon O, Sohn J-H, Joe M, Park D-H, Kim CH (2012) Enhancement of ethanol production from glycerol in a *Klebsiella pneumoniae* mutant strain by the inactivation of lactate dehydrogenase. Process Biochem 47 (1):156–159
- 34. Zhao Y-N, Chen G, Yao S-J (2006) Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol from glycerol by encapsulated *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Biochem Eng J 32(2):93–99
- 35. Kośmider A, Drozdzyńska A, Blaszka K, Leja K, Czaczyk K (2010) Propionic acid production by Propionibacterium freudenreichii ssp. shermanii using crude glycerol and whey lactose industrial wastes. Pol J Environ Stud 19(6):1249–1253
- 36. André A, Diamantopoulou P, Philippoussis A, Sarris D, Komaitis M, Papanikolaou S (2010) Biotechnological conversions of bio-diesel derived waste glycerol into added-value compounds by higher fungi: production of biomass, single cell oil and oxalic acid. Ind Crop Prod 31(2):407–416
- Rywińska A, Juszczyk P, Wojtatowicz M, Rymowicz W (2011) Chemostat study of citric acid production from glycerol by Yarrowia lipolytica. J Biotechnol 152(1–2):54–57

- Liu X, Jensen PR, Workman M (2012) Bioconversion of crude glycerol feedstocks into ethanol by Pachysolen tannophilus. Bioresour Technol 104:579–586
- 39. Abad S, Turon X (2015) Biotechnological production of docosahexaenoic acid using Aurantiochytrium limacinum: carbon sources comparison and growth characterization. Mar Drugs 13(12):7275–7284
- 40. Rivaldi JD, Sarrouh BF, da Silva SS (2009) Current research topics in applied microbiology and microbial biotechnology. In: Mendez-Vilas A (ed) Development of biotechnological processes using glycerol from biodiesel production. Proceedings of the II international conference on environmental, industrial and applied microbiology. World Scientific, Singapore, pp. 429–433
- Petitdemange E, Dürr C, Abbad-Andaloussi S, Raval G (1995) Fermentation of raw glycerol to 1, 3-propanediol by new strains of Clostridium butyricum. J Ind Microbiol 15(6):498–502
- 42. González-Pajuelo M, Andrade JC, Vasconcelos I (2004) Production of 1,3-propanediol by Clostridium butyricum VPI 3266 using a synthetic medium and raw glycerol. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 31(9):442–446
- Samul D, Leja K, Grajek W (2014) Impurities of crude glycerol and their effect on metabolite production. Ann Microbiol 64(3):891–898
- Biebl H, Menzel K, Zeng AP, Deckwer WD (1999) Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52(3):289–297
- 45. Saxena RK, Anand P, Saran S, Isar J (2009) Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol: recent developments and emerging opportunities. Biotechnol Adv 27(6):895–913
- 46. Kurian JV (2005) A new polymer platform for the future Sorona® from corn derived 1,3-propanediol. J Polym Environ 13(2):159–167
- 47. Zeng A, Biebl H (2002) Bulk chemicals from biotechnology: the case of 1, 3-propanediol production and the new trends. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 74:239–259
- 48. Lee CS, Aroua MK, Daud WMAW, Cognet P, Pérès-Lucchese Y, Fabre P-L, Reynes O, Latapie L (2015) A review: conversion of bioglycerol into 1,3-propanediol via biological and chemical method. Renew Sust Energ Rev 42:963–972
- 49. Kraus GA (2008) Synthetic methods for the preparation of 1,3-propanediol. Clean 36 (8):648-651
- Freund A (1881) Über die Bildung und Darstellung von Trimethylenalkohol aus Glycerin. Monatsh Chem 2(1):636–641
- Laffend LA, Nagarajan V, Nakamura CE (1997) Bioconversion of a fermentable carbon source to 1,3-propanediol by a single microorganism.US-Patent US 5686276 A:2151–2156
- 52. Kaur G, Srivastava AK, Chand S (2012) Advances in biotechnological production of 1,3-propanediol. Biochem Eng J 64:106–118
- Rosenthal A, Pyle DL, Niranjan K (1996) Aqueous and enzymatic processes for edible oil extraction. Enzym Microb Technol 19(6):402–420
- Cintra MO, Lopez-Munguia A, Vernon J (1986) Coconut oil extraction by a new enzymatic process. J Food Sci 51(3):695–697
- 55. Sosulski K, Sosulsky FW, Coxworth E (1988) Carbohydrate hydrolysis of canola to enhance oil extraction with hexane. J Am Oil Chem Soc 65(3):357–361
- 56. Frevert J, Frische R, Hart J, Wittkind J (1990) Enzymatic solventless recovery of oils from plant materials. Ger. Offen. DE 3843027
- Ho CC, Chow MC, Ong SH (1992) Recovery of residual oil from centrifuge sludge palm oil mill: effect of enzyme digestion and surfactant treatment. J Am Oil Chem Soc 69(3):276–282
- 58. Ohlson R (1992) Modern processing of rapeseed. J Am Oil Chem Soc 69(3):195-198
- Sosulski K, Sosulski FW (1993) Enzyme-aided vs. two-stage processing of canola: technology, product quality and cost evaluation. J Am Oil Chem Soc 70(9):825–829
- 60. Latif S, Diosady L, Anwar F (2008) Enzyme-assisted aqueous extraction of oil and protein from canola (*Brassica napus* L.) seeds. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 110(10):887–892
- Latif S, Anwar F (2009) Effect of aqueous enzymatic process on sunflower oil quality. J Am Oil Chem Soc 86(4):393–400

- 62. Latif S, Anwar F (2011) Aqueous enzymatic sesame oil and protein extraction. Food Chem 125(2):679–684
- 63. Latif S, Karaj S, Müller (2013) Quality evaluation of Jatropha seed kernel oil obtained by aqueous enzymatic, mechanical and solvent extraction: Euro Fed Lipid Congress, Book of abstracts, p 347
- 64. Heckelmann A, Kraus J-P (2010) Entwicklung eines Hochspannungsimpuls-unterstützten Verfahrens zur Verdrängungsextraktion von Ölen und funktionellen Proteinen aus Ölsaaten am Beispiel von Raps. Schlussbericht zum Forschungsvorhaben AiF 15241 BG
- Nazareth ZM, Nicolas AD, Lawrence AJ (2009) Functional properties of soy protein isolates prepared from gas-supported screw-pressed soybean meal. J Am Oil Chem Soc 86:315–321
- 66. Müller M, Eggers R (2014) Gas-assisted oilseed pressing on an industrial scale. J Am Oil Chem Soc 91(9):1633–1641
- 67. TAMU (2015) http://foodprotein.tamu.edu/separations/protein.php
- Callaway JC (2004) Hempseed as a nutritional resource: an overview. Euphytica 140 (1):65–72
- 69. House JD, Neufeld J, Leson G (2010) Evaluating the quality of protein from hemp seed (*Cannabis sativa* L.) products through the use of the protein digestibility – corrected amino acid score method. J Agric Food Chem 58(22):11801–11807
- Gonzales-Perez S, Vereijken J (2007) Sunflower proteins: overview of their physicochemical, structural and functional properties. J Sci Food Agric 87(12):2173–2191
- Pickard C, Neidhart S, Griesbach C (2009) Optimisation of mild acid protein extraction from defatted sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) meal. Food Hydrocoll 23(7):1966–1973
- 72. Pickard C, Eisner P, Kammerer D (2015) Pilot plant preparation of light-coloured protein isolates from de-oiled sunflower (Helianthus annus L.) press cake by mild acidic protein extraction and polyphenol adsorption. Food Hydrocoll 44:208–219
- Salgado P, Drago S, Molina Ortiz A (2012) Production and characterization of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) protein-enriched products obtained at pilot plant scale. Food Sci Technol 45(1):65–72
- 74. Salgado P, Molina-Ortiz S, Petruccelli S (2010) Biodegradable sunflower protein films naturally activated with antioxidant compounds. Food Hydrocoll 24(5):525–533
- 75. Hall C, Tulbek MC, Xu Y (2006) Flaxseed. Adv Food Nutr Res 51:1-97
- Vassel B, Nesbitt LL (1945) The nitrogenous constituents of flaxseed. II. The isolation of a purified protein fraction. J Biol Chem 159:571–584
- 77. Wanasundara JPD, Shahidi F (2003) Flaxseed proteins: potential food applications and process-induced changes. In: Thompson LU, Cunnane SC (eds) Flaxseed in human nutrition, 2nd edn. AOCS Press, Champaign, pp. 387–403
- Oomah BD (2003) Processing of flaxseed fiber, oil, protein, and lignan. In: Thompson LU, Cunnane SC (eds) Flaxseed in human nutrition, 2nd edn. AOCS Press, Champaign, pp. 363–386
- 79. Chung MWY, Lei B, Li-Chan ECY (2005) Isolation and structural characterization of the major protein fraction from NorMan flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L.). Food Chem 90 (1–2):271–279
- Udenigwe CC, Aluko RE (2010) Antioxidant and angiotensin converting enzyme-inhibitory properties of a flaxseed protein-derived high fischer ratio peptide mixture. J Agric Food Chem 58(8):4762–4768
- Gopalan C, Ramasastri BV, Subramanian SC (2007) Nutritive value of Indian food. National Inst. Nutrition (ICMR) Press, Hyderabad
- 82. Tehrani MHH, Batal R, Kamalinejad M, Mahbubi A (2014) Extraction and purification of flaxseed proteins and studying their antibacterial activities. J Plant Sci 2(1):70–76
- Rubilar M, Gutierrez C, Verdugo C, Shene C, Sineiro J (2010) Flaxseed as a source of functional ingredients. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 10(3):373–377

- Makkar HPS, Aderibigbe AO, Becker K (1998) Comparative evaluation of nontoxic and toxic varieties of *Jatropha curcas* for chemical composition, digestibility, protein degradability and toxic factors. Food Chem 62(2):207–215
- 85. Devappa RK, Makkar HPS, Becker K (2010) Nutritional, biochemical, and pharmaceutical potential of proteins and peptides from Jatropha: review. J Agric Food Chem 58 (11):6543–6555
- Lestari D, Mulder W, Sanders J (2010) Improving *Jatropha curcas* seed protein recovery by using counter current multistage extraction. Biochem Eng J 50(1–2):16–23
- Saetae D, Kleekayai T, Jayasena V, Suntornsuk W (2011) Functional properties of protein isolate obtained from Physic nut (*Jatropha curcas* L.) seed cake. Food Sci Biotechnol 20 (1):29–37
- Hamarneh AI, Heeres HJ, Broekhuis AA, Picchioni F (2010) Extraction of *Jatropha curcas* proteins and application in polyketone-based wood adhesives. Int J Adhes Adhes 30 (7):615–625
- Makkar HPS, Francis G, Becker K (2008) Protein concentrate from *Jatropha curcas* screwpressed seed cake and toxic and antinutritional factors in protein concentrate. J Sci Food Agric 88(9):1542–1548
- 90. Devappa RK, Swamylingappa B (2008) Biochemical and nutritional evaluation of Jatropha protein isolate prepared by steam injection heating for reduction of toxic and antinutritional factors. J Sci Food Agric 88(5):911–919
- Lestari D, Mulder WJ, Sanders JPM (2011) Jatropha seed protein functional properties for technical applications. Biochem Eng J 53(3):297–304
- 92. Schwenke KD (1994) Rapeseed proteins. New and developing sources of food proteins. In: Hudson BJF (ed) Chapman & Hall, London
- 93. Natsch A (2006) Untersuchung der Herstellbarkeit von Rapsproteinprodukten auf der Grundlage verschiedener Entölungsverfahren. Dissertation, TU Berlin, Berlin
- 94. Kroll J, Krause J-P, Rawel HM (2007) Native sekundäre Inhaltsstoffe in Rapssamen -Eigenschaften und Wechselwirkungen mit Proteinen. Deutsche Lebensmitel-Rundschau 103(4):149–153
- 95. Becker KW (1983) Current trends in meal desolventizing. JAOCS 60(2):216-219
- 96. Krause J-P, Kroll J, Rawel HM (2007) Verarbeitung von Rapssaat–Eigenschaften und Gewinnung von Proteinen. UFOP-Schriften Heft 32. Rapsprotein in der Humanernährung
- Leidt K-H, Mörl L, Pudel F, Weigel K, Zettl R (2009) Fluidized bed desolventizer for gentle rapeseed meal processing. Inform 20(11):731
- Wanasundara JPD (2014) Proteins of Brassicaceae oilseeds and their potential as a plant protein source. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 51(7):635–677
- 99. EFSA (2013) Scientific opinion on the safety of rapeseed protein isolate as a Novel Food ingredient. EFSA J 11(10):3420
- 100. Schweizer M, Segall K, Medina S, Willardsen R, Tergesen J (2007) Rapeseed/Canola protein isolates for the use in the food industry. In: 12th International Rape Seed Congress, 25–30 March 2007, Wuhan, China
- 101. Slawski H (2011) Rapeseed protein products as fish meal replacement in fish nutrition. Dissertation, Christian-Albrechts-Universitat zu Kiel
- 102. Adem HN, Tressel R-P, Pudel F, Slawski H, Schulz C (2014) Rapeseed use in aquaculture. OCL 21(1):D105
- Palomino J, Metz R, Schulz J, Tressel R-P, Pudel F (2014) Rapeseed proteins for paperboard coating. Chem Ing Tech 86(8):1249–1259
- 104. Pudel F, Tressel R-P, Düring K (2015) Production and properties of rapeseed albumin. Lipid Technol 27(5):1–3
- 105. Schek A (2002) Sekundäre Pflanzenstoffe. Sporternährung 5:44-52
- 106. Walter B (2007) Einfluss des Reiskonsums auf die Gesundheit. ETH Zürich, Departement für Agrar- und Lebensmittelwissenschaften, p 14, 27

- 107. Patel M, Naik SN (2004) Gamma-oryzanol from rice bran oil a review. J Sci Ind Res 63:569–578
- 108. Indira TN et al. (2004) Process for the production of oryzanol enriched fraction from rice bran oil soapstock. US-Patent US 2004/0192948 A1
- 109. Ramis-Ramos G et al. (2009) Composition, industrial processing and applications of rice bran  $\gamma$ -oryzanol. Food Chem 115(2):389–404
- 110. Roche J, Alignan M, Bouniols A, Cerny M, Mouloungui Z, Vear F, Merah O (2010) Sterol content in sunflower seeds (*Helianthus annuus* L.) as affected by genotypes and environmental conditions. Food Chem 121(4):990–995
- 111. Xiao H, Kun W, Ruijin Y (2015) Edible coatings from sunflower head pectin to reduce lipid uptake in fried potato chips. LWT Food Sci Technol 62(2):1220–1225
- 112. Fei Y, Zhao J, Liu Y, Li X, Xu Q, Wang T, Khan IA, Yang S (2015) New monoterpene glycosides from sunflower seeds and their protective effects against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced myocardial cell injury. Food Chem 187:385–390
- 113. Popov A, Stefanov K (1968) Untersuchungen über die Zusammensetzung der Wachsbodensätze und des Sonnenblumenölwachses. Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 70(4):234–238
- 114. Hwang H-S, Kim S, Evans KO, Koga C, Lee Y (2015) Morphology and networks of sunflower wax crystals in soybean oil organogel. Food Struct 5:10–20
- 115. Weisz GM, Kammerer DR, Carle R (2009) Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds from sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) kernels and shells by HPLC-DAD/ESI-MSn. Food Chem 115(2):758–765
- 116. Bäcker S (2013) Entwicklung eines industriell einsetzbaren Herstellungs- und Aufreinigungsverfahrens für Dicaffeoylchinasäuren als antivirale Wirkstoffe aus Sonnenblumen. Schlussbericht zum FuE-Vorhaben KF2023913SK1
- 117. Thomas R, Sah NK, Sharma PB (2008) Therapeutic biology of *Jatropha curcas*: a mini review. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 9(4):315–324
- 118. Tomar NS, Ahanger MA, Agarwal RM (2014) *Jatropha curcas*: an overview. In: Ahmad P, Wani MR (eds) Physiological mechanisms and adaptation strategies in plants under changing environment. Springer Science & Business Media, New York, pp. 361–385
- 119. Devappa RK, Makkar HPS, Becker K (2011) Jatropha Diterpenes: a review. J Am Oil Chem Soc 88(3):301–322
- 120. Roach JS, Devappa RK, Makkar HPS, Becker K (2012) Isolation, stability and bioactivity of Jatropha curcas phorbol esters. Fitoterapia 83(3):586–592
- 121. Idakiev HN, Pudel F, Romuli S, Müller J, Makkar H, Latif S, Karaj S, Probst L, Becker K (2014) Integrated use of *Jatropha curcas*. In: 12th Euro Fed Lipid Congress. Montpellier, France
- 122. Ratnadass A, Wink M (2012) The phorbol ester fraction from *Jatropha curcas* seed oil: potential and limits for crop protection against insect pests. Int J Mol Sci 13 (12):16157–16171
- 123. Koski A, Pekkarinen S, Hopia A, Wähälä K, Heinonen M (2003) Processing of rapeseed oil: effects on sinapinic acid derivative content and oxidative stability. Eur Food Res 217 (12):110–114
- 124. Wakamatsu D, Morimura S, Sawa T, Kida K, Nakai C, Maeda H (2005) Isolation, identification, and structure of a potent alkyl-peroxyl radical scavenger in crude canola oil, canolol. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 69(8):1568–1574
- 125. Matthäus B (2012) Effect of canolol on oxidation of edible oils. In: Thiyam-Holländer U, Eskin NAM, Matthäus B (eds) Canola and rapeseed: production, processing, food quality, and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, p 317
- 126. Moltke Sørensen AD, Friel J, Winkler-Moser JK, Jacobsen C, Huidrom D, Reddy N, Thiyam-Holländer U (2013) Impact of endogenous canola phenolics on the oxidative stability of oilin-water emulsions. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 115(5):501–512

- 127. Pudel F, Habicht V, Piofczyk T, Matthäus B, Quirin KW, Cawelius A (2014) Fluidized bed treatment of rapeseed meal and cake as possibility for the production of canolol. OCL 21(1): D103
- 128. Matthäus B, Pudel F, Chen Y, Achary A, Thiyam-Holländer U (2014) Impact of canololenriched extract from heat-treated canola meal to enhance oil quality parameters in deepfrying: a comparison with rosemary extract and TBHQ-fortified oil systems. J Am Oil Chem Soc 91(12):2065–2076
- 129. Thiel A, Muffler K, Tippkötter N, Suck K, Sohling U, Hruschka SM, Ulber R (2014) A novel integrated downstream processing approach to recover sinapic acid, phytic acid and proteins from rapeseed meal. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 90(11):1999–2006
- 130. Goh SH, Choo YM, Ong ASH (1985) Minor components of palm oil. JAOCS 62:237-240
- 131. Mazur W (2000) Phytoestrogens: occurrence in foods, and metabolism of lignans in man and pigs. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Helsinki
- 132. Barnwal P, Singh KK, Mridula D, Kumar R, Rehal J (2010) Effect of moisture content and residence time on dehulling of flaxseed. J Food Sci Technol 47(6):662–667
- 133. Sok D-E, Cui HS, Kim MR (2009) Isolation and bioactivities of furfuran type lignan compounds from edible plants. Recent Pat Food Nutr Agric 1(1):87–95
- 134. Schröder K, Tressel R-P (2012) Schälverfahren für Leinsaat. PCT/EP 2012/055751
- 135. Lomascola A, Uzan-Boukhris E, Sigoillot J-C, Fine F (2012) Rapeseed and sunflower meal: a review on biotechnology status and challenges. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 95(5):1105–1114
- 136. Pleissner D, Venus J (2014) Agricultural residues as feedstocks for lactid acid fermentation. In: Obare et al. (eds) Green technologies for the environment, ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, Washington
- 137. Mulder W, Harmsen P, Sanders J, Carre P, Kamm B, Schönicke P, Dautzenberg G (2012) Secondary processing of plant oils. In: Kazmi A (ed) Advanced oil crop biorefineries, RSC Green Chemistry No. 14, Cambridge, pp 166–202

# From Current Algae Products to Future Biorefinery Practices: A Review



# Michel H.M. Eppink, Giuseppe Olivieri, Hans Reith, Corjan van den Berg, Maria J. Barbosa, and Rene H. Wijffels

Abstract Microalgae are considered to be one of the most promising next generation bio-based/food feedstocks with a unique lipid composition, high protein content, and an almost unlimited amount of other bio-active molecules. Highvalue components such as the soluble proteins, (poly) unsaturated fatty acids, pigments, and carbohydrates can be used as an important ingredient for several markets, such as the food/feed/chemical/cosmetics and health industries. Although cultivation costs have decreased significantly in the last few decades, large microalgae production processes become economically viable if all complex compounds are optimally valorized in their functional state. To isolate these functional compounds from the biomass, cost-effective, mild, and energy-efficient biorefinery techniques need to be developed and applied. In this review we describe current microalgae biorefinery strategies and the derived products, followed by new technological developments and an outlook toward future products and the biorefinery philosophy.

**Keywords** Biorefinery, Cell disruption, Cell wall composition, Cellular structure, Extraction, Fractionation, Harvesting, Microalgae

R.H. WijffelsBioprocess Engineering, AlgaePARC, Wageningen University, PO Box. 16, 6700 AA Wageningen, The Netherlands

University of Nordland, 8049 Bodø, Norway

M.H.M. Eppink (🖾), G. Olivieri, H. Reith, C. van den Berg, and M.J. Barbosa Bioprocess Engineering, AlgaePARC, Wageningen University, PO Box. 16, 6700 AA Wageningen, The Netherlands e-mail: michel.eppink@wur.nl

#### Contents

1	Introduction	100	
2	Product Portfolio from Current Process 1		
3	Current Biorefinery Process		
4	Current Process Technologies		
	4.1 Cellular Structure	106	
	4.2 Harvesting	107	
	4.3 Cell Disruption	110	
	4.4 Extraction	111	
	4.5 Fractionation	113	
5	Future Perspectives Biorefinery		
	5.1 Hybrid and Integrated Technologies	115	
	5.2 Continuous Concept	115	
6	Future Perspectives Products	116	
7	Conclusion		
Re	ferences	117	

# 1 Introduction

The depletion of fossil fuels, ecological problems associated with CO<sub>2</sub> and nutrient emissions, and the challenges of feeding over 9 billion people sustainably demand a fundamental rethink of our agricultural systems. The FAO predicts that food production must increase by 70% by 2050 (http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/ item/35571/icode/); at the same time, the livestock sector alone is currently already responsible for 18% of global GHG emissions in CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent (ftp://ftp.fao.org/ docrep/fao/010/a0701e/a0701e00.pdf). Moreover, there is also a need to become less dependent on fossil-based resources and increase usage of bio-based feedstocks. These goals can already be addressed by changing to a more plant-based diet, increasing agricultural yields, and converting agricultural waste-streams into bio-based chemicals/fuels. However, when trying to achieve all these goals, the classic food vs fuel dilemma arises because of an increased demand for arable land.

The most important feedstocks for biobased products are shown in Table 1 [1]. There are different generations of biomass for biofuel production (e.g., biogas, biodiesel, bioethanol) as categorized first (cereal crops), second (lignocellulosic crops), and third (marine crops). Whereas biofuels from cereal crops compete with food supply on land use and water use, for lignocellulosic crops harsh conditions are needed for conversion into a biofuel and marine crops are considered as promising because these problems do not apply. Of the marine crops, microalgae are the most important with lipid concentrations ranging from 20% to 60% [2–4].

Microalgae can play an enabling role in all these goals because of the high areal yields that can be achieved and the possibility of growing algae on non-arable land. Moreover, the unique lipid composition and the high protein content make algae a unique next generation bio-based/food feedstock. Since the beginning of this century, microalgae have received an increasing amount of attention for being a

Biomass	Feedstock	Products	Remark
Cereal crops (first) <sup>a</sup>	Maize, wheat, straw, corn	Monomers, polymers	R&D phase
Oil crops	Rape seed, soy bean, oil palm	Chemicals, mono- mers/lipids	Full or close to full commercialization
Lignocellulosic crops (second) <sup>a</sup>	Lignocellulose products, wood	Monomers, sugars	R&D and pilot plant phase
Green crops	Grass, leaves (e.g. sugar beet, tea)	Proteins, sugars, fibers	R&D and pilot plant phase
Marine crops (third) <sup>a</sup>	Microalgae, macroalgae	Proteins, sugars, lipids	R&D phase
Others	Yeast, fungi, bacteria, mammalian	Proteins, sugars, lipids	Commercialization, R&D phase

 Table 1
 Feedstocks categorized in different biomass streams [1]

<sup>a</sup>First, second, and third generation biofuels

feedstock for next generation biofuels [5-10]. However, for biofuels only, microalgae production appears to be too costly [11-13] because one of the main bottlenecks in algae production is the amount of energy used in the whole cultivation process combined with the investment costs [12, 14, 15]. Although microalgae cultivation costs have dropped significantly over the last decade, no commercially viable algae fuel plant is currently running to our knowledge.

Although there are numerous algae cultivation aspects that still need to be tackled, the valorization of micro-algal biomass also poses major hurdles. Even though initially the lipid fraction was the main focus for micro-algal biomass (as biofuels were the main foreseen application), algae also have the capacity to synthesize high-value molecules, such as carotenoids, fatty acids, antioxidants, proteins, anti-inflammatory, and other organic compounds, which can be used in the food, feed, cosmetic, biomaterials, nanostructures, and pharmaceutical industries [16–22].

When exploiting the full potential of microalgae ingredients, many different products can be obtained simultaneously and the market value can therefore be higher than the production costs [16]. Consequently, focus should be put on maximal exploitation of the microalgal biomass while minimizing energy and capital expenditure costs [21]. Lipids and proteins are the largest valuable fractions of the microalgae and globally the need for these products is rising. However, most algal biorefinery studies tend to focus on obtaining one specific component from the biomass and therefore downstream processing methods have been tailored to the purification of one specific ingredient (e.g., TAGs, PUFAs, pigments). This indicates that the other available and valuable components in the microalgae were discarded as waste and/or not valorized optimally. To achieve an economically viable large-scale algae cultivation site, all major ingredient fractions need to be valorized in an optimal way. Such a process would be performed in a biorefinery.

Considering today's petroleum refinery, in biorefineries multiple fuel and chemical products are produced from crude petroleum under harsh conditions. However, a modern dairy plant might be more comparable with an algal biorefinery then a petroleum refinery as the dairy industry is processing a protein/carbohydrate/fat mixture. However, there is less complexity compared to an algal biorefinery as harvesting and cell-disruption are not necessary for isolating products from a complex cellular structure (Fig. 3). Biorefinery of microalgae includes the selective isolation of a large range of similar ingredients from crude biomass. In order to do so, the biorefinery process needs to be mild, efficient, and at the same time maintain functionality of the products (proteins, lipids, carbohydrates) and thus value. In this review we first describe current microalgae products followed by the different biorefinery technologies ranging from harvesting toward component fractionation and finalizing by integration toward a continuous scalable biorefinery concept, which could be the final goal of microalgae biorefinery.

# 2 Product Portfolio from Current Process

Several reviews have been written on the current status of microalgae products [23–30]. Therefore, we mainly focus in this review on providing up-to-date information on biorefinery practices for current products and providing future perspectives on possible new applications for autotrophically grown algae and cyanobacteria.

No reliable information on the commercial production of microalgae has been published, and only very approximate estimates of worldwide production volumes and plant gate costs for bulk biomass are possible: roughly 10,000 tons/year and \$10,000/ton for *Spirulina*, 4,000 tons/year and \$20,000/ton for *Chlorella*, 1,000 tons/year and \$20,000/ton for *Dunaliella*, and 200 tons/year and \$100,000/ton for *Haematococcus* [31]. Other species such as *Tetraselmis* and *Nannochloropsis* are also cultivated by commercial parties but have not reached the large scale of several hundreds of tons yet.

The majority of algae biomass is currently sold as dried whole biomass and has a wide range of applications and claimed activities. Dried supplements are currently sold for human health applications and claim to have immune-enhancing effects, but also prevent heart diseases, obesity, manic depression, and even have anti-tumor effects [5, 24]. However, human consumption of microalgal/cyanobacterial biomass is still restricted to a very few taxa, for example, *Spirulina, Chlorella, Dunaliella, Tetraselmis, Nostoc*, and *Aphanizomenon* [24, 30, 32, 33] (Fig. 1). The incorporation of whole dried microalgal biomass into commodity food products has not happened yet because algae species tend to have a strong green color, fishy taste and odor, and a powdery consistency [34]. Therefore, only minor amounts of algae powder (<1%) are currently blended with existing food products [33].

Most algae ingredients currently sold commercially are for the food, health and hygiene, and (aqua-)feed sectors. These ingredients tend to represent high-value compounds, being colorants/pigments and PUFAs. Currently, the only pigments on the market are  $\beta$ -carotene from *Dunaliella salina* and astaxanthin from *Haematococcus pluvialis* [22, 30, 35]. The extracted carotenoids are used in a



Fig. 1 Application areas of most commonly cultivated algae species

variety of applications, varying from being a natural pigmentation source for aquaculture to food coloring purposes. Another food colorant (blue) is Phycocyanin and is currently commercially obtained from *Arthrospira*. Phycocyanin is used as colorant in food (chewing gums, dairy products, jellies, etc.) and cosmetics such as lipstick and eyeliners in Japan, Thailand, and China [36]. Other major fractions include lipids, which can be used as a source for biofuels, as building blocks in the chemical industry, as edible oils for the food industry, and as antioxidants/glyco-lipids/phospholipids/PUFAs for the cosmetics and health market [19, 20, 30, 37]. Carbohydrates are normally a minor part except for a few algal species [2–4]. The complex (excreted) polysaccharides might have health beneficial properties [38–42], an interesting niche in the health market, whereas the carbohydrates in the cell (e.g., starch and (hemi-)cellulose) can be used for producing ethanol and chemicals [43].

#### **3** Current Biorefinery Process

The vast majority of the annual algae biomass production (*Arthrospira* and *Chlorella*) is currently dedicated to the manufacture of powders, pills, and tablets [34]. Therefore, most algae processing only consist of a (pre-)concentration step and a subsequent drying step, which tends to be performed by spray drying (websites of earthrise (http://earthrise.com/about/our-farm/), cyanotech (http://
www.cyanotech.com/company/process05.html), and sunchlorella (http://www. sunchlorella.com/corporate-activity/manufacturing-process.html)). Other products on the market are anti-oxidants/colorants such as  $\beta$ -carotene and astaxanthin, which are produced from *Dunaliella salina* and *Haematococcus pluvialis*, respectively. The recovery of both compounds happens in a similar manner, with the exception that Dunaliella lacks a strong cell wall, preventing the need for a cell-disruption step. Haematococcus has a sporopollenin cell wall, making necessary to perform a cell disruption step prior to the extraction of astaxanthin. On an industrial scale this cell disruption step tends to be done mechanically by bead milling or expeller pressing. The recovery of the hydrophobic fraction (carotenoids and/or lipids) is performed using conventional or supercritical solvents. Industrially there is a preference for supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> extraction. This extraction technology gives the highest carotenoid recovery yields, but has the drawback that it has a high CAPEX and OPEX because of the high pressures which the process requires [44]. For highvalue applications such as nutraceutical applications, this technology seems to be the most economical solution. However, the scalability beyond the nutraceutical market seems rather limited. After supercritical  $CO_2$  extraction, 0.05% of the 2% astaxanthin remained in the dried biomass. Shrimp feeding trials have been performed with the defatted Haematoccocus pluvialis to replace partially fish meals in aquaculture, which did not have adverse effects on growth performance and nutritional composition, and gave significant pigmentation of the shrimp [45].

Several approaches can be taken to purify C-phycocyanin, depending on the desired purity [46–48]. It usually involves a combination of ammonium sulfate precipitation, ion exchange chromatography, and gel filtration chromatography (depending on the required purity). No literature could be found on the applicability of the remaining biomass, although it is still rich in lipids (e.g.,  $\gamma$ -linolenic acid), proteins (membrane proteins), and carbohydrates.

# 4 Current Process Technologies

For the implementation of new biorefinery techniques it is important to know the biomass characteristics. These characteristics may differ among the different algal species. Most algae have thick cell walls, which make cell disruption hard. Some algal species, for example, *Dunaliella salina*, do not have a cell wall, which makes cell disruption less energy intensive, and the focus of attention shifts toward harvesting without causing cell lysis. These differences need to be taken into account when selecting the cell disruption techniques. Thus knowledge of the cellular structure (including cell wall composition and strength, localization of different products in the cell) is required to be able to select suitable processing technologies and process conditions. The algal cell contains different organelles, such as lysosomes, pyrenoids, mitochondria, and endoplasmatic reticulum. Each type of organelle is enriched in specific components, which can be used to our advantage to fractionate the different components, such as pyrenoids containing



Fig. 2 Algae biorefinery strategy overview

RuBisCO (ribulose-1,5-biphosphate carboxylase oxygenase). First the cells need to be disrupted to release the lipids, proteins, pigments, and carbohydrates from the cytoplasm if feasible in a fractionated way [49, 50], after which the various larger cell compartments or organelles could be separated to obtain specific components by disruption of the organelles [4].

Proposed biorefinery strategy for high-value products (see also Fig. 2):

- 1. Establish composition/strength of the cell wall and product localization in cytoplasm.
- 2. Gentle harvesting by scalable concentration/dewatering methods possibly combined with suitable cell disruption technology.
- 3. Controlled cell disruption using mild technology. Initially the whole cell wall is disrupted followed by organelle disruption, if feasible.
- 4. Selective separation of hydrophobic (lipids, pigments) from hydrophilic (proteins, carbohydrates) components in the soluble fraction while keeping full functionality.
- 5. Fractionation of the hydrophilic and hydrophobic component mixtures. These highly enriched fractions can be used for different market applications:
  - (a) Separation of the proteins from the carbohydrates and if needed further isolation of these compounds for specific applications
  - (b) Separation of the hydrophobic components (lipids, pigments) to obtain specific products (e.g., omega 3 fatty acids, (un)saturated fatty acids, TAGs, pigments)

As a follow-up, the implementation of a continuous biorefinery process to connect the different biorefinery steps into a process chain would be the next step, which is briefly addressed below in the future perspectives part of this review chapter.

## 4.1 Cellular Structure

Before any biorefinery operation is started, cellular characterization is the first task to be performed with respect to cell wall strength, composition, and the localization of cellular components in the cell, such as in the chloroplasts or other organelles such as oil bodies, as shown in Fig. 3.

Recently, studies have investigated the cellular structure [51–54] of microalgae strains, showing that the cell wall is constructed of different layers and that the cellular content consists of different organelles, making it an area which is almost unexplored.

#### 4.1.1 Cell Wall

The cell wall is the crucial barrier to separate the cellular content from the aqueous phase, both in fresh water and the marine environment. Microalgae cell walls are complex and poorly understood [55]. Microalgae species vary in cell walls and there are variations observed in a single strain grown under different conditions, which can be dramatic, and thus it is difficult to predict which of the compounds noted below is present in any other strain. For example, some *Chlorella* species have only a single microfibrillar layer, whereas others have two layers with the microfibrillar layer proximal to the cytoplasmic membrane and a mono- or trilaminar outer layer [56]. The cell walls of *Chlorella* and other green microalgae



Fig. 3 Microalgae cross-section with some organelles embedded in the cytoplasm

are known to have rigid cell wall components embedded within a more "plasticlike" polymeric matrix [57, 58]. Later it became clear that these different layers consist of polysaccharides (e.g., hemicellulose and cellulose), lipids, and membrane proteins [51, 53, 54, 59]. As the strength of the cell wall depends on the microalgae strain, it is important to investigate the cell wall composition and its strength in order to establish the forces needed to break the cell wall. Furthermore, the influence of cultivation conditions on the composition and strength of the cell wall needs to be established.

#### 4.1.2 Cytoplasm

The different cellular components may be located in distinct organelles with specific functions in the cell. Lipids (neutral) and polysaccharides may be distributed in lipid bodies or starch granules in the cytoplasm/chloroplast, whereas polar lipids (e.g., phospho-/glycolipids) are located in cellular membranes. Oil bodies and starch granules are especially formed under stress conditions. A literature search showed that only a very limited amount of research has been devoted to the localization of different components in the cell, showing a field that is still unexplored although some work performed in the past was focused on chloroplast fractionation [60]. Recently a new proteomics tool was developed for subcellular localizations of proteins in green algae [61].

## 4.2 Harvesting

Harvesting is the primary step in the biorefinery for concentrating the biomass to remove large water volumes as biomass concentrations in microalgal cultures are usually low, ranging from 0.5 g/L in open pond systems to 5 g/L in closed photobioreactors. Quite a few possibilities are available for concentrating microalgae such as centrifugation, membrane filtration, flocculation, (electro-) flotation, coagulation, and sedimentation to concentrate the biomass in a mild and efficient way [62–65]. Microalgae are small organisms usually ranging in size from  $2 \mu m$  to  $20 \mu m$ , so not all concentrating techniques are feasible for different microalgae strains. In this review the most common methods and breakthrough applications are discussed, focusing on centrifugation, cross-flow membranes, and flocculation. Overviews of harvesting of microalgae are given [64, 66], explaining the good scalability potential for sedimentation and flocculation, as these can offer the lowest energy input for micro-algal harvesting even though the concentrating factors are low. Overall, it appears to be no universal method or combination of harvesting methods suited to all microalgae. Often two or more processes in a sequence are used. On the other hand, technologies are being developed combining harvesting with cell disruption in one step such as electroflotation [67] or the use of centrifugal shear forces.

#### 4.2.1 Centrifugation

The most robust technology in the field of harvesting algal biomass is centrifugation because it is scalable from laboratory- to large-scale operations for a broad range of biomass streams [64], with disc stack centrifugation as most preferred in microalgae harvesting. The drawbacks of centrifugation are the high investment costs and energy requirements when operating this technology for microalgae dewatering, especially the smaller sized (<10  $\mu$ m) organisms for which high speed operations are needed. On the other hand, high concentrations up to 25% dry weight of biomass can be reached, which remains impossible with other harvesting technologies. In addition, recent studies [68] have shown that energy consumptions can be lowered by 82% by increasing the flow rate on the one hand and only slightly lowering harvesting efficiencies on the other (<90%).

#### 4.2.2 Membranes

Next to centrifugation, membranes or cross-flow filtration are commonly used as scalable, robust, and mild technologies. The application of membrane technologies for algae harvesting is not new as more than a decade ago different membranes were evaluated for harvesting of two marine microalgae. Results showed a good velocity and low trans-membrane pressure under continuous use [69]. Recently, some work was devoted to cross-flow filtration [70-72], specific for concentrating microalgae, and was extended toward the reuse of nutrients and filtration of valuable components [70, 73]. Although the energy consumption of membrane filtration is much lower in comparison to centrifugation, it still is not a very low cost technology with respect to reuse of filters and/or cleaning. Moreover, the majority of current algae products are pills/powders, therefore making it favorable to use a concentration method that results in the highest amounts of dry-matter content and thereby minimizing evaporation costs. New technologies such as vibrating membrane filtration [74] and submerged microfiltration [75-77] have been developed for improving microalgae dewatering, showing its benefits over the conventional cross-flow filtration by increasing flux properties and lowering energy use (0.2–0.6 kJ/kg), but the robustness and scalability of these new technologies still need to be established.

#### 4.2.3 Flocculation

The final considered technology in the area of harvesting is flocculation (e.g., chemical-flocculation, auto-flocculation, physical-flocculation, electro-flocculation, bio-flocculation). Various forms of flocculation have gained a lot of attention in the past few years because of ease of operation, mildness, and limited costs [62, 78–81]. The cost and energy demand for harvesting microalgae could be



Fig. 4 Example of auto-flocculation of the microalgae *Ettlia texensis* showing the exopolysaccharides connecting the microalgae

significantly reduced if the cells could be pre-concentrated by flocculation [82, 83]. During flocculation, single cells form larger aggregates that can be separated from the medium by simple gravitational sedimentation (Fig. 4). When flocculation is used for harvesting microalgae, it is usually part of a two-step harvesting process. Flocculation is used during the first step to concentrate a dilute suspension of typically 0.5 g microalgae/L dry matter a 20-100-fold to a slurry suspension of 10-50 g microalgae/L. Further dewatering using a mechanical method such as centrifugation is then required to obtain an algal paste with 25% dry matter content [84]. The energy requirements for this final mechanical dewatering step are acceptable because the particles are relatively large and the volumes of water to be processed small [85]. However, drawbacks include the relatively low total concentrating efficiency as compared to cross-flow filtration and centrifugation, quality of the flocculants in relation to the final application of products, and interference of the flocculants with the products during cell disruption. On the other hand, flocculation might be used as a first pre-concentration step with food grade flocculants prior to use of membranes or a centrifuge. Recently, novel flocculants were developed which have an ampholytic character and change charge upon pH adjustment, which might be very useful as recyclable flocculants as, after concentrating the cells, the flocculants can be collected by changing the pH conditions [86] (Fig. 4).

## 4.3 Cell Disruption

To keep all components intact, mild breakage of the cell wall is a prerequisite. First breakage of the outer cell wall is necessary to make the cellular components available for fractionation and concentration. Currently, most available cell disruption techniques cause complete disruption of the cells and are focused on obtaining one specific product. Other available components which could be fragile and native can be denatured in this process. A variety of methods is currently available for cell disruption and an extensive review explains in detail the different methods [87]. In general, these techniques are divided into two main groups based on the working mechanism of microalgal cellular disintegration, that is, (1) mechanical and (2) - non-mechanical methods [87–91]. In this section, microalgal cell disruption methods are briefly discussed and divided into mechanical and non-mechanical methods, including a view on new technologies.

#### 4.3.1 Mechanical Methods

Disruption of the cell wall by mechanical forces such as liquid or solid shear forces (e.g., bead mill, high speed homogenization, high pressure homogenization, microfluidization) occurs in a non-specific manner [50, 73, 87, 92]. Other cell disruption technologies use energy transfer through waves (e.g., ultrasonication, microwaves, light, pulsed electric fields) [87] and might become more promising once more control on the gradual disintegration of the microalgal cells is achieved. Moreover, with the latter techniques, cell disruption can be applied to a diluted stream in a continuous flow so that perforating the outer cell wall might theoretically occur in a controlled manner [4]. The challenge for microalgae biorefinery is to apply these principles at large scale and at low costs. An advantage of these types of techniques is that they can handle streams with low biomass concentrations, and thus the costly second biomass concentration step can be dispensed with. However, it requires larger volume processing in the continuous flow mode. A limited number of techniques under investigation are briefly described below.

The Pulsed Electric Field (PEF) proved to be a promising technology for controlled cell wall perforation [17, 92–94]. The energy consumption of PEF seems to be much lower than that of conventional techniques such as bead milling [93, 95] so the technology is gaining popularity in the field of cell disruption [92, 96, 97]. However, more research is necessary into the efficiency of cell wall perforation in different cell density cultures; the proper equipment design, the optimal peak voltage, and pulse time need to be established as release of products is still not satisfactory [95, 98].

Ultrasound utilizes the process of cavitation to disrupt the cell wall [17]. For microalgae, ultrasound has been used to improve oil extraction from the cells, and was recently patented [99]. Ultrasound has a very low energy requirement

compared to the conventional cell disruption techniques as explained in earlier papers [17, 87, 100, 101], but the process is still in its infancy.

Other continuous flow techniques are the microfluidizer [87], supersonic fluid flow processing [4, 17], pulsed arc technology [87, 102], and explosive decompression [87, 103]. These continuous flow technologies seem promising depending on the type of energy waves or pulses used. However, equipment design, energy use, and mildness need to be optimized further before these can be applied on an industrial scale.

#### 4.3.2 Non-mechanical Methods

Non-mechanical methods often involve cells lysis by using temperature (e.g., thermolysis, steam, autoclaving), chemical agents, enzymes, or osmotic shock [17, 87, 88, 91, 103–105], which might have potential for biorefinery as a relatively mild and selective extraction/cell disruption step. However, hurdles concerning the harsh conditions, efficiency, toxicity, and economic feasibility are still there, and knowledge on cell disruption characteristics is still incomplete.

#### 4.4 Extraction

With respect to extraction technologies, rapid developments in lipid/pigment extractions with organic solvents (e.g., ethanol, hexane) have evolved in the past few years [20, 91, 105–108] and more recently in the field of supercritical fluids [108, 109] mainly focusing on fuel/lipid production and neglecting the other high-value products (e.g., proteins, carbohydrates) [20]. Mild extraction technologies for proteins are currently in their infancy for microalgae and are mainly developed for, for example, therapeutic proteins [110–112] and have led to major efforts toward different extraction techniques for the more fragile proteins that are scalable and economically attractive.

Different extraction methods mainly for lipids and to a lesser extent for proteins are under development at present. Overviews have presented the possibilities for mild extraction of the different components from microalgae [2, 17]. These extraction methods use polymers (current standard), ionic liquids, and/or surfactants (not discussed in this review), the main objective here being to separate all fractions without losing any product and retaining functionality.

#### 4.4.1 Polymers

Aqueous Two-Phase System (ATPS) separation based on the use of polymers has been widely studied for protein extraction and purification [110–114]. ATPS combines the early processing steps of concentration and purification and serves as an

alternative to traditional purification steps such as chromatography. ATPS is formed by mixing a polymer–polymer, polymer-salt beyond a certain critical concentration to form two distinct phases [115–118]. Both phases being water rich (~80–90 wt%) provide a mild and gentle environment for protein separations without affecting their nativity. On the other hand, separating a hydrophilic phase (e.g., proteins, carbohydrates) from a hydrophobic phase (e.g., lipids, pigments) at the interface by polymers is not yet established and also needs to be developed.

#### 4.4.2 Ionic Liquids

Ionic liquids have been widely considered as alternatives to classic organic solvents and can be applied in organic synthesis, liquid-phase extraction, and catalysis for clean technology and separations [119, 120]. Ionic liquids are composed of cations and anions as they are simple molten salts. The advantage and novelty of ionic liquids are their low melting temperature, below 100 °C, combined with a negligible vapor pressure. Ionic liquids can be an alternative to classical organic solvents because of their ability to extract and separate hydrophilic and hydrophobic compounds. Recycling is feasible [121] and able to produce minimum pollution compared to organic solvents. The range of different ionic liquids is enormous and therefore the range of specific applications is correspondingly large. Interestingly, separation of hydrophilic compounds (e.g., proteins) can occur by selecting the right ionic liquids, as was also recently studied in detail [122, 123] (Fig. 5). Overall, the ideal concept would be first to rupture the cell wall in a mild way, ensuring that the lipids and proteins are available for extraction and subsequently to apply ionic liquids as an additive to the biomass mixture, separating it into hydrophilic (e.g., proteins, carbohydrates) and hydrophobic (e.g., lipids, pigments) phases. Further separation of both phases can take place with fractionation as described in Sect. 4.5, after removal of the solid phase (cell debris).

A novel approach was recently developed by extracting pigments from intact cells using a mixture of ionic liquids and organic solvents (e.g., ethyl acetate) keeping the microalgae cell walls intact [121], which could be followed by cell disruption and extracting the other intact components (e.g., fragile proteins), a



Fig. 5 Aqueous two-phase system (ATPS)

so-called pre-fractionation step which might open up new applications for extraction of high-value components from microalgae.

## 4.5 Fractionation

Fractionation is the prime technology for further isolation of individual components from extracts and mixtures of hydrophilic (e.g., proteins, carbohydrates) and hydrophobic (e.g., lipids, pigments) phases into purified components. For the hydrophilic phase, selective techniques such as (charged) membranes or beads [124, 125] together with alternatives such as protein precipitation can be applied [126]. However, selectivity tends to be low and only useful as an enrichment technique. This part of the biorefinery process is still an area where the developments are limited. Currently, fractionation technologies are mainly used for the purification/isolation of recombinant proteins from yeast, fungi, bacteria, and mammalian cells [125], and the reason is that these technologies are expensive and therefore only attractive for (high) value products in the food/cosmetics/health industry for isolation of specific proteins such as therapeutic proteins such as monoclonal antibodies. However, development of biorefinery processes can profit from the experience obtained in the biopharmaceutical field with regard to mild separation techniques. Other fractionation techniques such as ultrafiltration/ diafiltration can be applied for concentrating, buffer exchange, or selective separation of proteins from carbohydrates [20, 70, 90, 127].

With respect to a further fractionation of the hydrophobic phase, such as specific lipids or pigments, techniques such as organic solvent extraction [20] or supercritical methods [108] are currently applied [20, 108].

Fractionation is the final step in the biorefinery process so the costs become higher and might only be a plausible solution for high-value products in the field of food/health/cosmetics.

#### 4.5.1 Membranes

Proteins can be further separated from carbohydrates (long chain polysaccharides) and traces of pigments using membrane filtration techniques (dead end or tangential flow filtration). With tangential flow filtration, the different components can be fractionated by filter sizes ranging from 1 to 1,000 kDa [70, 90, 127–130] under mild conditions. Dead end filtration is the standard method for removal of solid particles from the solution. However, in the past few years, new developments opened up in the field of dead end filtration by coating the membrane with specific ligands (e.g., charged, hydrophobic, hydrophilic) for capturing specific protein components [131]. With these so-called membrane absorbers a further fractionation of proteins and/or carbohydrates is feasible by selective binding in aqueous buffer systems [132].

#### 4.5.2 Resins

In the field of fractionation, chromatographic separation of different products (e.g., proteins) is a technology mainly used for high-value products in the food/health/ cosmetics market such as soluble proteins [20, 133–135]. Preliminary work was carried out with *Tetraselmis species* for fractionating a protein mixture using ionic exchange chromatography [127, 129, 136]. More specifically, proteins such as phycoerythrin from *P. pruentum* can be purified with size exclusion chromatography or ionic exchange chromatography to achieve high purities [20, 135] and might be an interesting protein for the clinical research based on its pharmacological (e.g., immunomodulatory, anticancer, and antioxidant) properties.

#### 4.5.3 Extraction

For the hydrophobic phase, after separation of the hydrophilic phase using aqueous two-phase extraction as described in Sect. 4.4.2, the pigments and lipids (TAGs, PUFAs, glyco-/phospholipids) can be further fractionated using solvent extraction or supercritical fluids [20, 108]. In particular, the last technique becomes more promising for scalable extraction of pigments and lipids as presented in recent papers [20, 108, 137]. Furthermore, modification with, for example, transesterification may yield fatty acid methyl esters and may be separated from the pigments (carotenoids and chlorophylls) using nanofiltration. Additionally, the methyl esters can be further separated by crystallization and microfiltration. Nice overviews are presented by Kumar and Taher [138, 139].

### **5** Future Perspectives Biorefinery

Finally, the goal would be to integrate the whole biorefinery chain (harvesting, cell disruption, extraction, and fractionation technologies) into a continuous concept coupled to the biomass production, as schematically presented in Fig. 6. Initially, hybrid concept (coupling of two unit operations) should be developed by integrating harvesting with cell disruption followed by integrating all other unit operations (extraction, purification) into a continuous biorefinery concept (Fig. 6). The complexity would be too high when integrating the different biorefinery unit operations directly into a complete continuous concept because current equipment is not suitable, so new equipment designs are needed. In that way a two-step approach would be preferred whereby single unit operations are first connected into hybrid concepts and in the next step additional unit operations are connected so that a continuous concept for high-value products (Fig. 6) is developed.



Fig. 6 From single unit toward a continuous biorefinery concept

# 5.1 Hybrid and Integrated Technologies

The first step would be to develop hybrid technologies with the intention of combining more biorefinery unit operations into one step such as biomass production/harvesting or harvesting/cell disruption or cell disruption/extraction or extraction/fractionation. Different possibilities are feasible, but it depends on the products, mildness, and biorefinery technologies used for the recovery of the products. Especially in the field of biofuel production, the combination of harvesting/cell disruption and cell disruption/extraction are being explored to recover the lipids for fuel production as presented in recent reviews [23, 140-142] and further improved by commercial companies (e.g., www.originoil.com). Although this biorefinery concept from Origin Oil is more straightforward, the focus is kept on biofuels/lipids, which can withstand harsh conditions that would damage other ingredient fractions (e.g., proteins) and these ingredients can then only be used as low-value feed or fertilizer. Next to the recovery of lipids, the fragile proteins and carbohydrates should keep their functional composition and therefore mild and new biorefinery techniques are needed. This is still in its infancy as, currently, focus is directed toward the development of single unit operations in a biorefinery concept.

## 5.2 Continuous Concept

Integration of all the unit operations into one process chain is the ultimate goal for a cost-effective process for obtaining all valuable (fragile) biomolecules (lipids, proteins, carbohydrates). In this concept, produced micro-algal biomass is fed as

a diluted or partly concentrated stream through the continuous flow cell disruption equipment under the influence of waves or pulses (e.g., steam, electricity, ultrasound, or light). A prerequisite is fine tuning of the cell breakage in such a way that the cells are gradually cracked and the components (lipids, carbohydrates, proteins) are released. Subsequently, the hydrophobic (lipids, pigments) components are separated from the hydrophilic (proteins, carbohydrates) components and, finally, fractionating the different components in the hydrophobic and hydrophilic phases yields different products in a mild sustainable continuous process concept and at low energy costs. If needed, the obtained fractions can be further fractioned toward different (non-)fuel products in the biorefinery plant by, for example, membrane filtration or extraction or chromatographic separation methods, or further processed at specialized industries (food, feed, chemicals, fuel, etc.). The industrial production process in this microalgal biomass/biorefinery plant should be sustainable, efficient, flexible, have low energy costs, and be applicable to a large variety of microalgae feedstock materials.

### **6** Future Perspectives Products

The demand for plant-based ingredients should most likely increase in the next decades, but functionality of such ingredients remains rather limited [143, 144]. In a search for sustainable ingredients with special functionalities, microalgae can play a significant role as one of the most promising foods for the future, particularly as a source of proteins, lipids, and phytochemicals [37, 144]. A dominant soluble protein fraction is RuBisCO and, once purified, was further tested for techno-functional properties for application as food additives [129, 130, 136] for replacement of egg-white or whey proteins. It was also shown that purified RuBisCO, albeit from spinach leaves, was able to form heat-set gels with a similar gel-strength as egg-white with only one-third of the of protein [145].

Algae with a complex cell wall matrix might also be a source of natural fibers. Currently, most research focuses on converting the carbohydrate fraction, either catalytically or fermentatively, to fuel-like components or bio-based building blocks [146]. By processing the polysaccharide fraction in a mild way, the fibers retain possible beneficial functionalities such as enhancing gut micro flora, water holding capacity, and laxation [42, 147, 148].

Recent advances in genomics and genetic engineering hold promise for targeted improvements of algal strains to adapt them specifically for enhanced growth, productivity, and high-value product accumulation (e.g., carotenoids, PUFAs) [37]. Biorefinery approaches for such high-value products and byproducts are essential for improving the economic balance of these production processes, and these new approaches need to be developed and tested for various components and strains.

# 7 Conclusion

Integrated, multiproduct biorefinery of microalgae for co-production of proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates has been discussed, showing that there are clear scientific opportunities to develop these processes further and to make them economically attractive in the coming years. To develop a sustainable and economically feasible process all (fragile) biomass components should be used and therefore an integrated continuous biorefinery technology concept for microalgae processing is needed. Evidently, various technological challenges need to be overcome, such as the integration of biomass production with cell disruption, extraction and fractionation technologies, and the simultaneous extraction and separation of hydrophilic and hydrophobic components, keeping all components in their fully-functional state, which require substantial technological developments. Biorefinery of microalgae is a promising area; however, major efforts have to be made to develop an economically relevant sector.

# References

- 1. Langeveld JWA, Dixon J, Jaworski JF (2010) Development perspectives of the biobased economy: A review. Crop Sci 50:S-142–S-151
- 2. Becker EW (2007) Micro-algae as a source of proteins. Biotech Adv 25:207-210
- Carioca JOB, Hiluy Filho JJ, Leal MRLV, Macambira FS (2009) The hard choice for alternative biofuels to diesel in Brazil. Biotechnol Adv 27:1043–1050
- 4. Eppink MHM, Barbosa MJ, Wijffels RH (2012) Biorefinery of microalgae: production of high value products, bulk chemicals and biofuels. In: Posten C, Walter C (eds) Microalgal biotechnology. De Gruyter, Berlin
- 5. Pulz O, Gross W (2004) Valuable products from biotechnology of microalgae. Appl Microb Biotechnol 65:635–648
- 6. Chisti Y (2007) Biodiesel from microalgae. Biotech Adv 25:294-306
- 7. Schenk PM, Thomas-Hall RS, Stephens E, Marx UC, et al. (2008) Second generation biofuels: high-efficiency microalgae for biodiesel production. Bioenergy Res 1:20–43
- Priyararshani I, Rath B (2012) Commercial and industrial applications of micro algae—a review. J Algal Biomass Utln 3:89–100
- 9. Ho S-H, Ye X, Hasunuma T, Chang J-S, Kondo A (2014) Perspectives on engineering strategies for improving biofuel production from microalgae—a critical review. Biotech Adv 32:1448–1459
- Rawat I, Ranjith R, Mutanda T, Bux F (2013) Biodiesel from microalgae: a critical evaluation from laboratory to large scale production. Appl Energy 103:444–467
- 11. Wijffels RH, Barbosa MJ (2010) An outlook on microalgal biofuels. Science 329:796-799
- 12. Chisti Y (2013) Contraints to commercialization of algal fuels. J Biotechnol 167:201-214
- 13. Torres CM, Rios SD (2013) Microalgae-based biodiesel: a multicriteria analysis of the production process using realistic scenarios. Bioresour Technol 147:7–16
- Norsker NH, Barbosa MJ, Vermue MH, Wijffels RH (2011) Microalgal production—a close look at the economics. Biotechnol Adv 29:24–27
- 15. Demirbas MF (2011) Biofuels from microalgae for sustainable development. Appl Energy 88:3473–3480

- Wijffels RH, Barbosa MJ, Eppink MHM (2010) Microalgae for the production of bulk chemicals and biofuels. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4:287–295
- 17. Vanthoor-Koopmans M, Wijffels RH, Barbosa MJ, Eppink MHM (2013) Biorefinery of microalgae for food and fuel. Bioresour Technol 135:142–149
- Yena HW, Hub IC, Chen CY (2013) Microalgae-based biorefinery—from biofuels to natural products. Bioresour Technol 135:166–174
- Draaisma RB, Wijffels RH, Slegers PM, Brentner LB, et al. (2013) Food commodities from microalgae. Curr Opin Biotechnol 24:169–177
- 20. Cuellar-Bermudez SP, Aguilar-Hernandez I, Cardenas-Chavez DL, Ornelas-Soto N, et al. (2015) Extraction and purification of high-value metabolites from microalgae: essential lipids, astaxanthin and phycobiliproteins. Microb Biotechnol 8:190–209
- Hariskos I, Posten C (2014) Biorefinery of microalgae—opportunities and constraints for different production scenarios. Biotechnol J 9:739–752
- Borowitzka MA (2013) High-value products from microalgae—their development and commercialization. J Appl Phycol 25:743–756
- 23. Bharathiraja B, Chakravarthy M, Ranjith Kumar R, Yogendran D, et al. (2015) Aquatic biomass (algae) as a future feedstock for bio-refineries: a review on cultivation, processing and products. Renewable Sustainable Energy Rev 47:634–653
- Spolaore P, Joannis-Cassan C, Duran E, Isambert A (2016) Commercial applications of microalgae. J Biosci Bioeng 101:87–96
- 25. Koller M, Muhr A, Braunegg G (2014) Microalgae as versatile cellular factories for valued products. Algal Res 6:52–63
- 26. Ginzberg A, Cohen M, Sod-Moriah UA, Shany S, et al. (2000) Chickens fed with biomass of the red microalga Porphyridium sp have reduced blood cholesterol level and modified fatty acid composition in egg yolk. J Appl Phycol 12:325–330
- Lu J, Takeuchi T, Satoh H (2014) Ingestion and assimilation of three species of freshwater algae by larval tilapia Oreochromis niloticus. Aquaculture 238:437–449
- Mandal S, Mallick N (2009) Microalga Scenedesmus obliquus as a potential source for biodiesel production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 84:281–291
- 29. Chen HY, Tang HZ, Ma TC, Holland KY, Ng S, Salley SO (2011) Effect of nutrients on growth and lipid accumulation in the green algae Dunaliella tertiolecta. Bioresour Technol 102:1649–1655
- 30. Voort MPJ, Vulsteke E, Visser CLM. Macro-economics of algae products, Public Output report WP2A7.02 of the EnAlgae Project, Swansea, June 2015, 47 p
- 31. Benneman J (2013) Microalgae for biofuels and animal feeds. Energies 6:5869–5886
- 32. Gouveia L (2008) Microalgae in novel food products. In: Papa-doupoulos K (ed) Food chemistry research developments. Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp. 75–112
- Kovac DJ, Simeunovic JB, Babic OB, Misan AC, Milovanovic IL (2013) Algae in food and feed. Food Feed Res 40:21–31
- Chacon-lee TL, Gonzalez-Marino GE (2010) Microalgae for "healthy" foods—possibilities and challenges. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 9:655–675
- 35. Ben-Amotz A (1995) New mode of Dunaliella biotechnology: two-phase growth for  $\beta$ -carotene production. J Appl Phycol 7:65–68
- 36. Kumar D, Dhar DW, Pabbi S, Kumar N, Walia S (2014) Extraction and purification of C-phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis (CCC540). Ind J Plant Physiol 19:184–188
- Leu S, Boussiba S (2014) Advances in the production of high-value products by microalgae. Ind Biotechnol 10:169–183
- Raposo MF, Morais RMSC (2013) Bioactivity and applications of sulphated polysaccharides from marine microalgae. Mar Drugs 11:233–252
- Wijesekara I, Pangestuti R, Kim S-K (2011) Biological activities and potential health benefits of sulfated polysaccharides derived from marine algae. Carbohydr Polym 84:14–21
- 40. Arad SM, Rapoport L, Moshkovich A, van Moppes D, et al. (2006) Superior biolubricant from a species of red microalgae. Langmuir 2:7313–7317
- Arad SM, Levy-Ontman O (2010) Red microalgal cell-wall polysaccharides: biotechnological aspects. Curr Opin Biotechnol 21:358–364

- Laurienzo P (2010) Marine polysaccharides in pharmaceutical applications: an overview. Mar Drugs 8:2435–2465
- Radakovitz R, Jinkerson RE, Darzins A, Posewitz MC (2010) Genetic engineering of algae for enhanced biofuel production. Eukaryotic Cell 9:486–501
- 44. Mendez RL, Fernandes HL, Coelho JAP, Palavra AF (1995) Supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> extraction of carotenoids and other lipids from Chlorella vulgaris. Food Chem 53:99–103
- 45. Ju A (2012) Defatted microalgae (*Haematococcus pluvialis*) meal as a protein ingredient to partially replace fishmeal in diets of Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*, Boone, 1931). Aquaculture 354–355:50
- 46. Boussiba S, Richmond AE (1979) Isolation and characterization of phycocyanins from the blue-green alga Spirulina platensis. Arch Microbiol 120:155–159
- Minkova KM (2013) Purification of C-phycocyanin from Spirulina (Arthrospira) fusiformis. J Biotechnol 102:55–59
- 48. Yan S, Zhu L, Su H, Zhang X, et al. (2011) Single-step chromatography for simultaneous purification of C-phycocyanin and allophycocyanin with high purity and recovery from Spirulina (Arthrospira) platensis. J Appl Phycol 23:1–6
- 49. Jubeau S, Marchal J, Pruvost J, Jaouen P, et al. (2013) High pressure disruption: a two-step treatment for selective extraction of intracellular components from the microalgae Porphyridium cruentum. J Appl Phycol 25:983–989
- Postma PR, Miron TL, Olivier G, Barbosa MJ, et al. (2015) Mild disintegration of the green microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris using bead milling. Bioresour Technol 184:297–304
- 51. Krienitz L, Takeda H, Hepperle D (1999) Ultrastructure, cell wall composition, and phylogenetic position of Pseudodictyosphaerium jurisii (Chlorococcales, Chlorophyta) including a comparison with other picoplanktonic green algae. Phycologia 38:100–107
- 52. Domozych DS, Ciancia M, Fangel JU, Mikkelsen MD, et al. (2012) The cell walls of green algae: a journey through evolution and diversity. Front Plant Sci 3:1–7
- Gerken HG, Donohoe B, Knoshaug EP (2013) Enzymatic cell wall degradation of Chlorella vulgaris and other microalgae for biofuels production. Planta 237:239–253
- 54. Scholz MJ, Weiss TL, Jinkerson RE, Jing J, et al. (2014) Ultrastructure and composition of the Nannochloropsis gaditana cell wall. Eukaryotic Cell 13:1450–1464
- 55. Popper ZA, Tuohy MG (2010) Beyond the green: understanding the evolutionary puzzle of plant and algal cell walls. Plant Physiol 153:373–383
- Yamada T, Sakaguchi K (1982) Comparative studies on Chlorella cell walls: induction of protoplast formation. Arch Microbiol 132:10–13
- 57. Takeda H (1991) Sugar composition of the cell wall and the taxonomy of Chlorella (Chlorophyceae). J Phycol 27:224–232
- Kapaun E, Reisser W (1995) A., Chitin-like glycan in the cell wall of a Chlorella sp. (Chlorococcales, Chlorophyceae). Planta 195:577–582
- 59. Blumreisinger M, Meindl D, Loos E (1983) Cell wall composition of chlorococcal algae. Phytochremistry 1603–1604:22
- 60. Klein U, Chen C, Gibbs M, Platt-Aloia KA (1983) Cellular fractionation of Chlamydomonas reinhardii with emphasis on the isolation of the chloroplast. Plant Physiol 72:481–487
- 61. Tardiff M, Atteia A, Specht M, Cogne G, et al. (2012) PredAlgo: a new subcellular localization prediction tool dedicated to green algae. Mol Biol Evol 29:3625–3639
- Vandamme D, Foubert I, Muylaert K (2012) Flocculation as a low-cost method for harvesting microalgae for bulk biomass production. Trends Biotechnol 31:233–239
- Gonzalez-Fernandez C, Ballesteros M (2013) Microalgae autoflocculation: an alternative to high-energy consuming harvesting methods. J Appl Phycol 25:991–999
- Milledge JJ, Heaven S (2013) A review of the harvesting of micro-algae for biofuel production. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 12:165–178
- 65. Kim DY, Oh YK, Park JY, Kim B, et al. (2015) An integrated process for microalgae harvesting and cell disruption by the use of ferric ions. Bioresour Technol 191:469–474
- 66. Gerardo ML, van den Hende S, Vervaeren H, Coward T, Skill SC (2015) Harvesting of microalgae within a biorefinery approach: a review of the developments and case studies from pilot-plants. Algal Res 11:248–262

- 67. De Carvalho Neto RG, do Nascimento JG, Costa MC, Lopes AC, et al. (2014) Microalgae harvesting and cell disruption: a preliminary evaluation of the technology electroflotation by alternating current. Water Sci Technol 70:315–320
- Dassey AJ, Theegala CS (2013) Harvesting economics and strategies using centrifugation for cost effective separation of microalgae cells for biodiesel applications. Bioresour Technol 128:241–245
- 69. Rossignol N, Vandanjon L, Jaouen P, Quemeneur F (1999) Membrane technology for the continuous separation microalgae/culture medium: compared performances of cross-flow microfiltration and ultrafiltration. Aquacult Eng 20:191–208
- Gerardo ML, Oatley-Radcliffe DL, Lovitt RW (2014) Integration of membrane technology in microalgae biorefineries. J Membr Sci 464:86–99
- 71. Hwang T, Park S-J, Oh Y-K, Rashid N, Han J-I (2013) Harvesting of Chlorella sp. KR-1 using a cross-flow membrane filtration system equipped with an anti-fouling membrane. Bioresour Tech 139:379–382
- 72. Kang S, Kim S, Lee J (2015) Optimization of cross flow filtration system for Dunaliella tertiolecta and Tetraselmis sp. microalgae harvest. Korean J Chem. Eng 32:1377–1380
- Safi C, Charton M, Pignolet O, Silvestre F, et al. (2013) Influence of microalgae cell wall characteristics on protein extractability and determination of nitrogen-to-protein conversion factors. J Appl Phycol 25:523–529
- 74. Nurra C, Clavero E, Salvado J, Torras C (2014) Vibrating membrane filtration as improved technology for microalgae dewatering. Bioresour Technol 157:247–253
- Bilad MR, Vandamme D, Foubert I, Muylaert K, Vankelecom IFJ (2012) Harvesting microalgal biomass using submerged microfiltration membranes. Bioresour Technol 111:343–352
- 76. Bilad MR, Discart V, Vandamme D, Foubert I, et al. (2013) Harvesting microalgal biomass using a magnetically induced membrane vibration (MMV) system: filtration performance and energy consumption. Bioresour Technol 138:329–338
- 77. Bilad MR, Discart V, Vandamme D, Foubert I, et al. (2014) Coupled cultivation and pre-harvesting of microalgae in a membrane photobioreactor (MPBR). Bioresour Technol 155:410–417
- Salim S, Bosma R, Vermue MH, Wijffels RH (2011) Harvesting of microalgae by bio-flocculation. J Appl Phycol 23:849–855
- 79. 't Lam G, Vermue MH, Olivieri G, van den Broek LA, et al. (2014) Cationic polymers for successful flocculation of marine microalgae. Bioresour Technol 169:804–807
- 't Lam G, Zegeye EK, Vermue MH, Kleinegris DM, et al. (2015) Dosage effect of cationic polymers on the flocculation efficiency of the marine microalgae Neochloris oleoabundans. Bioresour Technol 198:797–802
- 't Lam G, Giraldo JB, Vermue MH, Olivieri G, et al. (2016) Understanding the salinity effect on cationic polymers in inducing flocculation of the microalga Neochloris oleoabundans. J Biotechnol 18:10–17
- Brentner LB, Eckelman MJ, Zimmerman JB (2011) Combinatorial life cycle assessment to inform process design of industrial production of algal biodiesel. Environ Sci Technol 45:7060–7067
- Pienkos PT, Darzins A (2009) The promise and challenges of microalgal-derived biofuels. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4:287–295
- Wileman A, Ozkan A, Berberoglu H (2011) Rheological properties of algae slurries for minimizing harvesting energy requirements in biofuel production. Bioresour Technol 104:432–439
- 85. Schlesinger A, Eisenstadt D, Bar-Gil A, Carmely H, et al. (2012) Inexpensive non-toxic flocculation of microalgae contradicts theories; overcoming a major hurdle to bulk algal production. Biotechnol Adv 30:1023–1030

- 86. Morrissey KL, Keirn MI, Inaba Y, Denham AJ, et al. (2015) Recyclable polyampholyte flocculants for the cost-effective dewatering of microalgae and cyanobacteria. Algal Res 11:304–312
- Gunerken E, d'Hondt E, Eppink MHM, Garcia-Gonzalez L, et al. (2015) Cell disruption for microalgae biorefineries. Biotechnol Adv 33:243–260
- Lee J-Y, Yoo C, Jun S, Ahn C, Oh H-M (2010) Comparison of several methods for effective lipid extraction from microalgae. Bioresour Technol 101:S75–S77
- 89. Safi C, Ursu AV, Laroche C, Zebib B, et al. (2014) Aqueous extraction of proteins from microalgae: effect of different cell disruption methods. Algal Res 3:61–61
- 90. Safi C, Charton M, Ursu AV, Laroche C, et al. (2014) Release of hydro-soluble microalgal proteins using mechanical and chemical treatments. Algal Res 3:55–60
- Mutanda T, Ramesh D, Karthikeyan S, Kumari S, et al. (2011) Bioprospecting for hyper-lipid producing microalgal strains for sustainable biofuel production. Bioresour Technol 102:57–70
- 92. Grimi N, Dubois A, Marchal L, Jubeau S, et al. (2014) Selective extraction from microalgae Nannochloropsis sp. using different methods of cell disruption. Bioresour Technol. 153:254–259
- Goettel M, Eing C, Gusbeth C, Straessner R, Frey W (2013) Pulsed electric field assisted extraction of intracellular valuables from microalgae. Algal Res 2:401–408
- 94. Zbinden MD, Sturm BS, Nord RD, Carey WJ, et al. (2013) Pulsed electric field (PEF) as an intensification pretreatment for greener solvent lipid extraction from microalgae. Biotechnol Bioeng 110:1605–1615
- Parniakov O, Barba FJ, Grimi N, Marchal L, et al. (2015) Pulsed electric field and pH assisted selective extraction of intracellular components from microalgae Nannochloropsis. Algal Res 8:128–134
- 96. Lai YS, Parameswaran P, Li A, Baez M, Rittman BE (2014) Effect of pulsed electric field treatment on enhancing lipid recovery from the microalga Scenedesmus. Bioresour Technol 173:457–461
- 97. Barba FJ, Grimi N, Vorobiev E (2015) New approaches for the use of non-conventional cell disruption technologies to extract potential food additives and nutraceuticals from microalgae. Food Eng Rev 7:45–62
- 98. Postma R, Capitoli M, Barbosa M, Wijffels RH, et al. (2016) Selective extraction of intracellular components from the microalgae Chlorella vulgaris by combined pulsed electric field-temperature treatment. Bioresour Technol 203:80–88
- Echevarria Parres AJ (2011) Process and apparatus for extracting biodiesel from algae, (Ed.) E.P. Application, 2011
- 100. Wang M, Yuan W, Jiang X, Jing Y, Wang Z (2014) Disruption of microalgal cells using high frequency focused ultrasound. Bioresour Technol 153:315–321
- 101. Yoo G, Yoo Y, Kwon J, Darpito C, et al. (2014) An effective, cost-efficient extraction method of biomass from wet microalgae with a functional polymeric membrane. Green Chem 16:312–319
- 102. Boussetta N, Lesaint O, Vorobiev E (2013) A study of mechanisms involved during the extraction of polyphenols from grape seeds by pulsed electrical discharges. Innovation Food Sci Emerging Technol 19:124–132
- 103. Dierkes H, Steinhagen V, Bork M, Lütge C, Knez Z (2012) Inventor; Uhde High Pressure Technologies GmbH, assignee. Cell lysis of plant or animal starting materials by a combination of a spray method and decompression for the selective extraction and separation of valuable intracellularmaterials. European Patent EP2315825 (B1)
- 104. Middelberg APJ (1995) Process scale disruption of microorganisms. Biotechnol Adv 13:491–551
- 105. Demuez M, Mahdy A, Tomas-Pejo E, Gonzalez-Fernandez C, Ballesteros M (2015) Enzymatic cell disruption of microalgae biomass in biorefinery processes. Biotechnol Bioeng 112:1955–1966

- 106. Halim R, Danquah MK, Webley PA (2012) Extraction of oil from microalgae for biodiesel production: a review. Biotechnol Adv 30:709–732
- 107. Kim J, Yoo G (2013) Methods of downstream processing for the production of biodiesel from microalgae. Biotechnol Adv 31:862–876
- 108. Grosso C, Valentao P, Ferreres F, Andrade PB (2015) Alternative and efficient extraction methods for marine-derived compounds. Mar Drugs 13:3182–3230
- 109. Yen H-W, Yang S-C, Chen C-H, Jesisca, Chang J-S (2015) Supercritical fluid extraction of valuable compounds from microalgal biomass. Bioresour Technol 184:291–296
- 110. Azevedo AM, Rosa PA, Ferreira IF, Aires-Barros MR (2009) Chromatography-free recovery of biopharmaceuticals through aqueous two-phase processing. Trends Biotechnol 27:240–247
- 111. Aquilar O, Rito-Palomares M (2010) Aqueous two-phase systems strategies for the recovery and characterization of biological products from plants. J Sci Food Agric 90:1385–1392
- 112. Rosa PA, Azevedo AM, Sommerfeld S, Backer W, Aires-Barros MR (2011) Aqueous two-phase extraction as a platform in the biomanufacturing industry: economical and environmental sustainability. Biotechnol Adv 29:559–567
- 113. Ruiz-Ruiz F, Benavides J, Aguilar O, Rito-Palomares M (2012) Aqueous two-phase affinity partitioning systems: Current applications and trends. J Chromatogr A 1244:1–13
- 114. Goja AM, Yang H, Cul M, Li C (2013) Aqueous two-phase extraction advances for bioseparation. J. Bioprocess Biotech 4:1–8
- 115. Raja S, Murty V, Thivaharan R, Rajasekar V, Ramesh V (2011) Aqueous two phase systems for the recovery of biomolecules—a review. Sci Technol 1:7–16
- 116. Molino JVD, Marques DAV, Junior AP, Mazzola PG, Gatti MSV (2013) Different types of aqueous two-phase systems for biomolecule and bioparticle extraction and purification. Biotechnol Progr 29:1343–1353
- 117. Mourao T, Tome LC, Florindo C, Rebelo LPN, Marrucho IM (2014) Understanding the role of cholinium carboxylate ionic liquids in PEG-based aqueous biphasic systems. ACS Sustainable Chem Eng 2:2426–2434
- 118. Quental MV, Caban M, Pereira MM, Stepnowski P, et al. (2015) Enhanced extraction of proteins using cholinium-based ionic liquids as phase-forming components of aqueous biphasic systems. Biotechnol J 10:1–10
- Berthod A, Ruiz-Ángel MJ, Carda-Broch S (2008) Ionic liquids in separation techniques. J Chromatogr A 1184:6–18
- 120. Vidal L, Riekkola M-L, Canals A (2012) Ionic liquid-modified materials for solid-phase extraction and separation: a review. Anal Chim Acta 715:19–41
- 121. Desai RK, Streefland M, Wijffels RH, Eppink MHM (2016) Novel astaxanthin extraction from Haematococcus pluvialis using cell permeabilising ionic liquids. Green Chem 18:1261–1267
- 122. Dreyer S, Kragl U (2008) Ionic liquids for aqueous two-phase extraction and stabilization of enzymes. Biotechnol Bioeng 99:1416–1424
- 123. Desai RK, Streefland M, Wijffels RH, Eppink MHM (2014) Extraction and stability of selected proteins in ionic liquid based aqueous two phase systems. Green Chem 16:2670–2679
- 124. Richard BR, Deutscher MP (2009) Methods in enzymology, vol 463: Guide to protein purification. Elsevier. ISBN: 978-0-12-374536-1. http://store.elsevier.com/Guide-to-Pro tein-Purification/isbn-9780123745361/
- 125. Carta G, Jungbauer A (2010) Protein chromatography and scale-up. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co KGaA. Weinheim. ISBN: 978-3-527-31819-3
- 126. Cavonius LR, Albert E, Undeland I (2015) pH-shift processing of Nannochloropsis oculata microalgal biomass to obtain a protein-enriched food or feed ingredients. Algal Res 11:95–102
- 127. Schwenzfeier A, Wierenga PA, Gruppen H (2011) Isolation and characterization of soluble protein from the green microalgae Tetraselmis sp. Bioresour Technol 102:9121–9127

- 128. Van Reis R, Zydney AL (2001) Membrane separations in biotechnology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 12:208–211
- 129. Schwenzfeier A, Wierenga PA, Eppink MHM, Gruppen HA (2014) Effect of charged polysaccharides on the techno-functional properties of fractions obtained from algae soluble protein isolate. Food Hydrocolloids 35:9–18
- 130. Urzu AV, Marcati A, Sayd T, Sante-Lhoutellier V, et al. (2014) Extraction, fractionation and functional properties of proteins from the microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris. Bioresour Technol 157:134–139
- 131. Demmer W, Fischer-Fruehholz S, Kocourek A, Nusbaumer D, Wuenn E (2005) Adsorption membrane comprising microporous polymer membrane with adsorbent particles embedded in pores, useful in analysis, for purification or concentration. Patent DE10344820 A1
- 132. Weaver J, Husson MS, Murphy L, Wickramasinghe SR (2013) Anion exchange membrane absorbers for flow-through polishing steps: part II. Virus, host cell protein, DNA clearance and antibody recovery. Biotechnol. Bioeng 110:500–510
- 133. Schwenzfeier A, Lech FJ, Wierenga PA, Eppink MHM, Gruppen HA (2013) Foam properties of algae soluble protein isolate: effect of pH and ionic strength. Food Hydrocolloids 33(1):111–117
- 134. Conde E, Balboa EM, Parada M, Falque E (2013) Algal proteins, peptides and amino acids. Funct Ingredients Algae Foods Nutraceuticals:135. doi:10.1533/9780857098689.1.135
- 135. Bermejo R, Felipe MA, Talavera EM, Alvarez-Pez JM (2006) Expanded bed absorption chromatography for recovery of Phycocyanins from the microalgae Spirulina platentis. Chromatographia 63:59–66
- 136. Schwenzfeier A, Helbig A, Wierenga PA, Eppink MHM, Gruppen HA (2013) Emulsion properties of algae soluble protein isolate from Tetraselmis sp. Food Hydrocolloids 30:258–263
- 137. Gilbert-Lopez B, Mendiola JA, Fontecha J, van den Broek LAM, et al. (2015) Downstream processing of Isochrysis galbana: a step towards microalgal biorefinery. Green Chem 17:4599–4609
- 138. Kumar RR, Rao PH, Arumugam M (2015) Lipid extraction methods for microalgae: a comprehensive review. Front Energy Res 2:1–9
- 139. Taher H, Al-Zuhair S, Al-Marzouqi AH, Haik Y, Farid M (2014) Effective extraction of microalgae lipids from wet biomass for biodiesel production. Biomass Bioenergy 66:159–167
- 140. Kim K, Shin H, Moon M, Ryu B-G, et al. (2015) Evaluation of various harvesting methods for high-density microalgae *Aurantiochytrium* sp. Bioresour Technol 198:828–835
- 141. Halim R, Webley PA, Martin GJO (2016) The CIDES process: fractionation of concentrated microalgal paste for co-production of biofuel, nutraceuticals, and high-grade protein feed. Algal Res 19:299. doi:10.1016/j/algal.2015.09.018
- 142. Gendy TS, El-Temtamy SA (2013) Commercialization potential of microalgae for biofuel production: an overview. Egypt J Pet 22:43–51
- 143. Dominguez H (2013) Functional ingredients from algae for foods and nutraceuticals, Food science, technology and nutrition. Woodhead Publishing Limited, (Oxford). ISBN:978-0-85709-512-1
- 144. Buono S, Langellotti AL, Martello A, Rinna F, Fogliano V (2014) Functional ingredients from microalgae. Food Funct 5:1669–1685
- 145. Martin AH, Nieuwland M, de Jong GAH (2014) Characterization of heat-set gels from RuBisCO in comparison to those from other proteins. JAFC 62:10783–10791
- 146. Chen C-Y, Zhao X-Q, Yen H-W, Ho SH, et al. (2013) Microalgae-based carbohydrates for biofuel production. Biochem Eng J 78:1–10
- 147. De Jesus Raposo MF, Morais RMSC, Morais AMMB (2013) Bioactivity and applications of sulphated polysaccharides from marine microalgae. Mar Drugs 11:233–252
- 148. Misurcova L, Skrovankova S, Samek D, Ambrozova J, Machu L (2012) Health benefits of algal polysaccharides in human nutrition. Adv Food Nutr Res 66:75–145

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2019) 166: 125–136 DOI: 10.1007/10\_2016\_70 © Springer International Publishing AG 2017 Published online: 17 March 2017

# **Sugarcane-Biorefinery**



Sílvio Vaz

**Abstract** Concepts such as biorefinery and green chemistry focus on the usage of biomass, as with the oil value chain. However, it can cause less negative impact on the environment. A biorefinery based on sugarcane (*Saccharum* spp.) as feedstock is an example, because it can integrate into the same physical space, of processes for obtaining biofuels (ethanol), chemicals (from sugars or ethanol), electricity, and heat.

The use of sugarcane as feedstock for biorefineries is dictated by its potential to supply sugars, ethanol, natural polymers or macromolecules, organic matter, and other compounds and materials. By means of conversion processes (chemical, biochemical, and thermochemical), sugarcane biomass can be transformed into high-value bioproducts to replace petrochemicals, as a bioeconomy model.

Keywords Bioeconomy, Biomass, Green chemistry, Sugarcane, Sustainable chemistry

### Contents

1 Introdu	uction	126
2 Sugard	Sugarcane as a Feedstock for Biorefineries	
3 Perspe	ectives for Sugarcane Usages in Biorefineries	129
3.1 0	Chemical Processes	132
3.2 H	Biochemical Processes	133
3.3 1	Thermochemical Processes	133
4 Challe	nges Involved	134
4.1 7	Fechnical Challenges	134
4.2 E	Economic Challenges	135
5 Conclu	usion	135
References		135

S. Vaz (🖂)

Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation – National Research Center for Agroenergy (Embrapa Agroenergy) – Parque Estação Biológica, Av. W3 Norte (final), Asa Norte, CEP 70770-901 Brasília/DF, Brazil e-mail: silvio.vaz@embrapa.br

## 1 Introduction

The economic development of different biomass chains is part of the agenda for R&D&I in most developed and developing countries, such as Germany, France, USA, Brazil, and South Korea, among others, mobilizing large amounts of public and private effort and resources, and aiming at the optimized utilization of biomass. It is a trend that seeks to add value to supply chains and to reduce negative environmental impacts. Brazil is one of the major biomass producers for food and biofuels, and therefore these efforts are of great importance for the maintenance of a positive and less impactful economic scenario.

Concepts such as biorefinery and green chemistry focus on the usage of biomass, as with the oil value chain. However, it causes less impact on the environment, considering sustainable integrated systems (feedstock-processes-products-residues) according to technical parameters that take into account, among other things, mass and energy balances and lifecycle analysis.

It is possible to observe a great synergy between biorefineries and green chemistry, especially regarding the minimization of waste and negative environmental impacts, as well as promoting a "green economy." A biorefinery based on sugarcane as feedstock is an example, because it can integrate into the same physical space, of processes for obtaining biofuels (ethanol), chemicals (from sugars or ethanol), electricity, and heat.

We can consider on a scale of economic valuation [1] that fine chemicals and specialties developed from biomass are those with the greatest potential to add value on bioenergetic chains (as sugarcane). This is because of the strategic participation of the chemical industry in the supply of chemical commodities and final products to various economic sectors, such as petrochemical, pharmaceutical, automotive, construction, agroindustry, cosmetics, etc. Biofuels and materials are at a second level of valuation, followed by energy and chemical commodities such as fertilizers and pesticides.

In countries with a large production of sugarcane, such as Brazil, efforts have been made to promote the biomass economic potential, in accordance with the use of renewable sources to develop a sustainable chemistry as well as its use in biorefineries [2, 3]. It is important to mention that the use of residual biomass is crucial to enable the production of biofuels. Figure 1 shows the relationship between bioeconomy and renewable chemistry as a proposal for an innovative design to obtain good results for the usage of sugarcane in biorefineries.

In Brazil, sugarcane-biorefineries have a particularly great potential to share wealth based on a solid industrial leadership in this sector, when allied to technical and scientific development.



**Fig. 1** Relationship between bioeconomy and renewable chemistry for the usage of sugarcane biomass. Sugarcane-biorefineries can establish a bridge between these two concepts. Sugarcane mill courtesy of the Brazilian Sugarcane Industry Association (UNICA)

Table 1       Worldwide         sugarcane producers for the       year 2013	Country	Production (tonnes)
	Brazil	739,267,042
	India	341,200,000
	Mexico	61,182,077
	Colombia	34,876,332
	Indonesia	33,700,000
	USA	27,905,943
	Sources Each and Assignations Ones	minotion of the United Notions

Source: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [5]

## 2 Sugarcane as a Feedstock for Biorefineries

Table 1 describes the major worldwide sugarcane producers. As expected, the major producers are established in the tropical regions, excepted for the USA. We have a forecast of availability in these countries of 1.2 billion tonnes of sugarcane for biorefineries.

In Brazil, sugarcane is practically the only source of feedstock for sugar (sucrose) and its derivatives; in some countries, such as the USA, the major sugar source for ethanol is corn. Nowadays, the Brazilian production of ethanol (anhydrous and hydrated) is 27.5 million  $m^3$  and the production of commercial sugar is 37.3 million tonnes [4].

The use of sugarcane (*Saccharum* spp.) as feedstock for biorefineries is desirable because of its potential to supply the following compounds and materials:

- Sugars: sucrose (Broth), glucose (derived from cellulose and sucrose inversion), and xylose (derived from hemicellulose)
- Ethanol: from sucrose fermentation
- Natural polymers or macromolecules: cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, which are present in bagasse and straw (lignocellulosic biomass); they can be converted into hexose, pentose, and phenol sources, respectively
- Stillage or wastewater rich in organic matter
- Other compounds, such as higher alcohols and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) at a high purity content for food and chemical usages

The average mass composition of the sugarcane plant is presented in Table 2. Bagasse, as the main lignocellulosic biomass, has the following average mass composition [6]:

- Cellulose: 41.7 wt%
- Hemicellulose: 34 wt%
- Lignin: 12.6 wt%

Sucrose, which is a disaccharide originating from fructose and glucose monosaccharides, is used for ethanol production by fermentation and for commercial sugar production through separation and crystallization. However, one could obtain other molecules of higher value from sucrose, glucose and xylose, constituents of cellulose and hemicellulose, respectively. Bagasse is frequently used for animal feeding and production of bioelectricity by cogeneration in Brazil; the sugarcane mills then are self-sufficient in electricity [7]. The use of bagasse and straw for second generation (2G) ethanol production is a topic that has a large amount of published literature. However, commercial production requires certain barriers to be overcome, such as reducing the cost of development of enzymes and yeasts that ferment the pentoses from hemicellulose [8]. Stillage has been used both in generating biogas and in soil fertigation. However, frequent monitoring of its application is required because of the high content of ions and organic matter,

Table 2   Mass composition	Component	Average mass (wt%)	
<b>`able 2</b> Mass composition f the sugarcane plant [6]	Fiber	8-14	
	Fructose	0.2–1	
	Glucose	0.2–1	
	Sucrose	14–24	
	Various organic compounds	0.8-1.8	
	Various inorganic compounds	0.2–0.7	
	Water	75-82	

Table 3 Sugarcane components and derivatives with relevance to a biorefinery

Raw material	Main composition	Usages
Sucrose	Glucose and fructose	Commercial
		sugar
		Ethanol
		Renewable
		chemicals
Bagasse	Lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose, inorganics, and water	Animal food
		Bioelectricity
		Renewable
		chemicals
		Ethanol 2G
		Fibers and
		polymers
Straw	Lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose, inorganics, and water	Ethanol 2G
		Soil recovery
Vinasse (aqueous	Solubilized organic matter, inorganic solids, solubilized	Biogas
effluent)	inorganic salts, and water	Biofertilizer

which can alter the physicochemical properties of the soil, with subsequent leaching of ions (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, etc.) and groundwater pollution [9].

Table 3 shows the main sugarcane components and derivatives with economic potential for biorefineries. Ethanol stands out as the main product because it can be obtained from three of the four sugarcane components (sucrose, bagasse, and straw). Furthermore, it can be used to produce other derivatives for renewable chemistry, such as "green" plastics. Figure 2 shows the product tree obtained from a sugarcane-biorefinery.

## **3** Perspectives for Sugarcane Usages in Biorefineries

A biorefinery incorporates the technologies and processes used for the conversion of biomass into five types of products: energy, chemical commodities or bulk chemicals, biofuels, materials, and fine chemicals. The technologies are compiled into processes, which are divided into biochemical (fermentation and enzymatic



Fig. 2 Simplified flowchart of products (boxes in *orange*) for a sugarcane-biorefinery

catalysis), chemical (chemo-catalytic), and thermochemical (combustion, gasification, and pyrolysis).

Table 4 presents a description of target products with high added value that can be obtained from sugarcane by means of different processes. In this table, only building blocks and end-use products can be observed. They were defined according to the characteristics of Brazilian biomass, data from national and international scientific literature, and demand from the national chemical industry and related industries. Building blocks are molecules from which a number of other chemical products of economic interest originate. Synthesis intermediates are those

Target compound	Precursor	Route	Status
2,5-Furanodicarboxylic acid	Glucose from cellulose	Organic syn- thesis Fermentation	In development: improvement of catalysts, biocatalysts, micro- organisms, yield, others
Succinic acid	Xylose from hemicellulose	Fermentation	In development: improvement of micro-organisms and yields
Antioxidants	Lignin	Catalytic cracking	In development: improvement of catalysts, yield, others
Derivatives from cellu- lose (acids, esters, nitrates, ethers, etc.)	Cellulose	Organic synthesis	Established industrial processes
2G ethanol	Glucose from cellulose Xylose from hemicellulose	Fermentation	In production but with improve- ment of enzymes, micro- organisms, yields, and cost reduction
Phenols	Lignin	Catalytic cracking	In development: improvement of catalysts, yield, others
Furfural	Xylose from hemicellulose	Organic synthesis	Established industrial processes: still needing to improve cata- lysts, yields, others
Gas of synthesis (CO + H <sub>2</sub> )	Lignocellulosic biomass	Gasification	Established industrial processes based on petroleum: still need- ing to improve yields
5-Hydroxymethylfurfural	Cellulose	Organic synthesis	Established industrial processes: still needing to improve cata- lysts, yields, others
Sulfonated lignins	Lignin	Organic synthesis	Established industrial processes
Xylitol	Xylose from hemicellulose	Organic synthesis	In development: improvement of catalysts, yield, others

 Table 4
 New products from sugarcane identified as having high potential for biorefineries

Source: adapted from [7]

compounds used in small quantities as fine chemical reagents and in the production of drugs, pesticide, and cosmetics, among others. Chemical specialties must be considered, which are restricted to certain specific purposes.

Even with the laudable efforts of institutions such as the DOE-NREL (US Department of Energy – National Renewable Energy Laboratory) in R&D, product survey, and potential routes, most "green" compounds (or bioproducts) have not reached the stage of industrial maturity. A strong exception is succinic acid: considered as one of the main opportunities for renewable chemicals because of its possible application as building blocks [3, 10, 11] industrial production has started [12]. However, it is necessary to evaluate each molecule according to the market scenario, and two major aspects that must be considered are (1) commercial balance for chemicals (deficit or surplus) and (2) the need for synthesis intermediates, mainly for drugs, which may become more interesting than the search for building blocks, usually seen on the international scenario.

The current technological scenario, taken from the information shown in Tables 2 and 3, suggests a production of a wide range of products – as covered in Fig. 2 – in a model similar to an oil refinery. Furthermore, the American Chemical Society published in 2014 a revision of compounds from DOE-NREL's forecasts considering building block molecules for biobased polymers [11], adding information to Table 4:

- 3-Hydroxypropionic acid from bacterial fermentation of glucose from sucrose likely in 10 years for commercial step
- · Sorbitol from hydrogenation of glucose from sucrose likely in 10 years
- Levulinic acid from acid-catalyzed dehydration of sugars (hexose or pentose) maybe likely in 10 years

The main processes to be applied in a sugarcane-biorefinery are described in the following.

## 3.1 Chemical Processes

Chemical processes are those based exclusively on chemical reactions (forming or breaking). In Fig. 2 it is possible to observe that organic synthesis is very relevant for biomass conversion. Usually a biomass component is extracted and purified and, subsequently, used as starting material in a synthetic route. Catalysts are often used to increase the yield of product of interest and to decrease the reaction time – the chemical processes are chemo-catalytic. This can be seen in several aspects of green chemistry, such as the use of renewable feedstock, catalysts, and the reduction of waste production [13].

In the case of utilization of cellulose and hemicellulose from lignocellulosic waste (bagasse and straw), first these polymers and their constituent sugars must be obtained, especially glucose (hexose) and xylose (pentose), respectively, to obtain products of industrial interest, such as ethanol 2G [14]. With lignin, the breaking of its molecular structure is initially attempted to release mainly phenolic compounds which may be tested, for example, as monomers for various routes of preparation. Obtaining building blocks and synthesis intermediates is the usual approach used by R&D projects to add greater value in bioenergetic chains in a biorefinery [3, 10, 15]. Building blocks, such as furfural and xylitol (derived from xylose constituent of hemicellulose) and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (derived from glucose), among others, can add great value to carbohydrates, which can be extended to derivatives of lignin [1, 7, 10, 11, 14], as reported in Table 3.

It is worth commenting on the development and use of catalysts for these processes, given their importance for improving yields and selectivities (enantioselectivity, regioselectivity, and stereoselectivity). Zeolites have been used in the cracking of lignins [16]. The metals (soluble and insoluble salts and complexes) have been applied to heterogeneous catalysis (Ni, Pd/C, Ru/C, Co-Mo, Ni-Mo, Ru/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, etc.) to reduce lignins [10, 16] and metal complexes of V, Mn,

Co, Pd, Fe, Re, and Cu acting as homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts for cellulose oxidation, among other reactions [17].

## 3.2 Biochemical Processes

The biochemical processes in Fig. 2 are fermentation for the production of first generation ethanol (1G) and other chemicals, such as alcohols and other organic acids, and anaerobic digestion for production of biogas and biofertilizer (mineralized fraction). Enzymatic catalysis contributes to increase the rate of metabolic reactions involved in biochemical conversion routes.

Biochemical processes have major operational similarity to chemical processes with respect to the stages of compositional analysis and characterization of the feedstock, pre-treatment (whenever necessary), structural identification, and study of industrial potential. However, the main feature of these processes relates to the use of microorganisms (fungi, bacteria and yeast), which have the biochemical mechanisms that allow the synthesis of organic chemicals, such as ethanol. For example, production of ethanol (1G and 2G) by the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by means fermentation of sucrose also produces carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) [8], a carbon dioxide with a high purity degree and heat for industrial purposes.

Anaerobic fermentation of organic matter present in the vinasse mainly produces methane (biogas) and carbon dioxide, as well as mineral residue rich in inorganic salts of nitrogen, sulfur, and carbon (biofertilizer) [18]. In this case, bacterial consortia are used, formed by *Acinetobacter*, *Arthrobacter*, *Bacillus*, and *Brevbacterium*, among others [19].

The bacteria *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* can be used for the production of lactic acid via fermentation of glucose and *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens* for the production of succinic acid through fermentation of pentoses and hexoses [10]. However, despite the high potential for production of a large amount of chemicals, the slow rate of reaction (kinetic of conversion) and the difficulty in separating final products (downstream step) can, in some cases, limit the use of bioprocesses in sugarcane-biorefineries for products other than ethanol.

On the other hand, enzymes, such as cellulase,  $\beta$ -glucosidase, and xylanase, are widely used in the hydrolysis of cellulose and hemicellulose to release glucose and xylose, respectively [8].

## 3.3 Thermochemical Processes

As for chemical and biochemical processes, the steps of compositional analysis and characterization of feedstocks and the structural identification and study of industrial potential are common. Nevertheless, the main characteristic of these processes is the use of thermal energy that leads to combustion, gasification, or pyrolysis. Through the combustion, it generates thermal energy (heat) [20]; through the gasification it generates synthesis gas (syngas), which is mainly composed of carbon monoxide (CO) and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>), to be used in organic synthesis of various molecules for the chemical industry [21] by Fisher–Tropsch reaction [22]. Fast pyrolysis produces bio-oil (rich in polar and non-polar organic compounds) and bio-char (a soil fertilizer). Cogeneration is a combined thermal process in which electrical energy is produced. Biomass combustion generates heat, which heats the water, generating steam, moving the turbines for the production of bioelectricity, which can either be used by the biorefinery itself or be sold to the electric grid.

As seen in Table 4, gasification is a process that can add value to the biomass waste. Syngas and fast pyrolysis can produce renewable chemicals to substitute for several petrochemicals.

#### 4 Challenges Involved

As already mentioned, many of the target products shown in this chapter are subjects of extensive literature, mainly in the areas of organic chemistry, biotechnology, and chemical engineering. However, in some cases, there are no processes established for industrial production, which points scientific, technical, and economic challenges, separate or combined, which need to be overcome. It is important to consider, however, that the worldwide marketing of chemicals involves values around USD 100 billion per year, of which about 3% relates to bioproducts or biomass derivatives. It is estimated that the total market share could reach 25% by the year 2025 [23]. These figures give an idea of the possibilities and risks involved. For specialties and fine chemicals, the current participation of renewable – about 25% in both segments – could reach a market share of 50%, whereas for polymers, the current 10% could reach 20%, also in 2025 [24].

## 4.1 Technical Challenges

The technical challenges involve technological developments or improvements that allow the scale-up of processes developed in the laboratory such as separation methods, process optimization, energy efficiency, among others; a clear example of these observations is 2G ethanol.

Failure to overcome this kind of challenge can derail the production of certain bioproducts, as a value-added molecule, which can show great market potential in its R&D stage. Therefore, a well-planned R&D stage must have proper technological support to enable the laboratory scale to move on to an industrial scale.

# 4.2 Economic Challenges

One of the main economic challenges concerns attracting and allocating funds in R&D&I projects and, subsequently, in demonstration of technology projects. The rise and the possible decline of said "green" chemicals needs to be considered in the budget planning of development projects or for renewable compounds production, as previous international scenarios related to the chemical industry draw attention to external market factors [11, 24]. Nowadays, shale gas could be a threat for renewable chemicals based on its lower cost.

Nevertheless, the existing demand for ethanol 1G and the beginning of ethanol 2G production provides a favorable economic environment for the sugarcanebiorefinery.

#### 5 Conclusion

This chapter attempts to show the great economic potential of sugarcanebiorefineries. Building blocks and synthesis intermediates are good examples of potential bioproducts in a medium and large horizon, integrated into ethanol, sugar, and bioenergy production. Energy and biofuel are very important in sugarcane industrial exploitation, in which the conceptual model is the petrochemical refinery.

When evaluating products mentioned as potential in other regions of the world, it should be noted that they do not always reflect local needs, justifying the use of own information obtained in studies conducted to adapt better for national scenarios, technical and scientific planning, and investment resources.

Chemical, biochemical, and thermochemical processes are fundamental to exploiting the full economic potential of sugarcane. However, strong actions are still required to overcome several challenges, comprising mainly pre-treatments, synthesis routes, catalysts, and microorganisms. However, is very important to establish an integrated sugarcane-biorefinery to achieve the real economic potential for the sugarcane biomass.

Scientific, technical, and economic challenges must be overcome by the government and private sector. It should allow sugarcane-biorefineries to turn into a viable alternative to the replacement of the productive chain based on oil – a non-renewable feedstock – leading to a positive environmental, social, and economic impact as a model of the bioeconomy based on renewable biomass.

# References

1. Vaz S Jr (2014) Perspectives for the Brazilian residual biomass in renewable chemistry. Pure Appl Chem 86:833–842. doi:10.1515/pac-2013-0917

- 2. Centro de Gestão e Estudos Estratégicos (2010) Química verde no Brasil: 2010–2030. CGEE, Brasília, 438 pp
- 3. United States Department of Energy (2004) Top value added chemicals from biomass: results of screening for potential candidates from sugars and synthesis gas. US-DOE, Springfield, p 76
- 4. Brazilian Sugarcane Industry Association (2014) Unicadata. Available on: http://www.unicadata.com.br/. Accessed 14 Dec 2015
- 5. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2013) Faostat. Available on: http:// faostat3.fao.org/home/E. Accessed 14 Dec 2015
- 6. Dinardo-Miranda LL, Vasconcelos ACM, Landell MGA (eds) (2008) Cana-de-açúcar. Instituto Agronômico, Campinas, 882 pp
- 7. Vaz SJ (2014) A renewable chemistry linked to the Brazilian biofuel production. Chem Biol Technol Agric 1:13. doi:10.1186/s40538-014-0013-1
- Sarkar N, Ghosh SK, Bannerjee S, Aikat K (2012) Bioethanol production from agricultural wastes: an overview. Renew Energy 37:19–27. doi:10.1016/j.renene.2011.06.045
- Da Silva MAS, Griebeler NP, Borges LC (2007) Uso de vinhaça e impactos nas propriedades do solo e lençol freático. Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agrícola e Ambiental 11:108-114. doi:10.1590/S1415-43662007000100014
- Bozell JJ, Petersen GR (2010) Technology development for the production of biobased products from biorefinery carbohydrates - the US Department of Energy's Top 10 revisited. Green Chem 12:539–554. doi:10.1039/B922014C
- 11. Bomgardner MM (2014) Biobased polymers. Chem Eng News 92:10-14
- BioAmber (2015) Products. Available on: http://www.bio-amber.com/bioamber/en/ products#succinic\_acid. Accessed 14 Dec 2015
- Anastas PT, Warner JC (1998) Green chemistry: theory and practice. Oxford University Press, New York, p 30
- 14. Kamm B, Gruber PR, Kamm M (2006) Biorefineries: industrial processes and products: status quo and future directions. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 406 pp
- 15. United States Department of Energy (2007) Top value added chemicals from biomass: results of screening for potential candidates from biorefinery lignin. US-DOE, Springfield, p 79
- Zakzeski J, Bruijnincx PCA, Jongerius AL, Weckhuysen BM (2010) The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. Chem Rev 110:3552–3599. doi:10.1021/ cr900354u
- Collinson SR, Thielemans W (2010) New materials focusing on starch, cellulose and lignin. Coord Chem Rev 254:1854–1870. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.04.007
- Salomon KR, Lora EES (2009) Estimate of the electric energy generating potential for different sources of biogas in Brazil. Biomass Bioenergy 33:1101–1107. doi:10.1016/j. biombioe.2009.03.001
- Cutright TJ (2002) Biotechnology principles. In: Ghassemi A (ed) Handbook of pollution and waste minimization. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 189–232
- 20. Nussbaumer T (2003) Combustion and co-combustion of biomass: fundamentals, technologies, and primary measures for emission reduction. Energy Fuels 17:1510–1521. doi:10.1021/ef030031q
- 21. Akay G, Jordan CA (2011) Gasification of fuel cane bagasse in a downdraft gasifier: influence of lignocellulosic composition and fuel particle size on syngas composition and yield. Energy Fuels 25:2274–2283. doi:10.1021/ef101494w
- 22. Gökalp I, Lebas E (2004) Alternative fuels for industrial gas turbines (AFTUR). Appl Therm Eng 24:1655–1663. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2003.10.035
- Vijayendran BJ (2010) Bio products from bio refineries trends, challenges and opportunities. J Bus Chem 7:109–115
- 24. Biotechnology Industry Organization (2010) Biobased chemicals and products: a new driver for green jobs. Available on: http://www.bio.org/articles/biobased-chemicals-and-products-new-driver-green-jobs. Accessed 14 Dec 2015

# **Starch Biorefinery Enzymes**



Albrecht Läufer

Abstract Nature uses enzymes to build and convert biomass; mankind uses the same enzymes and produces them on a large scale to make optimum use of biomass in biorefineries. Bacterial  $\alpha$ -amylases and fungal glucoamylases have been the workhorses of starch biorefineries for many decades. Pullulanases were introduced in the 1980s. Proteases, cellulases, hemicellulases, and phytases have been on the market for a few years as process aids, improving yields, performance, and costs. Detailed studies of the complex chemical structures of biomass and of the physicochemical limitations of industrial biorefineries have led enzyme developers to produce novel tailor-made solutions for improving yield and profitability in the industry. This chapter reviews the development of enzyme applications in the major starch biorefining processes.

Keywords Beer brewing, DDGS, Fuel ethanol, High fructose corn syrup, Industrial enzymes

#### Contents

1	Enzy	mes in Starch Biorefinery: Status	
	and l	Perspectives	138
2	Starch Biorefineries: Processes and Products		139
	2.1	Glucose, Maltose, and HFCS	140
	2.2	Fuel Ethanol	142
	2.3	Beer Brewing	145
	2.4	Further Enzymatic Processes with Starch	147
3	Deve	lopment and Manufacturing of Starch Enzymes	148
	3.1	Industrial Players in Starch Enzymes	148

A. Läufer (🖂)

Corvay GmbH, Hannover, Germany

e-mail: albrecht.laeufer@corvay.de

	3.2	Origins of Starch Enzymes	148
	3.3	Expression Host Strains	150
4	Tren	ds in Development of Enzymes for the Starch Conversion Industry	150
Re	ferenc	es	151

# 1 Enzymes in Starch Biorefinery: Status and Perspectives

The annual production of starch worldwide was 48.5 million metric tons (mt) in the year 2000 [1]. This grew to 62 million mt in 2008 [2]; this figure includes over 25 million mt of starch used for ethanol production in the US because of the growing support via RFS (Renewable Fuel Standard). Annual starch production is estimated to have grown to 85 million mt in 2015.

The revenue of the starch and starch derivatives industry was \$51.2 billion in 2012 and is expected to reach \$77.4 billion by 2018, at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 7.1% between 2012 and 2018 [3].

Against this figure, the value of the starch enzymes market is comparatively small at \$1.5 billion worldwide, the majority being in the USA [4] and there in the corn-to-ethanol and grain-to-glucose and high-fructose syrups industries. Starch enzymes are, however, of strategic importance to the starch industry; without enzymes, no refinery products. Major products are those enzymes which hydrolyze the 1-4 and 1-6 glucosidic bonds occurring in amylose and amylopectins, that is, α-amylases, pullulanases, and glucoamylases. A substantial amount of work has been devoted to the search and generation of new and better variants of these enzymes. Other enzyme types have been added to the portfolio. Proteases have been playing a role for some time, and cellulases and hemicellulases as well as phytases have been introduced more recently. These enzymes are employed to improve productivity of the biorefinery plant by improving process characteristics, for example, better flow, less pH adjustment, lower viscosity, less water usage, less nitrogen source added, less cleaning efforts in the downstream part of the factory. They improve the yield or quality or both of side products, for example, corn oil or DDGS (Distiller's Dried Grains with Solubles). Their development and usage is based on a deep understanding of the industrial biorefinery process and the physicochemical structure of the biomass from which the starch is retrieved, that is, corn, wheat, cassava, or other sources.

Innovation in starch enzymes is driven by the main market sectors, corn-toethanol and grain-to-sugar conversion. Within these industries the main drivers are increase of plant profitability and competitiveness between the major enzyme suppliers. The bioethanol industry is suffering from low crude oil prices and is looking for every means to improve the margins of their factories by reducing costs of process additives and increasing revenues from co-products. Large volumes of bulk enzymes from China are reaching the US and Europe at very competitive prices, and thus the innovators need to defend their portfolio and stay ahead with ever novel unique selling points (USPs) of their products. A third driver for new enzyme applications is new feedstocks: improvements to existing crops, such as Syngenta's maize branded Enogen<sup>®</sup> containing  $\alpha$ -amylase genes, and increased use of other feedstocks such as sorghum or cassava, give enzyme developers food for new thought and formulations.

## 2 Starch Biorefineries: Processes and Products

The industrial use of starch crops varies strongly from region to region. Number one product in the US is fuel ethanol and number two is high fructose corn syrup (HFCS). In other regions of the world the majority of starch goes into the food and beverage sectors as starch, sweetener, or potable alcohol, and, secondly, into the paper industry. Relatively small amounts are used for the production of organic acids and bioplastics [2]. In China the use of starch for non-food products such as fuel or chemicals is discouraged [5]. Despite this, fuel ethanol production in China is forecast for 2016 to reach 3.15 billion L (2.49 million mt), up 2.6% from 2015. China's ethanol production has caught up to become number three in the world after the US and Brazil [6].

In the food sector, enzymes are used to modify starch in baking or they are added in the brewery or distillery process. Modified and regular starches find a multitude of applications in cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, or adhesives.

The crop for producing starch varies by region. Although in the US 98% of starch comes from maize or corn [2], in other regions of the world wheat is the biggest source, followed by rice and potato. Cassava is increasingly used for fuel ethanol production in Asia and Africa [2]. The type of starch crop influences the choice of the enzyme formulation, as the molecular structures of the starch compounds and the structure of the complexes between starch and other constituents such as hemicellulose, cellulose, oil, and proteins differ from plant to plant.

Figure 1 shows in an abstract scheme the pathways from starch crops to products, highlighting in red those process steps where enzymes are being applied; these are explained further below.

All processes start with milling of the starch-containing crop followed by physical separation processes and addition of enzymes at various stages. *Wet milling* is primarily used for physical fractionation of native starch from fibers, proteins, and oil. Cellulases and xylanases are used in wet milling of wheat to improve the separation of starch and gluten proteins [7]. The resulting starch is either used directly in food, pharmaceutical, cosmetic, or technical applications or further fractionated; it can also be chemically or enzymatically modified or enzymatically converted to glucose, fructose, or cyclodextrins. One of the technical applications is use as a carbon source in fermentation processes.

*Dry milling* is technically less demanding than wet milling. It is the major process used in the corn-to-ethanol industry and is obviously the process of choice to prepare flour and fiber or protein co-products from grain.



Fig. 1 Schematic outline of a starch biorefinery. Process steps where enzymes are applied are marked in red

Numerous reviews have been published on the starch refinery, for example, [8–10], and further process details can be found there. Those steps, however, where enzymes are relevant, are discussed below.

## 2.1 Glucose, Maltose, and HFCS

Glucose, maltose, and HFCS are by far the largest volume products from starch besides fuel ethanol. The value of the glucose syrup market was estimated at \$24 billion in 2013 and is estimated to grow to around \$33 billion by the end of 2018 [11]. The production volume worldwide is 18 million mt for glucose syrups, maltose syrups, and maltodextrins, and 14 million mt for HFCS [7].

Figure 2 provides a schematic view of the major enzymatic steps in producing various syrups from starch. To enable enzymes to act, starch needs to be gelatinized before the insoluble microgranules are prone to enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis. Gelatinization is achieved in different ways: for HFCS and glucose syrups most plants use jet cookers and for maltose syrups temperatures around 60 °C are used. The first step in starch conversion is breaking down the two major polymers, amylose and amylopectin, into oligomers called dextrins, using  $\alpha$ -amylases under starch-gelatinizing conditions. This process is called liquefaction, as the highly viscous slurry formed by solid starch granule polymers is transformed into a much


less viscous syrup containing dissolved oligosaccharides or dextrins. The second step in sugar syrup generation is called saccharification. In this step the dextrins are converted to glucose by the action of glucoamylase. The chemistry and enzyme biochemistry of these conversion steps have been covered extensively elsewhere [12]. The application of industrial enzymes in processing starch to sugar syrups is reviewed in [7].

One enzymatic step is needed to produce maltose syrups, two for glucose syrup, and three for HFCS.

For production of the disaccharide maltose a fungal  $\alpha$ -amylase from *Aspergillus* oryzae is used [7]. This enzyme breaks down gelatinized starch to maltotriose and maltose and is used to produce high maltose syrups. A combination of pullulanase and  $\beta$ -amylase from barley is used for very high maltose syrups. If glucose content should be higher, fungal glucoamylase is added. Maltose syrups are produced in wide varieties for specific applications in the brewing industry as well as for confectionary and baking.

Glucose syrups are produced in two steps: starch liquefaction followed by saccharification (see Fig. 2). Today, most plants operate a jet cooking process for starch gelatinization and liquefaction. This is made possible by development of thermostable  $\alpha$ -amylases which are mixed into the starch slurry which is then pumped through a jet cooker where steam is injected and the temperature is raised to 105 °C for a short time. At such a temperature, full gelatinization of the starch occurs, followed by hydrolysis to dextrins; further hydrolysis to lower molecular weight dextrins occurs by holding the mash at 80–95 °C. Saccharification is then carried out at around 60 °C using glucoamylases and pullulanases. Pullulanase cleaves  $\alpha$ -1,6-bonds in amylopectin and thus supports fungal glucoamylase which

bites away one glucose molecule at a time from the reducing end of the amylose molecule.

If glucose is converted partially (45–50%) to fructose, a syrup is obtained which is as sweet as sucrose syrup but cheaper in cost. Thus HFCS has become the preferred sweetener in the soft drink industry; about 14 million mt are produced annually, of which about 8 mt are produced in the US [7]. Fructose formation from glucose is catalyzed by glucose isomerase (GI). The enzyme is relatively expensive; moreover, the glucose syrup is a relatively pure feedstock stream. Therefore it is possible to use immobilized GI in cylindrical reactors, up to 1.5 m in width and up to 5 m in height. One such reactor can produce up to 50 mt of HCFS per day. The half-life of immobilized GIs can be as long as 200 days, that is, a reactor needs to be freshly loaded approximately every 600 days.

# 2.2 Fuel Ethanol

Ethanol is by far the largest volume product produced from starch. If produced from corn, as a co-product corn oil can be sold into the food and feed industries and into biodiesel production. Other alcohols are produced via fermentation from starch, such as *n*-butanol or iso-butanol, but these processes are not yet developed to the stage of fully integrated refineries as in the ethanol first or second generation industry. First generation ethanol covers the corn-to-ethanol plants mostly in the US and reviewed below; second generation ethanol means ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass, covered elsewhere in this volume.

Close to 15 billion gallons or 45 million mt of ethanol were produced in 2015 from corn in the USA [13]. RFS and the high octane value of ethanol – and thus its antiknocking action in gasoline – are responsible for this large volume. This amount is moderately stable for the time being, as crude oil prices are too low to allow good margins in the corn-to-ethanol industry and as the industry is encouraged to switch from first to second generation ethanol.

Corn-to-ethanol biorefineries mostly use the so-called dry-milling process (Fig. 3) for breaking down the corn kernels; only in a few cases is wet-milling used. These processes have been extensively reviewed [7-10] (Fig. 1).

In dry milling the corn is ground, in most plants by hammer mills, to a meal containing all constituents of the kernel, that is, mostly starch (amyloses and amylopectin) but also protein, oil, salts, and phytin. Then the gelatinization and liquefaction process starts and water is added together with lime and a thermostable  $\alpha$ -amylase. The resulting meal slurry, 28–37 wt%, in some plants is passed through a jet cooker, where steam is injected, temperature is increased to 105 °C for about 5 min, and then the slurry is pumped further into a liquefaction tank and kept there for a further 1–2 h at around 90 °C. Other plants do not operate a jet cooker and the meal slurry enters directly into the liquefaction tank. The addition of lime is needed to provide Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions to the active center of the  $\alpha$ -amylase; in recent years one major focus of development has been the reduction of Ca<sup>2+</sup> use.  $\alpha$ -Amylases with higher



binding affinities for the  $Ca^{2+}$  ion at their active center have been generated by targeted modification and by screening of novel enzymes from other donor organisms.

In a novel variation of the corn-to-ethanol process, the feedstock itself has been used to provide part of the processing enzymes. Corn was genetically modified to contain a high level of  $\alpha$ -amylase already as part of the enzyme portfolio in the gluten. This trait has been developed by the agrochemical giant Syngenta and branded Enogen<sup>®</sup>. The  $\alpha$ -amylase released from the Enogen<sup>®</sup> corn kernel is said to reduce the viscosity of the meal slurry, energy cost, and water consumption. It may also reduce the amount of thermostable  $\alpha$ -amylase needed for liquefaction. Although the idea of such a development is brilliant, and the practical advantages were obviously proven in quite a few plant trials, a practical problem was introduced for the farmers. This has to do with the reluctance of the European Union and some of its member countries to accept gene modification in food and feed, and it has been used politically by the Peoples Republic of China some years back. Enogen<sup>®</sup> should by no means be mixed with other corn which is targeted at the food or feed markets outside the US, otherwise the food or feed products containing traces of gene modified corn can be banned [14].

The mash coming from the liquefaction tank is pumped further into fermenters, huge stirred tanks of up to a million gallons in volume, that is, up to  $4,000 \text{ m}^3$ .

Fungal glucoamylase and yeast are added for simultaneous saccharification and fermentation at dry weight concentrations of meal ranging from 29wt% to 37wt%. The yeast is either delivered on site from a yeast factory in dry or liquid form, or it is produced in seed fermenters next to the ethanol fermenters. Other process enzymes may be added at the fermenter stage: acid proteases, phytases, and cellulases.

Proteases are added to hydrolyze maize proteins to amino acids and thus provide building blocks to the yeast for improved growth and reduce the need to feed a nitrogen source, mostly urea. Also attributed to the addition of proteases is an increase in corn oil recovery [15, 16]. Thermostable proteases have recently been developed for the purpose of increased corn oil recovery. These proteases are added at the downstream stages of the corn-to-ethanol process, after ethanol has been removed by distillation, to the whole stillage or thin stillage (see below) [17].

Phytase is added to hydrolyze phytin contained in the corn and generate phosphate. This phosphate in turn can be utilized by the yeast as a growth factor and thus less phosphate needs to be added to the fermenter, in turn less phosphate featuring on the bill for waste water treatment [18].

Finally, it has been observed recently that the addition of cellulases and hemicellulases into the fermenter improves the availability of starch and the release of corn oil from the microstructures still present after hammer milling and jet-cooking [16, 19].

After 48–60 h the fermenter broth is transferred into a holding tank, the so-called beer well. After the beer well, the process, which was continuous in the milling and jet-cooking stages, then becomes a batch process in liquefaction and fermentation becomes a continuous process again. Ethanol is removed by distillation and further purified by rectification and dewatered by molecular sieves. What is left after ethanol removal is called "whole stillage." The whole stillage is pumped into a centrifuge, yielding "thin stillage" and "wet cake." From 15% to 50% of the thin stillage is recycled as "back set" into the fermenter. The major part is concentrated into a syrup by passing through a series of evaporators. In the middle of the series of evaporators an oil centrifuge has been installed in recent years by almost all ethanol plants in the US: corn oil is separated from the syrup and sold into the biodiesel industry.

The final concentrated syrup is mixed into the wet cake and this is dried to DDGS. DDGS production is 45 million mt per year in the USA, and most of this is fed to cattle, both for milk and for meat production. The remainder is used for poultry or swine feeding.

Corn oil and DDGS were considered negligible side products 10 years ago. They are now co-products which each and every ethanol plant needs to examine closely to improve its margin which is under pressure from low crude oil prices. Thus it is of prime importance to the plant to increase corn oil recovery from syrup, and if possible to increase the feeding quality of the DDGS.

This trend makes the corn-to-ethanol plant a true biorefinery, converting starchcontaining feedstock into a bundle of products: ethanol, corn oil, and DDGS.

An ethanol plant with an annual production capacity of 100 million gallons may typically produce 23–30 million pounds of corn oil, equivalent to 10,000–14,000 mt

per year. Corn oil recovery can be increased by 10-25% by adding proteases or cellulases and hemicellulases; see above [15–19]. Such increase means additional production of 1,000-1,400 mt per year.

The same ethanol plant, producing 100 million gallons of ethanol and 10,000–14,000 mt of corn oil, also produces about 160,000 mt of DDGS annually. DDGS has been discovered to be a valuable feedstock; in addition to the fibers coming from the corn kernel, it contains residual maize proteins, residual oil, and all the yeast biomass. DDGS is a good feedstuff for ruminants but for monogastrics such as poultry or swine there are limitations, mainly because of the structure of the fibers. Development work is underway to improve feeding value and inclusion rate by adding cellulase/xylanase enzyme blends to the beer well or the fermenter. Improvement of DDGS nutritional value has been shown to be effectuated by the addition of a blend of hemicellulases and cellulases to the beer well [20–22]. This enzyme blend reduces the amount of fibers in the DDGS which harm digestibility. The nutritional effects need to be studied more in detail.

Although corn oil and DDGS have become valuable co-products of the corn ethanol industry, enzymes are also being used to improve process efficiency and/or to reduce unwanted waste products. Protease for the purpose of supplying amino acid to yeast has been mentioned above. Phytase is another enzyme frequently added to the fermentation process [18]. Phytin or phytic acid is a phosphate storage compound in plants; the sugar inositol is sixfold phosphorylated. Phytin has a threefold effect: (1) in the waste water of ethanol plants, or secondary in the waste streams of poultry or swine who are on a DDGS diet but cannot metabolize phytin, a phosphate problem for the environment is generated; (2) phytic acid in the upstream part of the process acts as an inhibitor to at least some of the  $\alpha$ -amylases commercially used, for example, the  $\alpha$ -amylase from *Bacillus stearothermophilus*; (3) phytin in the downstream process of the ethanol plant enhances viscosity and fouling in the evaporators. Phytase, by hydrolyzing the phytin, solves all these problems; it provides better stability and activity to the  $\alpha$ -amylase and thus better liquefaction, it decreases viscosity in the DSP, it provides free phosphate in the DDGS, and it enhances feeding quality. To do so, it must be added prior to the liquefaction process, a process scheme suggested by [18].

In summary, the processing of grain really is to be considered as a biorefinery: crude feedstock biomass is split up by physical and chemical means, part of the product stream (starch) is directly converted further to the final product ethanol, side product corn oil is recovered, and, as with pitch in the crude oil refinery, DDGS is a complex product which in the past was considered of low value but is now considered a valuable product stream.

# 2.3 Beer Brewing

Beer brewing may be considered the finest possible starch biorefinery, at least as far as taste of the end product is concerned. Looking at the complexity of the feedstock

it makes a lot of sense to support the brewing process by externally added enzymes. This is practiced worldwide on a large scale, except for Germany. Here the so-called Reinheitsgebot (= beer purity act) dating back to the year 1516 strictly interpreted forbids the addition of anything other than barley, hop and water to the beer-making process.

In the classical beer-brewing process the enzymes to liquefy and saccharify grain-based (mostly barley) starch are intrinsically provided by the mashing process from the grain's own enzyme constituents. Exogenous enzymes are added to supplement the endogenous enzymes and guarantee process outcome; additionally, new types of beer can be created such as low-carbohydrate "light beer", or the beer maturation time can be shortened. Moreover, overall cost can be reduced and raw material other than the relatively expensive malt can be used, for example, rice or sorghum. A complete overview of the possible use of commercial enzymes is provided in [23]. Table 1 has been extracted from this source.

Operation	Enzymes	Enzyme action	Function
Decoction ves- sel (cereal	α-Amylase	Hydrolyse starch	Adjunct <sup>a</sup> liquefaction. Reduce viscosity
cooker)	β-Glucanase	Hydrolyse glucans	Aid the filtration
Mashing	α-Amylase	Hydrolyse starch	Malt improvement
	Amyloglucosidase	Increase glucose content	Increase % fermentable sugar in "light" beer
	Debranching enzyme	Hydrolyse α-1,6 branch points of starch	Secures maximum fermentability of the wort
	Proteases	Increase soluble protein, and free amino-nitrogen (FAN)	Malt improvement. Improved yeast growth
	β-Glucanase	Hydrolyse glucans	Improve wort separation
	Pentosanase/ xylanase	Hydrolyse pentosans of malt, barley, wheat	Improve extraction and beer filtration
Fermentation	Fungal α-amylase	Increase maltose and glu- cose content	Increase % fermentable sugar in "light" beer
	β-Glucanase	Hydrolyze glucans	Reduce viscosity and aid filtration
	α-Acetolactate- decarboxylase (ALDC)	Converts $\alpha$ -acetolactate to acetoin directly	Decrease fermentation time by avoiding formation of diacetyl
Conditioning tank	Protease	Modify protein- polyphenolic compounds	Reduce the chill haze formed in beer

Table 1 Overview of possible use of commercial enzymes in starch biorefineries

<sup>a</sup>Adjunct is starchy cereals such as maize, rice, wheat, sorghum, barley, or pure starch materials added to the mash

## 2.4 Further Enzymatic Processes with Starch

#### 2.4.1 Potable Alcohol Distilling

As in beer brewing, starch from many sources can be converted to alcohol for human consumption. In principle, the enzymes applied correspond to those used in producing glucose syrups from starch; see above. The distillers industry is a much more fragmented industry than the starch refining industry. There are large manufacturers of potable alcohol such as Cargill [24], but numerous medium sized and small and specialist distillers exist. These are serviced by distributors who are selling specially confectionated blends and provide process application services to each plant. The enzymes used are basically the same as in the brewing industry.

#### 2.4.2 Enzymes in Starch Modification

Starch can be modified by branching enzymes and amylomaltase; thereby the degree of branching is increased, the degree of digestibility in the digestive tract is reduced, and "low calorie starch" is generated. The increase in branching degree also causes better mouth feel and aroma release [7, 25, 26].

Starch-branching enzymes (SBEs) generate  $\alpha$ -1,6-bonds in  $\alpha$ -glucans by cleaving internal  $\alpha$ -1,4 bonds and transferring the reducing ends released to C-6 hydroxyl groups. SBEs form one of the four major enzyme classes involved in starch biosynthesis in plants and algae.

#### 2.4.3 Enzymes in Cyclodextrin Production

Cyclodextrins are cyclic oligosaccharides or dextrins. They are produced from starch by enzymatic conversion with cyclodextrin glycosyl transferase or CGTase. They are used in the food, pharmaceuticals, and chemical industries and in agriculture and environmental engineering. Typical cyclodextrins contain six to eight glucose monomers,  $\alpha$ -cyclodextrin contains six,  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin contains seven, and  $\gamma$ -cyclodextrin eight glucose units. The cage formed by the cyclic molecules can reversibly bind small molecules such as flavor or fragrance molecules. Thereby, depot formulations can be generated, which are used in instant meals or in long-lasting cosmetic preparations. Delayed or controlled release forms of medicines are generated by encaging active pharmaceutical substances using cyclodextrins.

The annual production volume of cyclodextrins is one order of magnitude smaller compared to sugar syrup; it grew from 191,000 mt in 2009 to 353,160 mt in 2013 [27]. The products have a higher added value than sugar syrups, the global market value is reported as \$649 million for 2013, and projected to grow to \$904 million in 2018 [28].

## **3** Development and Manufacturing of Starch Enzymes

Where do the enzymes come from, these workhorse products used in hundreds of plants and in thousands of tons annually? From which species do the enzymes or the genes coding for these enzymes originate, and which host organisms are used to manufacture them on an industrial scale? Moreover, what are the major trends in enzyme development?

Before we start on these topics, a short look at whom this industry consists of.

# 3.1 Industrial Players in Starch Enzymes

The major industrial players in starch enzymes are market leader Novozymes followed by a strong number two, Dupont Enzymes. Dupont is in merger talks with Dow Chemicals and it could be interesting to see what will happen to Dupont's enzyme division, which started as Genencor in the early 1990s, grew by acquiring the enzyme divisions of Gist Brocades and Solvay, then became Danisco for a time until Danisco was acquired by Dupont in 2011. Novozymes and former Genencor have substantially contributed to the development of thermostable amylases or proteases, and improved enzyme blends, for example, glucoamylase + cellulase designed to increase efficiency and reduce process costs in the starch conversion and ethanol industry. They have also introduced the application of non-starch conversion enzymes such as proteases, cellulases, xylanases, and phytases as process enhancers. In the US quite a few Chinese suppliers have started to sell amylases into the market, such as CTE, Boli, and Sunson. Companies such as AB Enzymes and DSM are also active in starch conversion and are especially strong in enzymes for the food and beverage industries. BASF has shown interest in entering the enzyme industry by the acquisition of Verenium and technologies from other enzyme innovators. Japanese Amano is probably the world's largest manufacturer of fungal enzymes using surface culture in open trays.

# 3.2 Origins of Starch Enzymes

An extensive review of hundreds of enzymes active in starch chemistry, including reaction chemistry and kinetics, is available [12]. Those enzyme products commercially used are a small but powerful selection of this long list.

 $\alpha$ -Amylases used in liquefaction originally came either from Bacillus licheniformis or from Bacillus stearothermophilus.  $\alpha$ -Amylases hydrolyze internal  $\alpha$ -1,4-glycosidic bonds of amylose or amylopectin in gelatinized starch and thus break down the polymers into smaller oligomers of a chain length of typically 8–12 dextrose equivalents. The wildtype enzymes have been genetically modified mostly

(1) to increase the activity and stability at higher temperature, (2) to eliminate the need of calcium addition, and (3) to act at lower pH. Instead of genetic modification, enzymes acting and stable at harsher conditions can be found from nature in thermophilic or extremophilic microorganisms [29, 30].

The first efforts to improve the commercial properties of  $\alpha$ -amylases were directed at increasing activity at higher temperature, to allow starch hydrolysis at 80 °C, or even, for a short time, at 105 °C under jet cooking conditions. Enzymes active and stable at boiling water conditions have been isolated and genetically modified, as described and patented by [31–33]. The patent literature is extensive, proving the high commercial importance.

Calcium ions are needed in the active center of the  $\alpha$ -amylase and lime was previously added to the slurry before liquefaction in order to have an active  $\alpha$ -amylase. Later in the process, calcium ions had to be removed again by ion exchange because they inhibit GI in HFCS production.  $\alpha$ -Amylase variants have been created which bind the calcium ion tightly to the active center, and the calcium coming with the corn slurry is sufficient for enzyme activity.

The pH optimum of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity is normally between 6.0 and 7.0. The pH optimum of the saccharification and fermentation step is below 5.0. In the last 10–15 years,  $\alpha$ -amylases have been engineered which can be used at pH 5.0, thus avoiding pH adjustment, and ion exchange which used to be necessary to remove ion load which disturbs glucose isomerization in HFCS production [34].

 $\beta$ -Amylase is an enzyme that hydrolyzes starch from the nonreducing end producing maltose-units in the  $\beta$ -form. Such enzymes were only known from plants, barley, soy, or wheat for many years. Today  $\beta$ -amylase is also industrially produced by extraction from barley. In Japan Amano was able to identify microbial  $\beta$ -amylases and also to produce one of these from a Bacillus species industrially [35]. The optimum reaction temperature and stability is about 10 °C higher than that of the barley enzyme, thus allowing a higher reaction rate. Besides generating maltose units, the enzyme inhibits retrogradation of starch in cakes, thereby allowing baked products to remain fresh and soft for a longer period.

*Glucoamylase* is used for the saccharification step; it hydrolyzes starch from the nonreducing end, removing glucose units one by one. Thus for glucose syrup production, liquefaction by  $\alpha$ -amylases is needed to prepare shorter chain length oligomers which are then submitted to glucoamylase action. Industrially used glucoamylases normally originate from fungal origin, the main products being GA from *Aspergillus niger* and *Aspergillus oryzae*.

*Pullulanase* catalyzes hydrolysis of  $\alpha$ -1,6-glycosidic bonds which are present in amylopectin. Thus pullulanase is also called a "de-branching enzyme." Although glucoamylase is able to hydrolyze  $\alpha$ -1,6-glycosidic bonds in amylopectin, it does so only slowly. Normally pullulanase is therefore added to the process to speed up reaction time. The enzyme can be found in plants and bacteria, less in fungi. One broadly used type originates from *Bacillus acidopullulyticus*.

# 3.3 Expression Host Strains

As described above, starch processing is a multimillion ton business; the amount of enzyme needed is substantial, the cost pressure as well. The enzyme industry uses a number of expression platforms to produce enzymes as efficiently as possible. The most frequently used bacterial hosts are *Bacillus subtilis* and *B. licheniformis*. The most used fungal systems are *Aspergillus oryzae*, *A. niger*, and *Trichoderma resei*. More recently, a platform with very high versatility and productivity was introduced by Dyadic [36] and licensed by BASF. Dyadic is now also part of Dupont's enzyme business. This platform is based on a fungus *Chrysosporium lucknowense* isolated from alkaline soil.

In searching and defining a good recombinant production host strain for commercial application, the following criteria have to be fulfilled [37]:

- Versatility, that is, a broad variety of genes must be expressed
- Safety, that is, the organism has to be nonpathogenic toward humans, animals, and plants; ideally, the strain would be registered as GRAS, Generally Registered as Safe
- Good protein secretion, that is, the enzymes produced should be secreted by the cells into the fermentation media, thus avoiding costly cell disruption and purification steps

The host strain should be fermentable in an industrial fermentation process, that is, in large submerged, stirred, and aerated fermentation systems. Only this technology allows a commercially reasonable time and space yield.

Besides working on suitable host organisms, it is important to have appropriate and, if possible, proprietary expression vectors and transformation procedures. Today most companies are working with stable integration of the genes of interest into the host chromosome in one or more copies.

# 4 Trends in Development of Enzymes for the Starch Conversion Industry

The major drivers of enzyme development are (1) cost, (2) competitiveness, and (3) new substrates and products. Obviously these topics are interlinked.

Cost reduction can be achieved by reducing the number of process steps or the use of additives. Thus development continues to look at fine tuning pH and temperature profiles, in respect of both reaction activity and stability. Activity and stability at higher temperatures has been and still is a "hot topic," running from the 1990s until today; new patent applications are filed and there is fierce debate on intellectual property rights between the two major companies of this industry [38].

Another way to reduce costs and improve efficiency is the addition of acid protease to reduce the addition of urea as a nitrogen source to the ethanol fermentation process. Proteases have been used for some time already; they are added at the beginning of the fermentation process to hydrolyze the proteins in the corn mash coming from the corn kernel, thereby providing amino acids to the yeast. This reduces the amount of urea which normally needs to be added as a nitrogen source to the fermentation, and thus saves on the cost side. Recently, a new, thermostable acid protease has been introduced which can be added prior to the liquefaction step [17]. It is claimed that not only the supply of nitrogen source to the fermentation is increased but also the release of corn oil, thus providing both cost saving and increased revenue to the ethanol factory. The theory behind this is that corn oil is stored in the form of oleosomes, and oleosomes in turn are stabilized by proteins, so-called oleosines [39], which are hydrolyzed by the protease.

The above considerations apply not only to the corn-to-ethanol process but also to all other starch-converting processes: an innovative enzyme supplier has a dedicated application laboratory to study and thus understand the target process as deeply as possible, better than his customer. Better understanding leads to discovery of special enzymes, which in turn provide a competitive edge to the supplier.

Cost reduction obviously means profitability increase. Profitability can also be increased by enzymatically helping to produce value-added co-products, for example, in the case of the corn-to-ethanol industry, the production of corn oil or valueenhanced DDGS, or enhancing the ethanol yield. Enhanced use of feedstocks such as sorghum or cassava for ethanol production also triggers development of specially adapted enzymes.

# References

- 1. LMC International Ltd (2002) Evaluation of the community policy for starch and starch products, http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/eval/reports/amidon/. Accessed April 2016
- AGROSYNERGIE (2010) Evaluation of common agricultural policy measures applied to the starch sector, http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/eval/reports/starch/chapter2\_en.pdf. Accessed April 2016
- 3. BCC Research (2013) Global starch and derivatives market to grow to \$77.4 billion by 2018, http://www.bccresearch.com/pressroom/fod/global-starch-derivatives-market-grow-\$77.4-bil lion-2018. Accessed March 2016
- 4. Personal communication from market participants, 2016
- 5. http://www.foodnavigator-asia.com/Policy/China-clamps-down-on-corn-use-in-biofuels. Accessed Sept 2017
- 6. http://www.fas.usda.gov/data/china-biofuels-annual-1. Accessed Aug 2016
- 7. Pedersen S (2010) Enzymes, starch conversion. In: Flickinger MC (ed) Encyclopedia of industrial biotechnology: bioprocess, bioseparation, and cell technology. Wiley
- 8. Höfer R (2015) Sugar- and starch-based biorefineries. In: Pandey A (ed) Industrial biorefineries and white biotechnology. Elsevier B.V., pp 158–235
- Johnson DL (2006) The corn wet milling and corn dry milling industry a base for biorefinery technology developments. In: Kamm B et al. (ed) Biorefineries - industrial processes and products. Status Quo and Future Directions, vol 1, pp 345–353

- Grüll DR, Jetzinger F, Kozich M, Wastyn MM, Wittenberg R (2006) Industrial starch platform

   status quo of production, modification and application. In: Kamm B et al. (ed) Biorefineries industrial processes and products. Status Quo and Future Directions, vol 2, pp 61–95
- 11. http://www.micromarketmonitor.com/market-report/glucose-syrup-reports-9991818692.html. Accessed April 2016
- 12. Tomasik P, Horton D (2012) Enzymatic conversion of starch. In: Advances in carbohydrate chemistry and biochemistry, vol 68, pp 61–268
- 13. http://www.afdc.energy.gov/fuels/ethanol\_production.html. Accessed March 2016
- 14. http://ethanolproducer.com/articles/10278/field-grown-enzymes. Accessed April 2016
- 15. WO 2014074452 A1. Methods for obtaining oil from maize using acid protease and cell-wall polysaccharide-degrading enzymes
- http://www.bioenergy.novozymes.com/en/starch-based-ethanol/our-solutions/Olexa/Pages/ default.aspx. Accessed March 2016
- 17. WO2014209789 A1. Process of extracting oil from thin stillage
- Shetty JK, Paulson B, Pepsin M, Chotani G, Dean B, Hruby M (2008) Phytase in fuel ethanol production offers economical and environmental benefits. Int Sugar J 110(1311):160–173
- 19. http://www.direvo.com/products/bluzy-p-xl.html. Accessed March 2016
- 20. http://www.direvo.com/products/bluzy-d.html. Accessed March 2016
- 21. WO2014187668 A1. Enzyme compositions for the improvement of fermentation processes and by-products
- 22. WO2014184054 A1. Animal feed product for monogastric animals
- 23. Aastrup S, Olsen HS (2008) Enzymes in brewing. Biokemisk Forening ...
- http://www.cargillfoods.com/emea/en/products/alcohol/products/potable-high-pure-alcohol/ index.jsp. Accessed March 2016
- Hansen MR, Blennow A, Pedersen S, Engelsen SB (2009) Enzyme modification of starch with amylomaltase results in increasing gel melting point. Carbohydr Polym 78:72–79
- http://www.foodvalleysociety.com/avebe-grand-prize-winner-of-the-food-valley-award-2009-for-innovation/. Accessed March 2016
- 27. http://www.ctd-holdings.com/our-business/cyclodextrin-markets. Accessed June 2016
- http://www.micromarketmonitor.com/market-report/cyclodextrin-reports-7611545858.html. Accessed June 2016
- Elleuche S, Schröder C, Sahm K, Antranikian G (2014) Extremozymes biocatalysts with unique properties from extremophilic microorganisms. Curr Opin Biotechnol 29:116–123
- Bertoldo C, Antranikian G (2002) Starch-hydrolyzing enzymes from thermophilic archae and bacteria. Curr Opin Biotechnol 6:151–160
- 31. WO1994019454 A2. An amylolytic enzyme
- 32. WO2004055178 A1. Thermostable alpha-amylases
- WO2005007867 A3. Thermostable amylase polypeptides, nucleic acids encoding those polypeptides and uses thereof
- 34. US 20030134395 A1. Process for hydrolyzing starch without pH adjustment
- 35. https://www.amano-enzyme.co.jp/pdf/wave\_e/vol13/vol13e\_p1.pdf. Accessed April 2016
- 36. http://www.dyadic.com/c1/. Accessed April 2016
- http://www.novozymes.com/en/about-us/our-business/industrial-biotechnology/basic-technol ogies/recombinant-expression/Pages/for-the-experts-.aspx. Accessed March 2016
- https://www.pharmapatentsblog.com/2013/07/25/federal-circuit-finds-no-writen-descriptionsupport-for-novozymes-amylase-patent/. Accessed April 2016
- 39. Zielbauer B, Mert B, Vilgis T (2015) Labor&More 8:38-43

# **Organosolv Processes**



## Nicolas Brosse, Mohd Hazwan Hussin, and Afidah Abdul Rahim

**Abstract** Biofuels and chemicals can be produced from lignocellulosic feedstocks using biotechnological processes. The effective utilization of carbohydrates from biomass for the production of biofuels necessitates the development of pretreatment technologies to enhance their enzymatic digestibility. Among all the various pretreatment methods currently studied and developed, the organosolv processes, in which organic solvents or aqueous organic solvent mixtures are used as the pretreatment medium, appear to be specially promising in the context of the biorefinery because (1) they produce cellulosic pulp with a good enzymatic digestibility for monomeric glucose production and (2) they allow a clean fractionation of the major biomass components (cellulose, lignin, and hemicelluloses) into three process streams. In this chapter we give an updated overview of organosolv methods using conventional solvents and ionic liquids which have recently gained considerable interest as solvents for lignocellulosic biomass and pretreatment.

Keywords Ionic liquid, Lignocellulose, Pretreatment

#### Contents

1	Intro	duction	154
2	Conv	ventional Organosolv Pretreatment	156
	2.1	Organosolv Pulping	156
	2.2	Overview of Ethanol Organosolv Pretreatment	156
	2.3	Other Solvents for Organosolv Pretreatment	158

N. Brosse (🖂)

Lignocellulosic Research Group, School of Chemical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 11800 Minden, Penang, Malaysia

LERMAB, Faculté des Sciences et Technologies, Université de Lorraine, 54500 Vandoeuvre-lès-Nancy, France e-mail: Nicolas.Brosse@univ-lorraine.fr

M.H. Hussin and A.A. Rahim

	2.4	Combinative Pretreatment Process	158
	2.5	Organosolv Lignin and Delignification	162
3	IL P	retreatments	165
	3.1	IL in Biomass Dissolution	165
	3.2	ILs in Pretreatment of Biomass	166
	3.3	Enzymatic Saccharification of IL Pretreated of Biomass	167
	3.4	IL Recycling	168
	3.5	Techno-Economic Analysis of IL Pretreatment	169
4	Cond	clusions and Recommendations	170
Re	feren	ces	170

# 1 Introduction

The most crucial issue faced by the world today is the sustainability of consumption of energy and natural resources. As fossil fuel creates problematic issues (because of global warming, increase in price, and running out), the use of renewable resources to shift the oil-based economy into a bio-based economy is one of the alternative choices. With a goal of reducing net greenhouse gas emissions, this marks an important turning point in the effort to promote the use of renewable energy to fulfill the commitments of the Kyoto Protocol and the COP 21 [1, 2]. Biomass has been considered as one of the potential sources of renewable energy throughout the world. Several agencies worldwide have recently reported an increase in the gross domestic energy and chemical production from renewable energy, especially biomass. It was reported that the European Union (EU) utilized about 66.1% of its renewable energy (including heat generations) from biomass which surpassed the contribution of other energy sources such as hydro, wind, geothermal, and solar power [3]. The development of (bio)technologies and (bio) processes for biomass valorization is focusing not only on the production of energy but also on the production of biofuels and biomaterials.

Dry matter of plants can be referred as lignocellulosic biomass. It has been acknowledged as the most abundant source of renewable energy (approximately  $200 \times 10^9$  tons/year) obtained from crops, wood, and agricultural waste [4, 5]. Lignocellulosic biomass is best suited for energy and chemical applications because of its sufficient availability, and it is inexpensive and environmentally safe. It is composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin with small amounts of proteins, lipids, and ash that later form the complex structure of the plant cell wall. The composition of these compounds essentially depends on the origin of the plant as listed in Table 1.

The lignocellulosic materials (cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin) are interconnected with each other through covalent crosslinks. Recent work in this area has mainly focused on the delignification of lignocellulosic biomass separating lignin, cellulose, and hemicelluloses to be used in both physical and (bio)chemical applications. The cellulose and hemicellulose can be hydrolyzed to monomeric sugars and often converted to value added products such as ethanol, additives,

Lignocellulosic materials	Cellulose (%)	Hemicellulose (%)	Lignin (%)
Hardwood stems	40–55	24-40	18–25
Softwood stems	45-50	25-35	25-35
Nut shells	25-30	25-30	30-40
Corn cobs	45	35	15
Grasses	25-40	35–50	10-30
Wheat straw	30	50	15
Cotton seed hairs	80–95	5-20	0
Coastal Bermuda grass	25	35.7	6.4
Typha capensis	34.2	11.6	26.4
Miscanthus x giganteus	38.2	24.3	25
Poplar aspen	42.3	31	16.2
Empty fruit bunch	59.7	22.1	18.1
Switch grass	45	31.4	12
Oil palm fronds	35.7	28.4	24.6

 Table 1 Representation of different fractions of lignocellulosic materials<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Source: [6–11]

organic acid, and others by chemical and biochemical processes [12]. All of these lead to the utilization of lignocellulosics not only for second generation energy, chemical and material production but also for synthesizing food additives and feed supplements [13].

Organosolv pulping is the process of extracting lignin from lignocellulosic feedstocks with organic solvents or their aqueous solutions. Since the 1980s, organosolv pulping using low boiling point solvent (e.g., ethanol) has been an alternative to Kraft and sulfite pulping, which have some serious shortcomings such as air and water pollution. It was originally developed as Alcell<sup>®</sup> pulping process for hardwood. With the recent emerging need to develop alternative sustainable transportation fuel, the organosoly process for the production of ethanol is among the pretreatment strategies currently being studied and developed on an industrial scale for the conversion of lignocellulosic feedstock to biofuels and biomaterials [14, 15]. Moreover, organosolv pretreatment processes allow a clean fractionation of lignocellulosic feedstocks and the recovery of high-quality lignins, which are of great interest and are currently a focus of attention [16]. The availability of such lignin fractions in large quantities should stimulate development in new lignin utilizations [17]. In the last few years, a new type of solvent, referred to as an ionic liquid (IL), has been extensively described for the pretreatment of biomass and the extraction of lignin and holds great promise. Although the recovery yield is low, the primary advantages of the ILs for pretreatment technologies are the very low emissions of volatile organic compounds and their excellent solvent properties allowing them to dissolve the lignocellulosic matrix [18, 19].

In this chapter we focus on the organosolv process as a method for fractionation of biomass and some discussion on organosolv pulping and pretreatment, together with the chemistry of organosolv delignification. The current applications of organosolv lignin and the role of ILs in the organosolv process are also discussed.

# 2 Conventional Organosolv Pretreatment

## 2.1 Organosolv Pulping

Generally, organosoly pretreatment has been shown to be a very effective process in fractionating lignocellulosic feedstocks into rich cellulose pulp, a water-soluble hemicellulose stream, and a solid organosolv lignin fraction [15, 20]. Since the 1970s it has attracted much interest for addressing the environmental concerns with regards to the conventional Kraft and sulfite processes, which cause serious issues such as water and air pollution [14]. It is important to note that organosolv pretreatment is similar to organosolv pulping except for the degree of delignification which is not as high as that of pulping. Some advantages of organosolv pretreatment are as follows: (1) it allows easy recovery of organic solvents via distillation and (2) it allows isolation of lignin and carbohydrates that show promise as chemical feedstocks [21-23], thus making it more feasible for biorefinery of lignocellulosic feedstocks. The organosolv process utilizes ethanol or methanol as solvent and mineral acids as catalyst. Previous studies have shown that yields of organosolv softwood pulps are higher than those of conventional Kraft and sulfite pulps at equivalent Kappa number [22]. Generally, Kappa number is a measure of the amount of lignin remaining in pulp. The higher the Kappa number value, the greater the amount of bleaching chemicals required to brighten the pulp. At the industrial scale, organosolv pulp mills can be operated on a smaller volume (around 300 tons pulp/day) to that of Kraft pulp mills (1,000 tons pulp/day) [24], which can easily be bleached (chlorine-less) and are environmentally safe.

# 2.2 Overview of Ethanol Organosolv Pretreatment

It is important to note that different cooking conditions of lignocellulosic feedstocks on organosolv pretreatment/pulping are very crucial to preserve high quality fiber. Recycling the solvent used in the organosolv process is essential to lower the total costs. Organosolv pretreatment uses a large number of organic or aqueousorganic solvent systems with or without catalysts but the ethanol organosolv pretreatment is more described and is the subject of industrial developments (e.g., lignol process). The general ranges are as follows: cooking temperature of 100–250 °C, cooking time of 30–90 min, ethanol concentration of 35–70 wt%, and solid to liquid ratio from 1:4 to 1:10 (w/w) [15, 25]. Lignin can be recovered as a precipitate by flashing the black liquor to atmospheric pressure followed by



dilution with water. The process of ethanol (and more generally of low boiling point solvent) organosolv pretreatment is illustrated in Fig. 1. Neilson et al. [26] have revealed that ethanol organosolv pretreatment was said to be an effective method for enzymatic hydrolysis of cottonwood. It gave about 1.8–2.5 times the sugar when the pulp was enzymatically hydrolyzed with *Trichoderma reesei* cellulase to that of untreated cottonwood. Ethanol organosolv pretreatment can be performed in the presence or absence of catalyst with auto-catalyzed pretreatment performed at higher temperatures (185–210 °C) [14, 15]. In such conditions, the severity of the organosolv pretreatment time (*t* in minutes), and pretreatment temperature (*T* in degrees Celsius; note that  $T_{ref}$  is 100 °C) [27]:

$$\mathrm{CS} = \log \left[ t \exp \left( \frac{T - T_{\mathrm{ref}}}{14.7} \right) \right] - \mathrm{pH}$$

Additionally, co-products such as hemicellulose sugars and furfural can be recovered from the water stream. During ethanol organosolv pretreatments there are four main reactions or processes that occur: (1) hydrolysis of lignin hemicelluloses linkages via cleavage of 4-*O*-methylglucuronic ester bonds to  $\alpha$ -carbons of lignin and cleavage of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -*O*-aryl ether linkages, respectively; (2) glycosidic bonds cleavage in hemicelluloses; (3) acid-catalyzed degradation of monosaccharides to furfural, hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF), and other degradation products; and (4) lignin condensation reactions [15]. More information on the mechanism during organosolv pretreatment is discussed in the next section.

If the pretreatment is performed at high temperature, acid addition is not necessary as it is believed that organic acids released from the feedstock act as catalyst for the degradation of the lignin–carbohydrate complex [20]. Nevertheless, if the acid catalysts are added, this increases the delignification rate that results in higher yield of xylose. The use of mineral acids (such as hydrochloric acid, sulfuric acid, and phosphoric acid) and organic acids (oxalic, formic, salicylic, and acetylsalicylic acid) as catalysts could be useful to accelerate delignification and degradation of xylan [28]. Sulfuric acid is the most frequently used mineral acid catalyst for ethanol organosolv pretreatment, which has been applied to various types of lignocellulosic feedstocks such as pine, hybrid poplar, miscanthus, switch-grass, and oil palm residues [11, 29–32]. The usual concentration of sulfuric acid based on dry weight of biomass is usually in the range of 0.5–1.75%. Higher concentrations of acid lead to greater delignification and greater hemicellulose degradation.

The cellulose-rich pulp produced during acid catalyzed ethanol organosolv pretreatment is suspected to exhibit high glucose yields after enzymatic hydrolysis than base catalyzed pretreatment. In a previous study, Del Rio et al. [33] have shown that NaOH-catalyzed pretreatment of lodgepole pine gave high lignin removal but low cellulose to glucose conversion. Compiled results of enzymatic digestibility of cellulose after ethanol organosolv pretreatment from different biomass are summarized in Table 2. Some characteristics of ethanol organosolv pretreated pulp are (1) low hemicellulose and lignin content with decreased cellulose chain length and (2) low molecular weight and high pore volume that could improve their digestibility [31, 33]. The resulting pulp can be subjected to any fermentation process for the production of ethanol. There are two most suitable fermentation processes for the production of ethanol: simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) and separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF). For the industrial scale, SSF is more preferable as it leads to lower overall process time, less enzymatic inhibition by hydrolysis products, and thus lower capital and operational costs [34].

# 2.3 Other Solvents for Organosolv Pretreatment

The use of solvent for organosolv pretreatment is not only limited to methanol or ethanol. High boiling point alcohols (e.g., ethylene glycol, glycerol, and tetrahydrofurfuryl alcohol) and other organic compounds (e.g., dimethylsulfoxide, ethers, ketones, and phenols) could also be used as solvents for organosolv pretreatment. Table 3 shows some advantages and disadvantages of these solvents.

# 2.4 Combinative Pretreatment Process

Recently, combinative pretreatment process of lignocellulosic biomass has become an important process because it promises higher efficiency, higher delignification

	Cellulose			Hemicellulc	se		Lignin			
		Liquid	Solid		Liquid	Solid			Liquid	Solid
Biomass	Untreated	fraction	fraction	Untreated	fraction	fraction	Untreated	EOL <sup>a</sup>	fraction	fraction
Loblolly pine <sup>b</sup>	42.0	3.0	33.3 (55)	21.6	0.5	15.3	29.9	5.4	12.4	11.6
Lodgepole pine <sup>c</sup>	50.5	4.2	37.6 (100)	23.9	1.2	11.1	25.1	19.6	4.8	4.2
Hybrid poplar <sup>d</sup>	48.9	0.6	43.2 (98)	22.4	4.9	11.2	23.3	15.5	5.2	6.2
Miscanthus <sup>e</sup>	37.7	1.7	35.5 (98)	37.3	3.3	25.1	26.3	18.1	0.2	7.8
B. davidii <sup>f</sup>	38.9	1.4	32.3 (98)	26.1	5.7	11.0	30.2	8.9	3.4	19.0
<sup>t</sup> EOI = athanal	l vlosomo									

	_
- <del>4</del>	2
	_
-	2
8	3
4	2
2	3
4	<u>D</u>
7	3
4	5
6	С
-	Ξ.
	Ξ
ب	-
	2
Ę	Ē
	30
	š
:	5
1	F
	0
ě	ã
4	2
5	5
	2
ŝ	2
	~
Ċ	5
1	Ξ
	D.
1	Ξ
6	5
-	3
-	2
5	2
	2
	ñ
	3
ŝ	5
	20
_	2
	2
5	Ð.
4	Ξ
6	D
	ŝ
-	2
ġ	as B
	Ξ
	2
<u>د</u>	0
Ч	5
\$	Ξ
	2
	9
- 2	5
-	Ĕ.
ģ	d.
Ē	Ę
Ċ.	
5	N.
÷	Ĭ
-	5
E	-

<sup>a</sup>EOL = ethanol organosolv lignin <sup>b</sup>65% aqueous EtOH, 1.1% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 170 °C, 60 min [35] <sup>c</sup>65% aqueous EtOH, 1.1% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 170 °C, 60 min [36] <sup>d</sup>60% aqueous EtOH, 1.3% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 180 °C, 60 min [29] <sup>e</sup>80% aqueous EtOH, 0.5% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 170 °C, 60 min [31] <sup>f</sup>50% aqueous EtOH, 1.8% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 180 °C, 40 min [32]

Solvent	Advantages/disadvantages	Reference
Butanol	<ul> <li>Excellent delignification agent because of its hydrophobicity</li> <li>Limited miscibility of aqueous butanol leads to higher</li> <li>pretreatment severity, which leads to the formation of pulp</li> <li>with lower hemicellulose content, lower degree of polymerization (DP<sub>w</sub>) and increased in pore size</li> </ul>	[33]
Ethylene glycol and glycerol	<ul> <li>Pretreatment can be conducted at atmospheric pressure, which reduces energy costs</li> <li>Effective for the delignification of wood chips</li> <li>High costs of solvent recovery</li> </ul>	[9, 37]
Organic acids and peracids	<ul> <li>Good lignin solvents</li> <li>Limited because of their corrosive properties</li> <li>Xylose did not undergo significant conversion to furfural</li> </ul>	[38, 39]
Acetone and ketones	<ul> <li>Excellent solvent of lignin for both auto-catalyzed and catalyzed acetone organosolv pretreatments</li> <li>Almost all hemicellulose solubilized and about 47% lignin can be recovered as organosolv lignin</li> <li>50% of acetone-water mixture gives highest lignin recovery (~60%)</li> </ul>	[40, 41]
Phosphoric acid	<ul> <li>Pretreatment can be conducted at atmospheric pressure at relatively low temperature (around 50 °C)</li> <li>High cellulose enzymatic hydrolyzability</li> <li>Problem of corrosion</li> </ul>	[42]

Table 3 Advantages and disadvantages of other solvents for organosolv pretreatment



Fig. 2 Schematic of a combinative organosolv pretreatment

rate, less severity of cellulose pulp, and less concentration of fermentation inhibitors [43–45]. The pre-extraction of hemicelluloses could also improve the process economics; the hemicelluloses extracted could be used in high-value-added products such as barrier films, coatings, hydrogels, or paper additives [46]. In this approach, a presoaking or prehydrolysis (as the first step) of biomass is involved to hydrolyze the hemicelluloses and is followed by the organosolv delignification process (as the second step) where the solid residue from the first step is retreated (Fig. 2).

The main objective of the two-step processes is to reduce the degradation of carbohydrate fragments into furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural [31, 45]. It was believed that the lignin deconstruction during the prehydrolysis treatment increases the extractability of organosolv lignin through the breaking of lignin–carbohydrate bonds, resulting in smaller lignin fragments. Nevertheless, the deconstruction of lignin is often associated with repolymerization reactions through the formation of

new C–C bondings ( $\beta$ - $\beta$ ,  $\beta$ -1, and  $\beta$ -5) which sometimes still affect the delignification rate and lignin structure. Some common pretreatment/prehydrolysis for combinative pretreatment processes are listed below.

#### 2.4.1 Acid Pretreatment

Acid pretreatment is the most common method that utilizes mineral acids such as hydrochloric acid (HCl) and sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) for the treatment of biomass. According to Sun and Cheng [28], acidic treatment of lignocellulosic biomass improves the enzymatic hydrolysis of pulp and at the same time gives higher recovery of fermentable sugars. However, the pretreatment with concentrated acids is not suitable in economic and environment perspectives because it is toxic, hazardous, and corrosive to the reactor. Thus researchers have mainly focused on the utilization of dilute acids for the biomass pretreatment. To date, various kinds of dilute mineral acids such as sulfuric, hydrochloric, nitric, phosphoric, and peracetic acids have been experimented with for this pretreatment [47]. Among these acids, sulfuric acid is of interest because of its low cost and efficiency [48]. It was also reported that the dilute sulfuric acid can be used as an alternative for the production of furfural from biomass hemicellulose [49].

#### 2.4.2 Autohydrolysis

Autohydrolysis is a biomass pretreatment with water at very severe conditions (elevated temperatures and pressures). In this process, the lignocellulosic biomass is heated at high temperature and pressure which results in the solubilization of acid components, de-esterification of ester groups, and formation of organic acids in the hemicellulose structure. The resulting organic acid (such as acetic acid) causes a hydrolytic breakdown of hemicellulose which is spontaneously repeated [50]. Because of the mechanistic action of hydronium ions on lignocellulosic biomass, it was believed that the autohydrolysis process selectively dissolves most of the hemicellulose portion which can be recovered in the residual solution [51]. The hemicellulose-rich liquid portion can be used potentially for the synthesis of furfural derivatives or other green chemicals [48].

The removal of hemicellulose from the lignocellulosic biomass would enhance the hydrolyzability of cellulose, leaving the solid pulp rich in cellulose and insoluble lignin residue [52]. Optimization of the operating conditions during autohydrolysis is considered important to ensure the effectiveness of the delignification ability of treated biomass. Brosse et al. [53] have reported that the operation conditions of M. x giganteus during autohydrolysis have affected the removal of hemicellulose, delignification yield and the efficiency of cellulose conversion to glucose during enzymatic hydrolysis.

#### 2.4.3 Addition of Organic Scavengers in Combinative Pretreatment

Previous studies have shown that hydrothermal treatments such as autohydrolysis could lead to the change in lignin structures and overall delignification yield because of the repolymerization of lignin [54–59]. The repolymerization of lignin through the formation of carbonium ion intermediates produces new linkages of  $\beta$ - $\beta$ ,  $\beta$ -1, and  $\beta$ -5 bonds [60], where the carbonium ion is formed from the lignin phenylpropane units during acidic conditions of autohydrolysis. The resulting lignin after repolymerization is highly condensed and insoluble with high molecular weight which impairs the delignification of any pulping process [48].

It was also demonstrated that the presence of carbonium ion scavengers could substantially improve lignin extractability. These aromatic organic compounds compete with the aromatic rings of lignin during the incorporation of the carbonium ion. Therefore, it scavenges the carbonium ion intermediate from the self-condensation process during autohydrolysis. In a previous study, Wayman and Lora [50] have tested on 40 different types of aromatic compounds in combination with the autohydrolysis pretreatment. They have revealed that 2-naphthol gave lower lignin content in the residual pulp. The utilization of 2-naphthol as lignin-lignin recondensation inhibitor in different feedstocks has been further studied by other researchers [55, 57, 59]. More recently, some authors have studied the effect of adding different carbonium ion scavengers (*o*-cresol, *p*-cresol, hydroquinone, and dihydroxyanthraquinone) [58] on the delignification of *M*. *x* giganteus and oil palm fronds and it was reported that all organic scavengers used gave different organosolv lignin yields and properties.

#### 2.4.4 Enzymatic Pre-hydrolysis

Enzymatic pre-hydrolysis using the industrial enzymatic cocktail Cellulyve<sup>®</sup> (Sigma Aldrich) was assessed as a first step in a pretreatment process of *Miscanteus* biomass involving an aqueous-ethanol organosolv treatment. It was demonstrated that, despite a very low impact on the fiber structure and composition (in terms of sugars and polyphenolics content), the enzymatic pretreatment disrupted the lignocellulosic matrix to a considerable extent. This weakening enhanced the removal of lignin during the organosolv pulping and the hydrolyzability of the residual cellulosic pulp for the production of monomeric glucose [44].

# 2.5 Organosolv Lignin and Delignification

Lignin is a natural aromatic amorphous macromolecule, a binder that holds together the lignocellulosic fibers to ensure rigidity of all vascular plants. The polyphenolic structure of lignin is known for its role to provide resistance of both chemical and biological degradations in woody biomass. Perhaps this is because of the hydrophobic and insolubility nature of lignin in aqueous system that prevents the full access of chemicals and organisms. Generally, it is built up of three major C6–C3 (phenylpropanoid) units: *p*-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and sinapyl alcohol, which form a randomized structure in a 3D network inside the cell wall [61–63].

## 2.5.1 Mechanisms of Organosolv Delignification

It has been acknowledged that the cleavage of aryl ether bonds is responsible for lignin breakdown during organosolv pretreatment. The  $\alpha$ -*O*-aryl ether bonds are more easily cleaved (also known as the rate-controlling step in organosolv delignification) than  $\beta$ -*O*-aryl ether bonds, which are normally broken under more severe conditions, especially at elevated acid concentrations [64, 65]. In the organosolv delignification process, several mechanistic pathways have been proposed: (1) solvolytic splitting of  $\alpha$ -*O*-aryl ether linkages through quinone methide intermediate, (2) solvolytic cleavage via nucleophilic substitution benzylic position by S<sub>N</sub>2 mechanism, and (3) formation of a benzyl carbocation under acidic conditions (Fig. 3). The  $\beta$ -*O*-aryl ether bonds (Fig. 4) can be homolytically cleaved with the loss of  $\gamma$ -methylol groups (as formaldehyde), which later give rise to the formation of stilbenes [32]. Additionally, the cleavage of  $\beta$ -*O*-aryl ether bonds can also form Hibbert's ketone functional groups [66].



Fig. 3 Solvolytic cleavage of α-O-aryl ether bonds in lignin [66]



**Fig. 4** Solvolytic cleavage of  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -*O*-aryl ether bonds in lignin [66]

Lignin condensation can occur under severe conditions (normally under acidic condition), which are counter-productive to organosolv delignification [15]. In such a situation the lignin condensation occurs when the benzylic carbocation intermediate interacts with the electron-rich carbon atom of a neighboring lignin unit (Fig. 3). Condensation of lignin leads to the formation of high molecular weight (HMW) lignin fractions that are not soluble in organosolv pretreatment solvent, thus making the lignin recovery difficult. It has been reported that lignin condensation reactions can be prevented by blocking the reactive benzyl position (via electrophilic aromatic substitution) with phenolic solvents [15, 64]. In addition, the use of organic scavengers during combinative pretreatments can impede lignin condensation reactions (as mentioned in the previous section).

## 2.5.2 Current Applications of Organosolv Lignin

Much research work is ongoing toward the use of lignin for new green approaches [16]. This includes the use of lignin as dispersant in cement [67, 68], emulsifier [69], chelating agent for heavy metals removal from industrial waste effluents [70], absorbent [71], and phenol formaldehyde adhesives [72, 73] and tannins-based adhesives [74]. Organosolv lignin contains diverse functional groups of phenolic and aliphatic -OH, carbonyls, and carboxyls, which can also act as neutralizer or inhibitor in oxidation processes, via stabilizing reactions induced by oxygen radicals and their respective species. Thus, recent studies have been done on the applicability of ligning from different sources as potential antioxidants [57, 58, 75–77]. Hussin et al. [76] have revealed that organosolv lignin has a good antioxidant tendency with an inhibitive value of 60%. The antioxidant properties exhibited by lignin can lead to broader applications as anti-microbial, anti-aging agents and corrosion inhibitors. Recent findings have agreed that organosolv lignin and its derivatives possess inhibitive properties toward the corrosion of metals in corrosive media [76, 77]. Potential high-value products could also be produced from isolated lignin; these include low cost carbon fiber, engineering plastics and thermoplastic elastomers, polymeric foams and membranes, and a variety of fuels and chemicals all currently sourced from petroleum [17]. However, the complexity and the multifunctional nature of lignin have yielded multiple extraction product streams, which require extensive separation and purification procedures. Proper modification/alteration of the organosolv lignin structures is still required to increase its applicability.

# **3** IL Pretreatments

Lignocellulose pretreatment for the production of bioethanol using ILs as solvent is an organosolv technology receiving growing interest from the biofuels community. ILs have been developed as a potentially 'greener' alternative to organic solvents. ILs are salts that are in liquid state at ambient temperatures. ILs present a high thermal stability (~200–250 °C) and a low vapor pressure. ILs have often been called green solvents mainly because of their negligible vapor pressure, which mitigates any emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOCs). The possible number of combinations cations/anions is huge although only around 100 ILs are described in the literature to this day. It is thus possible to modulate their physicochemical properties (melting point, viscosity, density), except for vapor pressure which always remains extremely low [78].

The capacity of certain ILs to solubilize the (ligno) cellulose and to increase its enzymatic digestibility [79] has also been highlighted. The advantages are that ILs do not inhibit cellulose hydrolysis enzymes or accelerate enzymatic hydrolysis. The ILs can be supplemented with an antisolvent such as water, ethanol, or acetone for better cellulose regeneration, and can be recovered and recycled [80].

# 3.1 IL in Biomass Dissolution

Biomass dissolution is dependent on variables such as type and size of biomass, IL/biomass ratio, temperature and time of dissolution, and water content in the solution mixture. The dissolution of cellulose and lignocellulosic biomass has been extensively reviewed in recent years [19, 81–85]. ILs have been found to influence the biomass dissolution via several mechanisms. The lignocellulose dissolution is induced by the formation of electron donor–electron acceptor interactions (1) between cellulose oxygens and the cations of ILs and (2) between cellulose hydrogens and the anions of ILs [83]. It was shown that the dissolution is promoted by the presence of a high chloride concentration and activity of [BMIM][Cl] which is responsible for breaking the hydrogen bonding network of cellulose [79]. The imidazolium cation has also been proposed to have hydrophobic interactions with the hydrophobic side of the cellulose [86, 87] (Fig. 5).





п	Diamaga	Loading	Particle size	Canditiana	Deferences
	BIOINASS	(w/w)	(mm)	Conditions	References
[C2MIM]	Pine	5%	< 0.125	175 °C, 30 mn	[93]
[OAc]	Oak	5%	0.25-0.50	185 °C, 7 mn	[94]
	Spruce	5%	0.1-0.5	115 °C, 72 h	[95]
	Miscanthus	4%	4	130 °C, 8 h	[ <mark>96</mark> ]
[BMIM]	Corn stover	10%	<4	140 °C, 3 h	[97]
[OAc]	Spruce	5%	0.3–0.8	120 °C, 1 h	[98]
	Rice hulls	10%	1.5	110 °C, 8 h	[99]
[BMIM][Cl]	Pine	5%	0.25-0.5	110 °C, 16 h	[94]
[C2MIM][Cl]	Beech	3%		120 °C, 24 h	[100]

 Table 4
 Application of ILs for dissolution of lignocellulosic biomass

These interactions lead to the disruption of the intra/inter-chain H bond network of cellulose and thus to its dissolution. These mechanisms of dissolution are enhanced by effective stirring and microwave and ultrasound irradiation [88–90]. Dissolution improvements have also been associated with hydrogen bond basicity of the IL anion such as  $[CH_3COO^-]$  wherein strong hydrogen basicity are effective in weakening the hydrogen bonding network of the polymer chains [91, 92]. However, increased hydrogen bond basicity could lead to the incorporation of water molecules in the IL structure, thus reducing the dissolution of biomass. Another important parameter to be considered is the viscosity of ILs that has an impact on the mixing and mass transfer of lignocellulose and the IL itself. Low viscosity ILs are able to extract higher amounts of carbohydrates from bran [92]. Table 4 summarizes recent examples of lignocellulosic dissolution in ILs.

## 3.2 ILs in Pretreatment of Biomass

In view of some of the drawbacks of the classical methods of biomass pretreatments (recycling issues, toxicity, hazardousness, etc.), application of ILs is an alternative solution. However, the complexity of the biomass matrix and ILs themselves makes



Fig. 6 The most used ILs for lignocellulosic pretreatment

the process very challenging. Among the advantages of the pretreatment with ILs are (1) the physicochemical properties of the biomass macromolecular components could be altered, (2) the specific property of the IL enables specific macromolecular components to be extracted, and (3) different fractionation approaches after biomass dissolution in IL could be performed. The success of the pretreatment is dependent on the IL, lignocellulosic biomass (type, moisture, size, and load), temperature, time of pretreatment, and the precipitating solvent. By far, [EMIM]  $[CH_3COO^-]$ , [AMIM][Cl<sup>-</sup>], [BMIM][Cl<sup>-</sup>], and dialkylimidazolium diphosphonates have been considered as the most suitable ILs for the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass because of their good solvent power (Fig. 6).

The use of  $[EMIM][CH_3COO^-]$  for various types of biomass utilizing pretreatment processes of various conditions has been reviewed extensively by da Costa Lopes et al. [101]. With the use of ILs in these pretreatments, cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin fractions were obtained with higher purity that with conventional methods. Following the pretreatment step, different fractionation approaches for selective fraction separation can be applied using the specific properties of ILs. The entire process was found to be more economical than other conventional pretreatments such as alkali and acid pretreatments with respect to the energy consumed.

Recent approach to biomass pretreatment involves the addition of water to the dissolution process. This new approach allows the usage of small amounts of IL, easier processing operations because of reduced viscosity, and recycling of the aqueous IL mixtures is facilitated. In one of the earlier works to pretreat wood flour, a blend of 5% and 10% of water and [EMIM][CH<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>-</sup>] yielded a decrease in glucose and xylose that is attributed to a moderate inter-crystalline swelling effect with the wood fibers still intact and the crystallinity and lignin content being greater than in pure IL [102].

# 3.3 Enzymatic Saccharification of IL Pretreated of Biomass

For biofuel production, the polysaccharide fraction must be depolymerized into monomers before a fermentation step. The saccharification yield (e.g., monomeric glucose yield) is an important measure of the success of any lignocellulose pretreatment and remains as one of the critical bottlenecks. The development of

Biomass	IL	Conditions	Glu%	References
Corn cob	Choline chloride and imidazole	15 h, 150 °C	94	[104]
Corn stover	[EMIM][OAc]	3 h, 110 °C	88	[105]
Softwood	[BMIM][Cl]	15 h, 130 °C	78	[106]
Miscanthus	DMIMMPh	6 h, 100 °C	72	[107]
	[BMIM][Cl]		68	
	[EtOHMIM][Cl]		66	
	[EMIM][SCN]		44	
	[DMIM][MPh]		72	
Spruce	[DMIM][MPh]	40 min, 110 °C	73	[108]
Oak	[DMIM][MPh]		79	
Douglas	[C2MIM][Ac]	3 h, 160 °C	92	[109]
Maple	[BMIM][OAc]	24 h, 90 °C	74	[102]
Willow	[BMIM][HSO <sub>4</sub> ] + 20% H <sub>2</sub> O	22 h, 120 °C	81	[110]
Miscanthus	[BMIM][OAc]	6 h, 110 °C	91	[111]
Typha			82	

 Table 5
 Example of recent studies using ILs and glucose yields after enzymatic hydrolysis

new and efficient IL-tolerant lignocellulosic enzymes to attain simultaneous pretreatment and saccharification is attracting vigorous scientific attempts [18, 103]. To date, the saccharification experiments have generally been performed after IL pretreatment (through separation of the cellulosic pulp from the IL liquor) and then adding the enzymes. Recent examples of glucose yields after enzymatic saccharification of IL treated and washed biomass are given in Table 5. Pretreatments with ILs permit the removal of a large part of the lignin and the hemicelluloses, increasing the porosity of the biomass and the accessibility of the cellulose fraction to hydrolytic enzymes.

Combinative pretreatments have also been proposed with ILs: a prehydrolysis step using aqueous ammonia, sodium hydroxide, or dilute sulfuric acid followed by treatment with ILs ([EMIM][OAc] and [BMIM][OAc] were reported to improve cellulose recovery and enzymatic glucose conversion) [111, 112].

# 3.4 IL Recycling

Because ILs are more expensive than conventional pretreatment agents, such as sulfuric acid, reusability of recycled ILs is a crucial factor to be considered economically. Generally, after the regeneration process, a mixture of antisolvent (antisolvent is a solvent in which the compound is less soluble), dissolved IL, and soluble biomass compounds are present. These compounds can be recovered with proper fractionation steps which allow limitation of the deactivation of enzymes because of high concentrations in residual IL in the medium [80, 113]. In fact it was demonstrated that low concentrations of ILs, such as [EMIM][OAc] or [BMIM]

[Cl], provoked an important decrease of the cellulase activity [114, 115]. Audu et al. [111] studied the recyclability of [BMIM][OAc] during the pretreatment of typha grass. The IL was recovered after precipitation of the pulp with an antisolvent (water or ethanol), dried under reduced pressure, and reused for up to 20 cycles. Treatment of the recycled IL at the 10th and 15th cycles (by washing with an acetone/water solution) enabled recovery of about 93% of the IL-soluble lignin released into the liquid stream and improved the effectiveness of the process [111]. To date, three types of IL recovery processes have been developed, the easiest way being evaporation of the antisolvent after the regeneration process with 94-98% recovery for legume straw. The drawback of this method is that some impurities may still be present in the IL [116]. Alternatively, IL recovery can be achieved by their ability to form a biphasic liquid-liquid system with the addition of an aqueous solution of a kosmotropic anion such as phosphate or sulfate whereby the salting-out effect leads to precipitation of a solid-phase rich in cellulose. The main advantage of this process is the decreased amount of water in the IL to be evaporated, thereby reducing energy costs [117]. For the third process, as proposed by Dibble et al. [97] when using [EMIM][CH<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>-</sup>], an antisolvent mixture of ethanol and acetone creates a quaternary solution of IL-water-ketone-alcohol that would be separated accordingly. This process requires minimal addition of reagents and minimal IL degradation and resulted in 89% of the initial IL.

As presented above (Sect. 2.5.2), the organosolv lignin fraction is potentially valuable for new applications. In the case of IL pretreatment, a two-stage process appears promising for lignin recovery. After the precipitation of the cellulosic pulp using a protic solvent, the lignin fraction is precipitated from the solution through acidification, which lowers the lignin solubility [94].

## 3.5 Techno-Economic Analysis of IL Pretreatment

IL pretreatments present several advantages over other pretreatment technologies, including low solvent toxicity, high monomeric sugar yields, short saccharification times, and efficient delignification. Nevertheless, there are several issues to overcome before commercialization and this new technology is facing great challenges with respect to its economic viability. These include (1) the high cost of ILs, (2) a lack of knowledge regarding the industrial processes to be developed for a biorefinery based on these solvents, and (3) the ability of the co-products of the pretreatment (lignin and hemicelluloses) to make significant impact as a substitute for fossil resources [118]. To address these challenges, the development of suitable IL regeneration technologies, including the removal of impurities and the understanding of their mechanism of formation, is essential. The development of new low-cost ILs and the reduction of IL loading are also important. Klein-Marcuschamer et al. [119] demonstrated that reducing IL cost could be the most important challenge which could positively impact the competitiveness of the whole process.

# 4 Conclusions and Recommendations

Development of technology for generating biofuels and platform molecules from lignocellulosic biomass is arousing a growing interest. Organosolv pretreatments are especially promising in this context because (1) they are capable of fractionating lignocellulosic biomass into separate streams rich in lignin, hemicellulose, and cellulose, (2) they produce a cellulosic pulp which is very amenable to enzymatic deconstruction and subsequent fermentation, and (3) they produce large amounts of lignin fractions which are relatively pure, unaltered, sulfur-free, and less condensed than other pretreatment lignins. All around the world, pilot plants based on the organosolv biorefinery concept are being progressively established. There are tremendous opportunities for future research and industrial developments in this area, including (1) development of efficient solvent and co-product recovery systems, (2) pre-extraction of hemicelluloses and extractive compounds and their contribution to improving process economics, and (3) development of ILs-based processes. Thus, the future development of organosolv pretreatment should be focused on the integrated utilization of biomass components and decrease of the pretreatment costs.

Acknowledgment The EA 4370 LERMAB acknowledges the French National Research Agency through the Laboratory of Excellence ARBRE (ANR-12- LABXARBRE-01) for financial support.

# References

- 1. Ragauskas A, Williams C, Davison B, Britovsek G, Cairney J, Eckert C, Frederick W, Hallett J, Leak D, Liotta C, Mielenz J, Murphy R, Templer R, Tschaplinski T (2006) The path forward for biofuels and biomaterials. Science 311:484–489
- 2. Sarkar N, Ghosh SK, Bannerjee S, Aikat K (2012) Bioethanol production from agricultural wastes: an overview. Renew Energy 37:19–27
- Zakzeski J, Bruijnincx PCA, Jongerius AL, Weckhuysen BM (2010) The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. Chem Rev 110(6):3552–3599
- Zhang YHP (2008) Reviving the carbohydrate economy via multi-product lignocelluloses biorefineries. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 35(5):367–375
- Brosse N, Dufour A, Meng X, Sun Q, Ragauskas A (2012) Miscanthus: a fast-growing crop for biofuels and chemical production. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 6(5):580–598
- 6. Abdullah N, Sulaiman F, Gerhauser H (2011) Characterization of oil palm empty fruit bunches for fuel application. J Phys Sci 22(1):1–24
- de Vrije T, de Hass GG, Tan GB, Keijsers ERP, Claaseen PAM (2002) Pretreatment of Miscanthus for hydrogen production by Thermotoga elfii. Int J Hydrog Energy 27:1381–1390
- 8. Liu P (2002) Improvement of bio-oil stability in wood pyrolysis. PhD thesis, Birmingham, Aston University, UK
- 9. Sun F, Chen H (2008) Organosolv pretreatment by crude glycerol from oleochemicals industry for enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw. Bioresour Technol 99(13):5474–5479
- 10. Zhang B, Wang L, Shahbazi A, Diallo O, Whitmore A (2011) Dilute sulfuric acid pretreatment of cattails for cellulose conversion. Bioresour Technol 102:9308–9312

- Hussin MH, Rahim AA, Mohamad Ibrahim MN, Brosse N (2013) Physicochemical characterization of alkaline and ethanol organosolv lignins from oil palm (Elaeis guineensis) fronds as phenol substitutes for green material applications. Ind Crop Prod 49:23–32
- Mussatto SI, Teixeira JA (2010) Lignocellulose as raw material in fermentation processes. In: Mendez-Vilas A (ed) Current research, technology and education topics in applied microbiology and microbial biotechnology. FORMATEX, Badajoz, pp. 897–907
- 13. Sims R (2003) Biomass and resources bioenergy options for a cleaner environment in developed and developing countries. Elsevier Science, London, pp. 184–198
- Zhao X, Cheng K, Liu D (2009) Organosolv pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for enzymatic hydrolysis. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82:815–827
- 15. Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas AJ (2013) Fundamentals of biomass pretreatment by fractionation. In: Wyman CE Aqueous pretreatment of plant biomass for biological and chemical conversion to fuels and chemicals. First Edition. John Wiley & Sons Ltd. pp. 201–222
- Brosse N, Mohamad Ibrahim MN, Abdul A (2011) Biomass to bioethanol: Initiatives of the future for lignin. ISRN Mater Sci 2011:461482
- Ragauskas AJ, Beckham GT, Biddy MJ, Chandra R, Chen F, Davis MF, Davison BH, Dixon RA, Gilna P, Keller M, Langan P, Naskar AK, Saddler JN, Tschaplinski TJ, Tuskan GA, Wyman CE (2014) Lignin valorization: improving lignin processing in the biorefinery. Science 344(6185):709
- Wahlström RM, Suurnäkki A (2015) Enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic polysaccharides in the presence of ionic liquids. Green Chem 17:694–714
- Brandt A, Gräsvik J, Hallett JP, Welton T (2013) Deconstruction of lignocellulosic biomass with ionic liquids. Green Chem 15:550–583
- 20. Duff SJB, Murray WD (1996) Bioconversion of forest products industry waste cellulosics to fuel ethanol: a review. Bioresour Technol 55:1–33
- Lora JH, Aziz S (1985) Organosolv pulping: a versatile approach to wood refining. Tappi J 68:94–97
- Johansson A, Aaltonen O, Ylinen P (1987) Organosolv pulping method and pulp properties. Biomass 13:45–65
- 23. Aziz S, Sarkanen K (1989) Organosolv pulping-a review. Tappi J 72:169-175
- 24. Pye E, Lora J (1991) The Alcell process, a proven alternative to kraft pulping. Tappi J 74 (3):113–118
- 25. Muurinen E (2000) Organosolv pulping—a review and distillation study related to peroxyacid pulping. Department of Process Engineering, University of Oulu, FIN-90014 University of Oulu
- 26. Neilson MJ, Shafizadeh F, Aziz S, Sarkanen KV (1983) Evaluation of organosolv pulp as a suitable substrate for rapid enzymatic hydrolysis. Biotechnol Bioeng 25:609–612
- Chum HL, Black SK, Johnson DK (1988) Organosolv pretreatment for enzymatic hydrolysis of poplars: isolation and quantitative structural studies of lignins. Clean Technol Environ Policy 1(3):187–198
- 28. Sun Y, Cheng J (2002) Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: a review. Bioresour Technol 83:1–11
- 29. Pan X, Gilkes N, Kadla J (2006) Bioconversion of hybrid poplar to ethanol and co-products using an organosolv fractionation process: optimization of process yields. Biotechnol Bioeng 94(5):851–861
- 30. Pan X, Xie D, Yu R, Saddler J (2008) The bioconversion of mountain pine beetle-killed Lodgepole pine to fuel ethanol using the organosolv process. Biotechnol Bioeng 101 (1):39–48
- 31. Brosse N, Sannigrahi P, Ragauska A (2009) Pretreatment of *miscanthus x giganteus* using the ethanol organosolv process for ethanol production. Ind Eng Chem Res 48(18):8328–8334
- 32. Hallac BB, Sannigrahi P, Pu Y, Ray M, Murphy RJ, Ragauskas A (2010) Effect of ethanol organosolv pretreatment on enzymatic hydrolysis of buddleja davidii stem biomass. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(4):1467–1472

- 33. Del Rio L, Chandra R, Saddler J (2010) The effect of varying organosolv pretreatment chemicals on the physicochemical properties and cellulolytic hydrolysis of mountain pine beetle-killed lodgepole pine. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 161(1):1–21
- Munoz C, Mendonca R, Baeza J (2007) Bioethanol production from bio-organosolv pulps of Pinus radiate and Acacia dealbata. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 82:767–774
- 35. Sannigrahi P, Miller SJ, Ragauskas AJ (2010) Effects of organosolv pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis on cellulose structure and crystallinity in Loblolly pine. Carbohydr Res 345(7):965–970
- 36. Pan X, Xie D, Yu R (2007) Biorefining of Lodgepole pine killed by mountain pine beetle using ethanol organo-solv process: fractionation and process optimization. Ind Eng Chem Res 46(8):2609–2617
- Demirbas A (1998) Aqueous glycerol delignification of wood chips and ground wood. Bioresour Technol 63(2):179–185
- Vazquez G, Antorrena G, Gonzalez J (2000) The influence of acetosolv pulping conditions on the enzymatic hydrolysis of Eucalyptus pulps. Wood Sci Technol 34:345–354
- Dapia S, Santos V, Parajo J (2002) Study of formic acid as an agent for biomass fractionation. Biomass Bioenergy 22(3):213–221
- 40. Araque E, Parra C, Freer J (2008) Evaluation of organosolv pretreatment for the conversion of Pinus radiata D. Don to ethanol. Enzym Microb Technol 43:214–219
- 41. Huijgen W, Reith J, den Uil H (2010) Pretreatment and fractionation of wheat straw by an acetone-based organoly process. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(20):10132–10140
- 42. Zhang YP, Ding S, Mielenz JR, Cui J-B, Elander RT, Laser M, Himmel ME, McMillan JR, Lynd LR (2007) Fractionating recalcitrant lignocellulose at modest reaction conditions. Biotechnol Bioeng 97(2):214–223
- Patel DP, Varshney AK (1989) The effect of presoaking and prehydrolysis on the organosolv delignification of bagasse. Ind J Technol 27(6):285–288
- 44. Obama P, Ricochon G, Munuglia L, Brosse N (2012) Combination of enzymatic hydrolysis and ethanol organosolv pretreatments: effect on lignin structures, delignification yields and cellulose-to-glucose conversion. Bioresour Technol 112:156–163
- 45. Timilsena YP, Abeywickrama CJ, Rakshit SK, Brosse N (2013) Effect of different pretreatments on delignification pattern and enzymatic hydrolysability of miscanthus, oil palm biomass and typha grass. Bioresour Technol 135:82–88
- 46. Hansen NML, Plackett D (2008) Sustainable films and coatings from hemicelluloses: a review. Biomacromolecules 9(6):1495–1505
- Zheng Y, Pan Z, Zhang R (2009) Overview of biomass pretreatment for cellulosic ethanol production. Int J Agric Biol Eng 2(3):51–68
- 48. Timilsena YP (2012) Effect of different pretreatment methods in combination with the organosolv delignification process and enzymatic hydrolysability of three feedstocks in correlation with lignin structure. M. Eng thesis, Pathumthani: Asian Institute of Technology, Thailand
- Mosier N, Wyman C, Dale B, Elander R, Lee YY, Holtzapple M, Ladisch M (2005) Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 96:673–686
- Wayman M, Lora JH (1978) Aspen autohydrolysis. The effect of 2-naphthol and other aromatic compounds. Tappi J 61(6):55–57
- 51. Walch E, Zemann A, Schinner F, Bonn G, Bobleter O (1992) Enzymatic saccharification of hemicellulose obtained from hydrothermally pretreated sugar can bagasse and beech bark. Bioresour Technol 39:173–177
- Garrote G, Dominguez H, Parajo JC (1999) Mild autohydrolysis: an environmentally friendly technology for xylooligosaccharide production wood. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 74 (11):1101–1109
- 53. Brosse N, El Hage R, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2010) Dilute sulphuric acid and ethanol organosolv pretreatment of *miscanthus x giganteus*. Cellul Chem Technol 44(1–3):71–78

- Lora JH, Wayman M (1979) Delignification of hardwoods by autohydrolysis and extraction. Tappi J 61:47–50
- 55. Li J, Gellerstedt G (2008) Improved lignin properties and reactivity by modifications in the autohydrolysis process of aspen wood. Ind Crop Prod 27:175–181
- 56. El Hage R, Chrusciel L, Desharnais L, Brosse N (2010) Effect of autohydrolysis of miscanthus x giganteus on lignin structure and organosolv delignification. Bioresour Technol 101:9321–9329
- 57. Hussin MH, Rahim AA, Mohamad Ibrahim MN, Yemloul M, Perrin D, Brosse N (2014) Investigation on the structure and antioxidant properties of modified lignin obtained by different combinative processes of oil palm fronds (OPF) biomass. Ind Crop Prod 52:544–551
- Hussin MH, Rahim AA, Mohamad Ibrahim MN, Perrin D, Yemloul M, Brosse N (2014) Impact of catalytic oil palm fronds (OPF) pulping on organosolv lignin properties. Polym Degrad Stab 109:33–39
- Timilsena YP, Audu IG, Rakshit SK, Brosse N (2013) Impact of the lignin structure of three lignocellulosic feedstocks on their organosolv delignification. Effect of carbonium ion scavangers. Biomass Bioenergy 52:151–158
- Li S, Lundquist K (2000) Cleavage of arylgylcerol beta-aryl ethers under neutral and acidic conditions. Nord Pulp Pap Res J 15:292–299
- Ammalahti E, Brunow G, Bardet M, Robert D, Kipelainen IJ (1998) Identification of sidechain structures in a poplar lignin using three-dimensional HMQC-HOHAHA NMR spectroscopy. J Agric Food Chem 46:5113–5117
- 62. Garcia A, Toledano A, Serrano L, Egues I, Gonzales M, Marinn F, Labidi J (2009) Characterization of lignins obtained by selective precipitation. Sep Purif Technol 68:193–198
- 63. She D, Xu F, Geng Z, Sun R, Jones GL, Baird MS (2010) Physicochemical characterization of extracted lignin from sweet sorghum stem. Ind Crop Prod 32:21–28
- 64. McDonough T (1993) The chemistry of organosolv delignification. Tappi J 76(8):186-193
- Meshgini M, Sarkanen KV (1989) Synthesis and kinetics of acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of some alpha-aryl ether lignin model compounds. Holzforschung 43(4):239–243
- 66. El Hage R, Brosse N, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2010) Effects of process severity on the chemical structure of Miscanthus ethanol organosolv lignin. Polym Degrad Stab 95:997–1003
- Yang D, Qiu X, Zhou M, Lou H (2007) Properties of sodium lignosulfonate as dispersant of coal water slurry. Energy Convers Manag 48:2433–2438
- Matsushita Y, Imai M, Iwatsuki A, Fukushima K (2008) The relationship between surface tension and the industrial performance of water-soluble polymers prepared from acid hydrolysis lignin, a saccharification by-product from woody materials. Bioresour Technol 99:3024–3028
- Boeriu CG, Bravo D, Gosselink RJA, Van Dam JEG (2004) Characterisation of structuredependent functional properties of lignin with infrared spectroscopy. Ind Crop Prod 20:205–218
- Sena-Martins G, Almeida-Vara E, Duarte JC (2008) Eco-friendly new products form enzymatically modified industrial lignins. Ind Crop Prod 27:189–195
- Mohan D, Pittman CU, Steele PH (2006) Single, binary and multi-component adsorption of copper and cadmium from aqueous solutions on Kraft lignin-a biosorbent. J Colloid Interface Sci 297:489–504
- 72. El Mansouri NE, Salvado J (2006) Structural characterization of technical lignins for the production of adhesives: application to lignosulfonate, kraft, soda-anthraquinone, organosolv and ethanol process lignins. Ind Crop Prod 24:8–16
- Tejado A, Pena C, Labidi J, Echeverria JM, Mondragon II (2007) Physicochemical characterization of lignins from different sources for use in phenol–formaldehyde resin synthesis. Bioresour Technol 98:1655–1663

- 74. El Hage R, Brosse N, Navarrete P, Pizzi A (2011) Extraction, characterization and utilization of organosolv miscanthus lignin for the conception of environmentally friendly mixed tannin/ lignin wood resins. J Adhes Sci Technol 25:1549–1560
- 75. El Hage R, Perrin D, Brosse N (2012) Effect of pre-treatement severity on the antioxidant properties of ethanol organosolv *Miscanthus x giganteus* lignin. Nat Res 3:29–34
- 76. Hussin MH, Shah AM, Rahim AA, Mohamad Ibrahim MN, Perrin D, Brosse N (2015) Antioxidant and anticorrosive properties of oil palm frond lignins extracted with different techniques. Ann For Sci 72(1):17–26
- 77. Hussin MH, Rahim AA, Mohamad Ibrahim MN, Brosse N (2015) Improved corrosion of mild steel by chemically modified lignin polymers from Elaeis guineensis agricultural waste. Mater Chem Phys 163:201–212
- Olivier-Bourbigou H, Magna L, Morvan D (2010) Ionic liquids and catalysis: Recent progress from knowledge to applications. Appl Catal A 373:1–56
- Swatloski RP, Spear SK, Holbrey JD, Rogers RD (2002) Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids. J Am Chem Soc 124:4974–4975
- Zhao H, Jones CIL, Baker GA, Xia S, Olubajo O, Person VN (2009) Regenerating cellulose from ionic liquids for an accelerated enzymatic hydrolysis. J Biotechnol 139:47–54
- Chowdhury ZZ, Hohd Zain S, Abd Hamid S, Khalid K (2014) Catalytic role of ionic liquids for dissolution and degradation of biomacromolecules. Bioresources 9(1):1787–1823
- Mäki-Arvela P, Anugwom I, Virtanen P, Sjöholm R, Mikkola JP (2010) Dissolution of lignocellulosic materials and its constituents using ionic liquids—a review. Ind Crop Prod 32:175–201
- 83. Zhu S, Wu Y, Chen Q, Yu Z, Wang C, Jin S, Ding Y, Wu G (2006) Dissolution of cellulose with ionic liquids and its application: a mini-review. Green Chem 8:325–327
- Zakrzewska ME, Bogel-Łukasik E, Bogel-Łukasik R (2010) Solubility of carbohydrates in ionic liquids. Energy Fuel 24:737–745
- Pinkert A, Marsh KN, Pang S, Staiger MP (2009) Ionic liquids and their interaction with cellulose. Chem Rev 109:6712–6728
- 86. Youngs TGA, Hardacre C, Holbrey JD (2007) Glucose solvation by the ionic liquid 1,3-dimethylimidazolium chloride: a simulation study. J Phys Chem B 111:13765–13774
- Liu H, Sale KL, Holmes BM, Simmons BA, Singh S (2010) Understanding the interactions of cellulose with ionic liquid: a molecular dynamics study. J Phys Chem B 114:4293–4301
- Wang X, Li H, Cao Y, Tang Q (2011) Cellulose extraction from wood chip in anionic liquid 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (AmimCl). Bioresour Technol 102:7959–7965
- Zavrel M, Bross D, Funke M, Büchs J, Spiess AC (2009) High-throughput screening for ionic liquids dissolving (ligno-) cellulose. Bioresour Technol 100:2580–2587
- Ninomiya K, Kamide K, Takahashi K, Shimizu N (2012) Enhanced enzymatic saccharification of kenaf powder after ultrasonic pretreatment in ionic liquids at room temperature. Bioresour Technol 103:259–265
- Brandt A, Hallett JP, Leak DJ, Murphy RJ, Welton T (2010) The effect of the ionic liquid anion in the pretreatment of pine wood chips. Green Chem 12:672–679
- 92. Abe M, Fukaya Y, Ohno H (2010) Extraction of polysaccharides from bran with phosphonate or phosphinate-derived ionic liquids under short mixing time and low temperature. Green Chem 12:1274–1280
- 93. Li W, Sun N, Stoner B, Jiang X, Lu X, Rogers RD (2011) Rapid dissolution of lignocellulosic biomass in ionic liquids using temperatures above the glass transition of lignin. Green Chem 13:2038–2047
- 94. Sun N, Rahman M, Qin Y, Maxim ML, Rodriguez H, Rogers RD (2009) Complete dissolution and partial delignification of wood in the ionic liquid1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate. Green Chem 11:646
- Viell J, Marquardt W (2011) Disintegration and dissolution kinetics of wood chips in ionic liquids. Holzforschung 65:519

- 96. Padmanabhan S, Kim M, Blanch HW, Prausnitz JM (2011) Solubility and rate of dissolution for Miscanthus in hydrophilic ionic liquids. Fluid Phase Equilib 309:89–96
- 97. Dibble DC, Li C, Sun L, George A, Cheng A, Cetinkol OP, Benke P, Holmes BM, Singh S, Simmons BA (2011) A facile method for the recovery of ionic liquid and lignin from biomass pretreatment. Green Chem 13(11):3255–3264
- Shafiei M, Zilouei H, Zamani A, Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2013) Enhancement of ethanol production from spruce wood chips by ionic liquid pretreatment. Appl Energy 102:163–169
- Lynam JG, Toufiq Reza M, Vasquez VR, Coronella CJ (2012) Pretreatment of rice hulls by ionic liquid dissolution. Bioresour Technol 114:629–636
- 100. Miyafuji H, Miyata K, Saka S, Ueda F, Mori M (2009) Reaction behavior of wood in an ionic liquid, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. J Wood Sci 55:215–219
- 101. da Costa Lopes AM, Joao KG, Morais ARC, Bogel-Lukasik E, Bogel-Lukasik R (2013) Ionic liquids as a tool for lignocellulosic biomass fractionation. Sustainable Chem Process 1:3
- 102. Doherty TV, Mora-Pale M, Foley SE, Linhardt RJ, Dordick JS (2010) Ionic liquid solvent properties as predictors of lignocellulose pretreatment efficacy. Green Chem 12:1967
- 103. Khare SK, Pandey A, Larroche C (2015) Current perspectives in enzymatic saccharification of lignocellulosic biomass. Biochem Eng J 102:38–44
- 104. Procentese A, Johnson E, Orr V, Garruto Campanile A, Wood JA, Marzocchella A, Rehmann L (2015) Deep eutectic solvent pretreatment and subsequent saccharification of corncob. Bioresour Technol 192:31–36
- 105. Xu F, Shi Y-C, Wang D (2012) Enhanced production of glucose and xylose with partial dissolution of corn stover in ionic liquid, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate. Bioresour Technol 114:720–724
- 106. Trinh LTP, Lee YJ, Lee J-W, Lee HJ (2015) Characterization of ionic liquid pretreatment and the bioconversion of pretreated mixed softwood biomass. Biomass Bioenergy 81:1–8
- 107. El-Sayed H, Mutelet F, Moise JC, Brosse N (2015) Pretreatment of miscanthus using 1,3-dimethyl-imidazolium methyl phosphonate (DMIMMPh) ionic liquid for glucose recovery and ethanol production. RSC Adv 5(75):61455–61464
- 108. Auxenfans T, Buchoux S, Larcher D, Husson G, Husson E, Sarazin C (2014) Enzymatic saccharification and structural properties of industrial wood sawdust: recycled ionic liquids pretreatments. Energy Convers Manag 88:1094–1103
- 109. Socha AM, Plummer SP, Stavila V, Simmons BA, Sing S (2013) Comparison of sugar content for ionic liquid pretreated Douglas-fir woodchips and forestry residues. Biotechnol Biofuels 6:61
- 110. Brandt A, Ray MJ, To TQ, Leak DJ, Murphy RJ, Welton T (2011) Ionic liquid pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass with ionic liquid–water mixtures. Green Chem 13:2489
- 111. Audu IG, Brosse N, Desharnais L, Rakshit S (2013) Investigation of the effects of 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium acetate pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis of typha capensis. Energy Fuels 27(1):189–196
- 112. Nguyen TD, Kim KR, Han SJ, Cho HY, Kim JW, Park SM, Park JC, Sim SJ (2010) Pretreatment of rice straw with ammonia and ionic liquid for lignocelluloses conversion to fermentable sugars. Bioresour Technol 101(19):7432–7438
- 113. Kamiya N, Matsushita Y, Hanaki M, Nakashima K, Narita M, Goto M, Takahashi H (2008) Enzymatic in situ saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media. Biotechnol Lett 30:1037–1040
- 114. Engel P, Mladenov R, Wulfhorst H, Jager G, Spiess AC (2010) Point by point analysis: how ionic liquid affects the enzymatic hydrolysis of native and modified cellulose. Green Chem 12:1959–1966
- 115. Engel P, Krull S, Seiferheld B, Spiess AC (2012) Rational approach to optimize cellulase mixtures for hydrolysis of regenerated cellulose containing residual ionic liquid. Bioresour Technol 115:27–34
- 116. Wei L, Li K, Ma Y, Hou X (2012) Dissolving lignocellulosic biomass in a 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride–water mixture. Ind Crop Prod 37:227–234

- 117. Shill K, Padmanabhan S, Xin Q, Prausnitz JM, Clark DS, Blanch HW (2011) Ionic liquid pretreatment of cellulosic biomass: enzymatic hydrolysis and ionic liquid recycle. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:511–520
- 118. Zhu S, Yu P, Wang Q, Cheng B, Chen J, Wu Y (2013) Breaking the barriers of lignocellulosic ethanol production using ionic liquid technology. Bioresources 8(2):1510–1512
- 119. Klein-Marcuschamer D, Simmons BA, Blanch HW (2011) Techno-economic analysis of a lignocellulosic ethanol biorefinery with ionic liquid pre-treatment. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 5(5):562–569
Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2019) 166: 177–216 DOI: 10.1007/10\_2016\_72 © Springer International Publishing AG 2017 Published online: 26 October 2017

# Lignocellulose-Biorefinery: Ethanol-Focused



A. Duwe, N. Tippkötter, and R. Ulber

**Abstract** The development prospects of the world markets for petroleum and other liquid fuels are diverse and partly contradictory. However, comprehensive changes for the energy supply of the future are essential. Notwithstanding the fact that there are still very large deposits of energy resources from a geological point of view, the finite nature of conventional oil reserves is indisputable. To reduce our dependence on oil, the EU, the USA, and other major economic zones rely on energy diversification. For this purpose, alternative materials and technologies are being sought, and is most obvious in the transport sector. The objective is to progressively replace fossil fuels with renewable and more sustainable fuels. In this respect, biofuels have a pre-eminent position in terms of their capability of blending with fossil fuels and being usable in existing cars without substantial modification. Ethanol can be considered as the primary renewable liquid fuel. In this chapter enzymes, microorganisms, and processes for ethanol production based on renewable resources are described.

Keywords Bioethanol, Biorefinery, Lignocellulose feedstook

#### Contents

1	Curr	ent Process Technologies	178
2	Efficient Enzymes for Lignocellulose Degradation		
	2.1	Synergistic Effects of Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes	187
	2.2	Protein Engineering and Production	191
3	Mic	oorganisms for Ethanol Fermentation	192
	3.1	Overcoming Inhibitors	193
	3.2	Fermentation of Pentoses	196

A. Duwe (🖂), N. Tippkötter, and R. Ulber

Institute of Bioprocess Engineering, University of Kaiserslautern, Gottlieb-Daimler-Str. 49, 67663 Kaiserslautern, Germany

e-mail: anna.duwe@mv.uni-kl.de; tippkoetter@mv.uni-kl.de; ulber@mv.uni-kl.de

	3.3	Microorganisms for Consolidated Bioprocessing (CBP)	197		
4	Adv	ances and Developments in Fermentation Strategies	198		
	4.1	Comparison of Different Fermentation Processes	199		
	4.2	High-Gravity Technology	203		
	4.3	Ethanol Separation	204		
Re	References				

#### **1** Current Process Technologies

The development prospects of the world markets for petroleum and other liquid fuels are diverse and partly contradictory [1]. Scenarios reflecting optimistic and pessimistic assumptions alternate. In any case, comprehensive changes for the energy supply of the future are essential. Among the conventional sources of energy, crude oil is regarded as the most important energy source in the world with a share of around 33% of primary energy consumption. In 2013, oil production increased by 1.6% to a record high of nearly 4.2 billion tons, and oil consumption grew by 2.5% over the same period [2]. Notwithstanding the fact that there are still very large deposits of energy resources from a geological point of view, the finite nature of conventional oil reserves is indisputable. To reduce our dependence on oil, the European Union, the U.S., and other major economic zones rely on energy diversification [3-5]. For this purpose, alternative materials and technologies are being sought, which is most obvious in the transport sector. The objective is to replace fossil fuels progressively with renewable and more sustainable fuels. In this respect, biofuels have a preeminent position in terms of their capability of blending with fossil fuels and being usable in existing cars without substantial modification. Ethanol can be considered as the primary renewable liquid fuel. Blended with gasoline it can be used in over 80% of automobile and other light duty transportation vehicles [6].

It should be noted that the use of ethanol in cars is not a new topic. In 1908, Henry Ford designed the famous Ford Model T, the "Tin Lizzy," based on the use of ethanol, gasoline, or a combination of both. By 1918 more than half the cars in America were Model Ts and Ford already envisioned a bio-based economy with the integration of agriculture and the sustainable development of biofuel production. "There is fuel in every bit of vegetable matter that can be fermented," commented the automobile pioneer prophetically to The New York Times in 1925 [7]. However, during prohibition and under pressure from the rapidly growing oil industry, gasoline became the main fuel.

Nowadays, along with the goal of energy diversification, and therefore energy security, overall environmental benefits, such as the reduction of  $CO_2$  emissions, are envisaged. Although first generation biomass, such as maize, wheat, and sugarcane, can be converted relatively easily into ethanol, their use is seen as inappropriate because of the "food vs fuel" dilemma, including problems

concerning direct and indirect effects of land use [8-10]. In this context, the sustainable production of bioethanol from lignocellulosic biomass has become one of the most conceivable alternatives. Apart from the use of bioethanol as renewable fuel, current fields of applications include [11]:

- Octane enhancer in unleaded gasoline to replace methyl-tert-butylether (MTBE)
- Oxygenated compound for clean combustion of gasoline, thus reducing the tailpipe emissions and improving the ambient air quality
- Conversion to H<sub>2</sub>
- Conversion into various organic chemicals with either a higher number of carbon atoms in their molecules, or/and with an added-value (e.g., ethylacetal, butanone, butanol, pentenes)

For biofuel production, the conceptual model of a biorefinery provides the foundation for the development toward a sustainable bio-based economy: "A biorefinery is a facility that integrates biomass conversion processes and equipment to produce fuels, power, and chemicals from biomass" [12]. This concept is closely associated with the petroleum refinery, in which crude oil is processed and refined into many different marketable products. In a biorefinery, the biorenewable lignocellulosic feedstocks can analogically be converted into biofuels and value-added chemicals.

The improvement of biorefineries is generally considered as a priority, both at European and international levels, because the biorefinery supports several main drivers such as energy diversity, supply security, climate change, and rural development. Besides Germany, other EU member states, such as the Netherlands, Denmark, Finland, and Sweden, are developing their own specific bio-economy strategies [13, 14]. At the international level, aside from Brazil, the U.S. in particular has been very active in this field [15]. Numerous government programs and subsidies enable a substantial and fast-growing biofuel production industry. Under the 2007 Energy Independence & Security Act, the U.S. congress created the Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS) and mandated biofuels use. For 2016, the blending requirement, determined by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), is 230 million gallons. In 2014, the U.S. ethanol production reached 15 billion gallon per year from corn. The Renewable Fuels Association (RFA) lists at the present time 213 biorefineries for biofuel production at its website [16]. Moreover, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) and the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) support the development of ethanol production from cellulosic feedstocks. The DOE supports at least 29 biorefineries and several more are in operation, under construction, or at the design stage [17-19].

Although bioethanol is currently produced predominantly from sugarcane and corn, governments are increasingly pressured to move away from food crops [10, 19]. Lignocellulosic ethanol production is increasing considerably on the basis of straw, corn stover, and sugarcane bagasse. More generally speaking, ethanol production increases on the basis of agricultural and municipal solid waste as they represent abundant, inexpensive, and readily available sources that are not directly interfering with food production [20]. Table 1 lists selected bioethanol pilot, demonstration, and commercial plants in Europe and the U.S.

			Ethanol		
Substrate	Operator	Location	vear	Scale	Status
Wheat straw	Abengoa Bioenergy	York (Nebraska) U.S.	20,000 gallons	Pilot	Start of operation 2007
Wheat and barley straw		Salamanca, Spain	4000 tons/ 1.3 million gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2009
Agriculture resi- dues, dedicated energy crops, prairie grasses		Hugoton (Kansas), U.S.	25 million gallons	Commercial	Start of operation 2014
Mixed Hardwood (Green Power+ Technology)	American Process	Alpena (Michigan), U.S.	700,000 gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2012
Wood chips and agricultural resi- dues (Avap Technology)		Thomaston (Georgia), U.S.	300,000 gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2013
Non-food agri- cultural materials	Beta Renewables	Rivalta, Italy	40,000 tons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2009
Agriculture resi- dues (PROESA <sup>TM</sup> Technology)		Crescentino, Italy	60,000 tons/ 20 million gallons	Commercial	Start of operation 2012
Softwood, hard- wood, sugarcane bagasse BALI <sup>TM</sup> Technology)	Borregaard Industries	Sarpsborg, Norway	15,800 tons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2013
Agriculture resi- dues (wheat, bar- ley and rice	Clariant	Munich, Germany	2 tons	Pilot	Start of operation 2009
straw, corn sto- ver, sugarcane bagasse, miscanthus,) (Sunliquid <sup>®</sup> Technology)		Straubing, Germany	1,000 tons/ 330,000 gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2012
Wood chips	Fraunhofer CBP	Leuna, Germany	Not specified	Pilot	Start of operation 2012
Corn stover, switchgrass	DuPont Danisco	Nevada (Iowa), U.S.	30 million gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2015

Table 1 Selected bioethanol pilot, demonstration, and commercial plants in Europe and the U.S.

(continued)

Substrate	Operator	Location	Ethanol capacity per year	Scale	Status
Wheat straw	Inbicon, DONG Energy	Kalundborg, Denmark	1.5 million gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2009
		Maabjerg, Denmark	21 million gallons	Commercial	Planned start-up 2016
Multiple feed- stock (wood chips, switch- grass, corn sto- ver, sugarcane bagasse)	Mascoma	Rome (New York), U.S.	200,000 gallons	Demonstration	Start of operation 2009
Wood chips, sug- arcane bagasse, wheat, corn sto- ver, energy grass (CelluApp <sup>®</sup> Technology)	SEKAB/ EPAB	Örnsköldsvik, Sweden	100 tons	Pilot	Start of operation 2004
Wheat straw, poplar, miscanthus	Futurol Procethol 2G	Pomacle, France	47,550 gallons	Pilot	Start of operation 2011

Table 1 (continued)

In the field of lignocellulosic ethanol production, the technical development status until 2009 was based on laboratory experiments and pilot plants [21, 22]. Nowadays, the state-of-the-art has continually expanded through further demonstration and commercial plants.

There are basically two conversion technology paths that form the foundations of current research and development work – the biochemical approach and the thermochemical approach [6, 23-26]:

- In the biochemical route, the lignocellulosic base material has to be pretreated/ fractionated, then saccharified through hydrolysis, which can be achieved either chemically by acid hydrolysis or enzymatically, and finally the sugars can be fermented into ethanol
- The thermochemical route is based on gasification of the raw material to produce syngas (CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>) which is then converted into ethanol by a chemical reaction utilizing chemical catalysis or by fermentation

Currently, the biochemical route is the most commonly used process and is illustrated in detail in the following.

Comparable to petrochemical refineries, in lignocellulosic biorefineries the raw material is first separated into its main components. On this foundation, the individual product lines are developed with different processing technologies. However, unlike crude oil, which consists mainly of a mixture of hydrocarbon compounds, lignocellulosic biomass has a smaller percentage of carbon and hydrogen, and the share of oxygen is higher. It is mainly composed of carbohydrate polymers (cellulose, hemicellulose) and an aromatic polymer (lignin). The proportions of these components vary depending on the source and seasonal changes (Table 2). Although the basic separation process at the petrochemical refinery is the crude oil distillation, a myriad of process technologies are applied for the separation of the polymeric constituents, depending on the feedstock or which products are made [25].

To give the reader an impression of the aforementioned diversity and to provide an overview of existing process technologies, we introduce several biorefineries in the following.

Regarding the world's largest commercial cellulosic biorefinery in Hugoton (*Abengoa Bioenergy*) with an ethanol capacity to produce up to 25 million gallons per year, acid catalyzed steam explosion is the prior processing method that is currently used. After pretreatment, the sugars from the hemicellulose (liquid fraction) are separated from the technical cellulose (solid fraction). The conversion technology of the cellulose is Separate Enzymatic Hydrolysis and Fermentation (SHF). Both the hexoses and the pentoses are fermented separately into ethanol. The separation of ethanol from the stream coming from the fermenters is done by means of distillation. The state-of-the-art facility also features electricity cogeneration using residual lignin component, allowing it to operate as a self-sufficient

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		1	e			
Parameter $(\%)$ $(\%)$ residue $(\%)$ $crops (\%)$ $(\%)$ Cellulose41.141.732.631.0Hemicellulose17.020.522.624.4Lignin24.325.916.917.6Acids1.42.52.21.2Extractives6.52.713.017.0Ash1.60.310.25.8Paraffins49Aromatics15Asphaltics6C51.750.343.947.383-87H4.56.05.35.310-14		Hardwood	Softwood	Agricultural	Herbaceous energy	Petroleum
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Parameter	(%)	(%)	residue (%)	crops (%)	(%)
Hemicellulose $17.0$ $20.5$ $22.6$ $24.4$ Lignin $24.3$ $25.9$ $16.9$ $17.6$ Acids $1.4$ $2.5$ $2.2$ $1.2$ Extractives $6.5$ $2.7$ $13.0$ $17.0$ Ash $1.6$ $0.3$ $10.2$ $5.8$ Paraffins $1.6$ $0.3$ $10.2$ $5.8$ Paraffins $1.6$ $1.5$ $30$ Naphthenes $1.5$ $15$ Asphaltics $1.5$ $6.0$ C $51.7$ $50.3$ $43.9$ H $4.5$ $6.0$ $5.3$ 5.3 $10-14$	Cellulose	41.1	41.7	32.6	31.0	
Lignin         24.3         25.9         16.9         17.6           Acids         1.4         2.5         2.2         1.2           Extractives         6.5         2.7         13.0         17.0           Ash         1.6         0.3         10.2         5.8           Paraffins           30           Naphthenes           49           Aromatics           15           Asphaltics           6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83–87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10–14	Hemicellulose	17.0	20.5	22.6	24.4	
Acids         1.4         2.5         2.2         1.2           Extractives         6.5         2.7         13.0         17.0            Ash         1.6         0.3         10.2         5.8             Paraffins           30          30           Naphthenes            49           Aromatics           15           Asphaltics           6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83-87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10-14	Lignin	24.3	25.9	16.9	17.6	
Extractives         6.5         2.7         13.0         17.0           Ash         1.6         0.3         10.2         5.8         Image: Second system           Paraffins         Image: Second system         30         30           Naphthenes         Image: Second system         49           Aromatics         Image: Second system         15           Asphaltics         Image: Second system         6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83–87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10–14	Acids	1.4	2.5	2.2	1.2	
Ash         1.6         0.3         10.2         5.8           Paraffins           30           Naphthenes           49           Aromatics           15           Asphaltics           6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83-87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10-14	Extractives	6.5	2.7	13.0	17.0	
Paraffins         Image: square s	Ash	1.6	0.3	10.2	5.8	
Naphthenes         49           Aromatics         15           Asphaltics         6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83–87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10–14	Paraffins					30
Aromatics         15           Asphaltics         6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83–87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10–14	Naphthenes					49
Asphaltics         6           C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83-87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10-14	Aromatics					15
C         51.7         50.3         43.9         47.3         83-87           H         4.5         6.0         5.3         5.3         10-14	Asphaltics					6
H 4.5 6.0 5.3 5.3 10-14	С	51.7	50.3	43.9	47.3	83-87
	Н	4.5	6.0	5.3	5.3	10–14
O 35.1 42.1 38.8 41.6 0.1–1.5	0	35.1	42.1	38.8	41.6	0.1-1.5
N 0.20 0.03 0.63 0.51 0.1–2	Ν	0.20	0.03	0.63	0.51	0.1-2
S 0.03 0.01 0.16 0.10 0.05–6.0	S	0.03	0.01	0.16	0.10	0.05-6.0

Table 2 Difference in composition of lignocellulosic feedstocks and petroleum

Sources: Hardwood (Biomass sample type: Hybrid Poplar Caudina, DN-34 whole tree w/o leaves or needles #13), Softwood (Biomass sample type: Monterey pine (*Pinus radiata*) Debarked wood #153), Agricultural residue (Biomass sample type: Wheat straw (*Triticum aestivum*) Thunderbird whole plant #154), Herbaceous energy crops (Biomass sample type: Switchgrass Alamo whole plant #74) [27], Petroleum [28, 29]

renewable energy producer. According to *Abengoa Bioenergy*, the biorefinery concept is currently being assessed. In this connection, the company is developing proprietary technologies suited for the manufacturing of coproducts from the ethanol production process, such as coproducts from lignin (asphalts, bioplastics, biopolymers, resins) and coproducts from sugars [30–32].

Various kinds of pretreatments are applied by *American Process* [30]. The GreenPower+<sup>TM</sup> process is used to extract the hemicellulose from woody biomass by using steam or hot water which is then hydrolyzed into fermentable sugars. The extracted biomass is returned to the biomass boiler for the production of electricity and the sugars are converted to bioethanol. Through reverse osmosis, potassium acetate is also obtained [33]. The AVAP (American Value Added Pulping) technology co-produces cellulosic sugars, ethanol, and cellulose. The biomass is converted to sugars using a two-step process. In the first step, biomass is fractionated by a mixture of SO<sub>2</sub> and ethanol into its three major components – cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin. In the second step, hemicellulose and cellulose are hydrolyzed to sugars using heat and enzymes, respectively. The pentose sugars from the hemicellulose and the glucose from the cellulose are fermented to ethanol. Lignin is removed and burned to produce the energy required to run the process [34].

Beta Renewables, a joint venture between Chemtex and the investment company TPG (Texas Pacific Group), applies the PROESA<sup>TM</sup> (PROduzione di Etanolo da biomasSA) technology. The biomass is pressure-cooked with steam and hot water followed by a fast decompression to separate lignin. With Simultaneous Saccharification and Co-Fermentation (SSCF), the cellulose and the hemicellulose are transformed into ethanol. The plant uses enzymes from *Novozymes*, a Denmarkbased biotech company, which acquired a 10% share in Beta Renewables. The yeast comes from Leaf Technologies (France). Lignin is isolated by a filtration process and used as energy source or it is sold on the market [30, 35, 36]. In October 2014, the company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement with *Energochemica SE* for the construction of a second generation ethanol plant in Strazske (Slovak Republic), which should deliver 55,000 metric tons per year of cost-competitive cellulosic ethanol with the PROESA<sup>TM</sup> technology, using non-food biomass as its feedstock. The start-up of the plant is expected in the first half of 2017 [37].

*Borregaard Industries* uses the BALI<sup>TM</sup> (Borregaard Advanced LIgnin) technology. Pulp for the paper mill is produced by cooking spruce chips with acidic calcium bisulfite cooking liquor and the hemicellulose is hydrolyzed to various sugars during this process. The sulfite spent liquor is then concentrated and the sugars are fermented. Ethanol is distilled off in several steps. Cellulose, lignin, vanillin, and ethanol are obtained [38, 39].

The pretreatment in the Sunliquid<sup>®</sup> technology from *Clariant* is carried out using hot water vapor. Ethanol is produced by an SHF process in which C6- and C5-sugars are converted simultaneously in a one-pot reaction. The enzyme production facilities are integrated in the process Sunliquid<sup>®</sup> plant. The lignin is separated and burned [30, 40].

The pilot plant of the German Project Lignocellulose Feedstock Biorefinery in Leuna is part of the *Fraunhofer Center for Chemical-Biotechnological Processes* (CBP). Pretreatment and component separation into cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin is carried out on the basis of the Organosolv pulping process. Cellulose and hemicelluloses are enzymatically converted to sugars and fermented to ethanol, lactic acid, acetic acid, or succinic acid. Lignin is precipitated from the pulping liquor via water dilution or thermal precipitation to receive Organosolv lignin. Unlike other pretreatment processes, the resulting lignin is very pure and contaminated neither with sulfur nor with inorganic salts. Thus, applications for a wide range of materials are possible either under structure-preserving of different thermoplastic and thermoset polymers or by breaking down the structure in terms of depolymerization to aromatics [41, 42].

*DuPont's* facility in Nevada uses the dilute ammonia-based pretreatment. Using Separate Enzymatic Hydrolysis and Fermentation (SHF), the facility employs Accellerase<sup>®</sup> Biomass Enzymes and an engineered bacterium strain of *Zymomonas mobilis*, which can convert both the C6- and C5-sugars from plant biomass into ethanol [43, 44].

Based on the "IBUS" (Integrated Biomass Utilization System) concept and under the EU 7th Framework Programme "KACELLE" (KAlundborg CELLulosic Ethanol project), *Inbicon*, a subsidiary of the Danish *DONG Energy*, uses a hydrothermal pretreatment and high-gravity enzymatic hydrolysis. The enzymes used in the Kalundborg Demonstration Plant are supplied by *Novozymes*, *DuPont Genencor* and *DSM* [45]. They focus on two fermentation concepts. The first concept comprises the fermentation of C6-sugars to ethanol and the use of the C5-sugars for livestock feed or biogas production. The second concept describes a C5- and C6-mixed sugar fermentation. Lignin pellets are sold to *DONG Energy* and are used as a high-quality solid biofuel in power plants. In Maabjerg, it is envisaged to produce – besides ethanol, heat, and electricity – biogas, and to use the remaining nutrients as fertilizer [22, 30, 39, 46, 47].

With the Consolidated Bioprocessing (CBP) concept, the *Mascoma Corporation* has chosen a different approach that features cellulase production, cellulose hydrolysis, and fermentation in one step [30, 39, 48].

In Sweden, the CelluApp<sup>®</sup> Technology of *SEKAB* is based on dilute acid pretreatment followed either by Separate Enzymatic Hydrolysis and Fermentation (SHF) or Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SSF) to produce ethanol. Lignin is removed and burned to produce the energy required to run the process [49].

The French project Futurol (*Procethol 2G*) is developing cellulose extraction techniques, selecting enzymes and yeasts, and developing the hydrolysis and fermentation processes best suited to each raw material configuration. Further details are not yet known [39, 50, 51].

Summarizing the above, it can be said that:

• Hydrothermal or acidic/sulfuric pretreatment are the main applied methods to fractionate the lignocellulosic biomass into cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin

- Other pretreatments, for instance dilute ammonia- or Organosolv-based, are not yet established in industry
- Generally, biological conversion to ethanol is performed either through SHF, SSF, or SSCF (see Sect. 4.1)
- · Current cellulolytic enzymes are derived from fungi
- Mainly yeast strains were used to transform the sugars into ethanol
- · In most cases, lignin is only used for producing process energy
- Ethanol is removed from the fermentation broth by distillation

From the literature, we observe that there have been tremendous research efforts to develop advanced technologies for ethanol production in the context of a lignocellulosic biorefinery. However, a lot of challenges for the commercial applications remain. Besides continuing debate over water, land, and ecological impacts, in particular, the conversion technologies for cellulosic biofuels from non-food lignocellulosic plants are not yet optimized. Despite government programs and subsidies, federal loans, and other financial aids, the cost of commercial production of bioethanol is still very high. Tangible approaches to overcome these challenges reside in appropriate and cost effective pretreatment, improved enzymes, new yeast or bacterial strains, advanced process strategies concerning fermentation, and ethanol separation. Furthermore, technological innovations focus on utilizing every fraction of the biomass feedstock and producing more-valuable coproducts. The potential of lignin in particular is far from exhausted.

# 2 Efficient Enzymes for Lignocellulose Degradation

In the development and implementation of biorefinery processes, the hydrolytic conversion of the lignocellulosic substrate and its goal of providing monomeric sugars for microbial ethanol fermentation play a central role. A significant challenge is overcoming the recalcitrance of the complex lignocellulosic biomass. The plant cells have thick cell walls that primarily consist of polysaccharides and the aromatic polymer lignin. In numbers, the cell wall consists of 40–50% cellulose, 25-30% hemicellulose, and 15-20% lignin and other extractable components. The cellulose microfibrils, which are composed of linear chains of  $\beta$ -1,4-linked Dglucose units, are tightly packed and embedded in an amorphous matrix of lignin and hemicellulose. Intra- and intermolecular hydrogen bonds between hydroxyl groups as well as van der Waals forces lead to crystalline cellulose structures (Ia and IB polymorphs) comprised with amorphous regions. Cellulose is coated by hemicellulose, a heterogeneous, branched polysaccharide. The building blocks of hemicelluloses include xyloglycans, xylans, mannans, and glucomannans. The backbone of the polymer is made up by mostly one type of saccharide, the sidechains of other sugars such as L-arabinose, D-glucuronic acid, or D-galacturonic acid. Via chemical ester or ether bonds, hemicellulose is linked to lignin. This heterogeneous aromatic polymer is comprised of the three phenyl-propanoid monomers *p*-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and sinapyl alcohol [52–55]. Because of the ordered tertiary structure, lignocellulose is insoluble in conventional solvents such as water, and is very difficult to depolymerize.

The catalytic conversion of cellulose and hemicellulose into fermentable hexoses and pentoses is being conducted either chemically or enzymatically. Possible chemical reactions are acid-catalyzed hydrolysis, bond scission in alkaline medium, and the application of ionic liquids [56, 57]. In particular, acid hydrolysis using sulfuric or hydrochloric acid, for example, applied in the Scholler, Madison, Noguchi, or Bergius process, is widely used, as acid hydrolysis was industrialized in the early part of the twentieth century [58]. However, these methods have various disadvantages. They are energy inefficient because high temperatures are always required, the equipment suffers from corrosion, there are difficulties in the separation and recycling of acids, there is the demand of neutralization, and the processes produce large amounts of waste. A more promising approach involves the use of solid acid catalysts, sulfonic group-functionalized or metal-based solid acidcatalyzed hydrolysis (e.g., MC-SO<sub>3</sub>H, Amberlyst 15DRY or Pt/y-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Ru/ CMK-3). The solid catalysts can be easily separated and recycled, are environmentally friendly, and have high hydrothermal stability. However, research is largely confined to model systems such as pure cellulose. Furthermore, there are significant drawbacks concerning high catalyst:substrate mass ratio, as well as concerning the transfer resistance between catalysts and insoluble or partially soluble cellulose that restricts the catalytic activity [56, 57, 59]. A further field of research is ionic liquids (ILs). An increasing number of research articles have been published in recent years [60]. Organic salts with melting points around or below the ambient temperature were used as solvents for the dissolution of cellulose, and also for hydrolysis with and without chemical catalysts. Even the enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic polysaccharides in the presence of ionic liquids has been investigated [61]. High thermal stability, negligible vapor pressure, wide liquid temperature range, and tunable solubility are named as the main advantages. Regardless of the practical advantages, tremendous challenges remain for the application of ILs in terms of biocompatibility and the need to develop effective recovery and recycling methods.

In the final analysis with respect to the implementation in a biorefinery process, enzymatic hydrolysis represents at the time the best option for an efficient disruption and hydrolytic cleavage of the hydrogen-bond network. Some of the most decisive advantages for enzymes in bioethanol production are [62, 63]:

- High selectivity of the enzymatic reaction
- Mild reaction conditions, thereby reducing the amount of energy and expensive equipment
- · Low formation of inhibitory by-products
- Possibility to combine the hydrolysis with the subsequent fermentation step
- · Advanced technology concerning environmental safety

However, the physicochemical factors make the native lignocellulosic biomass recalcitrant to degradation, and the access of the enzymes to the polysaccharides in the lignocellulose remains a major issue. Therefore pretreatment is required. Generally, the methods are divided into physical, physicochemical, chemical, and biological pretreatment categories. In turn, each category can again be divided into subcategories. Focusing on chemical pretreatments, these subcategories can further be classified into acidic, alkaline, and neutral pretreatments. These methods have been addressed in a number of reviews and the specific modifications that make the polysaccharides more accessible to enzymes are determined by the pretreatment method used [64–69]. Targeting increased digestibility but avoiding the formation of sugar degradation products and fermentation inhibitors, pretreatment assessment depends on various properties. For instance, the sugars released in the liquid and the carbohydrate content of the solids after pretreatment are important factors. In addition, the enzymatic hydrolysis and the fermentation of either the washed or the unwashed substrate to target potential inhibitors and the assessment of additional biotechnological potential of the fractions are of interest. Yields of enzymatic hydrolysis higher than 90% achieved within reasonable time periods (up to 1 day) that work in combination with high sugar concentration provide the basis for efficient, enzymatic lignocellulose degradation [70].

# 2.1 Synergistic Effects of Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes

The kingdom of life covers many organisms which naturally developed the necessary capabilities to convert lignocellulose biomass to soluble species that are then used as a source for food and energy. Facing the recalcitrance of lignocellulose, these biomass-degrading organisms require an array of enzymes with synergistic function to break down polysaccharides and lignin. Table 3 gives an overview of the potential sources and their characteristics.

Among all organisms, fungi play a pivotal role in industrial biomass depolymerization [55]. The sources for commercialized cellulase production are mainly fungi such as Trichoderma reesei or Aspergillus niger. These fungi produce extracellular cellulases in significant amounts and are therefore of particular interest. In comparison with each other, the cellulases from Aspergillus usually have higher  $\beta$ -glucosidase activity but lower endoglucanase levels, whereas those from Trichoderma have high endo- and exoglucanase components but lower β-glucosidase levels. Unlike soft rot or white rot fungi, brown rot fungi involve low molecular weight degradation agents such as hydrogen peroxide. These low molecular weight oxidants penetrate through the cell wall of the lignocellulosic material and react with endogenous iron or other transition metals to produce hydroxyl radicals via the Fenton reaction [71]. However, bacteria such as Bacilli, *Paenibacilli*, or *Clostrida* are also valuable resources for enzymes [72]. Apart from these usual sources, significant recent activities and progress were made in the field of termites. Various recombinant expression platforms can be used, with bacteria and yeast being most notable, to produce the recombinant digestive enzymes [73].

Two primary nanocatalytic degradation paradigms have to be distinguished: the "free" enzyme paradigm and the "cellulosomal" paradigm [55, 76]. Regarding the

Natural bio	omass		
utilization	system	Characteristics	Example
Fungi	Soft rot fungi/ white rot fungi	<ul> <li>Degradation of cellulose and hemicellulose, some can selectively degrade lignin</li> <li>Single-cell microorganism system, enriched with extracellular lignases and GHs</li> <li>Are known to produce multiple cellulases (e.g., CBHs, EGs, BGLs)</li> <li>Binding module seems to belong invariably to the CBM family</li> </ul>	Trichoderma reseei Aspergillus niger Trametes versicolor
	Brown rot fungi	<ul> <li>Degradation of cellulose and hemicellulose, some can selectively degrade lignin</li> <li>Single-cell microorganism system, enriched with extracellular GHs</li> <li>Lack of both CBMs and processive cellulases</li> <li>Involvement of non-enzymatic low molecular weight oxidants through the production of reac- tive oxygen species (OH-, peroxide-, or super- oxide radicals, Fenton reaction system)</li> </ul>	Postia pla- centa Gloeophyllum trabeum Fomitopsis pinicola
Bacteria	Aerobic bacteria	• Secrete various amounts of free cellulases that act synergistically to degrade cellulose and con- tain CDs, linker peptides, and CBMs	Bacillus halodurans Paenibacillus mucilaginosus
	Anaerobic bacteria	<ul> <li>Anaerobic bacteria have cellulose-degrading and hemicellulolytic enzymes</li> <li>Enzymes assembled as cellulosome</li> </ul>	Clostridium acetobutylicum Clostridium thermocellum
Termites		<ul> <li>Degradation of cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin</li> <li>Complicated multi-organism systems with synergies between host and symbionts to lignocellulose degradation</li> </ul>	Reticulitermes flavipes

 Table 3
 Selected sources and characteristics of lignocellulosic degradation organisms [71–75]

*CBH* cellobiohydrolase, *EG* endoglucanase, *BGL*  $\beta$ -glucosidase, *GH* glycoside hydrolase, *CBM* carbohydrate binding modules, *CD* catalytic domain

"free" enzyme paradigm, cell wall-active enzymes are secreted as a mixture of individual enzymes. They diffuse as single catalytic units with different substrate specificities. Some of them are complemented with binding modules, which are covalently attached together via linker domains. Concerning the "cellulosomal" paradigm, the enzymes are tethered to large scaffolds. Through the noncovalent interaction of a cohesin module on the scaffoldin and a dockerin module on each enzymatic subunit, up to hundreds of enzymes form a large catalytic multi-enzyme complex in a self-assembling manner.

All components of the cellulose complex act synergistically. At least three major types of glycoside hydrolases (GH, EC 3.2.1.x) are involved in the degradation of cellulose [77]:

- 1. Endoglucanases (EGs; 1,4-β-D-glucan 4-glucanohydrolases; EC 3.2.1.4)
- 2. *Exoglucanases*, including cellodextrinases (1,4-β-D-glucan glucanohydrolases; EC 3.2.1.74) and cellobiohydrolases (CBHs; 1,4-β-D-glucan cellobiohydrolases; EC 3.2.1.91)
- 3. *β-Glucosidases* (BGL; also termed cellobiases; β-glucoside glucohydrolases; EC 3.2.1.21)

Endoglucanases mainly act on amorphous parts of cellulose and hydrolyze accessible intramolecular  $\beta$ -1,4-glucosidic bonds of cellulose chains randomly. Exoglucanases release soluble cellobiose or glucose through cleaving the cellulose chains at the end.  $\beta$ -Glucosidases act on the soluble substrate cellobiose and produce glucose. Both, endo- and exoglucanases are highly dependent on  $\beta$ -glucosidases because product inhibition through cellobiose limits efficient hydrolysis. For profitable biomass conversion, product inhibition is one of the main obstacles and additional  $\beta$ -glucosidases contribute to economic feasibility by achieving high sugar concentrations that come along with high yields [78, 79].

Beside the hydrolysis of the cellulose, the conversion of the hemicellulose is crucial for increasing the overall yield of bioethanol, as hemicellulose represents 20-35% of lignocellulosic biomass. Grass biomass contains a considerably high proportion of hemicellulose. The ethanol fermentation of the hemicellulose fraction should be achieved by co-saccharification and co-fermentation with the cellulosic fraction to establish an economically feasible process. Moreover, an effective sugar release is achieved under low enzyme loadings. Reduction of enzyme loading is made possible by an optimized enzyme combination that allows realistic prospects for the success of an economic biorefinery. By using the synergetic effect of cellulase, xylanase, and cellobiase activity, it is possible to hydrolyze at low enzyme loadings with high yields [80-83]. Enzymes that degrade hemicellulose can be arranged into two groups. The first group is responsible for the hydrolysis of the  $\beta$ -1,4 bonds in the backbone. The second group performs the de-branching and they are also known as ancillary and/or auxiliary enzymes. The core enzymes include endo  $\beta$ -1,4-xylanases (EC 3.2.1.8), xylan 1,4- $\beta$ -xylosidases, (EC 3.2.1.37), endo-1,4-β-mannanases (EC 3.2.1.78), and β-1,4 mannosidases (EC 3.2.1.25). Auxiliary enzymes are, for instance,  $\alpha$ -L-arabinofuranosidase (EC 3.2.1.55),  $\beta$ -glucuronidase (EC 3.2.1.139), acetylxylan esterase (EC 3.1.1.72), ferulic acid esterase (EC 3.1.1.73), and p-coumaric acid esterase (EC 3.1.1.1) [72]. Special emphasis should be put on the application of esterases, which are involved in the hydrolysis of ester bonds. Feruloyl esterases, for example, participate in the breakup of linkages connecting hemicellulose and lignin. This leads to an increase of free saccharides and supports their hydrolysis in combination with carbohydrate-degrading enzymes [84].

Many of these hydrolases are multimodular. They consist of a single or multiple catalytic modules connected by linker peptides of varying length and structure to one or more carbohydrate binding modules (CBMs) [55, 70]. The conformation of the catalytic module and the CBMs in the cellulosome differ from those of the free enzymes. Hence, the enzymatic activity and specificity differ substantially. For example, cellulosomes have an advantage in the digestion of pure cellulose,

whereas free fungal enzymes are more active on thermochemically treated biomass than cellulosomes [76]. In general, cellulosomes have the synergistic advantages of multi-enzyme complexes but the large size of cellulosomes may limit their diffusion on lignocellulosic substrates. A model approach that uses the advantages of cellulosomes but reduces its disadvantages is achieved by using free enzymes through the application of cross-linked enzyme aggregates (CLEAs) [72]. These combi-CLEAs, which are composed of different immobilized enzymes through precipitation and cross-linking, involve the physical aggregation of a thermostable endoglucanase and  $\beta$ -glucosidase from fungi along with highly stable hemicellulase from thermophilic bacterial strains. Magnetic-CLEAs further improve the process control and the operation stability [85].

The catalogue of cellulolytic enzymes has consisted, until now, primarily of hydrolytic enzymes. In addition, there are further enzymes with functional benefits available.

A more recently discovered class of enzymes known as lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases (LPMOs, formerly GH61 or CBM33) has turned out to be important for the complete saccharification of the lignocellulosic biomass. LPMOs are selective, oxidative enzymes. They lack measurable hydrolytic activity, but are capable of cleaving polysaccharide chains in crystalline regions by oxidative reactions. By doing so, they increase the accessibility for hydrolytic enzymes [55, 86]. As already mentioned, endoglucanases primarily act in more accessible, amorphous regions of cellulose. The ability to act on crystalline regions thus offers evident synergy of LPMOs in combination with EGs [87].

Ligninolytic enzymes represent another efficient consortium of enzymes with high redox potential that can be used in the lignocellulose biorefineries, in both the pretreatment and the hydrolysis stages [88–90]. The access of the cellulolytic enzymes to the polysaccharides in the lignocellulose is hampered by the crosslinks in the plant cell walls with the hydrophobic network of lignin. Thermochemical pretreatment is placed upstream to the saccharification and fermentation step to dissolve or delocalize lignin. However, this process requires large inputs of energy, causes pollution, and may also generate inhibitors and reduce the overall yield of fermentable sugars. Therefore, environmentally friendly technologies are required and biological treatment with ligninolytic enzymes or the combination of conventional and enzyme-based treatment are promising approaches. Moreover, most ethanol biorefineries focus on cellulose and hemicellulose valorization, whereas lignin, because of its inherent heterogeneity and recalcitrance, is usually burned for process heat [91–93]. The depolymerization of lignin through these enzymes can help to valorize lignin selectively. A variety of white rot and brown rot fungi, as well as bacteria, have been reported to degrade lignin, by means of different enzymes and catabolic pathways [94, 95]. Lignin peroxidase (LiP, EC 1.11.1.14), manganese peroxidases (MnP, EC 1.11.1.13), versatile peroxidases (VP, EC 1.11.1.16), and laccase (EC 1.10.3.2) are the major lignin-degrading enzyme systems of white rot fungi [88]. The enzymology of bacterial lignin breakdown is currently not well-understood, but extracellular peroxidase and laccase enzymes appear to be involved. Actinomycetes,  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria, and  $\gamma$ -proteobacteria are specified in the corresponding literature. Many bacteria were isolated from guts of termites and wood-boring beetles [95–97].

# 2.2 Protein Engineering and Production

Enzyme production improvements can be achieved by a multitude of approaches, including the use of cheaper carbon sources as substrates for enzyme production and notably through bioengineering the microorganisms.

Protein engineering is nowadays a well-established technology and enzyme properties can be tailored to obtain improved abilities. The two basic approaches are rational protein design or directed evolution. The prerequisite for the protein design method is the availability of a protein 3D structure or a reasonable homology model. This enables the prediction of the type and position of amino acid mutations. By site-directed mutagenesis, these mutations are introduced into the protein-encoding gene and produced by recombinant expression. In the case of directed evolution, mutations are introduced randomly or homologous genes are recombined manually. This method mimics natural evolution. Such an approach demands a suitable high-throughput screening method to identify the desired variants [21, 70].

Goals in this context are enhanced activity [98–100], a different pH-optimum [89, 101–103], or improved thermostability. Particularly improving thermoactivity (>50°C) is an important target, as it would allow hydrolysis at higher solids concentration because of lower viscosity at elevated temperatures. This results in reduced contamination by microorganisms and increased hydrolytic activity. Many small cumulative changes in the hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions, as well as in hydrogen bonds, presumably enable increased thermostability. Enhanced thermostability and activity has been achieved with  $\beta$ -glucosidase of *Trichoderma reesei* by mutation of specific amino acids in the outer channel of the active site [104]. The engineered *Talaromyces emersonii* Cel7A cellobiohydrolase has three extra disulfide bonds and a T<sub>m</sub> value of 84°C [105]. Gene shuffling of the genes encoding  $\beta$ -glucosidases from *Thermobifida fusca* and *Paebibacillus polymxyxa* resulted in a mutant with increased thermostability compared to both parental enzymes. The mutant showed a 144-fold increase in half-life of inactivation and an increased catalytic turnover frequency (94%, k<sub>cat</sub>) toward cellobiose [106].

An entirely different approach for reducing the cost of lignocellulosic bioconversion to ethanol should be mentioned. The use of non-enzymatic proteins such as expansin, swollenin, and loosinin can enhance cellulase activity, presumably through their ability to disrupt hydrogen bonds. This disruption reduces cellulose crystallinity and increases cellulase accessibility [80]. The swollenin gene from *Trichoderma reseei* has been heterologously expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Kluyveromyces lactis*, and *Aspergillus niger*, and also co-expressed with cellulase in *S. cerevisiae* [93, 107]. More work is needed to determine the mechanism by which these molecules increase lignocellulose conversion. Protein engineering allows industrial exploitation of this class of protein. A large part of the costs in a lignocellulosic biorefinery arises with enzyme production [108]. To make enzyme production part of the processes within the biorefinery would help to reduce costs. Therefore, research looks at producing enzymes on-site with cheap carbon sources. For instance, cellulase production on pretreated corn stover by two filamentous fungi (*Trichoderma reseei* RUT-C30 and *Aspergillus saccharolyticus*) was investigated [109]. Different pretreated sugarcane bagasses were evaluated as carbon source for *Penicillium echinulatum* enzyme production [110]. The filter cake left after hydrolysis and fermentation from wet oxidized wheat straw was chosen as substrate for enzyme production. Sørensen et al. screened fungal isolates and *Aspergillus niger* IBT25747 and *Aspergillus saccharolyticus* CBS127449 were found to be promising candidates for on-site enzyme production on the selected substrate [111]. The liquid fraction from steam-exploded wheat straw was used as a carbon source for cellulase production by *Trichoderma reseei* RUT-C30 [112].

## **3** Microorganisms for Ethanol Fermentation

Fermentation constitutes the core process in the ethanol-focused lignocellulosic biorefinery. The selection of the sugar fermenting microorganism is an important success factor, as influences of the previous process steps become apparent in the fermentation step. Depending on the raw material and the pretreatment conditions, specific chemical compounds are contained in the substrate or can be generated. These compounds reduce the yield or productivity of ethanol, lower the viability of the microorganisms, and, in the worst case, they cause a complete standstill of the fermentation. Issues related to high sugar concentrations, or the concentration of the fermentation product itself, can additionally reduce the microorganism's ability of ethanol production. The most frequently used microorganisms for converting C6 sugars in the bioethanol fermentation are the facultative anaerobic yeast S. cerevisiae and the Gram-negative bacterium Z. mobilis (laboratory scale). Both microorganisms are adapted to ethanol fermentation and have turned out to be very robust, but neither of them is able to ferment C5 sugars, which is another main requirement for a complete conversion of all the lignocellulosic polysaccharides [11, 113, 114].

However, the above-mentioned aspects are only some of several key attributes that are desirable or even required for an industrially suitable microorganism. The following list gives an overview [114, 115]:

- High ethanol tolerance (>40 g/L)
- High ethanol productivity (>1 g/L/h)
- High resistance to inhibitors
- · Tolerance of high solid and substrate loadings
- · Robust and simple growth on inexpensive medium
- · Culture growth at acidic pH or higher temperatures

- Minimal by-product formation
- · Co-fermentation of hexose and pentose sugars
- GRAS (Generally Recognized As Safe)-Status

#### 3.1 Overcoming Inhibitors

As with many microorganisms, *S. cerevisiae* metabolizes glucose via the Embden–Meyerhof–Parnas (EMP) pathway of glycolysis. Many bacteria, such as *Z. mobilis*, take the Entner–Doudoroff (ED) pathway together with the pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) and the alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) for ethanol production [116–118]. The theoretical maximum yield of ethanol from glucose during fermentation is 2 moles/mole (or 0.511 g/g) [119]:

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2 C_2H_5OH + 2 CO_2$$

Glucose uptake into the cell of *S. cerevisiae* is achieved through facilitated diffusion and requires a concentration gradient across the plasma membrane. The EMP pathway oxidizes one molecule of glucose to two molecules of pyruvate, resulting in the net formation of two ATPs per glucose. Under anaerobic conditions, pyruvate is decarboxylated with the release of  $CO_2$  to acetaldehyde via the pyruvate decarboxylase. Acetaldehyde is further reduced to ethanol by alcohol dehydrogenase. Together with ethanol and  $CO_2$ , 1.0% (w/v) of glycerol is produced for most ethanol fermentations, as a response, for instance, to osmotic stress [116]. All wild-type *S. cerevisiae* strains can also ferment mannose, fructose, and galactose, which are isomers of glucose [117].

In the ED pathway of *Z. mobilis*, only one molecule of ATP per glucose molecule is produced. As a result, *Z. mobilis* produces less biomass than *S. cerevisiae* and maintains a higher glucose metabolic flux and a higher ethanol productivity [116, 120]. More recently it was observed that the ED pathway requires significantly less enzymatic protein than the EMP pathway to metabolize the same amount of glucose per second [121, 122].

Despite these advantages, *S. cerevisiae* is preferred over *Z. mobilis*. *S. cerevisiae* is widely employed for the commercial production of bioethanol from sugars by the industry. *Z. mobilis* is less robust in terms of tolerance to inhibitors, salts, and low pH conditions [120]. In general, toxicity of substances differs between organisms, and thus the biochemical processes in fermentation pathways affects the choice of the microorganism.

A number of inhibitors are present in the different lignocellulosic substrates used for industrial processes. Moreover, pretreatment of the raw materials usually involves physical factors (such as temperature and pressure) or chemicals (acids, bases, and organic solvents) and this results in the formation of many by-products such as furan derivatives, weak acids, and phenolic compounds [65, 123, 124]. In the following, these inhibitors are discussed in more detail. The formation of furans is observed at high temperatures and low pH in the presence of monomeric sugars. Sugar monomers with five carbon atoms such as xylose are dehydrated under these conditions and form furfural. Furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural are potent inhibitors of bacteria and yeasts at concentrations as low as 1-2 g/L [65, 125]. Furfural is known as one of the main fermentation inhibitors of many microorganisms. Various mechanisms lead to lower performances of microorganisms [126].

Furfural inhibits several intercellular enzymes involved in the growth, fermentation, and energy metabolism [127–129]. Dehydrogenases appear to be the most susceptible enzymes. Furfural was found to decrease the activities of triosephosphate dehydrogenase, hexokinase, pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), and alcohol dehvdrogenase (ADH) [129, 130]. Triosephosphate dehvdrogenase catalyzes the conversion of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate to D-glycerate 1,3-bisphosphate. This is the first energy preserving step of two in the glycolytic breakdown of glucose to produce ATP. Additionally, hexokinase is inhibited by furfural. This enzyme phosphorylates six-carbon sugars. Glucose is the most important substrate for the hexokinase and the phosphorylation of the glucose ring is the first step of glycolysis and ensures glucose is trapped within the cell. PDH is responsible for the transformation of pyruvate into acetyl-CoA, an intermediate, which links the glycolysis to the citric acid cycle, and thus contributes to releasing energy via NADH. ADH, on the other hand, is responsible for the transformation of acetaldehyde to ethanol. Therefore, furfural can inhibit the cellular respiration and consequently the growth of the microorganisms and also the formation of ethanol by inhibiting ADH [131]. Besides the effects on enzymes, furfural induces the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). In addition, furfural was shown to cause cellular damage, which includes damage to mitochondria and vacuole membranes, the actin cytoskeleton, and nuclear chromatin [132]. In a similar way to furfural, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) is a product of dehydration, but results from sugar monomers with six carbon atoms such as glucose. HMF and furfural are chemically related compounds as both contain a furan ring and an aldehyde group. The decrease in fermentation rate and the effect on the growth rate is lower in the case of HMF, so it is a less severe inhibitor for microorganisms than furfural [133, 134].

Carboxylic acids, namely acetic acid, formic acid, and levulinic acid, have also been identified as inhibitory substances at concentrations of 10 g/L [65]. Acetic acid is formed by deacetylation of the hemicellulosic part of lignocellulose. Levulinic and formic acid are produced under acidic and high temperature conditions. Levulinic acid is a degradation product of HMF and formic acid is a product of the two furans, furfural and HMF. The inhibitory effects of carboxylic acids are related to the accumulation of their intracellular anions [135–137]. Undissociated weak acids are liposoluble and can diffuse across the plasma membrane. Thus, the toxicity of the carboxylic acids is pH dependent. The pH of the medium is typically 4.5–5.5 for yeasts. After entry in the cytosol, dissociation of the acid occurs because of the neutral intracellular pH of 7. Consequently, the cytosolic pH decreases and

the cells try to pump out the protons across the cell membrane. This pumping needs energy in the form of ATP, which inhibits cell proliferation and viability.

Finally, phenolic compounds are another group of inhibitors that can cause significant inhibition at concentrations below 1 g/L [65, 138]. The molecular weights, the polarity, and the side groups of these compounds differ and depend on the lignin structure in the raw material and on the pretreatment. Phenolic compounds such as syringaldehyde, 4-hydroxybenzaldehyde, vanillin, cinnamic acid, coniferyl aldehyde, and syringic acid are reported as lignin degradation products. The mechanisms of inhibition are manifold. They cause, for instance, the loss of cell membrane integrity and damage to the cytoskeleton, they decrease cellular pH and ATP, and inhibit translation or induce apoptosis [126, 139–141].

Pretreatment conditions play a crucial role in producing the previously discussed inhibitors and one should thoroughly evaluate the resulting effects on the used microorganisms. However, pretreatment is necessary in lignocellulosic biorefinery and it seems nearly impossible not to generate potential inhibitors. One way to solve the problem is process technology solutions with active removal of these substances, which is, nevertheless, associated with additional investment and operating costs. Another solution for overcoming inhibitory effects is the choice of a suitable fermenting strain. The same applies to the other inhibitory effects such as high ethanol and sugar concentrations.

Ethanol, the fermentation product, can also be a toxic compound for microorganisms at high concentrations [142, 143]. This is the case with very high gravity fermentation processes. The inhibition mechanism is not fully understood, but it is reported that ethanol induces chaotrope-stress, can damage cellular membranes and DNA, and inhibits enzymes [125, 126].

High concentrations of sugars can decrease ethanol yield and productivity [142, 144]. The sugar inhibition depends on the strain, can reduce the activity of the enzymes in the fermentative pathway, and typically starts at a concentration of 150 g/L glucose [135].

Screening of ethanol-fermenting microorganisms to get tolerant strains is one possible method for overcoming inhibitors. Field et al. screened a collection of 71 environmental and industrial isolates of *S. cerevisiae* and its closest relative *Saccharomyces paradoxus* in terms of their tolerance for furfural and HMF [145]. *S. cerevisiae* (NCYC) 3451 displayed the greatest furfural resistance and was able to grow in the presence of up to 3.0 mg/mL furfural. Pereir et al. screened *S. cerevisiae* and *Kluyveromyces marxianus* yeast strains that were isolated from industrial environments. Fermentation results showed the superior ability of industrial *S. cerevisiae* beer strain, to industrial *K. marxianus* isolates and compared to laboratory background strains [146].

The screening approach can also serve to understand and manipulate inhibitor resistance, and thus helps to develop tolerant yeast and bacteria strains for their use in bioethanol production.

Adaptation of microorganisms to toxic compounds is suggested as another advantageous procedure to increase the fermentation rate and yield of ethanol production from an inhibitory media. *S. cerevisiae* is able to detoxify furfural to furan-3-methanol and to detoxify HMF to 2,5-furan dimethanol in situ. This process is taking place as a response mechanism in the presence of these inhibitors and several improvements have been reported in the literature [138, 142, 147–150].

Understanding the adaptation responses can also be fundamental in the design of metabolic engineering strategies for the generation of robust fermentation strains. The identified stress response mechanisms could be used by metabolic engineering to solve inhibition problems. The overexpression of genes that confer resistance to inhibitors, such as cloning of the laccase genes and altering cofactor balances, is among the studied experimental approaches [151, 152]. For instance, Lu et al. improved the robustness under heat, acetic acid, and furfural stresses for *S. cerevisiae* using genome shuffling. After 3 h of fermentation at 40°C with 0.5 vol% acetic acid, 194.4  $\pm$  1.2 g/L glucose in the medium was utilized by recombinant strain R32 to produce 84.2  $\pm$  4.6 g/L of ethanol. The amount of glucose utilization and ethanol concentration of recombinant strain R32 was 6.3 and 7.9 times those of the original strain CE25 [153]. Furthermore, genetic engineering is predominantly employed in altering the capacity of fermenting hexose and pentose sugars simultaneously.

Another possibility is the integration of other microorganisms that are able to detoxify some inhibitors in situ. The Gram-negative bacterium Cupriavidus basilensis was shown to grow on HMF as a sole carbon source. It was demonstrated that the degradation of HMF proceeds via 2,5-furandicarboxylic acid. This compound is decarboxylated to furoic acid, which is further metabolized by the furfural degradation route. Furthermore, other bacteria with the ability to utilize furfural or HMF were identified [154]. The edible, ligninolytic white rot filamentous fungus has capability of metabolizing Pleurotus ostreatus the HMF to 2,5-dihydroxymethylfuran and 2,5-furandicarboxylic acid [155]. This active removal of inhibitory compounds can also be performed as pre-fermentation. It is, however, accompanied with high costs for manufacturing.

#### 3.2 Fermentation of Pentoses

The conversion of the first generation substrates to bioethanol is a proven technology. The first generation feedstock is mainly sugarcane and corn, and the monomeric sugars are hexoses that can be easily fermented by *S. cerevisiae* and *Z. mobilis*. The production of second generation bioethanol is characterized by using the lignocellulosic feedstock, which has a valuable pool of several hexose and pentose sugars [156, 157]. A complete utilization of all types of monomeric sugars is required to make lignocellulosic ethanol processes economically viable. Therefore, microorganisms that efficiently perform this conversion under industrial conditions are in demand.

One approach is the use of pentose-fermenting microorganisms which leads to arrangements involving separate fermentation processes of pentoses and hexoses.

Natural xylose-fermenting yeasts are *Pichia stipitis*, *Candida shehatae*, and *Candida parapsilosis*. They can metabolize xylose via the action of xylose reductase (XR) to convert xylose to xylitol, and of xylitol dehydrogenase (XDH) to convert xylitol to xylulose [115].

Other yeasts and bacteria are under investigation for fermenting both hexoses and pentoses into ethanol.

A natural yeast that is able to use both pentose and hexose is *Pachysolen tannophilus* [158]. Thermophilic bacteria show a good potential as well, as they degrade a much wider range of carbohydrates and have many other properties that make them well-suited for second generation ethanol production. Mass transfer rates are higher at increased temperatures and the contamination risk is lower. Additionally, direct ethanol recovery from the fermentation broth is possible by in situ vacuum distillation. They are especially usable in SSF processes because of their ability to perform the fermentation under elevated temperatures that are closer to the optimum for hydrolytic enzymes. Worth mentioning are typical members of the genera *Bacillus, Clostridium, Caldanaerobacter, Geobacillus, Kluyveromyces, Paenibacillus, Thermoanaerobacter*, and *Thermoanaerobacterium* [11, 114, 159].

However, the major drawback for natural organisms that have the ability to convert both hexose and pentose sugars is their low tolerance to ethanol [11]. Genetically modified microorganisms are, therefore, research subjects to alter the microorganism's capacity to ferment glucose and pentose sugars simultaneously [152, 160–164]. Genetic engineering has, for instance, succeeded in altering sugar utilization for *Z. mobilis* [165]. In addition to glucose, various engineering strains are able to use xylose and arabinose. This becomes, for example, possible through integration of relevant catabolic genes. Zhang et al. integrated the xylose catabolic genes xylA, xylB, tktA, and talB from *E. coli* into *Z. mobilis* for the construction of the xylose-utilizing metabolic pathway [166].

# 3.3 Microorganisms for Consolidated Bioprocessing (CBP)

A novel development combines different process steps in the lignocellulosic biorefinery to a single process step with a single type of microorganism. These steps are the production of hydrolytic enzymes, the hydrolysis of the polysaccharides present in the pretreated lignocellulose, and the fermentation of hexose and pentose sugars. This so-called consolidated bioprocessing (CBP) is considered to be the most advantageous biomass-to-bioethanol conversion technology. It offers a number of benefits such as having neither capital, substrate, nor operating costs for enzyme production, but having higher hydrolysis rates, a reduced reactor volume, and a reduced capital investment [11, 119].

Z. mobilis is regarded as an important CBP platform organism, as this ethanolfermenting bacterium has been successfully engineered to ferment the hexoses and pentoses. In the development of the CBP, achieving high-level expression of hydrolytic enzymes is a central challenge to overcome. Furthermore, these enzymes have to be translocated to the extracellular medium to contact the lignocellulosic substrate directly. Linger et al. demonstrated the exogenous expression and the extracellular secretion of two endo-1,4- $\beta$ -glucanases (E1 and GH12) from *Acidothermus cellulolyticus* in *Z. mobilis*. They further showed that *Z. mobilis* is capable of translocating both E1 and GH12 through the periplasmic space into the extracellular medium [167]. The authors pointed out that more research has to be done on increasing the translocation through the inner membrane to the periplasm, the translocation through the outer membrane to the extracellular space, and exploring the use of alternate secretion pathways [167].

Zymobacter palmae, another ethanol-fermenting bacterium, is capable of utilizing a broad range of sugar substrates, but it cannot utilize cellulose. Kojima et al. thus introduced and co-expressed six genes encoding the cellulolytic enzymes (CenA, CenB, CenD, CbhA, CbhB, and Cex) from *Cellulomonas fimi* and the *cenA* gene and  $\beta$ -glucosidase gene (*bgl*) from *Ruminococcus albus* in *Z. palmae*. The fermentation of water-soluble cellulosic polysaccharides to ethanol was shown [168].

The heterologous production of cellulases has also been pursued with several thermotolerant yeast strains as hosts [169]. The XYN2 gene, encoding endoxylanase of the fungus *Trichoderma reseei*, and the xlnD gene, coding for  $\beta$ -xylosidase of the fungus *Aspergillus niger*, were expressed in *Hansenula polymorpha*. Resulting transformants were capable of growing and fermenting on a minimal medium supplemented with birchwood xylan as sole carbon source [170]. *Paecillomyces variotii* (ATHUM8891) was used with an initial concentration of 20 g/L on corn cob and brewers spent grain. Corn cob was the poorest substrate in terms of ethanol production and productivity, because a minimum enzyme production was observed in this substrate. For the spent grain, an ethanol yield of 60 mg ethanol per gram spent grain was reached [171].

In conclusion, it can be stated that, although considerable progress has been made by genetic engineering of yeasts and bacteria, most studies have a proof-ofconcept character with low ethanol titers achieved. Nevertheless, considerable effort should lead to further developments in this promising technology.

#### 4 Advances and Developments in Fermentation Strategies

There have been vast research efforts in developing cost effective second generation or advanced technologies for ethanol production. However, there are major obstacles for the commercial application of these advanced technologies. Opportunities for reducing costs to achieve economically efficient conditions are categorized into different technical approaches. In the first instance, the advantages and disadvantages of the different technological configurations of the fermentation processes have to be identified. Another perspective is evaluating high-gravity technologies as, on the one hand, this strategy improves the water economy of the process and results in lower distillation costs. On the other hand, it has negative influence on the physiology and metabolism of fermenting microorganisms, the action of enzymes, and other process-related factors. Further technological innovations focus on advanced ethanol separation strategies as the common distillation step is the most energy-demanding process. The following sections give an overview of the mentioned technical approaches, starting with a comparison of different fermentation processes.

# 4.1 Comparison of Different Fermentation Processes

Regardless of the several technological configurations that have to be distinguished, basically, the biochemical route for converting lignocellulose in a biorefinery to ethanol comprises three main steps: pretreatment, enzymatic hydrolysis, and the fermentation of the derived sugars. Figure 1 provides an overview of the operating options.

The pretreatment step is executed first, separately to the hydrolysis and fermentation. A number of pretreatments have been developed and applied to make cellulose more accessible for the enzymatic hydrolysis. These pretreatment methods are divided into physical, physicochemical, chemical, and biological pretreatment categories. Each pretreatment leads to specific modifications of the raw lignocellulosic material and has been addressed in a number of reviews [64– 69]. All these methods aim at ensuring increased digestibility avoiding the formation of sugar degradation products and fermentation inhibitors. The specific changes are determined by the pretreatment method used and include:

- Modifications in the degree of polymerization and the crystallinity index
- · Increased porosity and specific surface area of the substrate
- Disruptions in lignin-carbohydrate linkages
- · Hemicellulose and lignin removal
- Hemicellulose and lignin degradation
- Lignin transformation

The hydrolysis and fermentation steps can be carried out consecutively, partly simultaneously, or fully simultaneously. Each process configuration has different advantages and disadvantages. Several additional aspects must be considered for determining an appropriate configuration concept for an efficient production of ethanol.

The following technological configurations are described in more detail:

- Separate Hydrolysis and Fermentation (SHF)
- Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SSF)
- Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation with delayed inoculation (dSSF)
- Simultaneous Saccharification and Co-Fermentation (SSCF)
- Consolidated BioProcessing (CBP)



Fig. 1 Technological configurations of the lignocellulosic biorefinery

# 4.1.1 Separate Hydrolysis and Fermentation (SHF)

The Separate Hydrolysis and Fermentation (SHF) process is one of the most conventional technological configurations. In the process of lignocellulosic ethanol production, two consecutive operations follow after the pretreatment. The first saccharification step consists of the enzymatic hydrolysis of the cellulose. In the second step, the released sugar monomers are converted to ethanol by fermentation. In the majority of cases the hemicellulose is already separated and hydrolyzed in the pretreatment step (e.g., chemical acidic pretreatment) and, in turn, the produced pentoses are also fermented to ethanol. The fermentation step can be achieved either by separate fermentation of the individual cellulose and hemicellulose hydrolysates or fermentation of mixed hydrolysate using co-culture.

The major advantage of the SHF concept is that both yeasts and enzymes can work at their optimal temperature. With respect to temperature, the cellulolytic enzymes typically have their optimum around 50°C, whereas yeasts typically grow best at 30–35°C [113]. Additionally, the activity of cellulolytic enzymes is not influenced by the presence of ethanol, as seen for simultaneous process options [172]. Furthermore, the viscosity is reduced prior to fermentation. This is mainly advantageous for high gravity processes, because of the positive effects on microbial strain viability, efficient mixing, and nutrient and heat transfers. Finally, SHF offers the possibility of cell recycling, whereas SSF offers no possibility to separate cells and solid raw material particles [157, 173].

However, the accumulation of end-products and therefore end-product inhibition of the enzymes has traditionally been regarded as the major drawbacks of SHF [21]. Another disadvantage is the risk of microbial contamination caused by the relatively long residence time (1–3 days) for the enzymatic hydrolysis process [174]. Economic drawbacks can arise from increased investment costs from the use of multiple vessels [173].

#### 4.1.2 Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SSF)

In the Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SHF) process, the enzymatic hydrolysis and the fermentation step become intertwined. This allows both processes to benefit from each other. Through the continuous fermentation of the sugars to ethanol by the selected microbial strain, end-product inhibition of the cellulolytic enzyme can be avoided. In addition, high initial concentrations of sugars can decrease ethanol yield and productivity [142, 144]. A further advantage is the reduced risk of microbial contamination caused by the presence of ethanol. In comparison to the SHF process, the SSF needs to run just one vessel offering lower investment costs [113]. The hemicelluloses have been hydrolyzed in the pretreatment and converted separately to ethanol.

Nonetheless, the enzymes can be substantially affected by the released ethanol. At high gravity processes, mixing problems and mass transfer limitations may occur, caused by the high viscosity of the medium. Moreover, the SSF process requires a temperature compromise between the optimum temperature of the enzymatic hydrolysis and that of the fermentation [11]. Given that the temperature tolerance is rather strain-dependent, some moderate thermophilic bacteria strains have attracted increased interest because of their ability to ferment in a temperature range of  $50-64^{\circ}C$  [114].

# 4.1.3 Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation with Delayed Inoculation (dSSF)

Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation with delayed inoculation (dSSF) [175] is known in the literature by different names [113] – for instance, Prehydrolysis and Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (PSSF) [176] or Semi-Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SSSF) [177]. The difference to the conventional SSF process is a prehydrolysis step with enzymes at the optimum temperature. The reaction is then cooled to the temperature at the SSF condition and inoculated with the microbial preculture. This procedure can significantly improve the mixing properties of the substrate slurry through the pre-liquefaction stage and therefore represents an enhanced SSF process [175].

#### 4.1.4 Simultaneous Saccharification and Co-Fermentation (SSCF)

Simultaneous Saccharification and Co-Fermentation (SSCF) exhibits several advantages over the conventional SHF and SSF processes. Advantages include lower enzyme requirement, shorter process time, and cost reduction [157]. However, the major drawback is the fact that natural organisms with the ability to convert both hexose and pentose sugars do not tolerate high ethanol concentrations. Therefore, the use of genetically modified microorganisms is proposed, but further research effort is needed to overcome this problem (see Sect. 3.3). The use of mixed cultures of yeasts was also suggested. However, hexose-utilizing microorganisms grow faster than pentose-utilizing microorganisms and the conversion of hexoses to ethanol is consequently more elevated, which can lead to problems [178].

#### 4.1.5 Consolidated Bioprocessing (CBP)

Consolidated Bioprocessing (CBP) constitutes the most favorable process. This technological configuration combines the production of hydrolytic enzymes, enzymatic hydrolysis, and ethanol fermentation of the polysaccharides present in the pretreated lignocellulose.

No additional capital, substrate, or operating costs arise from enzyme production. Higher hydrolysis rates, a reduced reactor volume, and a reduced capital investment are regarded as advantages [11, 119]. As shown in Sect. 3.3, considerable progress has been made by genetic engineering of yeasts and bacteria, but extensive research is still needed to establish feasibility.

In all these process strategies, the residual lignin is mostly burned to generate energy for the overall process. Nonetheless, the potential of the aromatic polymer is high. The kind of potential uses range from low cost carbon fibers, engineering plastics and thermoplastic elastomers, polymeric foams and membranes to a variety of fuels and chemicals that are currently produced from petroleum [179]. Most recently published, for instance, Linger et al. used *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440, an aromatic-catabolizing bacterium, to produce medium chain-length (C6–C14) polyhydroxyalkanoates (mclPHAs) in an integrated process. Mcl-PHAs are high-value polymers that can serve as plastics or adhesives, or can be depolymerized and converted to chemical precursors or methyl ester-based fuels [92]. Vardon et al. produced adipic acid from lignin. They used also *P. putida* KT2440, engineered the bacterium to funnel lignin-derived aromatics to *cis,cis*-muconate acid, and produced adipic acid through hydrogenation with Pd/C [180]. Li et al. demonstrated the production of lignin-based Ts-SME (Thermally stimulated Shape Memory Effect) dual shape memory copolymers using a variety of industrial lignins. This polymer could be used for a broad range of applications, for instance as heat shrinkable tubes for electronics, or self-deployable sun sails in spacecraft [181]. Comprehensive reviews provide a good overview and have already been published [182, 183].

# 4.2 High-Gravity Technology

The scientific and technical research of ethanol-focused lignocellulosic biorefineries focuses on the development of efficient and sustainable processes. Therefore, high gravity operations (>10 wt%) are currently under development [67, 175, 184, 185]. Considerable advantages are obtained by increasing the solids loading [11, 186]. The process improves the water economy, decreases reactor volumes, and leads to increased ethanol concentrations that again result in a reduced need for energy during the downstream processing of the fermentation broth. However, there are still a few obstacles to overcome:

- · High concentrations of inhibitory substances from the pretreatment
- Inhibition by sugars
- Inhibition by ethanol
- High osmotic pressure
- Mixing and mass transfer limitations

The relatively high concentrations of inhibitory components, sugars, and ethanol, as well as high osmotic pressure can affect both the enzymes and the microorganisms used. Different strategies to circumvent these problems are discussed. Starting at the pretreatment, avoiding the use of high temperatures, and optimizing the application of chemicals and the retention time have been studied in order to produce lower concentrations of inhibitors [67]. Research has been undertaken to overcome these inhibitions through synergistic effects of enzymes and protein engineering (see Sect. 2). Equally, the choice of a robust microbial strain is a major factor contributing to the successful implementation of high-gravity technology (see Sect. 3.1). Moreover, the high viscosity problem needs to be solved. Efficient mixing is required for the convective heat transfer and the consistent distribution of chemical components. Finally, the rheological properties are also essential for an appropriate contact between the substrate and the enzymes. Various approaches are available to overcome the mass transfer limitations. Feeding strategies [187–189] and liquefying pre-hydrolysis [175–177] have been shown to surpass limitations. Freefall mixing in horizontal rotating reactors provide homogenous mixtures and the system requires relatively low power for the viscous slurries as they rotate at low speed [185, 190–192].

# 4.3 Ethanol Separation

The fermentation broth typically contains 8–14 vol% of ethanol. The separation method by means of traditional distillation and rectification yields an azeotropic solution of 95.5% alcohol and 4.5% water. The remaining wastewater from the distillation column is known as stillage, or vinasse. The stillage is mainly used for production of Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles (DDGS) or as fertilizer, although negative impacts on the soil structure and water resources in cases of excessive dosages are being discussed [193, 194]. Therefore, research approaches focus on anaerobic digestion of the organic material in stillage to convert compounds into biogas [195, 196] and methane [197].

The ethanol–water azeotropic mixture is then dehydrated to obtain an anhydrous ethanol containing up to 99.6% alcohol and 0.4% water. The major techniques available to produce anhydrous ethanol are heterogeneous azeotropic distillation, extractive distillation, and adsorption on molecular sieves [198].

The overall challenge of ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass is to improve the process economics. Protein engineering and the new robust yeast or bacterial strains lead to higher productivity. Energy-efficient technologies, such as high-gravity strategies in combination with the selected fermentation processes, and technological innovations for the simultaneous production of valuable coproducts, for instance on the basis of lignin, contribute to an economically feasible, commercial implementation. A multitude of ethanol production plants have started their operation within the past few years. Implementation of new technologies can provide valuable experiences. In this context, biorefinery concepts are still in the early stages of development, but hold great potential for producing high value components, transportation fuels, and energy.

Acknowledgments We thank the Carl-Zeiss-Stiftung for funding the Centre for Resource Efficient Chemistry and Raw Material Change (RCR) as well as the German Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection (BMEL), represented by the Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR) for funding the research – junior group BioSats.

# References

- U.S. Energy Information Administration (2014) International energy outlook 2014: world petroleum and other liquid fuels. http://www.eia.gov/forecasts/ieo/. Accessed 27 Apr 2015
- Bundesanstalt f
  ür Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe (2014) Energiestudie 2014: Reserven, Ressourcen und Verf
  ügbarkeit von Energierohstoffen. http://www.bgr.bund.de/DE/Themen/ Energie/Downloads/Energiestudie\_2014.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=7. Accessed 22 Apr 2015
- European Commission (2015) Newsletter March 2015. http://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/ energy\_newsletter/newsletter-march-2015. Accessed 22 Apr 2015
- EU-U.S. Energy Council (2009) Establishment and objectives of the EU-US Energy Council. http://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/2009\_energy\_council\_joint\_press\_state ment.pdf. Accessed 22 Apr 2015
- Clark JH, Luque R, Matharu AS (2012) Green chemistry, biofuels, and biorefinery. Annu Rev Chem Biomol Eng 3(1):183–207. doi:10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-062011-081014
- Datta R, Maher MA, Jones C, et al. (2011) Ethanol-the primary renewable liquid fuel. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 86(4):473–480. doi:10.1002/jctb.2580
- 7. Ford predicts fuel from vegetation (1925) The New York Times, Boston (AP), p 24
- Sivakumar G, Vail DR, Xu J, et al. (2010) Bioethanol and biodiesel: alternative liquid fuels for future generations. Eng Life Sci 10(1):8–18. doi:10.1002/elsc.200900061
- Gnansounou E (2010) Production and use of lignocellulosic bioethanol in Europe: current situation and perspectives. Bioresour Technol 101(13):4842–4850. doi:10.1016/j.biortech. 2010.02.002
- Sticklen MB, Alameldin HF, Oraby HF (2014) Towards cellulosic biofuels evolution: using the petro-industry model. Adv Crop Sci Technol 2(3). doi:10.4172/2329-8863.1000131
- Baeyens J, Kang Q, Appels L, et al. (2015) Challenges and opportunities in improving the production of bio-ethanol. Prog Energy Combust Sci 47:60–88. doi:10.1016/j.pecs.2014.10. 003
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory (2009.) What is a biorefinery? http://www.nrel.gov/ biomass/biorefinery.html. Accessed 27 Apr 2015
- Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e. V. (2012) Roadmap Bioraffinerien. http://www. bmel.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/Broschueren/RoadmapBioraffinerien.pdf?\_\_blob=publication File. Accessed 23 Apr 2015
- 14. Grimm V, Eickenbusch H (2012) Rohstoffquelle Biomasse Stand und Perspektiven. http:// www.ressource-deutschland.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/downloads/studien/11-12-2012-Rohst offquelle\_Biomasse\_Web.pdf. Accessed 27 Apr 2015
- 15. The White House Washington (2012) National Bioeconomy Blueprint. https://www. whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ostp/national\_bioeconomy\_blueprint\_april\_2012. pdf. Accessed 23 Apr 2015
- Renewable Fuels Association (2015) Biorefinery locations. http://www.ethanolrfa.org/biorefinery-locations/. Accessed 23 Apr 2015
- U.S. Department of Energy (2014) Integrated biorefineries. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/ bioenergy/pdfs/ibr\_portfolio\_overview.pdf. Accessed 23 Apr 2015
- United States Department of Agriculture (2014) Biorefining national plan: 5-year action plan 2014-2019. http://www.ars.usda.gov/SP2UserFiles/Program/213/2014-2019%20Action% 20Plan%20without%20appendicies022814.pdf. Accessed 23 Apr 2015
- Menetrez MY (2014) Meeting the U.S. renewable fuel standard: a comparison of biofuel pathways. Biofuel Res J 1(4):110–122
- Soccol CR, Faraco V, Karp S, et al. (2011) Lignocellulosic bioethanol: current status and future perspectives. In: Biofuels: alternative feedstocks and conversion processes, 1st edn. Academic Press, Amsterdam, Boston, pp. 101–122
- 21. Viikari L, Vehmaanperä J, Koivula A (2012) Lignocellulosic ethanol: from science to industry. Biomass Bioenergy 46:13–24

- Larsen J, Haven MØ, Thirup L (2012) Inbicon makes lignocellulosic ethanol a commercial reality. Biomass Bioenergy 46:36–45. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.03.033
- Ho DP, Ngo HH, Guo W (2014) A mini review on renewable sources for biofuel. Bioresour Technol 169:742–749. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.07.022
- Limayem A, Ricke SC (2012) Lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production: current perspectives, potential issues and future prospects. Prog Energy Combust Sci 38(4):449–467. doi:10.1016/j.pecs.2012.03.002
- 25. Cherubini F (2010) The biorefinery concept: using biomass instead of oil for producing energy and chemicals. Energ Conver Manage 51(7):1412–1421. doi:10.1016/j.enconman. 2010.01.015
- 26. Muffler K, Ulber R (2008) Use of renewable raw materials in the chemical industry beyond sugar and starch. Chem Eng Technol 31(5):638–646. doi:10.1002/ceat.200800066
- U.S. Department of Energy (2004) Biomass feedstock composition and property database. http://www.afdc.energy.gov/biomass/progs/search1.cgi. Accessed 27 Apr 2015
- 28. Speight JG (1999) The chemistry and technology of petroleum, 3rd ed., rev. and expanded. Chemical industries, vol 76. Marcel Dekker, New York
- Cherubini F, Strømman AH (2011) Principles of biorefining. In: Biofuels: alternative feedstocks and conversion processes, 1st edn. Academic Press, Amsterdam, Boston, pp. 3–24
- Advanced ethanol council cellulosic biofuels: industry progress report 2012-2013. http:// ethanolrfa.3cdn.net/d9d44cd750f32071c6\_h2m6vaik3.pdf. Accessed 16 Apr 2015
- Abengoa Bioenergy (2011) Technologies. http://www.abengoabioenergy.com/web/en/ prensa/informacion\_tecnica/preguntas/dosier\_bioetanol/tecnologias/. Accessed 16 Apr 2015
- Menon V, Rao M (2012) Trends in bioconversion of lignocellulose: biofuels, platform chemicals & biorefinery concept. Prog Energy Combust Sci 38(4):522–550. doi:10.1016/j. pecs.2012.02.002
- Alpena Biorefinery (2010) Green Power+ Technology. http://alpenabiorefinery.com/ greenpower.html. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 34. Avapco (2011) AVAP Technology. http://www.avapco.com/technology.html. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- Beta Renewables (2013) Proesa/biorefinery. http://www.betarenewables.com/proesa/ biorefinery. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- Beta Renewables (2013) The Green Revolution: PROESA. http://www.biochemtex.com/ images/presskit/9/Brochure%20Proesa%20ENG.pdf. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 37. Beta Renewables (2014) BIOCHEMTEX and BETA RENEWABLES signed a contract with ENERGOCHEMICA SE for the construction of a 2nd Generation Ethanol plant in the Slovak Republic. http://www.betarenewables.com/press-release-detail/3/biochemtex-and-betarenewables-signed-a-contract-with-energochemica-se-for-the-construction-of-a-2nd-genera tion-ethanol-plant-in-the-slovak-republic. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- Rødsrud G, Lersch M, Sjöde A (2012) History and future of world's most advanced biorefinery in operation. Biomass Bioenergy 46:46–59. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.03.028
- 39. IEA Bioenergy Task 39 (2013) Status of advanced biofuels demonstration facilities in 2012. http://demoplants.bioenergy2020.eu/files/Demoplants\_Report\_Final.pdf. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 40. Clariant (2014) Sunliquid<sup>®</sup> an efficient production process for cellulosic ethanol. http:// sunliquid-project-fp7.eu/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/factsheet\_sunliquid\_en.pdf. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- Lignocellulose Bioraffinerie Phase II Schlüsselkomponenten für biobasierte Produkte. http:// lignocellulose-bioraffinerie.de/. Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- 42. Laure S, Leschinsky M, Fröhling M, et al. (2014) Assessment of an organosolv lignocellulose biorefinery concept based on a material flow analysis of a pilot plant. Cellul Chem Technol 48 (9–10):739–798

- 43. DuPont (2013) DuPont cellulosic ethanol: commercializing advanced renewable fuel in Iowa. http://biofuels.dupont.com/fileadmin/user\_upload/live/biofuels/Commercializing\_ advanced\_renewable\_fuel\_infographic\_20141028.pdf. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 44. National Renewable Energy Laboratory (2015) NREL science crucial to success of new biofuels plants. http://www.nrel.gov/news/features/feature\_detail.cfm/feature\_id=16468? print. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 45. Inbicon Danish projects. http://www.inbicon.com/en/global-solutions/danish-projects. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 46. Inbicon Biomass refinery. http://www.inbicon.com/en/biomass-refinery. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- Inbicon Status for the Inbicon technology by end of 2014. http://biorefiningalliance.com/wpcontent/uploads/2015/03/Status-for-the-Inbicon-technology-by-end-of-2014.pdf. Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- Mascoma (2015) Consolidated Bioprocessing (CBP) for high efficiency fermentation. http:// www.mascoma.com/technology/consolidated-bioprocessing/. Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- Sekab Grüne Chemie und grüne Bioraffinerie Technologie. http://www.sekab.de/produkteund-dienste. Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- 50. Procethol 2G Le Project Futurol. http://www.projetfuturol.com/. Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- Procethol 2G (2011.) Project Futurol: Inauguration de l'usine pilote http://www.projetfuturol. com/Espace-Presse\_a42.html. Accessed 29 Apr 2015
- Arantes V, Saddler JN (2010) Access to cellulose limits the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis: the role of amorphogenesis. Biotechnol Biofuels 3(1):4. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-3-4
- 53. Habibi Y, Lucia LA, Rojas OJ (2010) Cellulose nanocrystals: chemistry, self-assembly, and applications. Chem Rev 110(6):3479–3500. doi:10.1021/cr900339w
- 54. Li Q, Song J, Peng S, et al. (2014) Plant biotechnology for lignocellulosic biofuel production. Plant Biotechnol J 12(9):1174–1192. doi:10.1111/pbi.12273
- 55. Payne CM, Knott BC, Mayes HB, et al. (2015) Fungal cellulases. Chem Rev 115 (3):1308–1448. doi:10.1021/cr500351c
- 56. Wang J, Xi J, Wang Y (2015) Recent advances in the catalytic production of glucose from lignocellulosic biomass. Green Chem 17(2):737–751. doi:10.1039/c4gc02034k
- Wang Y, Song H, Peng L, et al. (2014) Recent developments in the catalytic conversion of cellulose. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 28(6):981–988. doi:10.1080/13102818.2014.980049
- Rinaldi R, Schüth F (2009) Acid hydrolysis of cellulose as the entry point into biorefinery schemes. Comput Chem Eng 2(12):1096–1107. doi:10.1002/cssc.200900188
- 59. Zhou C, Xia X, Lin C, et al. (2011) Catalytic conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to fine chemicals and fuels. Chem Soc Rev 40(11):5588. doi:10.1039/c1cs15124j
- 60. Liu C, Wang F, Stiles AR, et al. (2012) Ionic liquids for biofuel production: opportunities and challenges. Appl Energy 92:406–414. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.11.031
- Wahlström RM, Suurnäkki A (2015) Enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic polysaccharides in the presence of ionic liquids. Green Chem 17(2):694–714. doi:10.1039/c4gc01649a
- 62. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2007) Enzyme-based hydrolysis processes for ethanol from lignocellulosic materials: a review. BioResources 2(4):707–738
- 63. Binod P, Janu KU, Sindhu R, et al. (2011) Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production. In: Biofuels: alternative feedstocks and conversion processes, 1st edn. Academic Press, Amsterdam, Boston, pp. 229–250
- 64. Maurya DP, Singla A, Negi S (2015) An overview of key pretreatment processes for biological conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to bioethanol. 3 Biotech. doi:10.1007/ s13205-015-0279-4
- 65. van der Pol EC, Bakker RR, Baets P, et al. (2014) By-products resulting from lignocellulose pretreatment and their inhibitory effect on fermentations for (bio)chemicals and fuels. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(23):9579–9593. doi:10.1007/s00253-014-6158-9
- 66. Xu Z, Huang F (2014) Pretreatment methods for bioethanol production. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 174(1):43–62. doi:10.1007/s12010-014-1015-y

- 67. Modenbach AA, Nokes SE (2012) The use of high-solids loadings in biomass pretreatment a review. Biotechnol Bioeng 109(6):1430–1442. doi:10.1002/bit.24464
- Gullón P, Romaní A, Vila C, et al. (2012) Potential of hydrothermal treatments in lignocellulose biorefineries. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 6(2):219–232. doi:10.1002/bbb.339
- 69. Agbor VB, Cicek N, Sparling R, et al. (2011) Biomass pretreatment: fundamentals toward application. Biotechnol Adv 29(6):675–685. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.05.005
- Bornscheuer U, Buchholz K, Seibel J (2014) Enzymatic degradation of (ligno)cellulose. Angew Chem Int Ed 53(41):10876–10893. doi:10.1002/anie.201309953
- Yoon LW, Ang TN, Ngoh GC, et al. (2014) Fungal solid-state fermentation and various methods of enhancement in cellulase production. Biomass Bioenergy 67:319–338. doi:10. 1016/j.biombioe.2014.05.013
- 72. Bhattacharya AS, Bhattacharya A, Pletschke BI (2015) Synergism of fungal and bacterial cellulases and hemicellulases: a novel perspective for enhanced bio-ethanol production. Biotechnol Lett. doi:10.1007/s10529-015-1779-3
- 73. Scharf ME (2015) Termites as targets and models for biotechnology. Annu Rev Entomol 60 (1):77–102. doi:10.1146/annurev-ento-010814-020902
- 74. Xie S, Syrenne R, Sun S, et al. (2014) Exploration of Natural Biomass Utilization Systems (NBUS) for advanced biofuel – from systems biology to synthetic design. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27:195–203. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2014.02.007
- Alfaro M, Oguiza JA, Ramírez L, et al. (2014) Comparative analysis of secretomes in basidiomycete fungi. J Proteomics 102:28–43. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2014.03.001
- 76. Resch MG, Donohoe BS, Baker JO, et al. (2013) Fungal cellulases and complexed cellulosomal enzymes exhibit synergistic mechanisms in cellulose deconstruction. Energ Environ Sci 6(6):1858. doi:10.1039/c3ee00019b
- 77. Lynd LR, Weimer PJ, van Zyl WH, et al. (2002) Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 66(3):506–577. doi:10.1128/MMBR.66.3.506-577.2002
- 78. Sørensen A, Lübeck M, Lübeck P, et al. (2013) Fungal beta-glucosidases: a bottleneck in industrial use of lignocellulosic materials. Biomolecules 3(3):612–631. doi:10.3390/ biom3030612
- Singhania RR, Patel AK, Sukumaran RK, et al. (2013) Role and significance of betaglucosidases in the hydrolysis of cellulose for bioethanol production. Bioresour Technol 127:500–507. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.012
- Harris PV, Xu F, Kreel NE, et al. (2014) New enzyme insights drive advances in commercial ethanol production. Curr Opin Chem Biol 19:162–170. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2014.02.015
- Erdei B, Galbe M, Zacchi G (2013) Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of whole wheat in integrated ethanol production. Biomass Bioenergy 56:506–514. doi:10.1016/ j.biombioe.2013.05.032
- 82. Karagöz P, Rocha IV, Özkan M, et al. (2012) Alkaline peroxide pretreatment of rapeseed straw for enhancing bioethanol production by Same Vessel Saccharification and Co-Fermentation. Bioresour Technol 104:349–357. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.075
- Novozymes (2010) Cellulosic ethanol: Novozymes Cellic® CTec2 and HTec2 enzymes for hydrolysis of lignocellulosic. http://bioenergy.novozymes.com/en/cellulosic-ethanol/ CellicCTec3/Documents/AS\_2010-01668-03.pdf. Accessed 28 Apr 2015
- 84. Linke D, Matthes R, Nimtz M, et al. (2013) An esterase from the basidiomycete Pleurotus sapidus hydrolyzes feruloylated saccharides. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(16):7241–7251. doi:10.1007/s00253-012-4598-7
- 85. Bhattacharya A, Pletschke BI (2014) Magnetic cross-linked enzyme aggregates (CLEAs): a novel concept towards carrier free immobilization of lignocellulolytic enzymes. Enzyme Microbiol Technol 61–62:17–27. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2014.04.009
- 86. Vaaje-Kolstad G, Westereng B, Horn SJ, et al. (2010) An oxidative enzyme boosting the enzymatic conversion of recalcitrant polysaccharides. Science 330(6001):219–222. doi:10. 1126/science.1192231

- Vermaas JV, Crowley MF, Beckham GT, et al. (2015) Effects of lytic polysaccharide monooxygenase oxidation on cellulose structure and binding of oxidized cellulose oligomers to cellulases. J Phys Chem B:150402092340004. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcb.5b00778
- Manavalan T, Manavalan A, Heese K (2015) Characterization of lignocellulolytic enzymes from white-rot fungi. Curr Microbiol 70(4):485–498. doi:10.1007/s00284-014-0743-0
- Alcalde M (2015) Engineering the ligninolytic enzyme consortium. Trends Biotechnol 33 (3):155–162. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2014.12.007
- 90. Zeng Y, Zhao S, Yang S, et al. (2014) Lignin plays a negative role in the biochemical process for producing lignocellulosic biofuels. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27:38–45. doi:10.1016/j.copbio. 2013.09.008
- 91. Pollegioni L, Tonin F, Rosini E (2015) Lignin-degrading enzymes. FEBS J 282 (7):1190–1213. doi:10.1111/febs.13224
- 92. Linger JG, Vardon DR, Guarnieri MT, et al. (2014) Lignin valorization through integrated biological funneling and chemical catalysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111 (33):12013–12018. doi:10.1073/pnas.1410657111
- Sweeney MD, Xu F (2012) Biomass converting enzymes as industrial biocatalysts for fuels and chemicals: recent developments. Catalysts 2(4):244–263. doi:10.3390/catal2020244
- 94. Paliwal R, Rawat AP, Rawat M, et al. (2012) Bioligninolysis: recent updates for biotechnological solution. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 167(7):1865–1889. doi:10.1007/s12010-012-9735-3
- Bugg TDH, Ahmad M, Hardiman EM, et al. (2011) The emerging role for bacteria in lignin degradation and bio-product formation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22(3):394–400. doi:10.1016/j. copbio.2010.10.009
- 96. Brown ME, Chang MCY (2014) Exploring bacterial lignin degradation. Curr Opin Chem Biol 19:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.11.015
- Bugg TDH, Ahmad M, Hardiman EM, et al. (2011) Pathways for degradation of lignin in bacteria and fungi. Nat Prod Rep 28(12):1883. doi:10.1039/c1np00042j
- 98. Chokhawala HA, Roche CM, Kim T, et al. (2015) Mutagenesis of Trichoderma reesei endoglucanase I: impact of expression host on activity and stability at elevated temperatures. BMC Biotechnol 15(1):1083. doi:10.1186/s12896-015-0118-z
- 99. Nordwald EM, Brunecky R, Himmel ME, et al. (2014) Charge engineering of cellulases improves ionic liquid tolerance and reduces lignin inhibition. Biotechnol Bioeng 111 (8):1541–1549. doi:10.1002/bit.25216
- 100. Ahmad S, Ma H, Akhtar MW, et al. (2014) Directed evolution of Clostridium phytofermentans glycoside hydrolase family 9 endoglucanase for enhanced specific activity on solid cellulosic substrate. Bioenergy Res 7(1):381–388. doi:10.1007/s12155-013-9382-8
- 101. Fernández-Fueyo E, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Martínez AT (2014) Engineering a fungal peroxidase that degrades lignin at very acidic pH. Biotechnol Biofuels 7(1):114. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-7-114
- 102. Bu L, Crowley MF, Himmel ME, et al. (2013) Computational investigation of the pH dependence of loop flexibility and catalytic function in glycoside hydrolases. J Biol Chem 288(17):12175–12186. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.462465
- 103. Tishkov VI, Gusakov AV, Cherkashina AS, et al. (2013) Engineering the pH-optimum of activity of the GH12 family endoglucanase by site-directed mutagenesis. Biochimie 95 (9):1704–1710. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2013.05.018
- 104. Lee H, Chang C, Jeng W, et al. (2012) Mutations in the substrate entrance region of betaglucosidase from Trichoderma reesei improve enzyme activity and thermostability. Protein Eng Des Sel 25(11):733–740. doi:10.1093/protein/gzs073
- 105. Voutilainen SP, Murray PG, Tuohy MG, et al. (2010) Expression of Talaromyces emersonii cellobiohydrolase Cel7A in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and rational mutagenesis to improve its thermostability and activity. Protein Eng Des Sel 23(2):69–79. doi:10.1093/protein/ gzp072

- 106. Pei X, Yi Z, Tang C, et al. (2011) Three amino acid changes contribute markedly to the thermostability of  $\beta$ -glucosidase BgIC from Thermobifida fusca. Bioresour Technol 102 (3):3337–3342. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.11.025
- 107. Nakatani Y, Yamada R, Ogino C, et al. (2013) Synergetic effect of yeast cell-surface expression of cellulase and expansin-like protein on direct ethanol production from cellulose. Microb Cell Fact 12(1):66. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-12-66
- 108. Quintero JA, Rincón LE, Cardona CA (2011) Production of bioethanol from agroindustrial residues as feedstocks. In: Biofuels: alternative feedstocks and conversion processes, 1st edn. Academic Press, Amsterdam, Boston, pp. 251–285
- 109. Rana V, Eckard AD, Teller P, et al. (2014) On-site enzymes produced from Trichoderma reesei RUT-C30 and Aspergillus saccharolyticus for hydrolysis of wet exploded corn stover and loblolly pine. Bioresour Technol 154:282–289. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2013.12.059
- 110. Pereira BMP, Alvarez TM, da Silva Delabona P, et al. (2013) Cellulase on-site production from sugar cane bagasse using Penicillium echinulatum. Bioenergy Res 6(3):1052–1062. doi:10.1007/s12155-013-9340-5
- 111. Sørensen A, Teller PJ, Lübeck PS, et al. (2011) Onsite enzyme production during bioethanol production from biomass: screening for suitable fungal strains. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 164(7):1058–1070. doi:10.1007/s12010-011-9194-2
- 112. Gyalai-Korpos M, Mangel R, Alvira P, et al. (2011) Cellulase production using different streams of wheat grain- and wheat straw-based ethanol processes. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 38(7):791–802. doi:10.1007/s10295-010-0811-9
- 113. Paulová L, Patáková P, Branská B, et al. (2014) Lignocellulosic ethanol: technology design and its impact on process efficiency. Biotechnol Adv. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.12.002
- 114. Scully S, Orlygsson J (2015) Recent advances in second generation ethanol production by Thermophilic bacteria. Energies 8(1):1–30. doi:10.3390/en8010001
- 115. Balat M (2011) Production of bioethanol from lignocellulosic materials via the biochemical pathway: a review. Energ Conver Manage 52(2):858–875. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2010.08.
   013
- 116. Bai FW, Anderson WA, Moo-Young M (2008) Ethanol fermentation technologies from sugar and starch feedstocks. Biotechnol Adv 26(1):89–105. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2007.09.002
- 117. van Maris AJA, Abbott DA, Bellissimi E, et al. (2006) Alcoholic fermentation of carbon sources in biomass hydrolysates by Saccharomyces cerevisiae: current status. A Van Leeuw J Microb 90(4):391–418. doi:10.1007/s10482-006-9085-7
- 118. Lin Y, Tanaka S (2006) Ethanol fermentation from biomass resources: current state and prospects. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 69(6):627–642. doi:10.1007/s00253-005-0229-x
- 119. Kang Q, Appels L, Tan T, et al. (2014) Bioethanol from lignocellulosic biomass: current findings determine research priorities. Sci World J 2014(3):1–13. doi:10.1155/2014/298153
- 120. Rogers PL, Jeon YJ, Lee KJ, et al. (2007) Zymomonas mobilis for fuel ethanol and higher value products. In: Olsson L, Ahring BK (eds) Biofuels, vol 108. Springer, Berlin, New York, pp. 263–288
- 121. Flamholz A, Noor E, Bar-Even A, et al. (2013) Glycolytic strategy as a tradeoff between energy yield and protein cost. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(24):10039–10044. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1215283110
- 122. Kalnenieks U, Pentjuss A, Rutkis R, et al. (2014) Modeling of Zymomonas mobilis central metabolism for novel metabolic engineering strategies. Front Microbiol 5. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2014.00042
- 123. Klinke HB, Thomsen AB, Ahring BK (2004) Inhibition of ethanol-producing yeast and bacteria by degradation products produced during pre-treatment of biomass. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 66(1):10–26. doi:10.1007/s00253-004-1642-2
- 124. Fu S, Hu J, Liu H (2014) Inhibitory effects of biomass degradation products on ethanol fermentation and a strategy to overcome them. BioResources 9(3):4323–4335

- 125. Cray JA, Stevenson A, Ball P, et al. (2015) Chaotropicity: a key factor in product tolerance of biofuel-producing microorganisms. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33:228–259. doi:10.1016/j.copbio. 2015.02.010
- 126. Piotrowski JS, Zhang Y, Bates DM, et al. (2014) Death by a thousand cuts: the challenges and diverse landscape of lignocellulosic hydrolysate inhibitors. Front Microbiol 5. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2014.00090
- 127. Lin F, Qiao B, Yuan Y (2009) Comparative proteomic analysis of tolerance and adaptation of ethanologenic Saccharomyces cerevisiae to furfural, a lignocellulosic inhibitory compound. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(11):3765–3776. doi:10.1128/AEM.02594-08
- 128. Miller EN, Jarboe LR, Turner PC, et al. (2009) Furfural inhibits growth by limiting sulfur assimilation in ethanologenic Escherichia coli strain LY180. Appl Environ Microbiol 75 (19):6132–6141. doi:10.1128/AEM.01187-09
- Modig T, Lidén G, Taherzadeh MJ (2002) Inhibition effects of furfural on alcohol dehydrogenase, aldehyde dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase. Biochem J 363:769–776
- 130. Banerjee N, Bhatnagar R, Viswanathan L (1981) Inhibition of glycolysis by furfural in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eur J Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 11(4):226–228. doi:10.1007/ BF00505872
- 131. Nelson DL, Cox MM, Lehninger AL (2001) Lehninger Biochemie, 3., vollst. überarb. und erw. Aufl. Springer, Berlin [u.a.]
- 132. Allen SA, Clark W, McCaffery JM, et al. (2010) Furfural induces reactive oxygen species accumulation and cellular damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnol Biofuels 3(1):2. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-3-2
- 133. Ask M, Bettiga M, Mapelli V, et al. (2013) The influence of HMF and furfural on redoxbalance and energy-state of xylose-utilizing Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnol Biofuels 6(1):22. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-6-22
- 134. Taherzadeh MJ, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, et al. (2000) Physiological effects of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural on Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 53 (6):701–708. doi:10.1007/s002530000328
- 135. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2011) Fermentation inhibitors in ethanol processes and different strategies to reduce their effects. In: Biofuels: alternative feedstocks and conversion processes, 1st edn. Academic Press, Amsterdam, Boston, pp. 287–311
- 136. Palmqvist E, Hahn-Hägerdal B (2000) Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. II: Inhibitors and mechanisms of inhibition. Bioresour Technol 74(1):25–33. doi:10.1016/ S0960-8524(99)00161-3
- 137. Ullah A, Orij R, Brul S, et al. (2012) Quantitative analysis of the modes of growth inhibition by weak organic acids in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl Environ Microbiol 78 (23):8377–8387. doi:10.1128/AEM.02126-12
- 138. Gu H, Zhang J, Bao J (2014) Inhibitor analysis and adaptive evolution of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for simultaneous saccharification and ethanol fermentation from industrial waste corncob residues. Bioresour Technol 157:6–13. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.060
- 139. Heipieper HJ, de Bont JA (1994) Adaptation of Pseudomonas putida S12 to ethanol and toluene at the level of fatty acid composition of membranes. Appl Environ Microbiol 60 (12):4440-4444
- 140. Clark TA, Mackie KL (1984) Fermentation inhibitors in wood hydrolysates derived from the softwood Pinus radiata. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 34(2):101–110. doi:10.1002/jctb. 280340206
- 141. Ando S, Arai I, Kiyoto K, et al. (1986) Identification of aromatic monomers in steamexploded poplar and their influences on ethanol fermentation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Ferment Technol 64(6):567–570. doi:10.1016/0385-6380(86)90084-1
- 142. Zhang Q, Wu D, Lin Y, et al. (2015) Substrate and product inhibition on yeast performance in ethanol fermentation. Energy Fuel 150210061934004. doi:10.1021/ef502349v

- 143. Li H, Ma M, Luo S, et al. (2012) Metabolic responses to ethanol in Saccharomyces cerevisiae using a gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry-based metabolomics approach. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 44(7):1087–1096. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.03.017
- 144. Lin Y, Zhang W, Li C, et al. (2012) Factors affecting ethanol fermentation using Saccharomyces cerevisiae BY4742. Biomass Bioenergy 47:395–401. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012. 09.019
- 145. Field SJ, Ryden P, Wilson D et al (2015) Identification of furfural resistant strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Saccharomyces paradoxus from a collection of environmental and industrial isolates. Biotechnol Biofuels 8(1):Ch 13. doi:10.1186/s13068-015-0217-z
- 146. Pereira FB, Romaní A, Ruiz HA, et al. (2014) Industrial robust yeast isolates with great potential for fermentation of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 161:192–199. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.043
- 147. Heer D, Sauer U (2008) Identification of furfural as a key toxin in lignocellulosic hydrolysates and evolution of a tolerant yeast strain. J Microbial Biotechnol 1(6):497–506. doi:10. 1111/j.1751-7915.2008.00050.x
- 148. Wallace-Salinas V, Gorwa-Grauslund MF (2013) Adaptive evolution of an industrial strain of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for combined tolerance to inhibitors and temperature. Biotechnol Biofuels 6(1):151. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-6-151
- 149. Hawkins GM, Doran-Peterson J (2011) A strain of Saccharomyces cerevisiae evolved for fermentation of lignocellulosic biomass displays improved growth and fermentative ability in high solids concentrations and in the presence of inhibitory compounds. Biotechnol Biofuels 4(1):49. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-4-49
- 150. Almario MP, Reyes LH, Kao KC (2013) Evolutionary engineering of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for enhanced tolerance to hydrolysates of lignocellulosic biomass. Biotechnol Bioeng 110(10):2616–2623. doi:10.1002/bit.24938
- 151. Pereira FB, Guimarães P, Gomes DG, et al. (2011) Identification of candidate genes for yeast engineering to improve bioethanol production in very high gravity and lignocellulosic biomass industrial fermentations. Biotechnol Biofuels 4(1):57. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-4-57
- 152. Hasunuma T, Sanda T, Yamada R, et al. (2011) Metabolic pathway engineering based on metabolomics confers acetic and formic acid tolerance to a recombinant xylose-fermenting strain of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microb Cell Fact 10(1):2. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-10-2
- 153. Lu Y, Cheng Y, He X, et al. (2012) Improvement of robustness and ethanol production of ethanologenic Saccharomyces cerevisiae under co-stress of heat and inhibitors. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 39(1):73–80. doi:10.1007/s10295-011-1001-0
- 154. Koopman F, Wierckx N, de Winde JH, et al. (2010) Identification and characterization of the furfural and 5-(hydroxymethyl)furfural degradation pathways of Cupriavidus basilensis HMF14. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(11):4919–4924. doi:10.1073/pnas.0913039107
- 155. Feldman D, Kowbel DJ, Glass NL, et al. (2015) Detoxification of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural by the Pleurotus ostreatus lignolytic enzymes aryl alcohol oxidase and dehydrogenase. Biotechnol Biofuels 8(1):165. doi:10.1186/s13068-015-0244-9
- 156. Lennartsson PR, Erlandsson P, Taherzadeh MJ (2014) Integration of the first and second generation bioethanol processes and the importance of by-products. Bioresour Technol 165:3–8. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.127
- 157. Vohra M, Manwar J, Manmode R, et al. (2014) Bioethanol production: feedstock and current technologies. J Environ Chem Eng 1:573–584. doi:10.1016/j.jece.2013.10.013
- 158. Zhao L, Yu J, Zhang X, et al. (2010) The ethanol tolerance of Pachysolen tannophilus in fermentation on xylose. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 160(2):378–385. doi:10.1007/s12010-008-8308-y
- 159. Pessani NK, Atiyeh HK, Wilkins MR, et al. (2011) Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of Kanlow switchgrass by thermotolerant Kluyveromyces marxianus IMB3: the effect of enzyme loading, temperature and higher solid loadings. Bioresour Technol 102 (22):10618–10624. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.09.011
- 160. Cotta MA (2014) Ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass by recombinant Escherichia coli strain FBR5. Bioengineered 3(4):197–202. doi:10.4161/bioe.19874
- 161. Oreb M, Dietz H, Farwick A, et al. (2012) Novel strategies to improve co-fermentation of pentoses with D-glucose by recombinant yeast strains in lignocellulosic hydrolysates. Bioengineered 3(6):347–351. doi:10.4161/bioe.21444
- 162. Laluce C, Schenberg ACG, Gallardo JCM, et al. (2012) Advances and developments in strategies to improve strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and processes to obtain the lignocellulosic ethanol – a review. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 166(8):1908–1926. doi:10. 1007/s12010-012-9619-6
- 163. Young E, Lee S, Alper H (2010) Optimizing pentose utilization in yeast: the need for novel tools and approaches. Biotechnol Biofuels 3(1):24. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-3-24
- 164. Smith J, van Rensburg E, Görgens JF (2014) Simultaneously improving xylose fermentation and tolerance to lignocellulosic inhibitors through evolutionary engineering of recombinant Saccharomyces cerevisiae harbouring xylose isomerase. BMC Biotechnol 14(1):41. doi:10. 1186/1472-6750-14-41
- 165. He M, Wu B, Qin H, et al. (2014) Zymomonas mobilis: a novel platform for future biorefineries. Biotechnol Biofuels 7(1):101. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-7-101
- 166. Zhang X, Wang T, Zhou W, et al. (2013) Use of a Tn5-based transposon system to create a cost-effective Zymomonas mobilis for ethanol production from lignocelluloses. Microb Cell Fact 12(1):41. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-12-41
- 167. Linger JG, Adney WS, Darzins A (2010) Heterologous expression and extracellular secretion of cellulolytic enzymes by Zymomonas mobilis. Appl Environ Microbiol 76(19):6360–6369. doi:10.1128/AEM.00230-10
- 168. Kojima M, Okamoto K, Yanase H (2013) Direct ethanol production from cellulosic materials by Zymobacter palmae carrying Cellulomonas endoglucanase and Ruminococcus β-glucosidase genes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(11):5137–5147. doi:10.1007/s00253-013-4874-1
- 169. Hasunuma T, Kondo A (2012) Consolidated bioprocessing and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of lignocellulose to ethanol with thermotolerant yeast strains. Process Biochem 47(9):1287–1294. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2012.05.004
- 170. Voronovsky AY, Rohulya OV, Abbas CA, et al. (2009) Development of strains of the thermotolerant yeast Hansenula polymorpha capable of alcoholic fermentation of starch and xylan. Metab Eng 11(4–5):234–242. doi:10.1016/j.ymben.2009.04.001
- 171. Zerva A, Savvides AL, Katsifas EA, et al. (2014) Evaluation of Paecilomyces variotii potential in bioethanol production from lignocellulose through consolidated bioprocessing. Bioresour Technol 162:294–299. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.137
- 172. Podkaminer KK, Shao X, Hogsett DA, et al. (2011) Enzyme inactivation by ethanol and development of a kinetic model for thermophilic simultaneous saccharification and fermentation at 50°C with Thermoanaerobacterium saccharolyticum ALK2. Biotechnol Bioeng 108 (6):1268–1278. doi:10.1002/bit.23050
- 173. Ask M, Olofsson K, Di Felice T, et al. (2012) Challenges in enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation of pretreated Arundo donax revealed by a comparison between SHF and SSF. Process Biochem 47(10):1452–1459. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2012.05.016
- 174. Haagensen F, Skiadas IV, Gavala HN, et al. (2009) Pre-treatment and ethanol fermentation potential of olive pulp at different dry matter concentrations. Biomass Bioenergy 33 (11):1643–1651. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.08.006
- 175. Paulová L, Patáková P, Rychtera M, et al. (2014) High solid fed-batch SSF with delayed inoculation for improved production of bioethanol from wheat straw. Fuel 122:294–300. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2014.01.020
- 176. López-Linares JC, Romero I, Cara C, et al. (2014) Bioethanol production from rapeseed straw at high solids loading with different process configurations. Fuel 122:112–118. doi:10.1016/j. fuel.2014.01.024

- 177. Zhang L, You T, Zhang L, et al. (2014) Enhanced fermentability of poplar by combination of alkaline peroxide pretreatment and semi-simultaneous saccharification and fermentation. Bioresour Technol 164:292–298. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.04.075
- Sánchez ÓJ, Cardona CA (2008) Trends in biotechnological production of fuel ethanol from different feedstocks. Bioresour Technol 99(13):5270–5295. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.11. 013
- 179. Ragauskas AJ, Beckham GT, Biddy MJ, et al. (2014) Lignin valorization: improving lignin processing in the biorefinery. Science 344(6185):1246843. doi:10.1126/science.1246843
- 180. Vardon DR, Franden MA, Johnson CW, et al. (2015) Adipic acid production from lignin. Energ Environ Sci 8(2):617–628. doi:10.1039/c4ee03230f
- 181. Li H, Sivasankarapillai G, McDonald AG (2015) Lignin valorization by forming toughened thermally stimulated shape memory copolymeric elastomers: Evaluation of different fractionated industrial lignins. J Appl Polym Sci 132(5):n/a. doi:10.1002/app.41389
- 182. Laurichesse S, Avérous L (2014) Chemical modification of lignins: towards biobased polymers. Prog Polym Sci 39(7):1266–1290. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2013.11.004
- 183. Lange H, Decina S, Crestini C (2013) Oxidative upgrade of lignin recent routes reviewed. Eur Polym J 49(6):1151–1173. doi:10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2013.03.002
- 184. Janssen M, Tillman A, Cannella D, et al. (2014) Influence of high gravity process conditions on the environmental impact of ethanol production from wheat straw. Bioresour Technol 173:148–158. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.044
- 185. Tippkötter N, Duwe A, Wiesen S, et al. (2014) Enzymatic hydrolysis of beech wood lignocellulose at high solid contents and its utilization as substrate for the production of biobutanol and dicarboxylic acids. Bioresour Technol 167:447–455. doi:10.1016/j.biortech. 2014.06.052
- 186. Koppram R, Tomás-Pejó E, Xiros C, et al. (2014) Lignocellulosic ethanol production at highgravity: challenges and perspectives. Trends Biotechnol 32(1):46–53. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech. 2013.10.003
- 187. Koppram R, Olsson L (2014) Combined substrate, enzyme and yeast feed in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation allow bioethanol production from pretreated spruce biomass at high solids loadings. Biotechnol Biofuels 7(1):54. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-7-54
- 188. Cui M, Zhang Y, Huang R, et al. (2014) Enhanced enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose by integrated decrystallization and fed-batch operation. RSC Adv 4(84):44659–44665. doi:10. 1039/c4ra08891c
- 189. Hoyer K, Galbe M, Zacchi G (2010) Effects of enzyme feeding strategy on ethanol yield in fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of spruce at high dry matter. Biotechnol Biofuels 3(1):14. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-3-14
- 190. Du J, Zhang F, Li Y, et al. (2014) Enzymatic liquefaction and saccharification of pretreated corn stover at high-solids concentrations in a horizontal rotating bioreactor. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 37(2):173–181. doi:10.1007/s00449-013-0983-6
- 191. Ghorbanian M, Russ DC, Berson RE (2014) Mixing analysis of PCS slurries in a horizontal scraped surface bioreactor. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 37(10):2113–2119. doi:10.1007/s00449-014-1189-2
- 192. Jørgensen H, Vibe-Pedersen J, Larsen J, et al. (2007) Liquefaction of lignocellulose at highsolids concentrations. Biotechnol Bioeng 96(5):862–870. doi:10.1002/bit.21115
- 193. Fuess LT, Garcia ML (2014) Implications of stillage land disposal: a critical review on the impacts of fertigation. J Environ Manage 145:210–229. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.07.003
- 194. Takara D, Nitayavardhana S, Munasinghe P, et al. (2012) Sustainable bioenergy from biofuel-derived residues. Water Environ Res 84(10):1568–1585. doi:10.2175/ 106143012X13407275695472
- 195. Bondesson P, Galbe M, Zacchi G (2013) Ethanol and biogas production after steam pretreatment of corn stover with or without the addition of sulphuric acid. Biotechnol Biofuels 6(1):11. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-6-11

- 196. Barta Z, Reczey K, Zacchi G (2010) Techno-economic evaluation of stillage treatment with anaerobic digestion in a softwood-to-ethanol process. Biotechnol Biofuels 3(1):21. doi:10. 1186/1754-6834-3-21
- 197. Wang Z, Lv Z, Du J, et al. (2014) Combined process for ethanol fermentation at high-solids loading and biogas digestion from unwashed steam-exploded corn stover. Bioresour Technol 166:282–287. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.05.044
- 198. Huang H, Ramaswamy S, Tschirner UW, et al. (2008) A review of separation technologies in current and future biorefineries. Sep Purif Technol 62(1):1–21. doi:10.1016/j.seppur.2007.12. 011

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2019) 166: 217–246 DOI: 10.1007/10\_2016\_63 © Springer International Publishing AG 2017 Published online: 23 March 2017

# **Synthesis Gas Biorefinery**



N. Dahmen, E. Henrich, and T. Henrich

Abstract Synthesis gas or syngas is an intermediate, which can be produced by gasification from a variety of carbonaceous feedstocks including biomass. Carbon monoxide and hydrogen, the main constituents of syngas, can be subjected to a broad range of chemical and microbial synthesis processes, leading to gaseous and liquid hydrocarbon fuels as well as to platform and fine chemicals. Gasification of solid biomass differs from coal gasification by chemical composition, heating value, ash behavior, and other technical and biomass related issues. By thermochemical pre-treatment of lignocellulose as the most abundant form of biomass, for example, by torrefaction or fast pyrolysis, energy dense fuels for gasification can be obtained, which can be used in the different types of gasifiers available today. A number of pilot and demonstration plants exist, giving evidence of the broad technology portfolio developed so far. Therefore, a syngas biorefinery is highly flexible in regard to feedstock and product options. However, the technology is complex and does not result in competitive production costs today. Added value can be generated by suitable integration of thermochemical, biochemical, and chemical processes.

Keywords Gasification, Syngas, Synthetic fuels

#### Contents

1	Introduction	218
2	Gasification Principles	220
3	Biomass Feedstock	221
	3.1 Mass and Energy Balance of Lignocellulose Gasification	223
	3.2 Feedstock Reactivity in Gasification	224

N. Dahmen (🖂), E. Henrich, and T. Henrich

Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Institute for Catalysis Research and Technology, Karlsruhe, Germany

e-mail: nicolaus.dahmen@kit.edu

	3.3	Biomass Pre-treatment	224
4	Gasi	fication Technologies	226
	4.1	Fixed Bed Gasifiers	226
	4.2	Fluid Bed Gasifiers	227
	4.3	Entrained Flow Gasifiers	228
	4.4	Pressurized vs Atmospheric Gasification	228
	4.5	Economy of Scale	229
5	Syng	gas Conditioning	230
6	Syng	gas Derived Products	231
	6.1	Methanol	232
	6.2	Ethanol and Higher Alcohols from Syngas	232
	6.3	Dimethyl Ether	233
	6.4	Methanol to Gasoline (MtG)	233
	6.5	Methanol to Olefins (MtO)	234
	6.6	Fischer–Tropsch Synthesis	234
	6.7	Hydroformylation	235
	6.8	Hydrogen	235
	6.9	Methane	235
7	Rece	ent Process Developments	236
	7.1	Växjö Värnamo Biomass Gasification Centre (A)	237
	7.2	Güssing Renewable Energy Multifuel Gasification, Austria (B)	237
	7.3	BioDME at Pitea, Sweden (C)	238
	7.4	BioTfuel Project Dunkirk, France (D)	238
	7.5	Bioliq <sup>®</sup> Project at Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT) (E)	239
8	Proc	ess Efficiency and Economics	241
	8.1	Process Efficiency	241
	8.2	Economic Considerations	242
9	Con	clusions	243
Re	feren	ces	244

# 1 Introduction

A biorefinery usually consists of successive primary and secondary conversion steps [1]. First, intermediates are produced by biomass pre-treatment processes, which then are further converted to a variety of products (Fig. 1). In a synthesis gas or syngas biorefinery, biomass is usually pre-treated mechanically (e.g., by grinding) or thermally. Then it is sequentially degraded thermally by gasification to the smallest building blocks of synthetic chemistry: carbon monoxide (CO) and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>). From these molecules, fuels and chemicals can be produced by chemical synthesis.

High temperature processes are not sensitive to the feedstock so much. From syngas a large variety of bulk and fine chemicals as well as all important types of transportation fuels in use today can be produced. The specific advantage of such a thermochemical biorefinery with intermediate syngas production is its feedstock and product flexibility. Heat is an inevitable by-product in syngas refineries, which can be converted into steam and electricity sufficient to cover a substantial share of the process energy demand. Therefore, biomass-derived products from a syngas



refinery usually show considerable carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  reduction potentials, which in the case of fuel production is one of the essential key performance indicators.

The so-called BtL (Biomass to liquids) technologies allow for the use of almost every type of dry biomass, organic residue, or waste. Principally, the technologies are similar to the already established Coal to Liquid (CtL) or Gas to Liquid (GtL) processes also proceeding via syngas by gasification of coal and reforming of natural gas, respectively. In CtL plants, high pressure fixed bed gasifiers (FBDB<sup>TM</sup> gasifiers) have already been in commercial use for several decades in South Africa (Secunda, 170,000 bbd (barrels per day) Fischer–Tropsch products) and entrained flow gasifier units up to 500 MW thermal fuel capacity (Ningxia, China, coal-to-polypropylene plant,  $5 \times 500$  MW) are state-of-the-art today [2]. Examples for GtL processes are the Fischer–Tropsch synthesis plants in Qatar (260,000 bbd) and in Malaysia (Bintulu, 14,700 bbd).

First experiments on the hydration of CO with  $H_2$  were carried out by Paul Sabatier in 1902, mainly yielding methane. While BASF in the 1910s favored methanol production, Franz Fischer and Hans Tropsch invented "their" hydrocarbon synthesis in 1925 after attempts to produce fuels directly from hydrogenation of coal failed. The first trade name, Kogasin, nicely describes the product sequence from char (German: *Koks*) converted to syngas and further to gasoline (German: Benzin).

This is still the principle route today as shown in Fig. 2, but with different feed materials and a much broader product range. Syngas can be reacted to produce an amazing variety of chemicals and fuels such as methane, hydrogen, methanol, ethanol, dimethyl ether (DME), olefins, gasoline, kerosene, and diesel. Several catalytic processes are involved, such as the direct synthesis of methanol or DME, the methanol-based MtO (Methanol to Olefins), and MtG (Methanol to Gasoline) processes, the production of fuels by oligomerization of olefins (Conversion of Olefins to Distillate, COD), and the synthesis of a wide range of hydrocarbons by Fischer–Tropsch (FT) processes. However, the main use of syngas today, produced mainly from natural gas, coal, or petroleum fractions, is for hydrogen generation for ammonia synthesis mainly, methanol production, hydroformylation, and FT synthesis.



Fig. 2 Products available from syngas conversion

# 2 Gasification Principles

Gasification is a process that converts organic carbonaceous materials of biogenic or fossil origin mainly into carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), and traces of water (H<sub>2</sub>O). This is achieved by reacting the solid or liquid feedstock at high temperatures (>700 °C) with a controlled amount of gasification agents. When subjected to high temperatures, the usually small or fine fuel particles are first dried (Fig. 3). Then volatile components are released, leaving a solid char residue. Both gas and char are transformed in homogenous and heterogeneous reactions with the gasification agent to raw syngas. The gasification agents that can be used are water (steam), oxygen or air (leading to lower heating value of the product gas because of dilution by N<sub>2</sub>), but also CO<sub>2</sub> if CO is the main product.

The resulting gas mixture is called producer gas when subjected to combustion for process heat production and electrical power generation or synthesis gas (syngas) when subjected to chemical syntheses, where high syngas purity is required. Gasification is an endothermic process, thus requiring an energy supply. In autothermal gasification, the heat required for gasification is produced by partial combustion under addition of oxygen or air as oxidizing agent to the fuel feed in the gasification reactor. For allothermal gasification, externally generated heat is supplied by a heat exchanger or a circulated heat carrier. Autothermal or allothermal gasification is possible with potential plant capacities of up to several hundred megawatts fuel input capacity (MW<sub>th</sub>).

In Table 1, the equilibrium gasification reactions are given for the chemical species C, CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, and CH<sub>4</sub>, which are sufficient to describe the gasification process at temperatures above 1,000 °C. Reactions  $R_1$ – $R_4$  are four heterogeneous key reactions where solid carbon reacts with different gaseous species. Reactions  $R_5$ – $R_8$  are other important gasification reactions, formed by linear combinations of  $R_1$ – $R_4$ . Based on this, the syngas composition of high



Fig. 3 Principle of gasification

	1	1	1
Reaction		Reaction equation	$\Delta_r H/kJ/mol$
Key reactions	·	·	
R <sub>1</sub>	Combustion	$C + O_2 \rightleftharpoons CO_2$	-394
R <sub>2</sub>	Hydrogenation	$C + 2 H_2 \rightleftharpoons CH_4$	-75
R <sub>3</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O gasification	$C + H_2O \rightleftharpoons CO_2 + H_2$	+119
R <sub>4</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> gasification	$C + CO_2 \rightleftharpoons 2 CO$	+173
Linear combination of key reactions			
$R_5 = R_4 - R_3$	Water gas shift reaction	$CO + H_2O \rightleftharpoons CO_2 + H_2$	±54
$R_6 = R_1 + R_4$	Partial oxidation	$2 C + O_2 \rightleftharpoons 2 CO$	-221
$R_7 = R_1 - R_4$	CO oxidation	$2 \text{ CO} + \text{O}_2 \rightleftharpoons 2 \text{ CO}$	-567
$R_8 = R_1 + R_4 - 2 R_3$	H <sub>2</sub> combustion	$2 H_2 + O_2 \rightleftharpoons 2 H_2O$	-459

Table 1 Fundamental gasification equations

temperature gasification can ususally be described in good approximation by thermodynamic equilibrium calculations.

The syngas composition of gasification depends significantly on reaction temperature. In Fig. 4 the product gas yields are shown for gasification of lignocellulosic biomass with sum formula  $C_3H_4O_2$  using oxygen for autothermal and water for allothermal gasification, respectively. In all cases with increasing temperature the hydrogen and carbon monoxide yields increase at the cost of methane and carbon dioxide formation. At lower gasification temperatures the formation of methane is thermodynamically favored. With increasing gasification pressure, higher methane yields can be obtained. For downstream chemical synthesis, the CO:H<sub>2</sub> ratio in the syngas is of importance (see Table 6). It is usually adjusted by the water gas shift reaction (WGS,  $R_5$ ), in which carbon monoxide is converted into additional hydrogen and carbon dioxide.

#### **3** Biomass Feedstock

In the context of biomass gasification, lignocellulose is usually considered as feedstock, covering a broad range of materials. Lignocellulose consists mainly of three natural polymers contained in plant material; its simplified average composition consists of about 40–55 wt% cellulose, 15–35 wt% hemicellulose, and 20–40 wt%





lignin. The elemental composition of moisture and ash free (maf) lignocellulose is in a narrow range of 50 wt% carbon, 6 wt% hydrogen, and 44 wt% oxygen, which is practically the same for wood, straw, and other herbaceous types of biomass. Minor constituents such as hetero-atoms containing molecules with nitrogen from proteins, phosphorus, and sulfur or chlorine are usually below 1 wt%.

A good formula representation of maf lignocellulose is  $C_6H_8O_4$  or, slightly simplified,  $C_3H_4O_2$  with a higher heating value (HHV) of 20 MJ/kg. The formula representation simplifies the formulation of stoichiometric equations and the application of thermodynamic tools. In practice the HHV is somewhat reduced by ash and moisture. Wood contains only 0.5–2 wt% ash, cereal straw and other fast growing biomass 5–10 wt%, and rice straw with 15–20 wt% of ash is an extreme. Moisture below 15 wt% is a pre-requisite for long-term storage of biomass without biological degradation, usually achieved by air drying.

#### 3.1 Mass and Energy Balance of Lignocellulose Gasification

The mass and energy balance for autothermal gasification of dry lignocellulose is outlined in Table 2 with simplified but still typical stoichiometric reaction equations using the simplified formula  $C_3H_4O_2$ . Stoichiometric combustion requires three molecules of oxygen per formula unit (reaction A). In autothermal gasification, sufficient reaction enthalpy  $\Delta_r H$  must be released to heat up the syngas products to the desired gasification temperature, taking into account some heat losses. Experimental results show that about one-third or one molecule of oxygen per formula unit  $C_3H_4O_2$  is sufficient for gasification and to heat up the products to ca. 1,200 °C

**Table 2** Stoichiometry of autothermal gasification of maf lignocellulose with higher heating value HHV = 20 MJ/kg ( $\Delta_c H_i$  = heat of combustion of species *i*, WGS = water gas shift)

-					
A: Stoichiom $C_3H_4O_2 + 3O_2$	etric comb $_{2} \rightarrow 3 CO_{2}$	ustion o	of maf lig	nocellulose (HHV = H <sub>2</sub> O	= 20 MJ/kg)
-1440	0	-		0 (kl/mol)	
$\sum_i \Delta_c H_i(kJ) h$	eat of com	bustion	$h = \Delta_r H he$	at of reaction = -14	440 kJ/mol
B: Autothern	nal gasifica	ition			8
$C_3H_4O_2 + O_2$	$\rightarrow CO_2 +$	2 H <sub>2</sub> + 2	CO + 0 H	20	
-1440	0 2	2.286 2	283 0	(kJ/mol)	
$\sum_i \Delta_c H_i = \Delta_r H_i$	l = -304 kJ/	'mol			
C: Autothern	nal gasifica	tion (co	rrected b	y the WGS)	
C3H4O2 + O2 -	$\rightarrow 0.4 \text{ CO}_2$	+ 1.4 H <sub>2</sub>	+ 2.6 CO	+ 0.6 H <sub>2</sub> O	
-1440	0	1.4.28	6 2.6-283	0 (kJ/mol)	
$\sum_i \Delta_c H_i = \Delta_r H_i$	l = -304 kJ/	'mol			
D: WGS reac	tion: CO +	H <sub>2</sub> O ≓ (	CO <sub>2</sub> + H <sub>2</sub>		
$\Delta_r H = -41 \text{ kJ}/$	mol				
WGS equilibr	ium: $\frac{p(CO_2)}{p(CO)}$	$\frac{p(H_2)}{p(H_2O)}$	= K <sub>WGS</sub> = e	$xp(\frac{4580}{T}-4.33)$	
with equilibr	ium consta	ant Kwgs	≈ 0.3 at	Г = 1500 К	

gasification temperature. As shown in the table (reaction B), about 21 wt% of the initial bioenergy is used for gasification reactions and heating of products. The heat of the high temperature product gas can be recovered and converted to steam and electricity for a self-sustaining process. The gasification reactions shown in Table 2 are interdepending equilibrium reactions. Reaction B shows the formal autothermal gasification reaction. However, at temperatures above 1,000 °C, the equilibrium of the water gas shift reaction (reaction D) is shifted to the educt side, resulting in higher CO and H<sub>2</sub>O contents in the syngas, as shown in reaction C.

#### 3.2 Feedstock Reactivity in Gasification

The reactivity of a solid gasification fuel depends on several parameters such as porosity, specific surface, molecular structure, and catalytic effects of ash components. Compared to coal, biomass and biomass-derived materials such as charcoal produced from wood exhibit a higher reactivity, extending over several orders of magnitude. To a considerable extent, the reactivity can be attributed to the specific surface, which for lignite and biomass char is much higher than that for hard coal. In addition, catalytic effects may play a role as it is known, for example, from potassium contained in the straw char.

Different chemical and physical steps affect the rates of reaction in a certain temperature regime. At lower temperatures, chemical reactions are predominantly rate determining. With increasing temperature the reaction rate rises; however, it becomes limited by pore diffusion of gaseous reactants in the solid particles. At even higher temperatures, surface film diffusion of the gaseous reactants is rate controlling. This can usually be seen by the much lower apparent activation energies compared to the "true" activation energy of the chemical reactions.

#### 3.3 Biomass Pre-treatment

Biomass is usually not directly suited for gasification. Depending on the type of biomass and gasification technology, pre-treatment becomes necessary. Apart from drying and mechanical conditioning such as size reduction, thermal pre-treatment processes allow the conversion of biomass into carbon-rich, energy dense solid and liquid intermediates which are more convenient for handling, transportation, storage, and feeding. Classical carbonization, torrefaction, and fast pyrolysis are suitable processes for such thermal pre-treatment of dry biomass in an oxygen free atmosphere. Their main characteristics are summarized in Table 3. Biomass with high moisture content may be converted by other types of processes, which are currently in different states of development. Solvolytic and hydrothermal liquefaction leads to liquid bio-oils with usually lower oxygen content compared to fast pyrolysis. Hydrothermal and steam-assisted carbonization can be regarded as "wet"

	Carbonization	Torrefaction	Fast pyrolysis
Scheme	Wood Carbonization Gas	Biomass Torgas Torrefaction Torrefied biomass	Heat loop Ioop Heat gyrolysis Gas
Main reac- tor types	Retorts, piles	Rotating drum, Herreshoff oven, screw reactor, torbed reactor	Screw reactor, rotating cone, fluid bed, ablative reactor
Reaction temperature	400–550 °C	250–300 °C	450–550 °C
Reaction time	$10^3 - 10^5$ s	$10^3 - 10^4 \text{ s}$	1–3 s
Yields from dry wood	35 wt% of char- coal, 65 wt% of tar, organic acids and gas	20 wt% of gas, 80 wt% of torrefied material with a heating value of ca. 22 MJ/kg	20 wt% gas, 20 wt% char, 60 wt% liquid condensates including ca. 15–25 wt% of reaction water
Biomass fuel	Wood chips or logs	Particles, pellets, chips	Fine particles (<3 mm)
Issues	State-of-the-art technology	Simple technology, limited scale-up for some reactor types	More complex technology, pilot, demonstration and commercially operated plants available

 Table 3 Thermal biomass pre-treatment processes

torrefaction; however, the efficient use or treatment of the by-produced aqueous effluents is a major issue for successful process development.

Torrefaction is a low temperature pyrolysis of lignocellulose carried out at temperatures close to 300  $^{\circ}$ C. The reaction gases, mainly CO<sub>2</sub> and CO, H<sub>2</sub>O, and a little organic vapor are burnt to supply the process energy. Moisture is removed with the gases as steam and the ash remains in the char. The volume of the initial biomass shrinks to almost half and the energy density of the torrefaction char increases correspondingly. Major improvements have been achieved in recent years, for example, within the recently finished EU project SECTOR.

Bio-chars are highly porous, reactive, and prone to self-ignition. For safe handling, storage, and transport of small char particles or powders, either inertization or pelletization is recommended. Pulverized bio-chars have already been proven for firing in power stations together with pulverized coal. For gasification, direct feeding is possible, for example, as a dense char powder stream that can be fed to a gasifier with an inert gas from a pressurized fluid char bed.

By fast pyrolysis carried out at around 500 °C, liquid bio-oil is the main product, consisting of several hundred organic compounds comprising organic acids, aldehydes, ketones, alcohols, and other species. Water is also contained in the bio-oil at up to 25 wt%. Fast pyrolysis is characterized by rapid heating of the biomass, short reaction times of a few seconds, and rapid cooling (quenching) of the organic vapors formed by the pyrolytic reactions. The bio-oil in the commercial pyrolysis plants available so far is mainly used for heating purposes, and the char is combusted (as is the gas) to produce process and surplus energy.

# 4 Gasification Technologies

For biomass gasification, a variety of technologies exist. With a view to large-scale production of high quality syngas as required for chemicals and fuels production, mainly the types of gasifiers shown in Fig. 5 have to be considered.

# 4.1 Fixed Bed Gasifiers

In fixed bed reactors, the biomass feedstock is exposed to the gasifying agent in a packed bed that slowly moves from the top of the gasifier to the bottom, where the ash is discharged. By moving through the reactor, the biomass passes distinct reaction and temperature zones for drying, pyrolysis, oxidation, and reduction. The different types of fixed bed gasification reactors are usually characterized by the direction of the gas flow through the reactor and consequently are denoted as up-draft (Fig. 5a), down-draft (Fig. 5b), and horizontal (cross-draft) gasifiers. Depending on the type of feed and product gas application, a multitude of reactor



Fig. 5 Main types of gasification reactors for syngas generation from biomass

designs exist. In general, biomass fueled fixed bed reactors are suited for district heat and power production up to thermal fuel capacities of  $20 \text{ MW}_{\text{th}}$ . Producer gas it is not usually used for purposes where clean syngas is required, because substantial gas cleaning would be necessary because of the relatively high amounts of tar forming volatile components (VOC), and entrained ash and dust particles.

#### 4.2 Fluid Bed Gasifiers

In fluid bed gasifiers (Fig. 5c, d, f), biomass particles are rapidly mixed and heated up typically to 700-900 °C by means of a solid heat carrier, usually hot sand and sometimes char or ash, fluidized by air, oxygen, or steam and syngas. The feed material size is in the order of centimeters; pellets and small wood chips may be used. Because of the intense mixing of fuel and bed material particles, the gasification reactions cannot be allocated to distinct local zones as in the case of fixed bed reactors, but occur throughout the whole reaction volume leading to a uniform temperature distribution. The degree of fluidization can be small (bubbling fluid bed, BFB, Fig. 5c) or high (circulating fluid bed, CFB, Fig. 5d). BFB gasifiers have a well-defined interface between the reaction zone in the fluidized bed and the freeboard above. They are a well-known type of reactor also applied to combustion, pyrolysis and chemical reactions, commonly used because of their robust properties but showing tar formation of the order of 1-2 wt%. In a CFB gasifier the higher gas and particle velocities provide even higher heating rates; there is no distinct interface between the fluidized sand bed and the freeboard. Larger, unconverted feedstock particles recirculate in the reactor, whereas fines such as char, ash, and heat carrier particles are entrained out of the reactor and are separated via a hot gas cyclone. The heat carrier is recycled back to the gasifier. The carbon conversion is considerably better than in BFB gasifiers.

The dual bed gasifier follows an allothermal gasification concept, by which air can be used for combustion but without dilution of the produced syngas (Fig. 5f). The gasifier is fluidized with steam as the only gasification agent, resulting in an energy rich syngas. The bed material and some char are frequently transferred into the second reactor, in which the char is combusted for heat generation. If necessary, additional fuel can be supplied to the combustion reactor. The bed material is circulated to transport the heat from the combustor to the gasifier. The heat of the flue gas can be used for heating purposes or electricity production. In all fluid bed gasifiers ash has to be discharged from the system to avoid accumulation in the heat carrier loop.

Fixed and fluid bed gasifiers are typically operated at temperatures below 1,000 °C. Low-melting straw ash can become sticky at ca. 700 °C and can create problems, for example, by agglomeration of bed material. Raw syngas from fixed and fluid bed gasifiers contains tar and methane because of the low gasification temperatures. Its use for combustion can tolerate high methane contents and requires less gas cleaning efforts compared to chemical and microbial applications.

Feed particle size and order of gasification reaction times decrease from about 0.1 m and over  $10^3$  s for fixed bed gasifiers via ca. 1 cm and  $10^2-10^3$  s for fluid bed gasifiers down to around 0.1 mm fuel powders, which react in a second or two in an entrained flow gasifier flame.

#### 4.3 Entrained Flow Gasifiers

When syngas use for chemical purposes is intended, it must be of high purity, free of dust, tar, and contaminants in order not to poison the sensitive synthesis catalysts downstream. Unlike most fixed bed and fluid bed gasifiers, entrained flow (EF) gasifiers (Fig. 5e) are able to generate a gas practically free of tar with only little methane at high gasification temperatures above 1,000 °C (see Fig. 4). At residence times of a few seconds, carbon conversion of 95–99 % and even above can be achieved. An EF gasifier can be slurry or particle fed and usually blown by oxygen and, occasionally, steam as the gasification agent. Any solid, slurry, or liquid feed material which can be pumped, sprayed, and atomized pneumatically or mechanically is principally suited. Biomass powders with particle sizes in the order of  $10^{-4}$  m can be fed to the gasifier by a high-density flow feed system. However, this requires periodic operation of a sophisticated system of locks and becomes more complicated when pressure rises.

When biomass and biogenic waste with higher ash and alkali contents is used, the gasifier may be operated at slagging conditions: depending on the ash composition, softening and melting occurs below 1,000 °C. To get a molten slag, EF gasifiers operate above the ash melting point at >1,000 °C at the expense of more oxygen consumption and correspondingly lower cold gas efficiency, the ratio of energy contained in the product gas over the energy of the fuel input. However, this is at least partly compensated for by the low methane content, which would otherwise reduce the CO and H<sub>2</sub> syngas yield by 4 mol% for every percent of CH<sub>4</sub> according to: CO + 3 H<sub>2</sub>  $\rightleftharpoons$  CH<sub>4</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>O. The liquid slag can be handled, for example, by a reactor equipped with a cooling screen or special ceramic refractory lining, allowing the formation of a liquid slag drained out of the reaction volume. Slagging EF gasifiers can be designed for elevated pressures up to 100 bar and allow for high and economic fuel conversion capacities up to 500 MW<sub>th</sub> or more.

#### 4.4 Pressurized vs Atmospheric Gasification

Soon after the first commercial application of gasifiers to coal conversion operated at atmospheric pressure, large scale operation of pressurized fixed bed gasifiers was implemented. Operation pressures of 25–40 bar became state-of-the-art, and some gasifiers have been designed for pressures up to 100 bar. Pressure affects different factors, leading to possible benefits such as, for example [3]:

- High specific throughput, leading to high conversion capacities in compact plants
- · Increased thermal capacity and efficiency
- · Increased methane yield according to Le Chatelier's principle
- · Increased methane yield at low temperature operation
- · Reduced gas volume to be treated, for example, with regard to gas cleaning
- · Saving the work of compression for the subsequent chemical synthesis

The higher specific throughput is relevant not only to plant size and capacity but also to equipment design and cost. As an example, a cost comparison of SNG (substitute natural gas, with high methane contents) production by coal gasification at 30 and 90 bar estimated savings in investment and specific production costs of around 10% in the high pressure case [4]. The reason was mainly attributed to the higher thermal efficiency of gasification at higher pressure. Also, the gas volume to be treated in gas cleaning and conditioning is reduced (40 m<sup>3</sup> at 80 bar instead of 700 m<sup>3</sup> at ambient pressure, estimated by real gas considerations at 800 °C).

Different types of high pressure gasification reactors exist: entrained flow reactors as developed by Shell, Siemens, Linde, or ThyssenKrupp Uhde as well as fluid bed (Foster Wheeler, ThyssenKrupp Uhde) or fixed bed reactors (Air Liquide), all with their specific designs related to operation at elevated pressures. For biomass conversion these reactors are not state-of-the-art today. Technology readiness levels from pilot to demonstration status have been attained so far, still requiring R&D on optimization and further development. Among others, feedstock preparation and high pressure feeding are most important issues. Fuel supply under elevated pressures is facilitated by lock hopper systems or pneumatic devices for solids whereas, for liquids and slurries, pumps and screw feeders can be used.

The effect of pressure on reactor dimensions, synthesis gas, and thermal capacity can be seen from Table 4, according to an example given by Schingnitz in [5], considering the GSP type of EF gasifiers as first realized at the Gaskombinat Schwarze Pumpe in Germany. By increasing the pressure from 25 to 80 bar, the reactor performance is increased by a factor of nearly two.

#### 4.5 Economy of Scale

When complex technology is used, economy of scale plays an increasingly important role, particularly in high temperature processing with regard to heat losses. These are determined mainly by the volume:surface ratio of the reactor, which is reduced with increasing dimensions. At the same time, cold gas efficiency and overall performance is increased. Doubling reactor diameter and height allows for an eight times higher thermal fuel and syngas capacity (Table 4). For economy of scale reasons, syngas production and its further processing to synfuels demands large scale facilities; for comparison, a crude oil refinery has an input capacity in the order of 10 Mt/a (megatons per annum).

On the other hand, biomass usually exhibits low volumetric energy densities and has to be harvested and collected from large, distributed areas. Major sources of

	Variant I	Variant II	Variant III
Reactor dimensions diameter × height	3.5m 2m	5.9m	6.7m 3.7m
Cylindrical surface area/m <sup>2</sup>	22	48	78
Volume/m <sup>3</sup>	11	35	72
p = 25 bar			
Thermal fuel capacity/MW <sub>th</sub>	130	400	800
Syngas flow rate/Nm <sup>3</sup> /h	50,000	160,000	320,000
p = 80 bar			
Thermal fuel capacity/MW <sub>th</sub>	225	700	1,400
Syngas flow rate/Nm <sup>3</sup> /h	86,000	280,000	560,000

 Table 4
 Scale-up example for EF gasifiers according to [5]

biomass are agricultural and forestry products and residues, including purpose grown bioenergy crops, residues from land cultivation, industrial waste, and, to a certain extent, municipal solid waste. Furthermore, chemical composition and the content of minerals and other inorganic material, usually denoted as the ash content, may vary significantly. Regarding this multitude of potential materials, feed tolerant and flexible pre-treatment technologies need to be applied to achieve high throughput capacities, improving economic viability of the plants. Pre-treatment processes are suited to provide more homogeneous feed materials of high energy density as gasification fuels. Such a pre-treatment may be carried out in regionally distributed plants, the products of which are transported to larger conversion facilities for syngas and synfuel production.

## 5 Syngas Conditioning

Typically, a  $H_2$ :CO ratio in the order of 1 or lower is produced by biomass gasification, which cannot be used directly for all syntheses. By the WGS reaction the ratio has to be adjusted to the specific requirements of the synthesis process. The syngas produced by gasification contains impurities, depending on the type of feedstock and

Table 5   Examples of	Contaminant	Level	
maximum contamination levels tolerated by methanol synthesis [6]	Tars	<0.1	mg/Nm <sup>3</sup>
	CH <sub>4</sub>	<3	vol%
	NH <sub>3</sub>	10	ppm
	HCN	0.01	ppm
	Total sulfur	0.5	ppm
	Halides	0.001	ppm

conversion technology applied. Downstream chemical synthesis demands cleaning down to ppm level for substantial raw syngas (Table 5). Typical organic contaminants are volatile (VOC) and tar forming components such as BTX (benzene, toluene, and xylenes) and char particulates. Inorganic nitrogen-, sulfur-, and chlorinecontaining impurities are ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), hydrogen cyanide (HCN), hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S), carbonyl sulfide (COS), and hydrogen chloride (HCl), as well as volatile metals (regarding biomass in particular Na and K), dust, and soot. Larger, condensable organic molecules, summarized as tars, being produced in low temperature gasification processes reduce the primary syngas yield and may cause fouling of the downstream equipment, coat surfaces, and plug pipes, pores in filters, and sorbent materials. Other contaminants are corrosive or poison the catalysts in the following synthesis stages downstream. For raw syngas cleaning, conventional technology is available [6]. Tar constituents and BTX may be removed either by thermal or catalytic cracking or by scrubbing with an oil-based medium followed by gasifier recycle. The other above-mentioned impurities can be removed by standard wet gas cleaning technologies. Using absorbing liquids such as refrigerated methanol or amines, for example, in the Rectisol or Selexol process, CO2 and sulfur compounds are successively removed in separate fractions, resulting in an almost pure CO<sub>2</sub> and an H<sub>2</sub>S/COS enriched Claus gas fraction suitable for sulfur production. In advanced "dry" hot gas cleaning, the residual contaminants are removed by solid chemical sorbent materials at elevated temperatures up to 800 °C. If gasification is conducted at pressures required in the subsequently following synthesis, dry pressurized gas cleaning methods are expected to provide significant energetic benefits.

## 6 Syngas Derived Products

A variety of chemicals and fuels, such as hydrocarbons, methanol, hydrogen, and methane, are accessible by different pathways (Table 6). An additional range of fuels and chemicals can be obtained via methanol, yielding hydrocarbon fuels, olefins, and oxygenates such as ethers, acetic acid, and acetic anhydride. Most of the reactions are not completely selective; integration of additional process steps is necessary to use or recycle various by-product streams. Some important direct and indirect syngas conversion reactions are presented in the following. Combinations of a chemical synthesis and a subsequently following microbial conversion may also be promising, such as fermentation of syngas [7, 8] or co-fermentation of (unconverted) syngas and methanol.

Reaction to	Formal reaction equation	Equation
Methanol	$CO + 2 H_2 \rightleftharpoons CH_3OH$	(1)
Ethanol, higher alcohols	$2 \text{ CO} + 4 \text{ H}_2 \rightleftharpoons \text{C}_2\text{H}_5\text{OH} + \text{H}_2\text{O}$	(2)
	$CH_3OH + n CO + 2n H_2 \rightleftharpoons C_{n+1}H_{2n+3}OH + n H_2O$	(3)
Dimethyl ether	$3 \text{ CO} + 3 \text{ H}_2 \rightleftharpoons \text{CH}_3\text{OCH}_3 + \text{CO}_2$	(4a)
	$2 \text{ CH}_3\text{OH} \rightleftharpoons \text{CH}_3\text{OCH}_3 + \text{H}_2\text{O}$	(4b)
Gasoline and olefins	$n CH_3OCH_3 + n CH_3OH \rightleftharpoons (CH_2)_{3n}$ + 2n H <sub>2</sub> O	(5)
	$n CH_3OCH_3 \rightleftharpoons "(CH_2)_{2n}" + n H_2O$	(6)
Hydrocarbons	$n \text{ CO} + (2n+1) \text{ H}_2 \rightleftharpoons \text{C}_n \text{H}_{2n} + n \text{ H}_2 \text{O}$	(7)
(Fischer-Tropsch)		
Hydroformylation	$CO + H_2 + C_n H_{2n} \rightleftharpoons C_n H_{2n+1} CHO$	(8)
Hydrogen	$CO + H_2O \rightleftharpoons CO_2 + H_2$	(9)
Methane	$CO + 3 H_2 \rightleftharpoons CH_4 + H_2O$	(10)
Polyoxymethylene	$CH_3OCH_3 + n HCHO \rightleftharpoons CH_3(CH_2O)_nCH_3 n = 1-6$	(11)

Table 6 Syngas reactions to synfuels

# 6.1 Methanol

Methanol is produced from syngas at temperatures between 220 and 275 °C and pressures ranging from 50 to 100 bar using Cu/ZnO/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst systems. Major methanol technology suppliers today are ICI, Air Liquide, and Mitsubishi. Processes with higher selectivity toward methanol are also known but require more severe conditions of up to 300 bar and 380 °C. The overall reaction equation is given in a simplified way in equation (1) of Table 6. Methanol can be used in fuel blends with gasoline containing up to 20 vol% of methanol in internal combustion engines without much modification. However, in the European Union (EU) only 3 vol% are allowed for gasoline blends, mainly because of its toxicity. Another option is the use of methanol in fuel cells, either directly in Direct Methanol Fuel Cells or indirectly as a hydrogen source after reforming. In addition, methanolderived fuels such as dimethyl ether, methyl tert-butyl ether, and biodiesel as fatty acid methyl esters play an important role. The global production capacity of methanol of currently around 80 Mt/a for chemical use is still growing, predominantly for primary conversion to formaldehyde, acetic acid, methyl methacrylate, methyl chloride, and methylamine, which again are raw materials for secondary conversion to important further chemical products.

# 6.2 Ethanol and Higher Alcohols from Syngas

Direct synthesis of ethanol from syngas ((2) of Table 6) is intensely investigated at present. Another approach is the homologization of methanol, that is, the reaction of methanol with syngas to yield ethanol ((3) of Table 6), by which alcohols with longer carbon chains can also be formed. However, the selectivities toward ethanol are still moderate and there is a lack of highly efficient catalysts for these reactions.

# 6.3 Dimethyl Ether

Dimethyl ether (DME) can be obtained from direct synthesis according to (4a) or via dehydration of methanol (4b). The formation of DME is thermodynamically favored at CO:H<sub>2</sub> ratios around 1:1, which are typically expected from biomass gasification. From a mechanistic point of view, direct synthesis proceeds also via methanol formation and subsequent release of water but without intermediate isolation of methanol. The process can be designed to yield both methanol and DME. Mixed catalysts are employed consisting of the established methanol catalysts and dehydration catalysts. The latter are solid-acid catalysts, for example, alumina, silica-, phosphorus- or boron-modified alumina, or HZSM-5 zeolites. Because DME properties are similar to those of liquefied petrol gas (LPG), it can be used in typical LPG applications, for example, power generation and domestic or transportation fuels. DME can be admixed to LPG up to around 20 vol%. Compared to LPG, the cetane number is much higher and therefore DME is a suitable, clean fuel for diesel engines. Because of missing carbon-carbon bonds, the combustion of DME leads to practically soot-free exhaust gases. Because of its physico-chemical properties, more use of DME is made as refrigerant, aerosol propellant, solvent, and extraction agent.

#### 6.4 Methanol to Gasoline (MtG)

Conversion of methanol to gasoline (MtG) is accomplished by zeolitic ZSM-5 catalysts via either fluid or fixed bed technologies. The former was demonstrated by Mobil, Union Rheinische Braunkohlen Kraftstoff AG, and Uhde in a pilot plant at UK Wesseling and the latter was operated successfully by Methanex in New Zealand licensed by ExxonMobil. The Mobil process yields around 38 wt% of gasoline, 4 wt% of LPG, approximately 58 wt% of water, and a small amount of fuel gas. The underlying chemistry is complex and initiated by the formation of DME through dehydration of methanol (4b). The following chain growth and cyclization reactions proceed via further release of water and can be described, in a very simplified manner, by (5) and (6) of Table 6. These reactions involve not only reactions of DME with itself ((6) of Table 6) but also reactions of DME with methanol ((5) of Table 6). The resulting gasoline type of fuel exhibits a high octane number thanks to the substantial amount of aromatic components. However, direct production of longer chain alkanes for diesel and jet fuel using typical MtG catalysts is not possible today. A similar process is the TIGAS process (Topsøe Integrated GAsoline Synthesis) developed by Haldor Topsøe and demonstrated at a pilot plant in Houston. It is, in principle, an improved MtG process combining methanol, DME, and gasoline production in a single synthesis loop, thus circumventing intermediate production and storage of methanol. Different syngas compositions can be employed because methanol/DME synthesis is flexible in terms of syngas specifications.

# 6.5 Methanol to Olefins (MtO)

Ethylene and propylene can be produced from syngas via methanol by using medium- or small-pore silicoaluminum phosphate molecular sieves (SAPO). The smaller pore size, for example, of the UOP catalyst SAPO-34 favors the formation of the desired light olefins with close to 90% yield of ethylene and propylene. The selectivity of a ZSM-5 catalyst toward propylene formation is higher, but with larger amounts of longer hydrocarbon chains as by-products. Reaction temperatures of 350–550 °C are used. The MtO process can be combined with the MtG technology as realized in the so-called MOGD process (Mobil Olefin to Gasoline/Distillate). Employing this process, olefins are synthesized in the first step followed by olefin oligomerization to gasoline or diesel using a ZSM-5 catalyst. Hence, this route also affords, unlike the MtG process, the production of synthetic diesel or jet fuel.

#### 6.6 Fischer–Tropsch Synthesis

By means of the Fischer–Tropsch (FT) process ((7) of Table 6), syngas is directly converted into hydrocarbons. Related processes are well-established and currently operated, for example, by Sasol (Sasol Advanced Synthol, SAS process in Secunda, South Africa) and Shell (Middle Distillate Synthesis, MDS process in Bintulu, Malaysia and in the PEARL plant in Qatar) by using coal and natural gas, respectively. FT syntheses can be conducted in slurry-phase, fixed bed, and fluid bed reactors, mainly depending on the catalysts and reaction temperatures employed. With respect to reaction temperatures, one can distinguish between low- and hightemperature FT technologies (LT-FT and HT-FT). LT-FT synthesis is operated at temperatures around 220 °C and yields primarily long-chain hydrocarbons such as paraffin and waxes whereas HT-FT processes, operating at temperatures around 340 °C, produce mainly naphtha and olefins. Long-chain products are hydrocracked in the next step to yield diesel in very high quality. Today, LT-FT syntheses combined with slurry-phase reactors are the preferred option. Hydrocarbon chain growth proceeds at the surface of cobalt- and/or iron-based catalyst systems, for example, with Fe-, Fe/Co-, Fe/Co-Spinel-, Co/Mn-Spinel-, or Cu-doped Co catalysts. Iron catalysts are cheaper than cobalt catalysts and more flexible as well as more resistant with respect to syngas composition and quality. They catalyze the WGS reaction and therefore tolerate lower H<sub>2</sub>:CO ratios in the syngas. Co catalysts show best performances at a H<sub>2</sub>:CO ratio of 2:1 and feature longer lifetimes as well as higher selectivities than iron catalysts.

#### 6.7 Hydroformylation

Hydroformylation or oxo synthesis is an important industrial process for the production of linear and branched aldehydes from alkenes in homogeneous reactions catalyzed by Co or Rh catalysts ((8) of Table 6). The individual process designs and catalysts used depend on the chain length of the olefin to be hydroformylated, and the catalyst metal center and ligands. Industrial processes in place today are based on cobalt catalysts for the production of medium- to long-chain aldehydes, whereas rhodium-based catalysts are mainly used for the conversion of propylene.

# 6.8 Hydrogen

Hydrogen can be produced via gasification of biomass by a downstream WGS reaction of the syngas ((9) of Table 6) converting carbon monoxide with water into additional hydrogen. Crude bio-hydrogen produced in that way has to be cleaned, compressed or liquefied, or stored on solid state materials, and can be used as fuel for specialized combustion engines or fuel cells. Converting biomass to hydrogen allows for a maximum conservation of energy originally contained in the feedstock, because the shift reaction is less exothermic than the above-mentioned reaction pathways.

## 6.9 Methane

Methane is usually produced from biomass by anaerobic digestion, but can also be obtained from syngas, and allows for the use of a wider variety of biomass types. Methane can be obtained directly in the syngas with higher yields at low temperature gasification or by conversion of the syngas formed. The increase of methane yield to produce a high caloric town gas was one important goal in coal gasification at elevated pressures in Germany in the post-war decades. Synthetic natural gas from biomass or Bio-SNG can be used, after cleaning, compression, or liquefaction, e.g., as fuel for modified spark ignition engines, and exhibits high octane numbers. Recently, SNG production has been discussed and developed in the context of energy storage in fluctuating renewable energy production systems by power-to-gas technologies. From surplus electrical power, hydrogen is generated from water by electrolysis and subsequently used for  $CO_2$ -hydrogenation to produce methane according to reverse (9) and (10) of Table 6.

#### 7 Recent Process Developments

The longest tradition in the production of synfuels and chemicals can be found in coal conversion technologies. However, coal was not cost-competitive for a long time compared to crude oil refining. Recently, new production facilities have been erected, for example, in China with large production capacities to produce methanol, propylene, DME, and SNG from coal. Natural gas is also utilized for FT synthesis, for example, in oil- and gas-producing countries such as Qatar, Nigeria, or Malaysia. Increasing interest is also devoted to biomass utilization in the context of renewable energy and climate change issues. The value of a biofuel has to be scored in terms of its  $CO_2$  reduction potential. In the EU, the greenhouse gas emission saving from the use of biofuels and bio-liquids should be at least 50% and even 60% in 2018 for those installations in which production started on or after January 2017. However, comparable regulations for the production of chemicals and materials do not exist in the EU.

In Table 7 a selection of pilot and demonstration plants in Europe is compiled, giving details of the range of technologies, conversion capacities, and their state of development. Because of the importance of Scandinavian wood industries, the main efforts can be observed in this region. Many more examples of synthesis gas utilization processes are given in the maps available online from the IEA Bioenergy and the European Biofuels Technical platform, even though mainly dedicated to bioenergy production. The examples given in Table 7 show the multitude of options

No.	Project	Feedstock	Pre-treatment + gasification features	Synthesis, products
A	Växjö Värnamo Biomass Gasifi- cation Centre, S	Forest biomass	Foster Wheeler pressurized CFB + hot gas filtering	Heat and power, clean syngas
В	Güssing Renew- able Energy Multifuel Gasifi- cation, A	Wood	Repotec dual fluid bed also referred to as fast internally cir- culating fluid bed (FICFB), 8 MW <sub>th</sub> , atm	CHP, SNG (1 MW) and FT plant (slip stream)
С	BioDME, S	Black liquor	Chemrec EF, 3 MWt <sub>h</sub> , 30 bar	DME, methanol
D	BioTfuel, F	Forest biomass	Torrefaction + Uhde Prenflow EF, 15 MW <sub>th</sub>	FT-products
E	bioliq <sup>®</sup> /KIT, D	Lignocellulose	Air Liquide fast pyrolysis, 2 MW <sub>th</sub> + Air Liquide EF, 5 MW <sub>th</sub> , 80 bar	DME, gasoline
F	GoBiGas, S	Forest biomass	Metso/Repotec dual bed, 20 MW	Bio-methane
G	NSE Biofuels Varkaus, S	Forest biomass	CFB, 12 MW (5 MW <sub>th</sub> for syn- fuel application)	Heat for a lime kiln, FT-products (slip stream)

Table 7 Current synfuel pilot or demo projects

to set up a process chain regarding feedstock, pre-treatment, gasification, and synthesis technology.

# 7.1 Växjö Värnamo Biomass Gasification Centre (A)

The first pressurized CFB pilot gasifier for biomass, located in Värnamo, was designed and built by Foster Wheeler and SYCON and commissioned in 1993–1996. The plant was run until 1999 and then mothballed in 2000 after successful operation as a Biomass Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle (BIGCC) demonstration plant. Different types of wood, bark, straw, and refuse-derived fuels were used as feedstocks. Of the total thermal biomass input of 18 MW<sub>th</sub>, 6 MW<sub>el</sub> were fed into the electricity grid and about 9 MW<sub>th</sub> were supplied to the Värnamo district heating network. Operated at 18 bar, the wood chips were forced into a lock-hopper and screw-fed into the air-blown gasifier; average gasification temperatures were slightly below 1,000 °C, a downstream hot gas candle filter removing particulates. The EU CHRISGAS project (2004–2007) demonstrated biomass gasification followed by gas upgrading via hot gas cleaning to remove particulates, steam reforming of tar and volatile organic components, and WGS reaction to enhance the hydrogen yield with regard to biofuel production.

# 7.2 Güssing Renewable Energy Multifuel Gasification, Austria (B)

The allothermal dual bed gasifier, designed and built by Repotec company, generates concentrated syngas undiluted with  $N_2$  since 2002. A typical syngas composition is 40 vol% H<sub>2</sub>, 25 vol% CO, 20 vol% CO<sub>2</sub>, 10 vol% CH<sub>4</sub>, and 4 vol% N<sub>2</sub>. The CHP plant has a fuel capacity of 8 MW<sub>th</sub> and an electrical output of about 2 MW<sub>el</sub>. The Güssing plant was extended toward polygeneration concepts, where several products are generated simultaneously. After raw syngas cleaning, most of the CO and H<sub>2</sub> have been converted into a biosynfuel mix in a single pass through an FT synthesis reactor (0.5-1 L/h). Unconverted syngas, mainly methane, was available for downstream power or electricity generation by combustion. There is no need to adjust the H<sub>2</sub>:CO ratio, especially when an Fe catalyst is used. The Güssing experiments were performed in a raw syngas slipstream and served mainly to develop, test, and evaluate suitable polygeneration concepts within the EU RENEW project (2003-2008). Within the EU BioSNG project (2006-2009) a 1-MW<sub>th</sub> methane production was integrated and operated to demonstrate Bio-SNG production from solid biofuels and its integration into the existing natural gas infrastructure (i.e., fuel station for vehicles, natural gas grid). The Güssing gasifier has meanwhile operated for ca. 80,000 h. Meanwhile, a 20 MWgas SNG plant is operated within the Gotherburg Biomass Gasification Project (GoBiGas) in Sweden, also based on Repotec's gasification technology.

# 7.3 BioDME at Pitea, Sweden (C)

Black liquor, a waste stream of the Kraft pulping process, is a black, aqueous solution containing ca. 5 wt% of inorganic cooking chemicals and ca. 10 wt% lignin-derived organic material, with about half of the initial bioenergy. Conventionally, the liquor is concentrated by about one order of magnitude and is then combusted in boilers to recover the cooking chemicals to recycle and to supply the pulping process with steam and electricity. Integration of gasification into the pulp mill process allows for more efficient energy recovery and a considerable reduction of the synthetic biofuel production cost. The BioDME pilot facility at Pitea, Sweden is integrated into the Smurfit Kappa Pulp Mill. Successful demonstration of the process was achieved within the EU BioDME project (2008-2012) and is now part of the Swedish gasification center hosted by Lulea University of Technology. The EF gasifier technology has been developed by Chemrec, Haldor Topsøe contributing the DME synthesis technology. Volvo performed truck tests with DME as an environmentally friendly diesel fuel; more than one million truck kilometers have been accumulated. The EF gasifier consists of a pressure resistant vertical steel cylinder with a top burner, by which black liquor concentrate with a feed capacity of up to 4 tons/h is pneumatically atomized with pure oxygen. Gasification temperature and pressure are 1,000 °C and 30 bar, respectively. The 200-300 °C lower gasification temperatures compared to other EF gasifiers for lignocellulose are possible because of the lower melting slag of the pulp cooking chemicals. The slag is guenched in a water bath at the gasifier bottom and batch-wise discharged with a lock hopper. Organic vapors are removed from the syngas first with two serial charcoal beds; further purification is achieved with a conventional MDEA amine absorption tower with stripper for regeneration. A WGS unit is used to adjust the desired H<sub>2</sub>:CO ratio. After syngas compression, the residual sulfur compounds and other impurities are removed to parts per billion trace levels in a guard bed to prevent catalyst poisoning. An improved two-stage synthesis, first at 240 °C then at a thermodynamically more favorable lower temperature, eliminates the need for recycling of unconverted syngas. Catalytic dehydration to DME is integrated with a design production capacity of 4 tons/day DME.

# 7.4 BioTfuel Project Dunkirk, France (D)

The aim of the BioTfuel project is to construct and operate a biosynfuel pilot facility with a design capacity of about 3 tons/h. To ensure a continuous full load operation, co-processing with fossil fuels up to 100% is possible. Partners with complementary expertise are Axens, CEA and IFP Energies nouvelles, Sofiprotéol, ThyssenKrupp Uhde, and Total as the project leader. As feedstock, wood and non-edible residues from agriculture as well as fossil fuels are planned. The dried biomass is crushed and torrefied at Sofiprotéols facilities at Venette, France; the brittleness of the char simplifies milling to a fine powder, which is a suitable feed

for pressurized EF operation. The torrefaction char is then delivered to the central gasifier site at Dunkirk. There, the fine powder of 50–200  $\mu$ m size or pulverized fossil fuels is transferred by means of an inert gas from a pressurized fluid bed into the ca. 15-MW<sub>th</sub> pressurized entrained flow gasifier. The PRENFLOW-type slagging and oxygen-blown gasifier is supplied by ThyssenKrupp Uhde and is equipped with a membrane wall designed for high gasification temperatures of 1,200–1,600 °C at 30–40 bar pressure. At the exit of the gasifier chamber, the hot syngas is cooled to ca. 220 °C in a water quench; the water vapor saturation is needed for the WGS reaction downstream. Though there has been much experience with the PRENFLOW technology, for example, from the large IGCC plant in Puertollano, Spain, the adaptation for reliable injection of variable biomass-to-fossil fuel feed mixtures requires attention. The expected H<sub>2</sub>:CO ratio of 0.5–0.7 in the raw syngas is increased to about 2 via the WGS reactor for the intended FT synthesis, combined with a conventional sour gas removal unit. A separated testing line for gas purification is available as a 5–10% side stream of the main raw syngas

flow. The FT synthesis makes use of a Co catalyst in a slurry bubble column reactor with subsequent hydro-cracking and hydro-isomerization, mainly to yield diesel, jet fuel, and naphtha. The parallel development work to be carried out at the Dunkirk and Venette sites is coordinated and guided by Bionext, aiming at an accumulation of sufficient experience for the design of biosynfuel plants with a biomass capacity of 1 Mt/a in 2020.

# 7.5 Bioliq<sup>®</sup> Project at Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT) (E)

The bioliq<sup>®</sup> process has been designed to overcome the logistical limitations when using a broad range of different types of biomass for large, industrial-scale processing [9]. The forest, agricultural, and other types of bio-residues are favored as feedstocks because they don't compete in food and feed production. They are widely distributed and usually exhibit low volumetric energy densities. Therefore the process has been split up, first into a pre-treatment by fast pyrolysis conducted in a number of regionally distributed plants to increase the energy density of the biomass. The intermediate product, termed biosyncrude, is produced by mixing the pyrolysis char and liquid condensates, thus maintaining ca. 85% of the original bioenergy. The biosyncrude is then collected from the de-centralized plants and converted into synthesis gas which is further processed to synthetic fuels and chemicals in an industrial complex of reasonable economic size.

At KIT, a 2–5-MW<sub>th</sub> pilot plant has been erected for process demonstration and as a research and development platform for further process improvement and optimization (Fig. 6). The separate process steps were commissioned stepwise until 2013, and a joint operation producing synthetic gasoline from biomass for the first time was achieved in 2014. In the fast pyrolysis plant with a biomass feed



**Fig. 6** Image of the bioliq<sup>®</sup> pilot plant at KIT. From *left* to *right*: fast pyrolysis plant, biosyncrude storage, EF gasifier, gas cleaning section, and synthesis plant in outdoor construction

capacity of 500 kg/h (2 MW<sub>th</sub>) biomass is contacted with hot sand at 500 °C in a twin screw reactor. As the sand as heat carrier is recycled and re-heated, the char formed after pyrolysis is separated from the hot pyrolysis vapors, which are then liquefied in two condensation stages. Although from wood a single homogeneous condensate can be produced, wheat straw and other ash-rich feedstocks usually lead to two condensates: an organic phase and a highly water-containing aqueous phase. From these, biosyncrude is produced by adding the pyrolysis char in a colloidal mixer and milling system [10]. Liquids or slurries can more easily be fed to a pressurized EF gasifier and do not require additional fluidization agents as in the case of feeding solid particles. In the bioliq<sup>®</sup> gasification plant the highly viscous biosyncrude is fed to a 5-MW<sub>th</sub> oxygen blown high pressure EF reactor by a progressive cavity pump. The slagging reactor operated at temperatures up to 1,600 °C and pressures of up to 80 bar is equipped with an internal cooling screen, particularly suited to the conversion of ash-rich feeds and to fast start up and shut down procedures. The molten slag drops down into the quench water reservoir and is removed as solid slag. Then the tar-free, low-methane raw syngas is passed through a water quench, which is later rebuilt into a water injection quench, by which the gas temperature can be adjusted to an optimum temperature for downstream gas cleaning. A high pressure, high temperature process for gas cleaning is being developed at KIT. Temperatures of 500-800 °C can be applied and are adjusted to optimum operation temperatures, where energy savings can be expected compared to the conventional low temperature gas cleaning processes. Fines are separated by ceramic filter elements and sour gases (HCl,  $H_2S$ , COS) are retained by fixed bed sorption. In a catalytic reactor, NH<sub>3</sub>, HCN, and organic trace compounds are decomposed. Another sorption bed is added as a safeguard. Prior to synthesis, CO<sub>2</sub> and water are separated from the purified gas. For synthesis, a 700-Nm<sup>3</sup>/h slip stream (2 MW<sub>th</sub>) of the syngas is used. First, DME is produced in a single step from syngas by simultaneous methanol formation, methanol dehydration, and WGS reaction using a mixture of commercial catalysts for methanol production and dehydration. Then gasoline is produced based on the MtG process. The raw product of the fuel synthesis is separated from the non-converted syngas for recycling and is distilled to receive the main product, high octane gasoline, along with some light and heavy hydrocarbon compounds.

#### 8 **Process Efficiency and Economics**

For several syngas-based process chains and production scenarios, technoeconomic and life cycle assessments have been conducted. Most examples are found for different BtL process chains for synthetic fuel production, of which some results are briefly discussed in the following, together with some general remarks.

#### 8.1 Process Efficiency

The main task of a conventional petroleum refinery is the separation of the hydrocarbon constituents of crude oil by distillation. Except for the FCC cracker and the removal of small amounts of S, N, O, and Cl hetero-atoms by hydrogenation, only limited chemical processing is involved. About 7% of the energy content of the oil is consumed in the refinery processes by combustion of poor-quality products; approximately 80% of the energy can be recovered in the form of liquid fuels and chemical feedstocks. In contrast, conversion of lignocellulose biomass to synthetic fuels and chemicals in a BtL process is facilitated in a sequence of chemical transformations. Each of the chemical reactions must be exergonic to proceed with negative Gibbs enthalpy and, in most cases, are exothermal. The heat of the gasification reaction remains as sensible heat of the hot raw syngas and amounts to 10-20% of the initial bioenergy, depending on O<sub>2</sub> consumption. The heat of reaction of FT synthesis amounts to 20-25% of syngas energy. With typical FT synthesis temperatures of around 200 °C, this energy cannot be used very efficiently. However, a substantial part of the released heat can be used internally for process heat and electricity production [11].

Based on stoichiometric equations and calorific values of the substances involved, theoretical maximum energy yields of around 55% or 60% are achievable for hydrocarbons and methanol production from lignocellulosic biomass,

respectively. The practical efficiency depends on the type of biomass and targeted products as well as on conversion technology and capacity. In work conducted at TU Bergakademie Freiberg, different process concepts have been studied with regard to efficiency and production costs [12]. Among the gasification technologies considered were the FICFB reactor (B in Table 7), a pressurized CFB reactor (Bergakademie Freiberg), and the EF reactor for biosyncrude gasification of KIT (E in Table 7). Biogas production by fermentation followed by steam reforming was also considered for syngas production. For a given conversion capacity and feedstock, the production of methanol the estimated efficiencies range between 23% and 49%, whereas for production of hydrocarbons by FT synthesis efficiencies of 28–44% are calculated. Even though a direct comparison is difficult, this comparative study showed that, for a certain product, each syngas technology performs differently.

The bio-based coverage of process energy demand is of prime importance for biofuel production. Therefore other studies lead to lower energy efficiencies related to the products, but are practically self-sufficient in terms of energy supply with a maximum  $CO_2$  reduction potential by saving the use of additional fossil fuels. In the recently finished EU BioBoost project an overall life cycle assessment estimated a  $CO_2$  reduction potential of 82% for a synthetic fuel production scenario based on the bioliq<sup>®</sup> process [13].

Different efficiencies are also estimated within one selected process chain. As an example, for the bioliq<sup>®</sup> process converting straw into FT-products, overall efficiencies have been estimated in the range of  $39 \pm 6\%$ , considering a number of studies also used for the cost estimated as discussed below. In some cases, even surplus energy was estimated from the process heat.

#### 8.2 Economic Considerations

Commercial synthesis gas biorefineries for the production of synthels and chemicals are not yet present on the market. The production of synthetic fuels and chemicals requires complex and cost-intensive technologies and has to take advantage of economies of scale. In Fig. 7 the results of various techno-economic studies on the bioliq<sup>®</sup> process, based on the more commonly reported FT synthesis, are depicted. The decrease of production costs from ca. 1.9 to  $0.9 \notin/L$  of fuel with increasing conversion capacity can be observed, even though considerable deviations occur. These are mainly based on different total capital cost estimates and diverse cost models applied. Costs for biomass supply, biosyncrude transport, and other logistic factors are usually not directly taken into account but are indirectly contained e.g., in the biomass feedstock prices. One exception is the study carried out within the EU BioBoost project, where different pathways proceeding via de-centralized production of an intermediate energy carrier, and central further conversion to fuels, chemicals, heat, and power have been analyzed. Within the project a logistic model has been developed to optimize biomass supply and



Fig. 7 Specific production costs of synthetic biofuels vs gasification plant fuel capacity taken from different techno-economic studies on the bioliq<sup>®</sup> process

conversion chain scenarios with regard to minimum production costs on a EU-wide level, taking into account promising biomass supply regions and prices, transportation network and distances, as well as the number, location, and conversion capacity of de-centralized and central conversion sites. According to a simulation example for the bioliq<sup>®</sup> concept, costs for biomass transport are ca. 10%, those for biosyncrude transport less than 5%, and the costs for the feedstock as well as for de-centralized and central processing are in the same region of around 30% each. The resulting data point in Fig. 7, located at 1,100 MW and 1.56  $\notin$ /L, relates to such a simulation, including several local and central plants of varying size, being based on straw utilization in South East Europe [13].

# 9 Conclusions

The variety of pilot and demonstration projects on syngas biorefineries is on the way to verify the technical and economic feasibility of biomass-based thermochemical syngas processes. Benefits for the further development can be taken from the experience of already established coal and gas conversion technologies. However, specific differences exist in biomass conversion, requiring appropriate adaptation and improved solutions. Issues to be addressed with regard to the broad range of potential feedstocks differing in their composition, consistency, and availability are related to the their pre-treatment, feeding, and operation of gasifiers, raw syngas cleaning, and conditioning, according to the requirements of the chemical syntheses applied.

It is not possible to separate the fuels and chemicals business. Considering a BtL production complex, not only the most valuable mix of fuels and chemicals has to be produced but also co-production of heat and power has to be facilitated to achieve sufficient energetic efficiencies. The implications of complex polygeneration should be considered in the context of emerging thermochemical biorefineries: combinations of thermochemical, biochemical, and physicochemical biorefineries are part of the future organic chemical industry converting the available multitude of bio-feedstocks into a broad, flexible spectrum of valuable organic platforms and fine chemicals, high performance synthetic fuel components, and materials, in addition to energy in the form of heat, high-pressure steam, or electricity. Already today, advantage can be made by integration of biomass conversion plants into the existing infrastructure of chemical plants or oil refineries.

Regarding biomass as a feedstock, new product routes are desirable, allowing maintaining of oxygen molecules in the final products, as they are already naturally contained in the biomass feed stock. In this way, the energetic and carbon efficiency would be increased considerably. Examples are high performance fuel components oxygen-containing monomers or additives, for polymers, such as polyoxymethylene; see (11) in Table 6. A syngas biorefinery would also benefit from integrating CO<sub>2</sub> utilization via external hydrogen supply, supplied by other renewable resources. In this way the carbon efficiency could be improved even more. As biomass is the only long term renewable carbon resource, its most efficient and economic use remains one of the most challenging issues in biomass research and development.

# References

- 1. German Federal Government (2012) Biorefineries Roadmap as part of the German Federal Government action plans for the material and energetic utilization of renewable raw materials
- Dahmen N, Kruse A (2012) High pressure in renewable energy processes. In: Eggers R (ed) Industrial high pressure applications, processes, equipment and safety. Wiley, Weinheim, pp. 235–256
- Dahmen N, Arnold U, Djordjevic N, Henrich T, Kolb T, Leibold H, Sauer J (2015) High pressure in synthetic fuels production. J Supercrit Fluids 96:124–132
- 4. Vierrath H (2008) Ruhr 100 Hochdruckvergaser. In: Schmalfeld J (ed) Die Veredlung und Umwandlung von Kohle. DGMK, Hamburg, pp 344–361
- 5. Schingnitz M (2008) Gaskombinat Schwarze Pumpe-Verfahren (GSP). In: Schmalfeld J (ed) Die Veredlung und Umwandlung von Kohle. DGMK, Hamburg, pp. 537–552
- 6. Torres W, Pansare S, Goodwin J (2007) Hot gas removal of tars, ammonia, and hydrogen sulfide from biomass gasification gas. Cat Rev 49:407–456
- 7. Bengelsdorf FR, Straub M, Dürre P (2013) Bacterial synthesis gas (syngas) fermentation. Environ Technol 34:1639–1651
- Daniell J, Köpke M, Simpson SD (2012) Commercial biomass syngas fermentation. Energies 5:5372–5417

- Dahmen N, Abeln J, Eberhard M, Kolb T, Leibold H, Sauer J, Stapf D, Zimmerlin B (2016) The bioliq process for producing transportation fuels. WIREs Energy Environ. doi:10.1002/wene. 236
- 10. Nicoleit T, Dahmen N, Sauer J (2016) Production and storage of gasifiable slurries based on flash-pyrolyzed straw. Energy Technol 4:221–229
- 11. Haro P, Trippe F, Stahl R, Henrich E (2013) Appl Energy 108:54-65
- 12. Stahlschmidt R, Boblenz K, Krzack S, Meyer B (2010) Determination of production costs and LCA for BtL-fuels. Öl-Kohle-Gas 126:346–350
- Bioboost Project (2015) Biobased energy intermediates boosting biofuel production, supported under the 7th Framework Programme of the European Commission under Contract 2882873, Executive Summary. Available via www.bioboost.eu/uploads/files/executive\_sum mary\_bioboost\_282873.pdf. Accessed 28 Feb 2016

# Syngas Biorefinery and Syngas Utilization



Sashini De Tissera, Michael Köpke, Sean D. Simpson, Christopher Humphreys, Nigel P. Minton, and Peter Dürre

Abstract Autotrophic acetogenic bacteria are able to capture carbon (CO or CO<sub>2</sub>) through gas fermentation, allowing them to grow on a spectrum of waste gases from industry (e.g., steel manufacture and oil refining, coal, and natural gas) and to produce ethanol. They can also consume syn(thesis) gas (CO and H<sub>2</sub>) made from the gasification of renewable/sustainable resources, such as biomass and domestic/ agricultural waste. Acetogenic gas fermentation can, therefore, produce ethanol in any geographic region without competing for food or land. The commercialization of the process is now at an advanced stage. The real potential of acetogens, however, resides in their capacity to produce chemicals and fuels other than ethanol. This requires the redesign and implementation of more efficient metabolic pathways, adapting them to high performing manufacturing processes. Respective species, their bioenergetics, the genetic tools developed for their metabolic engineering, culture techniques and fermenter set-ups, as well as the commercialization, are comprehensively described and discussed in this chapter.

Keywords Autotrophic acetogens, CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, Syngas, Wood-Ljungdahl pathway

#### Contents

1	Introduction	248
2	Anaerobic Autotrophs	249

S. De Tissera, M. Köpke, and S.D. Simpson

C. Humphreys and N.P. Minton

P. Dürre (⊠)
Institute of Microbiology and Biotechnology, University of Ulm, Albert-Einstein-Allee 11, 89081 Ulm, Germany
e-mail: peter.duerre@uni-ulm.de

LanzaTech, 8045 Lamon Avenue, Suite 400, Skokie, IL 60077, USA

BBSRC/EPSRC Synthetic Biology Research Centre (SBRC), School of Life Sciences, Centre for Biomolecular Sciences, University of Nottingham, University Park, Nottingham NG7 2RD, UK

	2.1	Clostridium aceticum	249
	2.2	Acetobacterium woodii	250
	2.3	Clostridium ljungdahlii	250
	2.4	Moorella thermoacetica	251
	2.5	Butyribacterium methylotrophicum	251
	2.6	Eubacterium limosum	251
	2.7	Clostridium autoethanogenum	252
	2.8	Clostridium coskatii	252
	2.9	Clostridium ragsdalei	252
	2.10	Clostridium carboxidivorans	252
	2.11	Thermoanaerobacter kivui (Formerly Acetogenium kivui)	253
	2.12	Alkalibaculum bacchi	253
	2.13	Blautia producta (Formerly Peptostreptococcus productus and Ruminococcus	
		productus)	253
	2.14	Clostridium difficile	254
3	Woo	d-Ljungdahl Pathway and Bioenergetics	254
4	Gene	tic Methods and Metabolic Engineering	257
5	Ferm	entation	260
	5.1	Fermentation Overview and Routes	260
	5.2	Fermentation Control Parameters and Optimization	261
6	Mass	Transfer and Reactor Optimization	265
	6.1	Continuous Stirred-Tank Reactors (CSTR)	266
	6.2	Trickle Bed Reactors (TBR)	266
	6.3	Bubble Column Reactors (BCR)	266
	6.4	Membrane Bioreactors (MBR) and Moving Bed Biofilm Reactors (MMSB)	267
7	Scale	-Up and Commercialization	267
	7.1	Process Integration	267
	7.2	Commercial Projects	268
	7.3	Barriers to Market	270
Re	eferenc	es	271

## **1** Introduction

The anaerobic conversion of  $CO_2$  and  $H_2$  to acetate in digested sludge was first described by Fischer and colleagues [1]. Later, Wieringa isolated a pure culture of *Clostridium aceticum*, which thus became the first known autotrophic acetogen [2–4]. As the organism seemed to be lost during World War II, the biochemical reactions of acetogenesis were elucidated using *Moorella thermoacetica* (formerly *Clostridium thermoaceticum*). In honor of the scientists mainly involved in this work, this metabolic feature was named the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway. In 1977, the sodium-dependent *Acetobacterium woodii* was isolated [5], and in 1981 a spore preparation of *C. aceticum* was found in a laboratory fridge of Barker (University of California Berkeley), which could be successfully revived [6]. Since then, numerous mesophilic and thermophilic autotrophic acetogens have been isolated and characterized [7–10]. Based on the presence of Wood–Ljungdahl pathway genes, more bacteria might possess the ability of autotrophic acetogenesis, but this needs to be verified experimentally.

The ability to capture carbon directly in the form of carbon monoxide (CO) and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), present in syn(thesis) gas (which is used for certain reactions in the chemical industry but is also a waste by-product of many industrial processes), through anaerobic fermentation gives many anaerobic acetogens great potential for use as microbial production platforms for a range of high value commodity chemicals and fuels. Thus, in recent years, acetogens have attracted significant attention as the process organism for the biotechnological production of fuels and chemicals from industrial waste gas streams [11]. This emerging technology allows sustainable, high volume production of fuels and commodities independent from food-based substrates. The technology has been successfully demonstrated by a few companies at pilot and demo scales and the first commercial units have been announced.

The development of these microbial production platforms has historically been hampered by a lack of available genomic sequences and genetic tools, although recent advances in sequencing technologies and subsequent implementation of genetic methods have made these organisms far more accessible for directed mutagenesis. Closed genome sequences have been published for *A. woodii* [12], *M. thermoacetica* [13], *Clostridium ljungdahlii* [14], *Clostridium autoethanogenum* [15], *Clostridium carboxidivorans* [16], *C. aceticum* [17], *Eubacterium limosum* [18], and *Clostridium difficile* [19].

Key to development of a microbial platform is the establishment of robust and reproducible procedures for DNA transfer into the organism. The delivery of plasmids into an organism whose genome sequence has been elucidated allows the development of targeted group II intron-based mutagenesis and directed homologous recombination strategies to facilitate individual gene knockout and complementation studies, as well as expression of heterologous genes.

#### 2 Anaerobic Autotrophs

Many mesophilic and thermophilic autotrophic acetogens are currently known. However, not all have been investigated in detail and only a few are currently used in or for developing industrial applications. These latter ones are detailed in the following paragraphs.

## 2.1 Clostridium aceticum

*C. aceticum* was isolated in 1936 from sludge from a canal in the Netherlands and characterized with respect to morphology, nutritional requirements, growth pattern, and product formation. Its remarkable metabolic activity is the conversion of four molecules of hydrogen and two molecules of carbon dioxide into one molecule of acetate and two molecules of water. Heterotrophic substrates can also be used

[2–4]. *C. aceticum* was the first autotrophic acetogen cultivated as a pure culture. CO can also serve as a carbon source [20]. After the war the culture seemed to be lost, but was later found in a laboratory culture collection in California [6]. At about the same time, attempts to re-isolate the organism were also successful [21]. The reason for various earlier failed attempts at its re-isolation was most probably the alkaline pH optimum of 8.3. The complete genome sequence of *C. aceticum* was recently published [17]. Interestingly, the bacterium does not contain genes for quinone synthesis [22] although cytochromes have been detected [6]. Thus, no electron transport chain via cytochromes and quinones is possible. Instead, *C. aceticum* harbors an Rnf (designation stems from *Rhodobacter* nitrogen fixation) complex, which might be acting as a proton pump in this organism [22] (see Sect. 3).

#### 2.2 Acetobacterium woodii

A. woodii was isolated in 1977 from black sediment from an oyster pond in Woods Hole, MA [5]. It can grow on  $CO_2$  plus H<sub>2</sub>, producing acetate (as *C. aceticum*). The heterotrophic substrate range is rather narrow, being limited to some sugars, organic acids, and O-methylated aromatic compounds. The bacterium is Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent [23], uses an Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent ATPase [24], and generates an Na<sup>+</sup>-gradient across the cytoplasmic membrane by means of an Rnf complex [25]. Its genome has been completely sequenced [12] and its energy metabolism belongs to the best understood among acetogens [26]. *A. woodii* is the model organism for Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent autotrophic acetogens.

# 2.3 Clostridium ljungdahlii

*C. ljungdahlii* was isolated from chicken yard waste as an organism being capable of using syngas (mainly a mixture of CO plus  $H_2$ ) as sole carbon source [27]. Its genome was completely sequenced, indicating that this bacterium is one of the most versatile acetogens with respect to substrate utilization [14]. In addition to acetate, it produces large amounts of ethanol and smaller amounts of 2,3-butanediol and lactate [28]. The genes responsible for ethanol and 2,3-butanediol production have been identified as well as the function of the Rnf complex as a proton pump [29–31]. Together with *C. autoethanogenum*, *C. ljungdahlii* developed into a model organism for H<sup>+</sup>-dependent autotrophic acetogens. Strains of *C. ljungdahlii* are industrially used by INEOS Bio (see Sect. 7.2).
## 2.4 Moorella thermoacetica

Whereas all other bacteria mentioned in Sect. 2 are mesophilic, *M. thermoacetica* is a moderate thermophile (optimal growth temperature 55°C). It was isolated under heterotrophic conditions from horse manure [32]. *M. thermoacetica* served as the model organism for elucidation of the enzymology of the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway [8] (see Sect. 3). Much later it was discovered that the organism is also capable of autotrophic growth [33]. It does not contain an Rnf complex but instead possesses cytochromes and quinones as well as an energy-conserving hydrogenase (Ech) for generation of a proton gradient [13, 26, 34]. Nitrate and nitrite can be used as terminal electron acceptors [35, 36]. With nitrate, H<sub>2</sub>-dependent growth yields are higher than those with CO<sub>2</sub>. In the presence of nitrate, cytochrome synthesis is repressed [37].

## 2.5 Butyribacterium methylotrophicum

*B. methylotrophicum* is a catabolically versatile, mesophilic, spore-forming anaerobe that was isolated from a sewage digester in Marburg, Germany [38]. Heterotrophic growth is possible with sugars, organic acids, and C1-compounds such as methanol. Autotrophic growth relies on  $CO_2 + H_2$  gas mixtures. An adapted strain, the so-called CO strain, can also grow on CO and syngas [39]. It is a mutant that expresses higher levels of ferredoxin: NAD<sup>+</sup> oxidoreductase, which is not inhibited by NADH [40]. Products are acetate and butyrate, but, at decreasing pH values, increasing amounts of butanol and ethanol are formed [41, 42]. Lactate has also been described as a product [43]. In the EU, *B. methylotrophicum* is classified as risk group 2. A genome sequence is not currently available.

## 2.6 Eubacterium limosum

*E. limosum* was isolated on methanol as a substrate, inoculated with sheep rumen fluid and sewage sludge [44]. Products from methanol are acetate, butyrate, and caproate. Autotrophic growth with  $CO_2 + H_2$  or CO as sole carbon and energy source is also possible. Under these conditions, no caproate is formed [45]. In defined media, butyrate is produced from CO [46, 47]. An energy conservation model has been presented, suggesting that the energetic benefit when growing on CO might be a reason that butyrate is only formed on CO and not on  $CO_2 + H_2$  gas mixtures [48]. Complete and draft genomes are available for two *E. limosum* strains, the latter also producing butanol [18, 49].

## 2.7 Clostridium autoethanogenum

*C. autoethanogenum* was isolated from rabbit feces using CO as sole carbon and energy source. It produces acetate, ethanol, and  $CO_2$  from CO [50]. Other natural products are lactate and 2,3-butanediol [28]. It can also grow well on syn(thesis) gas. This organism is used industrially for ethanol production from steel mill exhaust gases by LanzaTech (see Sect. 7.2). The genome sequence has been determined [51, 52].

## 2.8 Clostridium coskatii

*C. coskatii* was first described in a poster at the 60th annual Meeting of the Society for Industrial Microbiology in San Francisco, August 1–5, 2010 [53]. The bacterium was isolated from estuary sediment collected from the Coskata-Coatue Wildlife Refuge in Nantucket, MA. *C. coskatii* produces ethanol as a primary product from CO or  $CO_2 + H_2$ . The organism is closely related to *C. autoethanogenum*, *C. ljungdahlii*, and *Clostridium ragsdalei*. The organism has been patented by Coskata, Inc. for ethanol production from CO-containing gas mixtures [54, 55].

## 2.9 Clostridium ragsdalei

*C. ragsdalei* strain P11 produces acetate, ethanol, and butanol when using CO as a substrate. Under these conditions, ethanol is the major product. However, when grown on fructose, acetate is the dominant fermentation product and no butanol is formed [56]. Optimization of the trace elements nickel, zinc, selenium, and tungsten improved growth and ethanol production of *C. ragsdalei* [57]. The organism is also able to reduce certain fatty acids to their corresponding alcohols. Formation of propanol, butanol, pentanol, and hexanol from propionate, butyrate, pentanoate, and hexanoate has been reported. In addition to these primary alcohols, acetone could be reduced to isopropanol [58].

## 2.10 Clostridium carboxidivorans

*C. carboxidivorans* strain P7 was isolated from sediment of an agricultural settling lagoon at Oklahoma State University under a CO atmosphere [59]. The organism stained Gram-positive and produced acetate, ethanol, butyrate, and butanol from CO. Low partial pressure of CO in the headspace led to increased butanol and also hexanol production [60]. The genome sequence has been determined [16].

## 2.11 Thermoanaerobacter kivui (Formerly Acetogenium kivui)

*T. kivui* was isolated from sediment samples from Lake Kivu, Africa. The enrichment culture was incubated at 60°C under an atmosphere of 20% CO<sub>2</sub> and 80% H<sub>2</sub>. Acetate was the sole product. Heterotrophic growth with mannose, glucose, fructose, and pyruvate was also possible. Formate allowed only weak growth [61]. CO as sole energy source did not allow growth, although in combination with H<sub>2</sub> doubling times of 2.7 h were observed [33]. Although one report states the importance of Na<sup>+</sup> for autotrophic growth of *T. kivui* [62], genome sequencing and analysis as well as respective experimentation revealed a proton-dependent bioenergetic system. An Rnf membrane complex is not present, but instead an energy-conserving hydrogenase (Ech) [63].

## 2.12 Alkalibaculum bacchi

A. bacchi was isolated from soil under a CO atmosphere in the presence of 2-bromoethanesulfate (for inhibiting methanogenesis). In addition to gas mixtures such as  $H_2 + CO_2$  and  $CO + CO_2$ , a number of heterotrophic substrates (sugars, organic acids, alcohols, trimethylamine) can be used for growth with ethanol and acetate as main products. The bacterium is remarkably alkali-tolerant (up to pH 10.5) [64]. In mixed culture with *Clostridium propionicum*, a syngas fermentation resulted in production of ethanol and propanol plus minor amounts of butanol [65]. Added carboxylic acids (propanoic acid, butyric acid, hexanoic acid) could be reduced to their corresponding primary alcohols [66].

# 2.13 Blautia producta (Formerly Peptostreptococcus productus and Ruminococcus productus)

A strain of *B. producta* (U-1) was isolated from anaerobic sewage digester sludge under an atmosphere of 50% CO. Under optimal conditions, a doubling time of 1.5 h was recorded. Autotrophic growth on  $CO_2 + H_2$  (significantly slower) and heterotrophic growth on a variety of substrates was also possible. Acetate was the main fermentation product [67]. When grown on sugars, strain U-1 also produced lactate, succinate, and formate [68]. Another *B. producta* isolate (strain Marburg) was also able to grow on CO, although the type strain is unable to do so [69]. A number of Wood–Ljungdahl pathway enzyme activities could be measured [70]. The active carbon species deriving from CO oxidation is  $CO_2$  rather than bicarbonate [71].

## 2.14 Clostridium difficile

*C. difficile* is a dangerous pathogen, representing a considerable threat to the North American and European healthcare systems. Infection rates are still increasing and numerous nosocomial outbreaks have been reported [72]. Originally, all bacteria pathogenic against humans were considered heterotrophs [73]. It therefore came as a surprise that *C. difficile* and phylogenetically closely related isolates were capable of autotrophic growth on  $CO_2$  plus H<sub>2</sub> [74, 75]. The arrangement of genes encoding the enzymes for the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway in *C. difficile* is identical to the operon structure in *C. ljungdahlii* [75]. *C. difficile* is thus the first known autotrophic human bacterial pathogen, but as a risk group 2 organism it is not considered for biotechnological applications.

## **3** Wood–Ljungdahl Pathway and Bioenergetics

The reductive acetyl-CoA- or Wood-Ljungdahl (WL) pathway is probably the oldest carbon assimilation pathway on Earth [12, 76, 77]. It is found in acetogens, methanogens, and strictly anaerobic sulfate-reducing bacteria and archaea [77]. It consists of two parts, the methyl and the carbonyl branch (Fig. 1). In the former, one molecule of CO<sub>2</sub> (or CO) is bound to the coenzyme tetrahydrofolate (in bacteria) and then reduced in several steps to a methyl group, which is transferred to an ironsulfur-corrinoid protein (FeSCo-P). FeSCo-P serves as the methyl donor for the key enzyme of the pathway, the nickel-containing bifunctional CO dehydrogenase/ acetyl-CoA synthase. In the carbonyl branch, another molecule of CO<sub>2</sub> is reduced to CO, which is also bound to acetyl-CoA synthase. There, methyl and carbonyl groups are fused to an acetyl residue and, combined with coenzyme A (CoA), are converted into acetyl-CoA. This compound can be used anabolically for biosyntheses or catabolically for formation of acetate by phosphotransacetylase (Pta) and acetate kinase (Ack), thereby yielding one molecule of ATP by substrate level phosphorylation. Looking at the energetics of the pathway, it becomes clear that one ATP is required for formyl-THF formation although only one ATP is gained from acetate formation. So, the net balance is zero, and additional energyconserving mechanisms must exist.

For this purpose, different mechanisms are employed by acetogens. Although the biochemical reactions of the WL pathway have been elucidated using *M. thermoacetica* until the late 1980s, *A. woodii* was the first acetogen whose energetics were well-understood [26]. The breakthrough was the discovery of flavin-based and ferredoxin-dependent electron bifurcation that can be coupled to proton or Na<sup>+</sup> gradient generation and thus to ATP formation [78, 79]. So far, four such flavin-based electron-bifurcating enzyme complexes have been discovered in autotrophic acetogens (Table 1). Four more such reactions are known from *Clostridium kluyveri*, *Clostridium acidurici*, and methanogenic archaea [86], which, **Fig. 1** Wood–Ljungdahl pathway employed by autotrophic acetogenic bacteria. *CoFeS-P* corrinoid-iron-sulfur protein, 2 [H] reducing equivalents, *Pi* inorganic phosphate, *THF* tetrahydrofolate



 Table 1
 Flavin-based and ferredoxin-dependent electron bifurcation and confurcation enzyme complexes in autotrophic acetogens

Enzyme complex	Reaction catalyzed	Organism	References
NAD <sup>+</sup> -specific [FeFe]- hydrogenase (HydABC(D))	$3 H^{+} + NADH + Fd^{2-}$ $\Rightarrow 2 H_{2} + NAD^{+} + Fd_{ox}$	A. woodii M. thermoacetica	[80, 81]
ferredoxin:NADP <sup>+</sup> oxidoreductase (NfnAB)	$2 \text{ NADP}^{+} + \text{ NADH} + \text{Fd}^{2-} + \text{H}^{+}$ $\Rightarrow 2 \text{ NADPH} + \text{ NAD}^{+} + \text{Fd}_{\text{ox}}$	M. thermoacetica	[82]
caffeyl-CoA reductase (CarCDE)	caffeyl-CoA + 2 NADH + Fd <sub>ox</sub> $\rightarrow$ 2,3- dihydroxyphenylpropionyl- CoA + 2 NAD <sup>+</sup> + Fd <sup>2-</sup>	A. woodii	[83]
NADP <sup>+</sup> -specific [FeFe]-hydrogenase/ formate dehydrogenase (HytA-E/FdhA)	$\begin{aligned} \text{NADPH} + \text{Fd}^{2-} + \text{H}^+ \\ + 2 \text{ CO}_2 &\rightleftharpoons \text{NADP}^+ \\ + \text{Fd}_{\text{ox}} + 2 \text{ formate} \end{aligned}$	C. autoethanogenum	[84]
Lactate dehydroge- nase/electron-transfer flavoprotein	Lactate + $Fd^{2-}$ + 2 NAD <sup>+</sup> $\rightarrow$ pyruvate + $Fd_{ox}$ + 2 NADH	A. woodii	[85]

however, might only be the tip of the iceberg, as several other reactions might be candidates for such a mechanism. In principle, respective enzymes couple the exergonic reduction of a substrate with NADH to the endergonic reduction of ferredoxin with NADH. Similarly, flavin-based electron confurcation has been demonstrated in *A. woodii* in the case of lactate utilization (Table 1). Endergonic lactate oxidation with NAD<sup>+</sup> as oxidant is driven at the expense of simultaneous exergonic electron flow from reduced ferredoxin to NAD<sup>+</sup> [85].

Key to energy conservation under autotrophic conditions is the generation of reduced ferredoxin from  $H_2$ . This reduced ferredoxin can be reoxidized at the membrane-bound Rnf complex, simultaneously reducing NAD<sup>+</sup> to NADH. This exergonic reaction is coupled to pumping of either H<sup>+</sup> or Na<sup>+</sup> across the membrane. A proton gradient is, for example, formed in *C. ljungdahlii* [29] and then used for ATP generation by an H<sup>+</sup>-dependent ATPase. On the other hand, the Rnf complex of *A. woodii* pumps a sodium cation [87] and uses the Na<sup>+</sup> gradient by an Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent ATPase for ATP formation [24].

In *M. thermoacetica*, cytochromes and quinones are present, indicating the presence of an electron-transport chain across the membrane. Such a chain might also involve iron-sulfur and flavoproteins, which are present in *M. thermoacetica* as well. A tentative scheme for generation of a proton gradient has been proposed [34].

A third possibility for energy conservation is the presence of an energyconserving hydrogenase (Ech) catalyzing the reversible oxidation of reduced ferredoxin with protons to hydrogen, thereby generating a proton or Na<sup>+</sup> gradient. Such membrane-associated enzymes have been found in several H<sub>2</sub>-consuming, as well as H<sub>2</sub>-producing, archaea and bacteria [79], for example, in *M. thermoacetica*. As this organism also forms cytochromes and quinone, the physiological role of the two systems still requires elucidation. Are both contributing to the generation of an ion gradient or only one and, in that case, which one? A recent hypothesis proposed to separate acetogens based on the presence of either *rnf* or *ech* genes [26]. Although in *M. thermoacetica* this proposal cannot yet be clearly verified (cytochrome plus quinone and also *ech* genes), in *T. kivui* (a thermophilic autotrophic acetogen) only *ech* genes could be detected [63]. Further genome comparisons revealed that indeed the presence of *rnf* and *ech* genes in autotrophic acetogens seem to be mutually exclusive [22].

Finally, the reduction step from methylene-tetrahydrofolate (THF) to methyl-THF is highly exergonic and irreversible under physiological conditions (DG0' = -22 kJ/mol) [88]. This methylene-THF reductase could thus be another site, which is coupled to electron transport or electron bifurcation, as speculated for *M. thermoacetica* [34] and *C. ljungdahlii* [14]. Indeed, electron bifurcation with endergonic reduction of a still unknown receptor has been shown in *M. thermoacetica* [89], whereas in *A. woodii* an additional energy conservation during this reaction has been excluded [26].

In general, autotrophic acetogens do not possess many possibilities for ATP generation and are operating at the thermodynamic limit of life. This is an important aspect for metabolic engineering of novel pathways in these organisms. Syntheses, demanding a high amount of ATP, are unlikely to function well in this group of bacteria.

## 4 Genetic Methods and Metabolic Engineering

The full potential of acetogens as a chassis for the production of a wide range of chemicals and biofuels may be realized through the implementation of metabolic engineering strategies. These are reliant on the availability of effective gene tools and gene transfer procedures. The first anaerobic acetogen to undergo genetic modification studies successfully was C. difficile [90], although at the time its classification as an acetogen was not known, and mutation studies were primarily concerned with elucidation of virulence pathways and mechanisms. Plasmid transfer by conjugative methods from *Escherichia coli* donors was demonstrated using an indigenous Gram-positive replicon (pCD6) from C. difficile [90]. Subsequently, a range of directed mutagenesis methods were developed and implemented in C. difficile, including the ClosTron [91, 92], which utilizes a directed mobile group II intron from the *ltrB* gene of *Lactococcus lactis*, generating targeted insertional mutants, selectable by acquisition of antibiotic resistance. The nature of the mechanism of insertion of the intron means that such insertional mutants are completely stable, and host antibiotic resistance can only occur through chromosomal insertion of the group II intron. ClosTron technology allows for the rapid generation of insertional gene knockouts and has been found to be widely applicable within the genus Clostridium, including the homoacetogens for which a DNA transfer method, electroporation, or conjugative plasmid transfer from E. coli donors, has been established. Implementation of the ClosTron has been demonstrated in both C. ljungdahlii [unpublished data] and C. autoethanogenum [89].

The first anaerobic acetogen for which a genetic modification system was specifically designed with a view to creating a microbial platform for chemical synthesis was C. ljungdahlii. A relatively low frequency electroporation transformation procedure was described using the Clostridium-E. coli shuttle vector pIMP1, and heterologous expression of the *Clostridium acetobutylicum* butanol synthesis pathway genes thlA, hbd, crt, bcd, adhE, and bdhA (encoding thiolase, 3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase, crotonase, butyryl-CoA dehydrogenase, bifunctional butanol/butyraldehyde dehydrogenase, and butanol dehydrogenase, respectively) was demonstrated [14]. This recombinant strain was shown to be capable of producing butanol, albeit at a low (2 mM) concentration in the exponential growth phase in batch culture. The low concentrations of butanol observed were shown to be caused by the organism's ability to metabolize 1-butanol to butyrate. Nevertheless, this proof of principle experiment represented an important step towards the establishment of the first acetogenic microbial platform, with a system capable of heterologous expression of metabolic pathway genes, although knockouts of native genes had not yet been demonstrated.

Subsequently, the transformation procedure was optimized, and frequency was improved to a level where homologous recombination methods for directed chromosomal knockouts using suicide plasmids became possible [30]. A chromosomal 'clean' deletion of the gene fliA, encoding a putative sigma factor involved in flagella biosynthesis, demonstrated the growing potential for *C. ljungdahlii* as a

model platform organism for gas fermentation based systems. More recently, it was shown that heterologous genes could be introduced in a stable manner into the chromosome from a plasmid through isolation of double crossover mutants using homologous recombination cassettes, delivered by suicide vectors, in this instance encoding enzymes required for butyrate production as proof of principle [93]. After a number of metabolic pathway modifications, this recombinant strain developed was shown to redirect carbon and electron flow significantly towards the production of butyrate. Carbon and electron yields in butyrate were approximately 50% with  $H_2$  as the electron donor, and 70% with CO [93]. This development represents a crucial component of the genetics toolkit, as it allows the generation of production strains, with metabolic pathways modified through expression of synthetic and heterologous genes, which require no antibiotic selective pressure for maintenance.

A useful recent addition to the tools available for manipulation of genetic pathways was the implementation of an inducible promoter system originally shown to be effective in *C. perfringens* [94], and later in the solventogenic bacterium *C. acetobutylicum* [95], based around the native lactose operon present in *Clostridium perfringens*. Inducible promoters have a broad range of applications, including gene complementation studies, adjustable modulation of protein expression, and transposon mutagenesis studies. This system consists of the constitutively expressed transcriptional activator *bgaR*, encoding a protein that binds to and activates the *bgaL* ( $\beta$ -galactosidase) promoter when in the presence of lactose. Adaptation of this system from *C. acetobutylicum* involved the exchange of a Gram-positive replicon on the plasmid for one that had previously been shown to function well in *C. ljungdahlii*, and the system was exemplified through inducible upregulation of the native *adhE1* gene (encoding a bifunctional ethanol/acetalde-hyde dehydrogenase), such that expression was shown to be 30 times higher than in the wild type organism [96].

The combined ability to modify native pathways through directed clean mutagenesis, and introduce stable heterologous genes into the chromosome, alongside the development of an inducible promoter system, further reinforces the importance of *C. ljungdahlii* as a forerunner model platform acetogen for the production of high value chemicals from synthesis gas.

*A. woodii* was the first autotrophic acetogen to be investigated in detail, and as such the native organism is well-characterized, with its energy conservation pathways amongst the best understood of all acetogens [26, 97, 98]. Plasmid transfer has been demonstrated into *A. woodii* via both conjugative transfer from an *E. coli* host strain and by electroporation [99]. The electroporation procedure was improved through adaptation of the refined protocol for *C. ljungdahlii* [14], and plasmid-based heterologous expression of selected theoretical bottlenecks in the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway was employed to increase metabolic flow and thus yields of acetate produced by the first engineered strain of *A. woodii* [100]. In a pH-controlled batch process, acetate concentrations in the recombinant strains reached a maximum of 51 g/L after 3.7 days, compared to the reference strain whose acetate concentrations reached 44.7 g/L under equivalent conditions [100]. Further genetic tools are currently in development for this organism.

A comprehensive range of tools for the moderately thermophilic acetogen *M. thermoacetica* has also recently been implemented, making use of a uracil auxotrophic mutant strain as a screening tool for successful double crossover homologous recombination events, and consequent insertion of heterologous genes into the host chromosome [101]. The system was developed through elucidation of a successful electroporation strategy which allowed integration of a methylated vector containing a knockout cassette targeting the gene pyrF, part of the uracil biosynthesis pathway. A double crossover deletion mutant was obtained through serial screening of isolated single colonies, and its uracil auxotroph phenotype confirmed. This strain can become the base strain for chromosomal insertion of synthetic and heterologous genes using plasmids which couple the repair of pyrFand alleviation of uracil auxotrophy to the insertion of foreign DNA. A lactate dehydrogenase gene from Thermoanaerobacter pseudethanolicus was inserted into the chromosome of *M. thermoacetica* under control of a native promoter as a proof of concept experiment, and synthesis of lactate was observed in the organism for the first time. When grown on basal media supplemented with fructose, lactate concentrations of 6.8 mM were observed in batch culture, whereas the wild type organism was unable to produce a detectable concentration.

Subsequently, a novel strain of *M. thermoacetica* (Y72) was isolated [102], and its frequency of transformation was shown to be approximately 20 times that of the ATCC 39073 strain, hypothesized to be because of the reduced number of copies of the native restriction–modification system. More recently, a novel thermostable kanamycin resistance marker ( $kan^R$ ), derived from a plasmid harbored by *Strepto-coccus faecalis*, was shown to be functional within *M. thermoacetica* [103], further expanding the rapidly growing genetic toolkit available for those wishing to develop a thermophilic acetogenic platform.

A further method likely to figure prominently in acetogens in the coming years is a method, now termed Allele-Coupled Exchange (ACE), which allows the rapid insertion of heterologous DNA of any size or complexity into the genome [104]. The system is designed so that, following integration of the plasmid by single-crossover recombination, the desired second recombination event leads to a plasmid-borne allele becoming 'coupled' to a genome-located allele, and the creation of a new selectable allele that facilitates the isolation of double-crossover cells. The order of recombination events is dictated by the use of highly asymmetric homology arms. A long homology arm (e.g., 1,200 base pairs) directs the first recombination event (plasmid integration) and a much shorter homology arm (e.g., 300 base pairs) directs the second recombination event (plasmid excision). A number of different genetic loci may be used to insert heterologous DNA via ACE. One of the most useful exemplifications of the method exploits the native pyrE gene. During the procedure this gene is inactivated by replacement of the wild-type allele with a mutant allele lacking approximately 300 base pairs from the 3' end of *pyrE*. The *pyrE* gene encodes orotate phosphoribosyltransferase, which, in common with PyrF, is an enzyme involved in pyrimidine biosynthesis. One of its most useful features is that it can be used as both a positive and a negative selection marker. This is because the presence of a functional allele is essential in the absence of exogenous uracil, whereas the presence of a non-functional allele renders cells sensitive to 5-fluoroorotate (FOA). Accordingly, a heterologous pyrE gene can be used as a counter-selection marker in a pyrE minus background in an equivalent manner to pyrF [105]. Its use as a counter-selection marker was demonstrated in two different strains of C. difficile using a heterologous pyrE allele from Clostrid*ium sporogenes* [106]. Crucially, however, the design of the created uracil auxotroph strain is such that its mutant pyrE allele can be rapidly restored (2 days in the case of C. difficile) to wild-type using an appropriate ACE correction vector. This allows any specific in-frame deletion mutant made to be characterized in a clean, wild-type background. Furthermore, this facility provides the parallel opportunity to complement the mutant at an appropriate gene dosage through insertion of a wild-type copy of the inactivated gene, under the control of either its native promoter or the strong  $P_{fdx}$  promoter (derived from the ferredoxin gene of C. sporogenes), concomitant with restoration of the pyrE allele back to wild-type [106]. The suite of ACE vectors needed for the manipulation of the genomes of C. ljungdahlii and C. autoethanogenum have now been assembled and exemplified in both acetogens [unpublished data].

## 5 Fermentation

## 5.1 Fermentation Overview and Routes

Gas fermentations are fundamentally different from sugar fermentations in that the gaseous substrate has to be supplied continuously at high rates, and cannot be added to the media before the start of a fermentation run. As such, gas fermentations are most suitable as fed-batch or continuous process, whereas sugar fermentations are typically operated as batch or fed-batch processes. Continuous sugar fermentations are typically hampered by contamination problems, with other microorganisms thriving on the sugar substrate. Given that only a few organisms can effectively grow on one-carbon substrates and CO is toxic or at least inhibitory to most microorganisms, the threat of microbial contamination does not pose as great a limitation for gas fermentations. The product spectrum of gas fermentations is dictated by some degree by which substrate combination is used.

#### 5.1.1 CO, CO + $H_2$ , and CO/CO<sub>2</sub> + $H_2$

Most gas fermentation work to date has been carried out on CO-containing gas streams. The reduced substrate CO acts as both carbon and energy source, thus providing sufficient energy to synthesize even reduced products such as ethanol, butanol, 2,3-butanediol, or isopropanol.

## 5.1.2 CO<sub>2</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>

In contrast to CO,  $CO_2$  can only act as carbon source but not as energy source, and  $H_2$  is required for fixation of  $CO_2$ . Most reports on fermentations with  $CO_2$  and  $H_2$  describe acetic acid as sole fermentation product, but production of ethanol [89] or other products such as acetone [9] has also been described.

#### 5.1.3 Microbial Electrosynthesis (MES)

 $CO_2$  fixation has also been demonstrated in the absence of hydrogen when an electric current is supplied. In this so-called microbial electrosynthesis (MES) concept, the bacteria grow on a cathode. This has been shown for several acetogenic species including *C. ljungdahlii*, *C. aceticum*, *M. thermoacetica*, and two *Sporomusa* species with a high efficiency of over 80% [107]. *Acetobacterium woodii*, which is sodium- rather than proton–dependent, was unable to consume current. There are several excellent reviews that cover all aspects of microbial electrosynthesis in detail [108–111].

#### 5.1.4 Acetogenic Mixotrophy

As a route to very energy intense products (e.g., isoprene) and still having maximized carbon utilization, a concept called acetogenic (anaerobic, non-photosynthetic; ANP) mixotrophy has been proposed where gases and carbohydrates are consumed at the same time [112].

## 5.1.5 Carboxylic Acid Conversion

Acetogens such as *C. autoethanogenum*, *C. ljungdahlii*, and *C. ragsdalei* have been demonstrated to convert effectively a range of carboxylic acids as acetic acid, propionic acid, butyric acid, valeric acid, and caproic acid into their respective alcohols in the presence of CO [113–115]. This may be integrated with a carboxylate fermentation platform [116].

## 5.2 Fermentation Control Parameters and Optimization

Parameters that can be used to monitor gas fermentations differ from those for aerobic fermentations. Although, in aerobic fermentations, dissolved oxygen  $(dO_2)$  is a key parameter to monitor and control the process, this cannot be used in gas fermentations because of the lack of readily available technologies for the measurement of dissolved CO and routine indirect assays are arduous. Instead, one

needs to rely on indirect gas measurements to monitor the fermentation in addition to biomass and metabolite as well as oxidation reduction potential (ORP) measurements to track the progress of a fermentation run.

Inlet and outlet gas measurements can give a direct indication of the fermentation status and show whether the microbes are readily utilizing the feed gas. As an example, in a fermentation of CO-rich gas to ethanol and acetate, the  $CO_2/CO$  ratio can give an indication of the metabolic outcome of the supplied gas:

$$\begin{array}{ll} 4\text{CO} + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow 1\text{CH}_3\text{COOH} + 2\text{CO}_2 & \text{CO}_2/\text{CO}\text{ ratio} \\ &= 0.50 & - \text{ Acetate as a major product} \\ \\ 6\text{CO} + 3\text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow 1\text{CH}_3\text{CH}_2\text{OH} + 4\text{CO}_2 & \text{CO}_2/\text{CO}\text{ ratio} \\ &= 0.66 & - \text{ Ethanol as a major product} \end{array}$$

Gas supply to the culture can be altered by changing the parameters that control gas to liquid mass transfer, including gas feed rate, liquid agitation rate, or pressure. In addition, typical control parameters such as temperature and pH must be controlled to maintain the state of the fermentation and the metabolite profile.

#### 5.2.1 pH

pH is one of the key parameters that needs to be controlled during a fermentation. Acetogens, as do other organisms, have a pH range in which growth is optimal and the cells are metabolically active. Given the phylogenetically diverse nature of acetogens [117], there are both acetogens that have a low pH optimum and those that prefer a higher pH range (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Reported pH optimum for acetogens considered for industrial applications. *C. autoethanogenum* [50], *C. ljungdahlii* [27], *C. ragsdalei* (P11) [118], *C. carboxidivorans* (P7) [59], *B. methylotrophicum* [38], *A. bacchi* [64], *E. limosum* [119], *A. woodii* [5], *M. thermoacetica* [120], *T. kivui* [61], and *C. aceticum* [6]

Typically, solventogenic acetogens have a lower pH optimum than those that only produce acetic acid (homoacetogens), although this is not always true (see, e.g., *A. bacchi*). At lower pH, acetic acid is more toxic for the cells as more undissociated acid is present which can pass through the membrane and enter into the cell, where it can dissociate again and disrupt the proton gradient across the membrane. The maintenance of this proton gradient is required for energy conservation and several transport mechanisms.

As such, lowering the pH in the medium can lead to a shift from acidogenesis to solventogenesis, allowing increased production of ethanol and other highly reduced products [121, 122]. This was investigated by Gaddy and Clausen using *C. ljungdahlii* growing in a two-stage Continuous Stirred-Tank Reactor (CSTR) system, where the pH of the first reactor was set to pH 5 to promote cell growth and that of the second reactor to pH 4–4.5 to promote ethanol production [123]. A similar strategy was recently also investigated for *C. autoethanogenum* [124] and it has been demonstrated that a set-up with a smaller first stage and a larger second stage could also be a feasible option [125]. In the case of *C. autoethanogenum*, a pH around 4.75 was found optimal for ethanol formation [126, 127], whereas for *C. ragsdalei* a pH below pH 6 was not associated with high ethanol production [128].

Routine and continuous online monitoring the pH trend during the fermentation gives an instant understanding of the state of the fermentation process, as it is an indication of the metabolites the bacteria are producing. For example, a drop in the pH would indicate acetate production. Maintaining a relatively constant pH is important and adjustment of the fermentation pH is therefore critical to avoid a crash.

The pH range of the organism should also be considered when introducing and optimizing fermentation conditions for heterologous enzymes to match the pH optimum best.

#### 5.2.2 Temperature

Temperature is also an important parameter as it influences the microbial activity as well as the gas solubility, which increases with decreasing temperature [128]. Most acetogens are mesophilic that grow best between 30 and 40°C, but there are also thermophilic acetogens such as *M. thermoacetica* [120] or *T. kivui* [61] that grow best between 55 and 75°C.

Lowering the temperature may also help to increase tolerance towards solvents. For *C. ragsdalei* (P11), ethanol production was higher at a temperature of 32°C than at its optimum growth temperature of 37°C [128].

#### 5.2.3 Gas Supply

Both CO and  $H_2$  are not very soluble gases. Although different reactor designs are being developed to address the mass transfer issue (see Sect. 6), most fermentation

development work is carried out either in bottles or in CSTRs. The gas supply in such systems can be increased via the gas feed rate or loading, agitation or shaking, or by pressure.

The partial pressure has a big influence on the microbial growth and metabolism [129]. In a study with *C. carboxidivorans* (P7), an increase in partial pressure of CO ( $P_{CO}$ ) from 0.35 to 2.0 atm led to a maximum cell concentration, an increase in ethanol production, and a decrease in acetate production [130]. In organisms that are more sensitive to CO, such as *Blautia producta* [131] and *E. limosum* [45], a prolonged doubling time has been observed when the partial pressure of CO was increased. Up to a pressure of 1.6 atm, a linear relationship between the reaction rate and CO partial pressure was observed, but at a pressure of 2.5 atm the culture failed to utilize CO after an initial period of CO uptake [132]. It was hypothesized that this might be because of CO toxicity, caused by insufficient cell concentrations resulting from a failure to keep the reaction at a mass transfer limit stage. Therefore, high CO pressure could be applied once a sufficient cell concentration is achieved. By gradually increasing the pressure applied to a culture, these researchers were able to achieve a CO partial pressure of 10 atm [132].

A model for hydrogen partial pressure  $(pH_2)$  for syngas fermentation has been established for *C. ragsdalei* (P11) [133]. In *A. woodii*, the effect of hydrogen partial pressure on CO<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> fermentation was investigated. It was shown that acetate productivities increased linearly with pH<sub>2</sub> between 400 and 1,700 mbar with a maximal acetate productivity of 1.6 g<sub>acetate</sub>/g<sub>cdw</sub>/day and a final acetate concentration of 44 g/L after 11 days [134]. In a follow up study, rates up to 147.8 g/L/day has been demonstrated in continuous fermentations at a dilution rate of 0.35/h [135].

#### 5.2.4 Media Formulation

During gas fermentation, acetogens consume CO and  $CO_2 + H_2$  as carbon and energy sources. Beside carbon, all bacteria need other elements such as nitrogen, sulfur, phosphorus, trace minerals and metals, vitamins, and reducing agents for synthesis of cell materials and products. Several media optimization studies have been carried out for acetogens including *C. autoethanogenum* [126, 136–138], *C. ljungdahlii* [122], *C. ragsdalei* (P11) [57, 128, 139–144], *C. aceticum* [145], and *Moorella thermoacetica* [146, 147] with the aim of increasing growth and product formation and establishing a defined or least-cost media.

A study by Phillips and Gaddy on *C. ljungdahlii* showed that, by reducing the B vitamin concentration and by eliminating yeast extract, a maximum concentration of 48 and 23 g/L of ethanol could be achieved in a CSTR with and without cell recycling, respectively [122].

Beside vitamins, trace metal concentrations were found to have a significant influence on growth and product formation as many of the enzymes involved in the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway and ethanol formation require metal co-factors including rare metals such as selenium and tungsten [148, 149]. Nickel, for example, is an important co-factor for enzymes such as CO dehydrogenase and acetyl-CoA synthase [150]. The use of nickel has been shown to improve CO uptake and

ethanol production in a variety of acetogens [137]. The effect of various trace metal ions on growth and ethanol production in *C. ragsdalei* was investigated and it has been observed that the removal of  $Cu^{2+}$  from the medium and increasing concentrations of Ni<sup>2+</sup>, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, SeO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>, and WO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> had a positive effect on ethanol production [57].

As a low redox potential is required for strict anaerobes to grow, reducing agents such as titanium(III) citrate, cysteine, sodium sulfide, and sodium thioglycolate are commonly added to the fermentation medium and are shown to bring about an increase in solvent formation [127, 140, 151–153]. A study on *C. ragsdalei* showed that addition of methyl viologen promoted solventogenesis, where 1.3 g/L of ethanol was produced compared to 0.51 g/L without the addition of any reducing agent [140].

#### 5.2.5 Inoculum

Inoculum preparation is important to ensure a quick start up and achieve maximum production rates as fast as possible and without a lag phase. For *C. ljungdahlii*, it was shown that pre-adaptation is important and the presence of gas in pre-adapted cultures led to better ethanol overall production [154] and in *C. ragsdalei* (P11) a positive effect on ethanol production was observed from heat shocking the cells prior to inoculation [155].

## 6 Mass Transfer and Reactor Optimization

Mass transfer is a major challenge in gas fermentation. Transferring the gaseous substrate to the reaction site in the cell is complex and involves a series of resistances at a micro scale: the resistance encountered when the gaseous substrate passes through the gas-liquid interface, during dispersion through the fermentation media, during the diffusion of the gaseous substrate through the microbial membrane, and the intracellular resistance through to the reaction site. The major mass transfer resistance for sparingly soluble gases such as CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, and H<sub>2</sub> is encountered when diffusing through the gas–liquid interface [129]. This resistance can be overcome either by increasing the surface to volume ratio of gas bubbles or by reducing the resistance at the gas–liquid interface by minimizing the surface tension [131].

Surface tension can be reduced by addition of chemicals such as detergents, surfactants, solvents, or polymers [131, 156], and several studies have demonstrated that mass transfer can be enhanced by addition of functionalized nanoparticles or catalysts that can absorb and then release the CO to the fermentation broth [157, 158].

In addition, a variety of bioreactor configurations have been investigated to address these challenges. Techniques used in different reactor configurations to enhance mass transfer include optimizing pressure, fluid flow rates and patterns, the use of microbubbles, and the use of various impeller designs to facilitate shearing and break-up of gas bubbles. The main types of reactors currently being considered for gas fermentation include Continuous Stirred Tank Reactors (CSTR), Trickle Bed Reactors (TBR), Bubble Column Reactors (BCR), Membrane Bioreactors (MBR), and Moving Bed Biofilm Reactors (MMSB), which are discussed in detail below.

One main objective of bioreactor optimization is to enhance mass transfer rates, at the same time lowering operational costs to allow the process to be scaled up to commercially viable production levels. Therefore, the performance of a reactor design should be measured based on the volumetric mass transfer coefficient per unit power input ( $k_La/P_g$ ). Several studies have modeled and compared performance of these reactor types for gas fermentation [132, 159–161] and a few studies have also explored use of a combination of different reactor types [125].

Further improvements can come from cell recycling to increase the number of cells in a reactor and gas recycling to utilize gas most efficiently. Cell recycling has been shown to be effective for increasing ethanol concentrations in gas fermentations [122], but also adds cost to the process, although gas recycling can increase the gas retention time and utilization efficiency [125].

## 6.1 Continuous Stirred-Tank Reactors (CSTR)

The CSTR uses a rotating impeller to break up gas bubbles, thus reducing the volume of individual bubbles and increasing the overall surface area of bubbles (the gas–liquid interfacial area). CSTRs are the most extensively used reactor type in gas fermentation. Although many studies have reported higher cell concentrations and product yield with increase in impeller speed, the high input of energy per unit volume in these reactors makes them economically challenging for large scale production processes.

## 6.2 Trickle Bed Reactors (TBR)

Trickle bed reactors are columns packed with inert packing material and fed with gas streams and media in either concurrent or counter flow configurations. Gas flow rate, liquid recirculation rate, and the packing material size are the main factors that affect mass transfer rates in TBRs.

### 6.3 Bubble Column Reactors (BCR)

BCRs employ gas sparging without mechanical agitation to achieve mass transfer. Because of the comparatively low capital and running costs associated with the operation of a BCR, these reactors are considered to be promising candidates for commercial scale operation of gas fermentation reactions. However, the conversion efficiency of the gas substrate is low in BCRs because of the short gas retention times.

## 6.4 Membrane Bioreactors (MBR) and Moving Bed Biofilm Reactors (MMSB)

MBRs are a class of reactors that employs membranes to facilitate the formation of a biofilm. A subclass of MBRs known as Modular Membrane Supported Bioreactors (MMSB) consists of multiple modules of hollow fibers (also known as Hollow Fiber membrane Reactors—HFR) made up of microporous or non-porous membranes. The substrate gases are introduced into the hollow compartments of the fibers and the microbial cells are attached to the outer surface of the membrane. These fibers are then immersed in growth media and contained within an outer shell. Because of their large surface area to volume ratio, MBRs have very efficient mass transfer rates, but a major disadvantage in this type of reactors is a phenomenon called pore wetting. This occurs when the media in contact with the outer surface of the hollow fibers enter into the lumen through the membrane because of a pressure drop within the fibers. This may be overcome by incorporating a liquidimpermeable layer, such as silicone coating, onto the membranes, stopping the liquid media from entering the fibers even when the inside pressure drops. Another disadvantage is that the cells first need to be immobilized.

## 7 Scale-Up and Commercialization

Most of the studies reported in the scientific literature were carried out on benchtop/lab-scale bioreactors which were less than 10 L in volume, with exception of a study with *C. ragsdalei* (P11) in a 100-L pilot scale fermenter fed by a gasifier at the Oklahoma State University [162]. In addition, three companies—INEOS Bio, Coskata, and LanzaTech—are operating gas fermentations at a larger scale and are working on commercialization of this new technology.

## 7.1 Process Integration

Several things need to be considered when scaling up a gas fermentation process. From integration with gas sources, through efficient reactor design (as discussed in Sect. 6), to integration with downstream processes as distillation or other separation technologies and the use of process water and bulk chemicals as well as water recycling.

A wide range of readily available gas sources can be considered as feedstock for gas fermentation, such as industrial waste gases such as off-gases from steel mills (>1.4 billion metric tonnes/year) or ferroalloys that are mainly composed of CO, reformed methane (biogas or natural gas; >180 Tera m<sup>3</sup>/year that is mainly composed of CO and H<sub>2</sub>), or syngas (composed of varying concentrations of CO,  $H_2$ , and  $CO_2$ ) from biomass (>1.3 billion metric tonnes/year in the US only) or municipal solid waste MSW (>2 billion metric tonnes/year). These often contain trace amount of impurities such as different sulfur species (H<sub>2</sub>S, SO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>x</sub>, COS), nitrogen species (NH<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub>), BTEX species (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes), methane, HCl, HCN, acetylene, naphthalene, phenol, light hydrocarbons, metal species (arsenic, vanadium, bromide, copper, iodide, chromium), and tar [163, 164]. Although acetogenic bacteria are generally much more tolerant to such impurities in the gases than chemical catalysts and can even utilize some of these impurities, such as certain sulfur, nitrogen, and metal species [165–167], it is important to track these and monitor the productivity of the fermentation process in response to contaminants in the gas streams. If certain impurities in the feed gas are present in too high concentrations, they have been shown to cause reduced cell growth, lower production rates, and even cell dormancy [168, 169].

Impurities such as NO<sub>x</sub> and acetylene are known to be potent irreversible inhibitors of hydrogenase enzyme activity [170, 171]. Any inhibition of the hydrogenase activity thus results in cells obtaining electrons from CO rather than H<sub>2</sub>, leading to reduced availability of CO as a carbon source for ethanol formation. CO itself is also known to be a competitive inhibitor of hydrogenase and it has been shown that in *B. methylotrophicum* the utilization of H<sub>2</sub> is inhibited until CO is exhausted [43]. CO inhibition has also been investigated for the Hyt hydrogenase of *C. autoethanogenum*; the K<sub>i</sub> for reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> to formate was 0.3% CO [172].

Recent studies with *C. carboxidivorans* have shown the effects of inhibitors can be mitigated by cleaning the syngas using gas scrubbers or cyclones and a filter prior to introduction into the fermenter [169].

#### 7.2 Commercial Projects

INEOS Bio, Coskata, and LanzaTech have all operated pilot and demonstration plants for extended periods of time and INEOS Bio and LanzaTech are currently scaling up their processes to a commercial scale.

INEOS Bio [173], a subsidiary of major chemical company INEOS (which acquired technology developed by gas fermentation pioneer James L. Gaddy of the University of Arkansas in Fayetteville in 2008), has built an 8 million gallons/ year semi-commercial facility in Vero Beach, FL operated as New Plant Energy (NPE) Holding, LLC [174]. Construction of the \$130 million project was completed in 2012 and, after commissioning, INEOS Bio declared mid-2013 that the

plant was online and producing ethanol [175]. The facility uses MSW and generates 6 MW of electrical power. By the end of 2014 there had been reports and a statement from INEOS about problems with impurities such as HCN that were negatively impacting operations, and the commissioning of new equipment to address this problem [176].

LanzaTech [177], a start-up founded in Auckland, New Zealand in 2005 with its global headquarters in Chicago, IL, successfully operated a 100,000-gallon/year pre-commercial plant at one of Baosteel's steel mills outside Shanghai, China in 2012. Using steel-making off-gases as substrate for the fermentation process, all productivity expectations were exceeded and all commercial milestones achieved [178]. In 2013, the company operated a second 100,000-gallon/year pre-commercial plant at a Shougang Steel mill near Beijing, China, LanzaTech's process using steel mill waste gases at this facility has been certified by the Roundtable on Sustainable Biomaterials (RSB) [179]. In April 2015, China Steel Corporation out of Taiwan approved investment in a full LanzaTech commercial project. A 50,000 metric tonnes (17 million gallons)/year facility is planned for construction in O4 2015, with the intention to scale up to a 100,000 metric tonnes (34 million gallons)/year commercial unit thereafter [180]. In July 2015, the company announced a second commercial project in partnership with ArcelorMittal, the world's leading steel and mining company, and Primetals Technologies, a leading technology and service provider to the iron and steel industry. The 47,000-MT/year facility is to be built at ArcelorMittal's flagship steel plant in Ghent, Belgium, is anticipated to commence later in 2017, with bioethanol production expected to start 2018. The intention is to construct further plants across ArcelorMittal's operations. If scaled up to its full potential in Europe, the technology could enable the production of around 500,000 MT of bioethanol a year [181]. Although the initial product focus is to be industrial ethanol and gasoline additives, plans are for increased product diversity utilizing LanzaTech's unique microbial capability. One example the company is working on is to produce jet fuel and a first demonstration flight in partnership with Virgin Atlantic and HSBC is being prepared [182]. Together with the world's largest nylon producer Invista [183] and Korean energy and petrochemical company SK innovation [184], the company is working on new processes for the production of nylon and rubber precursor butadiene [185] and also has an agreement with major chemical company Evonik Industries for development of precursors to speciality plastics [186]. Evonik has recently announced the first successful production of PLEXIGLAS<sup>®</sup> precursor 2-hydroxyisobutyric acid from syngas [187].

Although Coskata [188], a start-up founded in 2006 in Warrenville, IL, has not yet announced any commercial project, the company has successfully operated a 40,000-gallon ethanol/year semi-commercial facility in Madison, PA over a 2-year period [189] and have recently announced that Elekeiroz, a Brazilian chemical company, has acquired technology rights on their butanol production processes [190].

## 7.3 Barriers to Market

Much of today's legislation was written prior to the development of gas fermentation technologies and does not provide a clear framework for fuels produced from bacterial biomass through recycling waste carbon gases, such as those generated in the process of steel making [191]. Below, an overview is provided of some of the most relevant legislative framework.

## 7.3.1 European Union (EU) Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC (WFD)

This legislation is currently being transposed into member state law, and a proposal to revise the directive is pending withdrawal by the EU commission services. The current definition of waste in article 2(a) excludes gaseous effluents emitted into the atmosphere. The narrow scope of this definition does not allow for innovative solutions such as gas fermentation for fuel production from these gas emissions to benefit from advantages of recycling mentioned in the directive.  $CO/CO_2$  is valuable waste for  $CO_2$  reuse industries and, by including it into the waste definition, solutions such as carbon recycling can benefit from the waste hierarchy where prevention, reuse, and recycling are top priority.  $CO_2$  reuse technologies prevent pollution and at the same time reuse and recycling the carbon, so they fulfill key elements from the waste hierarchy.

#### 7.3.2 Industrial Emissions Directive (IED)

The Industrial Emissions Directive (IED) has superseded the Waste Incineration Directive (WID) of 2000. It is intended to achieve a high level of protection for the environment as a whole from the harmful effects of industrial processes by applying the Best Available Techniques (BAT). Gas fermentation technologies should be recognized as such by offering an alternative to incineration of wastes, flaring of gases, or combustion for power generation at a steel mill.

## 7.3.3 European Union (EU) Carbon Capture and Storage Directive 2009/31/EC

To date, the CCS Directive from 2009 and the renewed strategy focus greatly on CCS, and carbon capture and utilization (CCU) technologies are becoming a reality. Therefore, any future CCS frameworks should also include and help the roll-out of CCU technologies in Europe.

A technology neutral approach is needed to provide a clear legislative framework for gas fermentation technologies in Europe today. Technologies should be qualified by sustainability results, for example by life-cycle assessment (LCA) data and environmental impact on land resources and biodiversity such as a recent report by E4 Tech and Ecofys that compared sustainability implications of different new routes to low carbon fuels [192].

Acknowledgments Work in the authors' laboratories was funded by the ERA-Net IB 5 project CO2CHEM. Work in PD's laboratory was supported by grants from the BMBF Gas-Fermentation project (FKZ 031A468A), the ERA-IB 3 project REACTIF (FKZ 22029612), the MWK-BW project Nachhaltige und effiziente Biosynthesen (AZ 33-7533-6-195/7/9), and the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme for research, technological development, and demonstration under grant agreement no 311815 (SYNPOL project). Work in NPM's laboratory was additionally funded by the BBSRC sLoLa GASCHEM (Grant no. BB/K00283X/1), the BBSRC/EPSRC Synthetic Biology Research Centre (Grant no. BB/L013940/1), and a BBSRC China Partnership Award (Grant no. BB/L01081X/1). LanzaTech thanks the following investors in its technology: Sir Stephen Tindall, Khosla Ventures, Qiming Venture Partners, Softbank China, the Malaysian Life Sciences Capital Fund, Mitsui, Primetals, CICC Growth Capital Fund I, L.P., and the New Zealand Superannuation Fund.

## References

- Fischer F, Lieske R, Winzer K (1932) Biologische Gasreaktionen. II. Mitteilung: Über die Bildung von Essigsäure bei der biologischen Umsetzung von Kohlenoxyd und Kohlensäure mit Wasserstoff zu Methan. Biochem Z 245:2–12
- Wieringa KT (1936) Over het verdwijnen van waterstof en koolzuur onder anaerobe voorwaarden. Ant Leeuwenhoek 3:263–273. doi:10.1007/BF02059556
- 3. Wieringa KT (1940) The formation of acetic acid from carbon dioxide and hydrogen by anaerobic spore-forming bacteria. Ant Leeuwenhoek J Microbiol Serol 6:251–262
- Wieringa KT (1941) Über die Bildung von Essigsäure aus Kohlensäure und Wasserstoff durch anaerobe Bazillen. Brennst-Chem 14:161–164
- Balch WE, Schoberth S, Tanner RS, Wolfe RS (1977) Acetobacterium, a new genus of hydrogen-oxidizing, carbon dioxide-reducing, anaerobic bacteria. Int J Syst Bacteriol 27:355–361. doi:10.1099/00207713-27-4-355
- Braun M, Mayer F, Gottschalk G (1981) *Clostridium aceticum* (Wieringa), a microorganism producing acetic acid from molecular hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Arch Microbiol 128:288–293. doi:10.1007/BF00422532
- 7. Drake HL, Küsel K, Matthies C (2006) Acetogenic prokaryotes. In: Dworkin M, Falkow S, Rosenberg E, et al. (eds) The prokaryotes, 3rd edn. Springer, New York, pp. 354–420
- Drake HL, Gössner AS, Daniel SL (2008) Old acetogens, new light. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125:100–128. doi:10.1196/annals.1419.016
- Schiel-Bengelsdorf B, Dürre P (2012) Pathway engineering and synthetic biology using acetogens. FEBS Lett 586:2191–2198. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2012.04.043
- Bengelsdorf FR, Straub M, Dürre P (2013) Bacterial synthesis gas (syngas) fermentation. Environ Technol 34:1639–1651. doi:10.1080/09593330.2013.827747
- Dürre P, Eikmanns BJ (2015) C1-carbon sources for chemical and fuel production by microbial gas fermentation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 35:63–72. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2015.03. 008
- Poehlein A, Schmidt S, Kaster A-K, et al (2012) An ancient pathway combining carbon dioxide fixation with the generation and utilization of a sodium ion gradient for ATP synthesis. PLoS One 7:e33439. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0033439

- Pierce E, Xie G, Barabote RD, et al (2008) The complete genome sequence of *Moorella* thermoacetica (f. Clostridium thermoaceticum). Environ Microbiol 10:2550–2573. doi:10. 1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01679.x
- 14. Köpke M, Held C, Hujer S, et al (2010) *Clostridium ljungdahlii* represents a microbial production platform based on syngas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:13087–13092. doi:10. 1073/pnas.1004716107
- Bruno-Barcena JM, Chinn MS, Grunden AM (2013) Genome sequence of the autotrophic acetogen *Clostridium autoethanogenum* JA1-1 strain DSM 10061, a producer of ethanol from carbon monoxide. Genome Announc 1:e00628–e00613. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00628-13
- 16. Li N, Yang J, Chai C, et al (2015) Complete genome sequence of *Clostridium carboxidivorans* P7T, a syngas-fermenting bacterium capable of producing long-chain alcohols. J Biotechnol 211:44–45. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2015.06.430
- Poehlein A, Bengelsdorf FR, Schiel-Bengelsdorf B, et al (2015) Complete genome sequence of Rnf- and cytochrome-containing autotrophic acetogen *Clostridium aceticum* DSM 1496. Genome Announc 3:e00786-15. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00786-15
- Roh H, Ko H-J, Kim D, et al (2011) Complete genome sequence of a carbon monoxideutilizing acetogen, *Eubacterium limosum* KIST612. J Bacteriol 193:307–308. doi:10.1128/ JB.01217-10
- Sebaihia M, Wren BW, Mullany P, et al (2006) The multidrug-resistant human pathogen *Clostridium difficile* has a highly mobile, mosaic genome. Nat Genet 38:779–786. doi:10. 1038/ng1830
- 20. Lux MF, Drake HL (1992) Re-examination of the metabolic potentials of the acetogens *Clostridium aceticum* and *Clostridium formicoaceticum*: chemolithoautotrophic and aromatic-dependent growth. FEMS Microbiol Lett 74:49–56
- 21. Adamse A (1980) New isolation of *Clostridium aceticum* (Wieringa). Ant Leeuwenhoek 46:523–531
- 22. Poehlein A, Cebulla M, Ilg MM, et al (2015) The complete genome sequence of *Clostridium aceticum*: a missing link between Rnf- and cytochrome-containing autotrophic acetogens. mBio 6:e01168-15. doi:10.1128/mBio.01186-15
- 23. Heise R, Müller V, Gottschalk G (1989) Sodium dependence of acetate formation by the acetogenic bacterium *Acetobacterium woodii*. J Bacteriol 171:5473–5478
- 24. Müller V, Aufurth S, Rahlfs S (2001) The Na<sup>+</sup> cycle in *Acetobacterium woodii*: identification and characterization of a Na<sup>+</sup> translocating  $F_1F_0$ -ATPase with a mixed oligomer of 8 and 16 kDa proteolipids. Biochim Biophys Acta 1505:108–120
- Biegel E, Müller V (2010) Bacterial Na<sup>+</sup>-translocating ferredoxin:NAD<sup>+</sup> oxidoreductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:18138–18142. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010318107
- Schuchmann K, Müller V (2014) Autotrophy at the thermodynamic limit of life: a model for energy conservation in acetogenic bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 12:809–821. doi:10.1038/ nrmicro3365
- 27. Tanner RS, Miller LM, Yang D (1993) *Clostridium ljungdahlii* sp. nov., an acetogenic species in clostridial rRNA homology group I. Int J Syst Bacteriol 43:232–236
- Köpke M, Mihalcea C, Liew F, et al (2011) 2,3-Butanediol production by acetogenic bacteria, an alternative route to chemical synthesis, using industrial waste gas. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:5467–5475. doi:10.1128/AEM.00355-11
- 29. Tremblay P, Zhang T, Dar SA, et al (2012) The Rnf complex of *Clostridium ljungdahlii* is a proton-translocating ferredoxin:NAD<sup>+</sup> oxidoreductase essential for autotrophic growth. mBio 4:e00406-12. doi:10.1128/mBio.00406-12
- 30. Leang C, Ueki T, Nevin KP, Lovley DR (2013) A genetic system for *Clostridium ljungdahlii*: a chassis for autotrophic production of biocommodities and a model homoacetogen. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:1102–1109. doi:10.1128/AEM.02891-12
- 31. Köpke M, Gerth ML, Maddock DJ, et al (2014) Reconstruction of an acetogenic 2,3-butanediol pathway involving a novel NADPH-dependent primary-secondary alcohol dehydrogenase. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:3394–3403. doi:10.1128/AEM.00301-14

- 32. Fontaine FE, Peterson WH, McCoy E, et al (1942) A new type of glucose fermentation by *Clostridium thermoaceticum*. J Bacteriol 43:701–715
- 33. Daniel SL, Hsu T, Dean SI, Drake HL (1990) Characterization of the H<sub>2</sub>- and CO-dependent chemolithotrophic potentials of the acetogens *Clostridium thermoaceticum* and *Acetogenium kivui*. J Bacteriol 172:4464–4471
- 34. Das A, Ljungdahl LG (2003) Electron-transport systems in acetogens. In: Ljungdahl LG, Adams MW, Barton LL, Ferry JG, Johnson MK (eds) Biochemistry and physiology of anaerobic bacteria. Springer, New York, pp. 191–204
- Seifritz C, Daniel SL, Gössner A, Drake HL (1993) Nitrate as a preferred electron sink for the acetogen *Clostridium thermoaceticum*. J Bacteriol 175:8008–8013
- 36. Seifritz C, Drake HL, Daniel SL (2003) Nitrite as an energy-conserving electron sink for the acetogenic bacterium *Moorella thermoacetica*. Curr Microbiol 46:329–333. doi:10.1007/ s00284-002-3830-6
- Fröstl JM, Seifritz C, Drake HL (1996) Effect of nitrate on the autotrophic metabolism of the acetogens *Clostridium thermoautotrophicum* and *Clostridium thermoaceticum*. J Bacteriol 178:4597–4603
- Zeikus JG, Lynd LH, Thompson TE, et al (1980) Isolation and characterization of a new, methylotrophic, acidogenic anaerobe, the marburg strain. Curr Microbiol 3:381–386. doi:10. 1007/BF02601907
- Lynd L, Kerby R, Zeikus JG (1982) Carbon monoxide metabolism of the methylotrophic acidogen *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*. J Bacteriol 149:255–263
- 40. Shen G-J, Shieh J-S, Grethlein AJ, et al (1999) Biochemical basis for carbon monoxide tolerance and butanol production by *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 51:827–832. doi:10.1007/s002530051469
- Grethlein AJ, Worden RM, Jain MK, Datta R (1991) Evidence for production of n-butanol from carbon monoxide by *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*. J Ferment Bioeng 72:58–60. doi:10.1016/0922-338X(91)90147-9
- 42. Worden RM, Grethlein AJ, Jain MK, Datta R (1991) Production of butanol and ethanol from synthesis gas via fermentation. Fuel 70:615–619. doi:10.1016/0016-2361(91)90175-A
- Heiskanen H, Virkajärvi I, Viikari L (2007) The effect of syngas composition on the growth and product formation of *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*. Enzym Microb Technol 41:362–367. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2007.03.004
- 44. Sharak Genthner BR, Davis CL, Bryant MP (1981) Features of rumen and sewage sludge strains of *Eubacterium limosum*, a methanol- and H<sub>2</sub>-CO<sub>2</sub>-utilizing species. Appl Environ Microbiol 42:12–19
- 45. Sharak Genthner BR, Bryant MP (1982) Growth of *Eubacterium limosum* with carbon monoxide as the energy source. Appl Environ Microbiol 43:70–74
- 46. Chang IS, Kim BH, Kim DH, et al (1999) Formulation of defined media for carbon monoxide fermentation by *Eubacterium limosum* KIST612 and the growth characteristics of the bacterium. J Biosci Bioeng 88:682–685. doi:10.1016/S1389-1723(00)87102-9
- 47. Chang IS, Kim D, Kim BH, Lovitt RW (2007) Use of an industrial grade medium and medium enhancing effects on high cell density CO fermentation by *Eubacterium limosum* KIST612. Biotechnol Lett 29:1183–1187. doi:10.1007/s10529-007-9382-x
- 48. Jeong J, Bertsch J, Hess V et al (2015) A model for energy conservation based on genomic and experimental analyses in a carbon monoxide-utilizing, butyrate-forming acetogen, *Eubacterium limosum* KIST612. Appl Environ Microbiol 81:4782–4790. doi: 10.1128/ AEM.00675-15
- 49. Song Y, Cho B-K (2015) Draft genome sequence of chemolithoautotrophic acetogenic butanol-producing *Eubacterium limosum* ATCC 8486. Genome Announc 3:e01564– e01514. doi:10.1128/genomeA.01564-14
- Abrini J, Naveau H, Nyns EJ (1994) *Clostridium autoethanogenum*, sp. nov., an anaerobic bacterium that produces ethanol from carbon monoxide. Arch Microbiol 161:345–351. doi:10.1007/BF00303591

- 51. Brown SD, Nagaraju S, Utturkar S, et al (2014) Comparison of single-molecule sequencing and hybrid approaches for finishing the genome of *Clostridium autoethanogenum* and analysis of CRISPR systems in industrial relevant clostridia. Biotechnol Biofuels 7:40. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-7-40
- 52. Utturkar SM, Klingeman DM, Bruno-Barcena JM, et al (2015) Sequence data for *Clostridium autoethanogenum* using three generations of sequencing technologies. Sci Data 2:150014. doi:10.1038/sdata.2015.14
- 53. Zahn JA, Saxena J, Do Y et al (2010) P155: *Clostridium coskatii*, sp. nov., an anaerobic bacterium that produces ethanol from synthesis gas. 60th annual meeting of the society for industrial microbiology, San Franscisco, CA, August 1st, 2010. https://sim.confex.com/sim/2010/webprogram/Paper16899.html. Accessed 26 Jun 2015
- 54. Zahn JA, Saxena J (2011) Novel ethanologenic *Clostridium* species, *Clostridium coskatii*. US Patent 20110229947 A1
- 55. Saxena J, Zahn JA (2012) A novel ethanologenic *Clostridium* species, *Clostridium coskatii*. Patent WO 2011116124 A3
- Huhnke RL, Lewis RS, Tanner RS (2010) Isolation and characterization of novel clostridial species. US Patent 7704723 B2
- 57. Saxena J, Tanner RS (2011) Effect of trace metals on ethanol production from synthesis gas by the ethanologenic acetogen, *Clostridium ragsdalei*. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 38:513–521. doi:10.1007/s10295-010-0794-6
- Isom CE, Nanny MA, Tanner RS (2015) Improved conversion efficiencies for n-fatty acid reduction to primary alcohols by the solventogenic acetogen "*Clostridium ragsdalei*". J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 42:29–38. doi:10.1007/s10295-014-1543-z
- 59. Liou JS-C, Balkwill DL, Drake GR, Tanner RS (2005) *Clostridium carboxidivorans* sp. nov., a solvent-producing *Clostridium* isolated from an agricultural settling lagoon, and reclassification of the acetogen *Clostridium scatologenes* strain SL1 as *Clostridium drakei* sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 55:2085–2091. doi:10.1099/ijs.0.63482-0
- 60. Phillips JR, Atiyeh HK, Tanner RS, et al (2015) Butanol and hexanol production in *Clostridium carboxidivorans* syngas fermentation: medium development and culture techniques. Bioresour Technol 190:114–121
- Leigh JA, Mayer F, Wolfe RS (1981) Acetogenium kivui, a new thermophilic hydrogenoxidizing acetogenic bacterium. Arch Microbiol 129:275–280. doi:10.1007/BF00414697
- 62. Yang H, Drake HL (1990) Differential effects of sodium on hydrogen- and glucosedependent growth of the acetogenic bacterium *Acetogenium kivui*. Appl Environ Microbiol 56:81–86
- 63. Hess V, Poehlein A, Weghoff MC, et al (2014) A genome-guided analysis of energy conservation in the thermophilic, cytochrome-free acetogenic bacterium *Thermoanaerobacter kivui*. BMC Genomics 15:1139. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-1139
- 64. Allen TD, Caldwell ME, Lawson PA, et al (2010) Alkalibaculum bacchi gen. nov., sp. nov., a CO-oxidizing, ethanol-producing acetogen isolated from livestock-impacted soil. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 60:2483–2489. doi:10.1099/ijs.0.018507-0
- 65. Liu K, Atiyeh HK, Stevenson BS, et al (2014) Mixed culture syngas fermentation and conversion of carboxylic acids into alcohols. Bioresour Technol 152:337–346. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2013.11.015
- 66. Liu K, Atiyeh HK, Stevenson BS, et al (2014) Continuous syngas fermentation for the production of ethanol, n-propanol and n-butanol. Bioresour Technol 151:69–77. doi:10. 1016/j.biortech.2013.10.059
- 67. Lorowitz WH, Bryant MP (1984) *Peptostreptococcus productus* strain that grows rapidly with CO as the energy source. Appl Environ Microbiol 47:961–964
- Misoph M, Drake HL (1996) Effect of CO<sub>2</sub> on the fermentation capacities of the acetogen *Peptostreptococcus productus* U-1. J Bacteriol 178:3140–3145
- 69. Geerligs G, Aldrich HC, Harder W, et al (1987) Isolation and characterization of a carbon monoxide utilizing strain of the acetogen *Peptostreptococcus productus*. Arch Microbiol 148:305–313

- Ma K, Wohlfarth G, Diekert G (1991) Acetate formation from CO and CO<sub>2</sub> by cell extracts of *Peptostreptococcus productus* (strain Marburg). Arch Microbiol 156:75–80
- 71. Bott M, Thauer RK (1989) The active species of "CO<sub>2</sub>" formed by carbon monoxide dehydrogenase from *Peptostreptococcus productus*. Z Naturforsch C 44:392–396
- Freeman J, Bauer MP, Baines SD, et al (2010) The changing epidemiology of *Clostridium difficile* infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 23:529–549. doi:10.1128/CMR.00082-09
- 73. Maier R, Pepper I, Gerba C (2009) Environmental microbiology. Academic Press, San Diego
- 74. Rieu-Lesme F, Dauga C, Fonty G, Dore J (1998) Isolation from the rumen of a new acetogenic bacterium phylogenetically closely related to *Clostridium difficile*. Anaerobe 4:89–94. doi:10.1006/anae.1998.0153
- 75. Köpke M, Straub M, Dürre P (2013) *Clostridium difficile* is an autotrophic bacterial pathogen. PLoS One 8:e62157. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062157
- Russell MJ, Martin W (2004) The rocky roots of the acetyl-CoA pathway. Trends Biochem Sci 29:358–363. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2004.05.007
- 77. Fuchs G (2011) Alternative pathways of carbon dioxide fixation: insights into the early evolution of life? Annu Rev Microbiol 65:631–658
- Herrmann G, Jayamani E, Mai G, Buckel W (2008) Energy conservation via electrontransferring flavoprotein in anaerobic bacteria. J Bacteriol 190:784–791. doi:10.1128/JB. 01422-07
- 79. Buckel W, Thauer RK (2013) Energy conservation via electron bifurcating ferredoxin reduction and proton/Na<sup>+</sup> translocating ferredoxin oxidation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1827:94–113. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.07.002
- Schuchmann K, Müller V (2012) A bacterial electron-bifurcating hydrogenase. J Biol Chem 287:31165–31171. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.395038
- Wang S, Huang H, Kahnt J, et al (2013) A reversible electron-bifurcating ferredoxin- and NAD-dependent [FeFe]-hydrogenase (HydABC) in *Moorella thermoacetica*. J Bacteriol 195:1267–1275. doi:10.1128/JB.02158-12
- 82. Huang H, Wang S, Moll J, et al (2012) Electron bifurcation involved in the energy metabolism of the acetogenic bacterium *Moorella thermoacetica* growing on glucose or H<sub>2</sub> plus CO<sub>2</sub>. J Bacteriol 194:3689–3699. doi:10.1128/JB.00385-12
- Bertsch J, Parthasarathy A, Buckel W, et al (2013) An electron-bifurcating caffeyl-CoA reductase. J Biol Chem 288:11304–11311. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.444919
- 84. Wang S, Huang H, Kahnt J, et al (2013) An NADP-specific electron-bifurcating [FeFe]hydrogenase in a functional complex with formate dehydrogenase in *Clostridium autoethanogenum* grown on CO. J Bacteriol 195:4373–4386. doi:10.1128/JB.00678-13
- Weghoff MC, Bertsch J, Müller V (2015) A novel mode of lactate metabolism in strictly anaerobic bacteria. Environ Microbiol 17:670–677. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12493
- Dürre P (2015) Clostridium. In: Goldman E, Green LH (eds) Practical handbook of microbiology, 3rd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. 467–485
- 87. Müller V, Imkamp F, Biegel E, et al (2008) Discovery of a ferredoxin:NAD<sup>+</sup>-oxidoreductase (Rnf) in *Acetobacterium woodii*: a novel potential coupling site in acetogens. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125:137–146. doi:10.1196/annals.1419.011
- Wohlfarth G, Diekert G (1991) Thermodynamics of methylenetetrahydrofolate reduction to methyltetrahydrofolate and its implications for the energy metabolism of homoacetogenic bacteria. Arch Microbiol 155:378–381. doi:10.1007/BF00243458
- 89. Mock J, Zheng Y, Mueller AP, et al (2015) Energy conservation associated with ethanol formation from H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> in *Clostridium autoethanogenum* involving electron bifurcation. J Bacteriol 197(18):2965–2980. doi:10.1128/JB.00399-15
- 90. Purdy D, O'Keeffe TAT, Elmore M, et al (2002) Conjugative transfer of clostridial shuttle vectors from *Escherichia coli* to *Clostridium difficile* through circumvention of the restriction barrier. Mol Microbiol 46:439–452. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03134.x

- Heap JT, Pennington OJ, Cartman ST, et al (2007) The ClosTron: a universal gene knock-out system for the genus *Clostridium*. J Microbiol Methods 70:452–464. doi:10.1016/j.mimet. 2007.05.021
- Heap JT, Kuehne SA, Ehsaan M, et al (2010) The ClosTron: mutagenesis in *Clostridium* refined and streamlined. J Microbiol Methods 80:49–55. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2009.10.018
- 93. Ueki T, Nevin KP, Woodard TL, et al (2014) Converting carbon dioxide to butyrate with an engineered strain of *Clostridium ljungdahlii*. mBio 5:e01636–e01614. doi:10.1128/mBio. 01636-14
- 94. Hartman AH, Liu HL, Melville SB (2011) Construction and characterization of a lactoseinducible promoter system for controlled gene expression in *Clostridium perfringens*. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:471–478. doi:10.1128/Aem.01536-10
- 95. Al-Hinai MA, Fast AG, Papoutsakis ET (2012) Novel system for efficient isolation of *Clostridium* double-crossover allelic exchange mutants enabling markerless chromosomal gene deletions and DNA integration. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:8112–8121. doi:10.1128/ Aem.02214-12
- 96. Banerjee A, Leang C, Ueki T, et al (2014) Lactose-inducible system for metabolic engineering of *Clostridium ljungdahlii*. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:2410–2416. doi:10.1128/Aem. 03666-13
- 97. Dilling S, Imkamp F, Schmidt S, et al (2007) Regulation of caffeate respiration in the acetogenic bacterium Acetobacterium woodii. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:3630–3636. doi:10.1128/Aem.02060-06
- Imkamp F, Müller V (2002) Chemiosmotic energy conservation with Na<sup>+</sup> as the coupling ion during hydrogen-dependent caffeate reduction by *Acetobacterium woodii*. J Bacteriol 184:1947–1951. doi:10.1128/Jb.184.7.1947-1951.2002
- 99. Strätz M, Sauer U, Kuhn A, et al (1994) Plasmid transfer into the homoacetogen *Acetobacterium woodii* by electroporation and conjugation. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:1033–1037
- 100. Straub M, Demler M, Weuster-Botz D, et al (2014) Selective enhancement of autotrophic acetate production with genetically modified *Acetobacterium woodii*. J Biotechnol 178:67–72. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.03.005
- 101. Kita A, Iwasaki Y, Sakai S, et al (2013) Development of genetic transformation and heterologous expression system in carboxydotrophic thermophilic acetogen *Moorella thermoacetica*. J Biosci Bioeng 115:347–352. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2012.10.013
- 102. Tsukahara K, Kita A, Nakashimada Y, et al (2014) Genome-guided analysis of transformation efficiency and carbon dioxide assimilation by *Moorella thermoacetica* Y72. Gene 535:150–155. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2013.11.045
- 103. Iwasaki Y, Kita A, Sakai S, et al (2013) Engineering of a functional thermostable kanamycin resistance marker for use in *Moorella thermoacetica* ATCC39073. FEMS Microbiol Lett 343:8–12. doi:10.1111/1574-6968.12113
- 104. Heap JT, Ehsaan M, Cooksley CM, et al (2012) Integration of DNA into bacterial chromosomes from plasmids without a counter-selection marker. Nucleic Acids Res 40:e59. doi:10. 1093/nar/gkr1321
- 105. Tripathi SA, Olson DG, Argyros DA, et al (2010) Development of *pyrF*-based genetic system for targeted gene deletion in *Clostridium thermocellum* and creation of a *pta* mutant. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:6591–6599. doi:10.1128/Aem.01484-10
- 106. Ng YK, Ehsaan M, Philip S, et al (2013) Expanding the repertoire of gene tools for precise manipulation of the *Clostridium difficile* genome: allelic exchange using *pyrE* alleles. PLoS One 8:e56051. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056051
- 107. Nevin KP, Hensley SA, Franks AE, et al (2011) Electrosynthesis of organic compounds from carbon dioxide is catalyzed by a diversity of acetogenic microorganisms. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:2882–2886. doi:10.1128/AEM.02642-10
- Rabaey K, Girguis P, Nielsen LK (2011) Metabolic and practical considerations on microbial electrosynthesis. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22:371–377. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2011.01.010

- 109. Lovley DR, Nevin KP (2013) Electrobiocommodities: powering microbial production of fuels and commodity chemicals from carbon dioxide with electricity. Curr Opin Biotechnol 24:385–390. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2013.02.012
- Wang H, Ren ZJ (2013) A comprehensive review of microbial electrochemical systems as a platform technology. Biotechnol Adv 31:1796–1807. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.10.001
- 111. Tremblay P-L, Zhang T (2015) Electrifying microbes for the production of chemicals. Front Microbiol 6:1–10. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00201
- 112. Fast AG, Schmidt ED, Jones SW, Tracy BP (2015) Acetogenic mixotrophy: novel options for yield improvement in biofuels and biochemicals production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33:60–72. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2014.11.014
- 113. Simpson SD, Collet C, Tran PL et al (2009) Microbial alcohol production process. US Patent 8119378 B2
- 114. Perez JM, Richter H, Loftus SE, Angenent LT (2013) Biocatalytic reduction of short-chain carboxylic acids into their corresponding alcohols with syngas fermentation. Biotechnol Bioeng 110:1066–1077. doi:10.1002/bit.24786
- 115. Xie B-T, Liu Z-Y, Tian L, et al (2014) Physiological response of *Clostridium ljungdahlii* DSM 13528 of ethanol production under different fermentation conditions. Bioresour Technol 177:302–307. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.101
- 116. Richter H, Loftus SE, Angenent LT (2013) Integrating syngas fermentation with the carboxylate platform and yeast fermentation to reduce medium cost and improve biofuel productivity. Environ Technol 34:1983–1994. doi:10.1080/09593330.2013.826255
- 117. Müller V, Frerichs J (2013) Acetogenic bacteria. In: Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. doi: 10. 1002/9780470015902.a0020086.pub2
- 118. Huhnke RL, Lewis RS, Tanner RS (2008) Isolation and characterization of novel clostridial species. Patent WO2008/028055
- Sharak Genthner BR, Bryant MP (1987) Additional characteristics of one-carbon-compound utilization by *Eubacterium limosum* and *Acetobacterium woodii*. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:471–476
- Baronofsky JJ, Schreurs WJ, Kashket ER (1984) Uncoupling by acetic acid limits growth of and acetogenesis by *Clostridium thermoaceticum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 48:1134–1139
- 121. Grethlein AJ, Worden RM, Jain MK, Datta R (1990) Continuous production of mixed alcohols and acids from carbon monoxide. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 24/25:875–884. doi:10.1007/BF02920301
- 122. Phillips JR, Klasson KT, Claussen EC, Gaddy JL (1993) Biological production of ethanol from coal synthesis gas. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 39(40):559–571
- 123. Gaddy JL, Claussen EC (1992) *Clostridium ljungdahlii*, an anaerobic ethanol and acetate producing microorganism. US Patent 5173429 A
- 124. Abubackar HN, Veiga MC, Kennes C (2015) Ethanol and acetic acid production from carbon monoxide in a *Clostridium* strain in batch and continuous gas-fed bioreactors. Int J Environ Res Public Health 12:1029–1043. doi:10.3390/ijerph120101029
- 125. Richter H, Martin ME, Angenent LT (2013) A two-stage continuous fermentation system for conversion of syngas into ethanol. Energies 6:3987–4000. doi:10.3390/en6083987
- 126. Guo Y, Xu J, Zhang Y, et al (2010) Medium optimization for ethanol production with *Clostridium autoethanogenum* with carbon monoxide as sole carbon source. Bioresour Technol 101:8784–8789. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.072
- 127. Abubackar HN, Veiga MC, Kennes C (2012) Biological conversion of carbon monoxide to ethanol: effect of pH, gas pressure, reducing agent and yeast extract. Bioresour Technol 114:518–522. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.03.027
- 128. Kundiyana DK, Wilkins MR, Maddipati P, Huhnke RL (2011) Effect of temperature, pH and buffer presence on ethanol production from synthesis gas by "*Clostridium ragsdalei*". Bioresour Technol 102:5794–5799. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.02.032

- 129. Vega JL, Holmberg VL, Clausen EC, Gaddy JL (1988) Fermentation parameters of *Peptostreptococcus productus* on gaseous substrates (CO, H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub>). Arch Microbiol 151:65–70. doi:10.1007/BF00444671
- Hurst KM, Lewis RS (2010) Carbon monoxide partial pressure effects on the metabolic process of syngas fermentation. Biochem Eng J 48:159–165. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2009.09.004
- 131. Gaddy JL, Chen G (1998) Bioconversion of waste biomass to useful products. US Patent US 5821111 A
- Klasson KT, Ackerson MD, Clausen EC, Gaddy JL (1991) Bioreactor design for synthesis gas fermentations. Fuel 70:605–614
- 133. Skidmore BE, Baker RA, Banjade DR, et al (2013) Syngas fermentation to biofuels: effects of hydrogen partial pressure on hydrogenase efficiency. Biomass Bioenergy 55:156–162. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.01.034
- 134. Demler M, Weuster-Botz D (2011) Reaction engineering analysis of hydrogenotrophic production of acetic acid by Acetobacterium woodii. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:470–474. doi:10.1002/bit.22935
- 135. Kantzow C, Mayer A, Weuster-Botz D (2015) Continuous gas fermentation by Acetobacterium woodii in a submerged membrane reactor with full cell retention. J Biotechnol 212:11–18. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2015.07.020
- 136. Cotter JL, Chinn MS, Grunden AM (2009) Influence of process parameters on growth of *Clostridium ljungdahlii* and *Clostridium autoethanogenum* on synthesis gas. Enzym Microb Technol 44:281–288. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2008.11.002
- 137. Simpson SD, Warner IL, Fung JMY, Köpke M (2010) Optimised fermentation media. Patent WO 2010064932 A1
- 138. Abubackar HN, Veiga MC, Kennes C (2015) Carbon monoxide fermentation to ethanol by *Clostridium autoethanogenum* in a bioreactor with no accumulation of acetic acid. Bioresour Technol 186:122–127. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2015.02.113
- 139. Babu BK, Atiyeh HK, Wilkins MR, Huhnke RL (2010) Effect of the reducing agent dithiothreitol on ethanol and acetic acid production by *Clostridium* strain P11 using simulated biomass-based syngas. Biol Eng Trans 3:19–35. doi:10.13031/2013.35924
- 140. Panneerselvam A, Wilkins MR, Delorme MJM, et al (2010) Effects of various reducing agents on syngas fermentation by "Clostridium ragsdalei". Biol Eng 2:135–144. doi:10. 13031/2013.34831
- 141. Kundiyana DK, Huhnke RL, Maddipati P, et al (2010) Feasibility of incorporating cotton seed extract in *Clostridium* strain P11 fermentation medium during synthesis gas fermentation. Bioresour Technol 101:9673–9680. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.07.054
- 142. Phillips JR, Hall A, Remondet NM et al (2011) Designing syngas fermentation medium for fuels and bulk chemicals production. Am Soc Agr Biol Eng Meeting Louisville, Kentucky. doi:10.13031/2013.37400
- 143. Maddipati P, Atiyeh HK, Bellmer DD, Huhnke RL (2011) Ethanol production from syngas by *Clostridium* strain P11 using corn steep liquor as a nutrient replacement to yeast extract. Bioresour Technol 102:6494–6501. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.03.047
- 144. Saxena J, Tanner RS (2012) Optimization of a corn steep medium for production of ethanol from synthesis gas fermentation by *Clostridium ragsdalei*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 28:1553–1561. doi:10.1007/s11274-011-0959-0
- 145. Sim JH, Kamaruddin AH (2008) Optimization of acetic acid production from synthesis gas by chemolithotrophic bacterium--*Clostridium aceticum* using statistical approach. Bioresour Technol 99:2724–2735. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.07.004
- 146. Lundie LL, Drake HL (1984) Development of a minimally defined medium for the acetogen *Clostridium thermoaceticum.* J Bacteriol 159:700–703
- 147. Savage MD, Drake HL (1986) Adaptation of the acetogen *Clostridium thermoautotrophicum* to minimal medium. J Bacteriol 165:315–318
- 148. Ragsdale SW (2008) Enzymology of the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway of acetogenesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125:129–136. doi:10.1196/annals.1419.015

- 149. Bender G, Pierce E, Hill J, et al (2011) Metal centers in the anaerobic microbial metabolism of CO and CO<sub>2</sub>. Metallomics 3:797–815. doi:10.1039/c1mt00042j
- Ragsdale SW, Kumar M (1996) Nickel-containing carbon monoxide dehydrogenase/acetyl-CoA synthase. Chem Rev 96:2515–2540
- 151. Klasson KT, Ackerson MD, Clausen EC, Gaddy JL (1992) Bioconversion of synthesis gas into liquid or gaseous fuels. Enzym Microb Technol 14:602–608
- 152. Sim JH, Kamaruddin AH, Long WS (2008) Biocatalytic conversion of CO to acetic acid by *Clostridium aceticum*—medium optimization using response surface methodology (RSM). Biochem Eng J 40:337–347. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2008.01.006
- 153. Atiyeh HK, Hall A, Wilkins MR, Huhnke RL (2009) Effect of the reducing agent dithiothreitol on ethanol and acetic acid production by *Clostridium* strain P11 using simulated biomass-based syngas. 2009 Bioener Eng Conf, Seattle. BIO-097917. doi: 10.13031/2013. 28893
- 154. Tirado-Acevedo O, Cotter J, Chinn M (2011) Influence of carbon source pre-adaptation on *Clostridium ljungdahlii* growth and product formation. J Bioprocess Biotechniq S2:001. doi:10.4172/2155-9821.S2-001
- 155. Ramachandriya KD, Delorme MJ, Wilkins MR (2010) Heat shocking of *Clostridium ragsdalei* to promote sporulation and ethanol production. Biol Eng 2:115–131
- 156. Bredwell MD, Telgenhoff MD, Barnard S, Worden RM (1997) Effect of surfactants on carbon monoxide fermentations by *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 63/65:637–647. doi:10.1007/BF02920462
- 157. Zhu H, Shanks BH, Heindel TJ (2008) Enhancing CO–water mass transfer by functionalized MCM41 nanoparticles. Ind Eng Chem Res 47:7881–7887
- 158. Kim YK, Park SE, Lee H, Yun JY (2014) Enhancement of bioethanol production in syngas fermentation with *Clostridium ljungdahlii* using nanoparticles. Bioresour Technol 159:446–450. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.046
- Bredwell MD, Srivastava P, Wordon RM (1999) Reactor design issues for synthesis-gas fermentations. Biotechnol Prog 15:834–844. doi:10.1021/bp990108m
- 160. Ungerman AJ, Heindel TJ (2007) Carbon monoxide mass transfer for syngas fermentation in a stirred tank reactor with dual impeller configurations. Biotechnol Prog 23:613–620. doi:10. 1021/bp060311z
- 161. Orgill JJ, Atiyeh HK, Devarapalli M, et al (2013) A comparison of mass transfer coefficients between trickle-bed, hollow fiber membrane and stirred tank reactors. Bioresour Technol 133:340–346
- 162. Kundiyana DK, Huhnke RL, Wilkins MR (2010) Syngas fermentation in a 100-L pilot scale fermentor: design and process considerations. J Biosci Bioeng 109:492–498. doi:10.1016/j. jbiosc.2009.10.022
- 163. Xu D, Tree DR, Lewis RS (2011) The effects of syngas impurities on syngas fermentation to liquid fuels. Biomass Bioenergy 35:2690–2696
- 164. Griffin DW, Schultz MA, Irving E, Road P (2012) Fuel and chemical products from biomass syngas: a comparison of gas fermentation to thermochemical conversion routes. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 31:219–224
- 165. Vega JL, Klasson KT, Claussen EC, Gaddy JL (1990) Sulphur gas tolerance and toxicity of CO-utilizing and methanogenic bacteria. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 24(25):329–340
- 166. Smith KD, Klasson KT, Ackerson MD, et al (1991) COS degradation by selected CO-utilizing bacteria. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 28-29:787–796
- 167. Grethlein AJ, Soni BK, Worden RM, Jain MK (1992) Influence of hydrogen sulfide on the growth and metabolism of *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum* and *Clostridium* acetobutylicum. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 34/35:233–246. doi:10.1007/BF02920548
- 168. Datar RP, Shenkman RM, Cateni BG, et al (2004) Fermentation of biomass-generated producer gas to ethanol. Biotechnol Bioeng 86:587–594. doi:10.1002/bit.20071

- 169. Ahmed A, Cateni BG, Huhnke RL, Lewis RS (2006) Effects of biomass-generated producer gas constituents on cell growth, product distribution and hydrogenase activity of *Clostridium carboxidivorans* P7T. Biomass Bioenergy 30:665–672. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2006.01.007
- 170. Krasna AI, Rittenberg D (1954) The inhibition of hydrogenase by nitric oxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 40:225–227
- 171. Smith LA, Hill S, Yates MG (1976) Inhibition by acetylene of conventional hydrogenase in nitrogen-fixing bacteria. Nature 262:209–210
- 172. Wang S, Huang H, Moll J, Thauer RK (2010) NADP<sup>+</sup> reduction with reduced ferredoxin and NADP<sup>+</sup> reduction with NADH are coupled via an electron-bifurcating enzyme complex in *Clostridium kluyveri*. J Bacteriol 192:5115–5123. doi:10.1128/JB.00612-10
- 173. http://www.ineos.com/businesses/ineos-bio/
- 174. http://www.npeholdings.com/NewPlanetEnergy/Welcome.html
- 175. http://www.ineos.com/businesses/ineos-bio/news/ineos-bio-produces-cellulosic-ethanol/? business=INEOS+Bio; http://www.ethanolproducer.com/articles/10096/ineos-declares-com mercial-cellulosic-ethanol-online-in-florida
- 176. http://www.ineos.com/businesses/ineos-bio/news/ineos-bio-provides-operational-update/? business=INEOS+Bio; http://www.biofuelsdigest.com/bdigest/2014/09/05/on-the-mendwhy-ineos-bio-isnt-reporting-much-ethanol-production/
- 177. http://www.lanzatech.com/
- 178. http://www.lanzatech.com/lanzatech-and-baosteels-100000-gallonyear-waste-gas-to-etha nol-pre-commercial-facility-exceeds-productivity-expectations-and-hits-major-milestones-in-advance-of-commercialization/
- 179. http://www.lanzatech.com/beijing-shougang-lanzatech-new-energy-science-technologycompany-earns-roundtable-on-sustainable-biomaterials-rsb-certification/
- 180. http://www.lanzatech.com/china-steel-corporation-approves-investment-lanzatech-commer cial-project/
- 181. http://www.lanzatech.com/arcelormittal-lanzatech-primetals-technologies-announce-partner ship-construct-breakthrough-e87m-biofuel-production-facility/
- 182. http://www.lanzatech.com/virgin-atlantic-announces-hsbc-join-unique-partnership-develop ment-low-carbon-fuel/
- 183. http://www.lanzatech.com/invista-and-lanzatech-sign-joint-development-agreement-forbio-based-butadiene/
- 184. http://www.lanzatech.com/lanzatech-partners-with-koreas-sk-innovation-on-developmentof-process-technology-for-green-chemicals/
- 185. Köpke M, Havill A (2014) LanzaTech's route to bio-butadiene. Catal Rev 27:7-12
- 186. http://www.lanzatech.com/evonik-and-lanzatech-working-on-bio-processed-precursors-forspecialty-plastics/
- 187. http://corporate.evonik.com/en/media/search/pages/news-details.aspx?newsid=40331
- 188. http://www.coskata.com/
- 189. http://www.coskata.com/company/media.asp?story=8377ADFF-9DFE-4901-876B-B39FD96B213F
- 190. http://www.coskata.com/company/media.asp?story=ED7648F9-8575-4643-A705-1950AE866773
- 191. Kircher M (2015) Sustainability of biofuels and renewable chemicals production from biomass. Curr Opin Chem Biol 29:26–31. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.07.010
- 192. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/417650/ Novel\_Low\_Carbon\_Transport\_Fuels\_Scoping\_paper\_vFINAL5.pdf

## **Anaerobic Digestion**



Jan Liebetrau, Heike Sträuber, Jörg Kretzschmar, Velina Denysenko, and Michael Nelles

**Abstract** The term anaerobic digestion usually refers to the microbial conversion of organic material to biogas, which mainly consists of methane and carbon dioxide. The technical application of the naturally-occurring process is used to provide a renewable energy carrier and – as the substrate is often waste material – to reduce the organic matter content of the substrate prior to disposal.

Applications can be found in sewage sludge treatment, the treatment of industrial and municipal solid wastes and wastewaters (including landfill gas utilization), and the conversion of agricultural residues and energy crops.

For biorefinery concepts, the anaerobic digestion (AD) process is, on the one hand, an option to treat organic residues from other production processes. Concomitant effects are the reduction of organic carbon within the treated substance, the conversion of nitrogen and sulfur components, and the production of an energy-rich gas – the biogas. On the other hand, the multistep conversion of complex organic material offers the possibility of interrupting the conversion chain and locking out intermediates for utilization as basic material within the chemical industry.

Keywords Anaerobic digestion, Biogas, Biomass, Biomethanation, Renewable energy

Deutsches Biomasseforschungszentrum DBFZ, Leipzig, Germany e-mail: Jan.Liebetrau@dbfz.de

H. Sträuber Helmholtz-Zentrum für Umweltforschung – UFZ, Leipzig, Germany

M. Nelles Deutsches Biomasseforschungszentrum DBFZ, Leipzig, Germany

Universität Rostock, Rostock, Germany

J. Liebetrau (🖂), J. Kretzschmar, and V. Denysenko

#### Contents

1	Process Technologies: Status and Perspectives	282
2	Case Studies	287
3	Microorganisms	288
4	Products	291
5	New Approaches: Biological Methanation and Microbial Chain Elongation	295
	5.1 Biological Methanation	296
	5.2 Electromethanogenesis	296
6	Utilization of Residues	298
Re	ferences	298

## **1** Process Technologies: Status and Perspectives

There are numerous technologies used for the treatment of organic material. The reasons for the diversity of technologies are the different substrate characteristics and different legislative and economic conditions in the various countries.

The technologies have been developing since the beginning of the twentieth century when the process was used for the first time in the treatment of sewage and sewage sludge. However, with recent initiatives in several countries to support the development of renewable energy provision, the number of plants has been rising substantially, particularly within the solid waste treatment sector and the agricultural sector, where mainly manure and energy crops are used as substrates.

Because AD is a natural process carried out by microorganisms, the technical applications aim at the optimization of the physical and chemical conditions to obtain maximum microbial activity and consequently maximum substrate conversion rates. Besides obvious process parameters influencing the activity of microorganisms, such as temperature, pH value, the presence of inhibitory and toxic substances, the availability of nutrients and trace elements, material handling, and mass transfer between substrate and microorganism play a crucial role when selecting the proper technology. Consequently, the most important substrate characteristics for the selection of the appropriate process technology are the water content, the content of particulate matter, and the content of impurities within the digestion medium. There are several pre-treatment options (maceration, removal of disturbing material, thermal treatment, supplementation of additives) for adjusting the substrate to the requirements of the microorganisms and the technology. However, as every additional treatment step adds technical effort and thus cost, the process should be kept as simple as possible.

According to the total solids content of the digestion medium, the technologies can be classified as shown in Table 1.

Total solids content	Process technology	Substrates applied
Wastewater (content of particulate matter <1%)	Systems with biomass retention: Fixed bed, Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB), Expanded granular sludge blan- ket (EGSB)	Sewage and industrial wastewater
Content of total solids in the digester 12–15% max.	Continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR)	Sewage sludge, manure, energy crops, solid waste (conditioning necessary)
Content of total solids in the digester 20–30% max.	Plug flow	Solid manure, energy crops, solid waste (con- ditioning necessary)
Content of total solids 30–40% max, structure necessary for leach bed process necessary.	Leach-bed systems (garage style digester)	Energy crops, solid waste (stable structure for per- colation necessary)

Table 1 Classification of AD technologies according to the total solids content of the digestate



<sup>©</sup> Martin Dotzauer (DBFZ) 2013

The necessary microbial population in the continuously operated digesters is selfestablishing and self-stabilizing as long as conditions such as pH, temperature, availability of trace elements, nutrients, carbon/nitrogen ratio, and content of inhibitory substances are within the optimal range (see also Sect. 3). Process start-up can be accelerated by using a culture from another biogas facility as an inoculum.

Because the solubility of methane in water is very low, the methane separates easily from the digester medium. It is normally used for electricity and heat provision. For this purpose the gas can be converted in a combined heat and power unit or a biogas boiler after conditioning. If necessary, the biogas can be converted into a substitute of natural gas by means of an upgrading process. The product of the upgrading can achieve the standards of natural gas grids. Consequently, the produced "biomethane" can be used in all applications of natural gas and is transportable and storable within the natural gas grid.

IRENA [1] states the combined 2014 installed electrical capacity of biogas plants worldwide is 12.67 GW (gigawatts). The countries with the largest contribution are Germany (4 GW), United States (2.35 GW), Italy (1.3 GW), United



Fig. 1 Development of electricity generation from biogas (on-site conversion) and biomethane in Germany in accordance with the EEG 2009–2015 (source: DBFZ database); CHP combined heat and power

Kingdom (1.2 GW), and Czech Republic (0.38 GW). Europe is listed with an installed capacity of 8.8 GW. It should be mentioned that these numbers might differ if taken from other sources. EBA (2015), for instance, states for 2014 that there is approximately 8.3 GW installed capacity in Europe and a total number of 17,240 plants. The electricity produced is given as 63.6 TWh (terawatt hours).

Figure 1 presents the development of electricity production from biogas and biomethane in Germany since 2004.

The development of the technology in Germany has been driven by the tariffs for renewable energy resulting from the Renewable Energy Sources Act. The substrates for the 7,800 biogas plants in 2014 [2] are mainly provided from the agricultural sector. When the tariff for crop-based energy was launched for the first time, the German agricultural sector had around 1 million ha of land that were not in use. Because of the increasing production of energy crops, this is now not the case anymore. In comparison, by the end of 2014 only around 140 plants mainly based on biowaste (municipal and industrial organic wastes, excluding agricultural residues such as manure) were in operation in Germany.

The long-term guaranteed and cost oriented tariffs for electricity production allowed the plants to purchase substrates on the market for agricultural products, so-called energy crops. The most successful energy crop in Germany has been maize silage. This success is caused by the experience of the farmers with this substrate, its easy storability and preservation, and, last but not least, the already existing market for the substrate. In spite of the boom within the biogas sector and



**Fig. 2** Use of maize within the agricultural sector; *blue*: grain maize, *green*: maize silage (animal feed), *orange*: maize silage (biogas); \* prognosis [3]

resulting demand on maize silage, two-thirds of the maize silage produced in Germany is used as fodder within the animal husbandry industry [3] (Fig. 2).

Another reason for the success of maize silage lays in the fact that there is so far no substrate as efficient as maize when looking at the economics and the energy content to be obtained per hectare. The use of alternatives as rye silage, sugar beet silage, waste, and straw has been becoming more popular during recent years because of limitations for the use of maize silage in the Renewable Energy Sources Act. In some regions the biogas industry has caused conflicts since the plants are competitors for husbandry with regard to substrates (maize silage) and land (for the distribution of manure or digestate). Besides the regions with a high density of animal husbandry, the decentralized structure of the plants allowed in most regions a reconcilable development of the industry (Figs. 3 and 4).

It should be mentioned that the utilization of residues such as straw, manure, or wastes is usually economically compromised by a more extensive technical effort (e.g. necessary pre-treatment) and a lower quality of substrate and consequently lower gas yield of the substrates. In the case of wastes, the legal requirements for plant construction and operation additionally result in greater technical effort and lead to higher overall costs. Additional requirements might include an enclosed receiving area with air collection, a pretreatment system, or a hygienization step for the waste material, as well as more detailed reporting and monitoring of the material streams.

Consequently, the utilization of residues or wastes certainly does not result in lower energy production costs.

Additionally, the often mentioned substrate alternatives such as waste or agricultural residues are not available in the same order of magnitude and underly other effects in the market, which might influence prices and availability if the demand for such residues rises. However, in any future development, the availability of



agricultural products needs to be compatible with the demand for food products and sustainability criteria. Additionally, the development of the bioeconomy and the subsequent reallocation of organic material have to be considered in future perspectives.

In the current discussion, the provision of electricity based on biogas processes is moving from a steady state operation with a constant output toward a flexible demand-oriented operation. Future energy concepts need to align the highly fluctuating input from wind power and photovoltaic plants with the demand of the consumers. Therefore, a change in the electricity market design is necessary and every producer and consumer needs to contribute to balanced production and consumption. Energy crop based biogas plants can control their output to a large extent and are a valuable element in the future energy system.

The biogas process also offers the possibility of combinations with other processes that might help to amplify the flexibility and the contribution to grid stabilization and service security. Such options include power-to-gas and powerto-heat applications as well as the upgrading of biogas to biomethane.

Future perspectives for biogas applications could include an integration into bioeconomy processes and extensive integration into local energy and material


Fig. 5 Overview of technical options of an agricultural biogas plant (DBFZ)

infrastructures. In particular, the last point requires highly controllable and flexible decentral components. Perspectives concerning microbial processing are discussed in the chapter "New approaches – biological methanation and microbial chain elongation."

## 2 Case Studies

Biogas facilities aim at a high degree of conversion of organic material into methane, the conversion of the methane into a product (e.g., electricity, heat, or natural gas substitute) and a proper digestate application. Depending on the substrate characteristics, the necessary pre-treatment components, the digestion technology, and the conditioning steps of the products have to be selected. Figure 5 presents the most common technical options within the agricultural sector.

The variations within the potential technologies are as various as the substrates used for AD. Consequently, every plant has a unique and adapted technical concept. This allows a reasonable adaption to the local conditions. However, this also means limited options for standardization and makes it difficult to compare and optimize plant concepts. Figure 6 gives an overview of selected technical variations that are possible within AD plants.



Fig. 6 Overview of technical options for components and operation of biogas plants (DBFZ)

# 3 Microorganisms

During the AD of organic material, biogas composed mainly of methane and carbon dioxide is produced. Minor components of biogas are water vapor, nitrogen, hydrogen, oxygen, hydrogen sulfide, and ammonia. The AD occurs in four metabolic steps, namely hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis, catalyzed by a complex network of different microorganisms. To some extent, the first metabolic part (hydrolysis/acidogenesis) can be physically separated from the last part (acetogenesis/methanogenesis), whereas within the respective parts a separation is not possible because of metabolic interdependencies. The separation also makes it possible for alternative usages of anaerobic fermentation processes apart from biogas production. In the following, the metabolic steps are described and alternative options for applications are indicated (Fig. 7).

In the first step, the *hydrolysis*, the substrate, consisting of macromolecules such as carbohydrates and proteins as well as of fats, is cleaved in its oligo-, di-, and



**Fig. 7** Anaerobic degradation of biomass to biogas including the major intermediates and trophic groups of microorganisms. *PF* Primary fermenters, *SF* Secondary fermenters, *SAO* Syntrophic acetate oxidizing bacteria, *HAB* Homoacetogenic bacteria, *AM* Acetotrophic methanogens, *HM* Hydrogenotrophic methanogens. Microorganisms and processes involved are still not well-described [4]

monomers by the action of hydrolytic bacteria. Hydrolytic bacteria produce hydrolases, for example, amylases, lipases, proteases, cellulases, and hemicellulases, which are present as exo-enzymes on the outer surface of bacterial cells. Some bacteria excrete large hydrolytic enzyme complexes, for example, cellulosomes, into the environment [5]. The bacterial production of adhesion-proteins supports the bacteria during the hydrolysis [6]. However, as the hydrolysis is not accompanied by any energy gain for the microbial cells, the soluble hydrolytic products, for example, sugars, amino and fatty acids, or glycerol, are taken up by the bacteria and fermented in the second step. When solid substrates such as plant material are used for biogas production, the hydrolysis is the rate-limiting step [7]. In particular, the hydrolysis of cellulose and hemicellulose is comparably slow. When cellulose and hemicellulose are linked to lignin in the lignocellulose complex the hydrolysis is even slower. Lignin decreases the bioavailability of the degradable cellulose and hemicellulose. Anaerobic degradation of lignin is unknown.

The primary fermentation of hydrolysis products is named *acidogenesis* because mainly carboxylic acids are produced. In the biogas process acetic, propionic, and *n*-butyric acid are often observed as metabolites in various concentrations. However, depending on the substrate and process conditions, lactic acid, dicarboxylic (succinic acid) and aromatic acids (phenylacetic acid), and branched and unbranched medium-chain fatty acids (*n*- and iso-valeric and caproic acid) can also be detected in smaller concentrations. Besides organic acids, alcohols (ethanol, propanol, butanol), hydrogen, and carbon dioxide are produced. The fermentation products do not always result straight from substrate degradation. For example, medium-chain fatty acids can result from β-oxidation of long-chain fatty acids. However, they can also be obtained from carbohydrate fermentation by means of microbial chain elongation of short-chain fatty acids [8]. Thus, *n*-butyric and *n*valeric acid can be produced from acetic and propionic acid, respectively, and *n*caproic and *n*-enanthic acid can be produced from *n*-butyric and *n*-valeric acid, respectively. Altogether, such metabolic ways lead to a meandering of the fermentation during acidogenesis. The diversity of hydrolytic and fermenting microorganisms in AD systems is high. The bacterial community comprises several thousand different facultative and strict anaerobic bacterial genera from the classes Clostridia, Bacteroidia, Gammaproteobacteria, Actinobacteria, and Bacilli.

During the third step of AD, acetogenesis, the acidogenesis products are converted, and acetic acid is produced. During the degradation of alcohols and short-chain fatty acids such as propionic and *n*-butyric acid, hydrogen and carbon dioxide as well as C1-compounds are also produced. The acetogenesis can occur only at very low hydrogen partial pressure for thermodynamic reasons. Therefore, acetogenic bacteria live in the immediate vicinity of hydrogen-consuming microorganisms for interspecies hydrogen transfer. Instead of hydrogen, formate can also be transferred from one cell to another. This close relationship between microbial organisms is called syntrophy. Sulfate-reducing bacteria or methanogenic archaea can serve as syntrophic partners of acetogenic bacteria. A specific form of acetogenesis is the synthesis of acetic acid from hydrogen and carbon dioxide, which is also called homoacetogenesis. It is the reverse reaction of syntrophic acetate oxidation that plays an important role in an alternative route for methane production from acetic acid. The diversity of the syntrophic bacteria is much lower than that of the fermenters. Different representatives of Synergistales, Syntrophobacterales, Clostridiales, and Thermoanaerobacteriales were often identified in biogas systems.

In the last step of AD, the *methanogenesis*, methane is produced by the action of specialized strict anaerobic microorganisms affiliated to Euryarchaeota. Three different methanogenic pathways, namely the hydrogenotrophic, aceticlastic and methylotrophic way, can be distinguished. At the hydrogenotrophic pathway, carbon dioxide is reduced with hydrogen to methane. Thereby, the methanogens compete with other hydrogen-consuming microorganisms such as sulfate reducers for hydrogen. At the methylotrophic pathway, C1-compounds such as methanol are used as substrates. Acetic acid can be cleaved, resulting in methane and carbon dioxide at the aceticlastic methanogenesis. As an alternative route, acetic acid can be degraded by syntrophic acetate oxidizers. Particularly when protein-rich substrates are digested, acetic acid is converted in this way because of the high sensitivity of aceticlastic methanogens to high ammonia concentrations. Syntrophic acetate oxidizers oxidizer the methyl as well as the carboxyl group of acetic acid to carbon dioxide and hydrogen is produced. This reaction is thermodynamically extremely

unfavorable ( $\Delta G^{0} = +104.6 \text{ kJ/mol}$ ), although the reaction can proceed in combination with the hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis ( $\Delta G^{0} = -135.6 \text{ kJ/mol}$ ) [9]. The total reaction is exergonic ( $\Delta G^{0} = -31.0 \text{ kJ/mol}$ ). The preferred methanogenic pathway depends on the respective process conditions in the biogas reactor.

Seven different orders of methanogenic archaea are known, namely Methanobacteriales, Methanococcales, Methanocellales, Methanomicrobiales, Methanosarcinales. Methanomassiliicoccales. and Methanopyrales. Most methanogens can perform hydrogenotrophic and methylotrophic methanogenesis, whereas the aceticlastic way is used only from few methanogens. At high and low acetic acid concentrations Methanosarcina and Methanosaeta, both affiliated to Methanosarcinales, perform aceticlastic methanogenesis, respectively. Solely Methanosaetaceae members of are known for exclusive aceticlastic methanogenesis.

#### 4 **Products**

The AD process can function as a method to condition a waste product or to obtain the energy content of an otherwise unused substrate.

The products of an AD process are first the biogas and second the digestate. The biogas usually functions as an energy source. The composition of the biogas depends on the stoichiometric composition of the substrate, the process technology and contaminants within the substrate. Table 2 illustrates the average composition of biogases from different sources in comparison to natural gas.

The biogas is mostly converted in a combined heat and power unit into electricity and heat. In Germany the electricity is remunerated according to the tariffs of the Renewable Energy Sources Act. Besides the combined heat and power (CHP), there are several other options to convert biogas or upgraded biomethane into electricity and heat. Table 3 gives an overview of the technology options.

The heat has no extra tariff within the Renewable Energy Sources Act – at least in the last two amendments of the law (2012 and 2014). However it is considered as the most important option for an additional income for the plant. Within the extensions and reconstruction measures, the addition of heat utilization facilities is the most often implemented component. In general, the existing plants are constantly under optimization and replacement procurement. Figure 8 shows the measures taken according to the survey of the DBFZ, which are mostly connected with optimization of the product utilization.

The exhaust heat from the CHP is first used to keep the process temperature of the plant stable. Depending on their size, agricultural plants need between 18% (larger than 1 MW installed capacity) and 52% (smaller than 75 kW) of the heat provided from the CHP for maintaining the biological process [2].

The excess heat can be used for external purposes. The selection of an appropriate site for the CHP, close to a consumer for the produced heat, is a crucial point for the success of heat utilization. According to the DBFZ plant database, 17% of

	Farm-scale	Centralized		Sewage treatment	Natural
Parameter	AD plant	AD plant	Landfill	plant	gas
CH <sub>4</sub> (vol%)	55-60	60–70	35-65	60–65	81-89
Other hydrocarbons (vol%)	0	0	0	0	3.5–9.4
H <sub>2</sub> (vol%)	0	0	0–3	0	-
CO <sub>2</sub> (vol%)	35–40	30-40	25-45	35–40	0.67-1.00
N <sub>2</sub> (vol%)	<1-2	2-6	<1-17	<1-2	0.28-14.00
O2 (vol%)	<1	0.5–1.6	<1-3	<0.05-0.70	0
H <sub>2</sub> S (ppm)	25-30	0–2,000	30–500	<0.5-6,800	0–2.9
NH <sub>3</sub> (ppm)	$\approx 100$	$\approx 100$	$\approx 5$	<1-7	0
Halogenated compounds (mg/m <sup>3</sup> )	<0.01	<0.25	0.3–225	0–2	-
Siloxanes (mg/m <sup>3</sup> )	<0.03-<0.2	<0.08-<0.5	<0.3–36	<1-400	-
Wobbe index	24–33	24–33	20-25	25-30	44–55
Lower heating value (MJ/Nm <sup>3</sup> )	19.7–21.5	21.5-25.1	10.7–23.3	21.5–23.3	31-40

 Table 2 Ranges of biogas compositions from AD plants, sewage treatment plants, landfill applications, and natural gas [10]

Note:  $1 \text{ kWh/Nm}^3 = 3.6 \text{ MJ/Nm}^3$ 

the biogas plant operators in Germany have at least one satellite CHP for better heat utilization. The use of biomethane as fuel is the most flexible way regarding location and time of gas utilization. In Germany the incentives for renewable electricity from biomethane require a 100% utilization of excess heat. According to the database of the grid operators (BNetzA) in 2014 there have been 10,700 biogas CHP and 1,200 biomethane CHP registered.

The heat demand profile of the consumer is also of great importance. Most of the conventional heat consumers in the biogas industry are involved with heat provision for houses and barns (Fig. 9). Such processes have a seasonal profile with high demand in winter and low demand in summer, which makes it difficult to use all the excess heat which is produced constantly during the year.

Beside the heat and the electricity, the digestate is a product of the process to consider. Depending on the substrate and the process, it is either further processed to meet requirements of discharge or used as a fertilizer or soil conditioner. The quality of the digestate with regard to the requirements of the subsequent utilization steps is highly dependent on the quality of the input material. The AD process converts organic carbon into methane and carbon dioxide, reduces organic nitrogen to ammonia, and sulfur compounds to hydrogen sulfide. Some organic pollutants or toxic components can be degraded during the AD process. Recalcitrant substances and abiotic hazardous materials such as heavy metals might change their type of bond, i.e. speciation, but are otherwise unaffected by the process. There are some methods to determine the degree of degradation and stabilization of a digestate as degradation of volatile solids, organic carbon, or stability tests as the self-heating

	. ·		Micro	Stirling	E 1 11
Parameter	Engine	Gas turbine	turbine	engine	Fuel cell
Unit capacity (kW <sub>el</sub> ) <sup>a</sup>	110–3,000	3,500–15,000	30–300	<150	300-1,500
Plant size	Small to medium	Large	Small	Small	Small
Electrical effi- ciency (%)	30-42	25–40	25–30	30–40	40-45
Thermal effi- ciency (%) <sup>b</sup>	40–50	30–50	30–35	35–40	30-40
Overall system efficiency (%)	70–80	70–75	55–65	65–80	75–80
Power/heat ratio production control	Not possible	Very good	Very good	Very good	Good
Biogas purifica- tion requirement	Medium	Medium	Medium	Low- medium	High
Emissions NO <sub>x</sub>	High 500–700 mg/ Nm <sup>3</sup>	Low 25–50 mg/ Nm <sup>3</sup> flue gas	Low	Very low	Extremely low (3 mg/ Nm <sup>3</sup> flue gas)
Alternative fuel source	Liquid gas	Natural gas	Natural gas, kerosene, fuel oil	Natural gas, fuel oil, biomass	Natural gas
Investment costs (€/kW <sub>el</sub> ) <sup>c</sup>	400-1,100	900–1,500	600–1,200	1,300-1,500	3,000-4,000
Operation and maintenance cost (€/kWh) <sup>d</sup>	0.01-0.02	0.005-0.010	0.008-0.015	0.003–0.005	0.003-0.010

 Table 3 Overview of technical options for biogas utilization [10]

<sup>a</sup>Unit capacity varies depending on manufacturer

<sup>b</sup>Heat recovery is estimated as a percentage of fuel input

<sup>c</sup>Installed costs vary with type and amount of auxiliary equipment

<sup>d</sup>Maintenance costs are dependent on gas quality

test for compost. Other than that, quality standards for composts and digestates originating from waste are set by the legislation (Bioabfallverordnung – biowaste ordinance) or the industry (RAL Gütezeichen Kompost Quality Label Compost). Agricultural products and manure are subject to legal requirements of several ordinances, which manage the handling, application, and marketing of these products. For sewage sludge, a separate ordinance is applicable.

In the case where the digestate is applied directly onto agricultural land or is disposed in a landfill (in the case of AD as a treatment for contaminated waste), no further treatment is required. If these options are not available, several post-treatment steps are possible to adjust the digestate to the requirements for further use of the end product.

Most common is the use of a simple solid-liquid separation of the digestate and a subsequent aerobic post-composting process of the solid fraction.



Fig. 8 Measures for plant extension during 2011–2014, (DBFZ, Survey 2011/2012–2015) [2]



Fig. 9 Types of heat utilization, number of answers (DBFZ, Survey 2015) [2]

Separation is occasionally done with a more sophisticated multistep solid-liquid separation with decreasing pore size (ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis) to get below the thresholds for receiving stream level standards for a discharge into the next surface water system. However, this process requires extensive technical effort and consequently high costs. If post-treatment is necessary, it has a determinant effect on the technical and economic feasibility of the overall process.

However, because the AD processes remove only carbon, sulfur, and traces of nitrogen, the digestate contains all the micro nutrients from the original organic material. The concentrations of nutrients are usually too low to compete with conventional fertilizers (e.g., ammonia concentration of 1-5 g/L) but too high to

find easy discharge opportunities. The fate of digestates is therefore still too often seen as a discharge rather than an application of a valuable fertilizer. There might be change in the future if prices for fertilizers rise.

The perspective for the marketing of products of AD processes in the future might include the separation of intermediates from the process for a specific use.

# 5 New Approaches: Biological Methanation and Microbial Chain Elongation

The AD process mainly focuses on the biogas production for energetic purposes, exploiting a wide spectrum of organic materials. Within the concept of integrated biorefineries, the AD process is supposed to take part as an end-of-pipe-technology for energetic utilization of process residues by producing a methane-rich biogas. According to the varying composition of the substrates (e.g., share of proteins, fats, and carbohydrates), the methane content in biogas varies between 48% and 73% [11]. For storage and economic reasons, it is of great interest to maximize the methane content up to 100%. Beside conventional biogas upgrading techniques for grid injection (e.g., carbon dioxide removal by pressure swing adsorption, amine and water scrubbers, or membrane separation), there is an approach to increase the methane. This can, in principle, be done either by injection of hydrogen into the fermenter, so-called biological methanation [12], or by direct provision of electrons using electrodes, so-called electromethanogenesis [13].

Either way, the processes can be used to store surplus electricity from the power grid, necessary in a future with a high contribution from renewable sources. In the case of hydrogen injection, the surplus energy is used to produce hydrogen via water electrolysis followed by biological methanation [14]. The methane produced can be stored in the gas grid. This process is called Power-to-Gas or Power-to-Methane. In practice, thermochemical methanation (the Sabatier process) is mainly discussed for Power-to-Gas approaches. The following Sect. (5.1) focuses on the biological process.

Besides increasing the methane yield, sub-steps of the AD process can be used to produce medium- and long-chain fatty acids as platform chemicals for further processing. Therefore, the microbiological process of methanation has to be optimized in such a way that products from acidogenesis can be enriched and further processed.

## 5.1 Biological Methanation

Biological methanation of carbon dioxide with hydrogen within the AD process is realized via the hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis step uncoupled from aceticlastic and methylotrophic methanogenesis according to the following reaction [9]:

$$\mathrm{CO}_2 + 4\mathrm{H}_2 \rightarrow \mathrm{CH}_4 + 2\mathrm{H}_2 \mathrm{O} \ \left( \Delta \mathrm{G}^{0'} = -135.6 \ \mathrm{kJ/mol} \right)$$

According to the stoichiometry of the reaction equation, hydrogen and carbon dioxide have to be provided at a ratio of 4:1 for the production of 100% methane. Concerning "Power-to-Gas" applications, renewable hydrogen can originate from electrochemical water cleavage, consuming wind and sun power, or from anaerobic fermentation processes, and carbon dioxide can be obtained, e.g., from air or biogas processes. Such a process can be performed in a stand-alone biomethanation module containing only hydrogenotrophic methanogens as biocatalysts.

Biological methanation is also thought to be combined with the degradation of organic material with the overall aim of upgrading the biogas. In such a case, pure hydrogen or hydrogen-rich gases, for example, from thermochemical gasification, are injected into the fermenter [15, 16]. Thus the methane content of biogas can be increased until natural gas quality is reached, making the upgrade processes prior to injection into the gas grid less complicated and expensive. When introducing pure hydrogen or hydrogen-rich gases into the AD process, two major facts have to be considered. First, the share of methane in the product gas depends on the amount of available carbon dioxide and the hardly soluble hydrogen in the liquid phase. Second, hydrogen can disturb the acetogenesis step as the amount of dissolved hydrogen influences the kinetics and thermodynamics of propionic and butyric acid degradation to acetate [17]. If the amount of dissolved hydrogen is too high, the acetogenesis can be interrupted and organic acids accumulate in the system until the whole process breaks down (this accounts only for the integration of biological methanation into running AD systems).

#### 5.2 Electromethanogenesis

The term electromethanogenesis describes the ability to produce methane by the use of electroactive microorganisms that gain electrons from a cathode within a so-called microbial electrolysis cell [13, 18]. In principle, this process is similar to hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis with the exception that, instead of hydrogen gas, electrons are provided. Methane is produced from carbon dioxide, electrons, and protons according to the following reaction equation [13]:

$$\mathrm{CO}_2 + 8\mathrm{H}^+ + 8\mathrm{e}^- \rightarrow \mathrm{CH}_4 + 2\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$$

It is part of ongoing research to identify whether the microorganisms take up electrons directly from the electrode or from intermediately produced hydrogen. Irrespective of that, this process can be integrated into the AD process as the microorganisms at the cathode were amongst others identified as methanogenic Archaea, for example, *Methanobacterium spp.*, which occur naturally within the process. Anaerobic digesters with built-in electrodes can therefore perform as microbial electrolysis cells, reducing the residual carbon dioxide in the biogas with electrons from the cathode and protons from the liquid phase to methane. In laboratory scale experiments it has been shown that the carbon dioxide content in biogas could kept below 10% [19].

#### 5.2.1 Microbial Chain Elongation

The extensive product spectrum of the acidogenesis step harbors the potential for its commercial exploitation. Thus, in addition to methane and hydrogen, chemicals can be produced from biomass by anaerobic fermentation. The organic molecules belonging to the carboxylate platform can be further converted to fuels, materials, and chemicals for the chemical and pharmaceutical industries and for the production of cosmetics and food. An example of further processing of medium-chain fatty acids is electrochemical refining to, amongst others, n-alkanes using Kolbe and non-Kolbe reactions at the anode. However, when systems with undefined mixed cultures and complex substrates such as plant materials are used, natural mixtures of different carboxylates and alcohols result from anaerobic fermentation. This is a significant drawback because of the challenging extraction of target substances. Applications for the production of chemicals from biomass are therefore limited to processes where side products do not interfere with the further processing of the desired platform chemicals. The main advantage of processes with mixed cultures and complex substrates is that they are comparatively cheap. There is no need for sterilization as is necessary for pure strain systems. Low-cost raw material or even waste can be used instead of processed high-value substrates such as sugars.

Additionally, technical systems that can be used for anaerobic fermentation might be adapted from biogas technology, which is well-developed because of advances in the last decade. This includes the operation of two-stage reactor systems with the separation of the first two metabolic phases, namely hydrolysis and acidogenesis, from the last two phases, namely acetogenesis and methanogenesis. In such systems, typically acidogenic processes dominate in the first-phase reactor, bearing an intrinsic optimization potential for high yields of organic acids.

To obtain anaerobic fermentation products such as carboxylate platform chemicals in considerable concentrations, their microbial degradation by acetogenic and methanogenic processes has to be suppressed. This can be achieved by the addition of chemicals such as 2-bromoethanesulfonic acid or iodoform. However, the addition of such chemicals seems not to be feasible in full scale. Appropriate process conditions such as low pH-values and low retention times are alternatives for an effective inhibition of methane production. Organic acids in higher concentrations affect their bacterial producers. This inhibition is even stronger at low pH values because mainly the undissociated form of the products has a toxic effect. Therefore, an effective product extraction is indispensable for high yields. Furthermore, fermenting bacteria can often grow faster than acetogenic and methanogenic microorganisms. This can be exploited for a supportive inhibition of methanogenic processes. At low retention times, slow-growing microorganisms are washed out. However, in systems with biomass retention, where biofilm formation otherwise supports AD for biogas production, an undesired methanogenic population is able to develop. In such a system, low retention times have no effect in the long-term, and methanogenic processes must be controlled by other means.

# 6 Utilization of Residues

Depending on the process, the digestate can be either product for further use or waste for disposal. The AD process converts degradable fractions of the substrates and usually leaves the lignocellulosic fraction of the plant material. Because of its almost recalcitrant nature, the digestate cannot be used as a substrate for other biological processes or as animal feed. Digestate can be used as an organic compound for soil conditioners. The fertilizer value depends on the nutrients coming with the substrate. The occurring concentrations are usually low compared to chemical fertilizers.

There are also approaches for separating the fiber fraction and using it as a substitute for specific wood products.

If the digestate is subjected to a solid-liquid separation, the liquid fraction of the procedure requires the major effort. Usually the liquid fraction is recycled within the process as often as possible, and can be used for application on land in irrigation systems or as a conditioner in post-composting of the digestate. If such options are not applicable, either further solid-liquid separation, drying, or aerobic biological treatment can help to achieve discharge requirements. The biological treatment is not an easy task because of high concentrations of recalcitrant organics and nutrients as ammonia. In the case of external H<sub>2</sub>S removal systems (e.g., based on activated carbon) and reactivation of the material impossible, the disposal of the material might become necessary.

## References

- 1. IRENA (2015) http://resourceirena.irena.org/gateway/download. 11.1.2015
- 2. Scheftelowitz M et al (2015) Stromerzeugung aus Biomasse Zwischenbericht Mai 2015 DBFZ, download: www.dbfz.de 10.8.2015
- 3. FNR (2015) Mediathek. https://mediathek.fnr.de/grafiken/daten-und-fakten/anbau/ entwicklung-der-maisanbauflache-in-deutschland.html. download 15.8.2015

- 4. Nyns E-J, Nikolausz M, Liebetrau J (2014) Biogas in Ullmann's encyclopedia of industrial chemistry. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim. Online ISBN: 9783527306732 doi:10.1002/14356007.a16\_453.pub2
- Doi RH, Kosugi A (2004) Cellulosomes: plant-cell-wall-degrading enzyme complexes. Nat Rev Microbiol 2:541–551. doi:10.1038/nrmicro925
- Miron J, Ben-Ghedalia D, Morrison M (2001) Invited review: adhesion mechanisms of rumen cellulolytic bacteria. J Dairy Sci 84:1294–1309. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)70159-2
- Mata-Alvarez J, Macé S, Llabrés P (2000) Anaerobic digestion of organic solid wastes. An overview of research achievements and perspectives. Bioresour Technol 74:3–16. doi:10. 1016/S0960-8524(00)00023-7
- Spirito CM, Richter H, Rabaey K, et al. (2014) Chain elongation in anaerobic reactor microbiomes to recover resources from waste. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27:115–122. doi:10. 1016/j.copbio.2014.01.003
- Thauer R, Jungermann K, Decker K (1977) Energy-conservation in chemotrophic anaerobic bacteria. Bacteriol Rev 41:100–180
- Wellinger A, Murphy J, Baxter D (eds) (2013) The biogas handbook: science, production and application. Woodhead Publishing. ISBN: 9780857094988
- 11. FNR (2013) Leitfaden biogas, 6th edn. Gülzow, FNR
- Luo G, Johansson S, Boe K, et al. (2012) Simultaneous hydrogen utilization and in situ biogas upgrading in an anaerobic reactor. Biotechnol Bioeng 109:1088–1094. doi:10.1002/bit.24360
- Cheng S, Xing D, Call DF, Logan BE (2009) Direct biological conversion of electrical current into methane by electromethanogenesis. Environ Sci Technol 43:3953–3958. doi:10.1021/ es803531g
- Burkhardt M, Busch G (2013) Methanation of hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Appl Energy 111:74–79. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.04.080
- Luo G, Angelidaki I (2013) Co-digestion of manure and whey for in situ biogas upgrading by the addition of H-2: process performance and microbial insights. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:1373–1381. doi:10.1007/s00253-012-4547-5
- Youngsukkasem S, Chandolias K, Taherzadeh MJ (2015) Rapid bio-methanation of syngas in a reverse membrane bioreactor: membrane encased microorganisms. Bioresour Technol 178:334–340. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.07.071
- Wandrey C, Aivasidis A (1983) Zur Reaktionstechnik der anaeroben Fermentation. Chem Ing Tech 55:516–524. doi:10.1002/cite.330550705
- Schröder U, Harnisch F, Angenent LT (2015) Microbial electrochemistry and technology: terminology and classification. Energy Environ Sci 8:513–519. doi:10.1039/C4EE03359K
- Xu H, Wang K, Holmes DE (2014) Bioelectrochemical removal of carbon dioxide (CO2): an innovative method for biogas upgrading. Bioresour Technol 173:392–398. doi:10.1016/j. biortech.2014.09.127

# **Pyrolysis Oil Biorefinery**



**Dietrich Meier** 

Abstract In biorefineries several conversion processes for biomasses may be applied to obtain maximum value from the feed materials. One viable option is the liquefaction of lignocellulosic feedstocks or residues by fast pyrolysis. The conversion technology requires rapid heating of the biomass particles along with rapid cooling of the hot vapors and aerosols. The main product, bio-oil, is obtained in yields of up to 75 wt% on a dry feed basis, together with by-product char and gas which are used within the process to provide the process heat requirements; there are no waste streams other than flue gas and ash. Bio-oils from fast pyrolysis have a great potential to be used as renewable fuel and/or a source for chemical feedstocks. Existing technical reactor designs are presented together with actual examples. Bio-oil characterization and various options for bio-oil upgrading are discussed based on the potential end-use. Existing and potential utilization alternatives for bio-oils are presented with respect to their use for heat and power generation as well as chemical and material use.

Keywords Applications, Bio-oil, Fast pyrolysis, Pyrolysis reactors, Upgrading

#### Contents

1	Process Technologies: Status and Perspectives	302
	1.1 Fast Pyrolysis	302
	1.2 Reactor Designs	304
2	Pyrolysis Oil: Characterization and Upgrading	315
	2.1 General Characterization	315
	2.2 Conditioning and Upgrading of Pyrolysis Oils	318
3	Pyrolysis Oil Applications	323
	3.1 Heat and Power	324

D. Meier (🖂)

Thermophil international, 21033 Hamburg, Germany e-mail: info@thermophil.com

	3.2 Chemical and Material Use	326
4	Conclusions	328
Re	ferences	328

#### 1 Process Technologies: Status and Perspectives

Fast pyrolysis is one of a number of possible conversion routes that can convert biomass into higher-value-added products. As such, this technology could play a role in a biorefinery model to expand the suite of product options available from biomass.

In general, thermochemical processes convert lignocellulosic biomass into liquids, solids, and permanent gases. Pyrolysis is thermal decomposition occurring in the absence of oxygen. The biomass cell wall components cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin are degraded through cleavage reactions. They react differently depending on the temperature level and duration of reaction, and thus determine the yields of solid, liquid, and gaseous products. The overall yields of the three main groups of products and fundamental reaction parameters are shown in Table 1. Depending on the pyrolysis conditions applied, four procedures can be distinguished: fast (flash), intermediate, slow (higher temperature for carbonization), and slow (lower temperature for torrefaction).

Slow pyrolysis has been practiced for the production of charcoal for thousands of years and is used commercially today. The other methods have been known for some 30 years and are still at the development and testing phase. There are very few commercial examples.

## 1.1 Fast Pyrolysis

#### 1.1.1 Fundamentals

Fast pyrolysis has been under development for about 30 years. Numerous publications and review articles have been published on this topic [1-10]. The basic idea and challenge in fast pyrolysis is to guarantee a rapid heat and mass transfer to prevent further cracking and condensation reactions and thus obtain a high yield of liquid product (also called bio-oil). The essential features of a fast pyrolysis process for producing liquids are:

- Rapid heating of the biomass particles (with heating rates of more than 1,000°C/s). In this case, the pyrolysis temperature should be in the range 450–500°C. Because of the low thermal conductivity of wood (approximately 0.2 W/m/degree K), small particle sizes (generally <3 mm) are required.</li>
- · Careful monitoring and control of the reaction temperature.

Process	Conditions	Liquid	Solid	Gas
Fast (Flash)	$\sim$ 500°C, short hot gas residence time	60–70	10-20	10-20
	1–3 s			
Intermediate	$\sim$ 500°C, hot gas residence time 10–30 s	45-55	~20-30	20-30
Slow	$\sim$ 400°C, long hot gas residence time	25-35	25-35	25-35
(carbonization)	hours – days			
Slow	$\sim$ 250–290°C, solid residence time	5–15, when	75-85	15-25
(torrefaction)	10–60 min	condensed		

Table 1 Typical conditions and yields (wt% based on dry biomass) of the main products in the biomass pyrolysis

- Short residence time of the pyrolysis products in the hot reaction zone (usually <2 s).
- Favoring rapid and complete removal of coke, because the hot coke acts catalytically and favors undesirable cracking reactions of the products to form water and CO<sub>2</sub>.
- Rapid cooling of the hot vapors to obtain high yields of bio-oil.

In addition to the operating parameters, the type of biomass (its chemical composition, for example, lignin and ash content) also plays an important role. Ash has a catalytic effect and influence on the reaction mechanism. In general, higher ash contents, for example, in straw have an unfavorable effect on the bio-oil quality, because cracking reactions are favored, resulting in the formation of a two-phase liquid consisting of aqueous and tarry fractions. Bio-oils from wood, however, can be produced as a single-phase homogeneous product.

Bio-oil yields can reach as high as 75 wt%. The by-products coke and gas can be energetically used for the provision of process energy and pre-drying of the biomass as the water content of the feedstock should be <10%. Too high a moisture content would both reduce the heating rate, as the water must evaporate, and it would co-condense and increase the water content in bio-oil, thereby lowering its calorific value and causing undesirable phase separation of the oil.

Regardless of their technical designs, fast pyrolysis processes usually include three important stages (Fig. 1):

- Biomass preparation (storage, handling, pretreatment by screening, and crushing)
- Conversion of solid biomass into liquid product (bio-oil)
- Further processing of this primary product by purification or refining into marketable products such as heat, electricity, biofuels, and chemical products

In contrast to other thermochemical conversion processes, fast pyrolysis provides various possibilities for modification to influence the oil quality (Fig. 1). This includes the selection and preparation of the raw material (ash removal by an acidic wash [11–13], separation of the biomass in biorefineries, and utilization of the lignin fraction [14–17]), as well as changing reaction parameters (use of catalysts



Fig. 1 Basic steps in fast pyrolysis, and ways to affect bio-oil quality through pre-treatment, pyrolysis, and post-treatment

and hydrogen) [18–20]) or treatment of bio-oil (fractional condensation, oxygen removal by hydrotreating, etc. [21–26]).

# 1.2 Reactor Designs

To realize the requirements of fast pyrolysis, special reactors are necessary to provide a fast and efficient heat transfer and an effective mass transport. For this purpose, reactors are frequently used with sand as heat carrier, which is fluidized either pneumatically (reactors with stationary or circulating fluidized layer) or mechanically by means of rotating elements such as screws or cones. Reactors with fluidized heat carriers require small biomass particles. There are also some other techniques (e.g., reactors with ablative effect, reactors with vacuum) which are used when larger biomass particles are used such as wood or bark chips. Figure 2 shows an overview of the most common techniques and procedures which are presented below and discussed.

#### 1.2.1 Bubbling Fluidized Bed Reactors

Bubbling fluidized bed reactors have the advantage of already being in use at a large scale, for example, in combustion or drying processes [27, 28]. They are also relatively simple in construction and therefore can be operated easily. They have no moving parts, temperature and temperature distribution can be adjusted and



Fig. 2 Schematic designs of reactors for fast pyrolysis of biomass



Fig. 3 Methods of heat transfer into stationary fluidized bed reactors [29]

easily controlled, and thus good heat transfer is ensured. The problem lies in the heat input, which can be realized (1) indirectly through the reactor wall, (2) by installing radiant heaters in the sand bed, (3) by supplying hot sand, or (4) using preheated gas with low intake of air-oxygen (Fig. 3).

In fast pyrolysis reactors (bubbling fluidized bed), biomass is thermally decomposed in the 450–500°C hot sand bed. As an example (Fig. 4), a typical pyrolytic decomposition of biomass in such a system is presented.



Fig. 4 Components of a complete fast pyrolysis unit with fluidized bed reactor [29]

Dried and chopped biomass is introduced laterally into the hot fluidized bed of sand (see Fig. 4) via a two-stage auger system. In the fluidized bed, the organics are thermally decomposed under exclusion of oxygen. The fluidizing gas is derived from the permanent gases from pyrolysis (gas recycle). The volatile degradation products are discharged, together with the resulting aerosols, with the fluidizing gas at the top of the reactor. Coke particles and entrained sand particles are separated in multi-cyclone systems. The hot gas flow is suddenly cooled to room temperature in jet scrubbers or quenchers. The quench liquid consists of either previously derived pyrolysis oil or a non-miscible hydrocarbon liquid. The condensed oil is collected in a container. The aerosol content of the cold gas stream is passed through one or more electrostatic precipitators, where the remaining oil droplets in the gas phase are collected. A part of the thus purified pyrolysis gas is recycled via a compressor as fluidizing gas into the reactor. As the pyrolysis process in fluidized bed reactors is largely endothermic, heat must be supplied. This can, for example, be done by burning the resulting pyrolysis coke and warming of the recycle gas. The pyrolysis gas, which mainly consists of carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), is also burned and used for pre-drying of the feedstock.

The achievable oil yields (including reaction water) are about 70%, based on dry biomass. The optimum temperature range is 450–500°C [1, 30]. Under optimized pyrolysis conditions the yields shown in Table 2 are achieved.

The largest demonstration plants with stationary fluidized bed reactors were operated by the company Dynamotive, Canada. Their patented Biotherm<sup>®</sup> process was realized in systems with 100 tons/day biomass throughput (West Lorne,

Table 2 Vields from		D 1	a	36.1			
numerative decomposition of		Poplar	Spruce	Maple			
various types of wood in	Process conditions						
bubbling fluidized bed	Temperature (°C)	504	500	508			
reactors [31]	Water content (wt%)	5.2	7.0	5.9			
	Particle size (mm)	1.0	1.0	1.0			
	Residence (s)	0.47	0.65	0.47			
	Yields based on dry wood mass						
	Reaction water (wt%)	9.55	11.90	9.60			
	Coke (wt%)	16.50	12.90	13.45			
	Oil (anhydrous) (wt%)	62.70	67.40	67.45			
	Gas (wt%)	11.25	7.80	9.50			
	Including CO	4.70	3.80	4.10			
	CO <sub>2</sub>	5.90	3.40	4.90			
	H <sub>2</sub>	0.02	0.02	0.01			
	CH <sub>4</sub>	0.44	0.38	0.34			
	C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	0.19	0.20	0.15			

Canada) and 200 tons/day (Guelph, Canada) [32]. However, because of financial difficulties, the plants have been partially dismantled. Currently, there are no important plants using bubbling fluidized bed technology.

#### 1.2.2 Circulating Fluidized Bed Reactors

In parallel with plants with bubbling fluidized bed technologies for the pyrolytic decomposition of organic substances, circulating fluidized bed reactors (see Fig. 2) have been developed. They have maximum throughput capacities in the range 400–4,000 kg/h [3]. Circulating fluidized beds have the advantage of having extremely high heating rates and short product residence times. Circulating fluidized beds have a lot of similar positive characteristics as stationary fluidized beds. However, the residence time of the coke corresponds to that of the gases and vapors. Furthermore, the sand and coke are subject to greater abrasion, so that separation of solids from the hot gas stream is more difficult and the organic oils may contain more coke [3].

In systems based on circulating fluidized beds (see Fig. 5) the finely ground biomass particles with a particle size of less than 1–3 mm are laterally fed into the circulating fluidized sand bed.

At the same time, the resulting coke and the bed material (sand) is continuously removed from the reactor. In a first cyclone, the sand is separated from the flow of material and recycled to the reactor. The further entrained coke is separated in a second cyclone and burned to provide the heat for the process (e.g., for heating the bed material). The remaining vapors flow into the cooling system where they are condensed with conventional technology (i.e., scrubbers and quenchers) to form the liquid end product.



Fig. 5 Components of fast pyrolysis with a circulating fluidized bed reactor [29]

Circulating fluidized bed processes are used on a large scale in Canada and Finland. The Canadian company Ensyn Technologies, Inc. markets its process as "Rapid Thermal Processing<sup>®</sup> (RTP)." Six plants have been built to date for Red Arrow, Manitowoc, WI, USA, which sells a portion of the bio-oil as liquid smoke flavoring. Here, the complete bio-oil is not used but only the water-soluble, low molecular weight components. The remainder is burned to generate energy. In Ontario, Ensyn operates a demonstration plant with a throughput of 3,200 kg/h, and specifies the energy and mass balance as given in Fig. 6.

In 2013, Valmet in Finland (formerly Metso) put into operation a fast pyrolysis plant [30, 34, 35] (Fig. 7). It was a joint development with a consortium of research and industrial partners (VTT, Fortum, Metso) and designed to produce 50,000 tons of bio-oil per year, which can replace light fuel oil in a district heating network of the city of Joensuu. It is the equivalent of a heat supply for 10,000 households. The feature of the system is the integration of the pyrolysis unit into an existing cogeneration plant based on wood combustion in a fluidized bed boiler. This plant provides enough hot sand by which a slip stream is used for the integrated pyrolysis system. The by-products coke and permanent gases are simply recycled into the combustion chamber of the main system. Forest residue from the nearby environment is the sole feedstock.



Fig. 6 Energy and mass balance of the RTP<sup>®</sup> Processes of the company Ensyn [33]



Fig. 7 Principle of integrated pyrolysis system of Valmet in Joensuu, Finland [35]

## 1.2.3 Rotating Cone Reactors

Instead of pneumatically fluidized heat carriers, the required heat energy can also be provided by mechanical fluidization of the hot sand with a reactor equipped with a rotating cone (Fig. 2) [36, 37]. This RCR technology (Rotating Cone Reactor) was developed at the beginning of the 1990s at the University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands [38, 39]. The crushed organic solids (e.g., sawdust) and preheated sand are transported in separate lines to the bottom of the rotating cone and mixed there intensively. By centrifugal force in the rotating cone, the solids are pressed against the hot inner wall and creep upward. On the way to the top, the biomass particles



Fig. 8 Process scheme for a pyrolysis plant with rotating cone reactor (RCR) [40]

decompose on the hot surface and in the presence of the hot sand. The remaining coke – along with the hot sand – leaves the reactor at the edge of the reactor wall. The resulting volatile pyrolysis products leave the hot surface and are condensed with cold bio-oil in a corresponding cooling device. Sand and coke are discharged, the coke burned in a special burner, and the sand reheated and returned into the reactor (Fig. 8).

The technology has been further developed by the company BTG Biomass Technology Group BV, Enschede, NL. BTG itself operates a 1,700 —tons/year pilot plant. In May 2015, a demonstration plant (EMPYRO) with a capacity of 120 tons/day went into operation in Hengelo [30, 41]. The oil from this plant is co-combusted in a boiler from a dairy company and replaces 70% of fossil natural gas. The feedstock is fines from the handling of wood pellets, which are imported from Canada and USA via Rotterdam. The material provides ideal conditions for fast pyrolysis, as grinding is virtually omitted because the feedstock is of uniform quality and very homogeneous.

#### 1.2.4 Twin-Screw Reactors

This type of reactor is used at the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT) at laboratory and demonstration scales and has been further developed. The pyrolysis principle can be described as follows: The dry and chopped biomass is used for fast pyrolysis at atmospheric pressure in a twin-screw mixing reactor and mixed with hot mechanically fluidized sand as heat carrier (ratio of ca. 1:10 to 1: 5). In



mechanical fluidization, high heat losses for the circulating hot gas stream are avoided, as is the case in fluidized beds. Chopped straw and hot sand (heat carrier, 500°C) are mixed together at one point of the twin screw reactor. Heating and pyrolytic conversion of biomass particles at about 500°C occurs within less than 3 s. Pyrolysis vapors and light coke particles are blown out of the reactor (coke separation in cyclones). This produces 40–70% of an organic condensate (pyrolysis oil) and 15–40% of pyrolysis coke. The rest is a non-condensable pyrolysis gas, whose combustion heat can be used either alone or optionally together with part of the resulting coke for heating the circulating sand to reaction temperature or for drying and preheating the biomass. The process principle is described in Fig. 9 [42].

In the process demonstration unit (PDU, 10 kg/h) of KIT, numerous studies have been carried out to investigate the pyrolytic behavior of various biomasses and to explore the basics for the development and testing of the bioliq<sup>®</sup> concept described in Sect. 3.1.4.

To demonstrate the bioliq<sup>®</sup> process, the entire process chain – fast pyrolysis of wheat straw, energy densification, high pressure entrained flow gasification, gas cleaning, and fuel synthesis – was completely put into operation on the premises of KIT in 2014 [44–47]. The fast pyrolysis unit with a rate of 500 kg/h (2 MW<sub>th</sub>) is being further developed and operated in cooperation with Lurgi GmbH, Frankfurt (see. Fig. 10).

It is used for the generation of an energy-dense, free-flowing "bioliq-Syncrude," a mixture of pyrolysis oil and pyrolysis coke. First, the chopped wheat straw is converted at 500°C in a twin screw reactor to pyrolysis vapors and fine coke. The



Fig. 10 Process flow diagram of the fast pyrolysis with double screw reactor [44]

latter is separated and the vapor is liquefied after cooling into an organic and an aqueous condensate.

For the rapid heating of biomass, a heat transfer circuit is used with a five- to tenfold excess of sand vs biomass. The sand is reheated in the circuit with the hot flue gases. Coke therein can be burned to meet the energy needed for heating and pyrolysis of biomass. The fine coke particles in the smoke and product gas are separated in cyclones. A quench cooler forms a heavy oil-like organic condensate. Aerosols formed thereby are held back by an electric filter before the aqueous condensate is obtained at ambient temperature. The remainder is a combustible pyrolysis gas, which consists essentially of carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, and hydrocarbons, and may be used for flue gas generation. Under optimum process conditions their energy content (ca. 10% of the original biomass energy content) is sufficient to meet fully the energy needs for heating and pyrolysis of biomass.

The powdered pyrolysis coke and pyrolysis condensates are mixed to form a suspension (bioliq-Syncrude). The size distribution of coke particles is critical to obtain a transportable and storable mixture, which can be converted quickly and efficiently into synthesis gas in the subsequent gasification.

Fig. 11 Ablative pyrolysis principle of hot rotating disk (technical design of the BTO<sup>®</sup> method)



#### 1.2.5 Ablative Reactors

"Ablation" is often used to remove material by heat. In meteorology, ablation means the slow melting of glaciers and in medicine laser ablation is used to remove cancerous tissue. Transferred to pyrolysis, it means that biomass particles are decomposed by pyrolysis through direct contact with a hot reactor surface (see Fig. 11). The scientific basis of ablative pyrolysis was studied by Lédé et al. based on the Broido–Shafizadeh pyrolysis model [48–51]. Here, the wood particles are literally brought to melting and evaporation on their contact surface by the thermal energy input together with the help of the contact pressure. Hence, in ablative pyrolysis – in contrast to fluidized bed technology – the particle size is not essential. Even wood chips can be used, because the poor thermal conductivity of the biomass means remaining portion of the particle is almost unaffected.

When pressing biomass at the hot surface, a liquid film is formed initially (similar to that between blade and ice when skating), which decomposes instantaneously. The peculiarity of the ablative procedure is that no transport gas is necessary to remove the volatile pyrolysis products because the resulting product gases take on this task. In contrast to fluidized bed reactors, however, ablative systems are mechanically more complex and therefore more difficult to scale up.

The effect of ablation can be intensified by generating additional pressing and moving forces. Such pressure forces may be established mechanically or by centrifugal force, whereas the movement forces are generated either mechanically or hydrodynamically. This principle can be implemented in different ways, for example, by using a cyclone [52–54] with a centrifugal reactor [55–57] or a rotating surface in the form of a disc [58–60] or cylinder [3, 61, 62].



Fig. 12 Structure of the BTO process [59]

Reactor with Rotating Disk

In the following, the technical approach with a rotating disk is illustrated, which was developed and tested in the last few years by PYTEC, Hamburg at pilot scale (250 kg/h, Fig. 11). The complete BTO process is shown in Fig. 12.

In PYTEC's technical implementation of ablative pyrolysis, the hot disk is vertical. The biomass is pressed against the disk by ten hydraulically operated pistons with pressures of 30 bar [63]. The hot gases are released from fine coke and ash through a cyclone and then quenched with cold bio-oil, and aerosols are collected with an electrostatic precipitator and deposited in a knock-out pot. The pyrolysis oil should then be burned in a 12-cylinder MB-diesel engine of a CHP plant (combined heat and power). However, it never occurred in long-term experiments, so that the project was stopped.

Reactors with Horizontal Drum

The diameter of a disc reactor cannot be easily further upscaled. To circumvent this problem, a system has been approved, designed, and built by CLAAS (agricultural machineries) with a rotating drum reactor, and tested at Fraunhofer UMSICHT, Oberhausen [64]. The basic idea was previously published by a French group [51]. They reported that there were no significant differences in the embodiments of the ablative pyrolysis (drum or disc). In both cases, they found similar ablation rates.

#### 1.2.6 Vacuum Reactors

A special form of fast pyrolysis is heating under vacuum (see Fig. 2). In this system, the feedstock (e.g., chips, pieces of bark) is introduced via an airlock into the vacuum chamber in which a pressure of about 15 kPa prevails. [65]. The reactor is equipped with a heated endless belt, which conveys the biomass slowly through the reactor and also ensures that the particles are turned around. The heat transfer to the belt on which the pyrolytic decomposition of the organic material takes place is via heating plates, which are flowed through by a molten salt of potassium nitrate, sodium nitrate, and sodium nitrite. Typically, temperatures of around 500°C are reached. The residence time of the material to be pyrolyzed within the reactor can be half an hour or more. However, the pyrolysis products can be rapidly removed from the hot reaction zone with a vacuum pump. As with the other systems, the vapors are condensed in a cooling apparatus. The remaining permanent gases and coke can be combusted and are used to heat the salt bath [66].

In Canada, such a pilot plant with a processing capacity of 3.5 tons/h of coniferous bark was operated until 2004. The liquid products should be used for the production of phenol formaldehyde resins [67–69]. Heart of the system was a 13 m long horizontal reactor. This plant of the company Pyrovac has meanwhile been dismantled.

## 2 Pyrolysis Oil: Characterization and Upgrading

#### 2.1 General Characterization

Fast pyrolysis of woody biomass results in a single-phase, low viscosity liquid with a dark red to very dark brown color and a water content in the range 25–30%. The dark color is caused by the presence of micro-carbon particles. Oils, which are condensed by a hot gas filtration, appear transparent with a honey-yellow color. The fast pyrolysis oil consists mainly of a mixture of alcohols, furans, aldehydes, phenols, organic acids, oligomeric carbohydrates, and oligomeric lignin fractions. Chemically, they consist of several hundred individual components with the following functional groups: acetyl groups, carbonyl groups, esters, acetals, hemiacetals, alcohols, vinyl groups, aromatic compounds, and phenols. A typical composition of pyrolysis oil divided into GC-detectable components, polar components (HPLC detectable), oligomers (pyrolytic lignin), and water is shown in Fig. 13. The composition is dependent on the feedstock, the pyrolysis deposition system, and the storage conditions.

Pyrolysis oils are – in contrast to mineral oils – immiscible with fossil fuels and other hydrocarbons because of their high polarity. They can, however, be mixed in any ratio with lower alcohols, but have limited miscibility with water. If too much water is added (about 35%), phase separation occurs, and a heavy tar-like liquid is



 Table 3
 Typical physical and chemical properties of fast pyrolysis oils and petroleum-based fuel oils [71]

	Pyrolysis	Light fuel oil	Heavy fuel oil
Water content (wt%)	20-30	~0	~0
pH	2.0-3.5	-	-
Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	1.1–1.3	0.845	0.99–0.995
Viscosity at 40°C (centistokes)	15–35°	2.0-4.5	180-420 max
Calorific value (MJ/kg)	16–19	42.8	About 40
Ash content (%)	0.01-0.1	0.001 max	0.08 max
Flash point (°C)	40–110	60 min	65 min
Carbon content (wt%)	32–49	90	90
Hydrogen content (wt%)	6–8	10	10
Oxygen content (wt%)	44-60	0.01	12:01
Sulfur content (wt%)	< 0.05	0.001 max	1.0 max
Nitrogen content (wt%)	<0.4	0.02	0.4
Solids content (wt%)	<0.5	0	0
Pour point (°C)	-9 to -36	–5 min	15 max
Calorific value (MJ/kg)	13–18	42.6	40.6

formed below the aqueous phase. The tarry phase contains mostly of lignin-derived oligomers. The water-soluble portion of the oils contains mainly pyrolysis products from cellulose and hemicellulose as well as low molecular phenols from lignin.

Table 3 shows important physico-chemical properties of pyrolysis oils. For comparison, data for light and heavy fuel oil are also listed. The water content of the pyrolysis liquids results partly from the water content in the biomass and partly from the reaction water from dehydration of carbohydrates. Too much water in the oil (>40 wt%) leads to calorific value reduction and phase separation. To control the water content in the oils, therefore, the water content of the biomass used should not be higher than 10%.

The pH of the oils is in the acidic range. This is because of the organic acids produced during the pyrolysis (e.g., formic acid, acetic acid) derived from the hemicellulose and the lignin. Therefore, special attention should be paid to materials coming into bio-oil contact.

The viscosity of the oils can vary over a wide range, depending greatly on the particular water content, the content of volatile constituents, and the storage period.

Table 4Requirements for fast pyrolysis oils for use as fuel oil (ASTM D7544-12)	Property	Grade G	Grade D
	Calorific value (MJ/kg)	15	15
	Water content (wt%), max	30	30
	Solids content (wt%), max	2.5	0.25
	Kinematic viscosity at 40°C (mm <sup>2</sup> /s)	125	125
	Density at 20°C (kg/dm <sup>3</sup> )	1.1–1.3	1.1-1.3
	Sulfur content (wt%), max	0.05	0.05
	Ash content (wt%), max	0.25	0.15
	pH	Declare	Declare
	Flash point (°C), min	45	45
	Pour point (°C), max	-9	-9

After several months of storage, the oils prone to viscosity increase because of the reactive components which tend to polymerize. [72]. However, these effects can easily be limited by addition of small amounts of alcohols [73, 74]. In addition, stability improvements can also be achieved by removing highly volatile components [75].

The calorific values of pyrolysis liquids are calculated from the elemental analysis data. It is about 42% of the calorific value of fossil liquid fuels (Table 3).

There are few data on the toxicity of fast pyrolysis oils. They have a characteristic, slightly pungent odor, reminiscent of smokehouses. Skin and eye contact should be avoided. Exact representative toxicological investigations are still pending. Studies of environmental effects in the case of accidents were carried out and published [76]. In general, pyrolysis oils can be classified in the same way as wood smoke or other wood distillates [77]. The pyrolysis oils may contain very small amounts of polycondensed aromatics, which are to be considered as carcinogens in accordance with existing guidelines.

Bio-oils are difficult to distill because they are thermodynamically unstable and prone to polymerization reactions. Similarly, the storage temperatures should not exceed  $30^{\circ}$ C.

In recent years the increasing demand for pyrolysis oils has led to improved identification of fuel properties for potential end users [78–81]. Likewise, an American standard (ASTM D7544-12) was established for pyrolysis oils to be used as a substitute fuel oil (Table 4). A European standard for bio-oils is currently under development [82].

In the field of direct combustion or co-combustion, considerable progress has been made. Substantial amounts, about 40 tons, were used, for example, by Fortum Power and Heat in a district heating system for the city of Masala, Finland. The nozzle head of a special heavy oil burner was modified. In addition to the combustion behavior, the infrastructure and handling of pyrolysis oil was also tested. Despite outdoor temperatures down to  $-20^{\circ}$ C, the system worked properly [34, 79].

## 2.2 Conditioning and Upgrading of Pyrolysis Oils

Depending on the intended use of the pyrolysis oil, more or less complicated processing steps are required. Distinction can be made between physical and chemical treatment methods.

#### 2.2.1 Physical Methods

The parameters in the standard ASTM D7544-12 (see Table 4) are especially important for use as a substitute fuel in oil burners in thermal power stations. Of particular importance are the particle content and the viscosity. Particles such as sand dust (from the fluidized bed pyrolysis) as well as coal and ash particles could be entrained into the pyrolysis oil. The easiest way to avoid such contamination is the use of multi-cyclone systems with a separation range down to 10  $\mu$ m. Deposition of such particles can also be realized with hot gas filters, which are directly integrated in the hot gas stream [83–85]. However, it is likely to produce oil yield losses up to 30% as the forming filter cake favors cracking of the pyrolysis oil to gas and water. Additionally or alternatively, a cold filtration of the oils after condensation is possible. However, this has not yet been carried out at larger scale.

The viscosity of the pyrolysis oil can easily be reduced by adding small amounts of lower alcohols. However, this may reduce the flashpoint [86].

Another possibility is the fractionation of the hot pyrolysis gases by staged condensation. Here, several coolers and electric filters in series are operated at different temperatures, so that fractions with different product concentrations can be obtained. For example, volatile organic acids and water can be separated together. Staged condensation is usually applied to enrich interesting chemical raw materials [22, 87, 88].

In addition to the staged condensation, undesired volatiles such as water and acetic acid can also be greatly reduced by simply increasing the exit gas temperature to about 50°C. The losses and increased viscosity can be compensated by addition of alcohols (e.g., 1-propanol) [86].

Because pyrolysis oils are immiscible with fossil liquid fuels because of their high oxygen content and the associated high polarity, measures are studied to use them with addition of suitable emulsifiers for application as fuel in burners and diesel engines [89–92].

Recently, the miscibility of pyrolysis oil and biodiesel with addition of various alcohols (ethanol, 1-butanol, and 1-propanol) was examined. Addition of 1-butanol gave a single-phase oil with the largest portion of pyrolysis liquid (about 50%) in the mixture [93].

#### 2.2.2 Chemical Methods

To mitigate the acidic nature of the oils, attempts have been made to esterify the acids with alcohols. By injection of alcohol into the hot pyrolysis-gas stream, a significant reduction of the acid number (Total Acid Number, TAN) could be achieved [94]. In a two-stage process, pyrolysis oil can be oxidized first by treatment with oxidizing agents (ozone, hydrogen peroxide). Thereafter, esterification can be achieved by integrating more alcohol in the product, so that the fuel properties with respect to the pH and the calorific value can be improved [95, 96]. Esterification using catalysts (base, acid ion exchange resins) or solid acids is also possible and has been successfully described [97–102].

Another option is to separate the more water-soluble substances by hot water treatment under pressure (high pressure thermal treatment, HPTT) at about 250°C. This leads to the formation of an aqueous phase and a tarry phase with less oxygen. This fraction is more suitable for further upgrading methods such as hydrogen treatment [103].

#### 2.2.3 Catalytic Cracking

The most common processes for upgrading pyrolysis oils employ catalysts. Distinction is made between catalytic cracking and catalytic hydrotreatment. Both options come from petroleum refining technology and have been comprehensively discussed [104].

Catalytic cracking is a standard method of oil refineries. It is used in reactors with fluidized catalyst (usually zeolites) and applied in the presence of water vapor and at temperatures of  $500-550^{\circ}$ C (Fluid Catalytic Cracking, FCC) to split highboiling gas oil into olefins, heavy oils, gasoline, and diesel fractions. In the catalytic fast pyrolysis of biomass (CFP<sup>TM</sup>) – depending on the location of the catalyst – a distinction between "in-situ" and "ex situ" catalysis is made [3, 105, 106]. "In-situ" means the placement of the catalyst in the reactor, that is, the heat carrier sand is replaced by catalyst material. The "ex situ" catalytic pyrolysis approach only affects the catalytic upgrading of the raw, hot pyrolysis gases outside the fast pyrolysis reactor (Fig. 14).

In general, zeolites are used in both process variants, which ideally remove oxygen as  $CO_2$  and water. The major reactions are C–C cleavage, hydrogen transfer, isomerization, dehydration, decarboxylation, and decarbonylation [108] (see Fig. 17). Among the zeolites, the microporous ZSM-5 has been used most often, but materials such as mesopore MCM-41 and SBA-15, as well as metal oxides or inorganic carrier materials with copper, nickel, palladium, and platinum impregnation, have also been studied [109]. The use of ZSM-5 can be attributed to the successful use of the material in the mobile MTG process (methanol-to-gaso-line) where methanol reacts over H-ZSM-5 to give chain-like hydrocarbons. In the early 1980s the conversion of oxygen-containing pyrolysis products was reported



Fig. 14 In-situ and ex-situ alternatives for catalytic cracking of fast pyrolysis [107]



Fig. 15 Example of an "in-situ" catalytic fast pyrolysis process of KIOR, USA [116]

[110, 111]. Although the C:O ratio of methanol and pyrolysis oil is similar (about 1:1), pyrolysis oil lacks the necessary amount of hydrogen. Hence, rather alkylated benzenes and other aromatics are formed [112] as well as unwanted coke [113, 114].

Some companies in the United States such as Envergent [115], Kior [116, 117] (see Fig. 15), and RTI [117] have already developed processes using the in situ approach in the pilot and demonstration scales. The specific production of aromatics such as benzene, toluene, and xylene (BTX) is under development by the company Anellotech, USA [118]. They operate the Biomass-to-Aromatics (BTA) process, which is based on modifications of the ZSM-5 catalyst [119–125]. Recently it was possible, for example, by reducing the outer pore diameter of a HZSM-5



catalyst and doping with gallium, to increase selectivity for *p*-xylene from 33% to 95% [126]. However, a lot of research work is still necessary to improve the selectivity and yield of desired products in the CFP process.

#### 2.2.4 Hydrotreatment

Treatment with hydrogen is another option to convert raw pyrolysis oils into products that are used both in conventional refineries because they can be mixed with fossil oil and directly as "drop-in" fuel. Excellent reviews are available on the historical development of the hydrogen treatment of pyrolysis oils [26, 127]. The main rationale for the use of hydrogen is the elimination of oxygen through water formation and the hydrogenation of unsaturated bonds (hydrodeoxygenation, HDO). The reactions are usually carried out in two stages. First, a hydrogen treatment (hydrotreatment) is carried out for the hydrogenation of double bonds, whereby the thermal stability is increased. Here, highly active noble metal catalysts and relatively mild temperatures are usually applied (ca. 200°C) at 200 bar hydrogen pressure. The next stage involves hydrocracking to crack the previously stabilized intermediate products under more severe conditions (300-450°C) and to hydrogenate further so that more oxygen is removed in the form of water (see Fig. 16). Here noble metal catalysts (Pt, Pd, Ru) are often used on carbon carriers because of their good chemical stability, but also noble metals on ZrO<sub>2</sub> and NiMo and CoMo on alumina or silica are used. Because of the high oxygen content of the pyrolysis products and the plurality of possible reactions, long residence times are required. Typical liquid hourly space velocities (LHSV) are 0.1–1.5. The hydrogen consumption is in the region of  $1-10 \text{ m}^3$  per liter of bio-oil [25].

Figure 17 summarizes the main cleavage reactions occurring in the catalytic upgrading of pyrolysis oils.



Fig. 17 Major reactions of pyrolysis oil components in hydrodeoxygenation (HDO) [129]

	Pyrolysis oil	Catalytic cracking	Catalytic HDO	Petroleum
Yield <sub>Py-oil</sub>	100	12–14	21-65	-
Yieldwater phase		24–28	13-49	-
Yield <sub>gas</sub>		6–13	3–15	-
Yield <sub>coke</sub>		26–39	4-26	-
Oil properties				
Water (wt%)	15-30	-	1.5	0.1
рН	2.8-3.8	-	5.8	-
Density (kg/L)	1.05-1.25	-	0.76-1.2	0.86
Viscosity (cP)	40-100	-	1–5	180
Energy (MJ/kg)	16–19	21–39	42-45	44
C (wt%)	55-65	61–79	85-89	83-86
H (wt%)	5–7	2-8	10-14	11-14
O (wt%)	28-40	13-24	<5	<1
N (wt%)	<0.4	-	-	<1
S (wt%)	< 0.05	-	< 0.005	<4
Ash (wt%)	<0.2	-	-	0.1
H/C	0.9–1.5	0.3–1.8	1.3-2.0	1.5-2.0
O/C	0.3-0.5	0.1-0.3	<0.1	~0

 Table 5
 Characteristics of pyrolysis, catalytic pyrolysis oil and refined petroleum [129]

Table 5 shows fundamental differences of yields and physico-chemical properties of fuels, which are created with the help of the aforementioned variants "catalytic cracking" and "catalytic deoxygenation" (HDO) as compared to untreated pyrolysis oil and fossil crude oil. Note the low yields after the cleavage reactions, which can be explained by the removal of oxygen and increased coke formation.

To reduce the cost of hydrogen, multistage processes are being developed, such as UOP (USA), where, in a first stage, the pyrolysis oil is cleaned from metals by ion exchange resins, followed by distillation to lower the water content to <15%. After that, esterification follows to lower the acidity, with subsequent hydrogen treatment for partial deoxygenation with a neutral catalyst. There follows a second deoxygenation step and the recycling of previously obtained intermediates from the first and second stages of the hydrotreater [130, 131]. Another refinement process (Biomass Into gasoil, BINGO) is described by IFP (France), where raw pyrolysis oil is mixed with other hydrocarbons and partially deoxygenated intermediates and fed to the hydrocracker [127, 132].

# **3** Pyrolysis Oil Applications

An overview of the possible utilization lines of pyrolysis oil is given in Fig. 18.

Thus, one can distinguish between an energetic and a chemical or material use. Against this background, the main uses of pyrolysis oils are discussed below.



Fig. 18 Alternative uses for pyrolysis oil from biomass
#### 3.1 Heat and Power

A thermal or energy recovery from pyrolysis oils is possible through a number of different techniques and procedures.

#### 3.1.1 Combustion and Co-firing

Combustion of pyrolysis oil is considered to be the easiest application for this specific fuel. Because of its properties, some modifications are required on the combustion system and operating conditions. Co-combustion with fossil fuels is a simple way to introduce this fuel in the energy market. Also, 100% pyrolysis oil combustion has been demonstrated. In contrast to solid biomass, pyrolysis oil can also be co-fired with natural gas [80].

Pyrolysis oils resemble heavy fuel oil in a way (see Table 3), but because of their relatively high water content, ignition is delayed. However, they can be burned in a similar way to heavy fuel oils when appropriate modifications of spray nozzles and combustion parameters are selected. The oil grades are now regulated by an ASTM standard (see Table 4) and a European standards is in course of preparation. In the literature there are numerous references to the combustion characteristics, quality requirements, and emissions [78, 79, 133–135]. The most important criterion apart from the calorific value is the oil viscosity, as it affects atomization and therefore the droplet size [79]. It is advantageous for combustion when the combustion chamber is preheated to 600–800°C using fossil fuels. One major problem is the long-term stability and acidity of the pyrolysis liquids. [136].

Numerous combustion tests, especially in Finland and the Netherlands, have shown that after adaption of burner and combustion chamber, combustion is possible without problems. For example, at Stork (Hengelo, Netherlands) pine pyrolysis oil and heavy fuel oil were combusted in a low  $NO_x$ -double register burner for gas and oils. The measured emissions are shown in Table 6.

The co-combustion of pyrolysis oil in gas and oil burners is currently being tested in demonstration scale. Fortum operates in its cogeneration plant in Joensuu, Finland, a fast pyrolysis unit of Valmet (formerly Metso) with a circulating fluidized bed (30 MW) (see Fig. 2). The system was developed in close cooperation

**Table 6** Comparison of emissions from the combustion of heavy fuel oil and pyrolysis oil of pineoil [137]

	Heat		Feed	02	CO		
	total	Heat in	rate	(vol	(ppm	$NO_x (mg/m_0^3)$	Dust (mg/m <sub>0</sub> <sup>3</sup>
Oil	(MW)	oil (%)	(kg/h)	%)	vol)	@3%O <sub>2</sub> )	@3%O <sub>2</sub> )
Heavy	4.7	100	411	4.0	<5	550	30
fuel oil							
Pyrolysis	2.6	76	606	3.0	<50	133	13-20
oil							

with the Finnish Research Centre (VTT) and Metso (now Valmet). The raw material is exclusively wood residues from the environment.

Another demonstration project on "Energy and Materials from Pyrolysis" has been established in Hengelo, Netherlands [41]. As part of the project EMPYRO (see Fig. 8) a 44,000<sup>--</sup>-tons/year plant has been built based on rotating cone reactor (RCR) technology.

#### 3.1.2 Diesel Engines

Diesel engines can be used in stationary applications to provide heat and electricity. An interesting feature of these engines is that high electrical efficiency (>40%) can be obtained even at relatively low capacities. So far this application has not been demonstrated [138].

The direct use of pyrolysis oils in stationary diesel engines for power generation is possible in principle; However, long-term tests were not successful. In general, the high viscosity, the slow burn rate, the lack of lubricity, and low pH create the biggest problems [139–141].

#### 3.1.3 Gas Turbines

Gas turbines can be used to produce power or a combination of power and heat. Typically, natural gas is used as a fuel, but liquid fuels can also be used. To enable fueling of pyrolysis oil, modifications are needed to the fuel supply system, and modifications to the burner chamber might be required to overcome lower combustion speed [142].

Pyrolysis oil can in principle be used in gas turbines [143]. In the experiments realized so far, however, it has become clear that the fine coal and ash content in the oil is problematic as it significantly reduces the lifetime of the turbine. Orenda Aerospace in Canada conducted extensive experiments with a GT2500 turbine Mashproekt (2.5 Megawatt electric (MWe)) from Ukraine. Numerous optimization steps have been undertaken. Changes were made in the atomization stage to reduce the droplet size. The delivery system was modified to take account of the higher viscosity and corrosiveness. Likewise, burner and nozzle were adjusted so that larger amounts of fuel could be injected [140]. A complete gas turbine package including a heat recovery unit and fuel pretreatment skid was delivered and installed at the Dynamotive demonstration site in West Lorne. Regretfully, because of the lack of sufficient pyrolysis oil, the unit has hardly been operated [142]. The combustion of pyrolysis oil has been tested. It was found that at 70-100% load it is possible to burn 100% pyrolysis oil without the need for mixing it with ethanol. Based on this research, OPRA has been able to design a new combustor for burning pyrolysis oil and other low-calorific fuels [142].

#### 3.1.4 Gasifiers

Solid biomass has a low energy density, so the transport of large volumes of plant material, as is the case for the production of synthetic fuels, can be uneconomic. Therefore, a two-step approach (bioliq<sup>®</sup>) is currently being pursued for the conversion of biomass into synthetic fuels in Germany. It is based on the concept of feeding several remote fast pyrolysis units with straw, which has a low volumetric energy density ( $\approx 2$  GJ/m<sup>3</sup>). Within a radius of 30 km, straw can be economically transported to local fast pyrolysis units (100 MW<sub>th</sub> each). The products bio-oil and pyrolysis coke are mixed to generate a so-called "bio-slurry" with a ten times higher energy density. Hence, it could be economically transported over long distances (>200 km) by rail or barge to a large-scale pressurized entrained-flow gasification plant (1–5 GW<sub>th</sub>). There, the slurries are processed at pressures >3 MPa with industrial oxygen ( $\lambda \approx 0.3$ ) to a tar-free raw synthesis gas low in methane. After gas cleaning and conditioning, synthesis of DME and methanol follow [44, 144].

## 3.2 Chemical and Material Use

In addition to the use of pyrolysis oil as an energy source, it can also be used as a chemical feedstock and as a starting point for a whole series of materials. In the following examples, major options are briefly presented.

#### 3.2.1 Use with Fractionation

*Fractional Condensation* This method is useful for enriching certain fractions during the pyrolysis process by condensing the hot vapors at different temperatures by use of condensers and electrostatic precipitators (ESP) in series. Depending on the temperature, acids, phenols, and sugars can be concentrated and further processed and purified [23, 145, 146]. The higher molecular fraction collected in an ESP showed superior insecticidal properties [147].

Addition of Water By addition of water, pyrolysis oil can simply be separated into an aqueous phase and an organic phase. The water-soluble phase is used for the production of a liquid smoke aroma for the food industry. It serves for preservation, flavoring, and coloring in the treatment of meat, sausages, and cheese to replace the time-consuming and ineffective traditional smoking procedure. In addition, smoke flavorings are increasingly used in soups, sauces, and snacks. Within the EU such liquid smoke flavorings need to be authorized by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) [148, 149].

Further options are based on the isolation of levoglucosan (LG) (i.e., 1,6-anhydro-beta-glucopyranose) which resembles, in general, the main product of cellulose pyrolysis. Levoglucosan could serve as chiral synthon to control

stereo-selective reactions during synthesis. Other applications are, for example, based on the use as educt for the synthesis of surfactants, biodegradable polymers, and resins [150–152]. Additionally, a pretreatment of biomass with mineral or organic acids as well as the use of catalysts in the pyrolyzer with zeolites significantly increase the yield of LG [12, 153, 154]. Acid washing removes ashes, thus favoring the formation of anhydrosugars and minimizing ring opening of the glucose molecule to form low molecular weight species such as glycolaldehyde, hydroxypropanone, etc.

The addition of water also results in the separation of so-called "pyrolytic lignin" [155–158]. This powder-like lignin-derived material could be converted to aromatics [159] or used to replace phenol in phenol formaldehyde resins [40] as it contains stable radicals [160]. Furthermore, hydrotreatment has been described recently to produce refinery intermediates alkylphenolics and aromatics [161, 162].

*Change of pH* By changing the pH of pyrolysis liquids, neutral and phenolic components can be fractionated, which can be used for the production of phenolic resins for the formulation of adhesives in the wood industry for panel production [163-165].

#### 3.2.2 Use Without Fractionation

Unchanged, complete pyrolysis oil can partially replace phenol and formaldehyde as a binder for particleboards, especially when bark is pyrolyzed, which provides a phenol-containing pyrolysis oil because of its polyphenolic structure. The degree of substitution of fossil phenol can be 30–40%, saving formaldehyde up to 30% [67, 166–169]. Up to now, no further industrial use of this route has been reported.

#### 3.2.3 Extraction of Chemicals

Several attempts have been made to use extraction techniques for the separation of chemical groups. Liquid-liquid extraction with solvents [170] resulted in a fractionation of sugars and phenolics. The successful separation of acetic acid and glycolaldehyde has also been reported [171]. In addition, advanced extraction methods such as gas extraction with supercritical  $CO_2$  have been studied. Enrichment of furanoids, pyranoids, benzenoids, acids, aldehydes, ketones, furans, and aromatic compounds was observed. However, the extraction of esters, alcohols, and aldehydes was ineffective [172–174].

## 4 Conclusions

Biomass pyrolysis is the thermal depolymerization of biomass at modest temperatures in the absence of added oxygen. The spectrum of products from biomass pyrolysis depends on the process temperature, pressure, and residence time of the liberated pyrolysis vapors [123]. A biorefinery based on pyrolysis oil is designed much as a traditional refinery. First, biomass is converted into pyrolysis oil which can be a de-centralized process. Second, pyrolysis oil from different installations is collected at the biorefinery where it is divided into different fractions. Each fraction can be upgraded with a different technology to derive finally the optimal combination of high value and low value products from the pyrolysis oil. The major highvalue compounds which are foreseen are phenols, organic acids, furfural, HMF, and levoglucosan [175–177]. The major advantage of a pyrolysis biorefinery is the possibility of decentralized production of the oil in regions where abundant biomass is readily available, making it possible to keep the minerals in the country of origin and creating the possibility of cost-effective transport of the resulting liquids. The basis for creating high-value compounds is the cost-effective fractionation of the pyrolysis oil. Fractionation results in various qualities of oil needed for further upgrading into fine chemicals, petrochemicals, automotive fuels, and energy [178].

### References

- Carpenter D, Westover TL, Czernik S, Jablonski W (2014) Biomass feedstocks for renewable fuel production: a review of the impacts of feedstock and pretreatment on the yield and product distribution of fast pyrolysis bio-oils and vapors. Green Chem 16(2):384–406. doi:10. 1039/c3gc41631c
- 2. Xiu SN, Shahbazi A (2012) Bio-oil production and upgrading research: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 16(7):4406–4414. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2012.04.028
- 3. Bridgwater AV (2012) Review of fast pyrolysis of biomass and product upgrading. Biomass Bioenergy 38:68–94. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.01.048
- Butler E, Devlin G, Meier D, McDonnell K (2011) A review of recent laboratory research and commercial developments in fast pyrolysis and upgrading. Renew Sust Energ Rev 15 (8):4171–4186. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2011.07.035
- 5. Bulushev DA, Ross JRH (2011) Catalysis for conversion of biomass to fuels via pyrolysis and gasification: a review. Catal Today 171(1):1–13. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2011.02.005
- Deng CJ, Liu RH, Cai JM (2008) State of art of biomass fast pyrolysis for bio-oil in China: a review. J Energy Inst 81(4):211–217. doi:10.1179/174602208X305219
- 7. Babu BV (2008) Biomass pyrolysis: a state-of-the-art review. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 2:393-414
- Zhang Q, Chang J, Wang T, Xu Y (2007) Review of biomass pyrolysis oil properties and upgrading research. Energy Convers Manag 48(1):87–92. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2006.05. 010
- 9. Mohan D, Pittman CU, Steele PH (2006) Pyrolysis of wood/biomass for bio-oil: a critical review. Energy Fuel 20(3):848–889. doi:10.1021/Ef0502397
- Meier D, Faix O (1999) State of the art of applied fast pyrolysis of lignocellulosic materials a review. Bioresour Technol 68:71–77

- 11. Bai X, Brown RC, Fu J, Shanks BH, Kieffer M (2014) The influence of alkali and alkaline earth metals and the role of acid pretreatments in production of sugars from switchgrass based on solvent liquefaction. Energy Fuel 28(2):1111–1120. doi:10.1021/ef4022015
- Oudenhoven SRG, Westerhof RJM, Aldenkamp N, Brilman DWF, Kersten SRA (2013) Demineralization of wood using wood-derived acid: towards a selective pyrolysis process for fuel and chemicals production. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 103:112–118. doi:10.1016/j.jaap. 2012.10.002
- Mourant D, Wang Z, He M, Wang XS, Garcia-Perez M, Ling K, Li C-Z (2011) Mallee wood fast pyrolysis: effects of alkali and alkaline earth metallic species on the yield and composition of bio-oil. Fuel 90(9):2915–2922. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2011.04.033
- Ma Z, Troussard E, van Bokhoven JA (2012) Controlling the selectivity to chemicals from lignin via catalytic fast pyrolysis. Appl Catal A 423–424 (Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.):130–136. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2012.02.027
- Nowakowski DJ, Bridgwater AV, Elliott DC, Meier D, de Wild P (2010) Lignin fast pyrolysis: results from an international collaboration. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 88(1):53–72
- Beis SH, Mukkamala S, Hill N, Joseph J, Baker C, Jensen B, Stemmler EA, Wheeler MC, Frederick BG, Van HA, Berg AG, De SWJ (2010) Fast pyrolysis of lignins. Bioresources 5 (3):1408–1424
- Baumlin S, Broust F, Bazer-Bachi F, Bourdeaux T, Herbinet O, Ndiaye FT, Ferrer M, Lede J (2006) Production of hydrogen by lignins fast pyrolysis. Int J Hydrog Energy 31 (15):2179–2192. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.02.016
- Wan S, Wang Y (2014) A review on ex situ catalytic fast pyrolysis of biomass. Front Chem Sci Eng 8(3):280–294. doi:10.1007/s11705-014-1436-8
- Ruddy DA, Schaidle JA, Ferrell III JR, Wang J, Moens L, Hensley JE (2014) Recent advances in heterogeneous catalysts for bio-oil upgrading via "ex situ catalytic fast pyrolysis": catalyst development through the study of model compounds. Green Chem 16 (2):454–490. doi:10.1039/c3gc41354c
- Marker TL, Felix LG, Linck MB, Roberts MJ (2012) Integrated hydropyrolysis and hydroconversion (IH2) for the direct production of gasoline and diesel fuels or blending components from biomass, part 1: proof of principle testing. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 31 (2):191–199. doi:10.1002/Ep.10629
- Lindfors C, Kuoppala E, Oasmaa A, Solantausta Y, Arpiainen V (2014) Fractionation of bio-oil. Energy Fuel 28(9):5785–5791. doi:10.1021/ef500754d
- 22. Brown RC, Jones ST, Pollard A (2013) Bio-oil fractionation and condensation. US Patent
- Westerhof RJM, Brilman DWF, Garcia-Perez M, Wang Z, Oudenhoven SRG, van Swaaij WPM, Kersten SRA (2011) Fractional condensation of biomass pyrolysis vapors. Energy Fuel 25(4):1817–1829. doi:10.1021/ef2000322
- 24. Elliott DC, Neuenschwander GG, Hart TR (2013) Hydroprocessing bio-oil and products separation for coke production. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 1(4):389–392. doi:10.1021/ Sc300103y
- 25. Elliott DC, Hart TR, Neuenschwander GG, Rotness LJ, Olarte MV, Zacher AH, Solantausta Y (2012) Catalytic hydroprocessing of fast pyrolysis bio-oil from pine sawdust. Energy Fuels 26(6):3891–3896. doi:10.1021/Ef3004587
- 26. Elliott DC (2007) Historical developments in hydroprocessing bio-oils. Energy Fuel 21:1792–1815
- Werther J, Hartge E-U, Heinrich S (2014) Fluidized-bed reactors status and some development perspectives. Chem Ing Technol 86(12):2022–2038. doi:10.1002/cite.201400117
- Okasha F, Zaater G, El-Emam S, Awad M, Zeidan E (2014) Co-combustion of biomass and gaseous fuel in a novel configuration of fluidized bed: combustion characteristics. Fuel 133:143–152. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2014.05.015
- 29. PyNE (2014) http://www.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=69. Accessed 22 Dec 2014

- Meier D, van de Beld B, Bridgwater AV, Elliott DC, Oasmaa A, Preto F (2013) State-of-theart of fast pyrolysis in IEA bioenergy member countries. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 20:619–641. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2012.11.061
- Wehlte S, Meier D, Moltran J, Faix O (1997) The impact of wood preservatives on the flash pyrolysis of biomass. In: Bridgwater AV, Boocock DGB (eds) Developments in thermochemical biomass conversion. Chapman & Hall, London, pp. 206–219
- Dynamotive (2005) An update on the West Lorne bio-oil project. PyNe Newsletter. Aston University, Birmingham (18), pp 3–4
- Ensyn (2011) http://www.ensyn.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/EC-Corp-PPT-April-2011.pdf. Accessed 22 Dec 2014
- 34. Solantausta Y, Oasmaa A, Sipila K, Lindfors C, Lehto J, Autio J, Jokela P, Alin J, Heiskanen J (2012) Bio-oil production from biomass: steps toward demonstration. Energy Fuel 26 (1):233–240. doi:10.1021/ef201109t
- Valmet (2015) Fortum's bio-oil plant commissioned in Joensuu. http://www.valmet.com/ products/biofuels-and-biomaterials/bio-oil/. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- Meier D, Faix O (1998) State of the art of applied fast pyrolysis of lignocellulosic materials a review. Bioresour Technol 68(1):71–77. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(98)00086-8
- Venderbosch RH, Prins W (2010) Fast pyrolysis technology development. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4(2):178–208. doi:10.1002/bbb.205
- Wagenaar BM (1994) The rotating cone reactor for rapid thermal solids processing. PhD Dissertation, Twente University of Technology
- Wagenaar BM, Kuipers JAM, Prins W, Swaaij WPM (1994) The rotating cone flash pyrolysis reactor. In: Bridgwater AV (ed) Adv Thermochem Biomass Convers, [Ed. Rev. Pap. Int. Conf.], 3rd, Meeting Date 1992, vol 2. Blackie, Glasgow, pp 1122–1133
- 40. BTG (2015) http://www.btgworld.com/en/rtd/technologies/bio-materials-chemicals. Accessed 21 Dec 2015
- 41. EMPYRO (2014). http://www.empyroproject.eu. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- 42. Dahmen N, Dinjus E, Henrich E (2007) Synthesis gas from biomass problems and solutions en route to technical realization. Oil Gas Eur Mag 33(1/2007):31–34
- 43. KIT (2015) https://www.ikft.kit.edu/english/255.php. Accessed 8 May 2015
- 44. Dahmen N, Dinjus E, Kolb T, Arnold U, Leibold H, Stahl R (2012) State of the art of the bioliq (R) process for synthetic biofuels production. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 31 (2):176–181. doi:10.1002/ep.10624
- 45. Kolb T, Eberhard M, Dahmen N, Leibold H, Neuberger M, Sauer J, Seifert H, Zimmerlin B (2013) BtL - the bioliq process at KIT. DGMK Tagungsber 2013–2 (Preprints of the DGMK-Conference "New Technologies and Alternative Feedstocks in Petrochemistry and Refining", 2013):81–87
- 46. Dahmen N, Dinjus E, Henrich E (2013) Synthetic fuels from the biomass. In: Renewable energy. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, pp 83–87. doi:10.1002/9783527671342. ch13
- Dahmen N, Dinjus E, Henrich E (2012) The Karlsruhe bioliq process. Synthetic fuels from biomass. In: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, pp 83–87
- 48. Lédé J, Li HZ, Villermaux J (1987) Fusion-like behaviour of wood pyrolysis. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 10:291–308
- 49. Martin H, Lede J, Li Z, Villermaux J, Moyne C, Degiovanni A (1986) Ablative melting of a solid cylinder perpendiculary pressed against a heated wall. Int J Heat Mass Transf 29 (9):1407–1415
- 50. Lédé J, Panagopoulos J, Li HZ, Villermaux J (1985) Fast pyrolysis of wood direct measurement and study of ablation rate. Fuel 64(11):1514–1520
- 51. Boutin O, Kiener P, Li HZ, Lédé J (1997) Temperature of ablative pyrolysis of wood. Comparison of spinning disk and rotating cylinder experiments. In: Kaltschmitt M, Bridgwater AV (eds) Biomass gasification and pyrolysis. State of the art and future perspectivs. CPL Press, Newbury, pp. 336–344

- 52. Lédé J, Broust F, Ndiaye F-T, Ferrer M (2007) Properties of bio-oils produced by biomass fast pyrolysis in a cyclone reactor. Fuel 86(12–13):1800–1810. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2006.12. 024
- 53. Bramer EA, Brem G (2003) A new technology for fast pyrolysis of biomass, development of the PyRos reactor. In: Bridgwater A (ed) Pyrolysis and gasification of biomass and waste. CPL Press, Newbury, pp. 63–73
- 54. Lede J (2000) The cyclone: a multifunctional reactor for the fast pyrolysis of biomass. Ind Eng Chem Res 39(4):893–903. doi:10.1021/ie990623p
- 55. Bech N, Larsen MB, Jensen PA, Dam-Johansen K (2009) Modelling solid-convective flash pyrolysis of straw and wood in the pyrolysis centrifuge reactor. Biomass Bioenergy 33 (6–7):999–1011. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.03.009
- 56. Trinh TN, Jensen PA, Dam-Johansen K, Knudsen NO, Soerensen HR, Hvilsted S (2013) Comparison of lignin, macroalgae, wood, and straw fast pyrolysis. Energy Fuel 27 (3):1399–1409. doi:10.1021/ef301927y
- 57. Ashcraft RW, Heynderickx GJ, Marin GB (2012) Modeling fast biomass pyrolysis in a gas-solid vortex reactor. Chem Eng J 207–208:195–208. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2012.06.048
- Schöll S, Klaubert H, Meier D (2006) Bio-oil from a new ablative pyrolyser. In: Bridgwater AV, Boocock DGB (eds) Science in thermal and chemical biomass conversion, vol 2. CPL Press, Newbury, pp. 1372–1378
- Meier D, Schöll S, Klaubert H, Markgraf J (2006) Betriebsergebnisse der ersten BTO-Anlage zur ablativen Flash-Pyrolyse von Holz mit Energiegewinnung in einem BHKW. In: DGMK-Fachbereichstagung "Energetische Nutzung von Biomassen", Velen, 2006. DGMK, Hamburg, DM 164, pp 115–120
- Schöll S, Klaubert H, Meier D (2004) Holzverflüssigung durch Flash-Pyrolyse mit einem neuartigen ablativen Pyrolysator. In: DGMK (ed) DGMK-Fachbereichstagung "Energetische Nutzung von Biomassen", Velen, 19–21, April 2004. DGMK, Hamburg, DM 136, pp 47–54
   PyNE (2014) Reactors. http://www.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=69. Accessed 23 Dec 2014
- Apfelbacher A, Conrad S, Schulzke T (2014) Ablative fast pyrolysis-potential for cost effective conversion of agricultural residues. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 33(3):669–675. doi:10.1002/Ep.12017
- 63. Meier D, Schöll S, Klaubert H, Markgraf J (2007) Practical results from PYTEC's biomassto-oil (BTO) pocess with ablaive pyrolyser and diesel CHP plant. In: Bridgwater AV (ed) Bio € - success and visions for bioenergy. CPL Scientific Publishing Service Ltd, Newbury, pp. 1–5
- 64. Schulzke T, Apfelbacher A, Conrad S (2014) Development of a mobile flash pyrolysis unit for herbaceous crop residues (straw). In: DGMK (ed) DGMK-Fachbereichstagung "Konversion von Biomassen", Rotenburg a.d. Fulda. DGMK, Hamburg, pp 41–48
- 65. Yang J, Blanchette D, de Caumia B, Roy C (2001) Modelling, scale-up and demonstration of a vacuum pyrolysis reactor. In: Bridgwater AV (ed) Progress in thermochemical biomass conversion, vol 2. Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp. 1296–1311
- 66. Roy C, Morin D, Dube F (1997) The biomass pyrocycling process. In: Kaltschmitt M, Bridgwater AV (eds) Biomass gasification and pyrolysis: state of the art and future prospects. CPL Press, Newbury, pp. 307–315
- Gagnon M, Roy C, Riedl B (2004) Adhesives made from isocyanates and pyrolysis oils for wood composites. Holzforschung 58(4):400–407. doi:10.1515/HF.2004.060
- 68. Chan FD, Rield B, Wang X-M, Roy C, Lu X, Amen-Chen C (2000) Wood adhesives from pyrolysis oil for OSB. In: Wood adhesives 2000, 7th International Symposium S. Lake Tahoe, NV, United States, 2000. Forest Products Society, pp 125–132
- 69. Roy C, Calve L, Lu X, Pakdel H, Amen-Chen C (1999) Wood composite adhesives from softwood bark-derived vacuum pyrolysis oils. In: Overend RP, Chornet E (eds) Biomass, Proc. Biomass Conf. Am. 4th, vol 1. Elsevier Science, Oxford, pp 521–526
- Meier D, Windt M (2014) Analysis of bio-oils. In: Hornung A (ed) Transformation of biomass-theory to practice. Wiley, Chichester, pp. 227–256

- Lehto J, Oasmaa A, Solanausta Y, Kytö M, Chiaramonti D (2013) Fuel oil quality and combustion of fast pyrolysis bio-oils. VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Espoo, Finland
- Oasmaa A, Korhonen J, Kuoppala E (2011) An approach for stability measurement of woodbased fast pyrolysis bio-oils. Energy Fuel 25(7):3307–3313. doi:10.1021/ef2006673
- Oasmaa A, Kuoppala E, Selin J-F, Gust S, Solantausta Y (2004) Fast pyrolysis of forestry residue and pine. 4. Improvement of the product quality by solvent addition. Energy Fuel 18 (5):1578–1583. doi:10.1021/ef040038n
- Diebold JP, Czernik S (1997) Additives to lower and stabilize the viscosity of pyrolysis oils during storage. Energy Fuel 11(5):1081–1091
- Oasmaa A, Kuoppala E (2003) Fast pyrolysis of forestry residue. 3. Storage stability of liquid fuel. Energy Fuel 17(4):1075–1084
- 76. Blin J, Volle G, Girard P, Bridgwater T, Meier D (2007) Biodegradability of biomass pyrolysis oils: comparison to conventional petroleum fuels and alternatives fuels in current use. Fuel 86:2679–2686
- 77. Diebold JP (1997) A review of the toxicity of biomass pyrolysis liquids formed at low temperatures. NREL/Tp-430-22739
- Lehto J, Oasmaa A, Solantausta Y, Kyto M, Chiaramonti D (2014) Review of fuel oil quality and combustion of fast pyrolysis bio-oils from lignocellulosic biomass. Appl Energy 116:178–190. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.11.040
- 79. Lehto J, Oasmaa A, Solantausta Y, Kyto M, Chiaramonti D (2013) Fuel oil quality and combustion of fast pyrolysis bio-oils. VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Espoo, Finland
- PyNE (2006) Pyrolysis oil combustion tests in an industrial boiler. http://www.pyne.co.uk/?\_ id=4. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- Oasmaa A, Peacocke C, Gust S, Meier D, McLellan R (2005) Norms and standards for pyrolysis liquids. End-user requirements and specifications. Energy Fuel 19:2155–2163
- 82. CEN (2015) http://www.biofuelstp.eu/biofuels-standards.html. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- Heidenreich S (2013) Hot gas filtration a review. Fuel 104:83–94. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2012. 07.059
- Baldwin RM, Feik CJ (2013) Bio-oil stabilization and upgrading by hot gas filtration. Energy Fuel 27(6):3224–3238. doi:10.1021/ef400177t
- Scahill J, Diebold JP, Feik C (1997) Removal of residual char fines from pyrolysis vapors by hot gas filtration. In: Bridgwater AV, Boocock DGB (eds) Developments in thermochemical biomass conversion, vol 1. Blackie, London, pp. 253–266. doi:10.1007/978-94-009-1559-6\_ 19
- 86. Oasmaa A, Sipilä K, Solantausta Y, Kuoppala E (2005) Quality improvement of pyrolysis liquid: effect of light volatiles on the stability of pyrolysis liquids. Energy Fuel 19 (6):2556–2561
- Pollard AS, Rover MR, Brown RC (2012) Characterization of bio-oil recovered as stage fractions with unique chemical and physical properties. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 93 (Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.):129–138. doi:10.1016/j. jaap.2011.10.007
- Conrad S, Apfelbacher A, Schulzke T (2014) Fractionated condensation of pyrolysis vapours from ablative flash pyrolysis. Papers of the 22nd European Biomass Conference: Setting the Course for a Biobased Economy, pp 1127–1133
- Ikura M, Mirmiran S, Stanciulescu M, Sawatzky H (1998) Pyrolysis liquid-in-diesel oil microemulsions. USA Patent
- 90. Hernandez JF, Morla JC (2003) Fuel emulsions using biomass pyrolysis products as an emulsifier agent. Energy Fuel 17(2):302–307
- Chiaramonti D, Bonini A, Fratini E, Tondi G, Gartner K, Bridgwater AV, Grimm HP, Soldaini I, Webster A, Baglioni P (2003) Development of emulsions from biomass pyrolysis

liquid and diesel and their use in engines - part 1: emulsion production. Biomass Bioenergy 25(1):85–99

- 92. Chiaramonti D, Bonini A, Fratini E, Tondi G, Gartner K, Bridgwater AV, Grimm HP, Soldaini I, Webster A, Baglioni P (2003) Development of emulsions from biomass pyrolysis liquid and diesel and their use in engines part 2: tests in diesel engines. Biomass Bioenergy 25:101–111
- Alcala A, Bridgwater AV (2013) Upgrading fast pyrolysis liquids: blends of biodiesel and pyrolysis oil. Fuel 109:417–426. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2013.02.058
- Hilten RN, Bibens BP, Kastner JR, Das KC (2009) In-line esterification of pyrolysis vapor with ethanol improves bio-oil quality. Energy Fuel 24(1):673–682. doi:10.1021/ef900838g
- Tanneru SK, Parapati DR, Steele PH (2014) Pretreatment of bio-oil followed by upgrading via esterification to boiler fuel. Energy 73:214–220. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2014.06.039
- 96. Xu J, Jiang J, Dai W, Zhang T, Xu Y (2011) Bio-oil upgrading by means of ozone oxidation and esterification to remove water and to improve fuel characteristics. Energy Fuel 25 (4):1798–1801. doi:10.1021/ef101726g
- 97. Wang JJ, Chang J, Fan JA (2010) Upgrading of bio-oil by catalytic esterification and determination of acid number for evaluating esterification degree. Energy Fuels 24:3251–3255. doi:10.1021/Ef1000634
- 98. Xu XM, Zhang CS, Zhai YP, Liu YG, Zhang RQ, Tang XY (2014) Upgrading of bio-oil using supercritical 1-butanol over a Ru/C heterogeneous catalyst: role of the solvent. Energy Fuels 28(7):4611–4621. doi:10.1021/Ef500968a
- 99. Ying X, Wang T, Ma L, Chen G (2012) Upgrading of fast pyrolysis liquid fuel from biomass over Ru/γ-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst. Energy Convers Manage 55 (Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved):172–177. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2011.10. 016
- 100. Xu Y, Hu X, Li C, Zhou S, Zhu X (2011) Study on upgrading bio-oil by ethanol catalytic esterification with solid super base. Taiyangneng Xuebao 32 (Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved), pp 1361–1364
- 101. Xu Y, Wang TJ, Ma LL, Zhang Q, Liang W (2010) Upgrading of the liquid fuel from fast pyrolysis of biomass over MoNi/gamma-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts. Appl Energy 87(9):2886–2891. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.10.028
- 102. Xu JM, Jiang JC, Sun YJ, Lu YJ (2008) Bio-oil upgrading by means of ethyl ester production in reactive distillation to remove water and to improve storage and fuel characteristics. Biomass Bioenergy 32(11):1056–1061. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2008.02.002
- 103. Mercader FM, Groeneveld MJ, Kersten SRA, Venderbosch RH, Hogendoorn JA (2010) Pyrolysis oil upgrading by high pressure thermal treatment. Fuel 89:2829–2837. doi:10. 1016/j.fuel.2010.01.026
- 104. Huber GW, Corma A (2007) Synergies between bio- and oil refineries for the production of fuels from biomass. Angew Chem Int Ed 46(38):7184–7201. doi:10.1002/Anie.200604504
- Bridgwater AV (1996) Production of high grade fuels and chemicals from catalytic pyrolysis of biomass. Catal Today 29(1–4):285–295
- 106. Bridgwater AV (1994) Catalysis in thermal biomass conversion. Appl Catal A Gen 116 (1-2):5-47
- 107. Lindauer A (2012) Technology Pathway Selection Effort. http://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/ files/2014/03/f14/lindauer\_caafi\_workshop.pdf. Accessed 13 May 2015
- 108. Al-Sabawi M, Chen JW (2012) Hydroprocessing of biomass-derived oils and their blends with petroleum feedstocks: a review. Energy Fuel 26(9):5373–5399. doi:10.1021/ef3006405
- 109. Liu C, Wang H, Karim AM, Sun J, Wang Y (2014) Catalytic fast pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. Chem Soc Rev 43(22):7594–7623. doi:10.1039/C3CS60414D
- 110. Frankiewicz TC (1982) Converting oxygenated hydrocarbons into hydrocarbons
- 111. Frankiewicz TC (1980) The conversion of biomass-derived pyrolytic vapors to hydrocarbons. Occidental Res. Corp

- 112. Diebold J, Scahill J (1988) Biomass to gasoline. Upgrading pyrolysis vapors to aromatic gasoline with zeolite catalysis at atmospheric pressure. ACS Symp Ser 376:264–276
- 113. Iisa K, Stanton AR, Nimlos M (2014) Catalyst deactivation in ex situ and in situ catalytic fast pyrolysis of biomass. In: 248th ACS National Meeting & Exposition, San Francisco, CA, United States, August 10–14, 2014. American Chemical Society, p ENFL-138
- 114. Wang L, Lei H, Bu Q, Ren S, Wei Y, Zhu L, Zhang X, Liu Y, Yadavalli G, Lee J, Chen S, Tang J (2014) Aromatic hydrocarbons production from ex situ catalysis of pyrolysis vapor over zinc modified ZSM-5 in a packed-bed catalysis coupled with microwave pyrolysis reactor. Fuel 129:78–85. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2014.03.052
- 115. Envergent (2015) http://www.envergenttech.com. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- 116. KIOR (2015) http://www.kior.com. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- 117. RTI (2015) http://www.rti.org/page.cfm?obj=27B2CDE6-5056-B100-3149261B9B1FBEF3. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- 118. Anellotech (2015) http://www.anellotech.com. Accessed 23 Oct 2015
- 119. Foster AJ, Jae J, Cheng Y-T, Huber GW, Lobo RF (2012) Optimizing the aromatic yield and distribution from catalytic fast pyrolysis of biomass over ZSM-5. Appl Catal A 423–424:154–161. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2012.02.030
- 120. Cheng Y-T, Wang Z, Gilbert CJ, Fan W, Huber GW (2012) Production of p-xylene from biomass by catalytic fast pyrolysis using ZSM-5 catalysts with reduced pore openings. Angew Chem Int Ed 51(44):11097–11100. doi:10.1002/anie.201205230
- 121. Zhang H, Cheng Y-T, Vispute TP, Xiao R, Huber GW (2011) Catalytic conversion of biomass-derived feedstocks into olefins and aromatics with ZSM-5: the hydrogen to carbon effective ratio. Energy Environ Sci 4(6):2297–2307. doi:10.1039/c1ee01230d
- 122. Jae J, Tompsett GA, Foster AJ, Hammond KD, Auerbach SM, Lobo RF, Huber GW (2011) Investigation into the shape selectivity of zeolite catalysts for biomass conversion. J Catal 279 (2):257–268. doi:10.1016/j.jcat.2011.01.019
- 123. Huber GW, Jae J, Vispute T, Carlson T, Tompsett G, Cheng Y-T (2009) Catalytic pyrolysis of solid biomass and related biofuels, aromatic, and olefin compounds. US Patent
- 124. Carlson TR, Tompsett GA, Conner WC, Huber GW (2009) Aromatic production from catalytic fast pyrolysis of biomass-derived feedstocks. Top Catal 52(3):241–252. doi:10. 1007/s11244-008-9160-6
- 125. Carlson TR, Vispute TP, Huber GW (2008) Green gasoline by catalytic fast pyrolysis of solid biomass derived compounds. ChemSusChem 1(5):397–400. doi:10.1002/cssc.200800018
- 126. Cheng Y-T, Jae J, Shi J, Fan W, Huber GW (2012) Production of renewable aromatic compounds by catalytic fast pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass with bifunctional Ga/ ZSM-5 catalysts. Angew Chem 124(6):1416–1419. doi:10.1002/ange.201107390
- 127. Radlein D, Quignard A (2013) A short historical review of fast pyrolysis of biomass. Oil Gas Sci Technol Rev IFP Energies Nouvelles 68(4):765–783. doi:10.2516/ogst/2013162
- 128. PyNE (2015) Bio-oil hydroprocessing. http://ww.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=131-quick-1. Accessed 22 Oct 2015
- 129. Zacher AH, Olarte MV, Santosa DM, Elliott DC (2014) A review and perspective of recent bio-oil hydrotreating research. Green Chem 16:491–515
- 130. Traynor T, Brandvold TA (2012) Methods for producing low oxyygen biomass-derived pyrolysis oils. USA Patent
- 131. Traynor T, Brandvold TA (2012) Methods for producing low oxygen biomass-derived pyrolysis oils
- 132. Radlein D, Wang J, Yuan Y, Quignard A (2012) Methods of upgrading biooil to transportation grade hydrocarbon fuels
- 133. No S-Y (2014) Application of bio-oils from lignocellulosic biomass to transportation, heat and power generation-a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 40:1108–1125. doi:10.1016/j.rser. 2014.07.127

- 134. Khodier A, Kilgallon P, Legrave N, Simms N, Oakey J, Bridgwater T (2009) Pilot-scale combustion of fast-pyrolysis bio-oil: ash deposition and gaseous emissions. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 28(3):397–403. doi:10.1002/ep.10379
- Wornat MJ, Porter BG, Yang NYC (1994) Single droplet combustion of biomass pyrolysis oils. Energy Fuel 8(5):1131–1142
- 136. Czernik S, Johnson DK, Black S (1994) Stability of wood fast pyrolysis oil. Biomass Bioenergy 7(1-6):187-192
- 137. PyNE (I) (2014) http://ww.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=127. Accessed 30 Dec 2014
- 138. PyNE (2015) Combustion in diesel engines. http://ww.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=129. Accessed 14 May 2015
- 139. van de Beld L, Florijn J, Holle E (2013) The use of pyrolysis oil and pyrolysis oil derived fuels in diesel engines for CHP applications. Appl Energy 102:190–197
- 140. Chiaramonti D, Oasmaa A, Solantausta Y (2007) Power generation using fast pyrolysis liquids from biomass. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 11(6):1056–1086
- 141. Jay DC, Rantanen OA, Sipilä KH, Nylund NO (1995) Wood pyrolysis oil for diesel engines. In: ASME1995 fall technical conference, Milwaukee, 24–27 Sept 1995
- 142. PyNE (2015) Combustion in gas turbines. http://ww.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=128. Accessed 14 May 2015
- 143. Andrews RG, Zukowski S, Patnaik PC (1997) Feasibility of firing an industrial gas turbine using a biomass derived fuel, vol. 1. Developments in thermochemical biomass conversion. Blackie Academic, London
- 144. Dahmen N, Dinjus E, Henrich E (2012) Synthetic fuels from the biomass. In: Renewable energy: sustainable concepts for the energy change, 2nd edn. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, pp 83–87. doi:10.1002/9783527671342.ch13
- 145. Chang C-C, Wu S-R, Lin C-C, Wan H-P, Lee H-T (2012) Fast pyrolysis of biomass in pyrolysis gas: fractionation of pyrolysis vapors using a spray of bio-oil. Energy Fuel 26 (5):2962–2967. doi:10.1021/ef201858h
- 146. Tumbalam Gooty A, Li D, Briens C, Berruti F (2014) Fractional condensation of bio-oil vapors produced from birch bark pyrolysis. Sep Purif Technol 124:81–88. doi:10.1016/j. seppur.2014.01.003
- 147. Caceres LA, McGarvey BD, Briens C, Berruti F, Yeung KKC, Scott IM (2015) Insecticidal properties of pyrolysis bio-oil from greenhouse tomato residue biomass. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 112:333–340. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2015.01.003
- 148. Theobald A, Arcella D, Carere A, Croera C, Engel KH, Gott D, Gurtler R, Meier D, Pratt I, Rietjens IMCM, Simon R, Walker R (2012) Safety assessment of smoke flavouring primary products by the European Food Safety Authority. Trends Food Sci Technol 27(2):97–108. doi:10.1016/J.Tifs.2012.06.002
- 149. Meier D (2011) Flüssiger Rauch Eine Herausforderung für die Analyse. J Culinaire 13:68–73
- 150. Longley CJ, Howard J, Fung DPC (1994) Levoglucosan recovery from cellulose and wood pyrolysis liquids. In: Bridgwater AV (ed) Adv Thermochem Biomass Convers [Ed. Rev. Pap. Int. Conf.], 3rd, Meeting Date 1992, vol 2. Blackie, London, pp 1441–1451
- 151. Longley CJ, Fung DP (1994) Potential applications and markets for biomass-derived levoglucosan, vol 2. Adv Thermochem Biomass Convers [Ed. Rev. Pap. Int. Conf.], 3rd, Meeting Date 1992. Blackie
- 152. Witczak ZJ (1994) Levoglucosenone and levoglucosans chemistry and applications. ATL Press, Mount Prospect, IL
- 153. Srinivasan V, Adhikari S, Chattanathan SA, Tu M, Park S (2014) Catalytic pyrolysis of raw and thermally treated cellulose using different acidic zeolites. Bioenergy Res 7(3):867–875. doi:10.1007/s12155-014-9426-8
- 154. Li Q, Steele PH, Yu F, Mitchell B, Hassan E-BM (2013) Pyrolytic spray increases levoglucosan production during fast pyrolysis. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 100:33–40. doi:10. 1016/j.jaap.2012.11.013

- 155. Scholze B, Hanser C, Meier D (2001) Characterization of the water-insoluble fraction from fast pyrolysis liquids (pyrolytic lignin). Part II. GPC, carbonyl groups, and 13C-NMR. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 58-59:387–400
- 156. Scholze B, Meier D (2001) Characterization of the water-insoluble fraction from fast pyrolysis liquids (pyrolytic lignin). Part I. Py-GC/MS, FTIR, and functional groups. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 60:41–54
- 157. Bayerbach R, Nguyen VD, Schurr U, Meier D (2006) Characterization of the water-insoluble fraction from fast pyrolysis liquids (pyrolytic lignin). Part III. Molar mass characteristics by SEC, MALDI-TOF-MS, LDI-TOF-MS, and Py-FIMS. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 77:95–101
- 158. Bayerbach R, Meier D (2008) Characterization of the water-insoluble fraction from fast pyrolysis liquids (pyrolytic lignin). Part IV. Structure elucidation of oligomeric molecules. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 85:98–107. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2008.10.021
- 159. Zhao Y, Deng L, Liao B, Fu Y, Guo QX (2010) Aromatics production via catalytic pyrolysis of pyrolytic lignins from bio-oil. Energy Fuel 24:5735–5740. doi:10.1021/ef100896q
- 160. Meng J, Moore A, Tilotta D, Kelley S, Park S (2014) Toward understanding of bio-oil aging: accelerated aging of bio-oil fractions. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2(8):2011–2018. doi:10.1021/ sc500223e
- 161. French RJ, Black SK, Myers M, Stunkel J, Gjersing E, Iisa K (2015) Hydrotreating the organic fraction of biomass pyrolysis oil to a refinery intermediate. Energy Fuel 29 (12):7985–7992. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.5b01440
- 162. Kloekhorst A, Wildschut J, Heeres HJ (2014) Catalytic hydrotreatment of pyrolytic lignins to give alkylphenolics and aromatics using a supported Ru catalyst. Catal Sci Technol 4 (8):2367–2377. doi:10.1039/C4CY00242C
- 163. Czernik S, Bridgwater AV (2004) Overview of applications of biomass fast pyrolysis oil. Energy Fuel 18(2):590–598
- 164. Sukhbaatar B, Steele PH, Kim MG (2009) Use of lignin separated from bio-oil in oriented strand board binder phenol-formaldehyde resins. Bioresources 4(2):789–804
- 165. Chan F, Riedl B, Wang XM, Lu X, Amen-Chen C, Roy C (2002) Performance of pyrolysis oil-based wood adhesives in OSB. For Prod J 52(4):31–38
- 166. Roy C, Calve L, Lu X, Pakdel H, Amen-Chen C (1999) Wood composite adhesives from softwood bark-derived vacuum pyrolysis oils. Elsevier Science, pp 521–526
- Amen-Chen C, Riedl B, Wang XM, Roy C (2002) Softwood bark pyrolysis oil-PF resols part
   Resin synthesis and OSB mechanical properties. Holzforschung 56(2):167–175
- 168. Amen-Chen C, Pakdel H, Roy C (2001) Production of monomeric phenols by thermochemical conversion of biomass: a review. Bioresour Technol 79(3):277–299
- 169. Panagiotis N (1998) Binders for the wood industry made with pyrolysis oil. Newsletter of the PyNe-Network 6, Aston University, Birmingham, pp 6–7
- 170. Wei Y, Lei H, Wang L, Zhu L, Zhang X, Liu Y, Chen S, Ahring B (2014) Liquid-liquid extraction of biomass pyrolysis bio-oil. Energy Fuel 28(2):1207–1212. doi:10.1021/ ef402490s
- 171. Vitasari CR, Meindersma GW, de Haan AB (2012) Glycolaldehyde co-extraction during the reactive extraction of acetic acid with tri-n-octylamine/2-ethyl-1-hexanol from a wood-based pyrolysis oil-derived aqueous phase. Sep Purif Technol 95:39–43. doi:10.1016/j.seppur.2012. 04.016
- 172. Naik S, Goud VV, Rout PK, Dalai AK (2010) Supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> fractionation of bio-oil produced from wheat-hemlock biomass. Bioresour Technol 101(19):7605–7613
- 173. Rout PK, Naik MK, Naik SN, Goud VV, Das LM, Dalai AK (2009) Supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> fractionation of bio-oil produced from mixed biomass of wheat and wood sawdust. Energy Fuel 23(12):6181–6188. doi:10.1021/ef900663a
- 174. Feng Y, Meier D (2015) Extraction of value-added chemicals from pyrolysis liquids with supercritical carbon dioxide. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 113:174–185. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2014. 12.009

- 175. PyNE (2015) Materials and Products. http://www.pyne.co.uk/?\_id=133. Accessed 10 May 2015
- 176. Branca C, Galgano A, Blasi C, Esposito M, Di Blasi C (2010) H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>-catalyzed pyrolysis of corncobs. Energy Fuel 25(1):359–369. doi:10.1021/ef101317f
- 177. Vlachos D, Chen J, Gorte R, Huber G, Tsapatsis M (2010) Catalysis center for energy innovation for biomass processing: research strategies and goals. Catal Lett 140 (3-4):77-84. doi:10.1007/s10562-010-0455-4
- 178. Jong ED, Higson A, Walsh P, Wellisch M (2012) Bio-based chemicals-value added products from biorefineries. International Energy Agency (IEA)

# **Products Components: Alcohols**



Henning Kuhz, Anja Kuenz, Ulf Prüße, Thomas Willke, and Klaus-Dieter Vorlop

**Abstract** Alcohols ( $C_nH_{n+2}OH$ ) are classified into primary, secondary, and tertiary alcohols, which can be branched or unbranched. They can also feature more than one OH-group (two OH-groups = diol; three OH-groups = triol). Presently, except for ethanol and sugar alcohols, they are mainly produced from fossil-based resources, such as petroleum, gas, and coal. Methanol and ethanol have the highest annual production volume accounting for 53 and 91 million tons/year, respectively. Most alcohols are used as fuels (e.g., ethanol), solvents (e.g., butanol), and chemical intermediates.

This chapter gives an overview of recent research on the production of shortchain unbranched alcohols (C1–C5), focusing in particular on propanediols (1,2and 1,3-propanediol), butanols, and butanediols (1,4- and 2,3-butanediol). It also provides a short summary on biobased higher alcohols (>C5) including branched alcohols.

**Keywords** Biobased alcohol, Butanediol, Butanol, Ethanol, Higher alcohols, Methanol, Propanediol, Propanol

#### Contents

1	Methanol	340
2	Ethanol	342
3	Mono-ethylene Glycol	345
4	1-Propanol	345
5	Isopropanol	346
6	Propanediols (1,2-PDO, 1,3-PDO)	346
7	<i>n</i> -Butanol	349
8	Isobutanol (2-Methylpropanol)	352

H. Kuhz, A. Kuenz, U. Prüße (🖂), T. Willke, and K.-D. Vorlop

Thünen-Institute of Agricultural Technology, Bundesallee 50, 38116 Braunschweig, Germany e-mail: at@thuenen.de

9	2-Butanol	353
10	Butanediols	354
11	2,3-Butanediol	354
12	1,4-Butanediol	357
13	Miscellaneous	357
	13.1 Higher Alcohols (>C5)	357
	13.2 Sugar Alcohols	359
14	Summary	360
Refe	erences	362

## 1 Methanol

Methanol (CH<sub>3</sub>OH) is a colorless and polar liquid with a global annual consumption of 70 million tons in 2015 [1]. It is one of the most important bulk chemicals and is mainly used as a starting material or solvent for synthesis [2]. The major products produced from methanol are formaldehyde, methyl tertiary-butyl ether/tertiary-amylmethylether (MTBE/TAME), dimethyl ether (DME), gasoline, and acetic acid. Approximately one-third of global methanol production (MTBE/TAME/gasoline/DME) is consumed in the fuel sector (Fig. 1).

Industrial methanol production is based on synthesis gas  $(CO + H_2)$  which can be manufactured from any carbon-containing source, such as fossil raw materials,  $CO_2$ , or biomass. Currently, large-scale production of synthesis gas is dominated by the conversion of fossil resources, mainly natural gas and coal [2, 4]. At present about 200,000 tons of methanol are derived from biomass feedstock [5]. In principle this bio-methanol can be produced in two different ways (Fig. 2). Gasification of "dry" biomass (e.g., waste wood) results in a gas mixture consisting of CO,  $CO_2$ ,  $H_2$ ,  $H_2O$ ,  $CH_4$ , higher hydrocarbons, and aromatic compounds. However, the fermentation of "wet" biomass yields a biogas rich in methane. To be suitable for methanol synthesis, both gases initially require a complex purification step. Additionally, the methane-rich biogas has to be converted to synthesis gas by steam





reforming. For the production of methanol a H<sub>2</sub>:CO ratio slightly above 2 is desired and therefore the gas composition needs to be conditioned (e.g., by adding H<sub>2</sub> and removing CO<sub>2</sub>) before the synthesis gas can selectively react over a heterogeneous catalyst to produce methanol [4]. The industrial methanol synthesis is conducted at 200–300 °C and 5–10 MPa with a catalyst based on Cu-ZnO-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. A high selectivity greater than 99% is achieved [2].

Methanol production from wood via gasification and syngas presents the most cost-efficient method from all potential regenerative raw materials. It is superior to every other process in terms of total calorific efficiency, cost of cultivation and harvesting, and net yield of methanol per hectare. Wood is planted every 10–30 years, can be harvested and used throughout the entire year, and does not cause any environmental problems [4].

The biotechnological routes to methanol have been recently reviewed by Straathof [6], Ge [7], and Hwang [8]. They discussed the oxidation of methane to methanol by methylotrophs (e.g., *Methylosinus trichosporium*) and ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (e.g., *Nitrosomonas* spp.), both using the enzyme methane monooxygenase. This route is widely known as part of the global carbon cycle. However, the maximum achievable methanol concentrations of 1.1 g/L [9] are far from economical production. Nevertheless, some patents are pending [10, 11].

Methanol is also a by-product of natural ethanol production by various yeasts in wine making. However, in these cases methanol is not desired for health and flavor reasons [12]. Aside from ethanol, isopropanol, *n*-butanol, and 2,3-butanediol, it can also be produced during syngas fermentation [13]. Nevertheless, high titers can only be attained if product inhibition is overcome [14] and acetate production is reduced. Tyurin and Kiriukhin [15] engineered an acetogenic *Clostridium* to tolerate 95 g/L methanol and achieved more than 70 g/L methanol from a 20% CO<sub>2</sub>/80%

 $H_2$  gas blend in continuous fermentation. The  $CO_2$  could be provided from waste gas and the hydrogen from water via photovoltaic-driven electrolysis.

### 2 Ethanol

Almost all ethanol worldwide is produced by yeast in a fermentation process [16]. The process is characterized by high selectivity, low accumulation of by-products, high ethanol yield, high productivity, and high tolerance toward both increased ethanol and substrate concentrations [17]. Ethanol is produced by direct fermentation of glucose or sucrose which are obtained either through hydrolysis of starch (glucose) or extraction of sugar crops (sucrose). Nearly 40% of bio-ethanol is based on sugar crops, such as sugarcane and sugar beet, and 60% corresponds to starch crops [18]. Industrial ethanol production is usually performed in three steps: (1) provision of a solution of fermentable sugars, (2) fermentation, and (3) ethanol separation and purification, in general by distillation-rectificationdehydration [19]. The main difference between ethanol production from sugar crops, from starch crops, and from lignocellulosic biomass is the step to obtain the fermentable sugars. In contrast to sugar crops, whose sugars can be directly extracted, starch crops and lignocellulosic biomass require an additional pre-treatment to acquire a fermentable sugar solution [18]. The pre-treatment for starch crops is an easy and inexpensive process but for lignocellulosic biomass difficult and costly because of its complex structure. Thus far, the high cost of the pre-treatment is still an economical bottleneck in the production of cellulosic ethanol [20, 21].

Industrial ethanol production from lignocellulosic materials with Saccharomyces cerevisiae has two drawbacks which significantly decrease ethanol yield and productivity: (1) the presence of fermentation inhibitors (e.g., furfural, phenolic compounds) produced in the pre-treatment and (2) the inability of the yeast to utilize pentoses (xylose, arabinose). As a consequence, recent research is concerned with better lignocellulose utilization by engineering bacteria (e.g., Zymomonas mobilis) and yeasts to express genes which convert pentoses into ethanol [22, 23]. Furthermore, industry and academia are always searching for cheaper substrate and medium components to reduce process costs. The use of algal biomass for ethanol production has recently been reviewed by Li [24]. A potential future substrate for ethanol production could be syngas [13]. Presently there are already three companies (Coskata, INEOS Bio, and LanzaTech) that strongly promote gas-fermentation technologies to produce ethanol, all running demonstration plants. For example, the New Zealand Company LanzaTech has applied various patents using proprietary microbes and technologies. They are running pilot and demonstration plants (up to 300 tons/year), mainly in the USA and China. Two commercial production sites (30,000–90,000 tons/year) are expected to come on stream in 2016 [25].



Fig. 3 Versatility of bio-ethanol as a platform chemical [39]

World bio-ethanol production has grown to 91 million tons (116 billion L) in 2013 with the USA (57%) and Brazil (27%) as the two major producers [26]. Ethanol is mainly used as a biofuel which is blended into fossil fuel-based petrol to promote energy independence and mitigate negative environmental impacts of fossil fuels [27]. However, bio-ethanol was also recently identified as one of the potential top biobased raw materials for the chemical industry because of its broad potential to become a renewable and versatile platform molecule and established high volume production [28].

The advantage of bio-ethanol compared to other biomass feedstock (e.g., lignin, cellulose, fatty acids) is the capability of being directly converted into "drop-in" chemicals [29]. For that reason, bio-ethanol can be used to produce some of the same building block chemicals that are currently obtained from petroleum, such as ethylene (ethene): 146 million tons/year [30], propylene (propene): 78 million tons/ year [31], isobutylene (2-methylpropene): 10 million tons/year [32], 1,3-butadiene: 11.5 million tons/year [33], and BTX aromatics: 95 million tons/year [34] and for the production of oxygenated chemicals, such as acetaldehyde: 1.3 million tons/ year [35], acetic acid: 10.4 million tons/year [36], and 1-butanol: 3.8 million tons/year [37]. Furthermore, hydrogen: 55 million tons/year [38] is also available from ethanol by steam reforming (Fig. 3).

Bio-ethanol can be converted to the various bulk and commodity chemicals either by chemo-catalytic or fermentation processes. Currently ethylene, ethyl acetate, acetaldehyde, and acetic acid are already industrially manufactured to some extent from ethanol. Thereby, only acetic acid is obtained through fermentation because food purity laws state that for the production of vinegar only acetic acid of biological origin can be used [40, 41]. Table 1 gives an overview of chemicals available from ethanol by chemo-catalytic processes.

Table 1 Chemicals available from ethanol by chemo-ci	atalytic processes				
Reaction	Catalyst	Selectivity (%)	Yield (%)	Status	Reference
$CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_2 = CH_2 + H_2O$	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> -based	≥90 Ethylene	<u>&gt;</u> 93	Commercial	[27, 42–44]
$2CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_2 = CHCH_3 + CO_2 + 3H_2$	Sc/In <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	60 Propylene	60	Laboratory	[45-49]
$3CH_3CH_2OH + H_2O \rightarrow i-C_4H_8 + 2CO_2 + 6H_2$	$Zn_xZr_yO_z$	55 Isobutylene	55	Laboratory	[50, 51]
$2CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_2 = CHCH = CH_2 + H_2O + H_2$	MgO-SiO <sub>2</sub>	70 1,3-Butadiene	29	Formerly commercial	[41, 52, 53]
$CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_2 = CH_2 \rightarrow BTX$	Ga-ZSM-5	74 BTX	74	Laboratory	[29, 39]
$CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_3CHO + H_2$	Cu-cat.	90 Acetaldehyde	90	Commercial	[54]
$CH_3CH_2OH + O_2 \rightarrow CH_3COOH + H_2O$	MoVNbO <sub>x</sub>	95 Acetic acid	95	Laboratory	[55]
$2CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_3COCH_3 + CO_2 + 4H_2$	$Cu-La_2Zr_2O_7$	72 Acetone	72	Laboratory	[56]
$2CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_3COOCH_2CH_3 + 2H_2$	Cu-cat.	95 Ethyl acetate	95	Commercial	[57, 58]
$2CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_3CH_2CH_2CH_2OH + H_2O$	Ni/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	80 Butanol	20	Laboratory	[59]
$\rm CH_3\rm CH_2\rm OH + 3\rm H_2\rm O \rightarrow 2\rm CO_2 + 6\rm H_2$	Ni/MgO	95 Hydrogen	95	Laboratory	[09]

rocess	
atal vtic r	
r chemo-c	
ź	
ethanol	
from	
available	
Chemicals	
ble 1	

Location	Company	Start- up year	Bio-ethylene capacity (tons/ year)	Final product	Capacity (tons/year)	Reference
India	India glycols limited	1989	Unknown	MEG	175,000	[5]
Brazil	Braskem	2010	200,000	PE	200,000	
Taiwan	Greencol Tai- wan Corporation	2011	100,000	MEG EO	75,000 40,000	[64]

 Table 2
 Current plants for the production of ethylene from bio-ethanol

## 3 Mono-ethylene Glycol

Mono-ethylene glycol (MEG) is industrially manufactured via thermal hydrolysis of ethylene and used mainly as an antifreeze agent and as a raw material for the manufacture of polyester. Furthermore, it can be directly produced from carbohydrates such as D-xylose [6]. Low yields (0.29 g/g, based on D-xylose) and MEG concentrations (12 g/L) utilizing GMO *Escherichia coli* at a productivity of 0.24 g/L/h have been reported [61].

Another process route to bio-MEG starts with bio-ethanol which is initially dehydrated to bio-ethylene (drop-in strategy). Thus the bio-ethylene can be converted to bio-MEG utilizing existing process technology [5]. In 2009 Coca-Cola announced their PlantBottle<sup>TM</sup> packaging initiative with the aim of producing PET bottles from renewable resources [62]. Initially, Coca-Cola is substituting fossil-based MEG with bio-MEG which has resulted in the production of 620,000 tons of bio-PET (14 wt% bio-MEG) in 2011 [63]. Because of the growing demand, bio-PET capacity is expected to increase to 5 million tons/year in 2020 [63]. Table 2 presents an overview of current plants for the production of MEG, EO, and PE.

## 4 1-Propanol

Industrially, 1-propanol is produced by catalytic hydrogenation of propanal which is derived from the hydroformylation of ethylene. It is mainly used as a solvent, antimicrobial agent, and chemical intermediate [65]. 1-Propanol can also be detected as a product in some *Clostridia* from threonine catabolism, in beer fermentation by yeast, and in propionic acid fermentation by *Propionibacterium acidipropionici* and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* ssp. *shermanii*. Because of low yields and titers, not a single wild type microorganism can produce 1-propanol in significant quantities for industrial applications [66]. Current research therefore focuses on the microbial engineering of different hosts, such as *E. coli* [67], *S. Cerevisiae*, [68] and *Propionibacteria* [66] to improve 1-propanol production. The best results have been reported for a recombinant E. coli with titers up to 10.8 g/L in fed-batch experiments. Another option to produce bio-propanol could be the drop-in replacement of fossil-based ethylene with bio-ethylene derived from bio-ethanol.

#### 5 Isopropanol

Isopropanol is manufactured industrially in two commercial processes: (1) indirect hydration of propylene with  $H_2SO_4$  via a mixture of mono- and diisopropylsulfate esters and (2) direct hydration of propylene over an acidic heterogeneous catalyst. It is used primarily as a solvent in inks and surfactants, as a chemical intermediate, and as a cleaning fluid [65]. Several microorganisms have been reported for isopropanol production, including wild-type *Clostridium beijerinckii*, engineered *E. coli*, and engineered *Clostridium acetobutylicum* [69]. Isopropanol is produced by reduction using an alcohol dehydrogenase from acetone, which is produced in an ABE-fermentation. The best results have been reported for a recombinant *E. coli* with a titer of 40.1 g/L at a yield of 0.24 g/g [70]. Furthermore, the fossil-based substrate propylene for the industrial production could also be substituted by bio-ethanol-derived bio-propylene to obtain bio-isopropanol.

## 6 Propanediols (1,2-PDO, 1,3-PDO)

Glycerol (1,2,3-propanetriol) is the most important feedstock for the production of propanediols. It is a natural chemical linker molecule in most animal and vegetable oils and fats and is used in various industries, notably cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, and food [71]. In the past, glycerol was chemically produced from propylene via the epichlorohydrin route, a method which became obsolete because of the rapid development of biodiesel production by the transesterification of vegetable oils or animal fats [71]. For every 9 tons of biodiesel formed, 1 ton of glycerol is obtained [72]. More than 23 million tons of biodiesel were produced in 2013 and, as a result, 2.3 million tons of glycerol came to the market [73]. The production volume far exceeds the glycerol demand and the surplus is presently used mainly for energy production and animal feed [71]. As early as 2004 the US Department of Energy identified glycerol as one of the top 12 building block chemicals that can be derived from biomass and converted to valuable biobased chemicals or fuels [74]. By chemical transformations, such as hydrogenolysis, dehydration, oxidation, and carboxylation, high-value chemicals can be synthesized [75]. In particular, the selective catalytic hydrogenolysis to 1,2-propanediol and 1,3-propanediol has attracted considerable attention in recent years [71, 72, 75, 76].

With a production volume of 2.18 million tons/year [77], 1,2-PDO is extensively used as a monomer for the production of polyester resins. Moreover, it is used as

anti-freezing agent, additive in nutrition products, solvent for coloring, wetting agent in tobaccos, and component of hydraulic fluids [78]. The industrial production is based almost entirely on the selective hydrolysis of propylene oxide [79].

1,3-Propanediol (production volume: 45,000 tons/year [80] is a diol in the production of polyesters, polycarbonates, and polyurethanes. It can be copolymerized with terephthalic acid to the polyesters SORONA<sup>®</sup> (DuPont) and CORTERRA<sup>®</sup> (Shell), which are used in the manufacture of carpet and textile fibers, exhibiting unique properties in terms of chemical resistance, light stability, elastic recovery, and dyeability. Currently it is produced chemically from ethylene oxide (Shell process) or acrolein (DuPont process) [72, 81, 82] and is biotechnically based on cornstarch by a patented process of DuPont/Tate & Lyle (see below).

In a future biorefinery, biobased propanediols could be obtained by chemocatalytic as well as biotechnological processes. Glycerol hydrogenolysis is a catalytic chemical reaction that breaks a carbon-carbon or carbon-oxygen bond followed immediately by addition of a hydrogen atom [83]. Besides 1,2- and 1,3-PDO, ethylene glycol can also be obtained through hydrogenolysis of glycerol. Many different catalytic systems have been described as active catalysts in the production of 1,2- and 1,3-PDO from glycerol. They can be divided into non-noblemetal, noble-metal, and modified (acid, base, or metal oxide) noble-metal catalysts (Fig. 4). Only with noble-metal catalysts modified with a metal oxide is 1,3-PDO obtained as the main product with selectivities up to 66% (Pt/WOx/AlOOH) [76, 80, 84]. All other catalyst types predominately form 1,2-PDO with high selectivities (>80%) [71, 76, 85]. In 2008 glycerol hydrogenolysis to 1,2-PDO was adopted commercially in a 30,000-tons/year plant by Senergy Chemical, in 2009 at a 6,500-tons/year plant (2009) by a joint venture of Davy Process Technology and Ashland-Cargill, and in 2012 at a 20,000-tons/year plant by Oleon. It is a two-step process with an acetol (hydroxyacetone) intermediate. In the first step, glycerol is converted in the presence of a copper catalyst to acetol which is then further hydrogenated to 1,2-PDO using a similar catalyst. 1,2-PDO selectivities of >95% and a 99\% glycerol conversion have been reported [86].

Furthermore, 1,2- and 1,3-PDO can be obtained by biotechnological processes from different feedstock, such as glycerol and desoxy sugars. The fermentative production of 1,2-PDO can be carried out by two metabolic routes: (1) via lactaldehyde from desoxy sugars (rhamnose, fucose) and (2)via dihydroxyacetonephosphate (DHAP) from arbitrary substrates. The microorganisms used are Clostridia, Enterobacteriaceae, or yeasts [87]. The research on fermentative production of 1,2-PDO was started by Cameron and co-workers in natural 1.2-PDO producer Thermoanaerobacterium the late 1980s. А thermosaccharolyticum reached 1,2-PDO concentrations of up to 9 g/L from glucose [88, 89]. However, a yield of only 50% of the theoretical value required strain optimization. Thus Cameron started extensive research on the engineering of 1,2-PDO-production pathways in microorganisms (e.g., E. coli). Based on this work, Cargill and Ashland projected in 2006 the 1,2-PDO production from glycerol [87]. In addition, ongoing work to develop a production process for 1,2-PDO is



Fig. 4 Selective catalysts for the production of 1,2- and 1,3-propanediol from glycerol [76, 84]

being carried out at the French company Metabolic Explorer (MetEx) [90]. Currently, a titer of 5 g/L can be obtained from sugars with a recombinant *E. coli*.

The microbial conversion of glycerol to 1,3-PDO was first described by August Freund in 1881 [91]. Since then, a multitude of microorganisms naturally capable of 1,3-PDO production have been isolated and characterized. Known 1,3-PDO producers are *Enterobacteriaceae* from the genera *Klebsiella* [92, 93], *Citrobacter* [94], *Enterobacter* [95], *Clostridia* [96], and *Lactobacteriaceae* [97]. Among the wild-type producers *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Clostridium butyricum* are currently considered the most promising for application in an industrial process because of high yields and productivities [98]. Both strains can achieve product concentrations of 80–100 g/L, as summarized by Willke and Vorlop [99] and Wilkens [100]. Although *K. pneumoniae* as a facultative anaerobe is easier to handle, it generally has lower yields than *C. butyricum*. Selected results of microbial production of 1,3-PDO are shown in Table 3. It should be mentioned that, based on the European Directive 2000/54/EC, most microorganisms except some *Lactobacteriaceae and Clostridia* are potential pathogens and classified as harmful [101].

The above-mentioned DuPont/Tate & Lyle process uses a recombinant *E. coli*, in which pathways from yeasts (glucose to glycerol) and *Klebsiella* (glycerol to 1,3-PD) are combined [102]. The titer reached more than 130 g/L. The commercial production of 1,3-PD at Tate & Lyle started in 2006. The production plant was expanded in 2011 by one-third to a capacity of 65,000 tons/year. The product is sold under the brand Susterra<sup>®</sup>. In 2014 another brand of 1,3-PD (Zemea<sup>®</sup>) received USP-FCC approval for the US market [103] and may now be used in cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, and food products [104].

Chen et al. also constructed a pathway in *E. coli* to produce 1,3-PDO directly from glucose. They expressed the new "de novo" pathway starting from homoserine, a universal precursor in protein metabolism. After deamination to 4-hydroxy-2-ketobutyrate and decarboxylation to 3-hydroxypropionaldehyde, a

Strains	Substrates	Fermentation mode	1,3- PDO (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	Yield (g/g)	Reference
Klebsiella pneumonia <sup>a</sup>	Glycerol (pure)	Fed-batch	74.6	-	0.61	[109]
Klebsiella pneumonia <sup>a</sup>	Glycerol (crude)	Fed-batch	80.2	1.15	0.54	[110]
Klebsiella oxytoca <sup>a</sup>	Glycerol (pure) + sucrose	Fed-batch	83.6	1.61	0.62	[92]
Clostridium butyricum	Glycerol (pure)	Fed-batch	93.7	3.3	0.63	[100]
	Glycerol (crude)	Fed-batch	76.2	2.3	0.62	
Clostridium diolis	Glycerol (pure)	Fed-batch	78.5	2.8	0.64	[111]
Clostridium spec. IK124	Glycerol (pure)	Fed-batch	87.7	1.9	0.54	[112]
Clostridium spec: IK123 <sup>a</sup>	Glycerol (pure)	Fed-batch	101	1.9	0.56	[113]
E. coli GMO	Glycerol (pure)	Fed-batch	104	2.6	0.9 <sup>b</sup>	[114]
E. coli GMO	Glucose	Fed-batch	130	-	-	[102]
Lactobacillus reuteri	Glucose + Glycerol	Fed-batch	65.3 <sup>c</sup>	1.2	0.67 <sup>d</sup>	[115]

Table 3 Selected results of microbial production of 1,3-PDO

<sup>a</sup>Risk class: 2 [101]

<sup>b</sup>Two-step process with glucose as growth medium. Yield only related to production phase, glucose not regarded

<sup>c</sup>Plus lactate at 106.5 g/L

<sup>d</sup>Relating to glycerol

final reduction step yields 1,3-PDO [105]. At the same time, three patent applications covering an identical approach from a US and French company were proposed [106, 107] and issued [108]. However the realized product titers of 10–100 mg/L are very low and extensive research is necessary to obtain industrial relevant values.

## 7 *n*-Butanol

*n*-Butanol is a versatile four-carbon alcohol that is industrially produced mainly via the oxo-synthesis from petroleum derived propylene. It has an established history as a chemical and solvent, particularly for use in paints, coatings, printing inks, adhesives, sealants, textiles, and plastics [116, 117]. *n*-Butanol can also be used as a fuel and has some advantages over ethanol, such as a higher energy density (29.2 MJ/L vs 19.6 MJ/L), lower corrosiveness, and being more suitable for



**Fig. 5** Proposed reaction pathways for the Guerbet coupling of ethanol to *n*-butanol [121, 123, 124]

distribution through existing pipelines [41]. In 2013 the annual global market for *n*-butanol exceeded 3.6 million tons/year and was valued over 6 billion dollars [117].

In the oxo-synthesis, propylene is initially converted over a homogeneous catalyst to butyraldehyde via a hydroformylation with carbon monoxide and subsequently hydrogenated over a heterogeneous catalyst to *n*-butanol. The biphasic Ruhrchemie/Rhône-Poulenc process yields more than 98% propylene conversion per pass and *n*-butanol overall selectivities of >94% have been reported using an RhH(CO)(tppts)<sub>3</sub> catalyst [116, 118]. n-Butanol is also available through the Guerbet reaction from bio-ethanol [119, 120]. The reaction involves the coupling of two ethanol molecules and can take place without a catalyst, but it is strongly catalyzed by hydrogen-transfer catalysts [120]. Over heterogeneous catalysts, two different reaction routes for ethanol self-condensation have been proposed (Fig. 5, Routes A and B). Two features of the catalyst are required for high activity and selectivity in the Guerbet reaction. The first is a basic component in the form of an alkali metal hydroxide or salt dissolved in the reaction medium (homogeneous catalyst) or a solid base (heterogeneous catalyst). The second is the ability to facilitate the dehydrogenation of the alcohol at reaction temperature. Typical dehydrogenating agents are metals, such as Pt, Ni, and Cu. Some non-metals (e.g., MgO) can also catalyze the dehydrogenation at sufficiently high temperatures [121, 122].

In Table 4, selected active heterogeneous and homogeneous catalysts in the Guerbet reaction of ethanol to *n*-butanol are depicted, together with reaction conditions and catalytic results. It should be pointed out that homogeneous catalyst systems require, in addition to an organometallic complex, a stoichiometric amount of sodium ethoxide to convert ethanol to *n*-butanol [125].

Acetone-butanol-ethanol fermentation (ABE) is one of the oldest bioprocesses and many reviews provide an extensive overview of this fermentation process [135–137]. It was commercialized at the beginning of the last century with large production plants being built, first in England and later in Germany, to produce *n*butanol for the chemical industry. The patented Weizmann process utilizes mainly molasses or corn mash as feedstock. Typical of ABE fermentation is an ABE ratio of 3:6:1. The most used microorganism is *C. acetobutylicum*, but other *Clostridia* 

	Т	Р	Conversion	Selectivity	Yield	Reactor	
Catalyst	(°C)	(bar)	(%)	(%)	(%)	mode	Reference
Heterogeneous				·			
20.7% Ni/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	250	83	25 (72 h)	80	20	Batch	[59]
5% Pd/MgAlO	260	n. a.	17 (5 h)	81	14	Batch	[126]
5% Cu/MgAlO	260	n. a.	9 (5 h)	80	7	Batch	[127]
1% Pd/MgAlO	200	32	12 (5 h)	96	12	Batch	[128]
Са-НАР	300	1	20 <sup>a</sup>	70	14	Continuous	[129]
Sr-HAP	300	1	11 <sup>a</sup>	86	9	Continuous	[130]
MgO	450	1	56 <sup>a</sup>	64	36	Continuous	[123]
Pd/MgO	250	34	41 <sup>a</sup>	77	32	Continuous	[131]
1,8% Cu/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	240	70	12–15 <sup>a</sup>	65	8-10	Continuous	[132]
8% Ni/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	250	176	35 <sup>a</sup>	62	22	Continuous	[133]
Homogeneous							
Ir-complex +	120	n.a.	18 (15 h)	67	12	Batch	[125]
EtONa							
Ru-complex +	150	n.a.	22 (4 h)	94	20	Batch	[134]
ElOna							

 Table 4
 Selected active catalysts in the Guerbet reaction of ethanol to *n*-butanol

n.a.: not available

<sup>a</sup>Steady-state

spp. or engineered *E. coli* are also used. Because of rising fossil oil production after the Second World War, the energy-demanding ABE process was too expensive in comparison to the petroleum-based oxo-synthesis and production was stopped [136, 137]. Since 2006, the rapid rise in oil price as well as the *n*-butanol price has caused a renewed demand for ABE fermentation technology in China. For this reason, 11 new or restored ABE fermentation plants based on corn came on stream before June 2008. Five new plants were also in the planning stage. The overall solvent production from all these ABE plants was estimated to be 1 million tons. At present only one ABE plant is running with a capacity of 40,000 tons/year using a mixture of corn stover and corn cob as feedstock [138].

The economy of the ABE process depends strongly on the feedstock as well as the energy supply because only low product titers and yields can be achieved. This is attributed to the high toxicity of *n*-butanol which limits the butanol titer to 14–16 g/L. Slightly higher values up to 20 g/L are achievable but only with expensive process technologies (see below). The yields from glucose normally reach 0.3–0.44 g/L. The productivities with suspended cells do not exceed 0.47 g/ L/h [137]. Moreover, the high boiling point (117 °C) requires energy-intensive and relatively expensive *n*-butanol recovery. However, one advantage of the process is the ability to utilize most of the sugars, including pentoses, and waste and hemicellulosic residues. Many research groups are working on recombinant microorganisms able to tolerate higher *n*-butanol concentrations and on more efficient downstream processes to lower the toxicity of the process [138–140]. Currently there are also two biotechnological companies which want to provide the market with bio-butanol in the near future using new technologies. Cobalt Technologies from Canada is using a new patented pre-treatment technology for the substrate and a classical mutated strain (patented) in a continuous process with immobilized cells [141]. On the other hand, the company Green Biologics uses a *Clostridium* GMO and agricultural residues, waste, and cellulosic feedstock. They are expected to start commercial production in a retrofitted ethanol plant in 2016 [142].

A potential future feedstock for the fermentative production of *n*-butanol production could be syngas. Syngas fermentation is becoming increasingly attractive in both academic and industrial fields, and the fermentation of syngas to ethanol is already conducted in two demonstration plants (300 tons/year). Nevertheless, a low *n*-butanol yield in the fermentation from syngas poses a technical barrier for industrial production [138, 143].

#### 8 Isobutanol (2-Methylpropanol)

Isobutanol is manufactured industrially mainly through propylene hydroformylation (oxo-synthesis) with subsequent hydrogenation of the aldehydes formed. It is used among other things as a solvent for ink and paints and for the production of esters (e.g., butyl acetate). Isobutanol can be dehydrated with acid catalysts to produce the important platform chemical isobutylene in quantitative yields (annual production volume of fossil-based isobutylene is 10 million tons) [32]. Isobutylene is used almost exclusively for the industrial production of butyl rubber (polyisobutylene) and the fuel additives MTBE and ETBE [144].

Atsumi [145] developed a microbial route (2-keto acid-pathway) in *E. coli*, and produced 22 g/L isobutanol in fully aerobic shake flask experiments (Fig. 6) although, because of NAD(P)H imbalance, at a yield of only 0.35 g/g. Bastian et al. have overcome the imbalance by introducing NADH-dependent enzyme variants and the application of directed evolution, receiving 13.4 g/L isobutanol at the theoretical yield of 100% (0.41 g/g). The NADH imbalance was resolved by over-expression of a transhydrogenase [146].

A relatively new approach is published by a Russian group under the leadership of Tyurin [147], who developed a process based on a UVC-mutated acetogenic *Clostridium* GMO from CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 6, right). They were the first to report a continuous process which yields more than 50 g/L isobutanol in the culture broth.

The leading company in the production of bio-isobutanol by means of fermentation is Gevo. Their proprietary technology enables the production of bio-isobutanol via an integrated fermentation/separation process. In May 2012, Gevo announced the start of the world's first commercial biobased isobutanol production plant in Luverne, Minnesota, a 54,500-tons/year facility [148]. Except for patents, Gevo has not yet published any process data. One patent describes the route via acetone with a maximal titer of 16 g/L isobutanol at 0.4 g/L/h



[149]. Another patent describes a new process with *S. cerevisiae* (GMO) under aerobic conditions via acetolactate. Here the maximum titer is 12.6 g/L at 71% yield from glucose [150].

Another global commercial isobutanol producer is Butamax, a joint venture of BP and DuPont. They developed a route starting from isobutyraldehyde via acetolactate. This route was expressed in bacteria; however, the titer and yields are rather low. A second approach, patented by Bhalla, utilizes engineered yeasts and oleyl alcohol as extractant, providing up to 55 g/L isobutanol at a yield of 0.3 g/ g [151]. This process is planned to run at a retrofitted corn ethanol plant in Minnesota, USA in 2016 [152].

#### 9 2-Butanol

2-Butanol is produced industrially by the acid-catalyzed addition of water to 1-butene or 2-butene with an annual production volume exceeding 550,000 tons/ year. Practically all 2-butanol is dehydrogenated to 2-butanone (MEK), an important solvent used for paints and adhesives [116, 153]. It is also available through the fermentation of 2,3-butanediol via the intermediate 2-butanone [154].

The production of 2-butanol from 2,3-butanediol is particularly widespread among *L. brevis* strains. However only titers less than 1 g/L can be achieved [155].

High-level production of 2-butanol has not yet been tested for bacterial systems and only recently for engineered *S. cerevisiae*. Genetically modified yeasts can produce 4 mg/L of 2-butanol from *meso*-2,3-butanediol [156].

## **10** Butanediols

Butanediols (BDOs) exist in four stable isomers: 1,2-BDO, 1,3-BDO, 2,3-BDO, and 1,4-BDO. Among these isomers, 2,3-BDO, a potential biobased feedstock for the production of MEK and 1,3-butadiene, and 1,4-BDO, with an annual production volume of 1,3 million tons, are the two most important commodities [157, 158]. On the other hand, 1,2-BDO and 1,3-BDO only play a secondary role and the interest of both industry and academia is limited. Industrially, 1,2-BDO is used to produce polyester resins and plasticizers and the main use of 1,3-BDO is as a solvent for food flavoring agents and as a co-monomer in certain polyurethane and polyester resins. Furthermore, biobased 1,2-BDO can be obtained as a by-product in the hydrogenolysis of starches and sugars [157–159].

#### 11 2,3-Butanediol

2,3-Butanediol (2,3-BDO) is useful as raw material for pesticides, pharmaceuticals, plasticizers, fragrances, moisturizing agents, and others. It can exist in three isomeric forms: D-(-)-2,3-BDO, L-(+)-2,3-BDO, and meso-2,3-BDO. Because of its low freezing point of -60 °C, 2,3-BDO may be used as an antifreeze agent and 2,3-BDO or derivatives of 2,3-BDO are used in plastics and solvent production. Dehydrogenation of 2,3-BDO yields diacetyl, a highly-valued flavoring agent in food products, which gives a buttery taste [160] and can serve as a bacteriostatic food additive, inhibiting growth of some microorganisms. 2,3-BDO can be dehydrated to 1,3-butadiene, a multimillion ton bulk chemical, mainly used for the production of synthetic rubber, or to methyl ethyl ketone (MEK, butan-2-one), used as a solvent for resins and lacquers or as a fuel additive. Because of its high octane number, 2,3-BDO can serve as an "octane booster" for petrol. Esters of 2,3-BDO and maleic acid are used for polyurethane maleamides for cardiovascular applications [161].

Other products of 2,3-BDO esterification are used mainly for pharmaceuticals and cosmetics [162].

Harden and Walpole have shown that microorganisms are able to produce 2,3-BDO [163]. Fulmer et al. proposed the industrial production of 2,3-BDO with microorganisms [164]. All investigations and pilot plants were stopped after World War II, as favorable petroleum-based production routes were available [162, 165]. The petrochemical production of 2,3-BDO can be carried using the chlorohydrin route. Therefore the C<sub>4</sub>-raffinate from steam cracking of petroleum refining is used as starting material. After the elimination of isobutene the 1- (56 wt %) and 2-butenes (44 wt%) react with hypochlorous acid to form chlorohydrins. These are epoxidized and the resulting butene oxides are hydrolyzed to 1,2-butanediol and 2,3-butanediol. Methyl ethyl ketone is also formed as a

Table 5         Overview of 2,3-BD0	O production u	sing different m	nicroorganisms	and substrates			
Strains	Risk class	Substrates	Methods	2,3-Butanediol (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	Yield (g/g)	References
Klebsiella pneumoniae	2	Glucose	Fed-batch	$150.0^{a}$	4.21	0.43	[176]
Klebsiella pneumoniae	2	Glycerol	Fed-batch	70.0	0.47	0.39	[177]
Klebsiella oxytoca	2	Glucose	Fed-batch	130.0	1.64	0.48	[169]
Serratia marcescens	1/2 <sup>b</sup>	Sucrose	Fed-batch	152.0	2.67	0.41	[178]
Paenibacillus polymyxa	1	Sucrose	Fed-batch	111.0	2.09	1	[179]
<b>Bacillus licheniformis</b>	1	Glucose	Fed-batch	144.7	1.14	0.4	[180]
<b>Bacillus licheniformis</b>	1	Glucose	Fed-batch	115.7	2.4	0.47	[181]
Bacillus amyloliquefaciens	1	Glucose	Fed-batch	92.3 <sup>c</sup>	1.19	0.42	[182]
Raoultella planticola	1	Glycerol	Batch	30.7	1	0.5	[183]
<sup>a</sup> 10 g/L acetoin <sup>b</sup> In Germany <sup>c</sup> 22 g/L acetoin Risk classification is based on	the European I	Directive 2000/5	34/EC				

	3
	e
	=
	Ξ,
	=
	ŝ
	õ
	≒
	2
	s
	-
	9
	c
	ಹ
	S
	d
	q
	S
	-
	c
	2
	ň
	2
	Ξ
	Ŷ
	0
	Ľ
	õ
	<b>=</b>
	C
	q
	17
	≓
	-
	Ø
	ř
	ഹ
	-
د	+
-	=
	J
	ρι
	ğ
	gui
	SINg
	guisn
	guisn
	n using
	guisn no
•	ion using
•	tion using
•	ction using
•	iction using
•	luction using
•	duction using
•	oduction using
•	roduction using
•	production using
•	production using
•	) production using
	U production using
	<b>JU</b> production using
	DU production using
	<b>BDU</b> production using
	-BUU production using
	6-BUU production using
	3-BDU production using
	2.3-BDU production using
	2.3-BDU production using
	t 2.3-BDU production using
	of 2.3-BDO production using
	of 2.3-BDU production using
	v of 2.3-BDU production using
	w of 2.3-BDU production using
	ew of 2.3-BDU production using
	iew of 2.3-BDO production using
	view of 2.3-BDU production using
	rview of 2.3-BDO production using
	SIVIEW OF 2.3-BDU production using
	rerview of 2.3-BDU production using
	verview of 2.3-BDU production using
	Jverview of 2.3-BDU production using
	Uverview of 2.3-BDU production using
	Uverview of 2.3-BDU production using
	Overview of 2.3-BDO production using
	<b>5</b> Uverview of 2.3-BDU production using
	• 5 Overview of 2.3-BDU production using

by-product. The isolation of the products is achieved by rectification [159, 166–168].

In recent years, increased interest in microbial production using renewable resources has been seen. Several yeasts and bacteria from various genera such as *Klebsiella*, *Pseudomonas*, *Serratia*, and *Bacillus* have been reported for microbial 2,3-BDO production [165]. Monosaccharides, hexoses, pentoses, and glycerol can be metabolized to 2,3-BDO. The mixed acid-2,3-BDO fermentation pathway is followed so, in addition to 2,3-BDO, a mixture of acetate, lactate, formate, succinate, acetoin, and ethanol may be formed.

For optimizing microbial 2,3-BDO production, genetically modified microorganisms were constructed. Different strategies, for example enhancement of the carbon flux to 2,3-BDO by eliminating the by-product ethanol [169], protoplast transformation and gene deletion of *B. licheniformis* to produce optically pure D-(-)-2,3-BDO [170, 171], and deletion by suicide vector conjugation [172], have been pursued and genetically modified *S. cerevisiae* [173, 174] or recombinant *E. coli* strains [175] have been constructed. Although these strategies look promising, so far they have not shown beneficial production properties compared to wildtype strains.

Until 2010 the best yields and concentrations were obtained with risk class 2 (pathogenic) microorganisms (*Klebsiella* sp. and *Serratia marcescens* with 150 or 152 g/L 2,3-BDO, respectively). However, because of safety requirements, organisms of risk class 2 are unfavorable for industrial scale processes [162, 165]. Therefore, research is presently focusing on the use of risk class 1 microorganism. In recent years, several organisms generally recognized as safe (GRAS) (*Paenibacillus polymyxa*, *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*, and *Bacillus licheniformis*) have been reported, which show a comparable 2,3-BDO production in comparison to risk class 2 microorganisms (Table 5).

The highest 2,3-BDO concentrations are achieved using pure glucose or sucrose as carbon source. Nowadays, substrates such as glycerol [177, 183], starch [184], corn stover hydrolysate [183], and hydrolysates [185] of cellulose are under research as raw substrates to produce 2,3-butanediol. There are also attempts to produce 2,3-BDO by non-pathogenic acetogenic *Clostridium* species using carbon monoxide or  $CO_2$  from industrial waste gases or syngas as carbon source [186, 187].

The microbial production of 2,3-BDO, although being quite efficient and wellstudied, has still not yet been implemented on an industrial scale. However, LanzaTech uses microbial 2,3-BDO as feedstock for the production of bio-butadiene already in pilot/demo scale [13, 188].

Alternatively, 2,3-BDO is formed in a complex mixture together with monoethylene glycol, propylene glycols, and other butylene glycols by catalytic hydrogenolysis of sorbitol. The Chinese company Global BioChem operates a 200,000-tons/year bio-polyol plant in which about 10,000 tons/year 2,3-BDO are produced [189].

## 12 1,4-Butanediol

1,4-Butanediol is used in the production of solvents, fine chemicals, and high performance polymers, such as spandex fibers and polybutylene terephthalate, and has an annual production of approximately 1.3 million tons [158]. Currently it is manufactured industrially through the hydroformylation of propylene, the hydrogenation of maleic anhydride, the Reppe process from acetylene, the dichlorobutene process from 1,3-butadiene, or the 1,3-butadiene-acetic acid process [190].

In 2004, succinic acid was identified by the US Department of Energy as one of the 12 chemical building blocks that can potentially be produced on a commercial scale through biological conversion [191]. It can be transformed to various interesting products, such as 1,4-BDO [192]. Particularly the hydrogenation of bio-succinic acid to 1,4-BDO has attracted attention in recent years with the biotechnology company BioAmber Inc. developing an industrial process. In 2012 they scaled up their hydrogenation catalyst technology under license from DuPont and converted multi-ton quantities of bio-succinic acid to 1,4-BDO [193].

For the hydrogenation of succinic acid to 1,4-BDO, only a few highly active and selective catalyst systems have been reported. They are based mainly on TiO<sub>2</sub>-supported noble metals achieving 1,4-butanediol yields up to 89% with THF and  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone as by-products [192, 194]. For example, an 86% yield is described in a patent from DuPont which uses a 1% Pd-4% Re/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst at 200 °C [195]. In a patent from BP the highest yield was 89% with a 5% Re/TiO<sub>2</sub> at 177 °C [196].

A biotechnological route to 1,4-BDO has been patented by Genomatica utilizing engineered *E. coli* [197, 198]. The simplified scheme of the potential metabolic routes as extracted from the patents is shown in Fig. 7. In 2012 the Geno BDO<sup>®</sup> process yielded 2.300 tons during a 5-week campaign at the PDO Tate & Lyle plant in Loudon, Tennessee. The 1,4-BDO produced was provided to several chemical producers, such as BASF, Novamont, Toray, and Lanxess for further testing. Following the campaign, the Geno BDO<sup>®</sup> process was licensed to Novamont and BASF in late 2013 [199]. Commercial production was expected to start by the end of 2013 at a former (Ajinomoto) amino acid plant in Adria, Italy, with a capacity of nearly 20,000 tons/year. The plant is still under construction and goes on stream in 2016.

## 13 Miscellaneous

#### 13.1 Higher Alcohols (>C5)

Alcohols with a chain length of >C5 are labeled as higher alcohols or fatty alcohols. They are mainly obtained industrially via five different processes [200]:



- Hydrogenation of fatty acids and fatty acid esters derived from vegetable and animal fats and oils
- Conversion of ethylene with Al(CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> to a mixture of linear, primary alcohols (Alfol or EPAL process)
- Hydroformylation of olefins with CO and  $H_2$  (oxo-synthesis) to a mixture of branched and unbranched aldehydes and subsequent hydrogenation to the corresponding alcohols
- · Oxidation of paraffins with boric acid to linear, secondary alcohols
- Condensation of primary alcohols with basic catalysts to  $\alpha$ -branched and linear, dimeric alcohols (Guerbet reaction)

Thus higher alcohols are already partially produced from renewable resources. In addition, the substrate ethylene can be obtained from bio-ethanol (dehydration) or bio-methanol (methanol to olefins process, MTO) [2, 44]. A following oligomerization of the ethylene would result in higher olefins which can be further processed in the oxo-synthesis and a succeeding hydrogenation step to higher alcohols [201]. Biomass-derived alcohols, such as methanol and ethanol, can also be used as a substrate for the production of  $\alpha$ -branched or linear, dimeric alcohols by the Guerbet reaction [120, 202].

The fermentative production of higher alcohols with natural organisms is not very efficient. Therefore synthetic biology approaches to produce higher alcohols need to increase titers and yields for the realization of industrial processes. Recent work concerning the production of higher alcohols has been reviewed by Lamsen [203]. The authors give a comprehensive overview of several metabolic pathways engineered with common industrially used microorganisms such as *E. coli* or

Sugar alcohol	Feedstock	Process	Production volume (tons/year)	Reference
Sorbitol	Glucose, sucrose	Hydrogenation	1,700,000	[207]
Xylitol	Xylose	Hydrogenation	161,500	[208]
Palatinit	Sucrose	Two steps: 1. fermentation; 2. hydrogenation	>100,000	Own estimates
Mannitol	Fructose	Hydrogenation	50,000	[209]
Erythritol	Glucose, sucrose	Fermentation	23,000	[204]

 Table 6
 Selected high volume sugar alcohols [204, 221]

*S. cerevisiae*. In addition, there are numerous research papers whose discussion would go beyond the scope of this chapter.

#### 13.2 Sugar Alcohols

Sugar alcohols, also known as polyols or polyhydric alcohols, with the general formula  $H_2(CH_2O)_{n+1}$ , are widespread in plants, fungi, and yeasts, sometimes in high concentration. They are produced through hydrogenation or fermentation of mono- or disaccharides [204–206]. Their main application is the replacement of conventional sugars in combination with artificial sweeteners to counter their lower sweetness compared to glucose in the food industry [82]. Furthermore, sorbitol and xylitol were identified by the US Department of Energy as potential biomass-based platform chemicals [74]. Table 6 shows some of the most important sugar alcohols.

Sorbitol is produced with an annual production of 1.7 million tons by the catalytic hydrogenation of glucose or sucrose [207]. It can also be obtained in fermentation processes with *Zymomonas mobilis* or *Candida boidinii*. In particular, the fermentation of high sugar content media with *Zymomonas mobilis* results in coproduction of high yields of sorbitol and gluconic acid [210].

Xylitol is a rare five-carbon sugar alcohol that has potential as a building block for biodegradable polymers, such as poly(xylitol-*co*-citrate) and poly(xylitol-*co*-sebacate) [211, 212]. At industrial level, xylitol is manufactured by chemical hydrogenation of D-xylose [213]. Moreover, it can also be produced in a fermentation process from D-xylose with bacteria, fungi, or yeasts. The feedstock D-xylose is obtained by chemical or enzymatic hydrolysis of hemicellulose [212–217].

Palatinit or isomalt is a mixture of two disaccharide alcohols: gluco-mannitol ( $\alpha$ -D-gluco-pyranosyl-1-6-mannitol) and gluco-sorbitol ( $\alpha$ -D-gluco-pyranosyl-1-6-sorbitol). It is produced from sucrose in a two-step process starting with a sugar enzymatic transglucosidation into isomaltulose followed by a hydrogenation into isomalt. Aside from being a sweetener, it is also used as a bulking agent, anti-caking agent, and glazing agent [218].

Mannitol is a six-carbon sugar polyol which is an isomer of sorbitol. It is produced by catalytic hydrogenation of fructose which is obtained from inverted sugar or glucose isomerization. A major disadvantage of this process is the low efficiency, yielding only 25% mannitol and requiring a costly and complex purification step. Fermentative processes have been researched extensively. In particular, lactic acid bacteria showed promising results and a complete conversion of D-fructose to D-mannitol in mild conditions has been reported. Besides being a sweetener, mannitol is used as a bulking agent for sugar-free coatings and dusting powder for chewing gum [218].

Erythritol (*meso*-1,2,3,4-butanetetrol) can be found naturally in fruits, vegetables, mushrooms, and fermented foods (e.g., beer and wine). Besides being a sweetener, it is also used in self-tanning agents. Formerly, erythritol was produced by chemical-catalyzed hydrogenation of tartaric acid. The disadvantages of the production process were the complexity and the high costs. A new technology was therefore developed utilizing yeast or fungi to obtain erythritol from the fermentation of sugars [218]. The biotechnological route has been recently reviewed by Moon [204]. Commercial production succeeds by *Moniliella* [219] or by mutants of *Aureobasidium* sp. and *Pseudozyma tsukubaensis*, with high yields and productivities [220].

Moreover, maltitol and lactitol, both disaccharide polyols, exhibit industrial importance. They are manufactured by catalytic hydrogenation of maltose and lactose, respectively. Besides sweetening, maltitol can be used as a fat substitute and lactitol as a thickener and emulsifier [218].

Sugar alcohols can also be used as feedstock to produce short-chain polyvalent alcohols (polyols) through hydrogenolysis. Hydrogenolysis and hydrodeoxygenation can yield ethylene glycol, glycerol, propylene glycols, and butanediols. Glycerol was previously regarded as the most desirable product but is nowadays produced abundantly as a by-product in biodiesel production. As a result, the research focus has shifted to the conversion of sugar alcohols to 1,2- and 1,3-PDO and ethylene glycol [82, 221, 222].

The Changchun Dacheng Group developed a catalytic technology to convert corn-derived sorbitol to a mixture of 1,2-PDO (50–60%), mono-ethylene glycol (25%), and 1,2- and 2,3-BDO (about 25%). After purification, a 5% yield of 2,3-BDO is obtained. A bio-polyol plant based on this new technology has been put into production by the company with an output of 200,000 tons/year [157, 189].

#### 14 Summary

Driven by numerous policies established in the last decade to support the production and use of transport biofuels, both bio-ethanol and biodiesel production increased to 82 and 23 million tons/year, respectively. As a consequence, glycerol, a by-product from biodiesel production, and bio-ethanol were abundantly available as inexpensive feedstock for conversion to chemicals (e.g., mono-ethylene glycol,
Table 7 Current state of the biobased production of the alcohols reviewed in this chapter (combined from the literature and own estimates)

				Production	
	Carbon			volume (million	Process (main
	number	Alcohol	Status	tons/year)	feedstock)
Short chain alcohols	1	Methanol	Commercial	0.20	Wood gasification + chemo-catalytic (glycerol)
	2	Ethanol	Commercial	91	Fermentation (sugar- cane, corn, wheat)
		Mono-eth- ylene glycol	Commercial	0.25	Chemo-catalytic (bio-ethanol)
	3	1-Propanol	Research	-	Fermentation
		Isopropanol	Research	-	Fermentation
		1,2- Propanediol	Commercial	0.115	Chemo-catalytic (glycerol)
		1,3- Propanediol	Research, commercial	Unknown	Fermentation
		Glycerol	Commercial	2.3	Chemo-catalytic (fats/oil + methanol)
	4	1-Butanol	Commercial	Unknown	Fermentation (multiple)
		Isobutanol	Pilot-plant	Unknown	Fermentation (multiple)
		2-Butanol	Research	-	Fermentation
		1,4- Butanediol	Pilot-plant	Unknown	Fermentation (sucrose, xylose)
		2,3- Butanediol	Research/ demo-plant	Unknown	Fermentation, hydrogenolysis
Sugar alcohols		Erythritol	Commercial	0.023	Fermentation (glu- cose, sucrose)
	5	Xylitol	Commercial	0.161	Chemo-catalytic (xylose)
	6	Sorbitol	Commercial	1.7	Chemo-catalytic (glu- cose, fructose)
		Mannitol	Commercial	0.05	Chemo-catalytic (fructose)
	12	Palatinit	Commercial	> 0.10	Chemo-catalytic + fermentation (sucrose)

1,2-PDO). Furthermore, the interest in butanol and isobutanol as next generation biofuels has led to renewed interest in ABE-fermentation and the development of a proprietary process using GMO yeast to produce isobutanol. However, no commercial process has been realized yet.

In contrast to short chain alcohols, the higher alcohols (>C6) were always partially produced from biomass resources, such as glucose, fructose, and fatty

acids. The predominantly utilized technology for the manufacture of higher alcohols is chemo-catalytic using mostly heterogeneous catalysts. Table 7 gives an overview of the current state of the biobased production of the alcohols reviewed in this chapter.

# References

- 1. Anomymous (2017) http://www.methanol.org/production. Accessed 01 Feb 2017
- Ott J, Gronemann V, Pontzen F, Fiedler E, Grossmann G, Kersebohm DB, Weiss G, Witte C (2012) Methanol. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/14356007. a16\_465.pub3
- Johnson D (2012) Global methanol market review. http://www.ptq.pemex.com/ productosyservicios/eventosdescargas/Documents/Foro%20PEMEX%20Petroqu%C3%ADmica/ 2012/PEMEX\_DJohnson.pdf. Accessed 23 Mar 2016
- Bertau M, Offermanns H, Plass L, Schmidt F, Wernicke H-J (2014) Methanol: the basic chemical and energy feedstock of the future. Asinger's Vision Today. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-39709-7
- IRENA (2013) Production of bio-ethylene. Technology Brief 113. http://www.irena.org/ DocumentDownloads/Publications/IRENA-ETSAP%20Tech%20Brief%20I13%20Produc tion\_of\_Bio-ethylene.pdf Accessed 18 Mar 2015
- Straathof AJJ (2014) Transformation of biomass into commodity chemicals using enzymes or cells. Chem Rev 114(3):1871–1908. doi:10.1021/cr400309c
- Ge X, Yang L, Sheets JP, Yu Z, Li Y (2014) Biological conversion of methane to liquid fuels: status and opportunities. Biotechnol Adv 32(8):1460–1475. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014. 09.004
- Hwang IY, Lee SH, Choi YS, Park SJ, Na JG, Chang IS, Kim C, Kim HC, Kim YH, Lee JW, Lee EY (2014) Biocatalytic conversion of methane to methanol as a key step for development of methane-based biorefineries. J Microbiol Biotechnol 24(12):1597–1605. doi:10.4014/jmb. 1407.07070
- Duan C, Luo M, Xing X (2011) High-rate conversion of methane to methanol by *Methylosinus trichosporium* OB3b. Bioresour Technol 102(15):7349–7353. doi:10.1016/j. biortech.2011.04.096
- Chandran K (2012) Methods and systems for biologically producing methanol. WO 2012/ 078845 A1
- Blake WJ, Swartz JR (2014) Cell-free system for converting methane into fuel, pyruvate or isobutanol. WO 2014/100722 A1
- 12. Revilla I, González-SanJosé ML (1998) Methanol release during fermentation of red grapes treated with pectolytic enzymes. Food Chem 63(3):307–312. doi:10.1016/S0308-8146(98) 00049-1
- Bengelsdorf FR, Straub M, Dürre P (2013) Bacterial synthesis gas (syngas) fermentation. Environ Technol 34(13–14):1639–1651. doi:10.1080/09593330.2013.827747
- Kiriukhin M, Tyurin M, Gak E (2014) UVC-mutagenesis in acetogens: resistance to methanol, ethanol, acetone, or n-butanol in recombinants with tailored genomes as the step in engineering of commercial biocatalysts for continuous CO2/H2 blend fermentations. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 30(5):1559–1574. doi:10.1007/s11274-013-1579-7
- 15. Tyurin M, Kiriukhin M (2013) Selective methanol or formate production during continuous CO<sub>2</sub> fermentation by the acetogen biocatalysts engineered via integration of synthetic pathways using Tn7-tool. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 29(9):1611–1623. doi:10.1007/ s11274-013-1324-2

- Rosillo-Calle F, Walter A (2006) Global market for bioethanol: historical trends and future prospects. Energy Sustain Dev 10(1):20–32. doi:10.1016/s0973-0826(08)60504-9
- Kosaric N, Duvnjak Z, Farkas A, Sahm H, Bringer-Meyer S, Goebel O, Mayer D (2011) Ethanol. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/14356007.a09\_587. pub2
- Mussatto SI, Dragone G, Guimaraes PM, Silva JP, Carneiro LM, Roberto IC, Vicente A, Domingues L, Teixeira JA (2010) Technological trends, global market, and challenges of bio-ethanol production. Biotechnol Adv 28(6):817–830. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.07. 001
- 19. Demirbaş A (2005) Bioethanol from cellulosic materials: a renewable motor fuel from biomass. Energy Sources 27(4):327–337. doi:10.1080/00908310390266643
- Gnansounou E, Dauriat A (2010) Techno-economic analysis of lignocellulosic ethanol: a review. Bioresour Technol 101(13):4980–4991. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.02.009
- Viikari L, Vehmaanpera J, Koivula A (2012) Lignocellulosic ethanol: from science to industry. Biomass Bioenergy 46:13–24. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.05.008
- 22. Jeffries TW, Jin YS (2004) Metabolic engineering for improved fermentation of pentoses by yeasts. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 63(5):495–509. doi:10.1007/s00253-003-1450-0
- 23. Dien BS, Cotta MA, Jeffries TW (2003) Bacteria engineered for fuel ethanol production: current status. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 63(3):258–266
- 24. Li K, Liu S, Liu X (2014) An overview of algae bioethanol production. Int J Energy Res 38 (8):965–977. doi:10.1002/er.3164
- LanzaTech (2015) LanzaTech excecutive summary. http://www.lanzatech.com/wp-content/ uploads/2015/03/2-pager-2015.pdf. Accessed 01 Feb 2017
- Gupta A, Verma JP (2015) Sustainable bio-ethanol production from agro-residues: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 41:550–567. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2014.08.032
- Posada JA, Patel AD, Roes A, Blok K, Faaij AP, Patel MK (2013) Potential of bioethanol as a chemical building block for biorefineries: preliminary sustainability assessment of 12 bioethanol-based products. Bioresour Technol 135:490–499. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012. 09.058
- Bozell JJ, Petersen GR (2010) Technology development for the production of biobased products from biorefinery carbohydrates – the US Department of Energy's "Top 10" revisited. Green Chem 12(4):539. doi:10.1039/b922014c
- Gallo JMR, Bueno JMC, Schuchardt U (2014) Catalytic transformations of ethanol for biorefineries. J Braz Chem Soc. doi:10.5935/0103-5053.20140272
- Brelsford R (2014) Rising demand, low-cost feed spur ethylene capacity growth. Oil Gas J Online. http://www.ogj.com/articles/print/volume-112/issue-7/special-report-ethylenereport/rising-demand-low-cost-feed-spur-ethylene-capacity-growth.html. Accessed 7 July 2014
- Zimmermann H (2013) Propene. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10. 1002/14356007.a22\_211.pub3
- 32. TMR (2014) Isobutene market global industry analysis, size, share, growth, trends and forecast, 2013–2019. http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/isobutene-market.html. Accessed 18 May 2015
- 33. Sampat BG (2010) Butadiene: a techno-commercial profile. Chem Weekly 24:203–207. http://www.chemicalweekly.com/Profiles/Butadiene.pdf
- 34. Bender M (2013) Global aromatics supply today and tomorrow. Paper presented at the Dgmk Conference: new technologies and alternative feedstocks in petrochemistry and refining, Dresden, October 9–11, 2013
- 35. TMR (2013) Acetaldehyde market global industry analysis, size, share, growth, trends and forecast, 2012–2018. http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/acetaldehyde-market. html. Accessed 18 May 2015
- 36. Aster N (2014) Acetone: 2014 world market outlook and forecast up to 2018. The Market Publishers. http://www.prweb.com/releases/2014/04/prweb11732756.htm. Accessed 18 May 2015

- 37. Wee YJ, Kim JN, Ryu HW (2006) Biotechnological production of lactic acid and its recent applications. Food Technol Biotechnol 44(2):163–172
- Kalamaras CM, Efstathiou AM (2013) Hydrogen production technologies: current state and future developments. Conference Papers in Energy, vol. 2013. Article ID 690627. doi:10. 1155/2013/690627
- Sun J, Wang Y (2014) Recent advances in catalytic conversion of ethanol to chemicals. ACS Catal 4(4):1078–1090. doi:10.1021/cs4011343
- 40. Weusthuis RA, Aarts JMMJG, Sanders JPM (2011) From biofuel to bioproduct: is bioethanol a suitable fermentation feedstock for synthesis of bulk chemicals? Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 5(5):486–494. doi:10.1002/bbb.307
- Angelici C, Weckhuysen BM, Bruijnincx PC (2013) Chemocatalytic conversion of ethanol into butadiene and other bulk chemicals. ChemSusChem 6(9):1595–1614. doi:10.1002/cssc. 201300214
- 42. Fan D, Dai D-J, Wu H-S (2012) Ethylene formation by catalytic dehydration of ethanol with industrial considerations. Materials 6(1):101–115. doi:10.3390/ma6010101
- 43. Zhang M, Yu Y (2013) Dehydration of ethanol to ethylene. Ind Eng Chem Res 52 (28):9505–9514. doi:10.1021/ie401157c
- 44. Morschbacker A (2009) Bio-ethanol based ethylene. Polym Rev 49(2):79–84. doi:10.1080/ 15583720902834791
- Iwamoto M (2011) One step formation of propene from ethene or ethanol through metathesis on nickel ion-loaded silica. Molecules 16(9):7844–7863. doi:10.3390/molecules16097844
- 46. Iwamoto M (2015) Selective catalytic conversion of bio-ethanol to propene: a review of catalysts and reaction pathways. Catal Today 242:243–248. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2014.06.031
- Hayashi F, Tanaka M, Lin D, Iwamoto M (2014) Surface structure of yttrium-modified ceria catalysts and reaction pathways from ethanol to propene. J Catal 316:112–120. doi:10.1016/j. jcat.2014.04.017
- Hayashi F, Iwamoto M (2013) Yttrium-modified ceria as a highly durable catalyst for the selective conversion of ethanol to propene and ethene. ACS Catal 3(1):14–17. doi:10.1021/ cs3006956
- Mizuno S, Kurosawa M, Tanaka M, Iwamoto M (2012) One-path and selective conversion of ethanol to propene on scandium-modified indium oxide catalysts. Chem Lett 41(9):892–894. doi:10.1246/cl.2012.892
- Liu C, Sun J, Smith C, Wang Y (2013) A study of ZnxZryOz mixed oxides for direct conversion of ethanol to isobutene. Appl Catal A Gen 467:91–97. doi:10.1016/j.apcata. 2013.07.011
- 51. Sun J, Zhu K, Gao F, Wang C, Liu J, Peden CH, Wang Y (2011) Direct conversion of bio-ethanol to isobutene on nanosized Zn(x)Zr(y)O(z) mixed oxides with balanced acid-base sites. J Am Chem Soc 133(29):11096–11099. doi:10.1021/ja204235v
- 52. Egloff G, Hulla G (1945) Conversion of oxygen derivatives of hydrocarbons into butadiene. Chem Rev 36(1):63–141. doi:10.1021/cr60113a002
- Grub J, Löser E (2011) Butadiene. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10. 1002/14356007.a04\_431.pub2
- 54. Eckert M, Fleischmann G, Jira R, Bolt HM, Golka K (2006) Acetaldehyde. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/14356007.a01\_031.pub2
- 55. Takei T, Iguchi N, Haruta M (2011) Synthesis of acetoaldehyde, acetic acid, and others by the dehydrogenation and oxidation of ethanol. Catal Surv Jpn 15(2):80–88. doi:10.1007/s10563-011-9112-1
- 56. Bussi J, Parodi S, Irigaray B, Kieffer R (1998) Catalytic transformation of ethanol into acetone using copper–pyrochlore catalysts. Appl Catal A Gen 172(1):117–129. doi:10. 1016/s0926-860x(98)00106-9
- 57. Ashley M (2014) Development of ethyl acetate process technology a compandium of papers edited by Mike Ashley. Davy Process Technology

- Colley SW, Fawcett CR, Rathmell C, Tuck M, Marshall W (2004) Process for the preparation of ethyl acetate. US 6809217 B1
- 59. Riittonen T, Toukoniitty E, Madnani DK, Leino A-R, Kordas K, Szabo M, Sapi A, Arve K, Wärnå J, Mikkola J-P (2012) One-pot liquid-phase catalytic conversion of ethanol to 1-butanol over aluminium oxide—the effect of the active metal on the selectivity. Catalysts 2(4):68–84. doi:10.3390/catal2010068
- 60. Vaidya PD, Rodrigues AE (2006) Insight into steam reforming of ethanol to produce hydrogen for fuel cells. Chem Eng J 117(1):39–49. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2005.12.008
- Liu HW, Ramos KRM, Valdehuesa KNG, Nisola GM, Lee WK, Chung WJ (2013) Biosynthesis of ethylene glycol in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(8):3409–3417. doi:10.1007/s00253-012-4618-7
- 62. Anonymous (2013) Global plantbottle use continues to grow. European Bioplastics Bulletin, vol 3. European Bioplastics
- 63. Carus M, Baltus W, Carrez D, Kaeb H, Ravenstijn J, Zepnik S (2013) Bio-based polymers in the world. Nova-Institut GmbH, Hürth
- 64. Guzman Dd (2013) Toyota Tsusho's bio-PET in bottled water. Green Chem Blog 2015
- Papa AJ (2011) Propanols. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/ 14356007.a22\_173.pub2
- 66. Ammar EM, Wang Z, Yang ST (2013) Metabolic engineering of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* for n-propanol production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(10):4677–4690. doi:10.1007/s00253-013-4861-6
- 67. Choi YJ, Lee J, Jang YS, Lee SY (2014) Metabolic engineering of microorganisms for the production of higher alcohols. MBio 5(5):e01524–e01514. doi:10.1128/mBio.01524-14
- Matsuda F, Furusawa C, Kondo T, Ishii J, Shimizu H, Kondo A (2011) Engineering strategy of yeast metabolism for higher alcohol production. Microb Cell Factories 10:70. doi:10.1186/ 1475-2859-10-70
- 69. Jang YS, Kim B, Shin JH, Choi YJ, Choi S, Song CW, Lee J, Park HG, Lee SY (2012) Bio-based production of C2-C6 platform chemicals. Biotechnol Bioeng 109(10):2437–2459. doi:10.1002/bit.24599
- Inokuma K, Liao JC, Okamoto M, Hanai T (2010) Improvement of isopropanol production by metabolically engineered *Escherichia coli* using gas stripping. J Biosci Bioeng 110 (6):696–701. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.07.010
- Martin A, Armbruster U, Gandarias I, Arias PL (2013) Glycerol hydrogenolysis into propanediols using in situ generated hydrogen – a critical review. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 115(1):9–27. doi:10.1002/ejlt.201200207
- 72. Feng J, Xu B (2014) Reaction mechanisms for the heterogeneous hydrogenolysis of biomassderived glycerol to propanediols. Prog React Kinet Mech 39(1):1–15. doi:10.3184/ 97809059274714x13874723178485
- 73. REN21 (2014) Renewables 2014 Global Status Report Paris. http://www.ren21.net/ ren21activities/globalstatusreport.aspx
- 74. Werpy T, Petersen G (2004) Top value added chemicals from biomass: volume I results of screening for potential candidates from sugars and synthesis gas. http://www.osti.gov/ scitech//servlets/purl/15008859-s6ri0N/native/. Accessed 23 Mar 2016
- Nakagawa Y, Tamura M, Tomishige K (2014) Catalytic materials for the hydrogenolysis of glycerol to 1,3-propanediol. J Mater Chem A 2(19):6688. doi:10.1039/c3ta15384c
- Nakagawa Y, Tomishige K (2011) Heterogeneous catalysis of the glycerol hydrogenolysis. Catal Sci Technol 1(2):179. doi:10.1039/c0cy00054j
- 77. Levdikova T (2014) Global PG production to go beyond 2.56 Mln Tonnes in 2017, According to in-demand report by merchant research & consulting. The Market Publisher http://www. prweb.com/releases/2014/03/prweb11679702.htm. Accessed 18 May 2015
- Behr A, Eilting J, Irawadi K, Leschinski J, Lindner F (2008) Improved utilisation of renewable resources: new important derivatives of glycerol. Green Chem 10(1):13. doi:10. 1039/b710561d

- Sullivan CJ (2000) Propanediols. Ullmann's encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10. 1002/14356007.a22\_163
- Lee CS, Aroua MK, Daud WMAW, Cognet P, Pérès-Lucchese Y, Fabre PL, Reynes O, Latapie L (2015) A review: conversion of bioglycerol into 1,3-propanediol via biological and chemical method. Renew Sust Energ Rev 42:963–972. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2014.10.033
- Zheng Y, Chen X, Shen Y (2008) Commodity chemicals derived from glycerol, an important biorefinery feedstock. Chem Rev 108(12):5253–5277. doi:10.1021/cr068216s
- Ruppert AM, Weinberg K, Palkovits R (2012) Hydrogenolysis goes bio: from carbohydrates and sugar alcohols to platform chemicals. Angew Chem 51(11):2564–2601. doi:10.1002/ anie.201105125
- Zhou CH, Beltramini JN, Fan YX, Lu GQ (2008) Chemoselective catalytic conversion of glycerol as a biorenewable source to valuable commodity chemicals. Chem Soc Rev 37 (3):527–549. doi:10.1039/b707343g
- Arundhathi R, Mizugaki T, Mitsudome T, Jitsukawa K, Kaneda K (2013) Highly selective hydrogenolysis of glycerol to 1,3-propanediol over a boehmite-supported platinum/tungsten catalyst. ChemSusChem 6(8):1345–1347. doi:10.1002/cssc.201300196
- Chaminand J, La D, Gallezot P, Marion P, Pinel C, Cc R (2004) Glycerol hydrogenolysis on heterogeneous catalysts. Green Chem 6(8):359. doi:10.1039/b407378a
- Pagliaro M, Rossi M (2010) The future of glycerol, vol 2. RSC Green Chemistry Series Royal Society of Chemistry
- Saxena RK, Anand P, Saran S, Isar J, Agarwal L (2010) Microbial production and applications of 1,2-propanediol. Indian J Microbiol 50(1):2–11. doi:10.1007/s12088-010-0017-x
- Sánchez-Riera F, Cameron DC, Cooney CL (1987) Influence of environmental factors in the production of R(-)-1,2-propanediol by *Clostridium thermosaccharolyticum*. Biotechnol Lett 9(7):449–454. doi:10.1007/BF01027450
- Cameron DC, Cooney CL (1986) A novel fermentation: the production of R(-)-1,2propanediol and acetol by *Clostridium thermosaccharolyticum*. Nat Biotechnol 4(7):651–654
- Voelker F, Dumon-Seignovert L, Soucaille P (2015) Mutant YQHD enzyme for the production of a biochemical by fermentation. US 8969053 B2
- Freund A (1881) Über die Bildung und Darstellung von Trimethylenalkohol aus Glycerin. Ber Deut Chem Ges Berlin 10:636–641
- 92. Yang G, Tian J, Li J (2007) Fermentation of 1,3-propanediol by a lactate deficient mutant of *Klebsiella oxytoca* under microaerobic conditions. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73 (5):1017–1024. doi:10.1007/s00253-006-0563-7
- 93. Menzel K, Zeng AP, Deckwer WD (1997) High concentration and productivity of 1,3-propanediol from continuous fermentation of glycerol by *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Enzym Microb Technol 20(2):82–86. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(96)00087-7
- 94. Homann T, Tag C, Biebl H, Deckwer W-D, Schink B (1990) Fermentation of glycerol to 1,3-propanediol by *Klebsiella* and *Citrobacter* strains. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 33(2). doi:10.1007/bf00176511
- 95. Barbirato F, Himmi EH, Conte T, Bories A (1998) 1,3-Propanediol production by fermentation: an interesting way to valorize glycerin from the ester and ethanol industries. Ind Crop Prod 7(2–3):281–289. doi:10.1016/s0926-6690(97)00059-9
- Biebl H, Marten S, Hippe H, Deckwer W-D (1992) Glycerol conversion to 1,3-propanediol by newly isolated *Clostridia*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 36(5). doi:10.1007/bf00183234
- 97. Luthi-Peng Q, Dileme FB, Puhan Z (2002) Effect of glucose on glycerol bioconversion by Lactobacillus reuteri. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 59(2–3):289–296. doi:10.1007/s00253-002-1002-z
- Saxena RC, Adhikari DK, Goyal HB (2009) Biomass-based energy fuel through biochemical routes: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 13(1):167–178. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2007.07.011
- Willke T, Vorlop K (2008) Biotransformation of glycerol into 1,3-propanediol. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 110(9):831–840. doi:10.1002/ejlt.200800057

- 100. Wilkens E, Ringel AK, Hortig D, Willke T, Vorlop KD (2012) High-level production of 1,3-propanediol from crude glycerol by *Clostridium butyricum* AKR102a. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93(3):1057–1063. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3595-6
- 101. EC (2000) Directive 2000/54/ec of the European parliament and of the council of 18 September 2000 on the protection of workers from risks related to exposure to biological agents at work
- 102. Nakamura CE, Whited GM (2003) Metabolic engineering for the microbial production of 1,3-propanediol. Curr Opin Biotechnol 14(5):454–459
- 103. DuPont (2015) Product site: Zemea® USP-FCC 1,3-propanediol is a natural solvent and humectant that provides formulators an alternative to petroleum-based glycols and glycerin for their food and flavor products. http://www.duponttateandlyle.com/zemea\_usp. Accesed 24 Apr 2015
- 104. Rose DA (2015) DuPont Tate & Lyle Bio Products Announces Winners of Zemea® Innovation Awards PRWeb
- 105. Chen Z, Geng F, Zeng AP (2015) Protein design and engineering of a de novo pathway for microbial production of 1,3-propanediol from glucose. Biotechnol J 10(2):284–289. doi:10. 1002/biot.201400235
- 106. Xu J, Saunders CW, Green PR, Velasquez JE, Guffey TB (2013) Microorganisms and methods for producing acrylate and other products from homoserine. WO 2013/052727 A3
- 107. Boisart C (2013) Method for the preparation of 1,3-propanediol. EP 2540834 A1
- 108. Soucaille P, Boisart C (2014) Method for the preparation of 1,3-propanediol from sucrose. US 8900838 B2
- 109. Liu HJ, Zhang DJ, Xu YH, Mu Y, Sun YQ, Xiu ZL (2007) Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol from glycerol by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* under micro-aerobic conditions up to a pilot scale. Biotechnol Lett 29(8):1281–1285. doi:10.1007/s10529-007-9398-2
- 110. Jun SA, Moon C, Kang CH, Kong SW, Sang BI, Um Y (2010) Microbial fed-batch production of 1,3-propanediol using raw glycerol with suspended and immobilized *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 161(1–8):491–501. doi:10.1007/s12010-009-8839-x
- 111. Otte B, Grunwaldt E, Mahmoud O, Jennewein S (2009) Genome shuffling in *Clostridium diolis* DSM 15410 for improved 1,3-propanediol production. Appl Environ Microbiol 75 (24):7610–7616. doi:10.1128/AEM.01774-09
- 112. Hirschmann S, Baganz K, Koschik I, Vorlop KD (2005) Development of an integrated bioconversion process for the production of 1,3-propanediol from raw glycerol waters. Landbauforsch Volkenrode 55:261–267
- 113. Bock R (2004) Biokonversion von Glycerin zu 1,3-Propandiol mit freien und immobilisierten Mikroorganismen. Dissertation, TU Braunschweig
- 114. Tang XM, Tan YS, Zhu H, Zhao K, Shen W (2009) Microbial conversion of glycerol to 1,3-propanediol by an engineered strain of *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 75 (6):1628–1634
- 115. Jolly J, Hitzmann B, Ramalingam S, Ramachandran KB (2014) Biosynthesis of 1,3-propanediol from glycerol with *Lactobacillus reuteri*: effect of operating variables. J Biosci Bioeng 118(2):188–194. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2014.01.003
- 116. Hahn H-D, Dämbkes G, Rupprich N, Bahl H, Frey GD (2013) Butanols. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/14356007.a04\_463.pub3
- 117. Informa Economics (2013) Bio-butanol: the game changer. http://www.informaecon.com/ MCSBiobutanol2013.pdf. Accessed 01 Feb 2017
- 118. Spivey JJ (1997) Catalysis, The Royal Society of Chemistry, vol 13. doi:10.1039/ 9781847553256
- 119. Kozlowski JT, Davis RJ (2013) Heterogeneous catalysts for the Guerbet coupling of alcohols. ACS Catal 3(7):1588–1600. doi:10.1021/cs400292f
- 120. O'Lenick AJ (2001) Guerbet chemistry. J Surfactant Deterg 4(3):311–315. doi:10.1007/ s11743-001-0185-1

- 121. Kozlowski JT, Davis RJ (2013) Sodium modification of zirconia catalysts for ethanol coupling to 1-butanol. J Energy Chem 22(1):58–64. doi:10.1016/s2095-4956(13)60007-8
- 122. Veibel S, Nielsen JI (1967) On the mechanism of the Guerbet reaction. Tetrahedron 23 (4):1723–1733. doi:10.1016/s0040-4020(01)82571-0
- 123. Ndou A (2003) Dimerisation of ethanol to butanol over solid-base catalysts. Appl Catal A Gen 251(2):337–345. doi:10.1016/s0926-860x(03)00363-6
- 124. Scalbert J, Thibault-Starzyk F, Jacquot R, Morvan D, Meunier F (2014) Ethanol condensation to butanol at high temperatures over a basic heterogeneous catalyst: how relevant is acetaldehyde self-aldolization? J Catal 311:28–32. doi:10.1016/j.jcat.2013.11.004
- 125. Koda K, Matsu-ura T, Obora Y, Ishii Y (2009) Guerbet reaction of ethanol to n-butanol catalyzed by iridium complexes. Chem Lett 38(8):838–839. doi:10.1246/c1.2009.838
- 126. Marcu I-C, Tanchoux N, Fajula F, Tichit D (2012) Catalytic conversion of ethanol into butanol over M–Mg–Al mixed oxide catalysts (M=Pd, Ag, Mn, Fe, Cu, Sm, Yb) obtained from LDH precursors. Catal Lett 143(1):23–30. doi:10.1007/s10562-012-0935-9
- 127. Marcu I-C, Tichit D, Fajula F, Tanchoux N (2009) Catalytic valorization of bioethanol over Cu-Mg-Al mixed oxide catalysts. Catal Today 147(3–4):231–238. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2009. 04.004
- 128. Arjona AR, Yague JLS, Canos AC, Domine ME (2014) Catalyst for obtaining higher alcohols. WO 2014001595 A1
- 129. Tsuchida T, Kubo J, Yoshioka T, Sakuma S, Takeguchi T, Ueda W (2008) Reaction of ethanol over hydroxyapatite affected by Ca/P ratio of catalyst. J Catal 259(2):183–189. doi:10.1016/j.jcat.2008.08.005
- 130. Ogo S, Onda A, Iwasa Y, Hara K, Fukuoka A, Yanagisawa K (2012) 1-Butanol synthesis from ethanol over strontium phosphate hydroxyapatite catalysts with various Sr/P ratios. J Catal 296:24–30. doi:10.1016/j.jcat.2012.08.019
- 131. Zhang C (2014) Catalyst and processes for producing butanol. US 2014/0179958 A1
- 132. Riittonen T, Eränen K, Mäki-Arvela P, Shchukarev A, Rautio A-R, Kordas K, Kumar N, Salmi T, Mikkola J-P (2015) Continuous liquid-phase valorization of bio-ethanol towards bio-butanol over metal modified alumina. Renew Energy 74:369–378. doi:10.1016/j.renene. 2014.08.052
- 133. Ghaziaskar HS, Xu C (2013) One-step continuous process for the production of 1-butanol and 1-hexanol by catalytic conversion of bio-ethanol at its sub-/supercritical state. RSC Adv 3 (13):4271. doi:10.1039/c3ra00134b
- 134. Dowson GR, Haddow MF, Lee J, Wingad RL, Wass DF (2013) Catalytic conversion of ethanol into an advanced biofuel: unprecedented selectivity for n-butanol. Angew Chem 52 (34):9005–9008. doi:10.1002/anie.201303723
- 135. Jang YS, Malaviya A, Cho C, Lee J, Lee SY (2012) Butanol production from renewable biomass by *Clostridia*. Bioresour Technol 123:653–663. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.07.104
- 136. Garncarek Z, Kociolek-Balawejder E (2009) Biobutanol. Perspectives of the production development. Przem Chem 88(6):658–666
- 137. Li J, Baral N, Jha A (2014) Acetone–butanol–ethanol fermentation of corn stover by *Clostridium* species: present status and future perspectives. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 30(4):1145–1157. doi:10.1007/s11274-013-1542-7
- Jiang Y, Liu J, Jiang W, Yang Y, Yang S (2014) Current status and prospects of industrial bio-production of n-butanol in China. Biotechnol Adv. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.10.007
- 139. Ni Y, Sun Z (2009) Recent progress on industrial fermentative production of acetonebutanol-ethanol by *Clostridium acetobutylicum* in China. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 83 (3):415–423. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-2003-y
- 140. Green EM (2011) Fermentative production of butanol the industrial perspective. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22(3):337–343. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2011.02.004
- 141. CT (2015) Butanol's high-value markets. Cobalt Technol. http://www.cobalttech.com/ biobutanol.html. Accessed 15 Apr 2015
- 142. GB (2015) n-Butanol. Green Biol. http://www.greenbiologics.com/n-butanol.php. Accessed 15 Apr 2015

- 143. Koepke M, Held C, Hujer S, Liesegang H, Wiezer A, Wollherr A, Ehrenreich A, Liebl W, Gottschalk G, Durre P (2010) *Clostridium ljungdahlii* represents a microbial production platform based on syngas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(29):13087–13092. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1004716107
- 144. Obenaus F, Droste W, Neumeister J (2011) Butenes. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/14356007.a04\_483.pub2
- 145. Atsumi S, Cann AF, Connor MR, Shen CR, Smith KM, Brynildsen MP, Chou KJY, Hanai T, Liao JC (2008) Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for 1-butanol production. Metab Eng 10(6):305–311
- 146. Bastian S, Liu X, Meyerowitz JT, Snow CD, Chen MMY, Arnold FH (2011) Engineered ketol-acid reductoisomerase and alcohol dehydrogenase enable anaerobic 2-methylpropan-1ol production at theoretical yield in *Escherichia coli*. Metab Eng 13(3):345–352. doi:10.1016/ j.ymben.2011.02.004
- 147. Gak E, Tyurin M, Kiriukhin M (2014) Genome tailoring powered production of isobutanol in continuous CO<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> blend fermentation using engineered acetogen biocatalyst. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 41(5):763–781. doi:10.1007/s10295-014-1416-5
- 148. Kolodziej R, Scheib J (2014) Bio-based isobutanol a versatile, viable next generation biofuel. Digital Refining
- 149. Buelter T, Meinhold P, Feldmann RMR, Hawkins AC, Urano J, Bastian S, Arnold F (2012) Engineered microorganisms capable of producing target compounds under anaerobic conditions. US 8097440 B1
- 150. Feldmann RMR, Gunawardena U, Urano J, Meinhold P, Aristidou A, Dundon CA, Smith C (2013) Yeast organism producing isobutanol at a high yield. US 8455239 B2
- 151. Bhalla R, Doig SD, Konde KS, Patil VSN, Patnaik R (2014) Process for maximizing biomass growth and butanol yield by feedback control. WO 2014151645 A1
- 152. Peterka A (2014) BP-DuPont venture eyes 2016 isobutanol production. http://www. governorsbiofuelscoalition.org/?p=10319. Accessed 15 Apr 2015
- 153. Hoell D, Mensing T, Roggenbuck R, Sakuth M, Sperlich E, Urban T, Neier W, Strehlke G (2009) 2-Butanone. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. doi:10.1002/14356007. a04\_475.pub2
- 154. Keen AR, Walker NJ, Peberdy MF (2009) The formation of 2-butanone and 2-butanol in cheddar cheese. J Dairy Res 41(02):249. doi:10.1017/s002202990001966x
- 155. Ghiaci P, Lameiras F, Norbeck J, Larsson C (2014) Production of 2-butanol through meso-2,3-butanediol consumption in lactic acid bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Lett 360(1):70–75. doi:10.1111/1574-6968.12590
- 156. Generoso WC, Schadeweg V, Oreb M, Boles E (2014) Metabolic engineering of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for production of butanol isomers. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33C:1–7. doi:10. 1016/j.copbio.2014.09.004
- 157. Ji XJ, Huang H (2014) Bio-based butanediols production: the contributions of catalysis, metabolic engineering, and synthetic biology. In: Bisaria VS, Kondo A (eds) Bioprocessing of renewable resources to commodity bioproducts. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 261–288
- 158. Zeng AP, Sabra W (2011) Microbial production of diols as platform chemicals: recent progresses. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22(6):749–757. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2011.05.005
- 159. Gräfje H, Körnig W, Weitz H-M, Reiß W, Steffan G, Diehl H, Bosche H, Schneider K, Kieczka H (2000) Butanediols, butenediol, and butynediol. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry doi:10.1002/14356007.a04\_455
- 160. Bartowsky EJ, Henschke PA (2004) The 'buttery' attribute of wine diacetyl desirability, spoilage and beyond. Int J Food Microbiol 96(3):235–252. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004. 05.013
- 161. Petrini P, Ponti SD, Fare S, Tanzi MC (1999) Polyurethane-maleamides for cardiovascular applications: synthesis and properties. J Mater Sci Mater Med 10(12):711–714. doi:10.1023/ A:1008970904334
- 162. Celinska E, Grajek W (2009) Biotechnological production of 2,3-butanediol current state and prospects. Biotechnol Adv 27(6):715–725. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.05.002

- 163. Harden A, Walpole GS (1906) Chemical action of *Bacillus lactis aerogenes* (Escherich) on glucose and mannitol: production of 2, 3-butyleneglycol and acetylmethylcarbinol. Proc Royal Soc B Bio 77(519):399–405. doi:10.1098/rspb.1906.0028
- 164. Fulmer EI, Christensen LM, Kendali AR (1933) Production of 2,3-butylene glycol by fermentation. Ind Eng Chem 25(7):798–800. doi:10.1021/ie50283a019
- 165. Ji XJ, Huang H, Ouyang PK (2011) Microbial 2,3-butanediol production: a state-of-the-art review. Biotechnol Adv 29(3):351–364. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.01.007
- 166. Behr A, Dittmeyer R, Keim W, Kreysa G, Oberholz AE (2005) Aliphatische Zwischenprodukte. Winnacker – Küchler: Chemische Technik, Prozesse und Produkte: Organische Zwischenverbindungen, Polymere. Wiley-VCH
- 167. Myszkowski J, Zielinski AZ (1965) Synthèse de la butylène-chlorhydrine et sa conversion en méthyléthylcétone, oxyde de butylène et butylène-glycol. Chimie et industrie 93(3)
- Weissermel K, Arpe H-J (1998) Spezielle Herstellungsverfahren f
  ür Olefine. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp 70–99
- 169. Ji XJ, Huang H, Zhu JG, Ren LJ, Nie ZK, Du J, Li S (2010) Engineering *Klebsiella oxytoca* for efficient 2, 3-butanediol production through insertional inactivation of acetaldehyde dehydrogenase gene. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 85(6):1751–1758. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-2222-2
- 170. Qi G, Kang Y, Li L, Xiao A, Zhang S, Wen Z, Xu D, Chen S (2014) Deletion of meso-2,3butanediol dehydrogenase gene budC for enhanced D-2,3-butanediol production in *Bacillus licheniformis*. Biotechnol Biofuels 7(1):16. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-7-16
- 171. Wang Q, Chen T, Zhao X, Chamu J (2012) Metabolic engineering of thermophilic *Bacillus licheniformis* for chiral pure D-2,3-butanediol production. Biotechnol Bioeng 109 (7):1610–1621. doi:10.1002/bit.24427
- 172. Guo X, Cao C, Wang Y, Li C, Wu M, Chen Y, Zhang C, Pei H, Xiao D (2014) Effect of the inactivation of lactate dehydrogenase, ethanol dehydrogenase, and phosphotransacetylase on 2,3-butanediol production in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strain. Biotechnol Biofuels 7(1):44. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-7-44
- 173. Kim SJ, Seo SO, Park YC, Jin YS, Seo JH (2014) Production of 2,3-butanediol from xylose by engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biotechnol 192(Pt B):376–382. doi:10.1016/j. jbiotec.2013.12.017
- 174. Nan H, Seo SO, Oh EJ, Seo JH, Cate JH, Jin YS (2014) 2,3-Butanediol production from cellobiose by engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98 (12):5757–5764. doi:10.1007/s00253-014-5683-x
- 175. Xu Y, Chu H, Gao C, Tao F, Zhou Z, Li K, Li L, Ma C, Xu P (2014) Systematic metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for high-yield production of fuel bio-chemical 2,3-butanediol. Metab Eng 23:22–33. doi:10.1016/j.ymben.2014.02.004
- 176. Ma C, Wang A, Qin J, Li L, Ai X, Jiang T, Tang H, Xu P (2009) Enhanced 2,3-butanediol production by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* SDM. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82(1):49–57. doi:10. 1007/s00253-008-1732-7
- 177. Petrov K, Petrova P (2010) Enhanced production of 2,3-butanediol from glycerol by forced pH fluctuations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87(3):943–949. doi:10.1007/s00253-010-2545-z
- 178. Zhang L, Sun J, Hao Y, Zhu J, Chu J, Wei D, Shen Y (2010) Microbial production of 2,3-butanediol by a surfactant (serrawettin)-deficient mutant of *Serratia marcescens* H30. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 37(8):857–862. doi:10.1007/s10295-010-0733-6
- 179. Hässler T, Schieder D, Pfaller R, Faulstich M, Sieber V (2012) Enhanced fed-batch fermentation of 2,3-butanediol by *Paenibacillus polymyxa* DSM 365. Bioresour Technol 124:237–244. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.08.047
- 180. Jurchescu IM, Hamann J, Zhou X, Ortmann T, Kuenz A, Prusse U, Lang S (2013) Enhanced 2,3-butanediol production in fed-batch cultures of free and immobilized *Bacillus licheniformis* DSM 8785. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(15):6715–6723. doi:10.1007/ s00253-013-4981-z

- 181. Li L, Zhang L, Li K, Wang Y, Gao C, Han B, Ma C, Xu P (2013) A newly isolated *Bacillus licheniformis* strain thermophilically produces 2,3-butanediol, a platform and fuel bio-chemical. Biotechnol Biofuels 6(1):123. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-6-123
- 182. Yang T, Rao Z, Zhang X, Lin Q, Xia H, Xu Z, Yang S (2011) Production of 2,3-butanediol from glucose by GRAS microorganism *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*. J Basic Microbiol 51 (6):650–658. doi:10.1002/jobm.201100033
- 183. Rojas Martinez AM, Segarra Manzano S, Montesinos Paes A, Tortajada Serra M, Ramon Vidal D, Santos Mazorra VE, Ladero Gallan M, Garcia-Ochoa Soria F, Ripoll Morales V (2014) Method for producing 2,3-butanediol using improved strains of *Raoultella planticola*. WO 2014013330 A2
- 184. Tsvetanova F, Petrova P, Petrov K (2014) 2,3-butanediol production from starch by engineered *Klebsiella pneumoniae* G31-A. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(6):2441–2451. doi:10.1007/s00253-013-5418-4
- 185. Jiang L-Q, Fang Z, Zhao Z-I, He F, Li H-b (2015) 2,3-Butanediol and acetoin production from enzymatic hydrolysate of ionic liquid-pretreated cellulose by *Paenibacillus polymyxa*. BioResources 10(1). doi:10.15376/biores.10.1.1318-1329
- 186. Koepke M, Gerth ML, Maddock DJ, Mueller AP, Liew F, Simpson SD, Patrick WM (2014) Reconstruction of an acetogenic 2,3-butanediol pathway involving a novel NADPHdependent primary-secondary alcohol dehydrogenase. Appl Environ Microbiol 80 (11):3394–3403. doi:10.1128/AEM.00301-14
- 187. Koepke M, Mihalcea C, Liew F, Tizard JH, Ali MS, Conolly JJ, Al-Sinawi B, Simpson SD (2011) 2,3-Butanediol production by acetogenic bacteria, an alternative route to chemical synthesis, using industrial waste gas. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(15):5467–5475. doi:10. 1128/AEM.00355-11
- 188. Koepke M, Havill A (2014) LanzaTech's route to bio-butadiene. Catal Rev 27(6). http:// www.catalystgrp.com/cmsAdmin/uploads/thecatalystreview%28june2014%29.pdf
- 189. Ge L, Wu X, Chen J, Wu J (2011) A new method for industrial production of 2,3-butanediol. J Biomater Nanobiotechnol 02(03):335–336. doi:10.4236/jbnb.2011.23041
- 190. Sampat BG (2011) 1,4-Butanediol: a techno-commercial profile. Chemical Weekly, pp 205-211
- 191. Tan JPM, Jahim J, Wu TY, Harun S, Kim BH, Mohammad AW (2014) Insight into biomass as a renewable carbon source for the production of succinic acid and the factors affecting the metabolic flux toward higher succinate yield. Ind Eng Chem Res 53(42):16123–16134. doi:10.1021/ie502178j
- 192. Delhomme C, Weuster-Botz D, Kuehn FE (2009) Succinic acid from renewable resources as a C4 building-block chemical – a review of the catalytic possibilities in aqueous media. Green Chem 11(1):13–26. doi:10.1039/b810684c
- 193. Plot P (2012) BioAmber produces biobased 1,4-butanediol from biosuccinic acid
- 194. Bechthold I, Bretz K, Kabasci S, Kopitzky R, Springer A (2008) Succinic acid: a new platform chemical for biobased polymers from renewable resources. Chem Eng Technol 31 (5):647–654. doi:10.1002/ceat.200800063
- 195. Rao VNM (1988) Process for preparing butyrolactones and butanediols. US 4782167 A
- 196. Bhattacharyya A, Manila MD (2006) Catalysts for maleic acid hydrogenation to 1,4-butanediol. US 20060004212 A1
- 197. Burk MJ (2010) Sustainable production of industrial chemicals from sugars. Int Sugar J 112 (1333):30–35
- 198. Burk MJ, Van Dien SJ, Burgard AP, Niu W (2015) Composition and methods for the biosynthesis of 1,4-butanediol and its precursors. US 8969054 B2
- 199. Genomatica (2015) Commercial-scale production, customer validation, licenses. http://www. genomatica.com/products/genobdoprocess/. Accessed 14 Apr 2015
- 200. Dittmeyer R, Keim W, Kreysa G, Oberholz A (2005) Chemische Technik Prozesse und Produkte, vol 5. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp 55–68

- 201. Forestière A, Olivier-Bourbigou H, Saussine L (2009) Oligomerization of monoolefins by homogeneous catalysts. Oil Gas Sci Technol Revue de l'IFP 64(6):649–667. doi:10.2516/ ogst/2009027
- 202. Olson ES, Sharma RK, Aulich TR (2004) Higher-alcohols biorefinery. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 113–116:913–932. doi:10.1007/978-1-59259-837-3 74
- 203. Lamsen EN, Atsumi S (2012) Recent progress in synthetic biology for microbial production of C3-C10 alcohols. Front Microbiol 3:196. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2012.00196
- Moon HJ, Jeya M, Kim IW, Lee JK (2010) Biotechnological production of erythritol and its applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86(4):1017–1025. doi:10.1007/s00253-010-2496-4
- 205. Zhang J, Li J-b WS-B, Liu Y (2013) Advances in the catalytic production and utilization of sorbitol. Ind Eng Chem Res 52(34):11799–11815. doi:10.1021/ie4011854
- 206. Ghosh S, Sudha ML (2012) A review on polyols: new frontiers for health-based bakery products. Int J Food Sci Nutr 63(3):372–379. doi:10.3109/09637486.2011.627846
- 207. TMR (2013) Global sorbitol market isosorbide, propylene glycol, glycerol & other downstream opportunities, applications (toothpaste, vitamin C, sweetener etc.), size, share, growth, trends and forecast 2012–2018. vol 2015. http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/sorbi tol-market.html. Accessed 18 May 2015
- 208. Buyer R (2014) Xylitol a global market overview. https://www.reportbuyer.com/product/ 2126635/xylitol-a-global-market-overview.html. Accessed 18 Mar 2015
- 209. Bhatt SM, Mohan A, Srivastava SK (2013) Challenges in enzymatic route of mannitol production. ISRN Biotechnol 2013:1–13. doi:10.5402/2013/914187
- 210. Silveira MM, Jonas R (2002) The biotechnological production of sorbitol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 59(4–5):400–408. doi:10.1007/s00253-002-1046-0
- 211. Bruggeman JP, Bettinger CJ, Langer R (2010) Biodegradable xylitol-based elastomers: in vivo behavior and biocompatibility. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 95A(1):92–104. doi:10. 1002/jbm.a.32733
- 212. Granstroem TB, Izumori K, Leisola M (2007) A rare sugar xylitol. Part II: biotechnological production and future applications of xylitol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74(2):273–276. doi:10.1007/s00253-006-0760-4
- 213. Prakasham RS, Rao RS, Hobbs PJ (2009) Current trends in biotechnological production of xylitol and future prospects. Curr Trends Biotechnol Pharm 3(1):8–36
- 214. Chen X, Jiang Z-H, Chen S, Qin W (2010) Microbial and bioconversion production of D-xylitol and its detection and application. Int J Biol Sci 6(7):834–844
- 215. Chen Y (2011) Development and application of co-culture for ethanol production by co-fermentation of glucose and xylose: a systematic review. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 38 (5):581–597. doi:10.1007/s10295-010-0894-3
- 216. Granstroem TB, Izumori K, Leisola M (2007) A rare sugar xylitol. Part I: the biochemistry and biosynthesis of xylitol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74(2):277–281. doi:10.1007/s00253-006-0761-3
- 217. Rafiqul ISM, Sakinah AMM (2013) Processes for the production of xylitol a review. Food Rev Int 29(2):127–156. doi:10.1080/87559129.2012.714434
- 218. Grembecka M (2015) Sugar alcohols their role in the modern world of sweeteners: a review. Eur Food Res Technol. doi:10.1007/s00217-015-2437-7
- 219. Thomas S, Head WA, Cameron CA (2007) A process for producing erythritol. WO 2007005299 A1
- 220. Edlauer R, Trimmel S (2012) Process for producing erythritol using *moniliella tomentosa* strains in the presence of neutral inorganic nitrates, such as potassium nitrate, ammonium nitrate or sodium nitrate, as nitrogen source. US 8187847 B2
- 221. Besson M, Gallezot P, Pinel C (2014) Conversion of biomass into chemicals over metal catalysts. Chem Rev 114(3):1827–1870. doi:10.1021/cr4002269
- 222. Corma A, Iborra S, Velty A (2007) Chemical routes for the transformation of biomass into chemicals. Chem Rev 107(6):2411–2502. doi:10.1021/cr050989d

# **Biotechnological Production of Organic Acids from Renewable Resources**



## Daniel Pleissner, Donna Dietz, Jozef Bernhard Johann Henri van Duuren, Christoph Wittmann, Xiaofeng Yang, Carol Sze Ki Lin, and Joachim Venus

Abstract Biotechnological processes are promising alternatives to petrochemical routes for overcoming the challenges of resource depletion in the future in a sustainable way. The strategies of white biotechnology allow the utilization of inexpensive and renewable resources for the production of a broad range of bio-based compounds. Renewable resources, such as agricultural residues or residues from food production, are produced in large amounts have been shown to be promising carbon and/or nitrogen sources. This chapter focuses on the biotechnological production of lactic acid, acrylic acid, succinic acid, muconic acid, and lactobionic acid from renewable residues, these products being used as monomers for bio-based material and/or as food supplements. These five acids have high economic values and the potential to overcome the "valley of death" between laboratory/pilot scale and commercial/industrial scale. This chapter also provides an overview of the production strategies, including microbial strain development, used to convert renewable resources into value-added products.

**Keywords** Acrylic acid, Cascade use of renewable resources, Lactic acid, Lactobionic acid, Muconic acid, Succinic acid

J.B.J.H. van Duuren and C. Wittmann Institute of Systems Biotechnology, Saarland University, Saarbrücken, Germany

X. Yang and C.S.K. Lin School of Energy and Environment, City University of Hong Kong, Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon, Hong Kong

D. Pleissner, D. Dietz, and J. Venus (🖂)

Department of Bioengineering, Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy Potsdam (ATB), Max-Eyth-Allee 100, 14469 Potsdam, Germany e-mail: jvenus@atb-potsdam.de

#### Contents

1	Intro	duction	374
2	Lact	ic Acid	376
	2.1	Microorganisms for the Production of Lactic Acid	377
	2.2	Lactic Acid Fermentation Based on Renewable Resources	377
	2.3	Developments in Lactic Acid Production	378
	2.4	Summary	379
3	Acry	/lic Acid	379
	3.1	Chemical Production of Acrylic Acid from Lactic Acid	380
	3.2	Microbial Formation of Acrylic Acid	381
	3.3	Summary	382
4	Succ	inic Acid	383
	4.1	Succinic Acid Fermentation	384
	4.2	Fermentative Succinic Acid Production from Renewable Resources	387
	4.3	Summary	388
5	cis,c	is-Muconic Acid	389
	5.1	Microbial Production of <i>cis,cis</i> -Muconic Acid	390
	5.2	Market Potential of <i>cis,cis</i> -Muconic Acid	390
	5.3	Summary	394
6	Lact	obionic Acid	394
	6.1	Application of Lactobionic Acid	395
	6.2	Biotechnological Production of Lactobionic Acid	396
	6.3	Summary	398
7	Con	clusion and Future Tendency	398
Re	feren	ces	399

# 1 Introduction

Biotechnological processes for the production of bio-based chemicals are promising alternatives to petrochemical routes for overcoming the challenges of resource depletion in the future in a sustainable way [1]. The change from a fossil oil-based to a bio-based economy requires the development of innovative utilization processes to exploit fully the potential of biomass. In particular, the cascade use of biomass is essential in the context of efficient utilization strategies, which considers (1) production of food and feed, (2) material use, and (3) energetic use of biomass [2].

It was estimated by Bentsen et al. [3] that around  $3.7 \times 10^9$  ton (dry matter) of agricultural residues occurred globally per year from barley, maize, rice, soybean, sugar cane, and wheat between 2006 and 2008. Agricultural residues consist of carbohydrates, such as starch, cellulose, and hemicellulose, but also proteins and minerals, which are potential sources of carbon, nitrogen, or phosphorus compounds to be used as nutrients for microorganisms in biotechnological processes [4, 5]. The composition of agricultural residues can be highly variable. Wheat straw, for instance, can contain (w/w) around 40% cellulose, 30% hemicellulose, 20% lignin, 5% proteins, and 5% ash whereas oilseeds consist of around 40% proteins and little cellulose and hemicellulose [5–7].

According to the study by Bentsen et al. [3], the agricultural residues produced yearly between 2006 and 2008 contain  $1.376 \times 10^9$  ton cellulose and  $0.848 \times 10^9$  ton hemicellulose. To make the amounts of cellulose and hemicellulose available as feedstocks in biotechnological processes, the recalcitrant structure needs to be broken up and the constituents converted into utilizable nutrients such as glucose, fructose, and xylose. Hydrolysis of the constituents of agricultural residues can be carried out using thermal, chemical, biological, and/or enzymatic methods. The complete hydrolysis of the  $1.376 \times 10^9$  ton cellulose occurring per year [3] would theoretically give  $1.529 \times 10^9$  ton glucose. To maintain soil fertility, half of the agricultural residues are left on the field as fertilizer. Nevertheless, 50% of agricultural residues, possessing more than  $0.7 \times 10^9$  ton glucose in form of cellulose, would theoretically be available for biotechnological processes each year.

Another renewable resource is whey. Whey is a residue from yogurt, cheese, butter, milk, and ice cream production processes and is rich in lactose (4–5%, w/v) and casein (0.6–0.8%, w/v) [8, 9]. For instance, during the production of 1 kg cheese, 9 kg of whey is generated, which is used as animal feed [10]. Castillo [11] estimated that more than  $0.145 \times 10^9$  ton of liquid whey is produced per year, containing 6,000,000 ton lactose. The great amount of whey generated as a by-product is the reason why it has been used as carbon and nitrogen source in various biotechnological processes for the production of platform chemicals such as ethanol and lactic acid [8, 9].

The strategy of white biotechnology allows the utilization of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus compounds even from low value agricultural residues by assimilation in microbial biomass and metabolites. The versatility of microorganisms thereby enables the production of various products, such as food, feed, chemicals, materials, and energy, and allows the utilization of agricultural residues in accordance with the principle of cascade use. The broad range of products obtainable from biotechnological processes, such as alcohols, short- and long-chain organic acids, and polymers, are particularly of interest for the chemical industry as sustainable and green reactants in technical processes [1, 12]. Furthermore, white biotechnology allows not only the conversion of renewable resources into industrially relevant compounds but also the selective production of isomers, such as D (-)- and L(+)-lactic acid [13, 14]. Thus, white biotechnology can produce reactants for highly specialized chemical processes from complex substrates.

Organic acids can serve as feedstocks for many bulk chemicals and polymers [12], and thus are interesting microbial products from a commercial point of view. Therefore, this chapter focuses on the biotechnological production, microbial strain development, and case studies of industrially relevant organic acids from renewable resources. Special emphasis is placed on lactic acid (LA), acrylic acid (AA), succinic acid (SA), muconic acid (MA), and lactobionic acid (LBA), which have great potentials to overcome the "valley of death" between pilot scale and commercial scale, and to be used in the formation of bio-based materials, such as bioplastic and bionylon, and/or food additives. LA and SA are currently produced biotechnologically at commercial scale [15], more research activities being

Molecular structure	H <sub>3</sub> C ОН H <sub>3</sub> C ОН
IUPAC name	D(-)-Lactic acid $L(+)$ -Lactic acid
	2-Hydroxypropanoic acid
Molecular formula	C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> O <sub>3</sub>
Molecular weight (g/mol)	90.08
Physical status	D/L-Lactic acid (racemate): liquid
Appearance	Colorless, oily
Melting point (°C)	53
Solubility	Freely soluble in water and ethanol
pKa	≈3.8

#### Table 1 Properties of lactic acid

required to scale up the production of AA, MA, and LBA from laboratory and pilot scales toward demonstration and commercial scale processes.

# 2 Lactic Acid

LA (2-hydroxypropanoic acid) is one of the most promising platform chemicals [16] with a single chiral center (Table 1), which exists as two isomers, D-LA and L-LA, whereas both of them can be produced biotechnologically. The food, cosmetic, pharmaceutical, and chemical industries have been using lactic acid in many applications, such as pH regulation, antimicrobial agent, flavors, moisturizers, green solvent, and cleaning agent [17]. Furthermore, LA has gained significant attention as a monomer to be used in the production of the biodegradable plastic poly(lactic acid) (PLA), which has the potential to substitute considerable amounts of petroleum-based plastics in the future [18-20] to save fossil carbon resources on the one hand and to contribute to the climate protection goals on the other. LA exists in two isomers, L(+)-LA and D(-)-LA. The pK value of LA is around 3.8 [21]. Although in the synthetic preparation of LA only a racemic mixture of DLisomers is formed, optically pure isomers can be produced by fermentative processes, depending on the choice of the microorganisms. In PLA synthesis, optically pure lactic acid is required, because small changes in the mixing ratio affect the property of the subsequently produced PLA.

LA is not only an industrially relevant platform chemical and a monomer in PLA production, but also an important product for the bio-based and circular economy. In 2013, the demand of LA was estimated at 714,000 ton. It is expected that the

demand should further increase at an annual rate of 15.5% between 2014 and 2020, based mainly on the demand for bioplastic [22–24].

# 2.1 Microorganisms for the Production of Lactic Acid

LA can be produced by several microorganisms, such as bacteria, fungi, and yeast [22, 25]. Besides the wide group of *Lactobacilli* [26], other bacteria such as *Bacillus* [27], *Enterococcus* [28], *Lactococcus* [29], *Pediococcus* [30], *Streptococcus* [31], *Candida* [32], and filamentous fungi [33], especially *Rhizopus oryzae* [34, 35], were used as production strains, which are able to convert both hexoses and pentoses into LA.

Different LA producing strains could have significant improvements over the others, such as a broader substrate range, improved yield and productivity, reduction of nutritional requirements, or improved optical purity of LA [22]. In view of complex substrates such as residues and waste materials, the use of mixed cultures in fermentation may also provide useful combinations of metabolic pathways for the utilization of feedstocks containing a mixture of carbohydrates [36–39]. Several genetic-engineering approaches have been exploited to improve fermentation performance such as LA yield and optical purity using various microbial producers [40–42]. An extensive review by Okano et al. [43] provides a broad collection of genetically engineered-microorganisms for LA production, including their characteristics and applicability for fermentation processes.

# 2.2 Lactic Acid Fermentation Based on Renewable Resources

Worldwide research is focused on the use of renewable raw materials as carbon substrates as well as nutrient sources. An overview of the utilization of different renewable resources for LA fermentation, microorganisms, and yields depending on several process parameters was given by Hofvendahl and Hahn-Hägerdal [44] and Castillo Martinez et al. [18]. In this context, there is strong interest in reducing costs for raw materials and using cheap feedstocks [45].

Lactic acid was produced worldwide at first from glucose or pure starch in fermentative ways. The first efforts in developing bioconversion processes for the production of LA directly from agricultural starchy feedstock were published by Shamala and Screekantiah [46]. During the last few years, starch [47, 48], cassava [49, 50], wheat [51], rice [52, 53], and potatoes [54, 55] have also been tested for their suitability as substrates for LA fermentation.

With respect to the above-mentioned cost aspect of substrates, the utilization of residues and waste materials [56–59] and agricultural by-products [5, 60–62]

became the focus of public attention. Lignocellulosic biomass represents the most abundant global source of biomass, and for this reason it has been utilized in many applications [63–65]. Lignocellulosic materials can be used to obtain sugar solutions that may be usefully exploited for the production of lactic acid through the following steps: (1) pretreatment to break down the lignocellulosic structure, (2) enzymatic hydrolysis to depolymerize lignocellulose to fermentative sugars, (3) sugar fermentation to lactic acid, and (4) separation and purification of the product [66–68]. Besides the carbon source, lactic acid bacteria also need a source of nitrogen and other so-called micro- and macro-nutrients. The standard protein extracts such as yeast and/or meat extract, peptones, etc., are very expensive and their substitution by low-priced nutrient extracts is necessary when large scale production is planned. Although most attention has been paid to the use of plantbased alternatives such as pressed juice out of green biomass [69–71], animal-based materials such as residues from the slaughterhouse could also be used for lactic acid fermentation [72].

## 2.3 Developments in Lactic Acid Production

Because of the economic pressure and the competition with fossil-based chemicals, there is a pressing need to optimize the entire value chain starting from the feedstock via its pre-treatment and fermentation into LA, up to the downstream processing.

Besides the raw materials and process conditions, modern approaches to introduce new strains with new and/or modified properties can lead to more efficient production of LA. LA can be produced from a wide spectrum of carbon sources as already mentioned (Sect. 2.2) and, together with the cost factor, the competition with food and feed plays an additional role for raw material selection. In this sense, several lignocellulosic materials including wood [73, 74] and agricultural residues have received great attention as possible feedstocks to substitute edible starch material [75]. On the other hand, according to the difficulties mentioned in the mobilization of fermentable sugars, a range of other, easily accessible substrates, such as residues from fruit and vegetable processing, by-products from starch and sugar factories, or from the dairy sector and baking industry, are available.

Together with the need for a low-cost carbon source, there is an additional demand for suitable supplements, which should not cause additional costs and problems connected with impurities. From that perspective, optimization is necessary to find a balance between the substitution of expensive nutrients and the limitation of undesirable components. Therefore, the kind of nutrients as well as the optimization of their concentration is essential. It is likely that one of the future trends in LA production ends up with mixtures of different low-cost raw materials in order to avoid the use of expensive complex supplements [1, 76, 77]. Alternative fermentation strategies (e.g., co-cultivation with microbial strains supplying

essential nutrients) and metabolic engineering are additional tools to resolve or reduce such nutrient requirements [78].

Besides strain optimization and alternative raw materials, the transition from traditional batch fermentation, including repeated batch and fed-batch fermentation, to continuous mode fermentation [79, 80] with cell recycling [81–83] and the use of immobilized cells in different reactor types (fixed or fluidized beds) could lead to further performance improvement of the entire process.

The use of complex alternative raw materials as substrates in fermentation results in the introduction of impurities. To obtain pure LA formulations from fermentation broths, extensive downstream processing is required. Downstream processing can include micro- and nanofiltration, electrodialysis with monopolar and bipolar membranes, and concentration by water evaporation [84]. Another process, which is currently considered as state-of-the-art, is the reaction of LA with Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> and subsequent titration with  $H_2SO_4$ . The product is pure LA and CaSO<sub>4</sub> as chemical effluent [85].

#### 2.4 Summary

LA has been produced in fermentative processes based on renewable resources. The great opportunity to produce a bio-based plastic from LA makes this monomer an interesting chemical feedstock. However, further research on downstream processing is needed to separate optically pure L(+)- and D(-)-LA from impurities. The number of downstream processing steps including costly water evaporation at the end or the production of chemical effluents strongly influence the quality and price of the product, and the overall sustainability. Thus, further efforts in R&D to achieve the provision of lactic acid biotechnologically and commercially within the lowest cost are needed.

#### **3** Acrylic Acid

AA (prop-2-enoic acid, Table 2) is the simplest unsaturated carboxylic acid and one of the most important industrial chemicals [86]. It is used for the formulation of acrylate esters, superabsorbent polymers, detergents, and dispersants [87]. Currently, 4,200,000 ton of AA are produced worldwide, totally based on fossil oil [88]. The petrochemical route includes the partial oxidation of propene at relatively low yield of 50–60% or via acrolein at a yield of 90% [86]. AA consumption is expected to increase to 6,974,000 ton with a global market value of USD 16,456 million by 2019 [89]. Therefore, new and innovative processes are required to establish a sustainable production of AA and to overcome fossil oil dependence in the future.

Table 2         Properties of acrylic acid	Molecular structure	o II
		H <sub>2</sub> C OH
	IUPAC name	Prop-2-enoic acid
	Molecular formula	C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>4</sub> O <sub>2</sub>
	Molecular weight (g/mol)	72.06
	Physical status	Liquid
	Appearance	Colorless
	Melting point (°C)	14
	Solubility	Miscible with water
	рKa	4.25

## 3.1 Chemical Production of Acrylic Acid from Lactic Acid

To move the production toward sustainability, microbial metabolites produced from renewable resources can be converted into AA. For instance, the dehydration of LA has been shown to result in AA, but also in side products such as aldehydes, acetic acid, and propionic acid [90–92]. Generally, the selectivity of catalytic dehydration reactions to AA is rather low (Table 3). Selectivity in this context is defined as moles of AA obtained per mole of LA applied. Matsuura et al. [93] were able to obtain a selectivity of 63% with an Sr–P hydroxyapatite catalyst at 350 °C, an LA flow rate of 0.45 mL/h and an Ar flow rate of 40 mL/min, which means that almost two-thirds of the reacted LA was converted into AA. It should be admitted here that, in the examples listed in Table 3, conversion was never 100%. Using a catalyst (93%  $Ba_3(PO_4)_2$  + 7%  $\alpha$ - $Ba_2P_2O_7$ ) at 380 °C, 93% of the supplied LA reacted, which is considerably higher than the 23% when the reaction was carried out at 450 °C and 100 MPa without a catalyst. In most of the studies listed in Table 3, commercially available LA was used and much higher selectivities (>40%), were achieved in comparison to studies carried out with fermentatively produced LA (<20%) [91-94]. The quantity of side products seems to increase and consequently the selectivity to AA decreases when fermentatively produced LA is used. This is probably because of the presence of remaining salts and sugars in LA formulations, which may affect the performance of applied catalysts [92]. Nevertheless, this hybrid approach is promising as AA produced from fermentatively obtained LA can be considered as a sustainable product.

Strain	Substrate	Lactic acid (mol)	Acrylic acid selectivity (%)	Catalyst/reaction conditions	Reference
_	-	4.2 <sup>a</sup>	63 <sup>b</sup>	Sr−P at ≈350 °C	[93]
-	-	-	49 <sup>c</sup>	93% Ba <sub>3</sub> (PO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> + 7% α-Ba <sub>2</sub> P <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub> at 380 °C	[94]
-	-	0.05 <sup>a</sup>	44 <sup>d</sup>	450 °C, 100 MPa	[91]
Lactobacillus plantarum	Sugarcane molasses	50.6 <sup>e</sup> / 152 <sup>f</sup>	16.7	KI/NaY at 300 °C under CO <sub>2</sub>	[92]

Table 3 Biotechnological production of acrylic acid from lactic acid by hybrid approaches

<sup>a</sup>Experiments carried out using commercially available lactic acid

 $^{b}72\%$  of lactic acid converted

<sup>c</sup>93% of lactic acid converted

<sup>d</sup>23% of lactic acid converted

<sup>e</sup>Fermentatively produced lactic acid

<sup>f</sup>Concentrated fermentatively produced lactic acid

#### 3.2 Microbial Formation of Acrylic Acid

Because the chemical conversion of LA into AA is energy intensive and has a relatively low selectivity, microbial formation of AA has been investigated as an alternative production strategy. Even when AA is part of the metabolism of many microorganisms, it is immediately utilized and does not appear as a metabolic end product. *Desulfovibrio acrylicus* uses acrylate as electron acceptor and forms propanoate, *Alcaligines faecalis* M3A hydrates AA to 3-hydroxypropanoate, which is then utilized [95, 96]. *Propionibacterium shermanii* forms acrylyl-coenzyme A from AA and converts it into succinyl-coenzyme A via propionyl-coenzyme A [97]. Thus, the biotechnological production of AA at high titer is challenging. Furthermore, AA is toxic and microorganisms used should be able to tolerate high AA concentrations.

Advantageously, the biotechnological production of AA can be based on the conversion of many metabolites derived from sugars because of the versatility of metabolic pathways (Fig. 1). Danner and Braun [90] suggested possible routes to produce AA via biotechnological pathways. One route includes the production of LA and its chemical or biological conversion into AA. The chemical conversion has already been explained. For the microbial conversion, a strain or enzyme that is able to dehydrate LA is needed. For instance, it was found that AA was formed by *C. propionicum* from LA in the presence of 3-butynoic acid, an inhibitor of lactate dehydrogenase [98]. Another route is the formation of propionic acid and its conversion into AA. This route includes the oxidation of propionate, which can be carried out by *P. shermanii*.

Even though several routes are known to produce AA solely by biotechnological processes from renewable resources, the AA concentrations obtained were rather low and reached only 1% of the initial substrate concentration [90, 98]. No significant improvement of direct AA fermentation using viable cells has been reported



Fig. 1 Possible pathways for the chemical synthesis of acrylic acid from renewable resources derived sugars (*CoA* coenzyme A, *mal. semiald* malonic semialdehyde, *DMSP* dimethylsulfoniumpropionate, *methylmal*. methylmalonyl) [86]

in the last decade. Nevertheless, genetic engineering may provide the tools to create strains that can effectively convert renewable carbon sources into AA and to increase the tolerance toward high AA concentrations. It should, however, be admitted here that Nagasawa et al. [99] reached a concentration of 390 g/L AA in a fed-batch culture using resting cells of *Rhodococcus rhodochrous* strain J1. The resting cells were periodically fed with 200 mM acrylonitrile as substrate for AA formation. The molar conversion yield was 98.5% [99]. This interesting approach has its drawback as it is based on acrylonitrile, which is derived from propylene and a potential carcinogen.

### 3.3 Summary

Because of the little success to produce AA at considerable concentrations directly from sugars with microbes as biocatalysts, the indirect production via LA is the most realistic approach. LA can be produced from sugars derived from renewable resources. The simplicity of the LA pathway provides an effective opportunity to convert carbon sources from renewable resources in AA. Theoretically, 2 mol LA can be formed from 1 mol glucose, which serves as feedstock for the chemical conversion into AA.

The opportunity to produce LA from renewable resources derived sugars (see Sect. 2) supports the concept of AA production from sustainable resources. Processes to release fermentable sugars from agricultural residues have been investigated, which include acid hydrolysis and/or enzymatic hydrolysis. Another



Fig. 2 Conversion of sugars derived from renewable resources into acrylic acid via fermentative lactic acid approach

approach is the pretreatment by mechanical or thermal methods of the agricultural residues, followed by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (Fig. 2). After recovery and purification, LA can be chemically converted into AA by catalytic processes. However, more research is needed to increase the selectivity of catalytic conversion of LA into AA and to avoid or minimize the presence of unwanted side products which negatively affect the carbon balance.

### 4 Succinic Acid

SA, a four-carbon dicarboxylic acid (Table 4), was ranked as one of the top 12 promising platform chemicals from biomass by the US Department of Energy in 2004 because of its versatile applications, such as an additive in polyesters, paints, fuel, herbicides, pharmaceuticals, and detergents [16, 100]. Current global production ranges from 30,000 to 50,000 ton/year, and the expected market growth is 654,000 ton valued at USD 3.5 billion by 2020 [101]. The traditional chemical synthesis via hydrogenation of maleic anhydride mainly requires heavy metal catalysts, organic solvents, and high temperature and pressure, which makes the petrochemical-based SA production process costly and ecologically questionable [102]. Additionally, the increasing cost of crude oil and the imminent need for

Table 4         Properties of succinic acid	Molecular structure	но он
	IUPAC name	Butanedioic acid
	Molecular formula	C <sub>4</sub> H <sub>6</sub> O <sub>4</sub>
	Molecular weight (g/mol)	118.09
	Physical status	Solid
	Appearance	Colorless
	Melting point (°C)	184
	Solubility	Soluble in water
	$pKa_1$ and $pKa_2$	4.2 and 5.6

green and renewable chemicals are the drivers for the demand of bio-based SA. Efforts to expand production capacity of bio-based SA should help foster market growth in the coming years. Bio-based SA production has many benefits such as lower carbon footprint, higher cost efficiency, reduced price volatility, and the ability to reduce dependency on crude oil. Currently, demonstration plants have been built in North America, Europe, and Asia Pacific by several leading chemical companies such as BioAmber, Reverdia, Myriant, and BASF for upscaling the fermentative SA production from renewable feedstock. However, only 3% of succinic acid market volume was bio-based in 2011 [103]. This calls for more research and development on bio-based SA production and particularly on SA production from renewable resources.

# 4.1 Succinic Acid Fermentation

Fermentative SA can be obtained using either natural producers or metabolic engineered strains [104]. Some of the SA production hosts, such as recombinant *Escherichia coli*, *Actinobacillus succinogenes*, *Mannheimia succiniproducens*, and *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, demonstrated high productivity and yield and have been extensively studied in recent years [105]. However, these strains have certain disadvantages such as being potentially pathogenic, having poor growth, low tolerance toward acidity, osmotic stress, and high glucose levels needed, limiting their industrial applications [106]. Additionally, SA purification from these fermentations requires complicated downstream processing. More recently, research and industrial production have appeared to switch to the use of yeast as production hosts, such as *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Yarrowia lipolytica*, and *Candida krusei*. Yeast is commonly used in organic acid production and its application in bio-based SA production has several advantages [106, 107]: (1) generally regarded as safe

status, which eases waste disposal, product and process approval, (2) genetically and physiologically well-characterized and tools for genetic optimization are established, (3) good tolerance to low pH, which ensures low risk of bacterial contamination and eliminates the need of neutralization of acidic products, and (4) good tolerance to fermentation inhibitors, which might be present in biomass hydrolysates. Its high tolerance toward acidity is a major advantage over bacterial succinic acid production hosts as it allows succinic acid production in free acid form, which enormously facilitates the downstream process and avoids the generation of chemical waste such as gypsum by traditional processes [108]. In this part of the chapter, our focus is on fermentative succinic acid production by yeasts such as *S. cerevisiae*, *Y. lipolytica*, *Zymomonas mobilis*, and *Issatchenkia orientalis* through metabolic engineering (Table 5).

S. cerevisiae is a common industrial host for production of enzymes, pharmaceuticals, nutritional additives, biofuels, and commodity chemicals [106]. Succinic acid can be accumulated by disturbing the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle via metabolic engineering. Raab et al. [109] disrupted the TCA cycle in S. cerevisiae to produce SA by deletion of the genes SDH1, SDH2, IDH1, and IDP1, which encode succinate dehydrogenase subunits and isocitrate dehydrogenase subunits. In shake flask cultures, this TCA cycle disrupted mutant did not exhibit serious growth constraints on glucose, and resulted in up to 3.62 g/L SA at a yield of 0.11 mol/mol glucose [109]. Construction of a modified pathway in yeast is another strategy to improve SA production [110]. Yan et al. [110] constructed a modified pathway to enhance SA production through the overexpressing of PYC2, MDH3R, E. coli FumC, and FRDS1 in a pdc- and fum1-deficient strain of S. cerevisiae. This engineered strain produced up to 6.17 g/L SA. Furthermore, succinate production was improved to 8.09 g/L by the deletion of GPD1. Under optimal supplemental CO<sub>2</sub> conditions in a bioreactor, the engineered strain produced 12.97 g/L SA at pH 3.8 [110].

Modern genetic engineering approaches, such as metabolic profiling analysis [111], genome scale metabolic network reconstruction [112], and microarray gene transcription analysis [113], were integrated with metabolic engineering to increase SA production. SA was produced intracellularly by elimination of the ethanol biosynthesis pathway of S. cerevisiae. To export intracellular SA outside of cells and hence to increase SA production in S. cerevisiae, the SDH1 and SDH2 genes were deleted and an mael gene encoding the Schizo saccharomyces pombe malic acid transporter was introduced [111]. The final engineered strain S149 sdh12/ pNV11-mae1 produced 2.36 C-mole SA/C-mole glucose. Otero et al. [112] used a model-guided strategy to predict in silico gene deletion targets and an evolutionary programming method to couple biomass and succinate production. After deletion of SDH3, two genes, SER3 and SER33, were deleted to force the yeast to produce glycine from glyoxylate derived from glyoxylate cycle. The mutant coupled SA production with growth by subsequent directed evolution. Moreover, succinic acid production increased by over 60% when ICL1 gene was overexpressed [112]. Agren et al. [113] demonstrated another model-guided metabolic engineering to obtain low-level SA production at anaerobic conditions by deletion of the

Table 5 Overview of fe	rmentative succinic acid (SA) production by metabolic eng	gineered yea:	st strains			
Strain	Modification	Substrate	Titer (g/L)	Yield (mol SA/mol carbon source)	Productivity (g/L/h)	Reference
S. cerevisiae AH22ura3.	Deletion of the genes SDHI, SDH2, IDHI, and IDPI	Glucose	3.62	0.11	0.02	[109]
S. cerevisiae	Overexpression of <i>PYC2</i> , <i>MDH3R</i> , <i>E. coli FumC</i> , and <i>FRDSI</i> in a <i>pdc-</i> and <i>fumI-</i> deficient strain, and subsequent deletion of <i>GPDI</i>	Glucose	12.97	0.21	0.11	[110]
S. cerevisiae S149 sdh12/pNV11-mae1	Deletion of the genes <i>SDH1</i> and <i>SDH2</i> , and overexpression of a <i>mae1</i> gene from <i>Schizo saccharo-</i> <i>myces pombe</i>	Glucose	N/A	2.36 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[111]
S. cerevisiae CEN. PK113-5D	Deletion of <i>SDH3</i> , <i>SER3</i> , and <i>SER33</i> , subsequent directed evolution and overexpression of <i>ICL1</i> gene	Glucose	0.9	0.08	N/A	[112]
S. cerevisiae BY4741	Deletion of the inner dicarboxylate mitochondrial transporter ( <i>DIC1</i> ).	Glucose	N/A	0.02 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[113]
S. cerevisiae	Overexpression of phosphoenoylpyruvate carboxylase from A. succinogenes or from M. succiniciproducens, native malate dehydrogenase glyoxylate shunt enzymes, and malic acid transporter from S. pombe,	Glucose	19.5	N/A	N/A	[114, 115]
I. orientalis ΙοΔura3 + SA	Expression of genes pyc, mdh, fumr, and frd,	Glucose	11.63	0.18	0.11	[126]
Z. mobilis ZM4	Deletion of <i>pdc</i> and <i>ldhA</i>	Glucose	N/A	1.46	N/A	[127]
Y. lipolytica	Deletion of SDH2 gene in the impaired SDHI mutant	Glycerol	45.5	0.28	0.27	[116]
Y. lipolytica H222- AZ2	Exchange of the native promoter of the <i>SHD2</i> by inducible promoters	Glycerol	25	0.23	0.15	[117]
Y. lipolytica PGC01003	Distribution of SDH gene	Crude glycerol	160.20	0.40	0.40	[125]
<sup>a</sup> The SA yield was calcu	lated by dividing C-mole SA with C-mole glucose					

386

inner dicarboxylate mitochondrial transporter (*DIC1*), which coupled to mitochondrial redox balancing.

Several patents have also been filed specifically on enhancing SA production from S. cerevisiae by metabolic engineering [114, 115]. Verwaal et al. enhanced SA production by introduction of a series of genes to modify the metabolic pathways of S. cerevisiae [17]. The resulting strain. with overexpression of phosphoenoylpyruvate carboxylase from Actinobacillus succinogenes or from Mannheimia succiniciproducens, native malate dehydrogenase glyoxylate shunt enzymes, and malic acid transporter from S. pombe, produced 19.5 g/L succinate in anaerobic fed-batch fermentation with supplementation of carbon dioxide [114, 115].

*Y. lipolytica* can utilize a broad range of substrates, such as glucose, glycerol, sucrose, ethanol, and fatty acids, to grow and produce organic acids [107]. Therefore, *Y. lipolytica* has the potential for the overproduction of SA by redirecting metabolic pathways upon gene knockout. The first approaches for metabolic engineering of *Y. lipolytica* to enhance SA production were presented by Yuzbashev et al. [116]. First, a temperature-sensitive mutant with an impaired *SDH1* gene was constructed and then the *SDH2* gene was deleted. Subsequent chemical mutagenesis was applied to increase cell viability and a maximum SA concentration of 45.5 g/L with pH control and 17.4 g/L without pH control were obtained [116]. These amounts of SA were higher than those produced by an engineered *S. cerevisiae* strain with four gene deletions [109]. Jost et al. [117] found that the exchange of the native promoter of the *SHD2* gene by inducible promoters allowed the recombinant strains to accumulate more SA from glycerol. In a 1-L fermentor, the production of SA increased to 25 g/L under oxygen limitation conditions by using a less active promoter in *Y. lipolytica* H222-AZ2.

In contrast with these studies, Kamzolova et al. [118] successfully developed a two-stage process for succinic acid production. First,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid was produced via yeast fermentation using *Y. lipolytica* VKM Y-2412 and subsequent decarboxylation of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid by addition of hydrogen peroxide to SA [118–120]. Under strictly controlled conditions, up to 71.7 g/L succinate was produced from ethanol and 69.0 g/L succinate was produced from rapeseed oil.

# 4.2 Fermentative Succinic Acid Production from Renewable Resources

To reduce the production costs and promote the bio-based economy of succinic acid production, utilization of cheap raw materials, such as agricultural residues and food waste, was investigated [100, 121]. The annual global production of food wastes is  $1.3 \times 10^9$  ton [122], and these food wastes are rich in carbon and nitrogen sources. Our previous studies have clearly demonstrated the possibility of SA production from food wastes by *A. succinogenes* [123] or recombinant *E. coli* 

[124]. For the advantages in SA production, *Y. lipolytica* was reconstructed as SA producer by our group through the disruption of *SDH* gene. The mutant *Y. lipolytica* PGC01003 prefers glycerol rather than glucose as the major carbon source for SA production [125]. In shaking flask experiments, 5.4 g/L SA was obtained using YPG media containing 2% glycerol, 2% tryptone, and 1% yeast extract, whereas 1.1 g/L SA was produced using YPD-rich media consisting of 2% glucose, 2% tryptone, and 1% yeast extract. Furthermore, fed-batch fermentation was carried out using biodiesel industrial residue crude glycerol as substrate in a 2-L fermentor to increase SA production [125]. The oxygen level was limited by fixing the aeration rate at 2 L/min and the stirring speed at 600 rpm. After 400 h of cultivation with six times feeding with crude glycerol, the final SA production was up to 160.2 g/L with the yield of 0.40 g/g glycerol (62.4% of theoretical yield). The SA average volumetric productivity was up to 0.40 g/L/h with a maximum of 1.36 g/L/h [125].

Several other yeast strains have been shown to produce SA via metabolic engineering. Xiao et al. [126] isolated a low pH tolerance yeast *I. orientalis* SD108, drafted the genome sequence, and used the sequencing information for guide pathway design. An engineered four-gene expression cassette related to the reductive TCA cycle was assembled and integrated into the genome of a uracil auxotroph of SD108, which resulted in 11.6 g/L succinic acid with a productivity of 0.11 g/L/h in batch cultures using shake flasks. *Z. mobilis*, a bioethanol-producing yeast, was also shown to be able to produce succinic acid [127]. Gene deletion targets for increased SA production were predicted by reconstructing a genome scale metabolic model of *Z. mobilis* ZM4. Double gene deletion of *pdc* and *ldhA* was performed to improve SA yield to 1.46 mol/mol glucose, which agreed well with the model simulation [127].

# 4.3 Summary

To have an economically viable bio-based SA production process, the selection of appropriate production hosts and feedstocks are the two key criteria. Yeasts could be one of the promising hosts for fermentative SA production in combination with metabolic engineering. Genetic modification of yeast for enhancing SA production should be conducted at the genomic level by combining metabolic engineering and evolutionary engineering. Coupled biological and chemical processes would be an alternative strategy to improve SA yield. Thanks to the development of genome, transcriptome, and synthetic biology, rational designs can be used to regulate the global metabolic pathways to improve succinic acid production.

Molecular structure	НО ОН
IUPAC name	(2Z,4Z)-Hexa-2,4-dienedioic acid
Molecular formula	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub> O <sub>4</sub>
Molecular weight (g/mol)	142.11
Physical status	Solid
Appearance	White powder
Melting point (°C)	194–195
Solubility	1 g/L is soluble in water, freely soluble in anhydrous ethanol
pKa	2.7 and 4.66

Table 6 Properties of cis, cis-muconic acid

# 5 cis,cis-Muconic Acid

Worldwide sales of *cis*, *cis*-MA (Table 6) were worth approximately USD 54 million in 2013 with an anticipated annual growth of 7% [128]. The compound has a high commercial potential when produced from biomass. Integrated biochemical production routes are being developed with glucose and lignin as the first and second generation biomass, respectively as carbon source [129, 130]. To convert glucose into *cis,cis*-MA, the substrate is first converted via the shikimic acid pathway to dehydroshikimate, which can be further converted into *cis,cis*-MA via, subsequently, 3-dehydroshikimic acid dehydratase (AroZ), protocatechuic acid decarboxylase (AroY), and catechol 1,2-dioxygenase (CatA) [131–136]. The latter three enzymes are heterologously expressed. On the other hand, Arthrobacter sp. and *Pseudomonas* sp. can convert benzoate into *cis,cis*-MA via the *ortho*-cleavage pathway, which is a part of the  $\beta$ -ketoadipate pathway [137–144]. To accumulate *cis,cis*-MA, further metabolic conversion needs to be prevented by the knockout of muconate cycloisomerase encoded by catB. Benzoate is a petrochemicallyproduced small aromatic compound. Its chemical structure is used as a model substance to study the metabolic conversion of small aromatics which exist in nature derived from depolymerized lignin. Momentarily, the further industrial usage of *cis,cis*-MA is hampered by its high price of 27.800 €/kg (Sigma-Aldrich, United States). This is reflected by the fact that the compound is sold as a specialty chemical by Sigma Aldrich (United States) and Alibaba (China). Compared with the top sugar-derived building blocks and new top chemical potentials from biorefinery carbohydrates, cis, cis-MA is relatively unknown [16]. Of all the cis, cis-MA produced, 85% is processed into adipic acid, an intermediate for nylon-6,6 [128]. Caprolactam and terephthalic acid are the second and third bulk chemicals which, it is expected, can significantly increase the market for *cis,cis*-MA.

# 5.1 Microbial Production of cis, cis-Muconic Acid

Various microorganisms have been used to develop an integrated biochemical process to accumulate *cis,cis*-MA [130]. The highest concentration has been obtained with E. coli [132, 145]. Through heterologous gene expression, the strain was enabled to utilize glucose (USD 300/ton [146], 180 g/mol) and catechol (USD 5,000/ton, 110.1 g/mol) as substrate for the production of cis,cis-MA. From both compounds a concentration of 59 g/L was reached that corresponded to yields of 30 and 100%, respectively. Because glucose was also used for growth and maintenance, the yield was lower as for catechol. Similar to benzoate, catechol is petrochemically produced. It can, however, be defined as an interesting compound for the microbial production of *cis,cis*-MA, as it is an intermediate metabolite for both described conversion routes. From glucose it was even shown to be possible to accumulate catechol in the medium via the shikimic acid pathway [147]. Furthermore, catechol and proto-catechuate form central metabolites of the ß-ketoadipate pathway, which are converted via the ortho- and meta-cleavage pathways, respectively [140]. Via the ortho-cleavage pathway cis, cis-MA can be formed from catechol in one enzymatic step [148]. Strains containing the  $\beta$ -ketoadipate pathway, such as Pseudomonas sp. and Arthrobacter sp., are known for their ability to channel aromatic molecules, which enables the biological funneling of impure aromatics [140, 148, 149]. These kind of conversions can be separated fully from the central metabolism, when glucose or another carbon source is fed separately for growth and maintenance [143, 150]. With the two described strains using toluene (USD 1,100/ton, 92.14 g/mol) and benzoate (USD 1,000/ton, 122.12 g/mol) as carbon source, respectively, a concentration of 45 g/L cis.cis-MA was reached [138, 139]. For Arthrobacter sp., a yield of 96% was described. Hexoses such as glucose can be seen as representatives of the first generation biomass. Aromatic compounds are rather expensive when produced petrochemically. Biorefinery processes are now being developed to depolymerize lignin (USD 145/ton) in small aromatic compounds [149, 151]. As a result, it is expected that such compounds can function as model substrates obtained from lignin, which is a second generation biomass [129]. Large quantities should be accumulated as "waste" from lignocellulose when second generation biofuels produced from C5 and C6 sugars become processed on a commodity scale. The valorization of lignin, as a consequence, plays a crucial role in the economic success of the biofuels industry [152, 153]. It is therefore expected that for cis, cis-MA a large scale employment in future processes can be sought.

# 5.2 Market Potential of cis, cis-Muconic Acid

The "drop in" bulk chemicals adipic acid, caprolactam, and terephthalic acid represent applications for which *cis,cis*-MA can be used (Fig. 3). To express the



market potential of integrated biochemical routes relative to the petrochemical routes, processes have to be compared economically and ecologically in more detail. Prices of organic acids given in this section are based predominantly on information provided by Alibaba.com in May 2015.

#### 5.2.1 Adipic Acid

Worldwide sales of adipic acid were nearly USD 5.5 billion with a production of 3,200,000 ton in 2012. The predicted annual growth rate (CAGR) and volume are expected to grow gradually until 2018 at 5.8 and 4.5%, respectively [128]. Around 85% of the worldwide volume of adipic acid is converted together with hexamethylenediamine (HMDA) to nylon-6,6 [154]. This fiber was discovered by Wallace Carothers in 1935 who was working for Du Pont (USA) [155]. To lower the environmental burden for production of adipic acid, new non-fossil-based raw materials are being investigated. In this context it was shown that a purified fermentation broth, containing 150 mM *cis,cis*-MA, could easily be hydrogenated into adipic acid. A yield of 97% was reached in the presence of 10% Pt on activated carbon (5% mol/mol) as catalyst, with H<sub>2</sub> (34 bar) for 2.5 h at 25  $^{\circ}$ C [131, 133, 144, 156–158]. Additionally, it was shown that HMDA (USD 3,000/ton) can be obtained by catalytic conversion of *cis,cis*-MA at a yield of 58% via hydrogenation of adipic acid to 1,6-hexanediol followed by an amination with ammonia [159, 160]. If the cis,cis-MA production path is followed, the demand for cis,cis-MA could be increased significantly in relation to the production of nylon-6,6. This can be underlined by the market value of USD 5 billion for HMDA [161]. In addition to nylon-6,6-based resins and fibers, adipic acid can be used in polyurethanes, non-phthalate plasticizers, and new polyesters such as biodegradable ones. In general, nylon-6,6 (USD 3,000/ton) is made from adipic acid of high purity, and adipic acid with a lower purity is mainly used for the production of polyurethanes (USD 2,000/ton) [154, 162]. Companies that produce adipic acid are, among others, Invista, Ascend, and Honeywell in the United States, BASF in Germany, Radici in

Italy, and China Shenma and PetroChina in China. The average price was about USD 1,600/ton in 2012. Of the global adipic acid production capacity, 93% is produced by oxidation of cyclohexane to KA oil (cyclohexanone and cyclohexanol), followed by oxidation with nitric acid [163, 164]. In recent years, Rennovia, Verdezyne, BioAmber, Celexion, and Genomatica in the United States developed new processes for the production of bio-based adipic acid. Given the relatively low price of glucose at USD 300/ton [146] (180.16 g/mol) compared to cyclohexane at USD 1,250/ton (85.16 g/mol), bio-based processes are highly interesting. Furthermore,  $N_2O$  is formed when KA oil is oxidized to adipic acid by nitric acid. The greenhouse gas N<sub>2</sub>O has a life time of 120 years and a 310 times stronger IR absorption compared to CO<sub>2</sub> [165]. The compound also causes environmental problems as it is converted to NO, which destroys the ozone layer and causes acid rain. To avoid N<sub>2</sub>O emission, abatement techniques can be introduced in petrochemical processes [166]. In cases where bio-based resources are used as substrate, a completely new process can be generated. Based on a limited life cycle assessment (LCA), it was calculated that the CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent (CO<sub>2eq</sub>) emission can be reduced by 65-80%, when adipic acid is produced from sugars or lignin, respectively [129, 165]. The first commercially implemented process concerns the established chemical catalytic process of Rennovia, which reached a yield of 65% from glucose [161]. A two-step chemical catalytic process was developed, which involves an oxygenation and a hydrogenation [167–169]. Under high pressure and temperature, glucose is converted via glucaric acid in adipic acid. Based on this process, it has been determined that the operational (OPEX) and capital expenditure costs (CAPEX) can be reduced significantly. Specifically, the capital costs can be reduced by 20%, and the utilities and manufacture costs can be reduced by 15 and 30%, respectively. The yield in combination with the high molar weight of glucose are crucial parameters, which define the profitability of the process. Given the described low yield in the case where whole cell biocatalysis is applied, the application of metabolic engineering is a central issue in developing a platform process with sugars. Another commercial applied process was developed by Verdezyne. By whole-cell biocatalytic conversion with Candia tropicalis, adipic acid is directly produced from alkanes and fatty acids via the  $\omega$ -oxidation pathway [170, 171]. Depending on the carbon chain length of the substrate, the number of carbons can be reduced by the ß-oxidation pathway to obtain adipic acid.

#### 5.2.2 Caprolactam

The market value of caprolactam was estimated at USD 14.5 billion for 4,600,000 ton in 2012 [172, 173]. The CAGR is 3.9% for the period 2014–2019. The average price was about USD 2,500/ton in 2012 and 2013 [174]. Caprolactam is used for nylon-6 fibers and resins used in packaging, electrical goods and electronics, consumer goods and appliances, and automotive products [175]. To get functionalities similar to those of nylon-6,6 and to avoid the patent for its production, the production of polyamide nylon-6 based on caprolactam was

developed in 1938 by Paul Schlack from IG Farben (Germany) [176]. Examples of companies that produce caprolactam include BASF in Germany, DSM in the Netherlands, UBE Industries in Japan, Honeywell International in the United States, and Sinopec, China Petrochemical Development Corporation, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, and Shandong Haili Chemical Industry in China [172]. Most of the caprolactam is synthesized from cyclohexanone (USD 1,800/ton, 98.15 g/mol), which is catalytically produced from phenol [177]. After addition of  $NH_2OH \cdot H_2SO_4$ , cyclohexanone is converted to its oxime, which is further converted into caprolactam via the Beckmann rearrangement by addition of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. In the last step, ammonia is added for neutralization, leading to ammonium sulfate production. To optimize the process, reduction of the production of ammonium salts was tried [178, 179]. When looking at an LCA assessment concerning the production of caprolactam from sugars, it was predicted that greenhouse gas savings can be as much as 95% [180]. To produce caprolactam from biomass, a yield of 55% was obtained from 70 mM cis, cis-MA in the presence of 5% Pd-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (5% mol/mol of Pd) as catalyst, dissolved in dioxane (0.07 M) together with ammonia (3.4 bar) and hydrogen (34 bar) at 90 bar, 250 °C for 2 h [181]. Caprolactam can also be produced from adipic acid, whereby a yield of 64% was generated in the presence of 5% Ru-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (5% mol/mol) as catalyst in tetrahydrofuran with ammonia (3.4 bar) and hydrogen (69 bar) at 250 °C for 2 h [182].

#### 5.2.3 Terephthalic Acid

In total, 43,600,000 ton of terephthalic acid were produced worldwide in 2012 [183]. With an average price of USD 1,100/ton in 2012 and 2013, this represents a market value of USD 48 billion [174]. A CAGR of 5.3% is foreseen until 2020 [183]. Half of this chemical (50%) is converted to polyester fibers and 33% to polyethylene terephthalate (PET) [184]. Dickson and Whinfield, who worked for the textile company Calico Printers Association (UK), discovered the production and usage of this fiber in 1941 [185]. Terephthalic acid is produced via the Amoco process [186]. p-Xylene (USD 1,000/ton [187], 106.16 g/mol) is dissolved in acetic acid and oxidized by air in the presence of a catalyst (mostly a combination of cobalt, manganese, and/or bromine). Many companies are involved in the production of terephthalic acid. As an alternative bio-based process, trans, trans-MA and cis,trans-MA can be used. Via a thermal inverse electron demand Diels-Alder reaction, trans, trans-MA (1 equiv.) and acetylene (USD 2,090/ton [188], 26.04 g/ mol) (10 equiv.) can be converted to cyclohexa-2,5-diene-1,4-dicarboxylate (PI) in 1:1 ratio [189]. After flushing with nitrogen, trans, trans-MA and acetylene are charged and heated at 200 °C for 12 h at 34 bar. The PI formed can easily be oxygenated to terephthalic acid by exposure to air. The preliminary LCA case study for PET shows that the CO<sub>2eq</sub> emissions are not reduced by this conversion in relation to its petrochemical production [190]. However, the feedstock had a great impact on the overall assessment. Therefore, it is expected that the outcome for the environmental impact can be reduced when agricultural waste products are used. As indicated, *cis,cis*-MA is formed by degradative enzymes from catechol. To obtain the other isomers, it was shown that 35.2 mmol *cis,cis*-MA was converted in 4 h to *trans,trans*-MA with a yield of 90% in a reflux process, dissolved in tetrahydrofuran (44 mL/0.8M) with 5% H<sub>2</sub>O in the presence of I<sub>2</sub> (45 mg; 0.5 mol present) as catalyst [191]. In another approach, *cis,cis*-MA was isomerized in 1.25 h into *cis, trans*-MA at pH 5 at 60 °C, 2N sulfuric acid being added over half an hour [132]. Furthermore, *cis,cis*-MA and *cis,trans*-MA were converted into *trans, trans*-MA with a yield of 80%. This was done in 50 mL methanol and 50 g MA in the catalytic presence of 5% Pd/C. After 1 h reflux the Pd was removed at room temperature by filtration. Next the volume was reduced by 50% by evaporation, the volume being adjusted by the addition of acetonitrile. To precipitate *trans,trans*-MA, the residual methanol was removed by evaporation under reduced pressure. Then the product was washed with acetonitrile and extracted by filtration.

#### 5.3 Summary

The opportunity to develop processes for the production of MA from lignin paves the way for the biotechnological utilization of the lignocellulosic materials-derived components which are predominantly burned under current practice. By converting lignin into MA, products with a 10–20 times higher value than lignin can be created. Furthermore, expensive aromatic substrates can be substituted by lignin-derived phenolic compounds. With further microbial strain and process optimizations, the concentration of MA obtained from lignin-based biotechnological processes might reach an industrially relevant value and allow the utilization of lignin at an industrial scale.

## 6 Lactobionic Acid

LBA is a carboxylic acid (Table 7) produced by lactose oxidation (Fig. 4). Because of its versatile properties as antioxidant, chelating, humectant, and emulsifying agent, LBA has attracted growing attention on the market with a high potential for application in the pharmaceutical, food, cosmetic, and chemical industries. The advantages that lactose is available in surplus and its low cost promote the research on novel and innovative processes for producing value-added lactose derivatives, such as lactitol, lactulose, lactosucrose, LBA, and galacto-oligosaccharides [192].

It was first reported by Stodola and Lockwood [193] that some *Pseudomonas* strains are able to form LBA by oxidation of lactose (Fig. 4). Nowadays, however, LBA is produced by chemical synthesis, which requires expensive metal catalysts and is energy intensive. However, as the commercial relevance of LBA grows, its biotechnological production also receives growing attention. The possibility of

Molecular structure	
IUPAC name	(2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>R</i> ,4 <i>R</i> )-2,3,5,6-Tetrahydroxy-4-[ [(2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i> ,4 <i>S</i> ,5 <i>R</i> ,6 <i>R</i> )-3,4,5-trihy- droxy-6-(hydroxymethyl)-2-tetrahydropyranyl]oxy]hexanoic acid
Molecular formula	$C_{12}H_{22}O_{12}$
Molecular weight (g/mol)	358.30
Physical status	Solid
Appearance	White powder
Melting point (°C)	128–130
Solubility	Freely soluble in water, slightly soluble in anhydrous ethanol and methanol
pKa	3.6

Table 7 Properties of lactobionic acid



Fig. 4 Schematic biocatalytic oxidation from lactose to lactobionic acid [196]

utilizing renewable and/or waste material for LBA production further increases the interest of the biotechnological route, both environmentally and economically.

# 6.1 Application of Lactobionic Acid

Because of its non-toxic and biodegradable characteristics, LBA is widely used in the pharmaceutical and chemical industries. LBA is used as the major ingredient of cold-storage solutions to preserve organs prior to transplantation, known as "University of Wisconsin solution" because of its metal-chelating property. In the field of drug-delivery systems, LBA is used as nanoparticle vehicle in clinical chemotherapy targeting liver cancer and as carrier for calcium supplementation. In addition, LBA has been used as a novel magnetic resonance imaging contrast agent. The functionalized LBA can efficiently detect liver cancer cells in complex matrices such as blood. LBA proves to be the key active compound of novel anti-aging and regenerative skin-care products, resulting in its commercial application as a cosmetics ingredient. Moreover, LBA exhibits strong moisturizing and antioxidant properties, preventing photoageing. Compared to classical hydroxyacids such as glycolic acid, LBA displays the absence of both skin irritation and skin barrier impairment [194].

LBA is used as a starting chemical for detergent production. Especially LBA amide compositions, formed by reacting LBA with mixtures of primary fatty acids, show good foam stabilizing, cleaning, emulsifying, and softening properties [195]. More applications of LBA in the chemical industry include its use as a sugar-based surfactant, as an additive in anti-corrosive coatings, and as a reactant for synthetic amides [196].

A novel antibacterial agent containing LBA is also reported, which is suitable for use in foods. These compositions have excellent antibacterial properties at low concentration and very little flavor, aroma, or color. The use of calcium lactobionate as food preservative in the USA has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration, but the approval by the European Food Safety Agency is still pending because of the lack of assessment of its long-term effect on human health [196]. More potential uses for LBA as food additives include filler in cheese production, calcium carrier in food and beverages, and gelling agent in dessert products.

### 6.2 Biotechnological Production of Lactobionic Acid

At present, LBA can be produced chemically via the oxidation of lactose with bromine and by electrocatalytic oxidation of lactose in alkaline medium at platinum and gold electrodes [197, 198]. The biotransformation of lactose to LBA is conducted by means of specific enzymes or by using microorganisms. The enzymatic approach of LBA production involves two different steps: (1) the cultivation of the enzyme source and (2) cell purification and subsequent cell-free biotransformation. The enzymatic transformation, however, can only be performed with refined lactose. On the other hand, the microbial whole cell conversion enables the use of cheaper feedstock, such as cheese whey. However, the longer cultivation time and lower yield are still challenging. This review focuses on "green" production of LBA, aiming at yield and productivity improvements.

The microbial production of LBA was first discovered by Stodola and Lockwood [193]. From the 15 *Pseudomonas* species investigated, only *Pseudomonas* graveolens showed the ability to oxidize lactose to LBA. Within 165 h, 75% of the initial lactose was converted in rotating drums. LBA production by filamentous fungi *Penicillium chrysogenum* was observed by Cort et al. [199] and by marine red
alga *Iridophycus flaccidum* by Bean and Hassid [200]. However, LBA appeared to be an intermediate in lactose utilization, as it was also subsequently used. This consumption phenomenon was also determined by Kluyver et al. [201] by *Pseudomonas* strains, where LBA slowly disappeared under prolonged nutrient starvation conditions in the latter stages of cultivation (>16 days). Nevertheless, this issue is negligible, as the formation rate of LBA is much higher than its degradation rate, especially in short-term cultivation processes [202].

In *Pseudomonas* sp., a membrane-bound dehydrogenase enzyme first catalyzes the oxidation of lactose to a lactone intermediate (lactobiono- $\delta$ -lactone) using flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) as electron transfer system. The lactone intermediate is subsequently hydrolyzed by a lactonase into LBA (Fig. 4). The process is generally carried out at 25–50 °C and at a pH of around 6. The product formed can be lactobionic acid or its salts. When lactobionate salts are produced, the solution is passed through cation exchange resins to obtain LBA solutions which are then further concentrated and crystallized to pure LBA [196].

Currently, several microorganisms are under investigation for their suitability as LBA producer. These are *P. aeruginosa* [193], *P. taetrolens* [203], *Pseudomonas* sp. [204], *Burkholderia cepacia* [205], *Acetobacter orientalis* [206], and *Halobacterium saccharovorum* [207]. Among these microorganisms, *P. taetrolens* has recently been studied to convert whey to LBA. However, the pathogenicity of *P. aeruginosa* and *B. cepacia* makes them unsuitable for food production and discourages any further industrial implementation.

Miyamoto et al. [204] isolated a bacterial strain able to convert LBA from whey by screening 300 soil samples. This strain was identified as *Pseudomonas* sp. LS13-1. The addition of 5 or 10 g/L peptone enhanced LBA production and shortened the cultivation time. The effect of various whey concentrations was also studied, showing that the production of LBA increased with increasing whey concentration. In an experiment, 197 g/L of LBA was produced from 200 g/L lactose with calcium carbonate to control the pH above 5.0. Fed-batch cultivation showed a high LBA concentration of 175 g/L when *Pseudomonas* sp. LS13-1 was grown in the presence of 207 g/L whey and three intermittent additions of 69 g/L whey after 180 h cultivation.

LBA was described as non-growth associated product and the production followed concomitantly after the growth phase [203]. The production of LBA using *P. taetrolens* and whey was signaled by an increase in pH and a drop in dissolved oxygen concentration during the exponential growth phase. The pH decreased again as LBA was produced (two-stage pH shift). The higher the initial biomass concentration, the higher the productivity. A high inoculation level of 30% (v/v) increased the productivity to 1.12 g/L/h. Coupling a two-stage pH shift with a 30% (v/v) seed culture resulted in an LBA production of 42.4 g/L within 32 h. With this two-stage pH shift, the pH was uncontrolled above 6.5 during the growth phase and maintained at 6.5 during cumulative production. At pH values lower than 6.0, *P. taetrolens* showed reduced cellular proliferation and a subsequent delay in the onset of the LBA production. The behavior and bioconversion from *P. taetrolens* were also negatively influenced by pH values over 7.0 [208].

Alonso et al. [209] studied the effect of dissolved oxygen and agitation rate on the production of LBA. Although the cell growth increased with increasing aeration rate, the use of high aeration rate was detrimental to LBA production. The optimal aeration ratio for a complete lactose bioconversion was 0.5–1.5 L/min. Likewise, high agitation schemes stimulated the cell growth of *P. taetrolens*, increased pH shift values and the oxygen uptake rate by cells, but LBA production was negatively affected. The best culture performance and the best LBA volumetric productivity were obtained at 350 rpm.

LBA microbial production was further studied by optimizing the physical heterogeneity of *P. taetrolens* seed culture using a multi-parameter flow cytometry approach [210]. "Old" seed cultures (older than 12 h) used in bioreactor cultivation displayed poor productivities because of the presence of damaged and dead cells in these cultures. To achieve a high yield of LBA concentration, fed-batch cultivations with different feeding strategies were studied: co-feeding, continuous and multipulse feeding, coupled with multi-parameter flow cytometry to monitor the cell physiology [211]. Unlike the other previous studies that used diluted whey, the fed-batches were conducted with concentrated whey as substrate. The best result was obtained using a fed-batch culture under co-feeding consisted of a combination of multi-pulse feeding with lactose and continuous feeding with concentrated whey, yeast extract, and peptone.

# 6.3 Summary

The versatile application of LBA makes the production of this lactose derivative very profitable. Presently, this product is mainly produced via chemical synthesis. However, the recent advances in LBA bio-production, especially with whey as feedstock, enable this process to compete with conventional methods.

#### 7 Conclusion and Future Tendency

The strategies of white biotechnology allows the utilization of recovered nutrients from renewable resources for the production of a wide range of bio-based, valueadded, and industrially relevant compounds. The fact that renewable resources are available in large amounts and at low costs makes them particularly interesting as nutrient sources in biotechnological processes. The use of renewable resources may thereby contribute to creating economically feasible processes and overcoming the "valley of death" between laboratory and pilot scales to commercial and industrial scales. It has been shown in this chapter that renewable resources have been used for the production of LA, AA, SA, MA, and LBA, which find use as monomers for bio-based material and/or as food supplements. Particularly for LA and LBA, production strategies based on renewable resources have already been developed, which allow a final product titer higher than 100 g/L. On the other hand, the biotechnological production of AA, SA, and MA still needs further research and strain development to obtain high titers and effectively utilize renewable resources. It is expected that renewable resources can play an important role as nutrient sources in biotechnological processes in the future because of increasing environmental concerns regarding the petrochemical industry and products, as well as the finite supply of fossil oil.

Acknowledgements The work presented by X. Yang and C.S.K. Lin on metabolic engineering of *Y. lipolytica* for the simultaneous production of succinic acid and polyhydroxyalkanoates is part of the research project supported by a grant from the Research Grants Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (Project No. CityU189713). Special thanks to Prof. Qingsheng Qi and Dr. Cuijuan Gao in the State Key Laboratory of Microbial Technology at Shandong University, China, as project collaborators for providing the *Y. lipolytica* mutant in succinic acid fermentation. C.S.K. Lin and J. Venus gratefully acknowledge the contribution of the COST Action TD1203-EUBis. J.B.J.H. van Duuren and C. Wittmann acknowledge the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research for financial support of the project "Bio-Nylon: Sustainable production of bio-based adipic acid as platform chemical" (FKZ 03v0757).

# References

- Koutinas AA, Vlysidis A, Pleissner D, Kopsahelis N, Lopez Garcia I, Kookos IK, Papanikolaou S, Kwan TH, Lin CSK (2014) Valorization of industrial waste and by-product streams via fermentation for the production of chemicals and biopolymers. Chem Soc Rev 43(8):2587–2627. doi:10.1039/C3CS60293A
- Keegan D, Kretschmer B, Elbersen B, Panoutsou C (2013) Cascading use: a systematic approach to biomass beyond the energy sector. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 7(2):193–206. doi:10.1002/bbb.1351
- Bentsen NS, Felby C, Thorsen BJ (2014) Agricultural residue production and potentials for energy and materials services. Prog Energy Combust Sci 40:59–73. doi:10.1016/j.pecs.2013. 09.003
- Agbor V, Zurzolo F, Blunt W, Dartiailh C, Cicek N, Sparling R, Levin DB (2014) Single-step fermentation of agricultural hemp residues for hydrogen and ethanol production. Biomass Bioenergy 64:62–69. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.03.027
- Pleissner D, Venus J (2014) Agricultural residues as feedstocks for lactic acid fermentation. In: Green Technologies for the Environment, vol 1186. ACS Symposium Series, vol 1186. American Chemical Society, pp. 247–263. doi:10.1021/bk-2014-1186.ch013
- 6. Aman P, Nordkvist E (1983) Chemical composition and in vitro degradability of botanical fractions of cereal straw. Swed J Agric Res 13:61–67
- Mosier N, Wyman C, Dale B, Elander R, Lee YY, Holtzapple M, Ladisch M (2005) Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 96 (6):673–686. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2004.06.025
- Prazeres AR, Carvalho F, Rivas J (2012) Cheese whey management: a review. J Environ Manag 110:48–68. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.05.018
- 9. Siso MIG (1996) The biotechnological utilization of cheese whey: a review. Bioresour Technol 57(1):1–11. doi:10.1016/0960-8524(96)00036-3
- Kosikowski FV (1979) Whey utilization and whey products. J Dairy Sci 62(7):1149–1160. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(79)83389-5

- 11. Castillo FJ (1990) Lactose metabolism by yeasts. In: Verachtert H, De Mot R (eds) Yeast biotechnology and biocatalysis. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 297–320
- 12. Werpy T, Petersen GR (2004) Top value added chemicals from biomass. Volume I: Results of screening for potential candidates from sugars and synthesis Gas. Oak Ridge: US Department of Energy
- Fukushima K, Sogo K, Miura S, Kimura Y (2004) Production of D-lactic acid by bacterial fermentation of rice starch. Macromol Biosci 4(11):1021–1027. doi:10.1002/mabi. 200400080
- 14. Li Z, Han L, Ji Y, Wang X, Tan T (2010) Fermentative production of L-lactic acid from hydrolysate of wheat bran by *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*. Biochem Eng J 49(1):138–142. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2009.10.014
- 15. Energy ECD-G (2015) From the sugar platform to biofuels and biochemical
- Bozell JJ, Petersen GR (2010) Technology development for the production of biobased products from biorefinery carbohydrates-the US Department of Energy's "Top 10" revisited. Green Chem 12(4):539–554. doi:10.1039/b922014c
- Wee Y-J, Kim H-O, Ryu H-W (2006) Pilot-scale lactic acid production via batch culturing of Lactobacillus sp. RKY2 using corn steep liquor as a nitrogen source. Food Technol Biotechnol 44(2):6
- Castillo Martinez FA, Balciunas EM, Salgado JM, Domínguez González JM, Converti A, Oliveira RPDS (2013) Lactic acid properties, applications and production: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 30(1):70–83. doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2012.11.007
- Jamshidi K, Hyon SH, Ikada Y (1988) Thermal characterization of polylactides. Polymer 29 (12):2229–2234. doi:10.1016/0032-3861(88)90116-4
- Madhavan Nampoothiri K, Nair NR, John RP (2010) An overview of the recent developments in polylactide (PLA) research. Bioresour Technol 101(22):8493–8501. doi:10.1016/j. biortech.2010.05.092
- Rogers P, Chen J-S, Zidwick M (2013) Organic acid and solvent production: Acetic, lactic, gluconic, succinic, and polyhydroxyalkanoic acids. In: Rosenberg E, DeLong E, Lory S, Stackebrandt E, Thompson F (eds) The prokaryotes. Springer, Berlin, pp. 3–75. doi:10.1007/ 978-3-642-31331-8\_23
- Abdel-Rahman MA, Tashiro Y, Sonomoto K (2013) Recent advances in lactic acid production by microbial fermentation processes. Biotechnol Adv 31(6):877–902. doi:10.1016/j. biotechadv.2013.04.002
- 23. Sanna T, Heikki O (2013) The current status and future expectations in industrial production of lactic acid by lactic acid bacteria. In: Kongo M (ed) Lactic Acid Bacteria–R & D for food, health and livestock purposes. InTech, Ridgway, p. 670
- 24. SpecialChem (2014) Global lactic acid market to grow at a CAGR of 15.5% from 2014–20: Grand View Research
- Idler C, Venus J, Kamm B (2015) Microorganisms for the production of lactic acid and organic lactates. In: Kamm B (ed) Microorganisms in biorefineries, Series: Microbiology Monographs, vol 26, pp. 225–273. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-45209-7\_9
- 26. Hofvendahl K, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1997) L-lactic acid production from whole wheat flour hydrolysate using strains of *Lactobacilli* and *Lactococci*. Enzym Microb Technol 20 (4):301–307. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(97)83489-8
- Payot T, Chemaly Z, Fick M (1999) Lactic acid production by *Bacillus coagulans*—kinetic studies and optimization of culture medium for batch and continuous fermentations. Enzym Microb Technol 24(3–4):191–199. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(98)00098-2
- 28. Walczak P, Oltuszak-Walczak E, Otlewska A, Dybka K, Pietraszek P, Czyzowska A, Rygala A (2012) Xylose fermentation to optically pure L-lactate by isolates of *Enterococcus faecium*. New Biotechnol 29:1
- 29. Ramchandran L, Sanciolo P, Vasiljevic T, Broome M, Powell I, Duke M (2012) Improving cell yield and lactic acid production of *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. cremoris by a novel submerged

membrane fermentation process. J Membr Sci 403-404:179-187. doi:10.1016/j.memsci. 2012.02.042

- 30. Zhao K, Qiao Q, Chu D, Gu H, Dao TH, Zhang J, Bao J (2013) Simultaneous saccharification and high titer lactic acid fermentation of corn stover using a newly isolated lactic acid bacterium *Pediococcus acidilactici* DQ2. Bioresour Technol 135:481–489. doi:10.1016/j. biortech.2012.09.063
- Tang Y, Bu L, He J, Jiang J (2013) L(+)-Lactic acid production from furfural residues and corn kernels with treated yeast as nutrients. Eur Food Res Technol 236(2):365–371. doi:10. 1007/s00217-012-1865-x
- 32. Bellasio M, Mattanovich D, Sauer M, Marx H (2015) Organic acids from lignocellulose: *Candida lignohabitans* as a new microbial cell factory. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 42 (5):681–691. doi:10.1007/s10295-015-1590-0
- 33. Marták J, Schlosser Š, Sabolová E, Krištofi L, Rosenberg M (2003) Fermentation of lactic acid with *Rhizopus arrhizus* in a stirred tank reactor with a periodical bleed and feed operation. Process Biochem 38(11):1573–1583. doi:10.1016/S0032-9592(03)00059-1
- 34. Saito K, Hasa Y, Abe H (2012) Production of lactic acid from xylose and wheat straw by *Rhizopus oryzae*. J Biosci Bioeng 114(2):166–169. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2012.03.007
- 35. Nwokoro O (2014) Production of L-lactic acid from cassava peel wastes using single and mixed cultures of *Rhizopus oligosporus* and *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Chem Ind Chem Eng Q 20:457–461
- 36. Cui F, Li Y, Wan C (2011) Lactic acid production from corn stover using mixed cultures of Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Lactobacillus brevis. Bioresour Technol 102(2):1831–1836. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.09.063
- 37. Trontel A, Batusic A, Gusic I, Slavica A, Santek B, Novak S (2011) Production of D- and L-lactic acid by mono- and mixed cultures of *Lactobacillus* sp. Food Technol Biotechnol 49:75–81
- Secchi N, Giunta D, Pretti L, García M, Roggio T, Mannazzu I, Catzeddu P (2012) Bioconversion of ovine scotta into lactic acid with pure and mixed cultures of lactic acid bacteria. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 39(1):175–181. doi:10.1007/s10295-011-1013-9
- 39. Liang S, McDonald AG, Coats ER (2015) Lactic acid production from potato peel waste by anaerobic sequencing batch fermentation using undefined mixed culture. Waste Manag 45:51. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2015.02.004
- Nagamori E, Shimizu K, Fujita H, Tokuhiro K, Ishida N, Takahashi H (2013) Metabolic flux analysis of genetically engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* that produces lactate under micro-aerobic conditions. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 36(9):1261–1265. doi:10.1007/s00449-012-0870-6
- Wu X, Altman R, Eiteman MA, Altman E (2013) Effect of overexpressing nhaA and nhaR on sodium tolerance and lactate production in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Eng 7:3–3. doi:10.1186/ 1754-1611-7-3
- 42. Zhao J, Xu L, Wang Y, Zhao X, Wang J, Garza E, Manow R, Zhou S (2013) Homofermentative production of optically pure L-lactic acid from xylose by genetically engineered *Escherichia coli* B. Microb Cell Factories. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-12-57
- 43. Okano K, Tanaka T, Ogino C, Fukuda H, Kondo A (2010) Biotechnological production of enantiomeric pure lactic acid from renewable resources: recent achievements, perspectives, and limits. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 85(3):413–423. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-2280-5
- 44. Hofvendahl K, Hahn-Hägerdal B (2000) Factors affecting the fermentative lactic acid production from renewable resources. Enzym Microb Technol 26(2–4):87–107. doi:10. 1016/S0141-0229(99)00155-6
- 45. Eiteman MA, Ramalingam S (2015) Microbial production of lactic acid. Biotechnol Lett 37 (5):955–972. doi:10.1007/s10529-015-1769-5
- 46. Shamala TR, Sreekantiah KR (1987) Degradation of starchy substrates by a crude enzyme preparation and utilization of the hydrolysates for lactic fermentation. Enzym Microb Technol 9(12):726–729. doi:10.1016/0141-0229(87)90032-9

- 47. Son M-S, Kwon Y-J (2013) Direct fermentation of starch to L(+)-lactic acid by fed-batch culture of Lactobacillus manihotivorans. Food Sci Biotechnol 22(1):289–293. doi:10.1007/ s10068-013-0040-x
- 48. Juodeikiene G, Vidmantiene D, Basinskiene L, Cernauskas D, Bartkiene E, Cizeikiene D (2015) Green metrics for sustainability of biobased lactic acid from starchy biomass vs chemical synthesis. Catal Today 239:11–16. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2014.05.039
- 49. Chookietwattana K (2014) Lactic acid production from simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of cassava starch by *Lactobacillus plantarum* MSUL 903. APCBEE Proc 8:156–160. doi:10.1016/j.apcbee.2014.03.019
- Yuwono SD, Mulyono WS, Hadi S, Kokugan T (2014) Improvement of lactic acid production from cassava by *Streptococcus* bovis using two-stages membrane bioreactor. Asian J Chem 26:6249–6252
- 51. Hetenyi K, Nemeth A, Sevella B (2010) First steps in the development of a wheat flour based lactic acid fermentation technology. Culture medium optimization. Chem Biochem Eng Q 24 (2):195–201
- 52. Watanabe M, Makino M, Kaku N, Koyama M, Nakamura K, Sasano K (2013) Fermentative L-(+)-lactic acid production from non-sterilized rice washing drainage containing rice bran by a newly isolated lactic acid bacteria without any additions of nutrients. J Biosci Bioeng 115(4):449–452. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2012.11.001
- 53. Li L, Cai D, Wang C, Han J, Ren W, Zheng J, Wang Z, Tan T (2015) Continuous L-lactic acid production from defatted rice bran hydrolysate using corn stover bagasse immobilized carrier. RSC Adv 5(24):18511–18517. doi:10.1039/C4RA04641B
- Pagana I, Morawicki R, Hager TJ (2014) Lactic acid production using waste generated from sweet potato processing. Int J Food Sci Technol 49(2):641–649. doi:10.1111/ijfs.12347
- 55. Smerilli M, Neureiter M, Wurz S, Haas C, Frühauf S, Fuchs W (2015) Direct fermentation of potato starch and potato residues to lactic acid by *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* under non-sterile conditions. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 90(4):648–657. doi:10.1002/jctb.4627
- 56. Pessione A, Zapponi M, Mandili G, Fattori P, Mangiapane E, Mazzoli R, Pessione E (2014) Enantioselective lactic acid production by an *Enterococcus faecium* strain showing potential in agro-industrial waste bioconversion: physiological and proteomic studies. J Biotechnol 173:31–40. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.01.014
- Dreschke G, Probst M, Walter A, Pümpel T, Walde J, Insam H (2015) Lactic acid and methane: improved exploitation of biowaste potential. Bioresour Technol 176:47–55. doi:10. 1016/j.biortech.2014.10.136
- 58. Li X, Chen Y, Zhao S, Chen H, Zheng X, Luo J, Liu Y (2015) Efficient production of optically pure L-lactic acid from food waste at ambient temperature by regulating key enzyme activity. Water Res 70:148–157. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2014.11.049
- Probst M, Walde J, Pümpel T, Wagner AO, Insam H (2015) A closed loop for municipal organic solid waste by lactic acid fermentation. Bioresour Technol 175:142–151. doi:10. 1016/j.biortech.2014.10.034
- 60. Thomsen M (2005) Complex media from processing of agricultural crops for microbial fermentation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 68(5):598–606. doi:10.1007/s00253-005-0056-0
- 61. John RP, Anisha GS, Nampoothiri KM, Pandey A (2009) Direct lactic acid fermentation: focus on simultaneous saccharification and lactic acid production. Biotechnol Adv 27 (2):145–152. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2008.10.004
- 62. Li Z, Lu J, Yang Z, Han L, Tan T (2012) Utilization of white rice bran for production of L-lactic acid. Biomass Bioenergy 39:53–58. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.12.039
- 63. Bakker RRC (2013) Availability of lignocellulosic feedstocks for lactic acid production feedstock availability, lactic acid production potential and selection criteria. Report 1391. Wageningen UR Food & Biobased Research
- 64. Boguta AM, Bringel F, Martinussen J, Jensen PR (2014) Screening of lactic acid bacteria for their potential as microbial cell factories for bioconversion of lignocellulosic feedstocks. Microb Cell Factories 13:16. doi:10.1186/s12934-014-0097-0

- 65. Wan Y, Zhang Y, Chen X, Qi B, Su Y (2014) Lactic acid production from lignocellulosic hydrolysates under non-sterilized conditions using *Bacillus coagulans* IPE22. New Biotechnol 31:S95–S96
- 66. Moldes AB, Torrado A, Converti A, Domínguez JM (2006) Complete bioconversion of hemicellulosic sugars from agricultural residues into lactic acid by *Lactobacillus pentosus*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 135(3):219–227. doi:10.1385/ABAB:135:3:219
- Abdel-Rahman MA, Tashiro Y, Sonomoto K (2011) Lactic acid production from lignocellulose-derived sugars using lactic acid bacteria: overview and limits. J Biotechnol 156(4):286–301. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2011.06.017
- 68. Harmsen PFH, Lips SJJ, Bakker RRC (2013) Pretreatment of lignocellulose for biotechnological production of lactic acid—research review. Report 1384. Wageningen UR, Food and Biobased Research
- 69. Andersen M, Kiel P (2000) Integrated utilisation of green biomass in the green biorefinery. Ind Crop Prod 11(2–3):129–137. doi:10.1016/S0926-6690(99)00055-2
- 70. Vodnar DC, Venus J, Schneider R, Socaciu C (2010) Lactic acid production by *Lactobacillus paracasei* 168 in discontinuous fermentation using lucerne green juice as nutrient substitute. Chem Eng Technol 33(3):468–474. doi:10.1002/ceat.200900463
- Papendiek F, Venus J (2014) Cultivation and fractionation of leguminous biomass for lactic acid production. Chem Biochem Eng Q 28(3):375–382. doi:10.15255/CABEQ.2013.1854
- Winter B, Höhling A, Venus J (2015) Tierische proteinhydrolysate als N-quelle f
  ür die milchs
  äurefermentation. BIOspektrum 21:228–229
- 73. Hama S, Mizuno S, Kihara M, Tanaka T, Ogino C, Noda H, Kondo A (2015) Production of D-lactic acid from hardwood pulp by mechanical milling followed by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation using metabolically engineered *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Bioresour Technol 187:167–172. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2015.03.106
- 74. Shi S, Kang L, Lee YY (2015) Production of lactic acid from the mixture of softwood pre-hydrolysate and paper mill sludge by simultaneous saccharification and sermentation. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 175(5):2741–2754. doi:10.1007/s12010-014-1451-8
- 75. Ghaffar T, Irshad M, Anwar Z, Aqil T, Zulifqar Z, Tariq A, Kamran M, Ehsan N, Mehmood S (2014) Recent trends in lactic acid biotechnology: a brief review on production to purification. J Radiat Res Appl Sci 7(2):222–229. doi:10.1016/j.jrras.2014.03.002
- 76. Bustos G, Moldes AB, Cruz JM, Domínguez JM (2004) Formulation of low-cost fermentative media for lactic acid production with *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* using vinification lees as nutrients. J Agric Food Chem 52(4):801–808. doi:10.1021/jf030429k
- 77. Ouyang J, Ma R, Zheng Z, Cai C, Zhang M, Jiang T (2013) Open fermentative production of L-lactic acid by *Bacillus* sp. strain NL01 using lignocellulosic hydrolyzates as low-cost raw material. Bioresour Technol 135:475–480. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.096
- Mazzoli R, Bosco F, Mizrahi I, Bayer EA, Pessione E (2014) Towards lactic acid bacteriabased biorefineries. Biotechnol Adv 32(7):1216–1236. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.07. 005
- 79. Mimitsuka T, Sawai K, Kobayashi K, Tsukada T, Takeuchi N, Yamada K, Ogino H, Yonehara T (2015) Production of D-lactic acid in a continuous membrane integrated fermentation reactor by genetically modified *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: enhancement in D-lactic acid carbon yield. J Biosci Bioeng 119(1):65–71. doi:10.1016/j.jbiosc.2014.06.002
- 80. Gonzalez K, Tebbani S, Dumur D, Gonzalez K, Lopes F, Pareau D, Givry S, Entzmann F (2014) Control strategy for continuous lactic acid production from wheat flour. In: Proceedings of 2nd International Conference on Control, Decision and Information Technologies (CoDIT'14). University of Lorraine, Nancy, pp 465–470
- Venus J (2009) Continuous mode lactic acid fermentation based on renewables. Res J Biotechnol 4(2):15–22
- Dey P, Pal P (2013) Modelling and simulation of continuous L(+) lactic acid production from sugarcane juice in membrane integrated hybrid-reactor system. Biochem Eng J 79:15–24. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2013.06.014

- Lee R-K, Ryu H-W, Oh H, Kim M, Wee Y-J (2014) Cell-recycle continuous fermentation of *Enterococcus faecalis* RKY1 for economical production of lactic acid by reduction of yeast extract supplementation. J Microbiol Biotechnol 24:661–666
- 84. Venus J, Richter K (2007) Development of a pilot plant facility for the conversion of renewables in biotechnological processes. Eng Life Sci 7(4):395–402. doi:10.1002/elsc. 200720199
- Datta R, Henry M (2006) Lactic acid: recent advances in products, processes and technologies—a review. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 81(7):1119–1129. doi:10.1002/jctb.1486
- 86. Straathof AJ, Sie S, Franco T, van der Wielen LM (2005) Feasibility of acrylic acid production by fermentation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 67(6):727–734. doi:10.1007/ s00253-005-1942-1
- 87. Agency EP (1994) Chemical summary for acrylic acid. EPA 749-F-94-006a
- Lunelli BH, Duarte ER, Vasco de Toledo EC, Wolf Maciel MR, Maciel Filho R (2007) A new process for acrylic acid synthesis by fermentative process. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 137-140(1–12):487–499. doi:10.1007/s12010-007-9074-y
- Marketsandmarkets.com (2015) Acrylic acid market by derivative types (ester/acrylatesmethyl, ethyl, butyl, 2-EH; polymers–elastomers, SAP, water treatment polymers; other derivatives), applications & and region–global trends & forecast to 2019
- Danner H, Braun R (1999) Biotechnology for the production of commodity chemicals from biomass. Chem Soc Rev 28(6):395–405. doi:10.1039/A806968I
- Aida TM, Ikarashi A, Saito Y, Watanabe M, Smith Jr RL, Arai K (2009) Dehydration of lactic acid to acrylic acid in high temperature water at high pressures. J Supercrit Fluids 50 (3):257–264. doi:10.1016/j.supflu.2009.06.006
- 92. Bermudez Jaimes JH, Da Silva BT, Jaimes Figueroa JE, Lunelli BH, Maciel Filho R, Wolf Maciel MR, Morita AT, Coutinho PLA (2014) Hybrid route to produce acrylic acid from sugarcane molasses. Chem Eng Trans 37:427–432
- Matsuura Y, Onda A, Ogo S, Yanagisawa K (2014) Acrylic acid synthesis from lactic acid over hydroxyapatite catalysts with various cations and anions. Catal Today 226:192–197
- 94. Blanco E, Delichere P, Millet JMM, Loridant S (2014) Gas phase dehydration of lactic to acrylic acid over alkaline-earth phosphates catalysts. Catal Today 226:185–191
- 95. Van der Maarel MJEC, van Bergeijk S, van Werkhoven AF, Lavermann AM, Meijer WG, Stam WT, Hansen TA (1996) Cleavage of dimethylsulfoniopropionate and reduction of acrylate by *Desulfovibrio acrylicus* sp. nov. Arch Microbiol 166:109–115
- 96. Ansede JH, Pellechia PJ, Yoch DC (1999) Metabolism of acrylate to β-hydroxypropionate and its role in dimethylsulfoniopropionate lyase induction by a salt marsh sediment bacterium, *Alcaligenes faecalis* M3A. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(11):5075–5081
- 97. Swick RW (1962) Propionic acid metabolism: mechanism of the methylmalonyl isomerase reaction and the reduction of acrylyl coenzyme A to propionyl coenzyme A in propionibacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 48(2):288–293
- 98. Akedo M (1983) Biological formation of acrylic acid by *Clostridium propionicum*. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology
- Nagasawa T, Nakamura T, Yamada H (1990) Production of acrylic acid and methacrylic acid using *Rhodococcus rhodochrous* J1 nitrilase. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 34(3):322–324. doi:10.1007/BF00170051
- 100. Lin CSK, Luque R, Clark JH, Webb C, Du CY (2012) Wheat-based biorefining strategy for fermentative production and chemical transformations of succinic acid. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 6(1):88–104. doi:10.1002/bbb.328
- 101. Succinic acid: a global strategic business report (2015) Global Industry Analysts, Inc. http:// www.strategyr.com/Succinic\_Acid\_Market\_Report.asp
- 102. Song H, Lee SY (2006) Production of succinic acid by bacterial fermentation. Enzym Microb Technol 39(3):352–361. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2005.11.043

- 103. Determination of market potential for selected platform chemicals (2012) Weastra. http:// www.bioconsept.eu/wp-content/uploads/BioConSepT\_Market-potential-for-selected-plat form-chemicals\_report1.pdf
- 104. Chen Y, Nielsen J (2013) Advances in metabolic pathway and strain engineering paving the way for sustainable production of chemical building blocks. Curr Opin Biotechnol 24 (6):965–972. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2013.03.008
- 105. Sun J, Alper HS (2015) Metabolic engineering of strains: from industrial-scale to lab-scale chemical production. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 42(3):423–436. doi:10.1007/s10295-014-1539-8
- 106. Borodina I, Nielsen J (2014) Advances in metabolic engineering of yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae for production of chemicals. Biotechnol J 9(5):609–620. doi:10.1002/biot. 201300445
- 107. Nicaud JM (2012) Yarrowia lipolytica. Yeast 29(10):409-418. doi:10.1002/yea.2921
- 108. Li Q, Wang D, Wu Y, Li WL, Zhang YJ, Xing JM, Su ZG (2010) One step recovery of succinic acid from fermentation broths by crystallization. Sep Purif Technol 72(3):294–300. doi:10.1016/j.seppur.2010.02.021
- 109. Raab AM, Gebhardt G, Bolotina N, Weuster-Botz D, Lang C (2010) Metabolic engineering of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for the biotechnological production of succinic acid. Metab Eng 12(6):518–525. doi:10.1016/j.ymben.2010.08.005
- 110. Yan D, Wang C, Zhou J, Liu Y, Yang M, Xing J (2014) Construction of reductive pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae for effective succinic acid fermentation at low pH value. Bioresour Technol 156:232–239. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.053
- 111. Ito Y, Hirasawa T, Shimizu H (2014) Metabolic engineering of Saccharomyces cerevisiae to improve succinic acid production based on metabolic profiling. Biosci Biotech Bioch 78 (1):151–159. doi:10.1080/09168451.2014.877816
- 112. Otero JM, Cimini D, Patil KR, Poulsen SG, Olsson L, Nielsen J (2013) Industrial systems biology of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* enables novel succinic acid cell factory. PLoS One 8 (1):e54144. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0054144
- 113. Agren R, Otero JM, Nielsen J (2013) Genome-scale modeling enables metabolic engineering of Saccharomyces cerevisiae for succinic acid production. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 40 (7):735–747. doi:10.1007/s10295-013-1269-3
- 114. Jansen MLA, Van De Graaf MJ, Verwaal R (2012) Dicarboxylic acid production process
- Verwaal R, Wu L, Damveld RA, Sagt CMJ (2009) Process for the production of a dicarboxylic acid. WO/2009/101180
- 116. Yuzbashev TV, Yuzbasheva EY, Sobolevskaya TI, Laptev IA, Vybornaya TV, Larina AS, Matsui K, Fukui K, Sineoky SP (2010) Production of succinic acid at low pH by a recombinant strain of the aerobic yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Biotechnol Bioeng 107(4):673–682. doi:10.1002/bit.22859
- 117. Jost B, Holz M, Aurich A, Barth G, Bley T, Muller RA (2015) The influence of oxygen limitation for the production of succinic acid with recombinant strains of *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99(4):1675–1686. doi:10.1007/s00253-014-6252-z
- 118. Kamzolova SV, Yusupova AI, Vinokurova NG, Fedotcheva NI, Kondrashova MN, Finogenova TV, Morgunov IG (2009) Chemically assisted microbial production of succinic acid by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* grown on ethanol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 83 (6):1027–1034. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-1948-1
- 119. Kamzolova SV, Vinokurova NG, Dedyukhina EG, Samoilenko VA, Lunina JN, Mironov AA, Allayarov RK, Morgunov IG (2014) The peculiarities of succinic acid production from rapeseed oil by *Yarrowia lipolytica* yeast. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(9):4149–4157. doi:10.1007/s00253-014-5585-y
- 120. Kamzolova SV, Vinokurova NG, Shemshura ON, Bekmakhanova NE, Lunina JN, Samoilenko VA, Morgunov IG (2014) The production of succinic acid by yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* through a two-step process. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(18):7959–7969. doi:10. 1007/s00253-014-5887-0

- 121. Lin CSK, Koutinas AA, Stamatelatou K, Mubofu EB, Matharu AS, Kopsahelis N, Pfaltzgraff LA, Clark JH, Papanikolaou S, Kwan TH, Luque R (2014) Current and future trends in food waste valorization for the production of chemicals, materials and fuels: a global perspective. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 8(5):686–715. doi:10.1002/bbb.1506
- 122. Gustavsson J, Cederberg C, Sonesson U, Otterdijk RV, Meybeck A (2011) Global food losses and food waste. Extent, causes and prevention. vol 38. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy
- 123. Zhang AYZ, Sun Z, Leung CCJ, Han W, Lau KY, Li MJ, Lin CSK (2013) Valorisation of bakery waste for succinic acid production. Green Chem 15(3):690–695. doi:10.1039/ c2gc36518a
- 124. Sun Z, Li MJ, Qi QS, Gao CJ, Lin CSK (2014) Mixed food waste as renewable feedstock in succinic acid fermentation. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 174(5):1822–1833. doi:10.1007/ s12010-014-1169-7
- 125. Gao C, Yang X, Wang H, Rivero CP, Li C, Cui Z, Qi Q, Lin CSK (2016) Robust succinic acid production from crude glycerol using engineered Yarrowia lipolytica. Biotechnol Biofuels 9 (1):179. doi:10.1186/s13068-016-0597-8
- 126. Xiao H, Shao Z, Jiang Y, Dole S, Zhao H (2014) Exploiting Issatchenkia orientalis SD108 for succinic acid production. Microb Cell Factories 13:121. doi:10.1186/s12934-014-0121-4
- 127. Lee KY, Park JM, Kim TY, Yun H, Lee SY (2010) The genome-scale metabolic network analysis of *Zymomonas mobilis* ZM4 explains physiological features and suggests ethanol and succinic acid production strategies. Microb Cell Factories 9:94. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-9-94
- 128. Transparency Market Research US (2015) Muconic acid market driven by spiraling demand for adipic acid. http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/pressrelease/muconic-acid-mar ket.htm
- 129. Van Duuren JBJH, Wittmann C (2014) First and second generation production of bio-adipic acid. In: Bisaria VS, Kondo A (eds) Bioprocessing of renewable resources to commodity bioproducts. Wiley, Hoboken. doi:10.1002/9781118845394.ch19
- 130. Xie N-Z, Liang H, Huang R-B, Xu P (2014) Biotechnological production of muconic acid: current status and future prospects. Biotechnol Adv 32(3):615–622. doi:10.1016/j. biotechadv.2014.04.001
- Niu W, Draths KM, Frost JW (2002) Benzene-free synthesis of adipic acid. Biotechnol Prog 18(2):201–211. doi:10.1021/bp010179x
- 132. Bui V, Lau MK, Macrae D (2011) Methods for producing isomers of muconic acid and muconate salts. WO2011085311A1
- 133. Draths KM, Frost JW (1994) Environmentally compatible synthesis of adipic acid from D-glucose. J Am Chem Soc 116(1):399–400. doi:10.1021/ja00080a057
- 134. Curran KA, Leavitt JM, Karim AS, Alper HS (2013) Metabolic engineering of muconic acid production in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Metab Eng 15:55–66. doi:10.1016/j.ymben.2012. 10.003
- 135. Yocum RR, Gong W, Dole S, Sillers R, Gandhi M, Pero JG (2013) Production of muconic acid from genetically engineered microorganisms
- 136. Wang Q, Wu Y, Chen W, Zhang Y, Peng Y, Yuan F, Ma Y (2014) *Escherichia coli* for producing adipic acid precursor namely cis,cis-muconic acid and application of *Escherichia coli*
- 137. Schmidt E, Knackmuss H-J (1984) Production of cis,cis-muconate from benzoate and 2-fluoro-cis,cis-muconate from 3-fluorobenzoate by 3-chlorobenzoate degrading bacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 20(5):351–355. doi:10.1007/bf00270599
- Chua JW, Hsieh J-H (1990) Oxidative bioconversion of toluene to 1,3-butadiene-1,4-dicarboxylic acid (cis,cis-muconic acid). World J Microbiol Biotechnol 6(2):127–143. doi:10. 1007/BF01200932

- 139. Mizuno S, Yoshikawa N, Seki M, Mikawa T, Imada Y (1988) Microbial production of cis,cismuconic acid from benzoic acid. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 28(1):20–25. doi:10.1007/ BF00250491
- 140. Harwood CS, Parales RE (1996) The beta-ketoadipate pathway and the biology of selfidentity. Annu Rev Microbiol 50:553–590. doi:10.1146/annurev.micro.50.1.553
- 141. Bang S-G, Choi CY (1995) DO-stat fed-batch production of cis,cis-muconic acid from benzoic acid by *Pseudomonas putida* BM014. J Ferment Bioeng 79(4):381–383. doi:10. 1016/0922-338X(95)94001-8
- 142. Choi WJ, Lee EY, Cho MH, Choi CY (1997) Enhanced production of cis,cis-muconate in a cell-recycle bioreactor. J Ferment Bioeng 84(1):70–76. doi:10.1016/S0922-338X(97)82789-4
- 143. van Duuren JBJH, Wijte D, Karge B, Martins dos Santos VAP, Yang Y, Mars AE, Eggink G (2012) pH-stat fed-batch process to enhance the production of cis,cis-muconate from benzoate by *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440-JD1. Biotechnol Prog 28(1):85–92. doi:10.1002/btpr. 709
- 144. Vardon DR, Rorrer NA, Salvachua D, Settle AE, Johnson CW, Menart MJ, Cleveland NS, Ciesielski PN, Steirer KX, Dorgan JR, Beckham GT (2016) cis,cis-muconic acid: separation and catalysis to bio-adipic acid for nylon-6,6 polymerization. Green Chem 18:3397. doi:10. 1039/C5GC02844B
- 145. Kaneko A, Ishii Y, Kirimura K (2011) High-yield production of cis,cis-muconic acid from catechol in aqueous solution by biocatalyst. Chem Lett 40(4):381–383. doi:10.1246/cl.2011.
   381
- 146. Indexmundi US (2015) http://www.indexmundi.com/de/
- 147. Draths KM, Frost JW (1991) Conversion of D-glucose into catechol: the not-so-common pathway of aromatic biosynthesis. J Am Chem Soc 113(24):9361–9363. doi:10.1021/ ja00024a048
- 148. Fuchs G, Boll M, Heider J (2011) Microbial degradation of aromatic compounds—from one strategy to four. Nat Rev Microbiol 9(11):803–816
- 149. Vardon DR, Franden MA, Johnson CW, Karp EM, Guarnieri MT, Linger JG, Salm MJ, Strathmann TJ, Beckham GT (2015) Adipic acid production from lignin. Energy Environ Sci 8(2):617–628. doi:10.1039/C4EE03230F
- 150. van Duuren JBJH, Wijte D, Leprince A, Karge B, Puchałka J, Wery J, dos Santos VAPM, Eggink G, Mars AE (2011) Generation of a catR deficient mutant of *P. putida* KT2440 that produces cis,cis-muconate from benzoate at high rate and yield. J Biotechnol 156 (3):163–172. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2011.08.030
- 151. Ragauskas AJ, Beckham GT, Biddy MJ, Chandra R, Chen F, Davis MF, Davison BH, Dixon RA, Gilna P, Keller M, Langan P, Naskar AK, Saddler JN, Tschaplinski TJ, Tuskan GA, Wyman CE (2014) Lignin valorization: improving lignin processing in the biorefinery. Science 344(6185):1246843–1246843. doi:10.1126/science.1246843
- 152. NR-1015 NR (2015) NREL refines method to convert lignin to nylon precursor. http://www. nrel.gov/news/press/2015/16476.html
- 153. Tuck CO, Pérez E, Horváth IT, Sheldon RA, Poliakoff M (2012) Valorization of biomass: deriving more value from waste. Science 337(6095):695–699. doi:10.1126/science.1218930
- 154. Pavone A (2012) Bio-adpic acid. Process Economics Program No. 284. IHS
- 155. Carothers WH (1938) Linear polyamides and their production
- 156. Pinkos R, Bock M (2015) Method of producing adipic acid or at least a resultant product thereof
- 157. Zhang Y, Li X (2015) Chemical process to convert mucic acid to adipic acid
- 158. Müller C, Bock M, Da Silva M, Fischer RH, Blank B, Kindler A, Melder JP, Otto B, Schelwies M, Henninger A (2015) Method for producing polyamides based on adipic acid
- 159. Müller C, Bock M, Da Silva M, Fischer RH, Blank B, Kindler A, Melder JP, Otto B, Schelwies M, Henninger A (2015) Method for producing hexamethylenediamine

- 160. Müller C, Bock M, Da Silva M, Fischer RH, Blank B, Kindler A, Melder JP, Otto B, Schelwies M, Henninger A (2015) Process for producing nylon-6,6
- 161. Rennovia US (2015) Rennovia product pipeline. http://www.rennovia.com/product-pipeline/
- 162. Müller C, Bock M, Da Silva M, Fischer RH, Blank B, Kindler A, Melder JP, Otto B, Henninger A (2015) Method for preparing 1,6-hexanediol
- 163. Heinz-Gerard F, Stadelhofer JW (1988) Industrial aromatic chemistry. Springer-Verlag, New York. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-73432-8
- 164. Davis D, Kemp DR (1991) Adipic acid. In: Kroshwitz JI, Howe-Grant M (eds) Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical technology. Wiley, New York, pp. 466–493
- 165. van Duuren JBJH, Brehmer B, Mars AE, Eggink G, dos Santos VAPM, Sanders JPM (2011) A limited LCA of bio-adipic acid: manufacturing the nylon-6,6 precursor adipic acid using the benzoic acid degradation pathway from different feedstocks. Biotechnol Bioeng 108 (6):1298–1306. doi:10.1002/bit.23074
- 166. Meinhardt H, Kruger D (2000) N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from adipic acid and nitric acid production. Good practice guidance and uncertainty management in national greenhouse gas inventories. http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/gp/bgp/3\_2\_Adipic\_Acid\_Nitric\_Acid\_Production. pdf
- 167. Boussie TR, Dias EL, Fresco ZM, Murphy VJ, Shoemaker J, Archer R, Jiang H (2010) Production of adipic acid and derivatives from carbohydrate-containing materials
- 168. de Guzmann D (2010) Introducing Rennovia. http://www.icis.com/blogs/green-chemicals/ 2010/09/introducing-rennovia/. Accessed March 25 2016
- 169. Dapsens PY, Mondelli C, Pérez-Ramírez J (2012) Biobased chemicals from conception toward industrial reality: lessons learned and to be learned. ACS Catal 2(7):1487–1499. doi:10.1021/cs300124m
- 170. Picataggio S, Rohrer T, Deanda K, Lanning D, Reynolds R, Mielenz J, Eirich LD (1992) Metabolic engineering of *Candida tropicalis* for the production of long-chain dicarboxylic acids. Nat Biotechnol 10(8):894–898
- 171. Picataggio S, Beardslee T (2011) Biological methods for preparing adipic acid
- 172. Dellk M (2014) JSB Market Research-caprolactam market by material type JSB
- 173. Merchant Research & Consulting Ltd UK (2015) Increasing demand for nylon 6 to drive growth of caprolactam market in the years to come. http://mcgroup.co.uk/news/20150206/ increasing-demand-nylon-6-drive-growth-caprolactam-market-years.html
- 174. YNFX I (2013) Pricewatch report highlights 25 May 2015. http://www.yarnsandfibers.com/ news/textile-pricewatch/caprolactum-price-trends-reports
- 175. Markets & Markets US (2015) New report looks into global caprolactam market 2014-2018. http://www.whatech.com/market-research-reports/press-release/industrial/48169-new-report-looks-into-global-caprolactam-market-2014-2018
- 176. Schlack P (1941) Preparation of polyamides
- 177. Weissermel K, Arpe HJ (2003) Industrial organic chemistry, 4th edn. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim. doi:10.1002/9783527619191
- 178. Shiju NR, AnilKumar M, Hoelderich WF, Brown DR (2009) Tungstated zirconia catalysts for liquid-phase Beckmann rearrangement of cyclohexanone oxime: structure-activity relationship. J Phys Chem C 113(18):7735–7742. doi:10.1021/jp810542t
- 179. Shiju NR, Williams HM, Brown DR (2009) Cs exchanged phosphotungstic acid as an efficient catalyst for liquid-phase Beckmann rearrangement of oximes. Appl Catal B Environ 90(3–4):451–457. doi:10.1016/j.apcatb.2009.04.016
- Hermann BG, Blok K, Patel MK (2007) Producing bio-based bulk chemicals using industrial biotechnology saves energy and combats climate change. Environ Sci Technol 41 (22):7915–7921. doi:10.1021/es062559q
- 181. Coudray L, Bui V, Frost JW, Schweitzer D (2012) Process for preparing caprolactam and polyamides there from. WO2012141997

- 182. Beerthuis R, Rothenberg G, Shiju NR (2015) Catalytic routes towards acrylic acid, adipic acid and [varepsilon]-caprolactam starting from biorenewables. Green Chem 17 (3):1341–1361. doi:10.1039/C4GC02076F
- 183. Global Business Intelligence UK (2013) China and India to lead global purified terephthalic acid demand growth by 2020. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-O0LIhlP3Zc
- 184. Moraes MLL, Rubim JC, Realpozo RR, Tavares MFM (2004) Analysis of impurities in crude and highly-purified terephthalic acid by capillary electrophoresis. J Braz Chem Soc 15:400–406
- 185. Dickson JT, Whinfield JR (1946) Improvements relating to the manufacture of highly polymeric substances
- 186. Sheehan RJ (2000) Terephthalic acid, dimethyl terephthalate, and isophthalic acid. In: Ullmann F (ed) Ullmann's encyclopedia of industrial chemistry. Wiley, Hoboken. doi:10. 1002/14356007.a26\_193.pub2
- 187. Platts Global Petrochemical Index US (2014). http://www.platts.com/news-feature/2014/ petrochemicals/pgpi/paraxylene
- Stoody Industrial & Welding Supply I, United States (2015). http://www.stoodyind.com/ Catalogs/FISC/current/05catpg019.pdf
- Burk MJ, Oosterhout RE, Sun J (2011) Semi-synthetic terephthalic acid via microorganisms that produce muconic acid. WO2011017560A1
- 190. Akanuma Y, Selke SEM, Auras R (2014) A preliminary LCA case study: comparison of different pathways to produce purified terephthalic acid suitable for synthesis of 100% bio-based PET. Int J Life Cycle Assess 19:1238–1246
- 191. Frost JW, Miermont A, Schweitzer D, Bui V (2010) Preparation of trans,trans muconic acid and trans,trans muconates. WO2010148049A2
- 192. Ganzle MG, Haase G, Jelen P (2008) Lactose: crystallization, hydrolysis and value-added derivatives. Int Dairy J 18(7):685–694. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2008.03.003
- 193. Stodola FH, Lockwood LB (1947) The oxidation of lactose and maltose to bionic acids by *Pseudomonas*. J Biol Chem 171(1):213–221
- 194. Tasic-Kostov M, Savic S, Lukic M, Tamburic S, Pavlovic M, Vuleta G (2010) Lactobionic acid in a natural alkylpolyglucoside-based vehicle: assessing safety and efficacy aspects in comparison to glycolic acid. J Cosmet Dermatol 9(1):3–10. doi:10.1111/j.1473-2165.2010. 00474.x
- 195. Alonso S, Rendueles M, Diaz M (2013) Bio-production of lactobionic acid: current status, applications and future prospects. Biotechnol Adv 31(8):1275–1291. doi:10.1016/j. biotechadv.2013.04.010
- 196. Gutierrez LF, Hamoudi S, Belkacemi K (2012) Lactobionic acid: a high value-added lactose derivative for food and pharmaceutical applications. Int Dairy J 26(2):103–111. doi:10.1016/ j.idairyj.2012.05.003
- 197. Fischer E, Meyer J (1889) Oxidation des Milchzuckers. Ber Deut Chem Ges 23:361–364
- 198. Druliolle H, Kokoh KB, Hahn F, Lamy C, Beden B (1997) On some mechanistic aspects of the electrochemical oxidation of lactose at platinum and gold electrodes in alkaline medium. J Electroanal Chem 426(1–2):103–115. doi:10.1016/S0022-0728(96)04981-9
- 199. Cort WM, Connors WM, Roberts HR, Bucek W (1956) Evidence for the formation and utilization of lactobionic acid by *Penicillium chrysogenum*. Arch Biochem Biophys 63 (2):477–478. doi:10.1016/0003-9861(56)90064-9
- 200. Bean RC, Hassid WZ (1956) Carbohydrate oxidase from a red alga, *Iridophycus flaccidum*. J Biol Chem 218(1):425–436
- 201. Kluyver AJ, De Ley J, Rijven A (1951) The formation and consumption of lactobionic and maltobionic acid by *Pseudomonas* species. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek (J Microbiol Serol) 17 (1):1–14. doi:10.1007/bf02062244
- Bentley R, Slechta L (1960) Oxidation of monosaccharides and disaccharides to aldonic acids by *Pseudomonas* species. J Bacteriol 79(3):346–355

- 203. Alonso S, Rendueles M, Diaz M (2011) Efficient lactobionic acid production from whey by *Pseudomonas taetrolens* under pH-shift conditions. Bioresour Technol 102(20):9730–9736. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.07.089
- 204. Miyamoto Y, Ooi T, Kinoshita S (2000) Production of lactobionic acid from whey by *Pseudomonas* sp. LS13-1. Biotechnol Lett 22(5):427–430. doi:10.1023/a:1005617903152
- 205. Murakami H, Seko A, Azumi M, Ueshima N, Yoshizumi H, Nakano H, Kitahata S (2003) Fermentative production of lactobionic acid by *Burkholderia cepacia*. J Appl Glycosci 50 (2):117–120
- 206. Kiryu T, Yamauchi K, Masuyama A, Ooe K, Kimura T, Kiso T, Nakano H, Murakami H (2012) Optimization of lactobionic acid production by *Acetobacter orientalis* isolated from Caucasian fermented milk, "Caspian Sea Yogurt". Biosci Biotech Bioch 76(2):361–363. doi:10.1271/bbb.110608
- 207. Tomlinson GA, Strohm MP, Hochstein LI (1978) Metabolism of carbohydrates by extremely halophilic bacteria–identification of lactobionic acid as a product of lactose metabolism by *Halobacterium saccharovorum*. Can J Microbiol 24(8):898–903
- 208. Alonso S, Rendueles M, Diaz M (2013) Selection method of pH conditions to establish *Pseudomonas taetrolens* physiological states and lactobionic acid production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(9):3843–3854. doi:10.1007/s00253-012-4607-x
- 209. Alonso S, Rendueles M, Diaz M (2012) Role of dissolved oxygen availability on lactobionic acid production from whey by *Pseudomonas taetrolens*. Bioresour Technol 109:140–147. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.01.045
- 210. Alonso S, Rendueles M, Diaz M (2012) Physiological heterogeneity of *Pseudomonas taetrolens* during lactobionic acid production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96 (6):1465–1477. doi:10.1007/s00253-012-4254-2
- 211. Alonso S, Rendueles M, Diaz M (2013) Feeding strategies for enhanced lactobionic acid production from whey by *Pseudomonas taetrolens*. Bioresour Technol 134:134–142. doi:10. 1016/j.biortech.2013.01.145

# Microbial Hydrocarbon Formation from Biomass



# Adrie J.J. Straathof and Maria C. Cuellar

Abstract Fossil carbon sources mainly contain hydrocarbons, and these are used on a huge scale as fuel and chemicals. Producing hydrocarbons from biomass instead is receiving increased attention. Achievable yields are modest because oxygen atoms need to be removed from biomass, keeping only the lighter carbon and hydrogen atoms. Microorganisms can perform the required conversions, potentially with high selectivity, using metabolic pathways that often end with decarboxylation. Metabolic and protein engineering are used successfully to achieve hydrocarbon production levels that are relevant in a biorefinery context. This has led to pilot or demo processes for hydrocarbons such as isobutene, isoprene, and farnesene. In addition, some non-hydrocarbon fermentation products are being further converted into hydrocarbons using a final chemical step, for example, ethanol into ethene. The main advantage of direct microbial production of hydrocarbons, however, is their potentially easy recovery because they do not dissolve in fermentation broth.

Keywords Yields, Product recovery, Gaseous products, Isoprenoids

#### Contents

1	Introduction	412
2	Achievable Reaction Yields	413
3	Product Recovery	413
4	Methane	415
5	Ethene	415
6	Other Gaseous Hydrocarbons	416
7	Isoprene	418

A.J.J. Straathof (🖂) and M.C. Cuellar

Department of Biotechnology, Delft University of Technology, van der Maasweg 9, 2629 HZ, Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: A.J.J.Straathof@tudelft.nl

8	Isoprenoids	418
9	Liquid Linear Alkanes and Alkenes	420
10	Aromatic Hydrocarbons	421
Refe	References	

# 1 Introduction

Hydrocarbons are organic compounds consisting entirely of hydrogen and carbon. They are mostly used as combustion fuels, usually in hydrocarbon mixtures such as gasoline, diesel, and jet fuel. They can also be used for the synthesis of other chemicals, for the synthesis of polymers, as lubricants, as solvents, or as propellants for aerosol sprays, for example.

The present industrial production of hydrocarbons and their mixtures is almost entirely based on fossil resources such as natural gas, petroleum, and coal, which largely consist of hydrocarbons. These can be used as fuel. Oil refineries are used on a huge scale to split petroleum into more valuable and less valuable fractions, and to convert the latter as much as possible into more useful components. Highly selective catalysts are used to obtain transportation fuels, such as gasoline, kerosene, and diesel, which are mixtures of hydrocarbons with properties in a certain range. Similarly, pure hydrocarbons are obtained, such as ethene, propene, and styrene, the monomers of the most important synthetic polymers. Natural gas and coal can also be processed instead of being directly combusted.

Hydrocarbons can also be produced from biomass. Currently, such renewable production is only in exceptional cases competitive with petrochemical production, but it can be assumed that the competitiveness will increase in the future.

This chapter treats the (potential) microbial production of hydrocarbons in a biorefinery context, thus using biomass or one of its components as feed material. For the most common types of biomass and upstream processing, the main microbial feed components are carbohydrates, particularly glucose. However, microorganisms might also convert lipids and proteins into hydrocarbons. Microbial lignin conversion is more difficult, requiring aerobic conditions and leading to degradation into  $CO_2$  and water rather than formation of hydrocarbons. Instead, products from thermochemical processing of lignin-containing biomass, such as syngas and pyrolysis oil, may also be funneled into the central carbon metabolism of microorganisms and subsequently be converted into products such as hydrocarbons. However, the metabolic pathways shown in this chapter are limited to the actual formation reactions of hydrocarbons from central metabolites, assuming fermentable carbohydrates as the available feed material.

Many non-hydrocarbon products of microbial metabolism can be converted into hydrocarbons using follow-up chemistry. This is largely left outside the scope of this chapter, but a few such chemical conversions are mentioned.

# 2 Achievable Reaction Yields

In the context of developing a biorefinery concept, upper limits for achievable product yields should be made early on to determine the economic potential of such a biorefinery. The price of fermentable biomass (\$/kg) divided by the achievable hydrocarbon mass yield on this biomass gives the minimum feedstock contribution to the bio-hydrocarbon production costs, and this should be significantly lower than the price of petrochemical hydrocarbon.

Biomass-based production, either (thermo)chemically or microbially, requires conversions that remove oxygen and trace elements such as present in biomass components. Biomass pretreatment and hydrolysis leads, for example, to glucose  $(C_6H_{12}O_6)$ . This consists of 0.53 g/g of oxygen, which obviously limits the maximum yield of hydrocarbon to 0.47 g/g. However, oxygen removal in the form of  $O_2$ is thermodynamically unfavorable at fermentation conditions if no sunlight (photosynthesis) or other external energy source is used. A situation that may be thermodynamically feasible (depending on the hydrocarbon) is that oxygen atoms are removed from glucose in the form of  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$ . Then, stoichiometric calculations [1] lead to maximum yields ranging from 0.27 g/g for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>; the least oxidized hydrocarbon) to 0.36 g/g for naphthalene ( $C_{10}H_8$ ; an example of a more oxidized hydrocarbon). For oxygen-containing fermentation products, the maximum yields achievable with ideal stoichiometries are less modest [1].

Real yields of hydrocarbon on glucose are even lower, because at least a small portion of the glucose is used for cell growth, and because enzymatic reactions to achieve stoichiometrically ideal metabolic pathways from glucose to hydrocarbon are unknown or not yet in place, or such pathways are thermodynamically constrained. A reaction that consumes  $O_2$ , such as shown for some entries in Table 1, may lead to a thermodynamically favorable pathway, but at the expense of the maximum achievable yield.

If glucose is to be converted to transportation fuel, it is also important to consider the fraction of the fuel value of glucose that can be retained in the hydrocarbon products. As the co-products  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$  have no fuel value, the fuel value of glucose may be largely transferred to the hydrocarbon products, with some sideproduct formation and small entropic losses [12].

#### **3** Product Recovery

In an industrial processing context, extracellular production is often preferred, because it eliminates the need for cell disruption, hence enabling cell reuse and product recovery during fermentation. Even recovery of extracellular microbial products is often challenging because they need to be separated from a large amount of water which contains numerous other solutes. For hydrocarbons the situation can

			Hydrocarbon product	
Enzymes	Substrates	Products	examples	References
Decarboxylase	R-COOH	R-H; CO <sub>2</sub>	Styrene	McKenna and Nielsen [2]
Aldehyde deformylase (ADO)	Aldehyde; O <sub>2</sub> ; NADPH	Alkane; For- mate; H <sub>2</sub> O	Hydrocarbons down to propane	Schirmer et al. [3] and Menon et al. [4]
P450 fatty acid decarboxylase (OleT)	Fatty acid; H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	Terminal alkene; CO <sub>2</sub> ; 2 H <sub>2</sub> O	Heptadec-1- ene	Rude et al. [5]
Non-heme Fe <sup>II</sup> oxidase (UndA)	Fatty acid; O <sub>2</sub> ; 2 e <sup>-</sup> ; 2 H <sup>+</sup>	Terminal alkene; CO <sub>2</sub> ; 2 H <sub>2</sub> O	C <sub>9</sub> –C <sub>13</sub> termi- nal alkenes	Rui et al. [6]
P450 oxidative decarbonylase (CYP4G)	Fatty aldehyde; O <sub>2</sub> ; NADPH	Hydrocarbon; CO <sub>2</sub> ; H <sub>2</sub> O	Heptadecane	Qiu et al. [7]
Synthases	Branched 1-pyrophospho- 2-alkene; Water	Branched-1,3- alkadiene; Pyrophosphate	Isoprene, farnesene	Whited et al. [8] and George et al. [9]
Mevalonate diphosphate decarboxylase <sup>a</sup>	3-Hydroxy-3- methylalkanoic acid; ATP	2-Methylalkene; CO <sub>2</sub> ; ADP; Phosphate	Isobutene	Gogerty and Bobik [10] and Rossoni et al. [11]

Table 1 Enzymatic reactions leading to hydrocarbons

<sup>a</sup>Actually a kinase phosphorylating the substrate to 3-methyl-3-phosphocarboxylic acid followed by spontaneous decarboxylation [11]

Table 2     Aqueous solubilities	Hydrocarbon	Solubility (g/kg)	Reference	
1 atm	Methane	0.023	Clever and Young [13]	
	Ethene	0.13	Hayduk [14]	
	Isoprene	0.61	Shaw [15]	
	Styrene	0.25	Shaw [16]	
	Dodecane	$3.4 \times 10^{-6}$	Shaw et al. [17]	

be much simpler because the formed concentrations can easily surpass the aqueous solubilities shown in Table 2 if a reasonable production organism is available.

Gaseous hydrocarbons escape from fermentation broth together with the formed  $CO_2$ , water vapor and other (trace) impurities, in many cases requiring further processing steps. In the well-established biogas process, for example,  $H_2S$  is typically removed by (reactive) absorption, eventually followed by  $CO_2$  removal by absorption or pressure swing adsorption [18]. In the last few years, product recovery through the gas phase has been showcased as one of the key features of DuPont's isoprene process [8].

If liquid hydrocarbons are formed by fermentation, the hydrocarbon amount exceeding its solubility forms a (light) organic phase if the hydrocarbon is excreted by the cells. Product extraction during fermentation by means of solvent addition has been of almost standard use – at least at laboratory scale – to overcome product toxicity and volatility in the production of monoterpenes and short-chain alkanes [19]. With or without solvent addition, however, emulsion formation is likely to occur [20] as has been reported in the production of farnesene [21].

In the subsequent sections, the status of microbial production of specific hydrocarbons is treated. This builds on previous reviews [1, 19, 22], but some significant new developments have taken place.

#### 4 Methane

Methane is the only hydrocarbon that is produced as primary metabolite by natural microorganisms. During anaerobic digestion, mixed cultures of microorganisms convert in several steps various biomass components into carbon dioxide, hydrogen, and organic acids, mainly acetic acid. Finally, acetic acid is converted into equimolar amounts of methane and carbon dioxide during methanogenesis by methanogenic archea. On the basis of theoretical stoichiometry, the maximum yield of methane per glucose equivalent is 0.27 g/g, but a somewhat different yield is obtained with biomass. The produced biogas also does not contain equimolar amounts of methane and carbon dioxide because some of the  $CO_2$  dissolves in the liquid effluent.

Anaerobic digestion can be used for converting biomass under nonsterile conditions, whereas the produced gas can be easily recovered. Commercial operation requires relatively simple equipment and operations, but the low productivity, typically below 0.03 g/L/h), leads to large vessels. Biogas can be directly used as fuel, or used for heat and electricity generation in a combined heat and power plant, or upgraded to natural gas quality, that is, to a methane concentration of at least 90%. The state-of-the-art has recently been described [18].

#### 5 Ethene

In a biorefinery context, producing ethene (ethylene) from biomass at commercial levels would require a route that approaches the theoretical yield limit of ethene on glucose of 2 mol/mol (0.31 g/g). Currently, this is achieved on a commercial scale by using ethanol fermentation and subsequent acid-catalyzed dehydration of ethanol to ethene [23]. Such a process requires low biomass prices to be competitive [24].

It has been claimed that the ethanol dehydration might be performed enzymatically instead [25, 26]. Ideally, such an enzyme activity would be incorporated in an ethanol-producing microorganism, potentially leading to a direct conversion of 1 mol glucose into 2 mol ethene. However, it is not clear whether the equilibrium of the dehydration reaction would be favorable at fermentation conditions, and if the pathway would be usable. Another hypothetical pathway leading potentially to the desired stoichiometry would be via acrylic acid. Fermentative production of acrylic acid has been studied [1], and enzymatic decarboxylation of acrylic acid to ethene has been suggested. In some organisms this would be because of a side activity of pyruvate decarboxylase Enzymatic decarboxylation of acrylic acid to ethene has been suggested to occur in some organisms because of a side activity of pyruvate decarboxylase [27]. The proof for this has been considered to be weak [28]. Besides, acrylic acid is more valuable than ethene, which makes the decarboxylation unattractive.

Proven pathways for biological ethene formation rely on the natural formation of ethene by plants in small amounts for signaling functions such as stimulation of fruit-ripening [29]. Three such pathways are known, but none are useful for reaching yields of ethene on glucose above 0.12 g/g [30], and they can be considered unattractive for large-scale ethene synthesis. The final enzymatic steps of the natural pathways might be considered for finding higher-yield synthetic pathways, and are given here. 1-Aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate is converted by an oxygenase into ethene, cyanide, CO<sub>2</sub>, and water, using oxidation of L-ascorbate to L-dehydroascorbate [31]. (S)-2-Oxo-4-thiomethylbutyric acid is decomposed into ethene, methanethiol, and CO<sub>2</sub> by an NADH-Fe(III) oxidoreductase, which activates O<sub>2</sub> [32]. The ethene-forming enzyme (EFE) occurring in *Penicillium digitatum* and *Pseudomonas syringae* catalyzes several reactions, amongst others a conversion of 2-oxoglutarate with O<sub>2</sub> into ethene, CO<sub>2</sub>, and water [33]. Heterologous expression of the *efe* gene from *P. syringae* has led to ethene production in a number of hosts [34].

#### 6 Other Gaseous Hydrocarbons

Many gaseous hydrocarbons have been found to be formed by microorganisms [22, 35]. For example, ethanogenesis can be carried out by methanogenic archaea under the conditions required for methanogenesis, using enrichment cultures from some deep lake sediments [36]. Small amounts of ethane have been detected. The mechanisms of biogenic ethane formation and the biochemistry of the microorganisms involved in this process have to be elucidated before any reasonable conversion can be developed.

Traces of propane have been found with ethane under the same conditions [36], and the propane metabolic pathways for natural biosynthesis are also not known. However, cyanobacteria contain aldehyde deformylating oxygenases (ADOs; formerly aldehyde decarbonylases), which can be used to engineer metabolic pathways for alkane biosynthesis. ADO catalyzes O<sub>2</sub>-dependent conversion of aldehyde into alkane and formate in the presence of an electron donor. Native aldehyde carbon chain lengths range from  $C_{16}$  to  $C_{18}$ , but with the shorter chain aldehydes that are not encountered in native cyanobacteria, activity has also been observed [3, 37]. Co-expression of ADO with a butyraldehyde-producing pathway in *Escherichia coli* led to accumulation of up to 32 mg/L of propane [4, 37]. This proof-of-principle probably leads to significant follow-up activities on this topic.

Traces of propene (propylene) are formed in aerobic cultures of *Rhizopus* strains of many different types of organisms. The responsible enzyme was not identified [38, 39]. Aerobic formation of propene from isobutyraldehyde by rabbit cyto-chrome P-450 has been demonstrated however [40]. It is assumed that mono-oxygenase activity with NADPH as electron donor leads to propene and formic acid [41]. The required isobutyraldehyde might be produced from glucose [1], but no such propene pathway seems to be pursued.

Biological formation of isobutene (isobutylene; 2-methylpropene) has been studied since the 1970s using strains such as the yeast *Rhodotorula minuta* [42]. Isobutene is formed by reductive decarboxylation of isovalerate, which is catabolically derived from L-leucine [43, 44]. Studies on the responsible enzyme point to a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase that is involved in hydroxylating benzoate [45]. The highest observed production was merely 0.45 mg/L/h, and it is not clear how a pathway via isovalerate can be used to obtain a commercially interesting yield of isobutene on glucose.

Dehydrative decarboxylation of 3-hydroxyisovalerate into isobutene is more useful [46]. This conversion was reported as side-activity of mevalonate diphosphate decarboxylase, MVD [10, 47]. Variation of precursor and enzyme might lead to various alkenes. The putative MVD from *Picrophilus torridus* is one of the most efficient wild-type enzymes in the patent applications in this field. It turned out to be no decarboxylase but a kinase, which uses ATP to phosphorylate mevalonate to mevalonate-3-phosphate intermediate that undergoes consequent spontaneous decarboxylation to form isobutene [11]. 3-Hydroxybutyrate was similarly phosphorylated, but the phosphorylated product seems too stable to decarboxylate into propene. 3-Hydroxypropanoate was not converted by the kinase [11].

Using metabolic and protein engineering, such enzymatic activities are used to obtain commercially interesting production of isobutene and other alkenes [47, 48]. Other patent applications of Global Bioenergies describe isobutanol dehydration to isobutene as a side activity of engineered oleate hydratase and other hydratases [25, 26]. If feasible, an attractive metabolic pathway might be obtained [46]. Similarly, isopropanol might be dehydrated to propene and but-3-en-1-ol and but-3-en-2-ol might be dehydrated to butadiene.

Metabolic pathways to 1,3-butadiene have also been formulated in other patents [49, 50]. The final reaction should again be dehydration of a butenol or butanediol isomer, potentially via a phosphate intermediate. Pathways to the required precursors have been described in the same patent applications.

In November 2014, Global Bioenergies produced isobutene by direct fermentation for the first time in pilot scale (www.global-bioenergies.com). Moreover, Global Bioenergies has announced successful lab-scale production of butadiene by direct fermentation of glucose (www.global-bioenergies.com/communiques/ 141126\_pr\_en.pdf). Other companies, however, focus on fermentative production of alcohols, which can be very efficient [1], followed by acid-catalyzed dehydration to the corresponding alkenes. Acid-catalyzed dehydration of isopropanol to propene, for example [51], is easy. Braskem pursues commercial bio-based propene production using fermentative ethanol production, followed by chemical conversion into ethene, dimerization, and metathesis [52].

# 7 Isoprene

Isoprene, or 2-methyl-1,3-butadiene, is naturally formed by various microorganisms, plants, and animals. Massive amounts, estimated at 600 million tons/year, are emitted by plants into the atmosphere [53]. Formation occurs via elimination of pyrophosphate from 3,3-dimethylallyl pyrophosphate by the key enzyme isoprene synthase. The precursor is formed in the mevalonate (MEV) and the methylerythritol phosphate (MEP) pathways. The MEV pathway is used by archaea, some bacteria, and most eukaryotes (including the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*), whereas the MEP pathway is used in most bacteria (including *E. coli*) and green algae. Both pathways occur in plants. Genencor (now DuPont) and Goodyear have genetically engineered *E. coli* for the production of isoprene through fermentation of glucose [8, 54]. The MEP pathway might have an isoprene yield on glucose of up to 0.30 g/g, whereas the MEV pathway is limited to 0.25 g/g according to the theoretical net overall reaction [8]:

$$1.5 \text{ Glucose} + 2O_2 \rightarrow \text{Isoprene} + 4CO_2 + 5 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$$

Still, the better known MEV pathway was selected for strain development. Isoprene has an atmospheric boiling point of 34 °C and it is hardly water soluble, so it was emitted with the fermentor off-gas at a concentration of around 18%, together with the formed CO<sub>2</sub>, and potentially with unconverted O<sub>2</sub>. Further downstream processing was required for recovering isoprene with 99.5% purity for polymerization to rubber [55]. The amount of isoprene that was collected corresponded to 60 g/L in the fermentation broth, at a productivity of 2 g/L/h and yield on glucose was 0.11 g/g [8]. Isoprene from such fermentation has been used by Goodyear in the production of prototype tires. Various other companies are active in this field [56]. A calculation indicated that costs for the bio-isoprene would be slightly higher than the actual market price of its fossil counterpart, but might become competitive [56].

#### 8 Isoprenoids

Isoprenoids are a highly diverse set of compounds that are built from at least one  $C_5$  isoprene unit via head-to-tail addition of the key intermediate isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) [57], and hence their biosynthesis resembles that of isoprene. The last

decade has seen fast developments in the metabolic engineering of this pathway. This interest originated from medical applications, in particular through the development of the antimalarial drug precursor artemisinic acid, leading to production on industrial scale by Sanofi [58]. Currently, the pathway receives enormous attention for its potential in the generation of replacements for diesel and jet fuel, as well as in replacing plant based flavors and fragrances. The focus has been mainly on monoterpenes ( $C_{10}$ ), sesquiterpenes ( $C_{15}$ ), and a few higher terpenoids (> $C_{20}$ ). The stateof-the-art has recently been comprehensively reviewed, for example, by Cuellar and van de Wielen [19] and Schrader and Bohlmann [59]. Monoterpenes such as pinene and limonene have been shown to have, after hydrogenation, properties similar to the light end of traditional kerosene aviation fuel, making them suitable as drop-in replacements or as enrichment for hydrogenated sesquiterpenes such as farnesane [9, 60]. Limonene is also an important precursor to several pharmaceutical and commodity chemicals. For example, hydroxylation of limonene results in perillyl alcohol, a potential anti-cancer agent [61]. Monoterpenes have been reported to be highly toxic to the microbial cell, interacting with cellular and mitochondrial membranes and dismantling membrane integrity. This is currently being overcome by engineered cell export systems and through extractive fermentations.

Sesquiterpenes have seen important developments in the last few years. The farnesene isomers, a group of natural sesquiterpenes including  $\beta$ -farnesene (7,11dimethyl-3-methylene-1,6,10-dodecatriene), lead to farnesane upon catalytic hydrogenation. Farnesane is already being produced at commercial scale by Amyris, and it has been certified as a diesel and jet fuel replacement in blends up to 35% and 10%, respectively (www.amyris.com; [9]). In S. cerevisiae, the mevalonate pathway enzymes, converting acetyl-CoA into farnesyl diphosphate, are overexpressed, and the latter intermediate is converted into (E)- $\beta$ -farnesene and diphosphate. This final reaction is catalyzed by a farnesene synthase, because of expression of the corresponding gene sequence from Artesemia annua. Improvement of the S. cerevisiae strain and the fermentation conditions has led to titers of 104.3 g/L with a productivity of 0.70 g/L/h as disclosed by Amyris in 2010 [9]. Further developments are being made downstream in the pathway, broadening the product spectrum. Several companies are currently active, in particular for flavor and fragrance applications (e.g., Evolva, Firmenich, Amyris, and Isobionics). Production of valencene, its derivative nootkatone, and santalene in the milligrams per liter range has been reported [62, 63].

Higher isoprenoids or terpenoids (> $C_{20}$ ) are currently applied in cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, and nutraceuticals. Their (over)production has been demonstrated in several microorganisms, resulting mostly in intracellular accumulation. Microbial production of the triterpenoid ( $C_{30}H_{50}$ ) squalene has reached commercial scale by Amyris and their first skin-care product was launched in May 2015 (www. amirys.com).

#### 9 Liquid Linear Alkanes and Alkenes

Microbial formation of linear alkanes and alkenes often involves metabolic pathways to fatty acids. Such biosynthesis has been well-studied in bacteria and yeast, in particular for the production of free fatty acids (FFAs), fatty acid alkyl esters, and hydrocarbons. Recent advances in this area have been reviewed [19].

Fatty aldehydes are often the direct precursor of long-chain alkanes or alkenes. Depending on the enzyme type, the carbonyl group can be released as formate, CO, or  $CO_2$ .

Aldehyde-deformylating oxygenases (ADOs) are ferritin-like nonheme dimetalcarboxylate enzymes that catalyze alkane formation from aldehyde in many cyanobacteria under  $O_2$  consumption and formate formation [64, 65]. Incorporating an alkane biosynthesis pathway from cyanobacteria in *E. coli* led to a mixture of uneven  $C_{13}$  to  $C_{17}$  alkanes and alkenes [3]. The pathway coexpresses genes for acyl-ACP (acyl carrier protein) reductase and an ADO enzyme from the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus elongatus* converting aldehyde to alkane, up to 0.3 g/L, mostly extracellular. The process is currently under optimization by REG Life Sciences (formerly LS9; www.reglifesciences.com), and pilot-plant fermentations (1,000 L scale) have already been performed [66]. By altering the FFA pool – either by pathway engineering or medium supplementation – more recent studies [67, 68] have resulted, respectively, in larger fractions of even alkanes (mostly  $C_{14}$  and  $C_{16}$ ) and a broader product spectrum, including linear and branched alkanes and alkenes. The titers are, however, still in the order of a few milligrams per liter.

Decarbonylases that release CO from aldehydes, forming alkanes, have been shown in vertebrates, insects, plants, and algae [69]. *Arabidopsis thaliana* fatty aldehyde decarbonylase potentially releases CO [20]. Recently, it was engineered with the pathway for fatty acid biosynthesis and fatty aldehyde formation in *E. coli*. This led to titers up to 0.3 g/L of FFAs, ranging from C<sub>8</sub> to C<sub>16</sub>, and to up to 0.6 g/L alkanes, mostly nonane and dodecane [70]. According to the authors, this mixture is suitable for petrol replacement.

In some insects, hydrocarbons are formed from fatty aldehydes using cytochrome P450 enzymes that consume NADPH and  $O_2$ , and release NADP<sup>+</sup>,  $CO_2$ , and water [7]. Unsaturation in the fatty aldehyde chain leads to alkenes rather than alkanes.

Terminal linear alkenes ( $\alpha$ -olefins, very useful as chemical intermediates) are formed from fatty acids in some eukaryotes and bacteria. The enzyme from *Jeotgalicoccus* sp. ATCC 8456, OleT, is a cytochrome P450, and consumes H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. It forms CO<sub>2</sub> and 2 equiv. of H<sub>2</sub>O when abstracting hydrogens from the  $\alpha$ and  $\beta$  positions of the fatty acid [5]. Light-driven in situ generation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> improves the conversion [71]. In *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, a non-heme oxidase has been found that decarboxylates fatty acid to alkene (1-undecene). In this UndA enzyme, O<sub>2</sub> forms an Fe<sup>IV</sup>=O species that needs to be regenerated to Fe<sup>II</sup> using a reducing agent [6]. In many bacteria, linear alkene production occurs via condensation of two carboxylic acids to a dione, followed by reductions and dehydrations. This yields nonterminal alkenes such as 14-heptacosene [72, 73]. It is not yet clear how the final step to alkene proceeds.

#### **10** Aromatic Hydrocarbons

The aromatic hydrocarbon for which fermentative production from biomass is best developed is styrene, also known as phenylethene [2]. In an L-phenylalanine overproducing *E. coli* host, glucose conversion into styrene was achieved by the co-expression of phenylalanine ammonia lyase from *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *trans*-cinnamate decarboxylase from *S. cerevisiae*. In shake flask cultures, up to 0.26 g/L styrene accumulated, close to the styrene toxicity threshold (determined as 0.3 g/L). Upon periodic stripping, the equivalent of 0.56 g/L styrene was produced, whereas 0.84 g/L was produced by in situ solvent extraction [74]. Genetic engineering approaches are required to obtain commercially attractive productivities and yields. The potential to use engineered *S. cerevisiae* instead of *E coli* for styrene production has been shown [75]. A technoeconomic evaluation showed that styrene production from sugars might be competitive in the case where styrene would form its own organic phase which could be decanted [76]. Formation of traces of styrene from forest waste biomass has been shown using wild type *Penicillium expansum* [77].

Biosynthesis of other aromatic hydrocarbons might be possible. For example, toluene is formed during anaerobic degradation of phenylalanine by bacteria such as *Tolumonas auensis* [78]. Phenylalanine is assumed to be converted into phenylacetate, which is then decarboxylated [79]. The responsible enzymes are not known, and fermentative production of toluene from glucose does not seem to be pursued.

Naphthalene, another aromatic hydrocarbon, is used by termites as fumigant [80], and traces of naphthalene are emitted by the endophytic fungus *Muscodor vitigenus* when grown on agar plates with glucose [81]. In neither case is it clear how this naphthalene might be formed. Compounds such as benzene, toluene, and o- and *m*-xylene are also excreted in traces by endophytic fungi [82, 83], and by plants [84]. This has led to advocating the use of fungi for producing so-called mycodiesel [85].

# References

- 1. Straathof AJJ (2014) Transformation of biomass into commodity chemicals using enzymes or cells. Chem Rev 114:1871–1908
- McKenna R, Nielsen DR (2011) Styrene biosynthesis from glucose by engineered E. coli. Metab Eng 13:544–554
- Schirmer A, Rude MA, Li XZ, Popova E, del Cardayre SB (2010) Microbial biosynthesis of alkanes. Science 329:559–562
- 4. Menon N, Pasztor A, Menon BRK, Kallio P, Fisher K, Akhtar MK, Leys D, Jones PR, Scrutton NS (2015) A microbial platform for renewable propane synthesis based on a fermentative butanol pathway. Biotechnol Biofuels 8:61
- Rude MA, Baron TS, Brubaker S, Alibhai M, Del Cardayre SB, Schirmer A (2011) Terminal olefin (1-alkene) biosynthesis by a novel P450 fatty acid decarboxylase from jeotgalicoccus species. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:1718–1727
- Rui Z, Li X, Zhu XJ, Liu J, Domigan B, Barr I, Cate JHD, Zhang WJ (2014) Microbial biosynthesis of medium-chain 1-alkenes by a nonheme iron oxidase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:18237–18242
- Qiu Y, Tittiger C, Wicker-Thomas C, Le Goff G, Young S, Wajnberg E, Fricaux T, Taquet N, Blomquist GJ, Feyereisen R (2012) An insect-specific P450 oxidative decarbonylase for cuticular hydrocarbon biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:14858–14863
- Whited GM, Feher FJ, Benko DA, Cervin MA, Chotani GK, McAuliffe JC, LaDuca RJ, Ben-Shoshan EA, Sanford KJ (2011) Development of a gas-phase bioprocess for isoprenemonomer production using metabolic pathway engineering. Ind Biotechnol 6:152–163
- 9. George KW, Alonso-Gutierrez J, Keasling JD, Lee TS (2015) Isoprenoid drugs, biofuels, and chemicals-artemisinin, farnesene, and beyond. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 148:355–389
- Gogerty DS, Bobik TA (2010) Isobutene formation from 3-hydroxy-3-methylbutyrate by diphosphomevalonate decarboxylase. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:8004–8010
- 11. Rossoni L, Hall SJ, Eastham G, Licence P, Stephens G (2015) The putative mevalonate diphosphate decarboxylase from picrophilus torridus is in reality a mevalonate-3-kinase with high potential for bioproduction of isobutene. Appl Environ Microbiol 81:2625–2634
- Cuellar MC, Straathof AJJ (2015) Biochemical conversion: biofuels by industrial fermentation. In: de Jong W, van Ommen JR (eds) Biomass as a sustainable energy source for the future. Wiley, Hoboken, pp. 403–440
- 13. Clever HL, Young CL (1987) IUPAC-NIST solubility database. Methane, vol 27/28. Pergamon Press, Oxford
- Hayduk W (1994) IUPAC-NIST solubility database. Ethene, vol 57. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- 15. Shaw DG (1989) IUPAC-NIST solubility database. Hydrocarbons in water and seawater, Part I, vol 37. Pergamon Press, Oxford
- 16. Shaw DG (1989) IUPAC-NIST solubility database. Hydrocarbons with water and seawater, Part II, vol 38. Pergamon Press, Oxford
- 17. Shaw DG, Maczynski A, Goral M, Wisniewska-Goclowska B, Skrzecz A, Owczarek I, Blazej K, Haulait-Pirson M-C, Hefter GT, Kapuku F, Maczynska Z, Szafranski A (2006) IUPAC-NIST solubility data series. 81. Hydrocarbons with water and seawater—revised and updated. Part 10. C11 and C12 hydrocarbons with water. J Phys Chem Ref Data 35:153–203
- Kleerebezem R (2014) Biochemical conversion. In: Biomass as a sustainable energy source for the future. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 441–468
- Cuellar MC, van der Wielen LAM (2015) Recent advances in the microbial production and recovery of apolar molecules. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33:39–45
- Heeres AS, Picone CSF, van der Wielen LAM, Cunha RL, Cuellar MC (2014) Microbial advanced biofuels production: overcoming emulsification challenges for large-scale operation. Trends Biotechnol 32:221–229

- 21. Tabur P, Dorin G 2012 Method for purifying bio-organic compounds from fermentation broth containing surfactants by temperature-induced phase inversion
- 22. Ladygina N, Dedyukhina EG, Vainshtein MB (2006) A review on microbial synthesis of hydrocarbons. Process Biochem 41:1001–1014
- 23. Morschbacker A (2009) Bio-ethanol based ethylene. Polym Rev 49:79-84
- 24. Althoff J, Biesheuvel K, De Kok A, Pelt H, Ruitenbeek M, Spork G, Tange J, Wevers R (2013) Economic feasibility of the sugar beet-to-ethylene value chain. ChemSusChem 6:1625–1630
- 25. Marlière P (2011) Method for producing an alkene comprising step of converting an alcohol by an enzymatic dehydration step. WO 2011076691
- 26. Marlière P (2011) Method for producing an alkene comprising the step of converting an alcohol by an enzymatic dehydration step. Eur Pat Appl 2336340
- 27. Shimokawa K, Kasai Z (1970) Ethylene formation from acrylic acid by a banana pulp extract. Agric Biol Chem 34:1646–1651
- Abeles FB (1972) Biosynthesis and mechanism of action of ethylene. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 23:259–292
- 29. Fukuda H, Ogawa T, Tanase S (1993) Ethylene production by microorganisms. Adv Microb Physiol 35:275–306
- Larsson C, Snoep JL, Norbeck J, Albers E (2011) Flux balance analysis for ethylene formation in genetically engineered Saccharomyces cerevisiae. IET Syst Biol 5:245–251
- Lieberman M (1979) Biosynthesis and action of ethylene. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 30:533–591
- 32. Ogawa T, Takahashi M, Fujii T, Tazaki M, Fukuda H (1990) The role of NADH-Fe(III)EDTA oxidoreductase in ethylene formation from 2-keto-4-methylthiobutyrate. J Ferment Bioeng 69: 287–291
- 33. Fukuda H, Ogawa T, Tazaki M, Nagahama K, Fujii T, Tanase S, Morino Y (1992) 2 Reactions are simultaneously catalyzed by a single enzyme - the arginine-dependent simultaneous formation of 2 products, ethylene and succinate, from 2-oxoglutarate by an enzyme from Pseudomonas syringae. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 188:483–489
- 34. Eckert C, Xu W, Xiong W, Lynch S, Ungerer J, Tao L, Gill R, Maness P-C, Yu J (2014) Ethylene-forming enzyme and bioethylene production. Biotechnol Biofuels 7:1–11
- 35. Davis JB, Squires RM (1954) Detection of microbially produced gaseous hydrocarbons other than methane. Science 119:381–382
- 36. Pavlova ON, Bukin SV, Lomakina AV, Kalmychkov GV, Ivanov VG, Morozov IV, Pogodaeva TV, Pimenov NV, Zemskaya TI (2014) Production of gaseous hydrocarbons by microbial communities of Lake Baikal bottom sediments. Microbiology 83:798–804
- 37. Kallio P, Pasztor A, Thiel K, Akhtar MK, Jones PR (2014) An engineered pathway for the biosynthesis of renewable propane. Nat Commun 5
- Fukuda H, Fujii T, Ogawa T (1984) Microbial production of C3- and C4-hydrocarbons under aerobic conditions. Agric Biol Chem 48:1679–1682
- Fukuda H, Kawaoka Y, Fujii T, Ogawa T (1987) Production of a gaseous saturated hydrocarbon mixture by *Rhizopus japonicus* under aerobic conditions. Agric Biol Chem 51:1529–1534
- 40. Roberts ES, Vaz AD, Coon MJ (1991) Catalysis by cytochrome P-450 of an oxidative reaction in xenobiotic aldehyde metabolism: deformylation with olefin formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 88: 8963–8966
- Nishida Y, Itoh H, Yamazaki A (1994) On the chemical mechanism of aldehyde metabolism by cytochrome P-450. Polyhedron 13:2473–2476
- Fujii T, Ogawa T, Fukuda H (1987) Isobutene production by *Rhodotorula minuta*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 25:430–433
- Fujii T, Ogawa T, Fukuda H (1985) Production of isobutene by *Rhodotorula* yeasts. Agric Biol Chem 49:1541–1543
- 44. Fukuda H, Fujii T, Sukita E, Tazaki M, Nagahama S, Ogawa T (1994) Reconstitution of the isobutene-forming reaction catalyzed by cytochrome P450 and P450 reductase from

*Rhodotorula minuta*: decarboxylation with the formation of isobutene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 201:516–522

- 45. Shimaya C, Fujii T (2000) Cytochrome P450rm of *Rhodotorula* functions in the β-ketoadipate pathway for dissimilation of L-phenylalanine. J Biosci Bioeng 90:465–467
- 46. van Leeuwen BNM, van der Wulp AM, Duijnstee I, van Maris AJA, Straathof AJJ (2012) Fermentative production of isobutene. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93:1377–1387
- Marlière P (2010) Production of alkenes by enzymatic decarboxylation of 3-hydroxyalkanoic acids. WO 2010001078
- Mazaleyrat S, Delcourt M, Anissimova M, Marliere P (2015) Mevalonate diphosphate decarboxylase variants. WO2015004211 (A3)
- Burk MJ, Burgard AP, Osterhout RE, Sun J, Pharkya P (2012) Microorganisms for producing butadiene and methods related thereto. WO2012177710
- 50. Pearlman PS, Chen C, Botes AL (2012) Methods of producing four carbon molecules. Pat Appl WO2012174439
- Araujo AS, Souza MJB, Fernandes VJ, Diniz JC (1999) Kinetic study of isopropanol dehydration over silicoaluminophosphate catalyst. React Kinet Catal Lett 66:141–146
- 52. McCoy M (2010) Braskem plans green propylene. Chem Eng News 88:11-11
- 53. Guenther A, Karl T, Harley P, Wiedinmyer C, Palmer PI, Geron C (2006) Estimates of global terrestrial isoprene emissions using MEGAN (model of emissions of gases and aerosols from nature). Atmos Chem Phys 6:3181–3210
- Singh R (2010) Facts, growth, and opportunities in industrial biotechnology. Org Process Res Dev 15:175–179
- 55. Feher FJ, Kan JK, MacAuliffe JC, McCall TF, Rodewald S, Sabo TA, Wong TH, Ploetz CD, Pickert LJ (2011) Purification of isoprene from renewable resources. US20110178261 (A1)
- 56. Morais ARC, Dworakowska S, Reis A, Gouveia L, Matos CT, Bogdal D, Bogel-Lukasik R (2015) Chemical and biological-based isoprene production: green metrics. Catal Today 239: 38–43
- 57. Rabinovitch-Deere CA, Oliver JW, Rodriguez GM, Atsumi S (2013) Synthetic biology and metabolic engineering approaches to produce biofuels. Chem Rev 113:4611–4632
- 58. Paddon CJ, Westfall PJ, Pitera DJ, Benjamin K, Fisher K, McPhee D, Leavell MD, Tai A, Main A, Eng D, Polichuk DR, Teoh KH, Reed DW, Treynor T, Lenihan J, Fleck M, Bajad S, Dang G, Dengrove D, Diola D, Dorin G, Ellens KW, Fickes S, Galazzo J, Gaucher SP, Geistlinger T, Henry R, Hepp M, Horning T, Iqbal T, Jiang H, Kizer L, Lieu B, Melis D, Moss N, Regentin R, Secrest S, Tsuruta H, Vazquez R, Westblade LF, Xu L, Yu M, Zhang Y, Zhao L, Lievense J, Covello PS, Keasling JD, Reiling KK, Renninger NS, Newman JD (2013) High-level semi-synthetic production of the potent antimalarial artemisinin. Nature 496: 528–532
- Schrader J, Bohlmann J (2015) Biotechnology of isoprenoids. Advances in biochemical engineering/biotechnology, vol 148. Springer International Publishing
- 60. Brennan TCR, Turner CD, Krömer JO, Nielsen LK (2012) Alleviating monoterpene toxicity using a two-phase extractive fermentation for the bioproduction of jet fuel mixtures in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnol Bioeng 109:2513–2522
- Alonso-Gutierrez J, Chan R, Batth TS, Adams PD, Keasling JD, Petzold CJ, Lee TS (2013) Metabolic engineering of Escherichia coli for limonene and perillyl alcohol production. Metab Eng 19:33–41
- Frohwitter J, Heider SA, Peters-Wendisch P, Beekwilder J, Wendisch VF (2014) Production of the sesquiterpene (+)-valencene by metabolically engineered Corynebacterium glutamicum. J Biotechnol 191:205–213
- 63. Wriessnegger T, Augustin P, Engleder M, Leitner E, Muller M, Kaluzna I, Schurmann M, Mink D, Zellnig G, Schwab H, Pichler H (2014) Production of the sesquiterpenoid (+)nootkatone by metabolic engineering of Pichia pastoris. Metab Eng 24:18–29

- 64. Li N, Chang WC, Warui DM, Booker SJ, Krebs C, Bollinger JM (2012) Evidence for only oxygenative cleavage of aldehydes to alk(a/e)nes and formate by cyanobacterial aldehyde decarbonylases. Biochemistry 51:7908–7916
- 65. Warui DM, Li N, Norgaard H, Krebs C, Bollinger JM, Booker SJ (2011) Detection of formate, rather than carbon monoxide, as the stoichiometric coproduct in conversion of fatty aldehydes to alkanes by a cyanobacterial aldehyde decarbonylase. J Am Chem Soc 133:3316–3319
- 66. Domínguez de María P (2011) Recent developments in the biotechnological production of hydrocarbons: paving the way for bio-based platform chemicals. ChemSusChem 4:327–329
- 67. Harger M, Zheng L, Moon A, Ager C, An JH, Choe C, Lai Y-L, Mo B, Zong D, Smith MD, Egbert RG, Mills JH, Baker D, Pultz IS, Siegel JB (2013) Expanding the product profile of a microbial alkane biosynthetic pathway. ACS Synth Biol 2:59–62
- 68. Howard TP, Middelhaufe S, Moore K, Edner C, Kolak DM, Taylor GN, Parker DA, Lee R, Smirnoff N, Aves SJ, Love J (2013) Synthesis of customized petroleum-replica fuel molecules by targeted modification of free fatty acid pools in Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110: 7636–7641
- 69. Schneider-Belhaddad F, Kolattukudy P (2000) Solubilization, partial purification, and characterization of a fatty aldehyde decarbonylase from a higher plant, Pisum sativum. Arch Biochem Biophys 377:341–349
- 70. Choi YJ, Lee SY (2013) Microbial production of short-chain alkanes. Nature 502:571-574
- Zachos I, Gassmeyer SK, Bauer D, Sieber V, Hollmann F, Kourist R (2015) Photobiocatalytic decarboxylation for olefin synthesis. Chem Commun (Cambridge, England) 51:1918–1921
- Beller HR, Goh EB, Keasling JD (2010) Genes involved in long-chain alkene biosynthesis in micrococcus luteus. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:1212–1223
- 73. Frias JA, Richman JE, Erickson JS, Wackett LP (2011) Purification and characterization of OleA from Xanthomonas campestris and demonstration of a non-decarboxylative Claisen condensation reaction. J Biol Chem 286:10930–10938
- McKenna R, Moya L, McDaniel M, Nielsen DR (2015) Comparing in situ removal strategies for improving styrene bioproduction. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 38:165–174
- 75. McKenna R, Thompson B, Pugh S, Nielsen DR (2014) Rational and combinatorial approaches to engineering styrene production by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microb Cell Factories 13
- 76. Claypool JT, Raman DR, Jarboe LR, Nielsen DR (2014) Technoeconomic evaluation of bio-based styrene production by engineered Escherichia coli. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 41: 1211–1216
- Azeem M, Borg-Karlson AK, Rajarao GK (2013) Sustainable bio-production of styrene from forest waste. Bioresour Technol 144:684–688
- 78. Fischer-Romero C, Tindall BJ, Jüttner F (1996) *Tolumonas auensis* gen. nov., sp. nov., a toluene-producing bacterium from anoxic sediments of a freshwater lake. Int J Syst Bacteriol 46:183–188
- Heider J, Spormann AM, Beller HR, Widdel F (1998) Anaerobic bacterial metabolism of hydrocarbons. FEMS Microbiol Rev 22:459–473
- Chen J, Henderson G, Grimm CC, Lloyd SW, Laine RA (1998) Termites fumigate their nests with naphthalene. Nature 392:558–559
- Daisy BH, Strobel GA, Castillo U, Ezra D, Sears J, Weaver DK, Runyon JB (2002) Naphthalene, an insect repellent, is produced by Muscodor vitigenus, a novel endophytic fungus. Microbiology 148:3737–3741
- Ahamed A, Ahring BK (2011) Production of hydrocarbon compounds by endophytic fungi Gliocladium species grown on cellulose. Bioresour Technol 102:9718–9722
- 83. Bäck J, Aaltonen H, Hellen H, Kajos MK, Patokoski J, Taipale R, Pumpanen J, Heinonsalo J (2010) Variable emissions of microbial volatile organic compounds (MVOCs) from rootassociated fungi isolated from Scots pine. Atmos Environ 44:3651–3659
- Heiden AC, Kobel K, Komenda M, Koppmann R, Shao M, Wildt J (1999) Toluene emissions from plants. Geophys Res Lett 26:1283–1286
- 85. Strobel GA (2015) Bioprospecting-fuels from fungi. Biotechnol Lett 37:973-982

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2019) 166: 427–468 DOI: 10.1007/10\_2016\_75 © Springer International Publishing AG 2017 Published online: 4 April 2017

# **Bioplastics**



**Hans-Josef Endres** 

Abstract The number of newly developed bioplastics has increased sharply in recent years and innovative polymer materials are increasingly present on the plastics market. Bioplastics are not, however, a completely new kind of material, but rather a rediscovered class of materials within the familiar group of materials known as plastics. Therefore, existing knowledge from the plastics sector can and should be transferred to bioplastics in order to further increase their performance, material diversity and market penetration.

**Keywords** Biobased, Biocomposites, Biodegradability, Bioplastic types, Bioplastics, Processing, Properties, Utilization

# Contents

1	Intro	duction	428
2	State	of the Art	429
	2.1	Biopolymers and Bioplastics	429
	2.2	White Biotechnology	430
	2.3	Biocompatible Plastics	431
	2.4	Biocomposite Materials	432
	2.5	Bioplastics	434
	2.6	Biological Degradability	439
	2.7	Bio-Based Material Share	446
3	Process Technologies		
	3.1	Chemical Synthesis and Polymerization of Petrochemical Raw Materials	447
	3.2	Chemical Synthesis and Polymerization of	
		Bio-Technologically Manufactured Polymer Feedstock	450
	3.3	Direct Biosynthesis of the Polymers	458
	3.4	Modification of Molecular, Renewable Feedstock	459

H.-J. Endres (🖂)

IfBB – Institute for Bioplastics and Biocomposites, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Hanover, Heisterbergallee 12, D-30453 Hanover, Germany e-mail: hans-josef.endres@hs-hannover.de

	3.5	Co-/Terpolymers	462
	3.6	Blends	463
4	Properties		464
5	Utiliz	zation of Residual Materials	467
References			467

# 1 Introduction

The number of newly developed bioplastics has increased sharply in recent years and innovative polymer materials are increasingly present on the plastics market. Bioplastics are not, however, a completely new kind of material, but rather a rediscovered class of materials within the familiar group of materials known as plastics.

The first polymer materials synthesized by man were all based on renewable materials or on transformed natural materials (e.g., caseins, gelatine, shellac, celluloid, cellophane, linoleum, rubber, etc.) because at that time there were simply no petrochemical materials available. Apart from a few exceptions (cellulose and rubber-based materials), these first bio-based plastics were almost completely displaced from the middle of the last century onward by petrochemical polymer materials.

Bioplastics are now experiencing a renaissance: this is particularly because of ecological aspects as well as limited petrochemical resources and also, in part, innovative property profiles. This is combined with an increasing awareness amongst the public, politicians, industry and, in particular, research and development.

At the start of the 1980s, the then newly developed biopolymers were at first received with euphoria as possible future polymer materials which were non-reliant on oil. However, because of the as yet generally very underdeveloped material properties and unsatisfactory cost/benefit relationships, disillusionment soon set in. This was, however, followed by continuous successful development and improvement of innovative biopolymer materials. In recent years, bioplastics have shown a dynamic market growth – in double figures each year – although still at a relatively low level in comparison to the volume of the plastics market as a whole.

In Europe and America in particular, the early development and use of biopolymer plastics were concentrated almost exclusively in the area of compostable packaging and other products with a short lifespan. Initially posed in Asia, the question of the availability of the raw materials is now also being pushed increasingly into the foreground in Europe.

Biopolymers are, however, still very much at the start of their development. As with conventional plastics, future material developments should concentrate not only on new monomers or new kinds of polymers but also on the further development of existing polymers through the creation of copolymers and terpolymers, blending and additivation. The relationships between microstructural composition and macroscopic processing, applications, and disposal properties apply in exactly the same way to biopolymers as they have always applied to conventional plastics. This means that the extensive wealth of experience which has already been gained in the field of conventional plastics can – and indeed should – be utilized.

In this chapter, bioplastics are not only described and discussed exclusively in the narrow sense of *bio-based* materials but in a very general context. This is done for comprehensiveness but also because, in most cases, the materials used in practice are combinations, that is, copolymers or blends of bio-based and petrochemically-based monomers or polymers and additives such as plasticizers.

# 2 State of the Art

Unfortunately, a range of different terms are also in use for bioplastics, such as biopolymers, green plastics, ecoplastics, etc., and at the same time there is varying and confusing discussion regarding the correct usage of these terms.

This discussion concerning the nomenclature of bioplastics is strongly reminiscent of the beginnings of conventional plastics, when a range of terms in various languages were discussed over many years. The fast technical development of plastics, however, rapidly overtook these early discussions on terminology. In the end, the term "Kunststoff" became accepted in the German language and in English the name "plastics." Whilst for the German name "Kunststoff" it was the synthetic, artificial creation of these materials which was definitive, it was the plastic behavior of these materials which formed the foundation of the Anglo Saxon term [1]. In German usage this has analogously led to the term "Biokunststoff," whilst English speakers mainly refer to "bioplastics."

Whilst the word "plastics" offers no opportunity for misunderstanding, the syllable "bio" unfortunately leads to the term "bioplastics" still frequently being associated with a number of partially related, intersecting, or confusing terms (Fig. 1). For example, the prefix "bio" means that bioplastics are automatically linked with properties such as biodegradability, compostability, and biocompatibility, or subjects such as biotechnology or bioeconomy, sustainability, renewable resources, etc.

# 2.1 Biopolymers and Bioplastics

To achieve a clearly-defined terminology and unified nomenclature in the field of bioplastics, the differentiation between bioplastics as useful materials and





Fig. 2 From raw polymer to bioplastic

biopolymers as macromolecular substances is very important. Whilst biopolymers are indeed the basis for the creation of bioplastics, the term "biopolymer" does not describe the resulting material itself. As with conventional polymers, in the vast majority of cases biopolymers have to be "upgraded" to varying degrees, that is, modified or subjected to additives (stabilizers, plasticizers, colors, processing agents, fillers...) and blended to make "ready-to-use materials" with satisfactory processing and performance properties (see Fig. 2). In this chapter, the term "biopolymer" therefore describes the macromolecule, whilst the term "bioplastic" represents the material used for the generation of semi-finished and final products. As with conventional plastics, in bioplastics there are now a variety of materials based on the same basic polymer types. For the sake of a unified nomenclature, it is suggested that this differentiation between the initial polymer and the "finished" material also be applied with appropriate consistency when speaking about bioplastics.

# 2.2 White Biotechnology

The term "white biotechnology" is even younger than green (agriculture) and red (pharmaceutical) biotechnology, although the related processes have been used by humankind for millennia, for example, in the fermentation of alcohol or lactic acid. White biotechnology refers to the industrial production or modification of organic basic or fine chemicals and substances as well as biogenous fuels using optimized species of microorganisms, enzymes, or cells. However, this covers only a portion of biopolymers and bioplastics, that is, exclusively the biotechnological creation of



Fig. 3 Intersection between white biotechnology and biopolymers [2]

monomer or polymer building blocks for bioplastics. The purely biotechnological creation of molecular substances which do not (cannot) serve as plastics raw materials, for example exopolysaccharides, xanthan, pullulan, gellan, cordulan, alginate, oligosaccharides, and various acids (hyaluronic acid, citric acid...) and vitamins, also come under the umbrella of white biotechnology. Because these are not materials or base products for materials production but functional polymers or macromolecular chemical substances, these biotechnological products are not further considered in this chapter within the context of bioplastics.

The large group of biopolymers based on biotechnologically-created monomer or polymer raw materials, such as lactic acid, alcohols, or polyhydroxyalkanoates, forms the intersection between the two terms "biopolymers" and "white biotechnology" and simultaneously represents the relationship between the bioeconomy and bioplastics (Fig. 3).

Similarly, the biogenous macromolecules or biomolecules, such as the large group of polyamino acids, are organic substances occurring in nature or in living beings and thus are not raw ingredients for technical materials. Therefore, in the view of the author, these biogenous macromolecules do not form part of the bioplastics field either, even if in biology or medicine they are frequently referred to as biopolymers for the sake of simplicity.

#### 2.3 **Biocompatible Plastics**

In the case of biocompatible plastics, there similarly exist for certain materials crossovers between these materials used in medicine and bioplastics but, once again, these two terms do not describe the same materials. The term "biocompatible" generally refers to materials which can come into direct contact with living beings without leading to interactions with negative consequences for the living



Fig. 4 Intersection between biocompatible materials and bioplastics [2]

being. This does not, however, mean that it is always necessarily a bioplastic. Similarly, bioinert materials such as ceramic and titanium-based implants or siloxane, as well as special petrochemical plastics (e.g., certain types of PEEK, PET, or PE-UHMW), also belong to the group of biocompatible materials because of their minimal interactions with human tissue [3–5]. With bioresorbable or bioactive polymers as biocompatible plastics (e.g., suturing materials or medical implants based on polylactide) there is also an intersection between bioplastics and biocompatible materials here; however, the terms are a long way from meaning the same thing as there is also a large number of materials which respectively belong to only one of these two material groups (Fig. 4).

# 2.4 Biocomposite Materials

Another aspiring group of materials are biocomposites. These terms usually describe fiber-reinforced plastics in which at least one material component (matrix or reinforcing component) is biologically-based or is made of a bioplastic. Bioplastics can therefore serve as the matrix but can also be reinforcing fibers. This means that, in the case of a petrochemical-based non-biodegradable thermoplastic or thermoset polymer matrix, at least the reinforcing component must be biologically-based. Well-known biocomposite materials from this group are natural fiber reinforced plastics (NFP) and wood plastics composites (WPC), that is, polyolefins reinforced or filled with natural plant fibers or wood fibers and wood dust. Superior bio-based synthetically-produced reinforcing fibers, that is, bioplastic fibers (e.g., PLA (polylactic acid), bio-PA or bio-PET fibers), could also be used (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5 Bioplastics and bio-based fibers [6, 7]





Conversely, however, conventional non-bio-based fibers can also be used for biocomposite materials. In this case, the matrix must consist of a bioplastic (e.g., glass fiber-reinforced bio-PA or carbon fiber-reinforced bio-based duromers).

Figure 6 provides another overview of the classification of biocomposite materials in comparison with conventional composite materials.

Alternatively, both components can, of course, have a bio-based origin, such as wood fiber-reinforced polylactide, viscose fiber-reinforced bio-PA, or components made from natural-fiber weaves and bio-based resins.
# 2.5 Bioplastics

In the author's opinion, currently the best general definition for the term "bioplastic" is a polymer material which possesses *at least one* of the two following properties:

- 1. Is made from bio-based (renewable) raw materials
- 2. Is biologically degradable

If this definition is adhered to, the following three fundamental bioplastic/ biopolymer groups exist:

- 1. Degradable petrochemical-based bioplastics
- 2. Degradable (primarily) bio-based bioplastics
- 3. Non-degradable bio-based bioplastics

Biologically-degradable plastics can be based on petrochemical raw materials as well as on renewable raw materials. The degradability of the biopolymer materials is influenced exclusively by the chemical and physical microstructure and not by the origin of the raw materials used or the manufacturing process used in producing the polymers. This means that biopolymers need not necessarily be made exclusively from renewable materials. Biologically-degradable biopolymers can also be produced from petrochemical ingredients such as polyvinyl alcohols, polycaprolactone, various polyesters, polyesteramides, etc. (Fig. 7, bottom right). Conversely, not all biopolymers based on renewable ingredients are necessarily biologically-degradable; for example, highly-substituted cellulose acetates, vulcanized rubber, casein plastics, linoleum (Fig. 7, top left). Typical examples of the last group of bio-based and biologically-degradable bioplastics are starch-based plastic blends, polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA), and PLA (polylactic acid).



Fig. 7 Bioplastics and the three fundamentally-different biopolymer groups [2]



To avoid misunderstandings when speaking of biopolymers or bioplastics, it is imperative that the most precise nomenclature possible is used, that is, it is advisable to speak specifically of degradable or bio-based bioplastics. Degradability here means a functional property or disposal option at the end of the material"s life cycle, irrespective of the origin of the raw materials, whilst, conversely, bio-based describes exclusively the origin of the raw ingredients of the polymer and provides no statement whatsoever regarding its degradability. These two different approaches are still being pursued and form the technical basis for a variety of bioplastics (Fig. 8).

# 2.5.1 Degradable Petrochemical-Based Bioplastics

Biopolymers based on petrochemical raw materials are, similar to conventional plastics, based on the various hydrocarbon monomers and oligomers produced from crude oil, natural gas, or coal through fractionated distillation and targeted cracking processes as well as their derivatives (e.g., polyols, carboxylic acids). Just as in the past, the property profile of conventional polymers could be varied and adjusted to suit an enormous range of applications through the use of a wide variety of starting monomers, polymerization reactions, process parameters, resulting polymer microstructures, and additives. The property profile of polymer materials can be further expanded, in particular by the inclusion of various heteroatoms in the molecule (primarily oxygen and nitrogen). A significant property that can be influenced in this way is degradability. Whilst with conventional plastics the focus in the past has mostly been on durability, that is, a high level of resistance to chemical, microbiological, other environmentally-defined influences, with degradable, or petrochemical-based biopolymers an appropriate molecule and material design is pursued with the objective of creating a polymer material that is not very resistant to environmental influence. The purpose of this is to achieve a material that, as a result of environmental influences or as part of a targeted (industrial) composting process, can be broken down and achieves the simplest possible depolymerization with further ultimate degradation of the molecule fragments.

#### 2.5.2 Degradable Bio-Based Bioplastics

The renaissance of bio-based bioplastics has been initiated over the last few decades by the second subgroup of these polymer materials, that is, by polymer materials based on renewable raw ingredients that are at the same time compostable (see Fig. 7, top right). These activities led to the recognition and naming of bioplastics as innovative materials around 30 years ago.

Renewable raw materials that can be used to create degradable polymers and bioplastics include, in particular, oligo- and polysaccharides such as cellulose, starch, sugar, and vegetable oils as well as some lignins and proteins and chemical and biotechnological derivatives based on them (e.g., acids and alcohols).

#### 2.5.3 Non-degradable Bio-Based Bioplastics

These biopolymer materials are, in part, materials produced from renewable raw materials. The final polymer structures are not biodegradable, even though they are based on a bio-based degradable feedstock. In particular, in this context there is currently (as yet) no minimum share of bio-based material components for polymer blends and copolymers or terpolymers to be declared as bio-based bioplastics, although in recent years suitable methods have been developed for determining the share of bio-based carbon in bioplastics (see Sect. 2.7).

In addition, there also exist – similarly to conventional plastics – many copolymers and terpolymers as well as polymer blends in which a combination of various monomers or a mixture of the various aforementioned biopolymer groups are created in order to optimize the resultant properties.

Alongside the biopolymers as primary components, in the vast majority of cases bioplastics also contain appropriate auxiliary products or additives in order to achieve an appropriately satisfactory property profile and to produce useful materials which can be processed. In principle, the same system is used for classifying these additives as for the classification of the biopolymers, as mentioned above. If, for example, the amount of bio-based but non-degradable oligomer or polymer as additive or material component is increased, the result is an increase in the share of bio-based materials with a simultaneous decrease in the degradability of the bioplastic or bioplastic blend. Conversely, the increasing use of non-bio-based blend components or petrochemical monomer materials leads necessarily to a reduction of the share of bio-based materials in the polymer material.

#### 2.5.4 Old and New Economy Bioplastics

The first technical, industrially-used polymer materials, the development of which began over 100 years ago, were all bio-based as there were no petrochemical raw materials available at that time. These so-called old economy bioplastics were

based on the renewable plant-based raw materials cellulose and natural latex or on animal proteins. With increasing industrialization at the end of the nineteenth century, the availability of the raw materials was of great concern for the production of these materials. The natural raw materials available at that time were modified as part of the material manufacturing process in such a way that they resulted in the first really durable polymer materials with a completely new property profile for that time, without being explicitly described as bioplastics. These old economy bioplastics therefore belong to the group of bio-based, non-degradable bioplastics. Of the old economy bioplastics, the only ones still of economic significance on the plastics market are natural rubber, regenerated cellulose, and cellulose derivatives (cellophane, viscose, celluloid, cellulose acetate) as well as linoleum in smaller volumes (Fig. 9, 10).

The renewed development of novel bioplastics (new economy bioplastics), which began around 30 years ago, was at first faced with the waste problem as it existed at the time and the unsatisfactory disposal situation with regard to conventional plastics. The objective of these developments was degradable bioplastics as a solution to the waste problem. There are currently increasing applications in medicine, landscaping and gardening, wastewater treatment, etc., for which degradability permits an additional function under the respective environmental conditions, such as films for use in agriculture which can be plowed in after use, bioresorbable implants or suture materials for use in surgery, or the targeted release of active substances (fertilizers, medical substances).



Fig. 9 Timeline of bioplastics with eras



# 2.5.5 "Drop-in" Bioplastics

In the current developments in bioplastics, the availability of raw materials is once again becoming of concern. Within this group of non-degradable, bio-based bioplastics, one development which has made strong and technically very successful advances in the last 5–10 years is what is known as drop-in solutions. These are, simply put, an effort to retain the established methods of synthesis based on petrochemical raw materials whilst substituting as completely as possible petrochemical feedstock by biogenous raw materials. The objective here is the creation of bio-based plastics which are similar to familiar conventional plastics. Because of the identical chemical structure, with the same additivation the drop-ins have completely the same property profiles as their petrochemical equivalents. This means that when conventional plastics are substituted by the respective drop-ins, no changes are to be anticipated in the areas of processing, usage and, in particular, recovery and recycling. Here, however, it is less about an acute or current availability of raw materials and more about a strategically-assured, long-term availability, that is, using bio-based and renewable raw materials rather than non-renewable petrochemical materials for the creation of plastics. Examples of these are bio-based polyethylene (bio-PE), polyethylene terephthalate (bio-PET), polyamides (bio-PA), and polyurethanes (bio-PUR) based on a variety of renewable raw materials or their respective bio-based derivatives (Fig. 10).

This means that the new economy bioplastics are made up of two basic groups: (1) the chemically-novel biopolymers, that is, unknown in the field of plastics from a chemical point of view until a few years ago (e.g., novel bio-based polyesters such as PLA (polylactic acid) or PBAT (polybutylene adipate terephthalate)) and (2) so-called "drop-ins" which are identical in chemical structure but partially or completely bio-based plastics. Currently, with regard to the commercial market share, the most prominent examples of these are bio-PET and bio-PE. Alongside these, work is currently being carried out on further drop-ins, including that in the field of thermoset (e.g., bio-based EP resins) or elastomer polymer materials (e.g., bio-based EPDM or bio-based polyurethanes).

Depending on the perspective, this means that there are a number of different types of bioplastics (see Fig. 11). To avoid misunderstandings, bioplastics should therefore generally not be mentioned without further specifying, through additional information, which group is meant.



# 2.6 Biological Degradability

Biologically-degradable plastics consist of natural (renewable) or petrochemical raw materials and, as polymer materials, are amenable to biological degradation reactions – that is, they break down under the influence of microorganisms and/or enzymes. In general, decomposition processes in plastics in the starting phase initially lead to a change in specific properties, such as the reduction of the mechanical values, the optical appearance (surface structure, coloration, etc.), the development of an odor or an increase in permeability, before further material degradation then occurs.

# 2.6.1 Primary and Ultimate Degradation

As regards material dissociation, it is necessary to differentiate more precisely between primary degradation (splitting of the macromolecules) and ultimate degradation of the fission products into water, carbon dioxide, methane, and biomass [8-11] (Fig. 12).

The metabolic potential of the (macro-) molecular fission products formed as part of the primary degradation defines here whether the process is simply a macroscopic disintegration process of a component or material or whether it is in fact a complete ultimate degradation. When the ultimate degradation of fission products is not assured, in the case of an exclusively primary degradation the decomposition products can accumulate, for example in compost or in groundwater. Therefore, in this case the term "biological degradability" should not be used. One prominent example of a product exclusively coming from primary degradation is microplastic, which is increasingly accumulating in groundwater and consequently also in living beings. The respective test standards for certifying degradability therefore also usually include as a significant core element the quantification of the decomposition products formed in the ultimate degradation and/or a record of the oxygen required for this. The oxygen requirement or the amount of CO<sub>2</sub>





Fig. 12 *Left*: Primary and ultimate degradation. *Right*: PLA surface populated by microorganisms [2]

produced is then compared to the amount theoretically expected in a complete chemical conversion of the material/product to be degraded.

#### 2.6.2 Environmental Conditions During Degradation

As well as differentiating between a macroscopic decomposition of the material (primary degradation) and a microscopic ultimate degradation, information about the respective environmental conditions is also essential for a complete description of the degradation process. Biological decomposition can vary enormously under a variety of environmental conditions (soil, water, salt water, compost, human body, etc.) as, apart from the material itself, the degradation process depends on a variety of other (environmental) factors such as microorganisms present, humidity, temperature, available oxygen, pH value, time, etc. (Fig. 13).

As an example, the biological decomposition of the material in an industrial composting plant with continuous irrigation and turning of the heap takes place more quickly than under "normal" ground or anaerobic conditions in a biogas plant, or even on the ocean floor at temperatures of approx. 4°C with no light and a completely different microflora in the salt water (Fig. 14). This is also very evident for a product such as wood. Under dry conditions, wooden furniture in a house, for example, has an almost unlimited lifespan, whilst in the forest, biological degradation progresses relatively rapidly. Another example is fossilization. Here, too, environmental conditions have prevented a complete degradation of the organic mass.

There is an increasing number of appropriate test standards for testing the stability of plastics or the degradability of bioplastics under various environmental conditions [4], although not all areas have yet been reflected satisfactorily, for example, the degradability of biologically-degradable plastics in the ocean, in biogas plants, or in the ground.



Fig. 13 Various degradation scenarios for bioplastics [2]



Fig. 14 Conditions in industrial and domestic composting and biogas plants [2]

#### 2.6.3 Influence of the Material Microstructure on Biodegradability

As part of a complete biological degradation process, microorganisms can essentially initially only further process biodegradable plastics and/or their molecular primary fission products with extracellular enzymes. The extracellular enzymes substantially break down the material through processes of oxidation and hydrolysis into even smaller components, which can then be taken up by the cell for further intracellular degradation [10, 12] (Fig. 15). The reason is that the enzymes are too voluminous to be able to penetrate the rotting material effectively, which means that this process can only take place as surface erosion or as a diffusion-controlled process with liquid carrier media, in particular water.

Biological degradability is mainly based on the presence of heteroatoms (no carbon) in the main chains of the macromolecules (see Fig. 16). These heteroatoms allow the microorganisms and their enzymes present under the respective conditions access to the splitting of the chains at this point and thus induce the



Fig. 15 Cellulose degradation through cellulase-enzyme complexes [2]



Fig. 16 Heteroatoms in the macromolecules of biologically-degradable polymers [2]

degradation process through primary degradation. The ultimate degradation of the biopolymer decomposition products generally continues through intracellular metabolic reactions of the relevant microorganisms [4, 9].

It can be very generally said that, with an increasing ratio of heteroatoms to carbon, particularly in the main chain, the degradability fundamentally increases (Fig. 17).

In addition to the heteroatoms, various other material-technical microstructure parameters play an important role in the biodegradability. In principle, it also applies here that the biological degradability and compostability by microorganisms increases with easier accessibility and fissionability of the molecules. For example, an increasing crystallinity with an otherwise identical molecular biopolymer structure and the same environmental conditions therefore lead to a deterioration of biological degradability. If, as an example, the crystallinity of PLA is increased through a tempering which is above the glass transition temperature (approximately 55°C), the biological degradability decreases significantly.

Figure 18 again illustrates the influence of various material-technical microstructure parameters on the biodegradability of bioplastics.



Fig. 17 Carbon:heteroatom ratio in the main chain vs degradability [2]

Microstructural parameter	Degradability
Flexible, branched molecular structures 👔	1
Intermolecular interactions, crystallinity 1	Ļ
Heteroatoms 👔	<u>↑</u>
Quantity of unsaturated compounds	Î
Aromatics proportion 1	Ţ
Swelling capability/polarity	<u>↑</u>
Molecular weight 👔	Ţ
Specific surface 👔	<b>↑</b>
= increase, $\downarrow$ = decrease	÷

Fig. 18 Degradability dependent on various microstructure parameters [2]

#### 2.6.4 Compostability of Bioplastics

Even the complete biological degradability of a material does not automatically mean that the material and, in particular, the components produced therefrom are also compostable. A material is designated as being biologically degradable if all the organic components generally succumb, within reasonable periods of time, to primary and ultimate biodegradation caused through biological activity. With the term composting, however, a statement is made as to whether a material or a mixture of substances and components derived therefrom can, under defined conditions in a composting system and within a more precisely-specified period of time, usually a composting cycle of a few weeks or months, be completely converted into  $CO_2$ ,  $H_2O$ ,  $CH_4$ , or biomass [8]. The verification and certification of the compostability of a material and component is carried out according to relevant standards. In particular, the environmental conditions, the period of time, and, for product certification, the component geometry (surface, wall thickness, size) are thereby precisely defined.

### 2.6.5 Oxodegradability

During degradation of a component, primary degradation can be initiated not only by a biologically-induced decomposition reaction but also through other degradation mechanisms. These include fission of the macromolecules through radiation. The most important natural radiation in this context is the UV proportion in sunlight. In particular for polymers with chromophoric groups in the molecular structure such as aromatic polyesters or polyamides, the effect of the sunlight can lead to a direct fission of the polymer chains (photodegradable polymers) [13].

Catalyst residues, impurities, peroxides, and other oxygen-containing components can also absorb sunlight and initiate a primary degradation. Similarly, indirect fission processes have been identified during which "host molecules," such as aldehydes or conjugated double-bond systems, are initially excited through the radiation; in the next step, these excited host molecules then transfer the energy necessary for bond fission to the actual polymer molecule.

In addition to this pure photodegradation, sunlight, in combination with oxygen, also causes photooxidative degradation. Through heat or the effect of light, the process of oxodegradation can be started by formation of radicals. Alkyl radicals can subsequently thereby be formed as well as, through their reaction with oxygen, photosensitive hydroperoxides as an intermediate stage of the photooxidative degradation. Through the ongoing effects of light and temperature, a renewed formation of radicals (alkoxy, peroxide, and alkyl radicals) subsequently occurs based on the hydroperoxides formed previously and, finally, degradation of the polymer chain [4]. If the reaction products are carboxylic acids or alcohols, they are subject to a further ultimate degradation.

Currently, work is once again being intensified on the oxodegradability of polyolefins, in particular PE, through, for example, the incorporation of specific metal ions for the initiation of a radical oxidation mechanism. The method of oxodegradation is, however, very controversial. Within the academic field, it is assumed that a complete microbiological ultimate degradation generally only takes place for oligomeric fission products with less than approximately 20–25 carbon atoms [13]. The fission products of polymer oxodegradation are, however, normally significantly larger. To obtain smaller, completely-degradable oligomers as the basis for a complete degradation, a correspondingly high doping of the initiator components is necessary. This, however, leads to very considerable – and usually unacceptable – losses in quality in the material properties.

A further possibility for the initiation of the primary degradation is a chemical dissolving process, for example in water with subsequent or parallel hydrolysis for water-soluble polymers (Fig. 19).

These different reaction mechanisms, however, have one thing in common: they can initially only lead to a macroscopic primary degradation without ensuring a definite ultimate degradation of the fission products.

It is therefore particularly important in the case of macroscopic disintegration or macrobiological damage with a reduction or loss in the mechanical material characteristics, alteration of the surface, or odor development, that a complete biological degradability or compostability of the materials is not automatically assumed. The respective additive-enhanced plastics, whose macroscopic decay or primary degradation is initiated solely through oxodegradation, may therefore not be designated as being degradable or even compostable bioplastics, as ultimate degradation is the crucial process as regards ensuring degradability. From a scientific perspective, there is no further need for discussion as regards oxo-induced or solution-induced primary degradation because here, in accordance with the testing standards, the quantification of the resultant final degradation products and the oxygen or possibly hydrogen demand necessary for the metabolization form the basis for an accurate statement concerning complete degradability.

The additives for the initiation of degradation do not ensure ultimate degradation. They can, however, instead lead to a reduction in the stability of the primary materials and also to a contamination of recycled products and thereby, for example, to a reduction in the stability of secondary polyolefins. Additives which solely



Fig. 19 Degradation mechanisms in degradable polymers [14]

initiate an oxodegradation do not therefore necessarily lead to a complete degradation of the material, but present a potential problem for the established recycling of polyolefins.

# 2.7 Bio-Based Material Share

As, on the one hand, both petrochemical and renewable raw materials can be used for biopolymers, copolymers and blends can be produced from both raw materials groups and, in particular, the structurally-similar bio-based drop-ins are entering the market, and, on the other hand, statutory special regulations for bio-based biopolymers are coming increasingly into effect, the question as to how high the proportion of renewable or biogenic raw material in a biopolymer is of increasing importance for the future.

This question can currently be best answered by means of radiocarbon dating (also known as the C<sup>14</sup> method or radiocarbon method) in accordance with ASTM D6866. <sup>14</sup>C-dating is based on the radioactive decay of the carbon isotope <sup>14</sup>C and actually served as the historical age-determination of carbonaceous organic materials with an age of up to approximately 50,000 years. In nature, carbon occurs in three isotopes: <sup>12</sup>C, <sup>13</sup>C, and <sup>14</sup>C. In contrast to <sup>12</sup>C and <sup>13</sup>C, which occurs at higher concentration in inorganic compounds, <sup>14</sup>C is not stable and is, for this reason, also known as radiocarbon. Its half-life according to Libby is around  $5.568 \pm 30$  years [15]. It is reformed in the upper atmosphere at the same speed as the decay rate and integrated into the biomass during the metabolic processes of photosynthesis. In dead and mineralized biomass, however, the quantity of <sup>14</sup>C decreases over time through radioactive decay as no new <sup>14</sup>C is absorbed. This means that petrochemical raw materials or petrol-based plastics, because of the relatively short half-life of the carbon isotope <sup>14</sup>C, no longer contain "young" <sup>14</sup>C. The <sup>14</sup>C proportion or the <sup>14</sup> C:<sup>12</sup>C ratio is therefore a measure for the bio-based carbon and thereby an indicator for the proportion of renewable raw commodities in the material.

However, this method has the disadvantage that only the biogenic carbon and not the hydrogen or other elements are recorded. For example, a biopolymer filled with glass fibers (such as glass fiber reinforced bio-PA) would, according to this method, be comprised of 100% renewable raw materials, or a polypropylene-starch blend would, because of the (in comparison with PP) lower carbon content in the starch phase, only contain approximately 18 wt% bio-based relative to total carbon.

# **3** Process Technologies

For the production of biopolymers there are a number of varying manufacturing routes. As already demonstrated, biopolymers can, in principle, be based on both biogenic and petrochemical feedstocks. A biodegradable polymeric material does not, however, automatically result from a biogenic raw material, and a non-degradable material does not necessarily result from a petrochemical raw material. The actual polymerization reaction, however, regardless of raw material origin, can occur both chemically, that is, brought about by human hand, and in biological or natural, primarily fermentative, ways. In the end, the degradability is in turn only dependent on the resulting molecular structure and not on the raw material origin or the formation reaction of the polymers.

As an example, a polylactide as biopolymer is based on the biologicallyproduced raw material lactic acid, which is subsequently polymerized using chemical methods. Furthermore, this manufacturing route of man-made polymerization of biotechnologically produced monomers is also representative of drop-in solutions such as, for example, a PE or PET based on biogenic ethanol.

In contrast, polyhydroxy fatty acids, for example, are produced naturally as biopolymers based on biogenic raw materials by microorganisms for energy storage. It is, however, also conceivable to "feed" microorganisms with specific petrochemical-based raw materials for polymer synthesis, such as when using petrochemical-based alcohols as a nutrient for the fermentative production of polyhydroxy fatty acids. Natural/biological production of non-degradable polymers does not exist as this would result, contrary to natural evolution, in biological production of polymer substances which, because of their subsequent biological durability, would accumulate in the Earth's ecosystem.

In contrast, the modification of natural substances can lead to materials where the originally degradable, native molecular structure is altered to such an extent that the resulting polymers are no longer degradable, as they can no longer be metabolized in the modified form. Examples of this include the modification of cellulose to cellulose acetate or natural latex to vulcanized rubber.

For the production of biopolymers, the following fundamental production methods therefore apply (Fig. 20):

- 1. Chemical synthesis of petrochemical raw materials
- 2. Chemical synthesis of biotechnologically manufactured polymer feedstock
- 3. Direct biosynthesis of polymers
- 4. Modification of molecular, renewable feedstock
- 5. Production of blends and co-/terpolymers from these groups

In the following overview, the most important associated bioplastics are assigned to the various process routes (Fig. 21).

# 3.1 Chemical Synthesis and Polymerization of Petrochemical Raw Materials

If exclusively petrochemical raw materials are utilized as polymer feedstock during production, these must be degradable materials for the products to be designated as



Fig. 20 Synthesis routes in biopolymers [2]

Synthesis process	Examples for biopolymers/bioplastics
Chemical synthesis and polymerization of petrochemical raw materials	<ul> <li>Polyesters</li> <li>Polyester amides</li> <li>Polyester urethanes</li> <li>Polyvinyl alcohols (PVOH)</li> <li>Polycaprolactone (PCL)</li> </ul>
Chemical synthesis and polymerization of bio- technologically manufactured polymer feedstock	<ul> <li>Polyethylene (Bio-PE)</li> <li>Polyester (e.g. PLA)</li> <li>Polyamide (e.g. bio-based PA 11)</li> </ul>
Direct biosynthesis of polymers	<ul> <li>Polyhydroxyalkanoates (e.g. PHB)</li> </ul>
Modification of molecular, renewable feedstock	<ul> <li>Cellulose regenerates</li> <li>Starch derivates</li> <li>Cellulose derivates (e.g. CA)</li> </ul>
Co-/Terpolymers	<ul> <li>Polybutylene Terephthalate (Bio-PBT)</li> <li>Polybutylene Succinate (PBS)</li> <li>Polybutylene Adipate Terephthalate (PBAT)</li> <li>Polybutylene Succinate Terephthalate (PBST)</li> <li>Polybutylene Terephthalate (Bio-PET)</li> <li>Polytrimethylene Terephthalate (PTT)</li> <li>Polyamide (e.g. Bio-PA 4.10, 6.10, 10.10)</li> <li>Polyurethane (Bio-PUR)</li> <li>Ethylene Propylene Diene Rubber (EPDM)</li> </ul>
Blends	<ul> <li>Starch or cellulose blends</li> <li>Polyester blends</li> </ul>

Fig. 21 Production routes for various bioplastics

bioplastics. This group of degradable polymers synthesized from petrochemical raw materials includes, for example, polycaprolactone (PCL) and some polyvinyl alcohols (PVOH).

Bioplastics

PCL is produced through ring-opening polymerization of *\varepsilon*-caprolactone (6-hydroxy-hexanoic acid lactone, 6-hexanolide, or oxepan-2-one), whereby a diol, that is, a bivalent alcohol, and tin(II) or tin(IV) salts are used as an initiator. The monomer  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone is obtained industrially through the conversion of cyclohexanone with peroxyacetic acid. Analogous to polycaprolactam, which is better known under the name polyamide (PA 6) and which is produced from caprolactam through ring-opening polymerization, polycaprolactone contains five methylene groups between the points of attachment. In the case of PCL these attachment points are formed from ester and in the case of PA from amide groups. PCL fundamentally has similar mechanical properties to other conventional, non-degradable, synthetic polymers. It is non-toxic and, with a molecular weight of less than 15,000 g/mol, the material is brittle. At higher molecular weights of around 40,000 g/mol, it is partially crystalline in structure and soft, that is, it has a particularly high elasticity. One important limitation in the applicability results from the sharply-defined but very low melting point of around 60°C. Polycaprolactone is compatible with almost all plastics and, in particular, with starch or lignin [2].

The preparation of PVOH cannot be effected via direct polymerization but is instead carried out, because of the volatility of the vinyl alcohol monomer (ketoenol tautomerism), via the hydrolysis of an ester; particularly preferred is that of the acetic acid vinyl ester, that is, polyvinyl acetate (PVAc) [16]. Polyvinyl alcohol is produced as a granulate or (ground) as a powder, is white-to-pale ivory in color, and odorless. As a dry cast film (from water), polyvinyl alcohol is brittle in the anhydrous state. The brittleness is reduced by any remaining acetyl groups (partially-saponified polyvinyl alcohols), polymerized monomers, or water absorption. Further special features of PVOH include good film-forming ability, excellent gas barriers (against oxygen, carbon dioxide, nitrogen, aromas), high stability of the films, high adhesion and cohesion, high pigment-binding capacity, viscosity increase of suspensions, foamability, curability, applicability as a protective colloid, partial approval under food legislation, water solubility, insolubility in many organic solvents, and a highly variable property profile (co- and terpolymers, variable degree of saponification, variable molecular weight, etc.). When examining the biological degradability of PVOH, a distinction must be made between an aqueous solution and an undissolved product. Whilst for a dissolved PVOH in an adapted treatment plant the metabolization occurs rapidly, composting is not possible. Because of its hydroxyl groups, the PVOH is highly adhesively-bonded to the components of the Earth and is not sufficiently convertible in the aqueous phase. Bonded PVOH could therefore not be degraded under standard conditions (e.g., ISO Standard 17088 or EN 13432). In the analysis of the compostability of PVOH, a rapid primary degradation and dissolution in aqueous systems could usually be observed whilst, in contrast, the secondary or ultimate degradation takes place very slowly, usually because of the lack of heteroatoms in the molecular chain. The complete biological degradability/compostability of PVOH is therefore controversial [2].

# 3.2 Chemical Synthesis and Polymerization of Bio-Technologically Manufactured Polymer Feedstock

#### 3.2.1 PLA (Polylactic Acid)

In terms of quantity, the lactic acid-based polylactide is currently the most important completely bio-based plastic and belongs to the polyhydroxy acids. For the production of PLA, varying starch- or sugar-containing raw plant materials are used. These include maize, wheat, sugar beet, and sugar cane. Other plants, such as tapioca, are currently also being tested as starch suppliers for PLA production, as is the use of waste materials. The largest production capacities can currently be found in the USA at Nature Works, which uses maize for the fermentative production of lactic acid. Further PLA capacities are currently being built, particularly in Asia.

There are fundamentally a multitude of microorganisms which qualify for the bio-technological production of lactic acid. Within the framework of the industrial production of lactic acid, Gram-positive, non-spore-forming, facultative anaerobic homo- and heterofermentative lactic acid bacteria in particular are used. During fermentative lactic acid production, specific optically-active forms of lactic acid are produced. Whilst for the generally less-productive homofermentative lactic acid bacteria the sole fermentation product is L(+)-lactic acid, heterofermentative lactobacteria produce a racemic mixture of L- and D-lactic acid with a dominating D-proportion. The ratio of L- to D-lactic acid therefore depends essentially on the bacterial culture itself and its age as well as the pH [17-20]. Widely varying carbohydrates, for example, short-chain saccharides such as sucrose, maltose, lactose, or starch (which is enzymatically saccharified to glucose) are thereby offered to the bacteria as a nutrient source, and are then metabolized during fermentation to lactic acid. The subsequent isolation of the lactic acid currently usually takes place by means of a neutralization reaction. A different, more favorable method, for which work is still ongoing regarding the continuous isolation of lactic acid, uses micro-filtration and electrodialysis with specific bipolar membranes from the aqueous phase. Because of the comparatively high cost of membrane, a CO<sub>2</sub>-supported trialkylamine extraction is predominantly used for the separation of the lactic acid from the culture broth. This process is currently favored by Cargill, the largest PLA manufacturer.

As the fermentative processes have become more cost effective and the demand for naturally-produced lactic acid has risen, only small amounts of lactic acid are still being synthetically produced today, particularly in Asia. In Fig. 22, an overview of the fundamental process steps for the fermentative production of lactic acid and PLA is provided.

From the lactic acid, low molecular weight prepolymers (DP = 30-70, d.h.  $M_n < 5,000$  g/mol) are created through a so-called oligocondensation which are then depolymerized at high temperatures and reduced pressures to form dilactides. Because of the enantiomeric configuration isomerism of the lactic acid, if no special precautions are taken a stereoisomeric mixture of meso-(di-)lactides with a high

L-proportion occurs. In the next step, a temperature- and pressure-assisted, catalystcontrolled (organometallic compounds such as tin octoate) so-called ring-opening polymerization is applied, under vacuum-technical removal (vacuum distillation) of the non-polymerized monomers (demonomerization), to produce the highmolecular weight polylactide (DP = 700–15,000, d.h.M<sub>n</sub> >> 50,000 g/mol) [2] (Fig. 23).

Another way of polymerizing the lactic acid is the direct production of a high molecular weight PLA from the lactic acid using a polycondensation reaction in an (organic) solvent. The solvent thereby also serves in the absorption and removal of the water resulting from the condensation process.

Through subsequent compounding of the PLA and the addition of further additives and/or blend components, the polymer material polylactide (PLA) then results in the commercial granular form.

The resulting final microstructure (conformation) of the PLA and thereby the resulting product quality (crystallinity, mechanical properties,  $T_g$ ) can, in addition to the costly production of pure monomers or dimers (L, L-lactide, D, D-lactide) or the purification of the racemic mixtures as initial monomers, also be partially influenced by the controlled ring-opening polymerization. As with conventional polymers, increasing racemic purity also leads in the PLA to molecular structures with increasing crystallinity. As a result, there is an increase in the stability, the elastic deformation resistance, the swell resistance, the glass transition temperature, and the melting temperature, as well as an increasing resistance against environmental influences such as humidity or biological degradation.



Fig. 22 Production of PLA [2]



Fig. 23 Polymerization reaction of PLA [2]



Fig. 24 Process routes and material flows in PLA production [21]

Figure 24 illustrates the process routes for PLA with the significant material flows and the associated conversion rates. These process routes are a very good and transparent basis for the calculation of resource requirements. To produce 1 tonne of PLA, 1.47 tonnes of sugar or 1.67 tonnes of starch are necessary. This means that, depending on the utilized starch or sugar plant, a land requirement of between 0.16 and 1.04 ha/tonne of PLA is required. From this it also becomes clear that, in the case of sugar, the sugar cane and for starch, maize have the lowest land requirement or the highest PLA yield per field area. These are also currently the most important PLA raw materials.

#### **3.2.2** Bio-Based Polyethylene Terephthalate (Bio-PET)

Beside aliphatic polyesters such as PLA, there also exist aromatic polyesters within the group of biopolymers that are synthesized in part or completely from materials produced by means of biotechnology. For this group of biopolymers, and for all future New Economy bioplastics as well, partially bio-based polyethylene terephthalate (Bio-PET) is the most important bioplastic material economically. Its bio-based basis is supplied by bioethanol, which is so far mainly produced from sugar cane or corn starch. In a series of chemical reactions, it is converted to bio-based monoethylene glycol (MEG) as alcohol component. The next step is to start the esterification (also known from conventional PET) with the petrobased terephthalic acid (PTA) to produce Bio-PET (see Fig. 25).

In this case, the percentage of bio-based feedstock is 30 wt% (therefore named Bio-PET 30). In the final product Bio-PET 30, however, only about 23% of the carbon is bio-based because of the differing portions of carbon in the two polymer components as feedstock.



Research is currently underway to develop entirely, that is, 100%, bio-based PET (Bio-PET 100). This means that the alcohol component as well as the aromatic acid component are fully bio-based (see Fig. 26).



Fig. 26 Process routes and material flows in Bio-PET 100 (i.e., 100% bio-based) production (source: [21])

#### 3.2.3 Bio-Based Polyethylene Furanoate (Bio-PEF)

A different approach for developing a fully bio-based aromatic polyester involves the production of polyethylene furanoate (PEF). This is a promising new type of polyester developed specifically by Avantium Co. in collaboration with Mitsui and put on the market using the buzzword "yxy technology." Here also, one of the polymer components is bio-based MEG based on bio-ethanol. The other component is bio-based furandicarboxylic acid (FDCA) based on methoxymethyl furfural (MMF) or hydroxymethyl furfural (HMF) (Fig. 27).

The result is a new type of polymer, seemingly with a somewhat different property profile compared to bio-PET. First comments suggest that PEF has much better barrier properties for  $CO_2$ ,  $O_2$ , and  $H_2O$  compared to PET and also has improved mechanical properties as well as better heat resistance.

A similar path is being followed by DuPont Industrial Biosciences in cooperation with Archer Daniels Midland (ADM). They have developed a method for producing furan dicarboxylic methyl ester (FDME) from fructose. FDME is a highpurity derivative of furandicarboxylic acid (FDCA). Utilizing FDME, one of the first polymers under development is polytrimethylene furandicarboxylate (PTF) based on FDME and also DuPont's Bio-PDO<sup>TM</sup> (1,3-propanediol).

#### 3.2.4 Bio-Based Polyethylene (Bio-PE)

Bio-based PE is a drop-in; as with conventional PE, for bio-PE the synthesis conditions of the polymer formation reactions (temperature, pressure, monomer concentration, catalysts, inhibitors, etc.) also ultimately determine the resulting microstructure and thereby the macroscopic properties. As expected, the properties of the bio-PE can also, through further measures such as use of co-monomers, additives, blending, and cross-linking, be configured in exactly the same way as is known from conventional PE. The only significant difference between conventional and bio-based polyethylene lies in the feedstock or the process route. More specifically, the process routes differ from one another only as far as the source of the bio-based ethylene differs compared to the petrochemical variant.

Depending on the selected raw material, for 1 tonne of bio-PE, between 0.48 and 3.1 ha of land are required (Fig. 28). Because of the higher starch and sugar yields for sugar cane in the sugar plants and corn starch in the starches, these also demonstrate here the highest land-use efficiency. In principle, the values for the land requirements for bio-PE are slightly higher than for PLA, because with bio-PE the oxygen as integral part of the polysaccharide starting product is not present in the molecular structure (Fig. 24, 28).



Fig. 27 Process routes and material flows in Bio-PEF production (source: [21])



Fig. 28 Process routes of bio-based polyethylene (bio-PE) [21]

# 3.2.5 Fully Bio-Based Polyamides

The fully bio-based (homo-) polyamides include PA 11, which is based on castor oil or undecanoic acid, and PA 6, which is based on fermentatively-produced  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactam (6-amino hexanoic acid lactam, 6-hexan lactam, azepan-2-one) as an initial raw material. In addition, there are also a number of other partially bio-based (co-)polyamides such as PA 4/4, 4/10, 6/4, 6/6, 6/9, 6/10, and 10/10. Strictly speaking, these belong to the group of mixed co- and terpolymers which is comprised of differing bio-based and petrochemical raw materials (see Fig. 29).



Fig. 29 Bio-based polyamides based on castor oil [2]

## 3.3 Direct Biosynthesis of the Polymers

In the direct fermentative production of biopolymers, a polymerization of the biopolymers occurs during the fermentation process. In contrast to the aforementioned fermentative production of the monomers, where the subsequent polymerization is induced by synthetic methods, the additional synthesis step of the polymerization is not necessary here because of the natural biosynthesis. Within these biopolymer groups, which are produced through direct biosynthesis, the bestknown and most important representatives are the so-called polyhydroxy fatty acids and polyhydroxyalkanoates. Polyhydroxyalkanoates are polyesters which are intracellularly accumulated by bacteria as storage or reserve material. These are polymers which are composed primarily of saturated and unsaturated hydroxyalkanoic acids; hence the name polyhydroxyalkanoates. In addition to unbranched 3-hydroxyalkanoic acids, monomeric components also occur which are branched or have a substituted side chain, as well as 4- or 5-hydroxyalkanoic acids. Based on these varying monomers, PHAs are created as homopolymers, copolymers, and terpolymers. Because of the variety of the monomers, the constitution isomerism, variable molecular weights, and the additional possibilities for the production of blends or a chemical/physical modification of the microstructure, a major potential of widely-varying biopolymers with differing property profiles results within this family of polymers.

From a chemical perspective, PHAs are optically-active, aliphatic polyesters possessing the structure shown in Fig. 30. In the case of  $R = CH_3$ , the result is so-called polyhydroxybutyrate or so-designated polyhydroxybutyric acid (PHB). = C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>, polyhydroxyvalerate (PHV) occurs, at R At R =  $C_3H_7$ , polyhydroxyhexonate (PHH). and at R = C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>9</sub>, appropriately, polyhydroxyoctanoate (PHO), etc. In view of the large number of theoretically possible PHAs, it can be assumed that a maximum of ten different industriallyinteresting PHAs should find implementation in the future [12, 20, 23].

Generally, PHAs are easy to use in injection molding, are insoluble in water but nevertheless biodegradable, and are biocompatible. Furthermore, they have a very **Fig. 30** General structure of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) [22]



good barrier effect against oxygen and, compared to other biopolymers, a somewhat better barrier effect against water vapor. This, in the opinion of the author, together with their variable molecular structure with different resulting property profiles and a broad range of raw materials for PHA production, means that these polymers form a promising material group for future material developments. In addition, PHAs also provide an interesting source for the production of small molecules or chemicals such as hydroxy acids or hydroxyalkanols [2].

# 3.4 Modification of Molecular, Renewable Feedstock

The various biopolymers in this group are based in particular on the polysaccharides starch and cellulose. Around 100 years ago, when petrochemical raw materials were not available, cellulose-based biopolymers constituted the first polymers and thereby, from today's perspective, biopolymers. However, starch-based biopolymers, because of low commodity prices, good availability, and very good degradability, occupy the leading role in modern biopolymers, which have now been researched for around 30 years.

#### 3.4.1 Starch-Based Bioplastics

For the production of bioplastics from starch, there are a number of fundamentally different methods. These are shown in Fig. 31.

In the use of starch as a raw material for *fermentatively-produced polymers*, the process is a metabolism of starch for the microbiological formation of other polymeric raw materials (see Sect. 3.2).

During extrusion-technological production of *starch-filled*, *thermoplastic composites*, the particulate or granular starch serves as both a low cost and a functional filling material. The starch granules enable an improvement in the mechanical properties, such as the elastic modulus, and accelerate the degradation behavior [14, 24, 25].

In contrast, in the case of so-called *thermoplastic starch*, the *starch granules* are *destructured extrusion-technologically* and a thermoplastic is created based on the starch macromolecules amylose and amylopectin. Depending on the ratio of the added quantity of water, shear forces, and temperature, this results in a predominantly thermomechanical destructuring of the granules or, rather, a thermochemical gelatinization of the starch, caused by water [26]. Because of the polarity of the



Fig. 31 Bioplastics based on starch [2]

macromolecules amylose and amylopectin, corresponding intensive molecular interactions are formed following the destructuring of the granules. The consequences of this are, as with cellulose, a difficult extrudability and brittle mechanical material properties. The destructuring and plasticizing of the starch in the extruder is therefore often carried out with the addition of water and other processing agents as well as plasticizers such as glycerin. Pure thermoplastic starch has, for example, a glass transition temperature  $T_{\rm g}$  of 80°C at an equilibrium water content of approximately 14%, which makes it very brittle at room temperature. Through the addition of various plasticizers, such as hydroxycarboxylic acids, glycerin, polyols, or water,  $T_{\rm g}$  can be reduced and the material can be made more ductile.

A further problem is presented by the hydrophilic properties of starch and starch polymers. In addition to the so-called external plasticization through additives, such as sorbitol or glycerin, and/or an internal plasticization through the starch modification, the thermoplastic starch is generally blended with other biopolymers, such as PLA or other polyesters. As the polyesters are often petrochemical polyesters with a generally higher material price, the starch blend manufacturers endeavor to optimize the starch proportion to achieve maximum material performance.

#### 3.4.2 Cellulose-Based Bioplastics

There are two main groups of cellulose polymers: the so-called regenerated cellulose, which is present predominantly as fiber or film, and the cellulose derivatives, which are further divided into the two main groups of cellulose esters and cellulose ethers; see Fig. 32 [27, 28].

Regenerated cellulose is essentially cellulose which has been physicochemically dissolved and re-assembled in the form of fibers or films. There is a wide range of designations for regenerated cellulose. The best-known names for fibrous products



are viscose, viscose silk, rayon, spun rayon, Modal, Lyocell, copper silk, and artificial silk and for films from regenerated cellulose cellophane, cellulose hydrate, hydrated cellulose, and cellulose film. Significant differences include the solvents used in the production processes and the corresponding process management as well as the differing resultant properties. Copper silk is based on Schweizer's reagent, whilst for the Lyocell fiber, NMMO is used as solvent for the cellulose. The quantitatively most significant regenerated fiber is viscose or viscose silk. For this, and for curled spun rayon (shrinkage of stretched viscose fibers in a hot liquid), the manufacturing path leads through an alkalization of the cellulose so that alkali cellulose is produced, which is subsequently transformed with carbon disulfide and then precipitated in an acid bath to viscose fibers. For the higher-strength Modal fiber, additional chemical additives (particularly Zn salts) are used in the viscose process. Rayon and artificial silk are non-standardized collective terms for fibers made from regenerated cellulose or cellulose acetate.

As regards the cellulose derivatives, differentiation is made between the two main groups, cellulose ethers, and cellulose esters. The various cellulose ethers, which are predominantly produced through etherification with halogenated hydrocarbons or epoxides, are mainly used as additives for viscosity stabilization or as water retention agents in construction materials, adhesives, cosmetics, detergents, paints, drilling fluids, or in the paper industry. In contrast, cellulose esters are predominantly thermoplastic molding compounds. As a starting material for cellulose esters, the cellulose can, because of its form with anhydroglucose units with three reactive hydroxy groups respectively, theoretically form unlimited numbers of esters of organic acids. The complex structure of the cellulose molecule, however, drastically restricts the number of technical possibilities. In applied technology, organic esters with a high degree of esterification are therefore only produced by a few aliphatic fatty acids with up to four carbon atoms. Of importance today are,





in particular, the organic cellulose esters of acetic acid, butyric acid, and propionic acid. For the esterification reaction, the corresponding anhydrides of these acids are usually applied.

With :	Cellulose acetate (CA)	$R =COCH_3$
	Cellulose propionate (CP)	$R =COCH_2CH_3$
	Cellulose butyrate (CB)	$R =CO - CH_2 - CH_2 - CH_3$

Mixed polymerizates such as cellulose acetate propionate (CAP) can also be formed. Furthermore, substantial quantities (3–35 wt%) of plasticizers are required to improve the thermoplastic melt processability and the resultant mechanical performance properties of the cellulose esters. Through the degree of esterification, the solubility and compatibility with plasticizers, coating resins, etc. are primarily determined and the mechanical properties thus ultimately also influenced [29, 30]. In addition to the quantity and type of plasticizer, the resultant property profile of the cellulose ester is determined particularly by the acid group, the number of ester groups (degree of substitution), and their distribution (tacticity). As a total of three hydroxy groups per glucose ring are available as functional groups, a maximum degree of substitution of three, that is, a cellulose triacetate, is possible. The term triacetate is, however, often applied to a substitution of the hydroxy groups of >92%, that is, of a degree of substitution of >2.75 [31–33].

Cellulose nitrate (often mistakenly referred to as nitrocellulose) is obtained from nitric acid and cellulose and is also known as, amongst others, celluloid (75% cellulose nitrate +25% camphor). As a cellulose ester it was the oldest thermoplastic material and was discovered in 1870 (Fig. 33).

# 3.5 Co-/Terpolymers

In representation of the extensive group of generally partially bio-based co- or terpolymers, the quantitatively most important types of these biopolymers are (co-) polyamides (see Sect. 3.2.5) and polyesters. In most cases, these polyesters are produced from a bivalent alcohol and a dicarboxylic acid or an ester produced therefrom.

For the alcohol component, propanediols (PDO) such as 2,2-dimethyl-1,3propanediol, 1,3-propanediol, or 1,2-propanediol as well as various butanediols (BDO) such as 2,3-butanediol or 1,4-butanediol are applied. Whilst in the so-designated biopolyesters the aliphatic alcohol component is usually of biogenic, that is, fermentative origin, for the second reaction component, petrochemical dicarboxylic acids such as terephthalic acid or dimethylterephthalate, succinic acid, or adipic acid are still preferred. In the future, more and more of these acids, particularly non-aromatic acids such as succinic acid, should become bio-based, that is, produced with biotechnology.

As these polyesters, depending on composition and raw material, also contain differing proportions of bio-based material components and, simultaneously, their biodegradability varies widely, no clear boundary can be defined for this family of polymers.

The group of best-known biodegradable polyesters includes polybutylene succinate (PBS). The degradable PBS is currently usually produced from petrochemical raw materials. If, however, a bio-based butanediol and bio-based succinic acid are applied as monomer components, the polycondensation results in a fully bio-based PBS. Other well-known degradable, aliphatic-aromatic terpolyesters include polybutylene adipate terephthalate (PBAT), formed from adipic acid, terephthalic acid and butanediol, polybutylene succinate adipate (PBSA) as a linear terpolyester from polybutylene succinate and polybutylene succinate adipate, that is, polymerized with succinic acid and adipic acid, and polybutylene succinate terephthalate (PBST). These degradable polyesters also serve as important blending components for many other biopolymers, in particular for starch and PLA blends.

In addition to these currently still predominantly petroleum-based, degradable polyesters, there are also various partially-durable, bio-based polyesters. The best-known durable biopolyesters are the partially bio-based polyethylene terephthalate (bio-PET) and polytrimethylene terephthalate (PTT). For PTT, the bio-based polyester component is biogenic 1,3-propanediol, whilst bio-PET is based, in addition to petrochemical phthalic acid, on monoethylene glycol (MEG) produced from bio-based ethanol.

# 3.6 Blends

Similar to the diverse material developments in conventional plastics over the last few decades, blending has led to the emergence of a number of new bioplastics with improved property profiles. However, homogeneous blends (homogeneous polymer alloys, homogeneous polymer mixtures), in which two or more blend components are thermodynamically-miscible as far as the molecular level, only occur when the blend components have very good compatibility. For biopolymers, however, homogeneous blends are rather the exception; morphological multiphase systems (heterogeneous blends) usually result. In contrast to the homogeneous blends (or copolymers), these heterogeneous blends usually demonstrate no uniform properties, that is, they usually have two identifiable glass transition or melting temperatures for the individual components (Fig. 34).



**Fig. 34** Section through a starch blend (discontinuous phase = thermoplastic starch) [2]

For the blending of biopolymers, biphasic blends (bi-blends or binary blends) are currently preferentially generated, that is, two different biopolymers are mixed. Work is being focused on the compatibility and the finest-possible dispersion or distribution of the different phases. As an example, for the hydrophobizing of a hydrophilic biopolymer, the continuous phase must be formed through the hydrophobic component. The procedural minimal realizable phase size for these heterogeneous blends is  $0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ .

In addition to the optimization of the blend morphology, suitable compatibilizers are usually applied to increase the compatibility of the blend components, which often have differing polarity. The compatibilizers favor accumulation at the interfaces of the participating polymers or even penetrate the components slightly. They increase the interface quality, that is, the adhesion between the different phases. Simultaneously, they reduce the surface tension and thus the particle size as well, as the coagulation of the dispersed phase.

Most biopolymer blends are based on thermoplastic starch, which is rendered hydrophobic through the addition of other biopolymers such as cellulose acetate, polycaprolactone, or other polyesters, and which exhibits a significantly higher ductility. Thermoplastic starch is therefore only processable for the formation of films through the compounding of other blend components. A further important group of biopolymer blends are mixtures based on the copolyester PBAT or PBS.

# 4 **Properties**

During the course of these development stages, various biopolymers and bioplastic material types based on these biopolymers have been developed which exhibit widely-differing property profiles. The range of bioplastics thereby ranges – similar

to conventional plastics – from less-expensive bioplastics which are produced in large quantities through to high-quality and higher-priced materials for technical applications.

The pyramids in Figs. 35, 36, and 37 compare the material performance of the most important bio-based and biodegradable bioplastics and show the range of materials now available.

Similar to conventional bulk plastics, economically-priced bioplastics are now available with prices of around  $\epsilon 2/kg$ . Bio-based polyamides, however, are higher-priced materials. The prices for bio-based polyamides are currently still 20–50% higher than the prices for conventional polyamides. These bio-based polyamide materials, however, partially offer innovative or specifically better property profiles. As regards drop-ins, such as bio-based PE or PET, the technical properties of the bioplastics are identical with those of their petrochemical equivalents. In terms of price they are, because of the currently modest production scales, approximately 20% more expensive than their petrochemical equivalents. Drop-ins can currently therefore only be marketed on the strength of their sustainability.

As regards the thermal properties, the biopolyamides are durable bioplastics with a higher thermal resistance; there are, however, currently no bioplastics which achieve the level of high-temperature-resistant conventional plastics such as PEEK (HDT/B =  $240^{\circ}$ C) or PPS (HDT/B =  $215^{\circ}$ C). It must, however, be noted that the



Fig. 35 Production capacities and prices for various bioplastics [7]



Fig. 36 Heat distortion temperature (HDT/B) for various bioplastics [7]



Fig. 37 Tensile modulus for various bioplastics [7]

developments in bioplastics until now have not been targeted at their use at high temperatures.

As regards the mechanical properties, bioplastics now also cover a greater range, but there is still need for further optimization. To optimize further the thermal and mechanical property profiles of bioplastics with regard to technical applications, the known methods used in conventional plastics, such as the production of specific blends, reinforcement with glass fibers or cross-linking, can and should be used.

# 5 Utilization of Residual Materials

The use of residual materials in the production of bioplastics or raw materials for bioplastics production is the subject of intensive research. Whilst the energetic recovery of residual materials such as lignin or bark as well as plant debris (bagasse, straw, hurds, etc.) or the use of these residues as a filler or reinforcement has been established, the use of lignocellulose as a polymer raw material for fermentation or polymerization has not yet advanced beyond theoretical status. Although there have been numerous scientific studies on this subject, as well as promising research approaches, most of the transformation processes have not yet achieved an economic status. The targeted cultivation of renewable raw materials such as starch or sugar, however, currently represents the most economical and land-efficient method for the provision of bio-based raw materials.

# References

- 1. Braun D (2013) Kleine Geschichte der Kunststoffe. Carl Hanser Verlag, Munich, S. 1-15
- 2. Endres H-J, Siebert-Raths A (2011) Engineering biopolymers. Carl Hanser Verlag, Munich
- 3. Chen P (2005) Molecular interfacial phenomena of polymers and biopolymers. Woodhead [u. a.], Cambridge
- Ehrenstein GW, Pongratz S (2013) Resistance and stability of polymers. Carl Hanser Verlag, Munich
- 5. Ramakrishna S, Huang Z-M, et al (2004) An introduction to biocomposites. Imperial College Press, London
- 6. Endres H-J, Koplin T, Habermann C (2012) Technology and nature combined. Kunststoffe International 6/2012
- Endres H-J, Jürgens F, Habermann C, Spierling S, Behnsen H, Schulz C (2012) Eine nachhaltige Alternative? Über Sinn und Unsinn des Einsatzes von Biokunststoffen; in: Kunststoffe 7/2015, S. 22–27
- Deutsche Norm (German Standard), DIN EN 13432. 2000. Anforderungen an die Verwertung von Verpackungen durch Kompostierung und biologischen Abbau. [Norm]. Beuth Verlag, Berlin
- Haldenwanger HHM, Göttner GH (1970) Biologiche Zerstörung der makromolekularen Werkstoffe. Chemie, Physik und Technologie der Kunststoffe in Einzeldarstellungen, Band 15. Berlin

- Kawai F (1995) Proposed mechanism for microbial degradation of polyacrylate. J Macromol Sci, Pure Appl Chem 32(4):835–838
- Owen S, Kawamura R, Sakota N (1995) Biodegradation of poly-D,L-lactic acid polyurethanes. J Macromol Sci, Pure Appl Chem 32(4):843–850
- Hocking P et al (2003) Enzymatic degradability of poly(beta-hydroxybutyrate) as a function of tacticity. Macromol Raprid Commun 15(6):447–452
- Iman SH, Greene RV, Zaidi BR (1999). Biopolymers, utilizing nature's advanced materials. In: Developed from a symposium at the Fifth Chemical Congress of North America, Cancun, Quintano Roo, Mexico, 1997 (ASC symposium series 723), Washington DC
- Endres H-J (1994) Herstellung und Eigenschaften biologisch auf- und abbaubarer Werkstoffe auf Basis von Polysacchariden. Dissertation Ruhr-University Bochum, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Bochum
- 15. Godwin H (1962) Half-life of radiocarbon. Nature 195:984
- 16. Finch CA (1992) Polyvinylalkohol Developments. Wiley, Chichester
- 17. Bastioli C (2005) Handbook of biodegradable polymers. Rapra Technology, Shrewsbury
- 18. Fritz H-G, Seidenstücker T, Endres H-J, et al (1994) Production of thermo-bioplastics and fibres based mainly on biological materials. European Commission, Directorate XII, Brussels
- Jacobsen S (2000) Darstellung von Polylactiden mittels reaktiver Extrusion (Dis.). [Hrsg.] Institut f
  ür Kunststofftechnologie Universit
  ät Stuttgart, Stuttgart
- 20. Kaplan DL (1998) Biopolymers from renewable resources. Springer, Berlin
- Endres H-J, Siebert-Raths A, Behnsen H, Schulz C (2016) Biopolymers facts and statistics. Hanover. ISSN 2363–8559
- 22. Endres H-J, Siebert-Raths A (2009) Technische Biopolymere. Carl Hanser Verlag, Munich
- Wolf O et al (2005) Techno-economic feasibility of largescale production of bio-based polymers in Europe. Technical Report EUR 22103 EN, Brussels
- Schroeter J, Endres H-J (1992) Eigenschaften thermoplastisch verarbeiteter reiner Kartoffelstärke. Kunststoffe. Yr. 82, Is.11, pp 1.086–1.089
- 25. Westermann K (Hrsg.) (1994) Verpackung aus nachwachsenden Rohstoffen. Vogel Buchverlag, Würzburg
- 26. Endres H-J, Kammerstetter H, Hobelsberger M (1994) Plastification behaviour of different native starches. Stärke/Starch 46, S. 474–480
- 27. Doi Y, Fukuda K (1994) Biodegradable plastics and polymers. In: Proceedings of the third international scientific workshop on biodegradable plastics and polymers, Osaka, Japan, November 9–11, Studies in polymer science, p 2
- 28. Seitz H (1979) Grundlegende Untersuchungen über den Einfluß einer chemischen Modifizierung auf bestimmte physikalische Eigenschaften von Zellglas als Verpackungsmittel unter besonderer Berücksichtigung polyfunktioneller Verbindungen. Dissertation University of Karlsruhe, Institute for Food Chemistry, Karlsruhe
- Weigel P, Bohn A (1997) Struktur Eigenschaftsbeziehungen von Celluloseblasfolien. Lenzinger Berichte. Is. 76, pp 119–125
- Weigel P, Fink H-P (1997) Verfahren zur Herstellung von Celluloseblasfolien. Lenzinger Berichte. Is. 76, pp 115–118
- 31. Osswald TA, Baur E, Brinkmann S et al (2006) International plastics handbook. Carl Hanser Verlag, Munich
- 32. Oberbach K (1996) Kunststoff Taschenbuch, 26th edn. Munich
- 33. N.N. 2000. Moderne Polymere Kohlenhydrate und Pflanzenöle als innovative Rohstoffe. Gülzower Fachgespräche, Vol. 16. Kassel, p 168. Available online at: http://www.fnr-server. de/ftp/pdf/literatur/pdf\_68gfg16\_polymere.pdf

# **Biotechnological and Biochemical Utilization of Lignin**



# **Dominik Rais and Susanne Zibek**

**Abstract** This chapter provides an overview of the biosynthesis and structure of lignin. Moreover, examples of the commercial use of lignin and its promising future implementation are briefly described. Many applications are still hampered by the properties of technical lignins. Thus, the major challenge is the conversion of lignins into suitable building blocks or aromatics in order to open up new avenues for the usage of this renewable raw material. This chapter focuses on details about natural lignin degradation by fungi and bacteria, which harbor potential tools for lignin degradation and modification, which might help to develop eco-efficient processes for lignin utilization.

Keywords Aromatics, Enzymes, Lignin, Lignin degradation, Lignin utilization

# Contents

1	Bios	ynthesis and Chemical Structure of Lignin	470
2	Tech	nical Lignins	473
3	Lign	in Applications	474
4	Lign	in Degradation in Nature	477
	4.1	Fungal Lignin Degradation	477
	4.2	Fungal Ligninolytic Enzymes	482
	4.3	Bacterial Lignin Degradation	496
	4.4	Bacterial Ligninolytic Enzymes	499
	4.5	Bacterial Catabolism of Lignin Degradation Intermediates	504
Re	References		

D. Rais

S. Zibek (🖂)

Fraunhofer Institute for Interfacial Engineering and Biotechnology, Stuttgart, Germany e-mail: susanne.zibek@igb.fraunhofer.de

IGVP, University Stuttgart, Stuttgart, Germany
### **1** Biosynthesis and Chemical Structure of Lignin

Detailed knowledge about the structure and biosynthesis of lignin is central for developing new strategies to degrade the complex lignin molecule and precisely modify its single components. Additionally, this information can help to develop lignin with specific characteristics by engineering plants.

The development of tracheids, and thereby water-connecting tissues, is considered to be a keystone process in the evolution of terrestrial plants. This process is associated with the development of the biopolymer lignin. Because of its hydrophobic nature, lignin makes the tracheids impermeable to water, which is essential for water transport. Furthermore, because of its complex structure, it stabilizes the aerial organs and enables erect-growth. Lignin was recently also found in red algae, assuming its original role in ancestors of higher plants and algae was the protection against microbial degradation or UV radiation [1–4].

Lignin is mainly composed of the monolignols sinapyl-alcohol, cumaryl-alcohol, and coniferyl-alcohol (see Fig. 1). Generally, lignins from gymnosperms contain mainly coniferyl units (>95%) with a minor amount of cumaryl units (<5%), whereas in angiosperms coniferyl, sinapyl, and marginally cumaryl units occur at 25–50%, 46–75%, and <8%, respectively. Lignins of grasses are also composed of all three components, but differ in higher portions of cumaryl units (up to 33%) [5, 7].

The phenylalanine-derived lignin precursors are synthesized in the cytoplasm and exported to the apoplast. The transport mechanism across the plasma membrane is still unknown. However, reaching the apoplast, the monolignols undergo single-electron oxidation and form reactive radical species. The radicalization process is most likely mediated by laccases and/or peroxidases (see Fig. 1) [8]. In



Fig. 1 Lignin synthesis in plants (modified after [5, 6])

this regard, just recently a triple knock-out of laccases in *Arabidopsis thaliana* showed an almost completely abolished lignin deposition in roots in vivo, hinting on the participation of laccases in lignin biosynthesis [9].

The lignin polymer is built by the crosslinking of the radical monolignols. Herein the combinatorial random coupling of the radical monomers is the widely accepted mechanism for the formation of lignin. In contrast, a protein-directed synthesis including dirigent proteins has also been hypothesized [10]. The model of directed polymerization of lignin is supported by some experimental findings. For instance, the specificity of a peroxidase for only one monolignol was shown, suggesting a possible regulation of the lignin composition by plants. Accordingly, experiments with knock-out and down-regulation of certain peroxidases resulted in an alteration of sinapyl or coniferyl unit content in lignin [11]. In contrast, a deletion of sinapyl or coniferyl alcohol-delivering enzymes resulted in lignins with high amounts of coniferyl or sinapyl units, contradicting a strict control of monolignol assembly [6]. Additionally, formation of a defined primary lignin structure mediated by protein templates was suggested [12]. This finding is under discussion as lignin shows no optical activity and genetic data are missing [6, 13]. A precise delivery of laccases to the secondary cell wall within the apoplast was shown recently [8]. This indicates a protein-directed synthesis of lignin, especially for the localization of polymerization. Despite that, the dirigent role of proteins within the selectivity for monolignols and building of determined bonds remains in doubt.

According to the random coupling hypothesis, the monomers are coupled either one by one or different oligomers are linked together at the same time, termed "endwise polymerization" and "bulk polymerization." Herein the availability of the monolignols may influence the prevalence of the two mechanisms. However, the nature of the monolignol probably exerts the most influence. Besides being reactive at the phenolic oxygen (hydroxyl group at the C4-position), the monolignol-derived radicals are reactive at the C1, 2, 3, 5, and at the  $\beta$ –C (see Fig. 2), although steric



Fig. 2 Cumaryl, coniferyl, and sinapyl alcohols with computed electron spin densities (modified with permission from [14], Copyright 2012, American Chemical Society)

hindrance may limit or prevent the reactivity in some of these sites [15]. Conferring to the highest computed electron spin density, the *p*-coumaryl radical in the C1-position has supposedly the highest reactivity, followed by the phenolic oxygen, C3,  $\beta$ –C, and C5. In coniferyl and sinapyl radicals, phenolic oxygen has the highest spin density succeeded by C1, C3,  $\beta$ –C, and C5. Nevertheless, C1-coupling occurs at low frequency in natural lignin and coupling at the methoxylated C-positions happens with an irrelevant frequency, maybe because of steric hindrance. Generally, the phenolic hydroxyl group and the  $\beta$ –C appear as the most likely coupling sites [14].

Coupling at the  $\beta$ -position is preferred for coniferyl and even more for sinapyl alcohol monomers. In dimerization reaction experiments, the coniferyl alcohol led to dimers with  $\beta$ - $\beta$ ,  $\beta$ -O-4 and  $\beta$ -5 linkages. The portion of the  $\beta$ -O-4 bond was less than one-third with coniferyl and only about 9% when sinapyl alcohol was used as substrate [16]. In contrast to dimerization, the oligomers are unable to couple only at the  $\beta$ -position during lignification. The cross-coupling of the monolignols coniferyl or sinapyl alcohol with a guaiacyl unit of the lignin polymer (where the  $\beta$ -C site is already coupled) gives two possible bonds:  $\beta$ -O-4- and  $\beta$ -5. Moreover, in coupling reactions of monolignols with a sinapyl unit (where the  $\beta$ -C site is already coupled) only a  $\beta$ -O-4 unit occurs (see Fig. 3b). This shows why  $\beta$ -ethers are formed more frequently in lignification than in monolignol dimerization experiments. Additionally, these findings explain why lignins with higher amounts of sinapyl monomers contain more  $\beta$ -ether bonds. In an approach of peroxidasemediated in vitro polymerization of coniferyl monomers, addition of sinapyl monomer to the reaction led to a switch from a bulk to an endwise mechanism [11]. The coupling of two lignin oligomers is uncommon in lignins with high sinapyl unit



**Fig. 3** (a) Prominent bonds in lignin (modified after [17, 18]). (b) Possible coupling site of incorporated guaiacyl (*left*) and sinapyl units (*right*). *Red arrow*, OH-group at the C-4-position; *blue arrow*, C-5-position (modified after [16] with permission from Springer)

Bond type	β04	β–5	β–1	β–β	5-5'-O-4	4-0-5 <sup>a</sup>	5-5 <sup>a</sup>
Beech	60.3	1.0	3.5	8.0	0.5	2	2
Spruce	44.7–49.4	10.6–13.1	1.1–2.6	1.6–5.8	2.0-3.8	6–7	7–9

 Table 1
 Major bond types in beech and spruce lignin<sup>a</sup> (%) [17, 20]

<sup>a</sup>Bond only indicated in [17]

content, but is often found in lignins with high coniferyl unit ratios, where, for example, 5–5 coupling occurs more often [5].

Lignin is a very complex molecule and the analysis of its structure and linkages is a considerable challenge, even with modern NMR methods. The most abundant linkage in lignin is the  $\beta$ -O-4 ether bond. However, the composition of the numerous bond types varies significantly between different plants [19]. The structure of the major bonds in lignin is illustrated in Fig. 3a. In Table 1 the occurrence of these bonds in beech and spruce lignin is shown, which represent hard and soft wood. The proportions of  $\beta$ -1 and  $\beta$ -ether linkages in beech lignin are considerably higher than those in spruce lignin, whereas the content of 5–5 and 4–O-5 linkages is lower. This means that spruce lignin is more condensed, resulting in lower solubility and degradability [17].

A better understanding of the lignin biosynthesis mechanism is important for the development of lignocellulose biomass-utilizing technologies [15]. Detailed knowledge about lignin synthesis pathways is essential for the engineering of plants with a modified lignin polymer structure. A less recalcitrant lignin makes lignocellulose biomass more accessible by treatment methods [21]. Moreover, the lignin structure may be designed in a way that makes lignin itself more suitable for fuel and chemical applications by enhancing its homogeneity and optimizing its chemical properties [22].

### 2 Technical Lignins

Here, a short overview of existing lignocellulose pretreatment processes and the resulting lignin types is given.

Kraft lignin (KL) and lignosulfonates are the most common commercially available technical lignins [23]. Both these lignins contain sulfur residues as a result of the underlying lignocellulose pretreatment processes [24]. Within the kraft process, biomass is cooked in the presence of sodium hydroxide and sodium sulfide and the lignin is degraded and solubilized in the alkali solution. In contrast, lignosulfonates are gained by cooking with sulfite, at which sulfonating, degrading, and solubilizing of the lignin occurs [25]. Additionally, the soda process and the organosolv process, both working without sulfur, are also described as main industrial lignocellulose pretreatment processes, although the latter is currently not operated on a commercial scale [26]. The soda process, but uses solely sodium

hydroxide [25, 27]. Within the organosolv process biomass is cooked in a mixture of organic solvents and water and the separation of lignin is performed via solubilization. Common solvents for this method are ethanol, formic acid, and acetic acid.

By means of soda and organosolv pulping processes sulfur-free lignins are obtained [24], which are in many respects superior to sulfur-containing lignins. Sulfur-free lignin has an advantage in environmental applications [23], can be heat-processed without odor release, and is preferred as raw material for several products [28]. For instance, in carbon fiber production, sulfur leads to inferior melt spinning characteristics [28, 29]. Sulfur-free lignin is, moreover, rather suitable as raw material for activated carbon and other aromatic added-value chemicals and does not cause air pollution problems [30].

Besides organosolv and soda pulping, sulfur-free lignin can be obtained by other processes such as steam explosion, ball milling, pyrolysis, and processing with ionic liquids, which have however not yet reached the marketplace [31]. Organosolv processes deliver lignin with the highest purity in the above-named processes [32]. Because of its relatively high homogeneity, purity, and reactivity, organosolv lignin may be the most promising technical lignin for further processing and direct applications [33]. Commercializing of sulfur-free lignins opens new potentials for utilizing lignin in value-added products [34].

Nevertheless, in spite of their lower homogeneity and purity, sulfur-containing lignins can be preferable in certain applications because of sulfur or their higher molecular weight. Thus, for example the addition of lignosulfonates in gypsum paste resulted in a better dispersibility, especially at higher molecular weights and sulfur content [35].

Summing up, the technical lignins vary strongly in their physical and chemical features. Therefore, a specific type of lignin has to be chosen depending on the particular application [36].

## **3** Lignin Applications

In this section an overview of current industrial lignin usage, details of the challenges in processing technical lignins, and an outlook on potential future applications are given. Thereby, biotechnological and chemical methods for processing lignin components are described.

The utilization of lignin in an economically viable manner is one of the most important tasks of lignocellulose biorefineries. Currently, only about 2% of the 50 million tons of lignin produced by the pulp and paper industry every year are used for industrial purposes, and the residual lignin is burned [18]. In most biorefinery concepts, which focused mainly on hydrolysis and sugar fermentation to ethanol or other fuels, lignin was also underutilized. Remarkably, the refineries produce 60% more lignin than necessary for their own power supply, resulting in a high amount of unused lignin [22]. However, a separation process for KL from pulp and paper mills, called lignoboost, was recently launched on an industrial scale in

Finland and the USA. Lignoboost is able to separate lignin efficiently with higher quality, meaning low ash contents. Traditional pulp mills can be transformed into combined biorefineries [37]. Consequently, new high value applications for lignin are needed [22].

A few industrial applications for lignin do already exist, such as the production of synthetic vanillin and dimethyl sulfoxide. However, lignin is mostly used for its chemical properties as electrolytic material, or advantage is taken of its polymeric structure. Thus, lignin is utilized as sequestrant, binder, dispersant, and emulsifier, or, to a lesser extent, used as a filler and in adhesives. For these types of applications, lignin is not modified or modified only slightly, and therefore used in its naturally-occurring structure [38]. A successful example for value-added commercializing of lignin is its processing by injection molding, extrusion, and compression molding, using polymeric lignin, wood meal, and additives such as flax fibers. The thermoplastic material named "arboform" can be used as shells for mobile phones or computers and in components of cars such as steering wheels [39, 40].

Moreover, the use of lignin as carbon fibers, polymeric modifiers, resins, and the expansion of lignin adhesives bears a high potential for a valorization of this raw material [41].

Numerous lignin-converting processes are still on the road toward commercialization. Perez-Cantu et al. were able to prepare an aerogel with lignin as the only phenolic component. Lignin was crosslinked with oligo (ethylene or propylene glycol)-diglycidyl ethers, which results in gels with promising properties for thermal insulation [42]. Engelmann and Ganster also used glycerol-diglycidyl ether for crosslinking low molecular weight fraction lignin. They produced solvent-free resins with lignin contents up to 50%. The lignin resins exhibited a better thermal stability than conventional resins made with pyrogallol [31].

Because of its properties, lignin may not be suitable for applications requiring thermal stability and melting processes, and therefore many studies were carried out on the incorporation of lignin into polymer blends with other synthetic or other bio-based polymers. For example, a combination of lignin and fish protein or wheat gluten was described [43]. Lignin could successfully be introduced in styrenebutadiene rubber as a lignin-layered double hydroxide (L-LDH). Mechanical analyses indicated that L-LDH/styrene-butadiene rubber was superior to LDH/styrenebutadiene rubber concerning elongation at break, modulus, tensile strength and hardness [44]. Recently, Spiridon et al. produced a polylactic acid material with an organosolv lignin content of 7%, which showed improved thermal stability and mechanical properties compared to neat polylactic acid [45]. Chung et al. were able to produce a lignin-g-poly(lactic acid) copolymer, which can additionally be blended with polylactic acid, leading to a material with UV-blocking properties and improved mechanical features. The polymer length could be influenced by an acetylation pretreatment of the lignin [46]. Although much research on transformation of lignin into chemicals, materials, and fuels was carried out, realization into a commercial process is still rare [22].

The most striking difficulties, which restrict the conversion of lignin into highvalue products, are the non-uniform structure, chemical reactivity, and impurities of technical lignins. The lignin polymers vary in their size, polymer composition, and degree of crosslinking, as well as in the abundance of functional groups, which results in non-uniform structures. This issue could be overcome by controlled depolymerization of the lignin, which can be performed chemically or by enzymatic pathways. Additionally, technical lignins often have different reactive groups, causing several diverse reactions. When technical lignins are used for polymer applications such as for producing resins, only one of these reactions might be desired and the other side reactions might hamper the polymerization process. Moreover, lignins are limited in chemical reactivity because of their small number of *ortho* and *para* reactive sites. Degradation of lignin might help to gain access to the reactive groups but this does not improve the general reactivity of lignin. The introduction of reactive sites into the lignin molecule might be another possibility to increase the reactivity of this inert molecule [25].

One feasible method for increasing the reactive sites of lignin, for instance, is the grafting of functional molecules onto lignin. An example for functionalization of lignin via hydroxyl groups is the esterification with oleic acid. Thereafter, it is possible to epoxidize the double bounds of the fatty acids followed by a ring-opening reaction to produce polyols. These building blocks, together with isocyanate prepolymers, were used to produce polyurethanes, showing advanced properties, and may be utilized as durable materials in the building and automotive industry [47].

Lignin can be functionalized chemically, but eco-efficient biotechnological approaches are also feasible. Some potential examples for a functionalization of lignin by ligninolytic enzymes are given here. Laccases are well-known to generate radicals and can be used to link phenolic compounds, such as vanillic acid diisocyanate or acrylamide, to the lignin polymer. Horseradish peroxidase can also be used in this way and lead to copolymers when incubated with straw pulp lignin and cresol. This process might replace the use of phenolic resins [48–50]. Other examples of enzymatic approaches with industrial lignins are the manufacturing of paints or polymer-template complexes and the optimization of chelating properties of lignin. For producing paints, including protective coatings, lignin is mixed with a dye or a pigment. There it reacts with a peroxidase or laccase and the process is stopped when the desired viscosity is reached. Polymer-template complexes are obtained by polymerization of a template (e.g., lignosulfonate) and a monomer through an enzyme (e.g., peroxidases). These complexes can be used for various applications as lightweight energy storage devices (e.g., rechargeable batteries). A polyphenol oxidase was used to improve the chelating capacity of acetosolv lignin. An increase of hydroxyl and carbonyl groups and an improvement of 110% in the chelating capacity were detected [49]. An interesting approach is the coating of materials such as starch-based films with laccase and lignin, which can be used as oxygen-scavenging active packaging for bread, cheese, meat, and various fruits. Alkali lignin, hydrolytic lignin, and organosolv lignin and lignosulfonates were tested. Organosolv lignin and lignosulfonates achieved the best results for oxygen-scavenging [51].

Additionally, lignin represents a promising renewable source of aromatic chemicals [52]. The most current commercial approaches utilize the lignin

macromolecule, whereas the main potential can be seen in the depolymerization of lignin into aromatics such as vanillin, phenol, toluene, and benzene. The degradation processes are still in the early stages of development. Approaching research aims at increasing yield and selectivity [53]. Besides the degradation processes, the methods for separating mixtures of lignin derived chemicals such as vanillin and syringaldehyde are challenging and still under investigation [54]. One successful approach of utilizing these mixtures directly was made by Fache et al. They functionalized a mix of vanillin, acetovanillon, vanillic acid, *p*hydroxybenzaldehyde, syringaldehyde, and acetosyringone by oxidation and subsequent glycidylation. The mixtures were polymerized and the epoxy resins obtained displayed remarkably good thermomechanical properties [55].

Together with chemical and physical methods (for further information see reviews [56–58]), there is an interest in eco-efficient biological methods for lignin degradation. For instance, biological processes could be used to generate aromatic chemicals from lignin. However, a deeper understanding of the natural degradation of lignin is needed to develop lignocellulosic biorefineries [52].

## 4 Lignin Degradation in Nature

In this section, details of fungal lignin degradation are described. First, the fungal degradation mechanisms are explained, including white-rot, brown-rot, and soft-rot decay. The ligninolytic enzymes participating in these processes, such as laccases, peroxidases, peroxygenases, as well as involved accessory enzymes, are also characterized. Second, the lignin-degrading strategies of bacteria are addressed, which were so far underestimated in their ligninolytic capacity. Bacteria degrade lignin to a far lesser extent compared to fungi. However, as their bioengineering potential is much higher, new methods to find lignolytic bacteria are of interest. Herein, some known lignolytic bacterial strains are described, although the enzymatic background is so far less clear. Potentially, DyP-type peroxidases or laccases could be engaged in the bacterial degradation of lignin.

## 4.1 Fungal Lignin Degradation

Lignocellulosic biomass is mainly degraded by particular fungi belonging to the basidiomycetes. These specialists can be divided into two main classes termed white-rot and brown-rot fungi [59]. Brown-rot fungi consume primarily carbohydrates, resulting in a brown dry rot of brittle consistency. In contrast, white-rot fungi degrade both lignin and carbohydrates and leave soft spongy debris of light appearance [60]. The wood-rotting fungi often co-exist in a similar ecological niche, which leads to several interactions. Synergistic interactions such as cooperative degradation of substrates are found [61, 62]. Synergetic effects in the

production of lignin modifying enzymes were observed when different white-rot fungi species were combined [63, 64]. However, these effects seem to be dependent on the used species, their interaction, and nutritional conditions and environmental factors [64]. The hindrance of further growth of other organisms by occupying a territory and antagonistic effects as nutrition competition can occur. Adverse interactions of fungi may lead to deadlock or replacement [65]. When wood composition and physical properties change during the decaying process, better adapted species replace the prior species [66]. Thus specific patterns of colonialization are found during the decay, partially depending on the wood type [66]. Soft rot fungi often appear as pioneers followed by white-rot and brown-rot fungi [67].

Despite their different decaying mechanisms, further data about nuclear and mitochondrial DNA prove a phylogenetical relation between white-rot and brown-rot fungi [68]. Consequently, the separation of white-rot and brown-rot into two classes is disputed, for the two species *Botryobasidium botryosum* (found in a genetic tree between Auriculariales and Dacrymycetes) and *Jaapia argillacea* (probably a sister group of the Gloeophyllales) as these combine features of both categories (see Fig. 4). Analysis of the genomic sequences showed that both lack class II peroxidases and possess reducing polyketide synthase genes, both typical of brown-rot fungi. However, they are closely related to the white-rot fungus *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* and both strains were able to degrade all polymeric components of wood. Moreover, genes coding for cellobiohydrolases were present, which is characteristic of white-rot fungi [70]. By an investigation of 31 fungal genomes it was suggested that the ancestor of all Agaricomycetes was a white-rot



Fig. 4 Overview of Dicarya fungi and illustration of the relationship between white-rot and brown-rot fungi (modified after [69])

fungus owning class II peroxidases, DyP-type peroxidases, and  $H_2O_2$ -supplying enzymes. Thus, it was assumed that on the one hand, an expansion of class II peroxidase genes leads to the white-rot orders *Auriculariales*, *Hymenochaetales*, *Corticiales*, *Russulales*, and *Polyporales*. On the other hand, a parallel decline of class II peroxidases was suggested, finally resulting in the brown-rot fungi *Dacryopinax* sp., *Gloeophyllum trabeum*, the Boletales, and the brown-rot species inside the Polyporales (Fig. 4).

By molecular clock analyses the origin of fungal lignin degradation could be dated to the late Carboniferous period. Remarkably, coal formation, which is mainly caused by lignin burial, has strongly decreased since this period. Accordingly, a correlation of both these events was hypothesized [69].

The woody plant cell walls are structured in different layers. The cells themselves are linked by the middle lamella, which possesses the highest concentration of lignin and pectins and builds the outer layer of the cell wall [71]. Then, from the outside to the inside an S1 layer, a thick S2 layer, a thin inner S3 layer, and a bumpy layer consisting of aromatic precursor molecules are attached to the middle lamella. Therein the lignin content decreases in the same order (see Fig. 5) [73].

Rotting fungi colonialize deadwood through hyphal growth. The accession and spreading is enabled by the organization of the tracheids and vessels in the axial direction and in the radial orientation of the xylem ray parenchyma. The joining cells are invaded either by pit apertures or directly through penetration of the cell wall [72].

As already described, there are three modes of lignocellulose degradation: soft rot, brown-rot, and white-rot. White-rot fungi can be further divided on the basis of two types of decay. Some white-rot species consume lignin and structural carbohydrates simultaneously, whereas others selectively degrade lignin and



**Fig. 5** Modes of fungal wood decay (modified after [72] with permission from Elsevier, Copyright 2007 The British Mycological Society, published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved)

hemicellulose first [74]. These four types of fungal wood decay are illustrated schematically in Fig. 5. The species *Fomitopsis pinicol* (Polyporales) is an example of brown-rot decay. It starts degradation by secreting low molecular weight substances, which diffuse into the S3 layer of the cell wall. At a later stage, enzymes are involved in the excessive breakdown of hemicellulose and cellulose in the whole secondary wall, whereon the cells contract, resulting in numerous cracks in the cell walls. However, the S3 layer stays intact throughout the whole process and a skeleton of modified lignin is preserved. At an early stage of soft-rot decay by *Kretzschmaria deusta* (Ascomycota) the hyphae penetrate the S2 layer. There they branch and grow parallel to the cellulose microfibrils. At the end of the decay process the entire secondary cell wall is perforated by holes with conically formed ends and therefore almost completely broken down. Only the guaiacyl-rich middle lamella remains intact. Fomes fomentarius (Polyporales) is a white-rot fungus that causes simultaneous rot. Here, degradation of the cell wall close to the hyphae takes place first. Then hyphae enter the cell wall at right angles to the cell axis. The cell wall is degraded from the lumen toward the outside. Later, the cell wall becomes thinner and holes appear between neighboring cells. At an advanced stage the degradation process is limited by the strong lignified middle lamella. In the other mode of white-rot decay, the so-called selective delignification the middle lamella is also attacked. Herein, low molecular weight substances start the decaying process when diffusing from the hyphae into the secondary cell wall. The degradation of hemicellulose and lignin occurs within the secondary cell wall and even in the middle lamella. In the later stages, the favored degradation of pectin and lignin leads to separation of cells from each other. The compound cellulose is not degraded. This kind of decay is, for example, found in Heterobasidion annosum [72], belonging to the Russulales.

White-rot fungi are of special interest for the biotechnological industry because of their ligninolytic enzymes, which could be used in several industrial processes, such as pulp bleaching and decolorization of dyes in waste water [75]. It was shown that the production of ligninolytic enzymes takes place within the secondary metabolism and depends mainly on the limitation of carbon or nitrogen. However, the expression patterns can differ according to the microorganism and the type of enzyme [76]. Besides that, the gene regulation of these enzymes depends on several factors, such as the presence of xenobiotics, the temperature, day length, or metal ion concentration. A better understanding of these molecular mechanisms is needed to develop an efficient production process for ligninolytic enzymes [75].

To degrade lignin, white-rot fungi secrete class II peroxidases, dye-decolorizing peroxidases (DyP-type peroxidases), laccases, and several accessory enzymes such as aryl alcohol oxidases and glyoxal oxidases [77, 78]. In addition, cellobiohydrolases and lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases for the depolymerization of crystalline cellulose and other carbohydrate active enzymes are found [77]. Lignin peroxidases, manganese peroxidase, versatile peroxidases (class II peroxidases), and laccases have been investigated and stated to be involved in lignin degradation [79]. White-rot fungi secrete one or more of these ligninolytic enzymes [80]. More recently, two additional heme peroxidase families, the dye

decolorizing peroxidases (DyPs) and the aromatic peroxygenases, were discovered in the secretome of fungi. The latter catalyze oxyfunctionalization reactions, such as epoxidations or the hydroxylation of aromatic rings and alkyl chains. Furthermore, oxidations of alcohols, aldehydes, and phenols and cleavage of ether bonds were observed. DyPs catalyze the oxidation of aromatics and recalcitrant dyes [79]. The physiological role of these enzymes is not yet fully understood, although the catalytic reactions of DyPs and aromatic peroxygenases seem to be linked to the fungal conversion of lignin [81]. By transcriptome analyses the occurrence of peroxidase expression in different forest soils (oak, beech, spruce, aspen, and sugar maple) was studied. Class II peroxidases were detected in 90% of the tested samples and aromatic peroxygenases were identified in 85%. DyPs were found in 55% of the soil samples. All the peroxidase classes were found in all forest types, with the exception of DyPs which were absent in spruce. Interestingly, within the group of the class II peroxidases, numerous manganese peroxidases but no typical lignin peroxidases or versatile peroxidases were found [79]. Lignin peroxidases were the first ligninolytic enzymes to be discovered, but their essential role in lignin degradation is uncertain as they are not found in all ligninolytic fungi [82]. Additionally, it has been suggested that DyPs may substitute the rarely-found lignin peroxidases in the biodegradation process of non-polyporous white-rot fungi [83].

Non-enzymatic processes are less widespread in white-rot fungi, whereas hydroxyl radicals generated by the Fenton reaction seem to play a major role in the initial stages of polysaccharide degradation in brown-rot fungi. In the Fenton reaction, hydrogen peroxide is reduced by  $Fe^{2+}$ , resulting in  $Fe^{3+}$ , a hydroxyl ion, and a hydroxyl radical. After the chemical attack, an enzymatic decomposition of pectin and hemicelluloses, and further degradation of cellulose, take place. In contrast to white-rot fungi, the genome of the brown-rot type mostly does not contain genes of cellobiohydrolases, which are important factors in converting crystalline cellulose. In the course of the brown-rot degrading process, the lignin molecule itself is also affected, but is modified rather than degraded [9, 70, 77, 84].

The soft-rot fungi, which are of minor importance, are similar to brown-rot fungi in terms of the chemical processes during the decay [59]. In wet environments soft brownish debris is left by these organisms, which belong primarily to the Ascomycota. In addition, some basidiomycetes and bacteria may cause soft rot as well [60, 85]. Soft rot frequently occurs in environments with extreme conditions, such as high pH and low moisture, where white-rot and brown-rot fungi would be unable to survive [86].

In view of the remarkable differences in the expression pattern of ligninolytic enzymes between diverse fungi [87], all so far well-known enzymes of several species are described below. The diffusion of enzymes into the lignin molecule is limited. Thus a direct attack on lignin is questioned. Accordingly, it was suggested that low molecular weight compounds are required to initiate the oxidative attack on lignin [88]. Thus, besides the features of the ligninolytic enzymes, the mediation of lignin degradation by mediator molecules, as well as other assisting mechanisms, has been considered (see Fig. 6).



**Fig. 6** Lignin degradation mechanism in fungal species. *Lac* laccase, *MnP* manganese peroxidase, *VP* versatile peroxidase, *LiP* lignin peroxidase, *DyP* DyP-type peroxidase, *APO* aromatic peroxigenase, *CDH* cellobiose dehydrogenase, *GLX* glyoxal oxidase, *AAO* arylalcohol oxidase, *AAD* aryl aldehyde/aryl alcohol dehydrogenase,  $Mn^{3+}$ -chelators: for example, oxalate; mediator molecules: *PR* phenolic radical, *FR* fatty acid radical, *VA* veratryl alcohol; lignin degradation products: (1) β-aryl-ether model compound, (2) *p*-anisaldehyde, (3) glycolaldehyde, (4) *p*-methoxybenzy alcohol, (5) glyoxal, (6) glyoxylic acid (modified after [60, 88–92])

Details about the ligninolytic enzyme laccases and class II peroxidases are presented in the following section. Facts about accessory enzymes which provide  $H_2O_2$  are specified. Additionally, new enzyme classes, the DyP-type peroxidases and peroxygenases, are described, which are associated with lignin degradation.

## 4.2 Fungal Ligninolytic Enzymes

Herein, fungal enzymes associated with lignin degradation and their mechanisms are described. For visualizing the interaction and function of the enzymes described below, please see Fig. 6.

#### 4.2.1 Laccases

The first laccase was discovered in 1883 in exudates of the Japanese lacquer tree *Rhus vernicifera*. Since that time, laccases have also been identified in numerous basidiomycetes and ascomycetes [93]. Meanwhile, laccases have been isolated from bacteria and even insects and thus occur almost everywhere. Laccases are the largest group within the so-called multi-copper oxidase enzymes [94]. An exact definition of laccases has not been given. Generally, multi-copper oxidases are considered to be laccases if at least some phenol oxidase activity can be measured and the copper ions are present in the correspondent position [95].

The physiological role of laccases is diverse. For example, laccases catalyze the biosynthesis of a spore pigment in the bacterium *B. subtilis* and they are involved in the production of the external cuticle of insects. The biological functions of laccases in plants and fungi apparently include the biosynthesis and degradation of lignin [95]. Moreover, fungal laccases take part in stress defense, morphogenesis, plant pathogen/host interaction, and the detoxification of phenol compounds [93, 96]. Fungal laccases are mostly extracellular monomeric proteins of about 60–70 kDa [94].

Characteristically, the laccases contain four copper ions: one of type-1 (Cu1), one of type-2 (Cu2), and two of type-3 (Cu3). The two Cu3 ions and the Cu2 ion are arranged in a triangle and form the trinuclear copper cluster (TNC) (see Fig. 7)



[94]. A strong absorption at about 600 nm is caused by the Cu1 copper and results in a characteristic blue color of these enzymes [94]. Laccases catalyze the following overall reaction [96]:

 $4 \ benzenediols + O_2 \rightarrow 4 \ benzos emiquinones + 2 \ H_2O$ 

In the first step the substrate donates four electron equivalents (4e<sup>-</sup>) and in the native intermediate all four copper ions Cu(II) are reduced to Cu(I). The electrons enter thorough the Cu1(T1) site and are transferred to the Cu2(T2) and the two Cu3 (T3) (TNC). The single steps of the Cu(II) reduction are not fully understood. The TNC is afterward fully reduced, which is required for the following reaction with dioxygen [97]. The dissociation of two water molecules during this reducing step is suggested [94]. The dioxygen is then reduced successively in two two-electron transfer steps [98]. The TNC reacts with dioxygen and forms a peroxide intermediate with the Cu2 and one of the two Cu3 ions. In this step, two electrons are transferred from Cu2 and the  $\beta$ -Cu3 copper on the dioxygen molecule.

An aspartic acid residue (D94), which is close to the  $\beta$ -Cu3 and Cu2 sites seems to support the reaction of the dioxygens with the Cu2 and the  $\beta$ -Cu3 by providing a negative charge. Furthermore the  $\beta$ -Cu3, in comparison to the  $\alpha$ -Cu3, lies near a glutamic acid residue. Next, the bond between the dioxygen is cleaved. The reaction is supported by the glutamic acid residue providing a proton. Finally, the enzyme is in the native intermediate state (NI), which is oxidized completely and is catalytically relevant [97]. In the presence of a substrate the catalytic cycle starts again. If not enough substrate equivalents are available, a resting state can occur as well [94].

The laccases possess a broad substrate range. They can directly oxidize polyphenols, diphenols, aminophenols, polyamines, and aryl diamines. They are also able to catalyze the oxidation of inorganic ions [94]. However, most of the laccases are unable to oxidize non-phenolic compounds directly because of their high redox potentials above 1.3 V vs "normal hydrogen electrode" (NHE), whereas the laccases' redox potentials are below 0.8 V [99]. Thus, the participation of laccases in lignin degradation of white-rot fungi was questioned, as more than 80% of the total lignin consists of non-phenolic units. Several discoveries, however, affirmed laccases as important participants of the lignin-degrading system of fungi. Laccases were shown to be able to degrade phenolic lignin substructure model compounds. Moreover, the addition of redox mediators enables laccases to oxidize non-phenolic molecules. Numerous fungal strains do not possess lignin and manganese peroxidases but are nevertheless able to degrade lignin. In addition, laccase-deficient mutant strains were inhibited in lignin degradation [100].

Redox mediators are small molecules which act as electron shuttles. Thus, bulky substrates, which cannot be oxidized directly because of steric hindrances, can be converted as well. Furthermore, the different mechanism of the mediator system allows an oxidation of high redox potential molecules [99]. Redox mediators are either artificial molecules such as 2,2'-azino-di-(3-ethylbenzthiazolin-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS) or 1-hydroxybenzotriazol (HOBt) or can be natural mediators. The

latter include phenolic molecules derived from the fungal or plant secondary metabolism or lignin degradation products. The effect of lignin-degrading products as mediator is of course difficult to prove when lignin at the same time is used as substrate [100]. However, the molecules syringaldehyde, acetosyringone, vanillin, acetovanillone, methyl vanillate, and *p*-coumaric acid enabled the degradation of recalcitrant dyes by laccase [99].

For the oxidation of non-phenolic substrates by laccase-mediator systems, two different mechanisms are proposed. Although ABTS reacts through an electron transfer (ET) route, the mediator HOBt follows a hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) mechanism. Here, a hydrogen atom is subtracted from the -N-OH mediator and an  $-N-O\cdot$  radical is formed [94]. For natural phenolic mediators an analogous mechanism is suggested, which was investigated by using phenol red as model substrate for phenolic compounds. Herein, a hydrogen atom is abstracted and a phenoxyl radical (PhO·) is generated.

Comparing natural with artificial mediators, inactivation of the laccase was reduced using natural mediators, but pulp bleaching was more efficient with the HOBt mediator system [99]. However, in consideration of the natural mediators, laccases gain prominence in the fungal lignin degradation mechanism. Moreover, these mediators are of interest for industrial processes as they can be gained easily from lignocellulose material and are also environmentally friendly [99].

The yellow laccases are an interesting exception within the laccases. These laccases do not show the typical blue color, which is caused by another adsorption spectrum of the Cu1 atom. An explanation for the color shift in earlier reports was the incorporation of a lignin-derived mediator in the catalytic center, whereas more recently a variation of the coordinating sphere of Cu1 was postulated [101]. As yellow laccases have a higher redox potential and were shown to oxidize non-phenolic compounds without mediator, they have a high potential to perform several industrial applications [102].

#### 4.2.2 Class II Peroxidases

Peroxidases can generally be described as a group of enzymes that reduce peroxide and oxidize numerous substrates [103]. Genes of heme peroxidases have been identified in nearly all kingdoms of life. They used to be divided into two main superfamilies. The so-called animal peroxidases (recently termed peroxidasecyclooxygenases) are primarily found in animals, fungi, and bacteria. The plant peroxidases (now peroxidase-catalase superfamily) mainly occur in bacteria, fungi, and plants (see Fig. 8) [104, 105].

The plant peroxidases superfamily is again subdivided into different classes. Class I includes peroxidases, which are located in eukaryotic organelles, catalase-peroxidases, or bacterial peroxidases. Class III contains the secreted plant heme peroxidases [104, 106]. Prominent examples for class I are the cytochrome c peroxidase and class III includes the horseradish peroxidase [107]. Class II contains the secreted fungal heme peroxidases. These peroxidases are found solely in fungi,

heme peroxidases								
super- family	peroxidase–catalase	peroxidase–chlorite- dismutase	peroxidase– peroxygenase	peroxidase– cyclooxygenase				
subfamily	Class II peroxidases	Dyp-type peroxidases	Aromatic peroxygenases					

Fig. 8 Superfamilies of heme peroxidases and selected subfamilies, which are associated with lignin degradation (according to [104])

more precisely in Agaricomycetes (formerly homobasidiomycetes) [103, 108]. Class II mainly consists of the enzyme type manganese peroxidase (MnP), lignin peroxidase (LiP), and versatile peroxidase (VP) [109].

LiP and MnP were discovered in the 1980s and, because of their high redox potential, described as true ligninases. Later the versatile peroxidases, an additional type of class II peroxidases, were discovered. The versatile peroxidases were shown to combine the catalytic features of MnP and LiP, oxidizing Mn<sup>2+</sup> and veratryl alcohol [60]. These enzymes are classified by molecular models, including data of LiP, VP, and MnP from Phanerochaete chryosporium and Pleurotus eryngii. There is an exposed tryptophan residue described, which is typical for LiP. Furthermore, a putative Mn<sup>2+</sup>-oxidation site was found in MnP. Despite this, there are also class II peroxidases known, which lack both of these sites [110]. These so-called generic peroxidases have a low redox potential and are therefore unlikely to participate in lignin degradation [70, 111]. In a study which included 10 genomes of Polyporales, a reconstruction of the ancestral state showed that a generic peroxidase appears to have evolved an Mn<sup>2+</sup>-oxidation site, which implies that this gene could be the ancestor of all the class II lignin degrading peroxidases. Furthermore, the development of an exposed tryptophan site supposedly led to the first versatile peroxidase. It was also suggested that the loss of  $Mn^{2+}$ -oxidation by an early versatile peroxidase is the origin of all lignin peroxidases (LiP) [112]. The three ligninolytic class II enzymes-manganese, lignin, and versatile peroxidase-are specified below.

#### Manganese Peroxidases

Manganese peroxidases are the most widespread lignin-modifying peroxidases and are secreted by nearly all wood-colonializing fungi [91]. Manganese peroxidases (MnP) are monomeric glycosylated enzymes with a molecular mass of about 30–60 kDa and contain one molecule of heme as iron protoporphyrin XI [88]. The pH optimum of these enzymes lies between 2.5 and 6.8 and the redox potential of MnP is about 1.0–1.2 V (vs normal hydrogen electrode) [88, 113]. MnP catalyzes the following overall reaction:

$$2 \operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{II}) + 2\mathrm{H}^+ + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_2 \rightarrow 2 \operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{III}) + 2 \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$$

Interestingly, MnP is the only heme peroxidase, which catalyzes a one-electron  $Mn^{2+}$ -oxidation [91]. The  $Mn^{2+}$  ion is oxidized at a binding site close to the heme cofactor. Three ambient acid residues mediate the binding of  $Mn^{2+}$  by their carboxylates, facilitating a direct transfer of electrons to one heme propionate side chain [60].

The catalytic cycle of MnP starts by the formation of an iron–peroxide complex with hydrogen peroxide binding at the native ferric enzyme. For the cleavage of the O–O bond of the hydrogen peroxide, two electrons are essential. The heme transfers these two electrons, which results in the formation of a Fe<sup>4+</sup>-oxo-porphyrin-radical complex, called compound I. After receiving two electrons, the O–O-bond is cleaved heterolytically and one molecule of water is excluded. Compound I is afterward reduced to compound II by Mn(II). Compound II is likewise reduced by a second Mn(II), resulting in the generation of another molecule of water and the native enzyme. Compound II is dependent on Mn(II) as electron donor, whereas compound I can in turn be reduced by alternative electron donors such as phenolic compounds [93, 114] (see Fig. 9).

 $Mn^{3+}$  is a strong diffusible oxidizer, but is not stable under aqueous conditions. However, chelators such as oxalate and malonate can stabilize  $Mn^{3+}$  against dissociation to  $Mn^{2+}$  and insoluble  $Mn^{4+}$ . The complexed Mn(III) can diffuse into the lignin molecule, where it acts as reactive redox-mediator [76, 82]. The complexing of the chelates, however, lowers the electron potential of  $Mn^{3+}$ , resulting in a mild oxidant. MnP is primarily considered to be an enzyme that oxidizes phenolic compounds because the  $Mn^{3+}$ -complex oxidizes monomeric and dimeric phenols as well as phenolic lignin model substances. In contrast, it cannot directly attack non-phenolic compounds of lignin. However, it was supposed that MnP is able to oxidize non-phenolic lignin structures in the presence of additional secondary mediators [76, 114]. MnP-derived  $Mn^{3+}$  has been shown to oxidize thiols and saturated fatty acids to form secondary mediators such as thiyl or lipid radicals [114, 115].



Furthermore, another possible oxidation mechanism of non-phenolic lignin compounds with participation of MnP was suggested. Cellobiose dehydrogenase-generated OH radicals react with non-phenolic lignin structures, thereby introducing hydroxyl groups and enabling Mn<sup>3+</sup>-chelates to perform a further oxidation step [116].

### Lignin Peroxidases

Lignin peroxidases (LiP) are similar to MnP monomeric glycosylated enzymes. Their molecular mass ranges between 35 and 55 kDa and they contain one molecule of heme as iron protoporphyrin XI [85]. Their pH optimum is quite low and ranges from 1 to 5. The redox potential of LiP is remarkably high at about 1.4–1.5 V [85, 110]. The overall reaction of LiP is represented by the following equation [93]:

$$\begin{array}{l} 1,2\text{-bis}(3,4\text{-dimethoxyphenyl}) \text{ propane-}1,3\text{-diol}+H_2O_2\\ \rightarrow 3,4\text{-dimethoxybenzaldehyde}\\ +1\text{-}(3,4\text{-dimethoxyphenyl})\text{ethane-}1,2\text{-diol}+H_2O\end{array}$$

Herein, the substrate is a non-phenolic lignin model dimer [117]. The favored substrate for LiP, though, is the non-phenolic monomer veratryl alcohol, whose conversion is used in photometric assays for determination of LiP enzyme activity [96].

The first reaction of the catalytic cycle is the two-electron oxidation of the native ferric enzyme, which results in compound I (see Fig. 10). There, the iron appears as Fe(IV) and a free radical exists on the tetrapyrrole ring. Herein, hydrogen peroxide is reduced and cleaved at the O–O bond and a molecule H<sub>2</sub>O is released. Instead of a radical in the tetrapyrrole ring, a tryptophan 171 radical state was suggested for



compound I (see below) [96]. Next, two successive one-electron transfer steps of compound I from an electron donating substrate (e.g., veratryl alcohol) take place [91]. First, compound I oxidizes a donor substrate by taking one electron and releases a free-radical substrate and compound II, which still contains an Fe (IV) but no tetrapyrrole radical. Then compound II oxidizes a second donor molecule and again a free-radical substrate is formed. LiP is returned to the native ferric oxidation state, which completes the catalytic cycle [82, 91]. In the absence of an electron donor substrate, compound II can react with  $H_2O_2$ , which results in a catalytically inactivate state of LiP (compound III). This ferric-superoxo form can be reset to the native form by oxidation with a veratryl alcohol radical cation or by spontaneous auto oxidation [76]. The oxidation of phenolic compounds by LiP is associated with an assimilation of compound III and thus an inactivation of LiP, because phenolic compounds are unable to reduce compound III to the native state [96].

Although their catalytic cycle is similar to other peroxidases, LiP demonstrates unique features in oxidizing high-redox potential substrates. Structural aspects that distinguish LiP and other peroxidases were found by crystal structure analysis. One of the nitrogen atoms of the proximal histidine residue (see Fig. 12b) forms a hydrogen bond with the iron of heme peroxidases. In LiP this histidine is quite distant from the heme iron, resulting in a significantly longer hydrogen bond. Thereby the electron deficiency of the heme iron is increased, which leads to the higher redox potential of the oxo-ferryl complex [60, 76].

Another unique structural property of LiP is the exposed tryptophan residue (W171), which seems to play a central role in the oxidation of veratryl alcohol and other non-phenolic substrates [115]. The role of the tryptophan residue in veratryl alcohol oxidation was revealed by its substitution with Phe or Ser. The mutant showed no essential residual activity toward veratryl alcohol, whereas unaltered activity with two artificial dye substrates was detected. In addition, a tryptophan residue, which was introduced into a manganese peroxidase, located equivalent to the 171 position of LiP, resulted in an MnP with an oxidation activity for non-phenolic aromatics [121]. Through so-called long-range electron transfer, which is mediated by the exposed tryptophan at the protein surface, even bulky substrates such as lignin can be oxidized directly [76].

Nevertheless, the oxidation efficiency of LiP decreases significantly as the size of the lignin structure increases. For instance, the catalytic efficiency for a lignin model trimer was only around 4% compared to the activity against a monomeric lignin model compound. Synthetic lignins, which consist of about 20 subunits, were still oxidized, but the presence of veratryl alcohol was required [82]. Veratryl alcohol is secreted by ligninolytic fungi together with LiP and its role in the lignin degradation by LiP has been discussed [96]. Regarding the low efficiency of direct LiP attack on large lignin at distant locations. However, the stability of the VA radical is still disputed. Alternatively, VA could be necessary for reducing LiP during slow cleavage processes of bulky lignin structures. Thereby, VA helps rescue LiP from inactivation by avoiding too long phases in an oxidized state.

Furthermore, compound II is not as reactive as compound I and only the latter might be involved in oxidizing methoxylated lignin structures. Veratryl alcohol could be essential to reduce compound II and complete the catalytic cycle. If VA is not a diffusible mediator, the physiological role of LiP may be restricted to the oxidation of smaller lignin breakdown products released by other mechanisms, or their site of action remains solely at the surface of the plant cell walls [82].

#### Versatile Peroxidase

Versatile peroxidases share typical features of the LiP and MnP, showing a hybrid catalytic function. Consequently, they can directly oxidize  $Mn^{2+}$  as well as high redox potential aromatic compounds, including both phenolic and non-phenolic lignin models. Interestingly, different pH optima for  $Mn^{2+}$  (pH 5.0) and aromatic substances (pH 3.0) were observed [76]. VP not only combines the substrate spectrum of LiP and MnP, but actually oxidizes reactive black 5. This reactive dye can neither be oxidized by Mn<sup>3+</sup> tartrate, because of its high redox potential, nor by LiP (without VA) because of a rapid inactivation of LiP [122]. Versatile peroxidases (VP) are known to possess an  $Mn^{2+}$ -oxidation site and a tryptophan residue for the oxidation of high redox potential compounds via long-range electron transfer. Moreover, an additional oxidation site for low redox potential substrates (0.6-0.8 V) was described for VP. This site is located at the main heme-access channel [123]. The long-range electron pathway of VP is comparable to the pathway found in LiP, but the tryptophan (W164) occurs as a neutral radical. VP show a tenfold lower catalytic efficiency for veratryl alcohol compared to LiP, but act on Mn<sup>2+</sup> as efficiently as MnP [91]. The redox potential for VP was determined to be around 1.4–1.5 V, which is equal to LiP [113].

Versatile peroxidases have unique catalytic features, including the oxidation of Mn<sup>2+</sup>, veratryl alcohol, phenolic and non-phenolic compounds, and high molecular weight compounds, such as dyes (without Mn<sup>2+</sup>-mediation).Therefore, versatile peroxidases are the most interesting candidates for biotechnological applications amongst basidiomycetes peroxidases [88]. However, the commercial application of VP, and other ligninolytic peroxidases (e.g., in a biocatalytic process for lignin depolymerization), is mainly hampered by their limited availability in large quantities [88, 124].

#### 4.2.3 Aromatic Peroxigenases and DyP-Type Peroxidases Subfamily D

In recent years, two other heme peroxidase families, secreted by saprobic basidiomycetes, have come into focus: The aromatic peroxygenases (APO) and the dye-decolorizing peroxidases (DyP-type peroxidases, DyPs). Lately, a new phylogenetic nomenclature has been suggested. According to Zamocky et al., the DyPs cluster with chlorite dismutases, sharing a common heme binding scaffold, were classified as a peroxidase–chlorite dismutase superfamily [104]. The APO and the chloroperoxidases (CfuCPO) represent the peroxidase-peroxygenase superfamily [125] (see Fig. 8).

CfuCPO was discovered in the 1960s and oxidizes halides such as Cl- to HOCl. These molecules are, in turn, able to halogenate organic molecules. CfuCPO shows a limited peroxygenase activity with indole or *p*-xylene, but does not act on unactivated carbons, in contrast to APO [126]. The latter catalyze a broad range of reactions such as epoxidations, hydroxylation of aromatic rings and alkyl chains, and ether cleavages, as well as alcohol, aldehyde, and phenol oxidations under consumption of hydrogen peroxide [79]. Following the discovery of these heme thiolate peroxidases, it was obvious that they differ from all so far known peroxidases and are a combination of "classical" heme peroxidases and cytochrome P450 monooxygenases [104].

The first dye-decolorizing peroxidase (DyPs) was discovered in 1995 in the fungus Geotrichum candidum by screening for organisms able to decolorize synthetic dyes [125]. DyPs are abundant in many bacterial phyla, in fungi, and, albeit less widespread, in archaea. They can be divided into subfamilies A, B, C, and D [127]. The ancestor of the peroxidase-chlorite dismutase superfamily was most likely a member of the DyP-subfamily A. DyPs probably evolved in thermophilic facultatively anaerobic Firmicutes, which are believed to be of very old origin. One branch that arose from the DyP A group is the subfamilies DyP C and D, whereas a second branch led to the subfamilies of the shortened DyP B and probably further to subfamilies of the chlorite dismutases [104]. However, the hypothesis of a common ancestor for DyPs and chlorite dismutases is disputed by Sugano and Yoshida [128]. DvP C and D cluster quite closely, although DvP C peroxidases are found in proteo-, actino-, and cyanobacteria, and DyP D peroxidases are only present in fungi. An explanation is the development of the DyP D clade by horizontal gene transfer from cyanobacterial ancestors on dikarya fungi. This theory is supported by the lack of DyP-type peroxidases in genomes of ancestral (early dividing) fungi (e.g., Mucorcircinelloides) [104].

The reactions, which are catalyzed by DyP-type peroxidases and aromatic peroxygenases, seem to be relevant for the conversion of lignin in the nature. However, the physiological function of these enzymes is still an open question [81].

#### Aromatic Peroxygenases

Since the first aromatic peroxygenase was discovered in 2004 in the fungus *Agrocybe aegerita*, two more similar enzymes of the fungi *Coprinellus radians* (ink cap) and *Marasmius rotula* were isolated and characterized. The APO showed molecular weights of 32–46 kDa, were highly glycosylated (up to 40%), and occur extracellularly. The APO catalyzes oxygen transfer reactions at a pH range of 3–10, with a maximum rate at around pH 7 [129]. The sequence homology of APO and chloroperoxidases is only about 30%. However, APO is even less of a homologue to p450s or lignin peroxidases [130]. The prosthetic heme group is linked via iron to

an exposed cysteine and shows a soret band at 445–450 nm, which is comparable to the heme signal of cytochrome p450 monooxygenases [126].

Cytochrome P450 monooxygenases can catalyze several industrial relevant oxy-functionalizing reactions. The requirement of redox equivalents such as NADH, which is a main drawback, can be overcome by adding hydrogen peroxide as a co-substrate. Thereby, a side reaction of p450 enzymes is observed, which is termed "shunt pathway." Nevertheless, the p450 enzymes still suffer from low stability and moderate turnover numbers. APO could overcome these limitations because of their superior stability and high catalytic efficiencies [126, 130].

A catalytic cycle for APO was suggested, which combines elements of the heme peroxidases with the peroxide cycle and the "shunt pathway" of p450 monooxygenases [129]. At the resting state a water molecule is bound at the ferric heme of the enzyme. The catalytic cycle starts with hydrogen peroxide which reacts with the ferric heme, resulting in a negatively charged ferric peroxo-complex (only shown for chloroperoxidase). After a heterolytical cleavage of the peroxide O-O bond, compound I is built [126]. Depending on the substrate, its binding site and the reaction conditions, compound I can react in a monooxygenase or a peroxidase manner [129]. In the monooxygenase pathway, ferryl oxygen is transferred to the substrate and accepts two electrons [129]. In particular, hydrogen is abstracted from the substrate (e.g., an alkane) by compound I, resulting in a protonated compound II (ferryl hydroxide complex) and a substrate radical. The alkyl radical then recombines with an OH-equivalent through a rebound mechanism and builds the corresponding alcohol whilst the ferric enzyme is restored. After association of one water molecule to the catalytic center, the cycle starts again (see Fig. 11b) [126, 131]. However, the oxygenation of aromatic rings and other alkenes seems to involve  $\pi$ -bonds instead of a direct insertion of oxygen into a C–H bond. Thus, a hydrogen abstraction does not take place in this case [126, 129].

In contrast, peroxygenases also catalyze one electron step oxidation of, for example, phenol to a phenoxy radical via the peroxidase pathway. First, an electron



**Fig. 11** (a) Examples of oxidation reactions of aromatic peroxidases. *S* substrates, *P* products; *S1* cis-b-methylstyrene, *P1* (1R,2S)-cis-b-methylstyrene oxide, *S2* benzene, *P2/S3* phenol, *P3\_1* hydroquinone, *P3\_2* catechol, *S4* 3,4-dimethoxybenzyl methyl ether, *P4* 3,4-dimethoxybenzaldehyde and methanol (modified after [126]). (b) Catalytic cycle of APO. Substrate cyclohexane, *Cpd* compound, *RS* resting state (modified after [126] with permission from Elsevier, Copyright 2014 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved)

is abstracted and one substrate molecule is oxidized, yielding a radical substrate and compound II. In a second step, another electron is transferred, again releasing a molecule of a radical substrate and the ferric oxygen as a water molecule [129].

Examples for reactions catalyzed by APO are illustrated in Fig. 11a.

#### DyP-Type Peroxidases Subfamily D

The dye-decolorizing or DyP-type peroxidases (DyPs) of fungi, represented by the subfamily D, were all found in the supernatant of fungi cultures, hinting at an extracellular occurrence of these enzymes [128]. Fungal DyPs show a molecular weight of 43–69 kDa [119]. Furthermore, the most fungal DyPs are glycosylated monomeric proteins, with a glycosylation degree of 8–38% [118, 132, 133]. They exhibit a typical heme soret band at 406 nm and lack the typical heme binding region of other heme peroxidases, which consists of one proximal histidine, one distal histidine and one additional arginine site. However all DyPs share a common heme binding motive GXXDG (glycine, two variable amino acids, aspartic acid, and glycine) [125]. The distal histidine residue is essential as an acid-base catalyst in common heme peroxidases. Interestingly, DyPs do not possess a catalytic active distal histidine but an aspartic acid (see Fig. 12) [120, 125].

In the native conformation, the oxygen atom (OD2) of the aspartic acid residue was shown to be too far away to fulfill its designated role, which is the reception of a proton from the heme-bound  $H_2O_2$ . However, Yoshida et al. postulated that in the presence of  $H_2O_2$  the aspartic acid is enabled to move toward the heme molecule by a swinging mechanism [120].

The exact details of the catalytic cycle of DyPs remain unknown. However, a similar mechanism as described for the other well-characterized heme peroxidases is assumed [127]. The cycle starts with the oxidation of the resting enzyme by  $H_2O_2$ . Two electron equivalents are transferred and compound I (Fe<sup>4+</sup>=O and a porphyrin  $\pi$ -cation radical (Por+·)) is built. In two sequential steps the compound I is at first converted to compound II ([Fe<sup>4+</sup>=O]Por) by reducing a substrate molecule. Then compound II is reduced by another substrate molecule and the resting enzyme state is restored. In contrast to several other investigated heme peroxidases,



**Fig. 12** (a) Proposed swing mechanism of compound I formation by DyPs. *D171* aspartate 171 (instead of histidine in other peroxidases), *OD2* outer carboxylate oxygen atom of aspartate [120]. (b) Heme surrounding in plant heme peroxidases (e.g., MnP) and DyP-type peroxidases; *His* histidine residue, *asp* aspartic acid residue (modified after [107, 120], Copyright 2011 FEBS)

compounds I and II could not be observed universally in DyPs. For the DyP-type peroxidases DyP B of *Rhodococcus jostii* and DyP D of *Bjerka adjusta*, only compound I was detectable. Vice versa, for the peroxidases DyP A of *Rhodococcus jostii*, DyP A of *E. coli*, and DyP A of *Bacillus subtilis*, only compound II was found [134].

DyP-type peroxidases can oxidize bulky substrates that are too large to fit in the active site [127]. Therefore, a long-range electron transfer mechanism, as already described for LiP, was suggested. This mechanism requires an electron pathway from the porphyrin ring to a suitable redox active amino acid (e.g., tyrosine or tryptophan) at the surface of the enzyme [135]. DyP AauDyPI of Auricularia auricula-judae was recently expressed in E. coli. The heterologous enzyme was investigated by multi-frequency EPR spectroscopy with regard to radical-forming amino acid residues (tyrosine and tryptophan) at the surface of the enzyme. The highest signal contribution was found for tryptophan (W377) [136, 137]. Furthermore, mutants of W377 lacked this radical signal. Additionally, the W377-mutant lost the activity for the bulky substrate reactive blue 19, whereas other substrates 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylthiazoline-6-sulfonate (e.g., (ABTS)) were still oxidized [137].

The redox potential of several fungal DyPs was determined by measuring the reacting efficiency against a series of phenolic compounds with increasing redox potential. DyPs showed a relatively high redox potential of around 1.1-1.2 V [83]. The characteristic reaction for DyPs is the oxidation of the anthraquinone dye reactive blue 5 (as reactive black 5 for VP) [125]. However, the fungal DyPs have a wide substrate range including 2,6-dimethoxyphenol and ABTS, as well as the high redox potential dyes Reactive Blue 5 and Reactive Black 5. Veratryl alcohol and non-phenolic lignin model compounds were also oxidized by some fungal DyPs, but no activity against  $Mn^{2+}$ -ions was detected [118, 119, 138, 139]. Actually, DyP of *Irpex lacteus* and cellulases acted synergistically on wheat straw, which led to a more efficient hydrolysis and thus an increased glucose yield [118]. Although the optimum of DyPs for the oxidation of phenolic substrates such as 2,6-DMP was found in a range of pH 3.5–4.5, non-phenolic aromatic substrates were converted best under rather acidic conditions (pH 1.4–2.5) [119].

The physiological role of these fungal DyPs is not yet understood, but the catalytic features as well as the secretion under natural conditions (wood cultures) indicate that DyP-type peroxidases might participate in the oxidation of recalcitrant methoxylated aromatics within the lignin polymer. DyPs might take the place of LiPs in species where the latter are absent [83, 125, 127]. The DyP-type peroxidase subfamilies A–C are discussed below.

### 4.2.4 Accessory Enzymes

Besides the already described ligninases, fungi express "accessory enzymes," which also play an important role in lignin degradation. These oxidases generate  $H_2O_2$ , which is required by ligninolytic peroxidases and in the Fenton reaction to

produce reactive hydroxyl radicals (OH·) [88].  $H_2O_2$ -producing enzymes include glyoxal oxidases (belonging to the copper-dependent copper radical oxidases family) and several flavoproteins of the glucose-methanol-choline family. The latter includes the aryl-alcohol oxidases, glucose-1-oxidases, alcohol oxidases, and cellobiose dehydrogenases.

The glyoxal oxidases own a broad specificity and catalyze the oxidation of acids. thereby reducing dioxygen aldehvdes to carboxvlic to  $H_2O_2$ [140, 141]. The low specificity of this enzyme hampered the determination of the enzyme oxidizes, for physiological substrate. The example. glvoxal. glycolaldehyde, and glyoxalic acid. These molecules could be derived by lignin degradation. It was shown that LiP degraded a  $\beta$ -aryl ether lignin model compound to glycolaldehyde, which is a substrate for the glyoxal oxidase. A further oxidation of glycolaldehyde to oxalate via glyoxal and glyoxylic acid can generate  $H_2O_2$ , which is then recycled by LiP. Moreover, glyoxal could be derived by oxidation of linoleic acid, a fungal metabolite, or by degradation of carbohydrates (e.g., sugars) through hydroxyl radicals (OH) [142]. Glyoxal oxidase seems to be of importance in the lignin degradation process of *P. chrysosporium* (see Fig. 6) [143].

Aryl alcohol oxidases and ligninolytic peroxidases are produced simultaneously in *Bjerkandera adusta* and *Pleurotus*, which hints at participation of these oxidases in the lignin degradation process. The substrates for the aryl alcohol oxidase could be either lignin-derived compounds or fungal aromatic metabolites [89]. The aryl alcohol oxidases generally catalyze the oxidative dehydrogenation of aromatic and aliphatic polyunsaturated alcohols with a primary hydroxyl group and the oxidation of aldehydes to the corresponding acids [89, 140]. Intracellular aryl alcohol and aryl aldehyde dehydrogenases reduce the aldehydes and acids back to alcohols and aldehydes by consumption of redox equivalents (e.g., NADPH). The reduced molecules are secreted and again serve as substrates for the aryl alcohol oxidase, thus building an  $H_2O_2$  generating loop. *p*-Anisaldehyde and the corresponding *p*methoxybenzyl alcohol seem to be the physiological substrates for the  $H_2O_2$ producing redox cycle in *Pleurotus* species (see Fig. 6) [89].

Brown-rot fungi release methanol during their wood decaying process by demethylation of lignin. The demethylation might be caused by reactive hydroxyl radicals or by an enzymatic process. However, no suitable enzyme has been isolated so far [144, 145]. In *Gloeophyllum trabeum* a methanol oxidase was identified, which is believed to use the lignin-derived methanol to generate  $H_2O_2$ . Interestingly, although a signal sequence is missing, the methanol oxidase was located extracellularly [89].

Cellobiose dehydrogenases (CDH) consist of two domains: the *C*-terminal dehydrogenase domain, containing FAD as redox factor and the *N*-terminal cytochrome domain, which is a heme enzyme. Both modules of CDH evolved parallel as fused genes [140]. The suggested biological roles of CDH are manifold. CDH oxidizes cellobiose to cellobiono- $\delta$ -lactone rather inefficiently and this might not be a relevant function. The most common biological role of CDH is the production of Fe<sup>2+</sup> and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, which can undergo a Fenton reaction and build a radical hydroxyl (see Fig. 6). The cytochrome subunit perhaps produces reactive

oxygen species directly. The generated reactive oxygen species can attack the lignocellulose matrix [90]. Alternatively, other functions of CDH are possible. The reduction of semiquinones to quinones and the reduction of  $Mn(IV)O_2$  by CDH was observed. Thereby, dissolved manganese is provided for MnP [146]. The formed quinones can be radicalized by laccase or lignolytic peroxidases. These radicals are reduced to semiquinones, whereby Fe<sup>3+</sup> and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> are generated [147].

## 4.3 Bacterial Lignin Degradation

This section elaborates screening methods for finding new lignolytic bacteria. Moreover, several already known ligninolytic bacteria are described.

Research on lignin degrading organisms has mainly focused on basidiomycetes, especially on white-rot fungi, because of their high ligninolytic activities. In spite of extensive research on lignin degradation, so far no commercial biocatalytic process for lignin depolymerization exists. The challenging protein expression and genetic manipulation in fungi might be one reason. Bacteria might support the progress of industrial lignin utilization. Although the extent of the prokaryotic lignin breakdown is not as complete as in fungi, several bacteria strains have been shown to react on lignin and probably produce small aromatic molecules. It was observed that many soil bacteria, which are able to metabolize aromatic compounds, also show ligninolytic activities. These findings point out the possibility of a reasonable association between lignin degradation and aromatic degradation, considering that lignin is a considerable source for soil-occurring aromatics [124, 148]. The most bacterial lignin degraders known to date belong to the classes actinobacteria, and  $\gamma$ -proteobacteria [52] (see Fig. 13).



Fig. 13 Phylogenetic tree of bacteria. Bacteria families with members, which are associated with lignin degradation or potential ligninolytic enzymes are shown in bold (modified after [149], adapted with permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd Macmillan Publishers Ltd, Copyright 2012)

Two different general approaches are being used for the identification of new ligninolytic organisms: culture dependent and culture independent methods.

Screening of new species by culture-dependent methods is carried out by cultivation steps on lignin model compounds, lignin, or lignin-rich waste (e.g., pulping effluent) as carbon source. Two-step screening methods are increasingly used. Herein, a first enrichment by growth on one or several aromatic compounds is followed by a confirmation of the lignin degradation abilities of selected strains through cultivation on lignin polymers.

A proof of lignin degradation by an organism is possible by showing the growth on lignin model substrates as sole carbon source, detecting modifications of lignin model substrates, or identifying known ligninolytic enzymes. Furthermore, polymeric, more or less natural ligning can be used as screening substrates. The chemical features of the lignin are strongly dependent on the extraction method, with dioxane and klason lignin being close to natural lignin and KL, which is significantly modified. Lignocellulose biomass can also be used as screening substrate. The degradation of lignin can be observed by determining the solid acid-precipitable polymeric lignin (APPL). APPL is built with less methoxyl groups and is complexed with bacterial protein. Moreover, feasible methods are established with synthetic <sup>14</sup>C-labeled lignin, which is synthesized from <sup>14</sup>Clabeled phenols, or <sup>14</sup>C-labeled lignin, which is obtained by growing plants on lignin precursor <sup>14</sup>C-phenylalanin (lignin (lignocellulose)). The <sup>14</sup>C-labeled lignins or lignin model substances are cultivated with ligninolytic species and the degradation rate is indicated by the amount of generated <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>. Less time-consuming screening assays are based on the conversion of monomeric aromatics or synthetic aromatic dyes. The latter methods are apparently less reliable in validating lignin degradation. The use of aromatic lignin model dimers or tetramers is of intermediate effort and reliability [150, 151].

Currently two novel fast spectrophotometric screening methods have been established. The first screening assay with fluorescein isothiocyanate-labeled lignin gives changes in fluorescence over 10 min when lignin breakdown occurs. The second assay is based on chemically nitrated lignin and detects the release of nitrated phenol breakdown products at 430 nm over 20 min [152, 153].

Culture-independent methods include molecular biological methods and bioinformatics tools. These methods allow a direct analysis of the biodiversity of an environmental probe by 16S rRNA or its enzymatic diversity and functionality by screening on specific enzymes, for example lignolytic peroxidases (metagenomics) and their expression (metatranscriptomics). Herein, species that cannot be cultivated are also considered [151]. Interesting sources for screenings on new ligninolytic species are soils, waste water derived from the paper industry, and decaying wood or straw, as well as guts of wood-eating insects such as termites or beetles [124, 151]. For instance, the metagenome of the gut of a wood-boring beetle Anoplophora glabripennis was screened with regard to its microbiome composition and the enzyme functionalities. The microbiome varied between individuals, but Gammaproteobacteria were found to be dominant and Bacilli and Betaproteobacteria were found in equal amounts, although the relative abundances of Actinobacteria, Alphaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, and Sphingobacteria were inconsistent [154]. No approved ligninolytic enzymes (e.g., MnP) were identified, but bacterial enzymes such as DyP-type peroxidases, copper oxidases,  $\beta$ -etherases, and glutathione-*S*-transferases, and especially aldo-keto reductases, which are all supposed to be associated with lignin degradation, were described [155].

A considerable amount of ligninolytic bacteria strains were found in the 1970s and 1980s by <sup>14</sup>C-labeling methods and the observation of APPL formation during growth on lignocellulose material. For example, soil probes were enriched by cultivation with dioxane lignin as carbon source. Pseudomonas, Xanthomonas, and Acinetobacter strains were isolated and found to change significantly the lignin structure. However, only a small amount (2%) of <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> was found after 150 days of degradation of labeled poplar by a Pseudomonas strain [156]. Moreover, after enrichment of compost and soil on mineral media with straw, KL or ferulic acid selected strains were incubated with labeled straw and investigated on <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> release. A Streptomyces strain was found to evaporate 7.5% of the lignin of labeled wheat straw as  $CO_2$  in 15 days, but interestingly was unable to degrade KL or straw. A Thermonospora strain, able to degrade KL and ferulic acid, transformed 8.0% lignin to CO<sub>2</sub> [157]. The actinobacteria *Nocardia autotrophica*, *Nocardia corallin*, Nocardia opaea, and others were found to release <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> from synthetic dehydropolymer of coniferyl alcohol with about 4-14% in 15 days. Gram-strains as Pseudomonas testosterone, P. putida, and further Pseunomonas species showed a decrease of 0.9-2.2% in 15 days [158]. Strains of the genus Streptomycetes, isolated from termites gut produced 5-15% APPL of the initiate lignin, when they were incubated for 3 weeks with corn stover lignin (lignocellulose). The strain Streptomyces viridosporus T7A, which was the first strain where APPL was observed, solubilized about 7% of the lignocellulose material. For these strains 6-10% of the <sup>14</sup>C labeled lignin (in Abies concolor lignocellulose) was found as water-soluble products and only 1-2% as <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> after 3 weeks, hinting at a modification but no complete metabolization of lignin in these strains [159]. However, in other publications values of up to 16% of labeled lignin released as  $^{14}CO_2$ were reported for Nocardia, Rhodococcus, Arthrobacter, Streptomyces, and Thermomonospora strains. The strains Streptomyces cyaneus and Thermonospora mesophila solubilized up to 30% lignin of lignocellulose materials after about 2 days to form APPL. Herein, bacteria showed higher conversion into  $CO_2$  when extracted lignin and not lignin incorporated in lignocellulose was used [150, 160, 161]. In short, bacteria can solubilize lignin to high proportions and also the metabolization and the release of <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> was significant, but rather low compared to white-rot fungi such as Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Sporotrichum pulverulentum, and Coriolus versicolor, which were shown to evolve 30-50% of lignin (lignocellulose) as CO<sub>2</sub> [162, 163].

More recently, numerous bacterial strains were screened on ligninolytic activity with a nitrogen assay and a fluorescence assay. The strains *Streptomyces viridosporus* and *Pseudonocardia autotrophica* were dependent on  $H_2O_2$  for their activity, and activity could only be detected by the fluorescence assay and not by the

nitrogen assay. Via the nitrogen assay, various strains, namely *Rhodococcus* sp., *Acinetobacter* sp., *Arthrobacter globiformis, Pseudomonas putida, Ochrobactrum pseudogrignonense*, and *Microbacterium oxydans* were found to reveal absorbance signals of around 1–5 milli arbitrary units (mAU). Notably, the three strains *Sphingobacterium, Rhodococcus erythropolis*, and *Streptomyces coelicolor* achieved values of 30–70 mAU. For wood-rotting fungi, comparable values of 3–30 mAU were detected, although white-rot fungus *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* exhibited a very high activity (ca. 700 mAU) [152, 153, 164].

Novel strains *Comamonas* sp. and *Pandoraea* sp. isolated from bamboo slips were shown to degrade KL and decolorize KL up to 45% and 40%, respectively. Remarkably, a manganese peroxidase and a laccase activity as well as small molecule degradation products such as cinnamic acid, ferulic acid, 2-hydroxy benzyl alcohol, and vanillyl methyl ketone were detected in culture supernatant of *Pandoraea* sp. [165, 166].

The participation of inducible extracellular proteins in APPL formation of bacteria was observed. Moreover, it was assumed that these proteins could be [159, extracellular peroxidases 167–169]. *Thermonospora* mesophila, P. autotrophica, Streptomyces sp., and S. viridosporus T7A strains were identified as high peroxidase producers in a screening for extracellular peroxidases in actinobacteria [170]. An extracellular peroxidase of S. viridosporus T7A was purified and characterized. This peroxidase cleaved lignin model compounds, oxidized monomeric aromatics, and was determined to be a heme peroxidase [171]. However, the gene sequence of this so-called lignin peroxidase of S. viridosporus T7A has not been published so far [115]. Members of the new family of the DyP-type peroxidases were associated with lignin degradation in bacteria. Because the extracellular occurrence of these peroxidases has been disputed, a participation in lignin degradation needs to be investigated in detail [148]. Moreover, bacterial laccases have currently come into focus and especially actinobacterial small laccases could be involved in lignin degradation [172]. Both these possibly ligninolytic bacterial enzymes are described in detail in the following section.

## 4.4 Bacterial Ligninolytic Enzymes

In this section the bacterial laccases and DyP-type peroxidases are addressed. These enzymes might participate in a bacterial lignin decay mechanism.

#### 4.4.1 Bacterial Laccases

Bacterial laccases are not investigated as intensively as fungal and plant laccases. The first bacterial laccase was identified in the plant root associated bacterium *Azospirillum lipoferu* [173]. Prokaryotic laccases are quite diverse and their molecular weight is 28–180 kDa [174]. Whole genome analysis revealed that laccases are

widespread in bacteria and occur, for example, in Bacillus sp., Escherichia coli, Mycobacterium sp., and Pseudomonas sp. Predictions of the three-dimensional structures suggest that all bacterial and fungal laccases consist of three so-called cupredoxin-like domains, which are mainly formed by  $\beta$ -barrels [173]. In addition to these well-described monomeric three-domain laccases, a new kind of laccase was identified, which is only found in prokaryotes. These laccases have two instead of three domains and are active as trimers. The active site is formed at each of the monomers. So far, bacterial laccases were thought to be intracellular. However, a bioinformatics study revealed that 76% of the bacterial laccases have a signal sequence and thus may be extracellular enzymes [175]. Bacterial laccases, in contrast to fungal laccases, are highly active at high temperatures, high pH, and high chloride and copper ion concentrations, making them compatible with a lot of industrial processes [173, 175]. Moreover, crystal structure analysis revealed a large putative substrate binding pocket in prokaryotic laccases compared to fungal and plant laccases [176]. However, bacterial laccases have low reduction potential T1 Cu, with values usually below 0.5 V, limiting their oxidation of high redox potential substrates [173, 174].

All prokaryotic laccases catalyze the reduction of dioxygen to water, but the substrate specificity and thus the assumed physiological roles differ considerably amongst these enzymes [174]. Generally, laccases oxidize aromatic phenols, amines, and inorganic ions such as [Fe(CN)6]. Some of them show activities against metal ions such as Fe<sup>2+</sup> and Cu<sup>+</sup> [174].

Laccase Cot A of *Bacillus subtilis* is assumed to be involved in the production of brown spore pigment of the endospore coat [176].

Laccases of *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus halodurans* catalyze the conversion of Cu(I) to Cu(II), which is suggested to be a protection mechanism against the toxic effects of Cu(I) [174, 177].

*Pseudomonas putida* laccase, was shown to oxidize Mn(II) and Mn(III). In prokaryotes the oxidation of Mn(II) leads mostly to the formation of Mn (IV) oxides [178]. It was speculated that these oxides might protect the bacteria, for example, from UV radiation by binding on the cell surface. Another hypothesis is the oxidation of organic matter by Mn(IV) oxides, which can thus be metabolized by the bacteria [179].

A laccase of the  $\gamma$ -proteobacterium JB was assumed to protect the organism from xenobiotic toxicity, because numerous substances such as *p*-toluidine and phthalic acid induced the laccase expression [180].

Finally, two-domain laccases of *Streptomyces* (*S. coelicolor*, *Streptomyces lividans*, *S. viridosporus* T7A) were reported to oxidize a phenolic lignin model substance without mediator, but non-phenolic substances only in the presence of redox mediators. Moreover, wild type strain *S. coelicolor* and a laccase-deficient mutant were incubated with lignocellulose and both were found to produce APPL. Remarkably, the mutant strain produced 33% less APPL, demonstrating an important role of this laccase in the lignin degradation process of *S. coelicolor* [172].

Prokaryotic laccases could be of great interest for future industrial biotechnology because they are easily expressed in industrial host organisms. Basically, an increase of their redox potential is required. Further studies on the correlation between T1 copper site ligation, reduction potential, and electronic structure may help to overcome this limitation through directed enzyme engineering [174].

#### 4.4.2 DyP-Type Peroxidases Subfamilies A, B, and C

The subfamilies A, B, and C DyP-type peroxidases mainly contain bacterial enzyme sequences (see Fig. 14) [134].

DyP A, the ancestral clade of the whole superfamily, is probably located extracellularly, and thus twin-arginine translocation (TAT) signal sequences are found in these enzyme sequences. In contrast, DyP C and DyP B peroxidases appear to be involved in the intracellular metabolism [104, 127]. DyP B subfamily is rather divergent. Besides its additional branch, which possibly leads to the chlorite dismutases, DyP B peroxidases were also found in fungi and lower eukaryotes (protists or slime molds). DyP B peroxidases probably first evolved in Proteobacteria and afterward spread via horizontal gene transfer amongst the other bacterial phyla and the eukaryotes [104].

DyP C peroxidases cluster close to the fungal DyP D peroxidases and seem to share their high activity. The molecular weights of DyPs were observed to be around 54 kDa, 44–48 kDa, and about 32 kDa for DyP C, A, and B, respectively [181–186]. The quaternary structures of DyPs have been reported to vary from monomers to hexamers [127].

The catalytic cycle for DyP-type peroxidases is already concerned in the above Sect. 4.2.3. For the functionality of fungal DyP-type peroxidases, the essential amino acid residue aspartate of the GXXDG motif was proposed to be essential for the interaction with  $H_2O_2$  and the formation of compound I [127]. This might be true for DyP-type peroxidases of subfamily D, and aspartate seems to be important



**Fig. 14** Phylogenetic tree of the DyP-type peroxidase family members. YcdB (*E. coli*), DyPP2 (*Amycolatopsis* sp.), Ajpl (*Auricularia auricula-judae*), DyP (*Bjerkandera adusta*), TyrA (*Shewanella oneidensis*), DyP B (*Rhodococcus jostii*) (adapted after [128] with permission from Elsevier, Copyright 2015 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved)

for the peroxidase activity of particular subfamily A members [187, 188]. However, for DyP B of actinobacterium *Rhodococcus jostii* and protobacterium *Pseudomonas putida* and DyP A peroxidase EfeB of *E. coli* this aspartate residue does not appear be essential for the peroxidase activity [189, 190]. Moreover, an arginine residue was shown to be essential in DyP B of *R. jostii*, as a mutant with arginine substituted by leucine had no detectable peroxidase activity [134].

DyPs generally have a wide substrate specificity and a considerable lower pH optimum compared to other plant peroxidases [115]. All DyP-type peroxidases have a peroxidase activity, although for some DyPs, which have inefficient catalytic properties, this activity might not be relevant for their physiological role [134]. For instance, ABTS, which is a general peroxidase substrate, is converted by A- and B-type DyPs three orders of magnitude less efficiently than by C- and D-type DyPs [134]. The exact physiological functions of DyP-type peroxidases are unknown, but some have been proposed [128].

A DyP-type peroxidase of archaebacterium *Halobacterium salinarum* was suggested to be involved in the protection against oxidative stress. The function of DyP B peroxidase of proteobacterium *Francisella tularensis* was also suggested to be involved in the defense of oxidative stress [128, 191].

Studies on YcdB (DyP A) and Yfex (DyP B) of *E. coli* indicate that both these DyP-type peroxidases are able to extract iron from heme and thereby leave the protoporphyrin ring intact [184]. These findings are supported by the genomic context of these enzymes in *E. coli*. The genes efeU and efeO, which code for an iron transporter and an iron uptake component, occur downstream of Yfex and YcdB [134]. A similar function was described for a DyP A and DyP B peroxidase of *Staphylococcus aureus*. The cluster was expressed in a YcdB and Yfex deficient *E. coli* mutant and restored the ability of *E. coli* to use heme as an iron source. DyP A of *S. aureus* showed even less peroxide activity as *E. coli* YcdB [192]. The latter enzymes could be an example of the physiological function for DyPs being independent of the peroxidase activity [128]. In contrast, several members of the DyP-type peroxidases subfamilies B, C, and A were associated with lignin degradation in bacteria.

DyP B from *R. jostii* was shown to cleave a phenolic lignin model compound. In the presence of  $Mn^{2+}$ , which is also a substrate for this peroxidase, this activity was increased. Furthermore, an activity against straw lignocellulose could be measured only by adding MnCl<sub>2</sub>. Nitrated lignin was incubated with *R. jostii* wild type and mutant strains. In the wild type strain, *R. jostii* photometrically measured changes at 430 nm hinted at the evaporation of nitrated phenol compounds. In contrast, in a DyP B-deficient *R. jostii* mutant, no changes were detected. The heterologous DyP B enzyme also showed activity in the nitrate assay [193]. A binding pocket with three glutamate residues and one threonine was proposed for DyP B of *R. jostii*. However, in *Pseudomonas putida* DyP B the same residues are present, but no Mn<sup>2+</sup>-oxidizing activity was found. Moreover, another Mn<sup>2+</sup>-oxidizing enzyme (DyP C, *Amycolatopsis* sp.) did not have the same Mn<sup>2+</sup>-binding motif [193–195]. Engineering of DyP B (N246A) resulted in a 15-fold increase in the catalytic efficiency (kcat/km) against Mn<sup>2+</sup>. The engineered DyP B was able to catalyze a manganese-dependent conversion of KL and solvent-extracted fractions of KL. Nevertheless, DyP C of actinobacterium *Amycolatopsis* sp. still oxidizes  $Mn^{2+}$  more efficiently within two orders of magnitude [196]. Paradoxically, the ligninolytic peroxidase of *R. jostii* lacks, as do most DyP B peroxidases, a signal sequence for export and consequently is supposed to be an intracellular enzyme. This is in contrast to its suggested function, which is the measured ligninolytic activity in the supernatant of *R. jostii*. It was hypothesized that DyP B might be exported by an unknown mechanism. Downstream of DyP B a gene coding for encapsulin was identified. Encapsulins can form nanocompartments with incorporated DyP B. A higher ligninolytic activity for the complexed DyP B in comparison to free DyP B was measured, but still the export of DyP B remains in question [193, 197].

DyP C of Amycolatopsis sp. (formerly Streptomyces griseus) was also reported in the context of lignin degradation. As already mentioned, a very high Mn<sup>2+</sup>oxidizing activity almost comparable to fungal VP was observed. DyP C was able to degrade high redox synthetic dyes with high catalytic efficiency and was able to cleave a phenolic lignin model substance. Interestingly, an oxidase activity with 4-methoxymandelic acid in the presence of Mn<sup>2+</sup> was found. Some homolog DyP C peroxidases of other related actinomycetes cluster on operons with other biomassprocessing enzymes, though DyP C of Amycolatopsis sp. does not [186]. To date, only DyP C of Amycolatopsis sp. and DyP C of cyanobacterium Anabaena sp. have been characterized. DyP C of Anabaena sp. oxidizes guaiacol, pyrogallol, and anthraquinone dyes such as Reactive Blue 5 with high catalytic efficiencies, the latter with 10<sup>7</sup>, which is equal to activities of fungal DyPs (Auricularia auricular). However, this DyP C peroxidase can neither oxidize veratryl alcohol nor manganese [185, 186]. In general, DyP C peroxidases are found in the neighborhood of various enzymes, such as a doxorubicin resistance gene, halo-acid dehalogenase, or a methyl-accepting chemoreceptor. Overall, the biochemical characterizations and the bioinformatic data indicate that the peroxidase activity of DyP C peroxidases is physiologically relevant and that DyP C peroxidases have diverse biological roles [134].

Just recently two DyP A peroxidases have been characterized, which seem to participate in lignin degradation. DyP A of *Bacillus subtilis* (KCTC2023) was able to cleave a non-phenolic lignin model dimer without mediator and oxidized the high-redox non-phenolic monomer veratryl alcohol with a high efficiency in comparison to other bacterial DyP-type peroxidases. The anthraquinone dyes reactive black 5 and reactive blue 19 were also oxidized. Interestingly, these substrates differed in their temperature optima. Whereas the high redox substrates veratryl alcohol and the lignin model dimer were converted best at 50 °C, the optimum for dye oxidation was 30 °C [198]. The DyP A peroxidase of *Saccharomonospora viridis* was shown to bleach eucalyptus kraft pulp (21.8% reduced kappa number, 2.98% increase in brightness). The enzyme performed well over a broad pH range and had a high temperature stability. The pH optimum of this enzyme was determined with triarylmethane dye brilliant green as a substrate. Astonishingly, in contrast to other DyP-type peroxidases, which work mostly in acid pH, the

optimum of DyP A of *S. viridis* was pH 7. Another interesting observation was the eightfold boost of enzyme activity through the reducing agent  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, perhaps by preventing the enzyme from forming S–S linkages [183].

Further bioinformatical and biochemical studies on DyP-type peroxidases could help to clarify their physiological roles. Further research should also help to develop their biotechnological potential, which is expected mainly in processes for modification and degradation of lignin and industrial dyes [134].

#### 4.4.3 Accessory Enzymes

Assuming an analogous mechanism of fungal and bacterial lignin degradation, bacteria also require accessory enzymes, providing  $H_2O_2$  for their extracellular peroxidases. A few  $H_2O_2$ -generating enzymes [199, 200] and analogs to fungal accessory enzymes [201, 202] have been described in bacteria, but to the best of our knowledge no publication which deals with their participation in lignin degradation is available.

# 4.5 Bacterial Catabolism of Lignin Degradation Intermediates

Although bacteria are able to break down lignin, they generally play a more important role in mineralization of oligomeric and monomeric lignin derivatives, which are derived from fungal attack on the lignin macromolecule [203, 204]. Herein, we encounter the degradation pathways of aromatics by bacteria.

Many bacteria strains are known to metabolize lignin-derived aromatic compounds. For example, biphenyl-degrading species are found in several bacterial genera such as *Sphingomonas*, *Burkholderia*, *Rhodococcus*, *Pseudomonas*, *Achromobacter*, *Comamonas*, *Ralstonia*, *Acinetobacter*, and *Bacillus* [124]. The most intensively studied bacterium regarding the aromatics metabolism is the proteobacterium *Sphingobium* sp. SYK-6 [52].

A degradation of biphenyl 5,5-dehydrovanillate is described to proceed via a demethylation step, catalyzed by *O*-demethylase (LigX). The *O*-demethylase is probably a three-component monooxygenase [204]. One of the aromatic rings is cleaved by a dioxygenase (LigZ) and the meta-cleavage compound is converted into 5-carboxyvanillate and 4-carboxy-2-hydroxypentadienoic acid by hydrolase LigY. 5-Carboxyvanillate is decarboxylated by decarboxylase LigW to result in the central metabolite vanillic acid (Fig. 15B). 4-Carboxy-2-hydroxypentadienoic acid is probably hydrated and cleaved by an aldolase to form two molecules of pyruvate [52, 124].



Fig. 15 Degradation pathways for lignin derivatives in *Sphingobium* sp. SYK-6: (A1) degradation of (S)-enantiomer  $\beta$ -aryl ether, (A2) degradation of (R)-enantiomer  $\beta$ -aryl ether, and (B) degradation of biphenyls. Abbreviations: *LigD-O* dehydrogenases, *LigP and LigE/F* glutathione-*S*-transferases, *LigG*  $\beta$ -thioetherase, *VD* vanillin dehydrogenase, *LigX O*-demethylase (monooxygenase), *LigZ* dioxygenase, *LigY* hydrolyase, *LigW/W2* decarboxylase (modified after [203, 205] with permission from Taylor & Francis Ltd, Copyright Japan Society for Bioscience and Agrochemistry, Copyright 2014 by The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc.)

Sphingobium sp. SYK-6 moreover degrades  $\beta$ -aryl ether compounds such as guaiacylglycerol- $\beta$ -guaiacyl ether (GGE) or guaiacyl- $\alpha$ -veratrylglycerol (VG). The dehydrogenases LigD, LigL, LigN, and LigO dehydrogenate VG at the  $\alpha$ -C a-hydroxyl group to form a ketone. Then a  $\beta$ -S-glutathionyl- $\alpha$ -ketothioether is built at the  $\beta$ -ether. Thereby, the cosubstrate glutathione is linked to the  $\beta$ -C and guaiacol is released. Interestingly, this step is stereoselective and catalyzed by different glutathione-S-tranferases. LigF only catalyzes  $\beta$ (S)-ether, resulting in a  $\beta$ (R)-thioether, whereas  $\beta$ (R)-ether is converted by LigP and LigE to form a  $\beta$ (S)-thioether. The  $\beta$ -thioether. In this step a second molecule GSH is consumed, producing glutathione disulfide (GS-SG) and  $\beta$ -deoxy- $\alpha$ -veratrylglycerone [205] (Fig. 15A).

In *Rhodococcus jostii* an alternative conversion of the  $\beta$ -aryl ether into a ketone cleavage product was suggested, working with a radical  $\beta$ -elimination mechanism via hydrogen abstraction [152]. The ketone intermediate is then metabolized to vanillic acid. It was assumed that this step might be an oxidation of the hydroxyl
group into carboxylic acid, followed by a C–C cleavage similar to a  $\beta$ -oxidation [52].

Further pathways of other aromatic compounds such as the monomers eugenol and coniferyl alcohol, as well as dimers pinoresinol and di-aryl ether, were described in *Sphingobium* sp. SYK-6 and other species, leading to vanillic acid. Vanillic acid is demethylized by a monooxygenase to form protocatechuic acid [124, 203, 206].

Aerobic degradation pathways include, besides catechol and some other aromatics, protocatechuate as their central intermediate [207]. Protocatechuate may originate from lignin breakdown products, as described above, but also from chlorinated aromatics and other materials [208].

In Sphingobium sp. SYK-6, protocatechuic acid is cleaved aerobically by an extradiol dioxygense (protocatechuic acid-4,5-dioxygenase named LigAB), meaning this enzyme cuts the aromatic ring not between the two ring hydroxyl groups, but outside, initiating the meta-cleavage pathway. Other bacteria, for example, *Pseudomonas, Acinetobacter*, and *Rhodococcus*, are known to use an alternative designated *ortho*-cleavage pathway, including an aerobic ring cleavage by an intradiol protocatechuate 3,4-dioxygenase as a first step. Moreover, some bacteria, for example, Rhodococcus equii, own a protocatechuic acid 3,4- and a 4,5-dioxygenase.

The meta-pathway continues with oxidation of the dioxygenase cleavage product 4-carboxy-2-hydroxymuconate semialdehyde by a dehydrogenase (LigC), producing 2-pyrone-4,6-dicarboxylate. This molecule is hereupon hydrolyzed by LigI, resulting in 4-oxalomesaconate, which is transformed by a hydratase LigJ and an aldolase LigK into pyruvate and oxaloacetate, which enter the citric acid cycle and are respired (see Fig. 15) [52, 203].

In *Pseudomonas putida*, as an example of the *ortho*-pathway, the cleavage product  $\beta$ -carboxymuconate is transformed by a cycloisomerase into  $\gamma$ -carboxymuconolactone, which is decarboxylated by  $\gamma$ -carboxymuconolactone decarboxylase into  $\beta$ -ketoadipate enol-lactone and then reduced to  $\beta$ -ketoadipate by a hydrolase. The subsequent  $\beta$ -ketoadipate pathway degrades  $\beta$ -ketoadipate to succinyl- and acetyl-CoA via a CoA transferase and a CoA thiolase. Succinyl- and acetyl-CoA can be utilized by the cell in the citric acid cycle or the fatty acid biosynthesis (see Fig. 16) [208].

Catechol may be derived from pollutants (e.g., phenol, toluene, or benzene) and similar sources as protocatechuate. Catechol is also found as central intermediate in bacteria [207, 208]. Its degradation pathway includes mechanisms similar to the protecatechuate pathway and is described here only briefly. Catechol is either cleaved extradiolically to form 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde (meta-pathway), which is converted to acetaldehyde and pyruvate, or cleaved intradiolically (*ortho*-pathway) to form *cis,cis*-muconate. This intermediate is, analogous to protocatechuate, cyclo-isomerized to muconolactone, followed by a double bond shift, resulting in the enol-lactone, which is hydrolyzed and enters the corresponding pathway as  $\beta$ -ketoadipate [207, 208].



**Fig. 16** *Meta-* and *ortho-*cleavage pathways in bacteria *Sphingobium* sp. SYK-6 and *Pseudomonas putida*. Abbreviations: *P3,4O*, protocatechuic acid-3,4-dioxygenase, *CM* β-carboxymuconate, *CMLE* β-carboxy-*cis,cis-*muconate lactonizing enzyme (cycloisomerase), *CML*  $\gamma$ -carboxy-muconolactone, *CMD*  $\gamma$ -carboxy-muconolactone decarboxylase, *KAEL* β-ketoadipate enol-lactone, *ELH* β-ketoadipate enol-lactone hydrolase, *KA* β-ketoadipate, *TR* β-ketoadipate succinyl-CoA transferase, *CoA* coenzyme A, *TH* β-ketoadipyl-CoA thiolase, *AC* acetyl, *SC* succinyl, *LigAB* protocatechuic acid 4,5-dioxygenase, *CHMS* 4-carboxy-2-hydroxymuconate-6semialdehyde, *LigC* CHMS dehydrogenase, *PDC* 2-pyrone-4,6-dicarboxylate, *LigI* PDC hydrolase, *OMA* 4-oxalomesaconate, *LigJ* OMA hydratase, CHA 4-carboxy-2-hydroxy-3-Omethylgallate, *LigK* CHA aldolase, *TCA* tricarboxylic acid (modified after [203, 208] with permission from Taylor & Francis Ltd, Copyright Japan Society for Bioscience and Agrochemistry, with permission from Elsevier, Copyright 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved)

Further research on bacterial lignin degrading pathways should help not only to clarify the carbon cycle on Earth, but also to identify novel useful tools for the conversion of lignin into building blocks and fine chemicals of industrial interest [203]. Recently, the gene of the vanillin dehydrogenase has been deleted in the ligninolytic bacterium *Rhodococcus jostii*. The mutant strain was grown on wheat straw lignocellulose as a feedstock, which resulted in an accumulation of vanillin in the culture broth [209]. This gives an exemplary approach for biotechnological utilization of lignocellulose and, accordingly, lignin, stimulating further research on bacterial lignin degradation.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank Prof. Dr. Thomas Hirth for making this work possible at Fraunhofer IGB and IGVP, University Stuttgart and Dr. Steffen Rupp for the support at the department.

## References

 Martone PT, Estevez JM, Lu F, et al (2009) Discovery of lignin in seaweed reveals convergent evolution of cell-wall architecture. Curr Biol 19:169–175. doi:10.1016/j.cub. 2008.12.031

- Espiñeira JM, Novo Uzal E, Gómez Ros LV, et al (2011) Distribution of lignin monomers and the evolution of lignification among lower plants. Plant Biol (Stuttg) 13:59–68. doi:10. 1111/j.1438-8677.2010.00345.x
- Oinonen P, Zhang L, Lawoko M, Henriksson G (2014) On the formation of lignin polysaccharide networks in Norway spruce. Phytochemistry. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2014.10.027
- Delaux P-M, Nanda AK, Mathé C, et al (2012) Molecular and biochemical aspects of plant terrestrialization. Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst 14:49–59. doi:10.1016/j.ppees.2011.09.001
- 5. Vanholme R, Demedts B, Morreel K, et al (2010) Lignin biosynthesis and structure. Plant Physiol 153:895–905. doi:10.1104/pp.110.155119
- 6. Bonawitz ND, Chapple C (2010) The genetics of lignin biosynthesis: connecting genotype to phenotype. Annu Rev Genet 44:337–363. doi:10.1146/annurev-genet-102209-163508
- 7. Ek M, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G (2009) Wood chemistry and biotechnology. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin
- Schuetz M, Benske A, Smith RA, et al (2014) Laccases direct lignification in the discrete secondary cell wall domains of protoxylem. Plant Physiol 166:798–807. doi:10.1104/pp.114. 245597
- Zhao Q, Nakashima J, Chen F, et al (2013) LACCASE is necessary and nonredundant with PEROXIDASE for lignin polymerization during vascular development in arabidopsis. Plant Cell 25:3976–3987. doi:10.1105/tpc.113.117770
- Sangha AK, Petridis L, Smith JC, et al (2012) Molecular simulation as a tool for studying lignin. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 31:47–54. doi:10.1002/ep.10628
- 11. Wang Y, Chantreau M, Sibout R, Hawkins S (2013) Plant cell wall lignification and monolignol metabolism. Front Plant Sci. doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00220
- 12. Davin LB, Lewis NG (2005) Lignin primary structures and dirigent sites. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16:407–415. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2005.06.011
- Hatfield R, Vermerris W (2001) Lignin formation in plants. The dilemma of linkage specificity. Plant Physiol 126:1351–1357. doi:10.1104/pp.126.4.1351
- Sangha AK, Parks JM, Standaert RF, et al (2012) Radical coupling reactions in lignin synthesis: a density functional theory study. J Phys Chem B 116:4760–4768. doi:10.1021/ jp2122449
- Sangha AK, Davison BH, Standaert RF, et al (2014) Chemical factors that control lignin polymerization. J Phys Chem B 118:164–170. doi:10.1021/jp411998t
- Ralph J, Lundquist K, Brunow G, et al (2004) Lignins: natural polymers from oxidative coupling of 4-hydroxyphenyl- propanoids. Phytochem Rev 3:29–60. doi:10.1023/B:PHYT. 0000047809.65444.a4
- Saake B, Lehnen R (2000) Lignin. In: Ullmanns encyclopedia of industrial chemistry. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim
- Zakzeski J, Bruijnincx PCA, Jongerius AL, Weckhuysen BM (2010) The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. Chem Rev 110:3552–3599. doi:10. 1021/cr900354u
- Joffres B, Laurenti D, Charon N, et al (2013) Thermochemical conversion of lignin for fuels and chemicals: a review. Oil Gas Sci Technol – Rev D'IFP Energies Nouv 68:753–763. doi:10.2516/ogst/2013132
- Sette M, Wechselberger R, Crestini C (2011) Elucidation of lignin structure by quantitative 2D NMR. Chem Eur J 17:9529–9535. doi:10.1002/chem.201003045
- Vanholme R, Morreel K, Darrah C, et al (2012) Metabolic engineering of novel lignin in biomass crops. New Phytol 196:978–1000. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04337.x
- 22. Ragauskas AJ, Beckham GT, Biddy MJ, et al (2014) Lignin valorization: improving lignin processing in the biorefinery. Science 344:1246843. doi:10.1126/science.1246843
- Matsushita Y (2015) Conversion of technical lignins to functional materials with retained polymeric properties. J Wood Sci 61:230–250. doi:10.1007/s10086-015-1470-2

- 24. Klamrassamee T, Laosiripojana N, Cronin D, et al (2015) Effects of mesostructured silica catalysts on the depolymerization of organosolv lignin fractionated from woody eucalyptus. Bioresour Technol 180:222–229. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.12.098
- 25. Vishtal A (2011) Challenges in industrial applications of technical lignins. Bioresources 6(3):3547–3468
- 26. Strassberger Z, Tanase S, Rothenberg G (2014) The pros and cons of lignin valorisation in an integrated biorefinery. RSC Adv 4:25310–25318. doi:10.1039/C4RA04747H
- Doherty WOS, Mousavioun P, Fellows CM (2011) Value-adding to cellulosic ethanol: lignin polymers. Ind Crop Prod 33:259–276. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2010.10.022
- Lora JH, Glasser WG (2002) Recent industrial applications of lignin: a sustainable alternative to nonrenewable materials. J Polym Environ 10:39–48. doi:10.1023/A:1021070006895
- 29. Paul R, Burwell D, Dai X et al (2015) Recent progress in producing #11; lignin-based carbon fibers for functional applications. GrafTech International Holdings Inc., Brooklyn Heights
- Gomes FJB, Santos FA, Colodette JL, et al (2014) Literature review on biorefinery processes integrated to the pulp industry. Nat Resour 5:419–432. doi:10.4236/nr.2014.59039
- Upton BM, Kasko AM (2015) Strategies for the conversion of lignin to high-value polymeric materials: review and perspective. Chem Rev 116:2275–2306. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev. 5b00345
- 32. Berlin A, Balakshin M (2014) Industrial lignins: analysis, properties, and applications. Bioenergy Res Adv Appl 2014:315–336. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-59561-4.00018-8
- De Wild PJ, Huijgen WJJ, Gosselink RJA (2014) Lignin pyrolysis for profitable lignocellulosic biorefineries. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 8:645–657. doi:10.1002/bbb.1474
- 34. Smaranda A, Tucu D (2011) Different industrial applications of lignin as a sustainable material. Buletinul Agir - Numere Publicate. http://www.buletinulagir.agir.ro/articol.php? id=1293. Accessed 22 Apr 2017
- Norgren M, Edlund H (2014) Lignin: recent advances and emerging applications. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci 19:409–416. doi:10.1016/j.cocis.2014.08.004
- 36. Calvo-Flores FG, Dobado JA, Isac-García J et al (2015) Lignin and lignans as renewable raw materials: chemistry, technology and applications. Wiley, Chichester. http://eu.wiley.com/ WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-1118597869.html. Accessed 11 Jan 2016
- 37. Zhu W (2015) Precipitation of kraft lignin: yield and equilibrium. Doctoral thesis, Chalmers University of Technology
- Rosas JM, Berenguer R, Valero-Romero MJ, et al (2014) Preparation of different carbon materials by thermochemical conversion of lignin. Front Mater. doi:10.3389/fmats.2014. 00029
- Burkhardt-Karrenbrock A, Seegmüller S, Burk R (2001) Flüssigholz Ein Überblick. Eur J Wood Wood Prod 59:13–18. doi:10.1007/s001070050465
- 40. Nägele H, Pfitzer J, Ziegler L et al (2013) Lignin Matrix Composites from natural resources– ARBOFORM. In: Kabasci S (ed) Bio-based plastics: materials and applications. Wiley, Chichester pp 89–115
- 41. White JF (2007) Top value-added chemicals from biomass. In: Results of screening for potential candidates from biorefinery lignin, vol II. U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge
- Perez-Cantu L, Liebner F, Smirnova I (2014) Preparation of aerogels from wheat straw lignin by cross-linking with oligo(alkylene glycol)-α,ω-diglycidyl ethers. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 195:303–310. doi:10.1016/j.micromeso.2014.04.018
- Duval A, Lawoko M (2014) A review on lignin-based polymeric, micro- and nano-structured materials. React Funct Polym 85:78–96. doi:10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2014.09.017
- 44. Xiao S, Feng J, Zhu J, et al (2013) Preparation and characterization of lignin-layered double hydroxide/styrene-butadiene rubber composites. J Appl Polym Sci 130:1308–1312. doi:10. 1002/app.39311
- 45. Ten E, Vermerris W (2015) Recent developments in polymers derived from industrial lignin. J Appl Polym Sci 132:42069. doi:10.1002/app.42069

- 46. Chung Y-L, Olsson JV, Li RJ, et al (2013) A renewable lignin–lactide copolymer and application in biobased composites. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 1:1231–1238. doi:10.1021/ sc4000835
- 47. Laurichesse S, Huillet C, Avérous L (2014) Original polyols based on organosolv lignin and fatty acids: new bio-based building blocks for segmented polyurethane synthesis. Green Chem 16:3958–3970. doi:10.1039/C4GC00596A
- Kudanga T, Nyanhongo GS, Guebitz GM, Burton S (2011) Potential applications of laccasemediated coupling and grafting reactions: a review. Enzyme Microb Technol 48:195–208. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2010.11.007
- Sena-Martins G, Almeida-Vara E, Duarte JC (2008) Eco-friendly new products from enzymatically modified industrial lignins. Ind Crops Prod 27:189–195. doi: 10.1016/j. indcrop.2007.07.016
- Hüttermann A, Mai C, Kharazipour A (2001) Modification of lignin for the production of new compounded materials. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 55:387–394
- 51. Johansson K, Gillgren T, Winestrand S, et al (2014) Comparison of lignin derivatives as substrates for laccase-catalyzed scavenging of oxygen in coatings and films. J Biol Eng 8:1. doi: 10.1186/1754-1611-8-1
- 52. Bugg TDH, Ahmad M, Hardiman EM, Rahmanpour R (2011) Pathways for degradation of lignin in bacteria and fungi. Nat Prod Rep 28:1883–1896. doi:10.1039/c1np00042j
- 53. Smolarski N (2012) High-value opportunities for lignin: unlocking its potential bio-based news-the portal for bio-based economy and industrial biotechnology. In: Bio-based news. http://news.bio-based.eu/high-value-opportunities-for-lignin-unlocking-its-potential/. Accessed 18 May 2015
- 54. Mota MIF, Pinto PCR, Loureiro JM, Rodrigues AE (2016) Recovery of vanillin and syringaldehyde from lignin oxidation: a review of separation and purification processes. Sep Purif Rev 45:227–259. doi:10.1080/15422119.2015.1070178
- Fache M, Boutevin B, Caillol S (2016) Epoxy thermosets from model mixtures of the ligninto-vanillin process. Green Chem 18:712–725. doi:10.1039/C5GC01070E
- 56. Xu C, Arancon RAD, Labidi J, Luque R (2014) Lignin depolymerisation strategies: towards valuable chemicals and fuels. Chem Soc Rev 43:7485–7500. doi:10.1039/c4cs00235k
- Pandey MP, Kim CS (2011) Lignin depolymerization and conversion: a review of thermochemical methods. Chem Eng Technol 34:29–41. doi:10.1002/ceat.201000270
- Li C, Zhao X, Wang A, et al (2015) Catalytic transformation of lignin for the production of chemicals and fuels. Chem Rev 115:11559–11624. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00155
- Papadopoulos AN (2011) Sorption of acetylated pine wood decayed by brown rot, white rot and soft rot: different fungi—different behaviours. Wood Sci Technol 46:919–926. doi:10. 1007/s00226-011-0450-y
- 60. Martínez AT, Speranza M, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, et al (2005) Biodegradation of lignocellulosics: microbial, chemical, and enzymatic aspects of the fungal attack of lignin. Int Microbiol Off J Span Soc Microbiol 8:195–204
- Wang W, Yuan T, Cui B (2014) Biological pretreatment with white rot fungi and their co-culture to overcome lignocellulosic recalcitrance for improved enzymatic digestion. Bioresources 9:3968–3976. doi:10.15376/biores.9.3.3968-3976
- 62. Sundman V, Näse L (1972) The synergistic ability of some wood-degrading fungi to transform lignins and lignosulfonates on various media. Arch Mikrobiol 86:339–348. doi:10.1007/BF00424990
- 63. Qi-he C, Krügener S, Hirth T, et al (2011) Co-cultured production of lignin-modifying enzymes with white-rot fungi. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 165:700–718. doi:10.1007/s12010-011-9289-9
- 64. Chi Y, Hatakka A, Maijala P (2007) Can co-culturing of two white-rot fungi increase lignin degradation and the production of lignin-degrading enzymes? Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 59:32–39. doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2006.06.025

- Boddy L (2000) Interspecific combative interactions between wood-decaying basidiomycetes. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 31:185–194. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2000.tb00683.x
- 66. Prewitt L, Kang Y, Kakumanu ML, Williams M (2014) Fungal and bacterial community succession differs for three wood types during decay in a forest soil. Microb Ecol 68:212–221. doi:10.1007/s00248-014-0396-3
- 67. Rajala T, Peltoniemi M, Pennanen T, Mäkipää R (2012) Fungal community dynamics in relation to substrate quality of decaying Norway spruce (Picea abies [L.] Karst.) logs in boreal forests. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 81:494–505. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01376.x
- Zhou L-W, Wei Y-L, Dai Y-C (2014) Phylogenetic analysis of ligninolytic peroxidases: preliminary insights into the alternation of white-rot and brown-rot fungi in their lineage. Mycology 5:29–42. doi:10.1080/21501203.2014.895784
- 69. Floudas D, Binder M, Riley R, et al (2012) The paleozoic origin of enzymatic lignin decomposition reconstructed from 31 fungal genomes. Science 336:1715–1719. doi:10. 1126/science.1221748
- 70. Riley R, Salamov AA, Brown DW, et al (2014) Extensive sampling of basidiomycete genomes demonstrates inadequacy of the white-rot/brown-rot paradigm for wood decay fungi. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:9923–9928. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400592111
- Raghavan R, Adusumalli R-B, Buerki G, et al (2012) Deformation of the compound middle lamella in spruce latewood by micro-pillar compression of double cell walls. J Mater Sci 47:6125–6130. doi:10.1007/s10853-012-6531-y
- Schwarze FWMR (2007) Wood decay under the microscope. Fungal Biol Rev 21:133–170. doi:10.1016/j.fbr.2007.09.001
- Zeng Y, Zhao S, Yang S, Ding S-Y (2014) Lignin plays a negative role in the biochemical process for producing lignocellulosic biofuels. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27:38–45. doi:10.1016/ j.copbio.2013.09.008
- 74. Pandey KK, Pitman AJ (2003) FTIR studies of the changes in wood chemistry following decay by brown-rot and white-rot fungi. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 52:151–160. doi:10.1016/ S0964-8305(03)00052-0
- Janusz G, Kucharzyk KH, Pawlik A, et al (2013) Fungal laccase, manganese peroxidase and lignin peroxidase: gene expression and regulation. Enzym Microb Technol 52:1–12. doi:10. 1016/j.enzmictec.2012.10.003
- Furukawa T, Bello FO, Horsfall L (2014) Microbial enzyme systems for lignin degradation and their transcriptional regulation. Front Biol 9:448–471. doi:10.1007/s11515-014-1336-9
- 77. Floudas D, Held BW, Riley R, et al (2015) Evolution of novel wood decay mechanisms in Agaricales revealed by the genome sequences of Fistulina hepatica and *Cylindrobasidium torrendii*. Fungal Genet Biol 76:78–92. doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2015.02.002
- Alfaro M, Oguiza JA, Ramírez L, Pisabarro AG (2014) Comparative analysis of secretomes in basidiomycete fungi. J Proteome 102:28–43. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2014.03.001
- 79. Kellner H, Luis P, Pecyna MJ, et al (2014) Widespread occurrence of expressed fungal secretory peroxidases in forest soils. PLoS ONE 9:e95557. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0095557
- Pointing S (2001) Feasibility of bioremediation by white-rot fungi. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 57:20–33. doi:10.1007/s002530100745
- 81. Christiane Liers TA (2011) Patterns of lignin degradation and oxidative enzyme secretion by different wood- and litter-colonizing basidiomycetes and ascomycetes grown on beechwood. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 78:91–102. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01144.x
- Hammel KE, Cullen D (2008) Role of fungal peroxidases in biological ligninolysis. Curr Opin Plant Biol 11:349–355. doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2008.02.003
- Liers C, Aranda E, Strittmatter E, et al (2014) Phenol oxidation by DyP-type peroxidases in comparison to fungal and plant peroxidases. J Mol Catal B Enzym 103:41–46. doi:10.1016/j. molcatb.2013.09.025

- 84. Hastrup ACS, Howell C, Larsen FH, et al (2012) Differences in crystalline cellulose modification due to degradation by brown and white rot fungi. Fungal Biol 116:1052–1063. doi:10.1016/j.funbio.2012.07.009
- de Boer W, Folman LB, Summerbell RC, Boddy L (2005) Living in a fungal world: impact of fungi on soil bacterial niche development. FEMS Microbiol Rev 29:795–811. doi:10.1016/j. femsre.2004.11.005
- 86. Blanchette RA (2000) A review of microbial deterioration found in archaeological wood from different environments. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 46:189–204. doi:10.1016/S0964-8305(00)00077-9
- 87. Kües U (2007) Wood production, wood technology, and biotechnological impacts. Universitätsverlag Göttingen, Göttingen
- Dashtban M, Schraft H, Syed TA, Qin W (2010) Fungal biodegradation and enzymatic modification of lignin. Int J Biochem Mol Biol 1:36–50
- Hernández-Ortega A, Ferreira P, Martínez AT (2012) Fungal aryl-alcohol oxidase: a peroxide-producing flavoenzyme involved in lignin degradation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93:1395–1410. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3836-8
- Ludwig R, Harreither W, Tasca F, Gorton L (2010) Cellobiose dehydrogenase: a versatile catalyst for electrochemical applications. ChemPhysChem 11:2674–2697. doi:10.1002/cphc. 201000216
- Pollegioni L, Tonin F, Rosini E (2015) Lignin-degrading enzymes. FEBS J 282:1190–1213. doi:10.1111/febs.13224
- 92. Hammel KE, Mozuch MD, Jensen KA, Kersten PJ (1994) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> recycling during oxidation of the arylglycerol beta-aryl ether lignin structure by lignin peroxidase and glyoxal oxidase. Biochemistry (Mosc) 33:13349–13354
- Giardina P, Sannia G (2015) Laccases: old enzymes with a promising future. Cell Mol Life Sci 72:855–856. doi:10.1007/s00018-014-1821-y
- 94. Giardina P, Faraco V, Pezzella C, et al (2010) Laccases: a never-ending story. Cell Mol Life Sci 67:369–385. doi:10.1007/s00018-009-0169-1
- 95. Reiss R, Ihssen J, Richter M, et al (2013) Laccase versus laccase-like multi-copper oxidase: a comparative study of similar enzymes with diverse substrate spectra. PLoS ONE 8:e65633. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065633
- Wong DWS (2009) Structure and action mechanism of ligninolytic enzymes. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 157:174–209. doi:10.1007/s12010-008-8279-z
- Jones SM, Solomon EI (2015) Electron transfer and reaction mechanism of laccases. Cell Mol Life Sci 72:869–883. doi:10.1007/s00018-014-1826-6
- 98. Yoon J, Solomon EI (2007) Electronic structure of the peroxy intermediate and its correlation to the native intermediate in the multicopper oxidases: insights into the reductive cleavage of the O–O bond. J Am Chem Soc 129:13127–13136. doi:10.1021/ja073947a
- 99. Cañas AI, Camarero S (2010) Laccases and their natural mediators: biotechnological tools for sustainable eco-friendly processes. Biotechnol Adv 28:694–705. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv. 2010.05.002
- 100. Munk L, Sitarz AK, Kalyani DC, et al (2015) Can laccases catalyze bond cleavage in lignin? Biotechnol Adv 33:13–24. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.12.008
- 101. Daroch M, Houghton CA, Moore JK, et al (2014) Glycosylated yellow laccases of the basidiomycete *Stropharia aeruginosa*. Enzym Microb Technol 58–59:1–7. doi:10.1016/j. enzmictec.2014.02.003
- 102. Chaurasia PK, Bharati SL, Singh SK (2013) Comparative studies on the blue and yellow laccases. Res Plant Sci 1:32–37. doi:10.1007/s12010-011-9289-9
- 103. Passardi F, Bakalovic N, Teixeira FK, et al (2007) Prokaryotic origins of the non-animal peroxidase superfamily and organelle-mediated transmission to eukaryotes. Genomics 89:567–579. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2007.01.006

- 104. Zámocký M, Hofbauer S, Schaffner I, et al (2015) Independent evolution of four heme peroxidase superfamilies. Arch Biochem Biophys 574:108–119. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2014.12. 025
- 105. Passardi F, Theiler G, Zamocky M, et al (2007) PeroxiBase: the peroxidase database. Phytochemistry 68:1605–1611. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2007.04.005
- 106. Lundell TK, Mäkelä MR, Hildén K (2010) Lignin-modifying enzymes in filamentous basidiomycetes–ecological, functional and phylogenetic review. J Basic Microbiol 50:5–20. doi:10.1002/jobm.200900338
- 107. Sugano Y (2008) DyP-type peroxidases comprise a novel heme peroxidase family. Cell Mol Life Sci 66:1387–1403. doi:10.1007/s00018-008-8651-8
- 108. Nakasone KK, Hibbett DS, Goranova G (2009) Neocampanella, a new corticioid fungal genus, and a note on *Dendrothele bispora*. Botany 87:875–882. doi:10.1139/B09-046
- 109. Zámocký M, Gasselhuber B, Furtmüller PG, Obinger C (2014) Turning points in the evolution of peroxidase–catalase superfamily: molecular phylogeny of hybrid heme peroxidases. Cell Mol Life Sci 71:4681–4696. doi:10.1007/s00018-014-1643-y
- 110. Fernández-Fueyo E, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Miki Y, et al (2012) Lignin-degrading peroxidases from genome of selective ligninolytic fungus *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora*. J Biol Chem 287:16903–16916. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.356378
- 111. Morales M, Mate MJ, Romero A, et al (2012) Two oxidation sites for low redox potential substrates. J Biol Chem 287:41053–41067. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.405548
- 112. Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Lundell T, Floudas D, et al (2013) Lignin-degrading peroxidases in Polyporales: an evolutionary survey based on 10 sequenced genomes. Mycologia 105:1428–1444. doi:10.3852/13-059
- 113. Harms H, Schlosser D, Wick LY (2011) Untapped potential: exploiting fungi in bioremediation of hazardous chemicals. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:177–192. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2519
- 114. Hofrichter M (2002) Review: lignin conversion by manganese peroxidase (MnP). Enzym Microb Technol 30:454–466. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(01)00528-2
- 115. Abdel-Hamid AM, Solbiati JO, Cann IKO (2013) Insights into lignin degradation and its potential industrial applications. Adv Appl Microbiol 82:1–28. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-407679-2.00001-6
- 116. Hildén L, Johansson G, Pettersson G, et al (2000) Do the extracellular enzymes cellobiose dehydrogenase and manganese peroxidase form a pathway in lignin biodegradation? FEBS Lett 477:79–83. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(00)01757-9
- 117. Lundell T, Wever R, Floris R, et al (1993) Lignin peroxidase L3 from Phlebia radiata. Presteady-state and steady-state studies with veratryl alcohol and a non-phenolic lignin model compound 1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-2-(2-methoxyphenoxy)propane-1,3-diol. Eur J Biochem FEBS 211:391–402
- 118. Salvachúa D, Prieto A, Martínez ÁT, Martínez MJ (2013) Characterization of a novel dyedecolorizing peroxidase (DyP)-type enzyme from *Irpex lacteus* and its application in enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:4316–4324. doi:10.1128/AEM. 00699-13
- 119. Liers C, Pecyna MJ, Kellner H, et al (2013) Substrate oxidation by dye-decolorizing peroxidases (DyPs) from wood- and litter-degrading agaricomycetes compared to other fungal and plant heme-peroxidases. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:5839–5849. doi:10. 1007/s00253-012-4521-2
- 120. Yoshida T, Tsuge H, Konno H, et al (2011) The catalytic mechanism of dye-decolorizing peroxidase DyP may require the swinging movement of an aspartic acid residue. FEBS J 278:2387–2394. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08161.x
- 121. Piontek K, Smith AT, Blodig W (2001) Lignin peroxidase structure and function. Biochem Soc Trans 29:111–116. doi:10.1042/0300-5127:0290111
- 122. Heinfling A, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Martínez MJ, et al (1998) A study on reducing substrates of manganese-oxidizing peroxidases from *Pleurotus eryngii* and *Bjerkandera adusta*. FEBS Lett 428:141–146. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(98)00512-2

- 123. Garcia-Ruiz E, Gonzalez-Perez D, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, et al (2012) Directed evolution of a temperature-, peroxide- and alkaline pH-tolerant versatile peroxidase. Biochem J 441:487– 498. doi:10.1042/BJ20111199
- 124. Bugg TDH, Ahmad M, Hardiman EM, Singh R (2011) The emerging role for bacteria in lignin degradation and bio-product formation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22:394–400. doi:10. 1016/j.copbio.2010.10.009
- 125. Hofrichter M, Ullrich R, Pecyna MJ, et al (2010) New and classic families of secreted fungal heme peroxidases. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:871–897. doi:10.1007/s00253-010-2633-0
- 126. Hofrichter M, Ullrich R (2014) Oxidations catalyzed by fungal peroxygenases. Curr Opin Chem Biol 19:116–125. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2014.01.015
- 127. Dana I, Colpa MWF (2013) DyP-type peroxidases: a promising and versatile class of enzymes. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 41:1–7. doi:10.1007/s10295-013-1371-6
- 128. Yoshida T, Sugano Y (2015) A structural and functional perspective of DyP-type peroxidase family. Arch Biochem Biophys 574:49–55. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2015.01.022
- 129. Martin Hofrichter RU (2009) New trends in fungal biooxidation. Ind Appl 10:425–449. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-11458-8\_21
- Piontek K, Strittmatter E, Ullrich R, et al (2013) Structural basis of substrate conversion in a new aromatic peroxygenase cytochrome P450 functionality with benefits. J Biol Chem 288:34767–34776. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.514521
- 131. Peter S, Kinne M, Wang X, et al (2011) Selective hydroxylation of alkanes by an extracellular fungal peroxygenase. FEBS J 278:3667–3675. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08285.x
- 132. Scheibner M, Hülsdau B, Zelena K, et al (2007) Novel peroxidases of Marasmius scorodonius degrade β-carotene. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 77:1241–1250. doi:10.1007/ s00253-007-1261-9
- 133. Vincenza Faraco AP (2007) Identification of a new member of the dye-decolorizing peroxidase family from *Pleurotus ostreatus*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 23:889–893. doi:10. 1007/s11274-006-9303-5
- 134. Singh R, Eltis LD (2015) The multihued palette of dye-decolorizing peroxidases. Arch Biochem Biophys 574:56–65. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2015.01.014
- 135. Strittmatter E, Liers C, Ullrich R, et al (2013) First crystal structure of a fungal high-redox potential dye-decolorizing peroxidase: substrate interaction sites and long-range electron transfer. J Biol Chem 288:4095–4102. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.400176
- 136. Strittmatter E, Serrer K, Liers C, et al (2015) The toolbox of Auricularia auricula-judae dye-decolorizing peroxidase--identification of three new potential substrate-interaction sites. Arch Biochem Biophys 574:75–85. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2014.12.016
- 137. Linde D, Pogni R, Cañellas M, et al (2015) Catalytic surface radical in dye-decolorizing peroxidase: a computational, spectroscopic and site-directed mutagenesis study. Biochem J 466:253–262. doi:10.1042/BJ20141211
- 138. Liers C, Bobeth C, Pecyna M, et al (2010) DyP-like peroxidases of the jelly fungus Auricularia auricula-judae oxidize nonphenolic lignin model compounds and high-redox potential dyes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 85:1869–1879. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-2173-7
- 139. Fernández-Fueyo E, Linde D, Almendral D, et al (2015) Description of the first fungal dyedecolorizing peroxidase oxidizing manganese(II). Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99:8927–8942. doi:10.1007/s00253-015-6665-3
- 140. Levasseur A, Drula E, Lombard V, et al (2013) Expansion of the enzymatic repertoire of the CAZy database to integrate auxiliary redox enzymes. Biotechnol Biofuels 6:41. doi:10.1186/ 1754-6834-6-41
- 141. Yamada Y, Wang J, Kawagishi H, Hirai H (2014) Improvement of ligninolytic properties by recombinant expression of glyoxal oxidase gene in hyper lignin-degrading fungus *Phanerochaete sordida* YK-624. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 78:2128–2133. doi:10.1080/ 09168451.2014.946398

- 142. Kersten P, Cullen D (2014) Copper radical oxidases and related extracellular oxidoreductases of wood-decay agaricomycetes. Fungal Genet Biol 72:124–130. doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2014.05. 011
- 143. Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Martínez AT (2009) Microbial degradation of lignin: how a bulky recalcitrant polymer is efficiently recycled in nature and how we can take advantage of this. Microb Biotechnol 2:164–177. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7915.2008.00078.x
- 144. Gibson A, Malek L, Dekker RFH, Ross B (2015) Detecting volatile compounds from Kraft lignin degradation in the headspace of microbial cultures by selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry (SIFT-MS). J Microbiol Methods 112:40–45. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2015.03.008
- 145. Hammel KE, Kapich AN, Jensen KAJ, Ryan ZC (2002) Reactive oxygen species as agents of wood decay by fungi. Enzym Microb Technol 30:445–453. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(02) 00011-X
- 146. Henriksson G, Johansson G, Pettersson G (2000) A critical review of cellobiose dehydrogenases. J Biotechnol 78:93–113
- 147. Gómez-Toribio V, García-Martín AB, Martínez MJ, et al (2009) Induction of extracellular hydroxyl radical production by white-rot fungi through quinone redox cycling. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:3944–3953. doi:10.1128/AEM.02137-08
- 148. Brown ME, Chang MC (2014) Exploring bacterial lignin degradation. Curr Opin Chem Biol 19:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.11.015
- 149. Wu D, Hugenholtz P, Mavromatis K, et al (2009) A phylogeny-driven genomic encyclopaedia of bacteria and archaea. Nature 462:1056–1060. doi:10.1038/nature08656
- 150. Zimmermann W (1990) Degradation of lignin by bacteria. J Biotechnol 13:119–130. doi:10. 1016/0168-1656(90)90098-V
- 151. Tian J-H, Pourcher A-M, Bouchez T, et al (2014) Occurrence of lignin degradation genotypes and phenotypes among prokaryotes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:9527–9544. doi:10.1007/ s00253-014-6142-4
- 152. Ahmad M, Taylor CR, Pink D, et al (2010) Development of novel assays for lignin degradation: comparative analysis of bacterial and fungal lignin degraders. Mol BioSyst 6:815–821. doi:10.1039/b908966g
- 153. Taylor CR, Hardiman EM, Ahmad M, et al (2012) Isolation of bacterial strains able to metabolize lignin from screening of environmental samples. J Appl Microbiol 113:521–530. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05352.x
- 154. Scully ED, Geib SM, Carlson JE, et al (2014) Functional genomics and microbiome profiling of the Asian longhorned beetle (*Anoplophora glabripennis*) reveal insights into the digestive physiology and nutritional ecology of wood feeding beetles. BMC Genomics 15:1096. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-1096
- 155. Scully ED, Geib SM, Hoover K, et al (2013) Metagenomic profiling reveals lignocellulose degrading system in a microbial community associated with a wood-feeding beetle. PLoS ONE 8:e73827. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073827
- 156. Odier E, Janin G, Monties B (1981) Poplar lignin decomposition by gram-negative aerobic bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 41:337–341
- 157. McCarthy AJ, Broda P (1984) Screening for lignin-degrading actinomycetes and characterization of their activity against (14C)lignin-labelled wheat lignocellulose. Microbiology 130:2905–2913
- 158. Haider K, Trojanowski J, Sundman V (1978) Screening for lignin degrading bacteria by means of 14C-labelled lignins. Arch Microbiol 119:103–106. doi:10.1007/BF00407936
- 159. Pasti MB, Pometto AL, Nuti MP, Crawford DL (1990) Lignin-solubilizing ability of actinomycetes isolated from termite (Termitidae) gut. Appl Environ Microbiol 56:2213–2218
- 160. Pometto AL, Crawford DL (1986) Effects of pH on lignin and cellulose degradation by Streptomyces viridosporus. Appl Environ Microbiol 52:246–250
- 161. Crawford DL (1978) Lignocellulose decomposition by selected *Streptomyces* strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 35:1041–1045

- 162. McCarthy AJ, MacDonald MJ, Paterson A, Broda P (1984) Degradation of [14C]ligninlabelled wheat lignocellulose by white-rot fungi. J Gen Microbiol 130:1023–1030. doi:10. 1099/00221287-130-5-1023
- 163. Vicuña R (1988) Bacterial degradation of lignin. Enzym Microb Technol 10:646–655. doi:10.1016/0141-0229(88)90055-5
- 164. Taylor CR (2013) Isolation of environmental lignin-degrading bacteria and identification of extracellular enzymes. University of Warwick, Coventry
- 165. Shi Y, Chai L, Tang C, et al (2013) Biochemical investigation of kraft lignin degradation by *Pandoraea* sp. B-6 isolated from bamboo slips. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 36:1957–1965. doi:10.1007/s00449-013-0972-9
- 166. Chai L, Chen Y, Tang C, et al (2014) Depolymerization and decolorization of kraft lignin by bacterium *Comamonas* sp. B-9. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:1907–1912. doi:10.1007/ s00253-013-5166-5
- 167. Ramachandra M, Crawford DL, Hertel G (1988) Characterization of an extracellular lignin peroxidase of the lignocellulolytic actinomycete *Streptomyces viridosporus*. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:3057–3063
- 168. Mason JC, Richards M, Zimmermann W, Broda P (1988) Identification of extracellular proteins from actinomycetes responsible for the solubilisation of lignocellulose. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 28:276–280. doi:10.1007/BF00250455
- 169. Magnuson TS, Crawford DL (1992) Comparison of extracellular peroxidase- and esterasedeficient mutants of Streptomyces viridosporus T7A. Appl Environ Microbiol 58:1070–1072
- Mercer DK, Iqbal M, Miller P, McCarthy AJ (1996) Screening Actinomycetes for extracellular peroxidase activity. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:2186–2190
- 171. le Roes-Hill M, Khan N, Burton SG (2011) Actinobacterial peroxidases: an unexplored resource for biocatalysis. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 164:681–713. doi:10.1007/s12010-011-9167-5
- 172. Majumdar S, Lukk T, Solbiati JO, et al (2014) Roles of small laccases from *Streptomyces* in lignin degradation. Biochemistry (Mosc) 53:4047–4058. doi:10.1021/bi500285t
- 173. Chandra R, Chowdhary P (2015) Properties of bacterial laccases and their application in bioremediation of industrial wastes. Evnviron Sci Process Impacts 17:326–342. doi:10.1039/ C4EM00627E
- 174. Santhanam N, Vivanco JM, Decker SR, Reardon KF (2011) Expression of industrially relevant laccases: prokaryotic style. Trends Biotechnol 29:480–489. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech. 2011.04.005
- 175. Ausec L, Zakrzewski M, Goesmann A, et al (2011) Bioinformatic analysis reveals high diversity of bacterial genes for laccase-like enzymes. PLoS ONE 6:e25724. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0025724
- 176. Dwivedi UN, Singh P, Pandey VP, Kumar A (2011) Structure–function relationship among bacterial, fungal and plant laccases. J Mol Catal B Enzym 68:117–128. doi:10.1016/j. molcatb.2010.11.002
- 177. Ladomersky E, Petris MJ (2015) Copper tolerance and virulence in bacteria. Metallomics 7:957–964. doi:10.1039/c4mt00327f
- 178. Geszvain K, McCarthy JK, Tebo BM (2013) Elimination of manganese(II,III) oxidation in pseudomonas putida GB-1 by a double knockout of two putative multicopper oxidase genes. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:357–366. doi:10.1128/AEM.01850-12
- 179. Tebo BM, Johnson HA, McCarthy JK, Templeton AS (2005) Geomicrobiology of manganese(II) oxidation. Trends Microbiol 13:421–428. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2005.07.009
- 180. Singh G, Batish M, Sharma P, Capalash N (2009) Xenobiotics enhance laccase activity in alkali-tolerant γ-proteobacterium JB. Braz J Microbiol 40:26–30. doi:10.1590/S1517-83822009000100004
- 181. Santos A, Mendes S, Brissos V, Martins LO (2013) New dye-decolorizing peroxidases from Bacillus subtilis and Pseudomonas putida MET94: towards biotechnological applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:2053–2065. doi:10.1007/s00253-013-5041-4

- 182. Sturm A, Schierhorn A, Lindenstrauss U, et al (2006) YcdB from *Escherichia coli* reveals a novel class of tat-dependently translocated hemoproteins. J Biol Chem 281:13972–13978. doi:10.1074/jbc.M511891200
- 183. Yu W, Liu W, Huang H, et al (2014) Application of a novel alkali-tolerant thermostable DyP-type peroxidase from *Saccharomonospora viridis* DSM 43017 in biobleaching of eucalyptus kraft pulp. PLoS One 9:e110319. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110319
- 184. Létoffé S, Heuck G, Delepelaire P, et al (2009) Bacteria capture iron from heme by keeping tetrapyrrol skeleton intact. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:11719–11724. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0903842106
- 185. Ogola HJO, Kamiike T, Hashimoto N, et al (2009) Molecular characterization of a novel peroxidase from the cyanobacterium *Anabaena* sp. strain PCC 7120. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:7509–7518. doi:10.1128/AEM.01121-09
- 186. Brown ME, Barros T, Chang MCY (2012) Identification and characterization of a multifunctional dye peroxidase from a lignin-reactive bacterium. ACS Chem Biol 7:2074–2081. doi:10.1021/cb300383y
- 187. van Bloois E, Pazmiño DET, Winter RT, Fraaije MW (2010) A robust and extracellular heme-containing peroxidase from *Thermobifida fusca* as prototype of a bacterial peroxidase superfamily. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86:1419–1430. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-2369-x
- 188. Sugano Y, Muramatsu R, Ichiyanagi A, et al (2007) DyP, a unique dye-decolorizing peroxidase, represents a novel heme peroxidase family: ASP171 replaces the distal histidine of classical peroxidases. J Biol Chem 282:36652–36658. doi:10.1074/jbc.M706996200
- 189. Singh R, Grigg JC, Armstrong Z, et al (2012) Distal heme pocket residues of B-type dye-decolorizing peroxidase: arginine but not aspartate is essential for peroxidase activity. J Biol Chem 287:10623–10630. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.332171
- 190. Mendes S, Brissos V, Gabriel A, et al (2015) An integrated view of redox and catalytic properties of B-type PpDyP from *Pseudomonas putida* MET94 and its distal variants. Arch Biochem Biophys 574:99–107. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2015.03.009
- 191. Binesse J, Lindgren H, Lindgren L, et al (2015) Roles of reactive oxygen species-degrading enzymes of *Francisella tularensis* SCHU S4. Infect Immun 83:2255–2263. doi:10.1128/IAI. 02488-14
- 192. Turlin E, Débarbouillé M, Augustyniak K, et al (2013) Staphylococcus aureus FepA and FepB proteins drive heme iron utilization in *Escherichia coli*. PLoS ONE 8:e56529. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0056529
- 193. Ahmad M, Roberts JN, Hardiman EM, et al (2011) Identification of DypB from *Rhodococcus jostii* RHA1 as a lignin peroxidase. Biochemistry (Mosc) 50:5096–5107. doi:10.1021/bi101892z
- 194. Strachan C, VanInsberghe D, Williams D (2012) Ligninase activity is not consistently predicted by the presence of manganese coordinating residues in Dyp-like proteins. J Exp Microbiol Immunol 16:66–72
- 195. Roberts JN, Singh R, Grigg JC, et al (2011) Characterization of dye-decolorizing peroxidases from *Rhodococcus jostii* RHA1. Biochemistry (Mosc) 50:5108–5119. doi:10.1021/ bi200427h
- 196. Singh R, Grigg JC, Qin W, et al (2013) Improved manganese-oxidizing activity of DypB, a peroxidase from a lignolytic bacterium. ACS Chem Biol 8:700–706. doi:10.1021/cb300608x
- 197. Rahmanpour R, Bugg TDH (2013) Assembly in vitro of *Rhodococcus jostii* RHA1 encapsulin and peroxidase DypB to form a nanocompartment. FEBS J 280:2097–2104. doi:10.1111/febs.12234
- 198. Min K, Gong G, Woo HM, et al (2015) A dye-decolorizing peroxidase from *Bacillus subtilis* exhibiting substrate-dependent optimum temperature for dyes and β-ether lignin dimer. Sci Rep 5:8245. doi:10.1038/srep08245
- 199. Mai-Prochnow A, Lucas-Elio P, Egan S, et al (2008) Hydrogen peroxide linked to lysine oxidase activity facilitates biofilm differentiation and dispersal in several Gram-negative bacteria. J Bacteriol 190:5493–5501. doi:10.1128/JB.00549-08

- 200. Jin J, Mazon H, van den Heuvel RHH, et al (2007) Discovery of a eugenol oxidase from *Rhodococcus* sp. strain RHA1. FEBS J 274:2311–2321. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007. 05767.x
- 201. Phugare SS, Waghmare SR, Jadhav JP (2011) Purification and characterization of dye degrading of veratryl alcohol oxidase from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain BCH. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 27:2415–2423. doi:10.1007/s11274-011-0714-6
- 202. Tamboli DP, Telke AA, Dawkar VV, et al (2011) Purification and characterization of bacterial aryl alcohol oxidase from *Sphingobacterium* sp. ATM and its uses in textile dye decolorization. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 16:661–668. doi:10.1007/s12257-011-0031-9
- 203. Masai E, Katayama Y, Fukuda M (2007) Genetic and biochemical investigations on bacterial catabolic pathways for lignin-derived aromatic compounds. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 71:1–15
- 204. Yoshikata T, Suzuki K, Kamimura N, et al (2014) A three-component O-demethylase system essential for catabolism of a lignin-derived biphenyl compound in *Sphingobium* sp. strain SYK-6. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:7142–7153. doi:10.1128/AEM.02236-14
- 205. Gall DL, Kim H, Lu F, et al (2014) Stereochemical features of glutathione-dependent enzymes in the Sphingobium sp. strain SYK-6 β-aryl etherase pathway. J Biol Chem 289:8656–8667. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.536250
- 206. Mishra S, Sachan A, Sachan SG (2013) Production of natural value-added compounds: an insight into the eugenol biotransformation pathway. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 40:545–550. doi:10.1007/s10295-013-1255-9
- 207. Fuchs G, Boll M, Heider J (2011) Microbial degradation of aromatic compounds–from one strategy to four. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:803–816. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2652
- 208. Wells Jr T, Ragauskas AJ (2012) Biotechnological opportunities with the β-ketoadipate pathway. Trends Biotechnol 30:627–637. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2012.09.008
- 209. Sainsbury PD, Hardiman EM, Ahmad M, et al (2013) Breaking down lignin to high-value chemicals: the conversion of lignocellulose to vanillin in a gene deletion mutant of *Rhodococcus jostii* RHA1. ACS Chem Biol 8:2151–2156. doi:10.1021/cb400505a

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2019) 166: 519–540 DOI: 10.1007/10\_2016\_71 © Springer International Publishing AG 2017 Published online: 17 March 2017

# **Sustainability Evaluation**



**Heinz Stichnothe** 

**Abstract** The long-term substitution of fossil resources can only be achieved through a bio-based economy, with biorefineries and bio-based products playing a major role. However, it is important to assess the implications of the transition to a bio-based economy. Life cycle-based sustainability assessment is probably the most suitable approach to quantify impacts and to identify trade-offs at multiple levels. The extended utilisation of biomass can cause land use change and affect food security of the most vulnerable people throughout the world. Although this is mainly a political issue and governments should be responsible, the responsibility is shifted to companies producing biofuels and other bio-based products. Organic wastes and lignocellulosic biomass are considered to be the preferred feedstock for the production of bio-based products. However, it is unlikely that a bio-based economy can rely only on organic wastes and lignocellulosic biomass.

It is crucial to identify potential problems related to socio-economic and environmental issues. Currently there are many approaches to the sustainability of bio-based products, both quantitative and qualitative. However, results of different calculation methods are not necessarily comparable and can cause confusion among decision-makers, stakeholders and the public.

Hence, a harmonised, globally agreed approach would be the best solution to secure sustainable biomass/biofuels/bio-based chemicals production and trade, and to avoid indirect effects (e.g. indirect land use change). However, there is still a long way to go.

Generally, the selection of suitable indicators that serve the purpose of sustainability assessment is very context-specific. Therefore, it is recommended to use a flexible and modular approach that can be adapted to various purposes. A conceptual model for the selection of sustainability indicators is provided that facilitates

H. Stichnothe  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Thünen-Institute of Agricultural Technology, Bundesallee 50, 38116 Braunschweig, Germany e-mail: Heinz.stichnothe@thuenen.de

identifying suitable sustainability indicators based on relevance and significance in a given context.

Keywords Bio-based product, Bioeconomy, Biorefinery, Food security, LCA

#### Contents

2       Sustainability Development and Sustainability       52         3       Life Cycle Thinking and Life Cycle-Based Assessment       52         4       Standards and Certification Systems       52         5       Evaluation of Biofuels and Other Bio-Based Products       53         6       Land Use       53         7       Food Security       53         8       Processing Biomass       53         9       Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management       53         1nfrastructure       53
3       Life Cycle Thinking and Life Cycle-Based Assessment       52         4       Standards and Certification Systems       52         5       Evaluation of Biofuels and Other Bio-Based Products       53         6       Land Use       53         7       Food Security       53         8       Processing Biomass       53         9       Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management       53         1nfrastructure       53
4       Standards and Certification Systems       52         5       Evaluation of Biofuels and Other Bio-Based Products       53         6       Land Use       53         7       Food Security       53         8       Processing Biomass       53         9       Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management       53         1       Infrastructure       53
5       Evaluation of Biofuels and Other Bio-Based Products       53         6       Land Use       53         7       Food Security       53         8       Processing Biomass       53         9       Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management Infrastructure       53
6       Land Use       53         7       Food Security       53         8       Processing Biomass       53         9       Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management       53         Infrastructure       53
7       Food Security       53         8       Processing Biomass       53         9       Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management       53         Infrastructure       53
<ul> <li>8 Processing Biomass</li></ul>
9 Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management Infrastructure
Infrastructure
10 Interpreting Results
11 Conclusions 53
References

# 1 Introduction

Integrated biorefineries and their bio-based products are perceived as a key source for urgently needed innovation for a bio-based economy. Many governments have set up supportive policies for research and development (R&D) in relevant areas, such as biotechnology. An additional advantage of biomass utilisation is that previously unused material flows can be directed towards industrial use, supporting development of innovative refining technologies, increasing resource-efficiency, and reducing environmental burdens. However, the food vs fuel debate has initiated a broad discussion on land competition between the food and animal feed sectors on one hand and energy and material recovery from biomass on the other, as well as the limited availability of land, speculation on raw materials and consequences for biodiversity and its conservation. The environmental, economic and social impacts of industrial biomass use are also dependent on the specific design of the whole value chain, including use, and therefore cannot be assessed to be intrinsically sustainable. It is thus necessary to use a life cycle consideration to assess the sustainability of biorefinery's products.

New biorefinery concepts, designed for use of a wide range of biomass fractions and with minimum (preferably zero) waste generation of a multitude of products for different markets, are not yet state-of-the-art. Demonstration plants are currently emerging in highly integrated process systems, where the greatest possible number of biorefinery products can feed directly into further processes. Integrated biorefineries could manufacture sustainably produced fuels and chemicals. However, the sustainability implications of integrated biorefineries are still poorly understood.

Most publications regarding the assessment of bio-based products use life cycle assessment (LCA) to evaluate the environmental performance of bio-based products in comparison to their fossil-derived counterparts. Frequently the analyses focus on energy or greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Weiss et al. reviewed 44 LCA studies of bio-based products. The authors conducted a meta-analysis and concluded that bio-based products usually provide a GHG emission reduction, but cause increased eutrophication and stratospheric ozone depletion relative to fossilderived products [1]. These findings are in line with those of Stichnothe and Azapagic as well as with Ekmann and Börjesson, who have also found a trade-off between global warming potential and eutrophication [2, 3]. Adom et al. have compared energy consumption and GHG emissions of eight bio-based chemicals produced either from corn stover-derived sugars or algal-derived glycerol with their fossil counterparts. The authors state that in all cases bio-based products offer a GHG reduction and also lower fossil energy consumption relative to their fossil counterparts [4]. Lammens et al. show that glutamic acid produced from sugar beet vinasse can be used as the building block for N-methylpyrrolidone (NMP), Nvinylpyrollidone (NVP), acrylonitrile (CAN) and succinonitrile (SCN). A life cycle-based comparison revealed that NMP and NVP derived from glutamic acid have lower environmental impacts than their fossil-derived counterparts. The opposite was true for CAN and SCN, indicating that not all bio-based products have a better environmental performance than their fossil counterparts [5, 6]. Lin et al. compared bio-based p-xylene with petrochemical-derived p-xylene. The author highlighted the importance of the used feedstock; xylene from starch is identified as less environmental-friendly than petrochemical-derived xylene, whereas oak-derived xylene has an environmental performance comparable to petrochemical-derived xylene [7].

However, it is impossible to compare the results of different publications because the authors used different assumptions, allocation procedures and background data. Despite the plethora of activities related to biorefineries, there is still no agreed framework for sustainability assessment. A common framework would help governments and industry identify, evaluate and support the development of bio-based products which are likely to be most sustainable and thus beneficial [8].

This chapter aims to contribute to a better understanding of the sustainability assessment of integrated biorefineries and bio-based products.

### **2** Sustainability Development and Sustainability

The term sustainable development is frequently confused with the term sustainability; both terms are closely linked but are not the same. Sustainable development is a process whereas sustainability is a property of something (a policy, a product, a technology, etc.) being sustainable [9]. There is worldwide consensus on the abstract sustainability concept, although there are endless discussions and no agreement about the best way to measure it [10].

Sustainability as a concept is defined as strong or weak sustainability. Supporters of the latter believe that natural capital (well-functioning ecosystems and biogeochemical cycles) can be substituted with other kinds of capital (human, social and manufactured) whilst sustaining human welfare. Opponents of that position reject the assumption of universal capital substitutability based on an evaluation of the nature and functions of natural capital. Advocates of strong sustainability argue that the life supporting functions provided by well-functioning ecosystems and biogeochemical cycles are largely non-substitutable. Strong sustainability therefore demands the maintenance of critical natural capital stocks safely above potential carrying capacity thresholds.

To set the scope we use the Brundtland definition, which is broadly accepted. The Brundtland report "Our common future" expresses the concept of sustainability in the context of 'sustainable development', defining the latter as 'Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs' [11].

Within these well-accepted and apparently objective definitions for sustainable development, the central questions of 'sustaining what, for whom, where, and for how long?' remain laden with human values and social choices, which are very context-specific, and therefore the answers differ across time, space and culture [10].

In general, sustainable development is subdivided into three areas or dimensions: environmental, economic and social. Nowadays, a fourth dimension is frequently mentioned: good governance. What is 'good governance'?

Good governance is about the processes for making and implementing decisions. It's not about making 'correct' decisions, but about the best possible process for making those decisions. Good decision-making processes, and therefore good governance, share several characteristics. All have a positive effect on various aspects of local government including consultation policies and practices, meeting procedures, service quality protocols, councillor and officer conduct, role clarification and good working relationships.<sup>1</sup>

Bad governance is often considered as one of the root causes that hamper sustainable development. Governance is usually beyond the influence sphere of economic operators of biorefineries, and is therefore mentioned here but not further discussed.

The other three dimensions are well-known, but rarely well-understood, and sustainability indicators are used by various institutions at various levels, (e.g. UN, OECD, EU, national governments) as well as by companies and NGOs. Currently, most approaches that measure sustainable development, including triple-bottomline and PPP (People, Planet, Prosperity), use the weak sustainability concept. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.goodgovernance.org.au/about-good-governance/what-is-good-governance/.



concept is also preferred by standardisation and certification bodies as it allows the defining of measureable and/or verifiable indicators.

Sustainability means different things to different people and can be used for different purposes. That has caused confusion among involved parties. Sustainability requirements are sometimes considered as trade barriers for developing countries, made responsible for increasing biomass costs, and considered as unfair as the requirements are not equally set for conventional fossil-based products.

The domains and views of companies and policy are different, which is illustrated in Fig. 1.

National governments or regulation bodies set the framework in which companies operate. Companies have full responsibility within their premises. Although companies have some influence on their supplier's activities, depending on their size, they have little or no influence on their customer's activities or the consumer's behaviour and the resulting environmental and socio-economic impacts. However, the deployment of novel biorefineries requires large investments and investors need long-term business perspectives, which are more and more influenced by sustainability-related legislation and public perception [12].

Sustainability demands the integration of multiple knowledge areas, including natural science, health, social science, economic science and policy across the whole life cycle. Successfully engaging diverse disciplines can help identify important sustainability aspects that are overlooked in an isolated disciplinary context [13].

The results of sustainability assessment can be interpreted in various ways by different groups. Moreover, different sustainability assessment methods can provide contrasting results for the same bio-based product, causing confusion among stakeholders and the public. One reason for the confusion is that different stakeholders, such as policy makers, industry managers, NGOs and consumers have a different understanding of what bio-based products and biorefineries are. Additionally, values and aims of the different groups are not necessarily the same. Therefore, clear definitions of biorefineries and bio-based products are needed as well as a transparent and complete description of the purpose and the objectives of each sustainability assessment. To provide some guidance the most important terms used in this chapter are defined as follows

Biorefinery is a sustainable processing of sustainably produced biomass into a spectrum of marketable products (food, feed materials, chemicals) and energy (fuels, power, heat) modified from Bell et al. [14]. Biorefineries can be further distinguished based on their main product into energy-driven biorefineries and product-driven biorefineries [15].

Various types of biomass are used for the production of bio-based products through many types and sizes of economic operations. Virtually every country in the world produces and consumes some form of bio-based products and/or bioenergy. The characteristics of bio-based products are very heterogeneous, and their production processes depend on several factors, including geographic location, climatic conditions, development level, institutional frameworks and technological issues.

Most biorefineries have deployed multiple technologies and use different integrated processes designs; moreover, they commonly produce a portfolio of bio-based products. The goal of assessing a single biorefinery might be to improve single processing steps or the interaction between multiple processing steps with respect to optimising resource efficiency, including energy demand or reducing emissions or wastes. Another possible goal is to compare different technology set-ups within a given biorefinery concept producing the same products. The results of the assessment differ among different biorefinery concepts and are barely comparable. The sustainability assessment of biorefineries is outlined in VDI 6310, an industrial guidance document for biorefinery operators.

There is no need to reinvent the wheel; hence the sustainability assessment in this chapter focuses on the assessment of bio-based products. The definition of bio-based products is difficult as sometimes people define bio-based products with respect to their functionality, that is biodegradable or on the feedstock origin (bio-based carbon content).

Table 1 demonstrates that biodegradability can be achieved independently from the feedstock, although renewable feedstock does not ensure biodegradability. The same molecules (e.g. ethylene, glycerol, succinic acid) can be derived from fossilbased or renewable feedstock. Hence, the environmental functionality can hardly be used as a criterion for bio-based products. The preferred criterion for bio-based products is the bio-based content, but of which atom(s), C, N, H? It is highly likely that the carbon content is the most relevant, although other bio-based molecules should not be ignored in scientific debates.

Feedstock	Functionality	Example
Renewable	Biodegradable	Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA)
Renewable	Non-biodegradable	Polyethylene from sugar
Fossil-based	Non-biodegradable	Polyethylene from crude-oil
Fossil-based	Biodegradable	Polycaprolactone (PCL)

 Table 1
 Feedstock origin and functionality of selected products

However, there is no agreement on the proportion of bio-based carbon in a bio-based product. It seems reasonable to classify bio-based products based on thresholds, for example 100% bio-based carbon, >50% bio-based carbon and >25% bio-based carbon. Threshold values should be derived from a stakeholder consultation process.

The content of bio-based carbon in the product can be measured by the <sup>14</sup>Cmethod, but that shows only the origin of the carbon in the product. It does not take into account the energy used in production and distribution. Therefore, in addition to a transparent and complete description of the purpose and the objectives of each sustainability assessment, a life cycle-based approach is needed to assess the true (environmental) impacts of any bio-based product.

#### **3** Life Cycle Thinking and Life Cycle-Based Assessment

Life Cycle Thinking (LCT) is about going beyond the traditional focus and production site and manufacturing processes to include environmental, social and economic impacts of a product over its entire life cycle.<sup>2</sup> According to Kloepffer "Life cycle thinking is the prerequisite of any sound sustainability assessment. It does not make any sense at all to improve (environmentally, economically, socially) one part of the system in one country, in one step of the life cycle or in one environmental compartment, if this 'improvement' has negative consequences for other parts of the system which may outweigh the advantages achieved [16]." This includes shifting of burdens in both an intra- and inter-generational context.

LCT means extending the narrow focus beyond production facilities. A life cycle of bio-based products begins with the cultivation of biomass, including all processes needed to provide the necessary ancillaries, such as seeds, fertiliser, pesticides and energy provision. Biomass and energy are then part of production, packaging, distribution, (cascading) use, recycling and recovery or final disposal.

For assessing the environmental sustainability of bio-based products, LCA is frequently used. LCA helps to quantify the environmental burdens related to energy, goods and services, the environmental benefits, the trade-offs and areas for achieving improvements. In LCA, the connections between single processes and process steps in a product system are modelled to quantify the material and energy flows within a product system. LCA is an internationally standardised methodology (ISO 14040 ff. [17, 18] and consists of four steps:

- 1. Goal and scope definition
- 2. Life cycle inventory (LCI)
- 3. Life cycle impact assessment (LCIA)
- 4. Interpretation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://www.lifecycleinitiative.org/starting-life-cycle-thinking/what-is-life-cycle-thinking/.

Conducting an LCA is an iterative process; additional information and data gained during the assessment process can require backshift to a previous life cycle stage to include the new data and/or information.

LCI is the collection and analysis of environmental interventions data (e.g. emissions to air and water, waste generation and resource consumption) which are associated with a product throughout its life cycle.

LCIA is the estimation of indicators of the environmental pressures in terms of climate change, summer smog, resource depletion, acidification and human health effects, associated with the environmental interventions attributable to the life cycle of a product.

LCA has been used for many years for decision-supporting purposes in research, policy making and companies. There is a huge amount of information about LCA available from international initiatives and governmental bodies, such as the Life Cycle Initiative, European Platform on LCA, US-EPA. Although the focus on environmentally beneficial approaches is a requirement for environmental and climate protection, the economic potential decides whether a biorefinery concept is developed up to a commercial scale.

Life cycle costing (LCC) is one approach to incorporating a subset of economic considerations into life cycle-oriented assessments. In essence, LCC quantifies costs (related to real money flows) associated with the life cycle of a product that are directly covered by one or more of the actors in the supply chain. Although parallel in many respects to conventional cost accounting, LCC additionally accounts for dimensions such as subsidies and costs related to the use and end-of-life treatment of products, and less tangible costs such as those associated with environmental protection.

Social life cycle assessment (S-LCA) is a relatively new approach to include the third dimension needed for sustainability assessment. S-LCA is a method that can be used to assess the social and sociological aspects of products, their actual and potential positives, as well as negative impacts along the life cycle. Although S-LCA follows the ISO 14040 framework, some aspects differ from traditional LCA. The Life Cycle Initiative provides a guideline for S-LCA of products.

Taken together, these three life cycle-based methodologies (LCA, LCC and social LCA) can contribute strongly to life cycle sustainability assessment (LCSA) [19]:

#### LCSA = LCA + LCC + SLCA

LCSA provides a consistent framework for conducting sustainability assessment, although there are multiple challenges associated with the current status of sustainability assessment. The data used in LCSA should be consistent, quality assured and reflect actual value chains. The methodological choices should reflect a best consensus among stakeholders and should be orientated at the current practise.

The availability of social LCI databases in support of social LCSA modelling is minimal at present, particularly at the process level. Beyond the screening level, the social LCA afforded by the Social Hotspots Database, process-level analyses requires site level research to characterise accurately the social dimensions of a particular product supply chain.

The available suite of life cycle based-indicators is limited across domains. More importantly, such indicators are invariably linked to products and/or services. Although this is not problematic in the environmental domain, as most environmental impacts can be accounted for in terms of consumption and production, this is less the case for social indicators [20, 21]. However, there are other more important drawbacks. In LCSA, each pillar of sustainability is separately modelled and then results are synthesised in a final decision-analysis step. Although this has the advantage of promoting a strong sustainability perspective, this approach does not consider mutual relations amongst the pillars. Moreover, emissions and environmental impacts might have a mathematical relationship (assumed to be linear), this does not hold for social impacts (e.g. human rights are not divisible). LCSA is an interesting concept that has to be developed further but at its current stage it is operational.

There are different reasons for conducting sustainability assessment. Frequently, sustainability assessment is conducted to support decision making. Figure 2 summarises the rationale for conducting a sustainability assessment.

Sustainability assessment can serve multiple purposes, but each has certain requirements regarding relevant aspects, data quality, methodological choices, and constraints such as data availability, resource restrictions and confidentiality issues. Therefore, a transparent and complete description of the purpose and objectives of each sustainability assessment is necessary. This helps one to decide whether results from different sustainability assessments for the same bio-based product



Fig. 2 Decision support by sustainability assessment

Environmental	Economic	Social
GHG emissions	Feedstock costs	Human health
Land demand	Investment costs	Labour rights
Land-use change	Subsidies	Working conditions
Biodiversity	Local income generation	Land ownership
Water consumption		Food security
Emissions to water and soil		Rural development

Table 2 Important sustainability aspects in the life cycle of bio-based products [2], modified

or its fossil-based counterpart are comparable. In a nutshell, results of different studies with diverse purposes are most likely not comparable.

Sustainability assessment must cover all relevant aspects and a sensitivity analysis must be carried out before conclusions can be drawn. Key aspects of sustainability are shown in Table 2. It is important to remember that sustainability assessment is an evolving field and it is unlikely that it can fulfil all requirements from all stakeholders everywhere, as desirable as that might be.

These sustainability aspects are frequently the basis for the development of standards and certification schemes outlined in the next sections.

#### 4 Standards and Certification Systems

Standards are usually a set of principles, criteria and/or indicators that serve as a basis for monitoring and reporting or as reference for assessment. A principle is a fundamental rule; criteria are to be understood as states or requirements linked with the principle, whereas indicators are qualitative or quantitative parameters which are assessed in relation to a criterion. The use of principles, criteria and indicators is the primary method for evaluating performance and compliance with certification schemes. Certification is regarded to be necessary and valuable, leading to the emergence of a number of schemes over the last decade and the acceptance of voluntary schemes to assess compliance with legislation, such as the EU Renewable Energy Directive (RED).

Many countries have set greenhouse gas reduction targets and that has accelerated the development of biofuel production technologies. To evaluate whether biofuels application results in GHG reduction, various assessment frameworks have been developed (Cramer, RFT, etc.) [22]. Moreover, setting GHG reduction targets has also fostered the development of tools (GREET,<sup>3</sup> BIOGRACE,<sup>4</sup> EnZO<sub>2</sub>,<sup>5</sup> etc.) for the calculation of GHG savings from biofuels. The RED requires that sustainability criteria are fulfilled for biofuels production in order to be counted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://greet.es.anl.gov/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>http://www.biograce.net/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://www.ifeu.de/english/index.php?bereich=nac&seite=ENZO2.

towards the blending obligations [23]. Sustainability criteria for biofuels are defined in the RED and GHG emission savings from biofuels are one core part of these criteria.

The GHG savings is the only quantitative indicator in that legislation. The directive also defines a formula to calculate GHG emission savings. This formula incorporates all life cycle stages from cultivation of the biomass, its harvesting and processing to transport and to storage of the final product. Under the RED, use of this formula when calculating GHG emission savings from biofuels is mandatory. There is no similar GHG requirement for bio-based products and these products are not even considered as GHG saving option in the policy strategies, although they seem to provide more added value in the long term. Additionally, they are more sustainable than the production of bioenergy and biofuels alone. There are various strategies, but there are no distinct policy drivers for the utilization of bio-based chemicals, in direct contrast to the biofuels industry where various national regulations are driving rapid growth [24]. However, increasing production of bio-based chemicals and materials requires changes in the supply chain infrastructure and may also need more efficient socioeconomic and policy frameworks [25], for example an expanded policy that includes bio-based products provides added flexibility without compromising GHG targets [26].

The end-use of biomass from forestry or agriculture is frequently not known as it depends on the market conditions at the point of harvest. To avoid overwhelming bureaucracy and an undue burden to biomass users, a harmonised approach for all biomass utilisation paths is considered to be the best solution. It is equally important to engage all stakeholders across sectors and locations with the purpose of finding common ground where possible, and increasing trust between stakeholders. Unfortunately this has not been achieved so far.

In order to evaluate whether biofuels meet sustainability requirements, numerous biomass biofuel sustainability standards and certification schemes have been developed or implemented by private and public organisations. Schemes are applicable to different feedstock production sectors (forests, agricultural crops), different bioenergy products (wood chips, pellets, ethanol, biodiesel, electricity) and whole or segments of supply chains [27, 28].

Table 3 provides an overview of sustainability indicators used in different schemes for the sustainability assessment of sustainable grown biomass (INRO), biofuels (RedCert) and bio-based materials (ISCC) and also national environmental performance (GBEP) sustainability assessments having goals other than certification, which may use a limited, modified or extended set of indicators.

In general, the selection of suitable indicators that serve the purpose of the assessment is context-specific. Therefore, use of a flexible and modular approach is recommended that can be adapted to various purposes. A conceptual model for the selection of sustainability indicators is shown in Fig. 3.

Indicators for sustainability assessment must encompass three dimensions. Indicators can be quantitative, qualitative or binary, and should address the most pressing issues shown in Table 2. Some criteria and indicators are mandatory, whereas others are only relevant in a specific context. In the first instance, the set

		ISCC		
	INRO	Plus	RedCert	GBEP
Ecological criteria				
Protection of natural biotopes (no go areas)	V	V	V	V
Wooded areas	V	V	V	
Areas reserved for nature conservation purposes	V	V	V	
Greenlands with a high degree of biodiversity	V	V	V	
Wetlands	V	V	V	
Peat bogs	V	V	V	
Inclusion of all cultivated areas of an agricultural holding		V		
Sustainable cultivation			V	
Ecological impact assessment and integration of stake-		V	V	
holders in the planning process				
Soil protection	V	V	V	V
Avoiding soil erosion	V	V	V	
Soil quality: preservation of soil structures and organic matter	V	V	V	
Consideration of crop rotation	V	V	V	
Water protection	V	V	V	V
Ensuring water quality	V	V	V	V
Avoiding contaminant input into rivers and groundwater	V	V	V	1
Efficient irrigation and controlled water consumption	V	V	V	1
Preservation of natural river courses	V	V	V	
Environmentally compatible use of fertilisers and pesticides	V	V	V	
Controlled use of fertilisers and pesticides (according to demand)	V	V	V	
Environmentally sound storage of chemicals	V	V	V	
Exclusion of internationally prohibited chemicals and agrochemicals	V	V	V	
Sound handling of chemicals and sound disposal of chemicals containers	V	V	V	
Documentation of chemicals use	V	V	V	
Waste management	V	V	Indirect	
Using by-products	V	V	Indirect	
Consideration of waste prevention measures and recycling	V	V		
Environmentally sound waste storage	V	V	V	
Conservation of biodiversity		v	V	v
Greenhouse gas emissions measured in unit: x kg CO <sub>2</sub>	V	V	V	
eq/kg				
Defining reduction targets				
Social criteria	V	V	V	V
Compliance with the criteria of the ILO core working standards at the operative level	V	V	V	

Table 3 Overview of criteria used in of selected standards/certification systems (INRO<sup>a</sup>, modified)

(continued)

#### Table 3 (continued)

		ISCC		
	INRO	Plus	RedCert	GBEP
Freedom of association and right to collective bargaining	V	V	V	
No forced labour	V	V	V	
No child labour	V	V	V	
No discrimination	V	V	V	
Further social criteria			V	
Availability of accommodation		V		
Access to drinking water		V		
Safe working conditions		V	V	
Protective clothing		V	V	
Trainings and further education		V		
Adequate remuneration and working contracts		V		V
Backing in case of illness		V		
Possibilities to lodge complaints on the operative level		V		
Possibilities for children to attend primary school		V		
Time recording, recording of overtime, breaks, holidays		V		
Respecting land use rights	V			V
Proof of land use right through producer	V	V		
Safeguarding traditional land use rights	V	V		
Fair contracts with farms and agricultural holdings	V	V		
Backing in case of illness	V			
Cultivation of biomass is not harmful to local food	V	V		
Economic criteria		V		
Good management practise		V		
Registration of cultivation areas in use		V		
Involvement of subcontractors		V		
Reporting of economic/management indicators		V		1
Business habits		V		1
CR guidelines for business relations		V		1
Anti-corruption and bribery measures		V		
Transparency of payment flows		V		V

<sup>a</sup>http://inro-biomasse.de/en.htm

of criteria and indicators should address the core issues. To be context-specific requires prioritisation and hierarchies that have to be defined to guide the selection of indicator for sustainability assessment. For simple questions, a full sustainability assessment may not be necessary and a streamlined approach using a limited number of indicators is sufficient. The selection of indicators for the assessment should be based on relevance and significance for the question in hand. As a first step, the criteria and indicators for biofuels can be used as the basis for the sustainability evaluation of other bio-based products, as shown in Table 3.



Fig. 3 Conceptual model of indicator selection for sustainability assessment

If the purpose of the assessment is the comparison of two options (technologies or products), all relevant indicators for each option should be considered. The indicators for the comparison should be derived using a consistent approach, consistent system boundaries and relevant data.

However, the sustainability assessment of bio-based chemicals and materials is far more complex than the assessment of biofuels, as explained in the next section [29].

## 5 Evaluation of Biofuels and Other Bio-Based Products

First generation biofuels are bio-based products. However, they are different from other bio-based products such as bio-based chemicals and materials in many respects as they have a single use phase and no end-of-life option, they are not re-usable or recyclable and, at least as transport fuel, their combustion products cannot be captured. From biomass feedstock, biofuels are converted in a limited number of processes, blended and "ready for use" [8]. Even food and feed products are more complex than biofuels because the associated organic waste or manure can be used as feedstock for biogas or compost production, or organic fertiliser.

For the sustainability assessment of other bio-based products the cultivation of biomass and, in the case of second generation biofuels transport, pre-treatment and processing of biofuels are common. The production of bio-based products is more complex than the production of biofuels. It can involve several processing steps; intermediates can be traded and blended with fossil-based intermediates, and not all processing steps have to occur in the same country. In a circular economy, bio-based products can be reused, recycled, down-cycled and go through different end-of-life options such as conversion to energy or disposal. The latter can differ



Fig. 4 Comparison of the life cycle of bioenergy, bio-based (Bb) or partly bio-based (Pbb) chemicals/materials

from country to country. Figure 4 illustrates the difference between biofuels and bio-based chemicals and materials.

Biomass provision and early processing steps of bio-based products are equal to those for biofuels, although the processing usually involves more steps and life cycle stages.

The cultivation and provision of biomass is paramount to the analysis and assessment of bio-based products. Cereal crops, oilseeds and sugar beet are grown primarily for utilisation as a food or feedstuff. The use of fertilisers and pesticides is required to achieve the highest possible yield per area, but their applications have been connected to undesirable effects on the environment. During cultivation, lignocellulosic agricultural by-products occur that are not suitable for food production and can be used as feedstock in biorefineries.

The production of crops causes a higher environmental impact per unit area than the production of timber; however, agricultural products can be more easily converted into value added products [30]. Agricultural products are either used directly (e.g. sugar or vegetable oil) or require only minimal conversion (e.g. starch), whereas the conversion of lignocellulosic feedstock requires pre-treatment, which can be either energy or chemical intensive. Although the production of bio-based products from lignocellulosic feedstock is desirable, the conversion technologies have not yet proven to be economically competitive.

## 6 Land Use

Land use change (LUC) is potentially the most controversial issue associated with the production of bio-based materials [31–33]. LUC has raised considerable concerns as it is frequently correlated with deforestation, animal extinction and peatland destruction [34]. Direct LUC entails conversion of existing land from a current use to the cultivation of agricultural biomass. Feedstock production for a bio-based industry can cause LUC on a global scale [35]. Indirect land use change (iLUC) is associated with the displacement of food production by bioenergy crops, and may cancel or exceed GHG emission mitigation achieved via fossil energy substitution [36].

It is therefore important that potential iLUC effects are accounted for in sustainability assessment. However, tracing such indirect consequences and attributing responsibility through proven causal links is challenging. Indirect LUC emissions are the component with the highest level of uncertainty. Despite this uncertainty, indirect LUC can be of importance when making strategic decisions. If sustainable biomass production for bioenergy or bio-based chemicals replaces intensive agriculture, the effects can range from neutral to positive. Appropriate management of cultivation could improve soil quality and positively affect habitats and the biodiversity of current arable land; reduced tillage, leaving crop residues in place and increasing external input of organic matter can contribute to carbon stock improvement. The impact of LUC depends on factors such as the cultivation methods, type of soil and climatic conditions, and may be positive or negative. LUC can be the most important factor for GHG emissions when it occurs [37].

## 7 Food Security

According to the FAO "the right to food" voluntary guideline, state governments have obligations to ensure availability of and access to adequate food. Governments should respect existing access to adequate food by not enacting measures that hamper food access, and should protect the right to adequate food by ensuring that enterprises and individuals do not deprive individuals of their access to adequate food. Unfortunately, because not all governments fulfil these obligations, the use of food biomass for other purposes is sometimes blamed for food insecurity [38]. Frequently, food is available but is too costly because of the lack of purchasing power of individuals or poor families. Whether that is regarded as unfair is an individual choice, but the food security issue puts responsibility onto governments and large companies to include this aspect in their decisions. This is particularly relevant for investment decisions and feedstock acquisition.

## 8 Processing Biomass

The production of bio-based products usually consists of more processing steps than the production of biofuels. However, process data are available to plant operators, although data from novel, not fully optimised processes have high uncertainty. One challenge is when process steps provide more than one product, and impacts (environmental, social and economic) have to be allocated between product and by-products. There are various options to conduct the allocation described in ISO 14040, but the choice for a certain allocation procedure influences the results. Another challenge is to gather or model relevant mass and energy flows in a consistent manner and communicate these data along the supply chain. This is necessary to assess the sustainability implications of the entire production process. There is no one-fits-all approach; it depends on the context in which results of sustainability assessment are used. A trade-off exists between accuracy and comparability of results. The latter requires a harmonised approach.

# 9 Life Cycle of Products: Time, Consumer Behaviour and Waste Management Infrastructure

In a circular economy, bio-based products can be reused, recycled, down-cycled and have different end-of-life options such as conversion to energy or disposal. The latter can differ from country to country. At the time of production it is not known how a product is used or whether and where it is recycled, down-cycled or disposed. Moreover, neither the technological efficiency at the end of the first use phase (i.e. if recycled or down-cycled) nor the waste management structure at the location, where the product is disposed are known. An additional complexity occurs because of different consumer behaviours. Consumers can collect and dispose used products in a responsible or irresponsible manner. The latter is particular relevant for the possible GHG reduction bio-based products can have. An additional complication arises for bio-based products with an extended service life, because future technology improvements are not known at the time of the assessment.

One possibility to confront those problems is to define scenarios in a modular manner, where the influence of different consumer behaviours, reuse/recycling/ down-cycling options and future technologies as well as the waste management infrastructure is defined.

### **10** Interpreting Results

Given the multitude of criteria and indicators in the sustainability assessment, conflicting results between indicators can occur: When trade-offs arise, it is necessary to prioritise between indicators in a systematic manner to produce meaningful results that support decision makers. Where trade-offs are inevitable, this requires careful reflection on the implications for meeting intra- and inter-generational needs.

Priority needs are often context specific. For example, whereas basic physical needs are, to a large extent, already met for most European citizens; this is not the case in some developing countries. Thus, developmental goals can focus on other non-material needs, not the case in certain developing country contexts [21].

### 11 Conclusions

Drastically reducing our reliance on fossil resources requires a bio-based economy, and this can only be achieved if biorefineries and bio-based products play a key role in the world market. However, it is important to assess the implications of the transition to a bio-based economy. Life cycle-based sustainability assessment is considered to be the most suitable approach to quantify impacts and identify trade-offs.

The sustainability assessment of bio-based products plays a key role in process development, investment decisions, societal acceptance and funding policies. Several approaches for sustainability assessment of bio-based products have been suggested in recent years [9, 19, 39–41]. These approaches have considered a broad spectrum of relevant sustainability issues to provide decision support for future sustainable bio-based products. Individual approaches have strengths and weaknesses, but have one thing in common; results are rarely directly comparable.

Consistency and transparency are key requirements for communicating sustainability results to stakeholders and the public. Deploying biorefineries requires large financial investments and investors need long-term business perspectives, which are increasingly influenced by sustainability-related legislation and public perception.

A conceptual model is provided that allows for selecting suitable sustainability indicators based on relevance and significance in a given context. For example, using organic waste and lignocellulosic biomass does not pose a risk for food security and consequently food security indicators are neither relevant nor significant for the assessment. In contrast, if food biomass is used for the production of bio-based products, then the impact on food security has to be part of the assessment particularly because it is a crucial issue to public perception. Problems such as food security are in the domain of governments but, when governments fail, this problem is nowadays considered to be the responsibility of companies. Sustainability assessment does not provide simple answers to complex questions. In-depth sustainability assessment requires substantial resources and the results are not easy to interpret. Decision makers are often reluctant to discuss the outcome of sustainability assessment because the results are not their primary concern and are outside their fields of knowledge. Both often hamper companies to conduct such a kind of assessment. However, there is a risk that important problems are not appropriately identified. Problems may arise at a later point, when solving them might be costly and time-consuming.

Hence, a harmonised globally agreed approach would be the best solution to secure sustainable biomass/biofuels/bio-based chemicals production and trade, and avoid indirect effects (e.g. iLUC). However, there is still a long way to go.

## References

- 1. Weiss M, Haufe J, Carus M, Brandão M, Bringezu S, Hermann B, Patel MK (2012) A review of the environmental impacts of biobased materials. J Ind Ecol 16:S169–S181
- Azapagic A, Stichnothe H (2011) Sustainability assessment of biofuels. In: Azapagic A, Perdan S (eds) Sustainable development in practice: case studies for engineers and scientists. Wiley-Blackwell, Ames, pp 142–169
- 3. Ekman A, Börjesson P (2011) Environmental assessment of propionic acid produced in an agricultural biomass-based biorefinery system. J Clean Prod 19:1257–1265
- Adom F, Dunn JB, Han J, Sather N (2014) Life-cycle fossil energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions of bioderived chemicals and their conventional counterparts. Environ Sci Technol 48:14624–14631
- Lammens TM, Franssen MCR, Scott EL, Sanders JPM (2012) Availability of protein-derived amino acids as feedstock for the production of bio-based chemicals. Biomass Bioenergy 44:168–181
- Lammens TM, Potting J, Sanders JPM, De Boer IJM (2011) Environmental comparison of biobased chemicals from glutamic acid with their petrochemical equivalents. Environ Sci Technol 45:8521–8528
- Lin Z, Nikolakis V, Ierapetritou MG (2015) Life cycle assessment of biobased p-xylene production. Ind Eng Chem Res 54(8): 2366–2378
- OECD (2010) Towards the development of OECD best practices for assessing the sustainability of bio-based products. OECD. www.oecd.org/sti/biotech/45598236.pdf
- Heijungs R, Huppes G, Guinée JB (2010) Life cycle assessment and sustainability analysis of products, materials and technologies. Toward a scientific framework for sustainability life cycle analysis. Polym Degrad Stab 95:422–428
- Deborah O'Connell JR, Hatfield-Dodds S, Braid A, Cowie A, Littleboy A, Wiedmann T, Clark M (2013) Designing for action: principles of effective sustainability measurement. World Economic Forum. https://www.weforum.org/reports/designing-action-principles-effective-sus tainability-measurement
- 11. Development WCoEa (1987) Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: our common future. UN
- Keller H, Rettenmaier N, Reinhardt GA (2015) Integrated life cycle sustainability assessment

   a practical approach applied to biorefineries. Appl Energy 154:1072–1081. doi:10.1016/j. apenergy.2015.01.095
- Iles A, Mulvihill MJ (2012) Collaboration across disciplines for sustainability: green chemistry as an emerging multistakeholder community. Environ Sci Technol 46:5643–5649
- 14. Bell G, Schuck S, Jungmeier G, Wellisch M, Felby C, Jorgensen H, Stichnothe H, Clancy M, De Bari I, Kimura S, van Ree R, de Jong Ed, Annevelink B, Kwant K, Torr K, Spaeth J (2014)

IEA bioenergy Task 42 biorefining: sustainable and synergetic processing of biomass into marketable food & feed ingredients, chemicals, materials and energy (fuels, power, heat). IEA Task 42, Wageningen, p 63

- 15. Jungmeier Gea (2013) Biofuel-driven biorefineries. IEA Bioenergy Task 42
- Klopffer W (2003) Life-cycle based methods for sustainable product development. Int J Life Cycle Assess 8:157–159
- 17. 14040 I (2006) Life cycle assessment principles and framework. Environmental Management
- 18. 14044 I (2006) Life cycle assessment requirements and guidelines. Environmental Management
- 19. Kloepffer W (2008) Life cycle sustainability assessment of products. Int J Life Cycle Assess 13:89–95
- 20. Kloepffer W (2008) Life cycle sustainability assessment of products (with comments by Helias A. Udo de Haes, p. 95). Int J Life Cycle Assess 13:89–95
- Pelletier N, Maas R, Goralczyk M, Wolf M-A (2014) Conceptual basis for development of the European Sustainability Footprint. Environ Dev 9:12–23. doi:10.1016/j.envdev.2013.12.003
- 22. Cramer J (2007) Testing framework for sustainable biomass
- 23. European Parliament and Council (2009) Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources and amending and subsequently repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC
- 24. Hermann B, Carus M, Patel M, Blok K (2011) Current policies affecting the market penetration of biomaterials\*. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 5:708–719
- 25. Richard TL (2010) Challenges in scaling up biofuels infrastructure. Science 329(5993):793-796
- 26. Posen ID, Griffin WM, Matthews HS, Azevedo IL (2014) Changing the renewable fuel standard to a renewable material standard: bioethylene case study. Environ Sci Technol 49:93–102
- 27. Pelkmans L (2013) Monitoring sustainability certification of bioenergy. IEA Bioenergy, Dublin
- Scarlat N, Dallemand J-F (2011) Recent developments of biofuels/bioenergy sustainability certification: a global overview. Energy Policy 39:1630–1646
- 29. Maes D, Van Dael M, Vanheusden B, Goovaerts L, Reumerman P, Márquez Luzardo N, Van Passel S (2015) Assessment of the sustainability guidelines of EU Renewable Energy Directive: the case of biorefineries. J Clean Prod 88:61–70
- 30. Government TGF (2012) Biorefineries Roadmap, Berlin
- 31. Fargione J et al (2008) Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. Science 319:1235-1238
- 32. Kline KL, Oladosu GA, Dale VH, McBride AC (2011) Scientific analysis is essential to assess biofuel policy effects: in response to the paper by Kim and Dale on "Indirect land-use change for biofuels: testing predictions and improving analytical methodologies". Biomass Bioenergy 35:4488–4491
- 33. Searchinger T, Heimlich R, Houghton RA, Dong F, Elobeid A, Fabiosa J, Tokgoz S, Hayes D, Yu TH (2008) Use of U.S. croplands for biofuels increases greenhouse gases through emissions from land-use change. Science 319:1238–1240
- 34. Stichnothe H, Schuchardt F (2011) Life cycle assessment of two palm oil production systems. Biomass Bioenergy 35:3976–3984
- 35. Warner E, Inman D, Kunstman B et al (2013) Modeling biofuel expansion effects on land use change dynamics. Environ Res Lett 8
- 36. Tonini D, Hamelin L, Wenzel H, Astrup T (2012) Bioenergy production from perennial energy crops: a consequential LCA of 12 bioenergy scenarios including land use changes. Environ Sci Technol 46:13521–13530
- 37. Styles D, Gibbons J, Williams AP, Dauber J, Stichnothe H, Urban B, Chadwick DR, Jones DL (2015) Consequential life cycle assessment of biogas, biofuel and biomass energy options within an arable crop rotation. GCB Bioenergy 7 (6):1305-1320. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12246
- 38. FAO (2005) The right to food voluntary guidelines. FAO, Rome

- Finkbeiner M, Schau EM, Lehmann A, Traverso M (2010) Towards life cycle sustainability assessment. Sustainability 2:3309–3322
- 40. Parajuli R, Dalgaard T, Jørgensen U, Adamsen APS, Knudsen MT, Birkved M, Gylling M, Schjørring JK (2015) Biorefining in the prevailing energy and materials crisis: a review of sustainable pathways for biorefinery value chains and sustainability assessment methodologies. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 43:244–263
- 41. Sheldon RA, Sanders JPM, Marinas A (2015) Sustainability metrics of chemicals from renewable biomass. Catal Today 239:1–2

# Index

#### A

Acetaldehyde, 193, 341, 343, 344, 356, 506 Acetate, 248-264, 289, 296, 341 Acetic acid, 8, 11, 161, 184, 194, 231, 261, 263, 289-291, 318, 327, 343, 344, 380, 415, 449, 462, 474 Acetobacterium woodii, 248, 250, 261 Acetobacter orientalis, 397 Acetogenesis, 288, 290, 296 Acetogens, 288-298, 341 autotrophic, 247 Acetosyringone, 477 Acetovanillon, 477 Acetyl-CoA-pathway, reductive, 254 Acetylxylan esterase, 189 Acidogenesis, 289 Acidothermus cellulolyticus, 198 Acid-precipitable polymeric lignin (APPL), 497 Acrylic acid, 373, 379 Acrylonitrile, 382, 521 Actinobacillus succinogenes, 384 Adipic acid, 389-391 Agricultural feedstock, 13 Agricultural residues, 13 Agrocybe aegerita, 491 Alcaligines faecalis M3A, 381 Alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH), 193 Alcohols, 290, 297, 339, 375, 417 biobased, 339 higher, 339, 357 Aldehyde deformylating oxygenases (ADOs), 416, 420 Algal lipids, biorefineries, 4, 7

Alkalibaculum bacchi, 253 Alkenes, 235, 417, 420, 492 Allele-coupled exchange (ACE), 259 Ammonia, synthesis, 219 Ammonia-oxidizing bacteria, 341 Amycolatopsis sp. (Streptomyces griseus), 503 Amylases, bacterial, 137, 148 Amylopectin, 460 Anaerobic digestion (AD), 281 Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens, 133 Anoplophora glabripennis, 497 Antioxidants, 72, 83, 88-91, 101, 103, 114, 131, 164, 394 Aqueous two-phase system (ATPS) separation, 111 Arabinofuranosidase, 189 Arabinose, 185, 197, 342 Arboform, 475 Aromatic peroxygenases (APO), 490, 491 Aromatics, 469 Artesemia annua, 419 Arthrobacter globiformis, 499 Aryl alcohol oxidases, 495 Aspergillus spp. A. niger, 57, 60, 72, 149, 187, 191, 198 A. oryzae, 141, 149, 150 A. saccharolyticus, 192 Astaxanthin, 102 Auricularia auricula-judae, 494, 501, 503 Autohydrolysis, 161 Autotrophs, anaerobic, 249 Azino-bis(3-ethylthiazoline-6-sulfonate) (ABTS), 494 Azospirillum lipoferum, 499

#### B

Bacillus spp. B. acidopullulyticus, 149 B. halodurans, 500 B. stearothermophilus, 145, 148 B. subtilis, 494 Bagasse, 5, 48, 128, 129, 179, 192, 467 Ball milling, lignin, 474 Barley, 54, 141, 146, 149, 374 straw, 15, 22, 48, 180 Beer brewing, 137, 145 Benzenediols, 484 Beta-carotene, 7, 102, 104 Biobased products, 519 Biobutanol, 56 Biochar, biorefineries, 11 Biocomposites, 427-433 Biodegradability, 427, 441 Biodiesel, 13, 15, 23, 70, 71, 318, 346, 360, 388, 529 Bioeconomy, 1, 125, 519 Bioethanol, 5, 13, 23, 47, 100, 138, 177-192, 269, 388, 453 Biofuels, evaluation, 532 Biogas, 281 biorefineries, 11 Biomass, 125, 281 bag-hydrolysis, 57 drying, 54 ensiling, 59 gasification, 217 on-site measurements, 50 Biomass-to-liquids (BtL), 219 Biomethanation, 281, 296 Biomethane, 283, 286, 291, 292 Bio-oils, 301 Bioplastics, 11, 139, 183, 375, 427-467 compostability, 444 Biorefineries, definitions, 1, 3 types, 4 Biphenyl 5,5-dehydrovanillate, 504 Bjerkandera adusta, 495 Black liquor, 10, 31-39, 156, 236, 238 Blautia producta (Peptostreptococcus/ Ruminococcus productus), 253 Botryobasidium botryosum, 478 Brown-rot fungi, 187, 477-481 Bubble column reactors (BCR), 266 Burkholderia cepacia, 397 Butanediols, 77, 339, 417, 463 1,4-Butanediol, 357, 462 2,3-Butanediol, 77, 79, 250, 354, 462

*n*-Butanol, 76, 79, 142, 160, 251, 269, 318, 339, 349 2-Butanone, 179, 353 *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*, 251

#### С

Calcium bisulfite, 183 Campesterylferulate, 87 Candida spp. C. boidinii, 359 C. krusei, 384 C. parapsilosis, 197 C. shehatae, 197 Canola, 54 Canolol, 90 Caprolactam, 392 Carbohydrate binding modules (CBMs), 189 Carbon dioxide, 247 Carbon monoxide, 247 Carboxylic acids, 194 5-Carboxyvanillate, 504 Carotenoids, 7, 88, 101, 114 Casein plastics, 434 Cassava, 6, 138-140, 151, 377 Castor beans, oil, 71 Catechol 1,2-dioxygenase (CatA), 389 Cellobiases, 189 Cellobiohydrolases, 189, 191, 480 Cellobiono-\delta-lactone, 495 Cellobiose, 189, 191, 495 Cellobiose dehydrogenases (CDH), 482, 488, 495 Cellodextrinases, 189 Cells, disruption, 99, 110 structure, 99, 106 Cellulases, 59, 137, 184, 187-198, 289, 442, 494 Cellulomonas fimi, 198 Cellulose, 154 regenerated, 460 Cellulose acetate (CA), 434, 462, 464 Cellulose esters, 460-462 Cell walls, composition, 99, 106 Certification, 528 Chloroperoxidases, 491 Chrysosporium lucknowense, 150 Clostridium spp. C. aceticum, 249 C. acetobutylicum, 188, 257, 346 C. acidurici, 254 C. autoethanogenum, 249, 250, 252
C. butyricum, 76, 77, 348, 349 C. carboxidivorans, 249, 252 C. coskatii, 252 C. difficile, 249, 254 C. diolis, 76, 349 C. kluyveri, 254 C. ljungdahlii, 249, 250 C. pasteurianum, 76, 79 C. propionicum, 253 C. ragsdalei, 252 C. thermoaceticum, 248 Coal-to-liquid (CtL), 219 Coal-to-polypropylene, 219 Coconut oil, 71 Combined heat and power (CHP), 291 Compost, 79, 293, 298, 435, 439, 498, 532 Compostability, 429, 442, 444, 445, 449 Coniferyl alcohol, 163, 186, 470-472, 498, 506 Consolidated bioprocessing (CBP), 197, 202 Consumer behaviour, 535 Continuous stirred-tank reactors (CSTR), 266 Copper, 268, 319, 347, 461, 483, 495, 498, 500 Coprinellus radians, 491 Coriolus versicolor, 498 Corn cobs, 155, 168, 198, 351 Corn-to-ethanol, 142 Corynebacterium glutamicum, 384 Cotton, seed oil, 71, 73, 80 Cottonwood, 157 Coumaric acid esterase, 189 Cross-linked enzyme aggregates (CLEAs), 190 Cumaryl alcohol, 471 Curcain, 89 Cyanobacteria, 7, 102, 416, 420, 491, 503 Cycloartenylferulate, 87 Cyclodextrins, 139, 147 Cytochrome P450, 420 monooxygenases, 417, 491, 492

#### D

Decarbonylases, 414, 416, 420 Decarbonylation, 319 Degradability, 429, 435, 439, 459, 473, 524 Dehulling, 80 Delignification, 154, 156, 162, 169, 480 Deodorization, 81 *Desulfovibrio acrylicus*, 381 Dicaffeoylquinic acids (DCQAs), 88 Digestion, anaerobic, 281 Dilactide, 451 Dimethoxy-4-vinylphenol, 90 Dimethyl ether (DME), 219, 232, 233, 340 Dimethyl sulfoxide, 475 Distillers dried grains with solubles (DDGS), 137, 138, 204 Dunaliella salina, 102 Dye-decolorizing peroxidases (DyPs), 481, 490, 501

### E

Electromethanogenesis, 296 Encapsulins, 503 Endoglucanases, 187-190, 198, 442 Endo-1,4-β-mannanases, 189 Energy, crops, 13, 15 potential, 13 renewable 281 Enzyme-assisted aqueous extraction (EAAE), 82 Enzymes, 469 industrial, 137 inhibition, 195 ligninolytic, 190 Erythritol, 359, 360 Escherichia coli, 76, 84, 197, 257, 345, 384, 417, 494, 500 17-β Estradiol, 91 Ethane, 416 Ethanol, 16, 47, 71, 76, 339, 342, 387, 447, 474, 529 fermentation, 192, 411, 415, 418 organosolv, 156 separation, 204 Ethene, 343, 411, 415-418 Eubacterium limosum, 251 Exoglucanases, 187, 189, 442 Expansin, 191 Extraction, 99, 111

## F

Farnesene, 411, 419
Fats, modification, 82
Feedstock, transportation, 55
Fermentation, inhibitors, 193
Fertilizers, 20, 47, 49, 56, 115, 126, 184, 204, 292, 298, 375, 437
Ferulic acid, 87, 88, 91, 498, 499

esterase, 189

Fischer–Tropsch process, 10, 46, 134, 219, 234
Flax, fiber, 475

oil, 71, 73, 84
phyto-nutrients, 91
protein, 84

Flocculation, 7, 107-109 5-Fluoroorotate (FOA), 260 Fomes fomentarius, 480 Fomitopsis pinicol, 480 Food security, 519, 534 Forests/forestry, 8, 23, 49, 60, 230, 440, 529 feedstocks, 14 industry, 27, 29, 57 residues, 8, 16, 51, 57, 60, 230, 239, 308 soils, 481 waste biomass, 421 Formaldehyde, 163, 232, 315, 327, 340 Formic acid, 194 Fractionation, 99, 113 Francisella tularensis, 502 Fuel ethanol, 137, 142 Fuels, synthetic, 217 Furandicarboxylic acid (FDCA), 455 Furan dicarboxylic methyl ester (FDME), 455 Furan-3-methanol, 196 Furfural, 131, 157, 194-196, 328, 342

## G

Gasification, 217, 220 Gasifiers, 226 Gas to liquid (GtL), 219 Geotrichum candidum, 491 Gloeophyllum trabeum, 479, 495 Glucoamylases, 57, 149 fungal, 137 Glucomannans, 185 Glucose, 140, 413 Glucosidases, 187, 189 Glucosinolates, 72 Glycerol, 7, 69, 74 Glycoside hydrolases, 188 Glyoxal oxidases, 495 Grapes, seed oil, 71 Green chemistry, 125

#### H

Haematococcus pluvialis, 102, 104 Halobacterium spp. H. saccharovorum, 397 H. salinarum, 502 Harvest, 51, 99, 107 Hemicellulases, 137, 138, 144, 145, 190, 289 Hemicellulose, 8, 33, 44, 50, 154, 480 Hemp, 50 oil, 71 protein, 83 Heterobasidion annosum, 480 High fructose corn syrup (HFCS), 137, 139 High-gravity technology, 203 Hollow fiber membrane reactors (HFR), 267 Horseradish peroxidase, 476 Hydrocarbons, aromatic, 421 Hydroformylation, 235 Hydrogen, 218, 235 Hydrogenation, 78, 82, 132, 203, 219, 221, 321, 345, 419 Hydrolysis, 6, 44, 57, 70, 91, 133, 146, 157-168, 288, 440, 445, 474 Hydroperoxides, 444 3-Hydroshikimic acid dehydratase (AroZ), 389 Hydroxyalkanols, 459 3-Hydroxybutyrate, 417 Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF), 132, 157, 455 Hydroxypropanoate, 381, 417 2-Hydroxypropanoic acid/lactic acid (LA), 376 Hydroxypropanone, 327 Hydroxypropionaldehyde, 79, 348 3-Hydroxypropionic acid, 132

### I

Indirect land use change (iLUC), 534 Insects, wood-eating, 497 Interesterification, 82 Ionic liquids, 111, 112, 153, 155, 165, 186, 474 recycling, 168 Iridophycus flaccidum, 397 Iron-sulfur proteins, 254, 256 Irpex lacteus, 494 Isobutanol (2-methylpropanol), 352, 361 Isobutene (isobutylene/2-methylpropene), 343, 344, 354, 411, 417 Isolariciresinol, 91 Isomalt/isomaltulose, 359 Isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP), 418 Isoprene (2-methyl-1,3-butadiene), 261, 411, 414, 418 Isoprenoids, 411, 418, 419 Isopropanol, 252, 260, 341, 346, 361, 417 Issatchenkia orientalis, 385

#### J

Jaapia argillacea, 478 Jatropha, phyto-nutrients, 89 protein, 85 Jojoba, oil, 71 Index

## K

Kerosene, 219 Klebsiella pneumoniae, 76, 79, 348, 349, 355 Kluyveromyces lactis, 191 Kluyveromyces marxianus, 57, 60, 195 Kogasin, 219 Kraft lignin (KL), 473 Kraft pulp, 155, 156, 238, 503 Kretzschmaria deusta, 480

#### L

Laccases, 190, 196, 470, 476, 496 bacterial, 499, 500 Lactic acid, 10, 44, 59, 60, 76, 79, 91, 184, 289, 360, 373, 430, 447, 450 Lactitol, 360, 394 Lactobacillus spp., 348, 377, 450 L. delbrueckii, 133 L. plantarum, 381 L. reuteri, 349 Lactobionic acid, 373, 394 Lactosucrose, 394 Lactulose, 394 Land use change (LUC), 534 Lecithin, 70, 80, 81, 88 Levulinic acid, 91, 132, 194 Life cycle assessment (LCA), 56, 271, 392, 519-526 Life cycle thinking (LCT), 525 Lignans, 91 Lignin, 154 degradation, 190, 195, 199, 469, 477, 504 bacterial, 496-507 fungal, 477-496 synthesis, 470-473 utilization, 155, 469, 496 Lignin-layered double hydroxide (L-LDH), 475 Ligninolytic enzymes, bacterial, 499 fungal, 482 Lignin peroxidases (LiP), 190, 488 Lignoboost 474 Lignocellulose, 153, 221, 473, 496-507, 519 biorefineries, 4, 8, 185, 474 feedstock, 177 gasification, 223 pretreatment, 44, 153, 181, 473 Lignosulfonates 473 Linoleic acid, 104, 495 Linoleum, 428, 434, 437 Liquefied petrol gas (LPG), 233 Loosinin, 191

Lyocell, 461 Lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases (LPMOs), 190

## M

Maize, 15, 22, 139, 178, 285, 374, 450, 452 oil. 71 proteins, 144, 145 Maltitol, 360 Maltose, 140, 141, 149, 360, 450 Manganese peroxidases, 190, 480, 486 Mannanases, 189 Mannans, 185 Mannheimia succiniproducens, 384, 387 Mannitol, 359-361 Marasmius rotula, 491 Mashing, 146 Matairesinol, 91 Membrane bioreactors (MBR), 266 Methanation, biological, 287, 295, 296 Methane, 11, 133, 204, 219, 235, 341, 415, 439 biomethane, 283, 286, 291, 292 Methanobacterium spp. 297 Methanogenesis, 290 Methanol, 10, 71, 77, 88, 156, 219, 232, 340, 358, 361, 394, 495 Methanol oxidase, 495 Methanol to gasoline (MtG), 219, 233 Methanol to olefins (MtO), 219, 234 Methoxymethyl furfural (MMF), 455 Methyl tert-butyl ether/tertiaryamylmethylether (MTBE/TAME), 340 Methylencycloartanylferulate, 87 Methylosinus trichosporium, 341 N-Methylpyrrolidone (NMP), 521 Microalgae, 99 Microbacterium oxydans, 499 Microbial chain elongation, 295, 297 Microbial electrosynthesis (MES), 261 Miscanthus, 13-15, 47, 50, 53, 158, 166, 168, 180.181 Molasses, 5, 350 Monoethylene glycol (MEG), 345 bio-based, 453 Monolignols, 470 Monooxygenases, 190, 480, 492 Moorella thermoacetica, 251, 264 Moving bed biofilm reactors (MMSB), 267 Muconic acid, 373, 389 Multi-copper oxidase, 483

Multifuel gasification, 237 *Muscodor vitigenus*, 421 *Mycobacterium* spp. 500 Mycodiesel, 421 Mycotoxins, 81 Myrosinases, 72

#### Ν

Naphthalene, 268, 413, 421 Natural fiber reinforced plastics (NFP), 432 Nickel, 252, 254, 264, 319 Nootkatone, 419 Nylon, 269, 375, 389, 392

### 0

*Ochrobactrum pseudogrignonense*, 499 Oil palm, 15, 158 Oils, bio-134, 224, 301–321 pyrolysis, 315 Oilseeds, processing, 80–88, 374, 533 Olefins-to-distillate (COD), 219 Olive oil, 70, 71 Organosolv, 11, 56, 153–170, 184, 473–476 Oryzanol, 87 Oxodegradability, 444

#### Р

Pachysolen tannophilus, 197 Paebibacillus polymxyxa, 191 Paecillomyces variotii, 198 Palatinit (isomalt), 359 Palm oil, 70, 79, 81, 91 kernel, 71 Palms, phyto-nutrients, 91 Peanuts, meal/oil, 71, 73, 80 Penicillium chrysogenum, 396 Penicillium digitatum, 416 Penicillium echinulatum, 192 Penicillium expansum, 421 Pentoses, fermentation, 196 Peroxidase-chlorite dismutase, 490 Peroxygenases, 477, 481, 482, 490-492 Pesticides, 47, 72, 81, 126, 131, 354, 525, 530, 533 Petrorefineries, 2 Phanerochaete chrysosporium, 478, 495, 498, 499 Phenol, 268, 327, 477, 483, 497, 500, 506 formaldehyde resins/adhesives, 164, 315, 327 oxidase, 483

Phenolic compounds, 84, 88, 90, 195, 485 Phenylalanine, 84, 421, 470, 497 Phorbol esters (PEs), 89 Phospholipids, 72, 81, 91, 103, 114 Phosphoric acid, 158, 160 Phycocyanin, 103 Phytases, 137, 144, 145 Phytic acid, 86, 87, 90, 91, 145 Phytin, 142, 144, 145 Phytonutrients, 69, 91 Phytosterols, 70, 87, 89-91 Pichia stipitis, 197 Picrophilus torridus, 417 Pines, 158 Pinoresinol, 91 Plant proteins, 69 Polyamides, 392, 444, 449 bio-based, 438, 448, 457, 462, 465 Polybutylene adipate terephthalate (PBAT), 438, 463 Polybutylene succinate (PBS), 463 Polybutylene succinate adipate (PBSA), 463 Polybutylene succinate terephthalate (PBST), 463 Polybutylene terephthalate (PBT), 357, 448 Polycaprolactone (PCL) 434, 448, 449, 464, 524 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), 81 Polyethylene, 5, 58, 60, 524 bio-based (Bio-PE), 438, 448, 455, 457 Polyethylene furanoate, bio-based (Bio-PEF), 455 Polyethylene terephthalate (PET), 77, 393 bio-based (Bio-PET), 438, 448, 452, 463 Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA), 77, 434 Polyhydroxyhexonate (PHH), 458 Polyhydroxyoctanoate (PHO), 458 Polyhydroxyvalerate (PHV), 458 Polylactic acid (PLA), 376, 450 Polylactide, wood fiber-reinforced, 433 Polyphenols, 86, 91, 162 oxidases, 476 Polytrimethylene furandicarboxylate (PTF), 455 Polytrimethylene terephthalate (PTT), 77, 463 Polyvinyl alcohols (PVOH), 448 Poly(xylitol-co-citrate), 359 Poly(xylitol-co-sebacate), 359 Pretreatment, 44, 153, 181, 473 Propane, 416 Propanediols, 76, 77, 339, 346-348, 361, 455, 462 Propanoate, 381 Propanol, 252, 253, 290, 318, 339, 345, 361

#### Index

Propene (propylene), 343, 379, 412, 417, 418 Propionibacterium spp. P. acidipropionici, 345 P. freudenreichii, 76, 345 P. shermanii, 381 Propylene, 10, 234-236, 343, 349, 417 Proteases, 137, 138, 144, 148, 151, 289 Proteins, engineering, 191 Protocatechuic acid decarboxylase (AroY), 389 Pseudomonas spp. P. aeruginosa, 420 P. graveolens, 396 P. putida, 203, 498-502, 506 P. svringae, 416 P. taetrolens, 397 P. testosterone, 498 Pseudonocardia autotrophica, 498 Pseudozyma tsukubaensis, 360 Pullulan, 431 Pullulanases, 137, 141, 149 Pulp, 10, 15, 28, 31, 33, 37, 39, 55, 70, 153, 473 bleaching, 480, 485 Pulsed electric field (PEF), 110 Pyrolysis, 217 fast. 302 oil, biorefineries, 11 reactors, 301 Pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC), 193, 416

### R

Rapeseed, 15, 71, 73, 80, 86 meal, 72, 73, 90 oil, 13, 15, 71, 387 phyto-nutrients, 90 protein, 86, 87, 91 residues, 91 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 188, 194, 496 Reactors, ablative, 313 bubbling fluidized bed, 304 circulating fluidized bed, 307 rotating cone, 309 twin-screw, 310 RedCert, 529 Renewable resources, 1, 43, 126, 476, 524 Residues, 298 Resins, 114, 183, 315, 323, 327, 354, 475 Resveratrol, 91 Rhizopus oryzae, 377 Rhodococcus spp. R. equii, 506 R. erythropolis, 499 R. jostii, 494, 501, 502, 505, 507 R. rhodochrous J1, 382

Rhodotorula minuta, 417 Rhus vernicifera, 483 Rice, 6, 60, 139, 146, 374, 377 oil, 87, 88 phytonutrients, 87 straw, 48, 180, 223 RuBisCO, 105 Ruminococcus albus, 198

### S

Saccharification, 57, 60, 141, 167, 184, 189-202, 383 Saccharomyces spp. S. cerevisiae, 57, 60, 133, 191, 192, 384, 418 S. paradoxus, 195 Safflower oil, 71 Santalene, 419 Saponins, 89 Sawmill residues, 28, 33, 39, 53 Schizosaccharomyces pombe, 385 Secoisolariciresinol (SDG), 91 Selenium, 264 Separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF), 158, 184, 200 Sesame oil, 71 Sesquiterpenes, 419 Sewage sludge treatment, 281 Shewanella oneidensis, 501 Shredding, 7, 43, 56 Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (SSCF), 202 Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF), 158, 184, 201 Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation with delayed inoculation (dSSF), 202 Sinapic acid, 86, 90, 91 Sinapyl alcohol, 163, 186, 470-472 Social life cycle assessment (S-LCA), 526 Soft-rot fungi, 187, 477-481 Sorbitol, 132, 359 Sorghum, 47, 50, 56, 139, 146, 151 Soybeans, 15, 73, 80, 83, 86, 88, 374 oil, 71 protein, 83 Sporotrichum pulverulentum, 498 Staphylococcus aureus, 502 Starch, bioplastics, 459 biorefineries, 4, 6 thermoplastic, 459 Steam explosion, lignin, 474 Storage, 43, 223, 270, 476, 529

Straw, 13, 16 rice, 48, 180, 223 wheat, 15, 48, 53, 57, 155, 180, 192, 240, 311.498 Streptomyces spp. S. coelicolor, 499 S. cyaneus, 498 S. viridosporus, 498, 500 Styrene, 412, 414, 421, 475 Succinic acid, 6, 77, 79, 131, 133, 184, 253, 289, 357, 373, 383, 463, 524 Succinonitrile (SCN), 521 Sucrose, 5, 55, 128, 142, 342, 359, 387, 450 Sugar, biorefineries, 4, 5 crops, 24, 342 Sugar alcohols (polyols/polyhydric alcohols), 359 Sugarcane, 15, 47, 125-135, 178-181, 192, 196, 342, 374, 381 Sulfite process/pulping, 156, 473 Sulfur, 133, 184, 223, 231, 264, 268, 281, 292, 294, 473 Sulfuric acid, 158, 161, 168, 184, 186, 394 Sunflower, oil, 71 phyto-nutrients, 88 proteins, 84 Sustainability, 11, 17, 46, 154, 271, 519-536 Sustainable chemistry, 125 Sustainable grown biomass (INRO) Sweeteners, artificial, 359 Switchgrass, 13-15, 46, 47, 53, 54, 180-182 Swollenin, 191 Synechococcus elongatus, 420 Synergism, 126, 187–190, 203, 477, 494 Syngas, 217, 247 biorefineries, 4, 10 conditioning, 230 Syringaldehyde, 477

# Т

*Talaromyces emersonii* Cel7A, 191 Terephthalic acid, 347, 389, 393, 453, 463 petrobased (PTA), 453 Termites, 187, 188, 191, 421, 497 Terpolymers, 462 Tetrahydrofurfuryl alcohol, 158 *Tetraselmis* spp. 114 *Thermoanaerobacter* spp. *T. kivui (Acetogenium kivui)*, 253 *T. pseudethanolicus*, 197, 259 *T. thermosaccharolyticum*, 197, 347 Thermobifida fusca, 191 Thermonospora mesophila, 498, 499 Tocopherols, 80, 88, 91 Tocotrienols, 91 Toluene, 231, 268, 320, 390, 421, 477, 506 Tolumonas auensis, 421 Trichoderma reesei, 150, 157, 187, 188, 191, 198 Trickle bed reactors (TBR), 266 Triglycerides, 7 Triosephosphate dehydrogenase, 194 Tung oil, 71 Tungsten, 264

#### U

1-Undecene, 420 Upgrading, 301

#### V

Vacuum reactors, 315 Valencene, 419 Vanillic acid, 477, 504–506 Vanillin, 183, 195, 475, 477, 485 Vegetable oil, 69, 346, 436, 533 biorefineries, 4–7, 69–91 Versatile peroxidases (VP), 190, 490 Vinasse, 129, 133, 204, 521 *N*-Vinylpyrollidone (NVP), 521 Viscose, 433, 437, 461 Vulcanized rubber, 434

### W

Water protection, 530
Wheat straw, 15, 48, 53, 57, 155, 180, 192, 240, 311, 498
White rot fungi, 187, 190, 196, 477–481, 484, 496, 498
Wood, 4, 8, 27–40, 46–49, 53–59, 154, 180, 223, 298, 340, 378, 440
bio-oils, 303
recovered, 34
resource assessment, 27
Wood-Ljungdahl pathway, 248, 253–255, 264
Wood plastics composites (WPC), 432

# Х

Xylan, 158, 185, 198 Xylanases, 59, 133, 139, 148, 189 Index

Xylan 1,4-β-xylosidases, 189 Xylenes, 231, 268, 320, 393, 421 Xylitol, 131, 197, 359, 361, 491, 521 Xylitol dehydrogenase (XDH), 197 Xyloglycans, 185 Xylose, 58, 76, 128–133, 158, 167, 194, 197, 342, 359, 375 Xylose reductase (XR), 197

# Y

Yarrowia lipolytica, 76, 384-388, 399

# Z

Zeolites, 91, 132, 233, 319, 327 Zymobacter palmae, 198 Zymomonas mobilis, 184, 192, 342, 359, 385